
 
 
 

City of Capitola Agenda 
   
  

 

Mayor: Stephanie Harlan 
Vice Mayor: Sam Storey 
Council Members: Ed Bottorff 
 Dennis Norton 
 Michael Termini 
Treasurer: Kym DeWitt 
  

 
 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 
REGULAR MEETING 

 

THURSDAY, JULY 11, 2013  
 

CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
420 CAPITOLA AVENUE, CAPITOLA, CA  95010 

 
CLOSED SESSION – 5:45 PM 
CITY MANAGER’S OFFICE 

An announcement regarding the items to be discussed in Closed Session will be made in the 
City Hall Council Chambers prior to the Closed Session.  Members of the public may, at this 
time, address the City Council on closed session items only.  There will be a report of any final 
decisions in City Council Chambers during the City Council's Open Session Meeting. 

 
 CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATOR (Govt. Code §54957.6) 
  Negotiator: Lisa Murphy, Administrative Services Director 

Employee Organizations:  
Capitola Police Officers Association and the Capitola Police Captains 

 
 PUBLIC EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE EVALUATION (Govt. Code § 54957) 
  City Council’s Performance Evaluation of the City Manager 
 

1 ,----------1 



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING - July 11, 2013 
 

REGULAR MEETING OF THE CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL – 7:00 PM 
All matters listed on the Regular Meeting of the Capitola City Council Agenda shall be 
considered as Public Hearings. 

 
1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Council Members Dennis Norton, Sam Storey, Ed Bottorff, Michael Termini and Mayor 
Stephanie Harlan 

 
2. PRESENTATIONS 
 A. Proclamation in recognition of Sam Storey for service to Community Bridges. 
 
3. REPORT ON CLOSED SESSION 
 
4. ADDITIONS AND DELETIONS TO AGENDA 
 
5. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

Oral Communications allows time for members of the Public to address the City Council on any 
item not on the Agenda.  Presentations will be limited to three minutes per speaker.   Individuals 
may not speak more than once during Oral Communications.  All speakers must address the 
entire legislative body and will not be permitted to engage in dialogue. All speakers are 
requested to print their name on the sign-in sheet located at the podium so that their name may 
be accurately recorded in the minutes.  A MAXIMUM of 30 MINUTES is set aside for Oral 
Communications at this time. 

 
6. CITY COUNCIL / CITY TREASURER / STAFF COMMENTS 

City Council Members/City Treasurer/Staff may comment on matters of a general nature or 
identify issues for staff response or future council consideration. 

 
7. BOARDS, COMMISSIONS AND COMMITTEES APPOINTMENTS 
 
8. CONSENT CALENDAR 

All items listed in the “Consent Calendar” will be enacted by one motion in the form listed below.  
There will be no separate discussion on these items prior to the time the Council votes on the 
action unless members of the public or the City Council request specific items to be discussed 
for separate review.  Items pulled for separate discussion will be considered following General 
Government. 
 
Note that all Ordinances which appear on the public agenda shall be determined to have been 
read by title and further reading waived. 

 
 A. Consider approving the City Council Minutes of the June 13, 2013, Special Joint City 

Council/Successor Agency Meeting; and the June 13, 2013, Regular City Council 
Meeting. 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
Approve Minutes. 

 
 B. Consider a policy establishing a formal procedure for accepting donations. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
Approve policy. 

 
 
 



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING - July 11, 2013 
 
 C. Consider an Ordinance for a .72 acre site located at 1575 38th Avenue, Assessor’s 

Parcel Number 034-181-17 by way of rezoning this property from the CN “Neighborhood 
Commercial” District to the PD “Planned Development” District [2nd Reading]; and 
approve the Conditions of Approval. 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
Adopt Ordinance, and approve the Conditions of Approval. 

 
9. GENERAL GOVERNMENT / PUBLIC HEARINGS 

General Government items are intended to provide an opportunity for public discussion of each 
item listed.  The following procedure is followed for each General Government item:  1) Staff 
explanation; 2) Council questions; 3) Public comment; 4) Council deliberation; 5) Decision. 

 
 A. Receive a report regarding Soquel Creek Water District water/meter rates for secondary 

units. 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
Receive report. 

 
 B. Discussion of options for the City’s Affordable Housing Programs. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
Receive report and provide direction. 

 
 C. Consider an Ordinance adding Chapter 13.16 to the Capitola Municipal Code 

establishing regulations for storm water pollution prevention and protection [1st 
Reading]. 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
Introduce Ordinance. 

 
10. ADDITIONAL MATERIALS 

Additional information submitted to the City Council after distribution of the agenda packet. 
 
11. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 Adjourn to the next Regular Meeting of the City Council on Thursday, July 25, 2013, at 7:00 PM, 

in the City Hall Council Chambers, 420 Capitola Avenue, Capitola, California. 

 
Note:  Any person seeking to challenge a City Council decision made as a result of a proceeding in which, by law, 
a hearing is required to be given, evidence is required to be taken, and the discretion in the determination of facts is 
vested in the City Council, shall be required to commence that court action within ninety (90) days following the 
date on which the decision becomes final as provided in Code of Civil Procedure §1094.6.  Please refer to code of 
Civil Procedure §1094.6 to determine how to calculate when a decision becomes “final.”  Please be advised that in 
most instances the decision become “final” upon the City Council’s announcement of its decision at the completion 
of the public hearing.  Failure to comply with this 90-day rule will preclude any person from challenging the City 
Council decision in court. 
 
Notice regarding City Council:  The Capitola City Council meets on the 2nd and 4th Thursday of each month at 
7:00 p.m. (or in no event earlier than 6:00 p.m.), in the City Hall Council Chambers located at 420 Capitola Avenue, 
Capitola. 
 
Agenda and Agenda Packet Materials:  The City Council Agenda and the complete agenda packet are available 
on the Internet at the City’s website:  www.ci.capitola.ca.us.  Agendas are also available at the Capitola Post Office 
located at 826 Bay Avenue, Capitola. 
 
 



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING - July 11, 2013 
 
Agenda Document Review:  The complete agenda packet is available at City Hall and at the Capitola Branch 
Library, 2005 Wharf Road, Capitola, on the Monday prior to the Thursday meeting.  Need more information?   
Contact the City Clerk’s office at 831-475-7300. 
 
Agenda Materials Distributed after Distribution of the Agenda Packet:  Pursuant to Government Code 
§54957.5, materials related to an agenda item submitted after distribution of the agenda packet are available for 
public inspection at the Reception Office at City Hall, 420 Capitola Avenue, Capitola, California, during normal 
business hours. 
 
Americans with Disabilities Act:  Disability-related aids or services are available to enable persons with a 
disability to participate in this meeting consistent with the Federal Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990.  Assisted 
listening devices are available for individuals with hearing impairments at the meeting in the City Council 
Chambers.  Should you require special accommodations to participate in the meeting due to a disability, please 
contact the City Clerk’s office at least 24-hours in advance of the meeting at 831-475-7300.  In an effort to 
accommodate individuals with environmental sensitivities, attendees are requested to refrain from wearing 
perfumes and other scented products. 
 
Televised Meetings:  City Council meetings are cablecast “Live” on Charter Communications Cable TV Channel 8 
and are recorded to be replayed at 12:00 Noon on the Saturday following the meetings on Community Television of 
Santa Cruz County (Charter Channel 71 and Comcast Channel 25).  Meetings are streamed “Live” on the City’s 
website at www.ci.capitola.ca.us by clicking on the Home Page link “View Capitola Meeting Live On-Line.”  
Archived meetings can be viewed from the website at anytime. 
 



For service to Community Bridges 

WHEREAS, Sam Storey, is concluding nearly three decades of exemplary 
service at Community Bridges, including 14 years as CEO of the nonprofit 
organization; and 

WHEREAS, under Sam Storey's leadership, Community Bridges grew by over 
$5 million or 50%, established healthy reserve funds and improved the agency's 
financial ratios year-over-year; and 

WHEREAS, Sam Storey successfully maximized growth in services to match 
the changing needs of the community, serving over 23,000 Monterey Bay Area 
residents annually; and . 

WHEREAS, Sam Storey has a long legacy of championing fail' pay and 
benefits for staff, implementing a living wage standard in 2007 and building strong 
working relationships with two unions representing nearly 200 employees; and 

WHEREAS, Sam Storey, as a 'master of mergers,' successfully integrated 
numerous programs into Community Bridges including the Watsonville Law Center, 
Mountain Community Resources, Familia Center, Beach Flats Community Center, three 
Child Development Centers, and Elderday Adult Day Health Center; and 

WHEREAS, Sam Storey guided the launch of new programs including two 
Child Development Centers and the agency's first Fund Development Department; and 

WHEREAS, Sam Storey' s well-developed political, legal, and budgetary 
sensibilities helped him hone the agency's successful strategy for sustainability, 
stabilizing safety-net services; and 

WHEREAS, with tireless compassion and sensitivity to the needs of children, 
seniors and families in his community, Sam Storey served honorably to sustain vital 
services to people in need through his supervision of 10 programs, operating in 22 
locations every day for nearly 30 years. 

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Stephanie Harlan, Mayor of Capitola, hereby thank 
and honor Sam Storey for his leadership and service to the most vulnerable members of 
our community and improving the quality of life in the City of Capitola and Santa Cruz 
County. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand this 11 th day of July, 
. the year 2013. 

Stephanie Harlan, Mayor 
Signed and sealed this 11 th day of July 2013 

-1-

Item #: 2.A. Presentation.pdf

In Recognition and Appreciation of 

Sam Storey 
For service to Community Bridges 

WHEREAS, Sam Storey, is concluding nearly three decades of exemplary 
service at Community Bridges, including 14 years as CEO of the nonprofit 
organization; and 

WHEREAS, under Sam Storey's leadership, Community Bridges grew by over 
$5 million or 50%, established healthy reserve funds and improved the agency' s 
financial ratios year-over-year; and 

WHEREAS, Sam Storey successfully maximized growth in services to match 
the changing needs of the community, serving over 23,000 Monterey Bay Area 
residents annually; and . 

WHEREAS, Sam Storey has a long legacy of championing fair pay and 
benefits for staff, implementing a living wage standard in 2007 and building strong 
working relationships with two unions representing nearly 200 employees; and 

WHEREAS, Sam Storey, as a 'master of mergers,' successfully integrated 
numerous programs into Community Bridges including the Watsonville Law Center, 
Mountain Community Resources, Familia Center, Beach Flats Community Center, three 
Child Development Centers, and Elderday Adult Day Health Center; and 

WHEREAS, Sam Storey guided the launch of new programs including two 
Child Development Centers and the agency's first Fund Development Department; and 

WHEREAS, Sam Storey ' s well-developed political, legal, and budgetary 
sensibilities helped him hone the agency's successful strategy for sustainability, 
stabilizing safety-net services; and 

WHEREAS, with tireless compassion and sensitivity to the needs of children, 
seniors and families in his community, Sam Storey served honorably to sustain vital 
services to people in need through his supervision of 10 programs, operating in 22 
locations every day for nearly 30 years. 

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Stephanie Harlan, Mayor of Capitola, hereby thank 
and honor Sam Storey for his leadership and service to the most vulnerable members of 
our community and improving the quality of life in the City of Capitola and Santa Cruz 
County. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, 1 have hereunto set my hand this 11 th day of July, 
. the year 2013. 

Stephanie Harlan, Mayor 
Signed and sealed this 11 th day of July 2013 



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

-2-



CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING OF JULY 11, 2013 

FROM: OFFICE OF THE CITY CLERK 

SUBJECT: APPROVAL OF THE CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES OF THE JUNE 13, 
2013, SPECIAL JOINT CITY COUNCIUSUCCESSOR AGENCY MEETING AND 
THE JUNE 13,2013, REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve the subject minutes as submitted. 

DISCUSSION: Attached for City Council review and approval are the minutes to the subject 
meeting. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. June 13, 2013, Special Joint City Council/Successor Agency Meeting; and June 13, 
2013, Regular City Council Meeting. 

Report Prepared By: Susan Sneddon, CMC 
City Clerk 

Reviewed and Fo 
By City Manager" ~\ 1--_ 

R:\CITY COUNCIL\City Council\Agenda Staff Reports\20 I3 Agenda Reports\07 11 I3\8.A. CC Minute.s staffreport.docx -3-

Item #: 8.A. Staff Report.pdf

CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING OF JULY 11, 2013 

FROM: OFFICE OF THE CITY CLERK 

SUBJECT: APPROVAL OF THE CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES OF THE JUNE 13, 
2013, SPECIAL JOINT CITY COUNCIUSUCCESSOR AGENCY MEETING AND 
THE JUNE 13,2013, REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve the subject minutes as submitted. 

DISCUSSION: Attached for City Council review and approval are the minutes to the subject 
meeting. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. June 13, 2013, Special Joint City Council/Successor Agency Meeting; and June 13, 
2013, Regular City Council Meeting. 

Report Prepared By: Susan Sneddon, CMC 
City Clerk 

Reviewed and Fo 
By City Manager" ~\ 1--_ 

R:\CITY COUNCIL\City Council\Agenda Staff Reports\20 I3 Agenda Reports\07 11 I3\8.A. CC Minute.s staffreport.docx 



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

-4-



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL CLOSED SESSION 
CLOSED SESSION - 5:45 PM . 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL/SUCCESSOR AGENCY 
TO THE FORMER REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY 

SPECIAL JOINT MEETING 
THURSDAY, JUNE 13, 2013 -7:00 PM 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 
REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 

THURSDAY, JUNE 13, 2013 

12414 

[After the adjournment of the Capitola City Counc~illS,~ccessor Agency 
to the Former RedevelopmeniAgerit:¥l' 

.1,<,., '<.. ' 

Schroedel et al. v. the tCity of Capitola, the0~;:Jjl[lta. Cruz Superior Court Case 
No. CV 175684 "':" "f/:.~ ..... 

CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEG(;)TIA10J~'(Govt. Co~; 54957.6) 
Negotiator: Lisa Murphy, AdriiinistfaJi\ie~S~ryicee'Director 
Employe~0~(9:~[;li~ations:r;; . '''. 
Capitol~~PoliceQfflxers Association and the"Capitola Police Captains 

//~;.;'.':':' \{-~kfA 

PUBLIC EMPLq: E PERf"ORMANCE EVALttJATION (Govt. Code § 54957) 

City Coun P~~~~Tc~99:ty:'~~~I~~tlo~ of the City Attorney 
. '. .......• .>. . .,. ".' .y ..•. ·"."C'y 

LlAI3IL1TY CLAlnnS (G~\jf;jCode §Sk956.95) 
Claimanl:.'Kyle Rubp!j~, /) 
Agency claimed agaiQ~t;';tity of Capitola ,. }Y/ 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL/SUCCESSOR AGENCY 
TOTHIFORMERREDEVELOPMENTAGENCY 

SPECIAL JOINT MEETING - 7:00 PM 

1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Council Members Dennis Norton, Sam Storey, Ed Bottorff, Michael Termini and 
Mayor Stephanie Harlan 

City Treasurer DeWitt was absent. 

2. CONSENT CALENDAR 

A Consider adopting a Resolution approving the proposed 2013/2014 Fiscal 
Year Budget for the City of Capitola General Fund, the Capitola Successor 

-5-

Item #: 8.A. Attach 1.pdf

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL CLOSED SESSION 
CLOSED SESSION - 5:45 PM . 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL/SUCCESSOR AGENCY 
TO THE FORMER REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY 

SPECIAL JOINT MEETING 
THURSDAY, JUNE 13, 2013 -7:00 PM 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 
REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 

THURSDAY, JUNE 13, 2013 

12414 

[After the adjournment of the Capitola City Counc~illS,~ccessor Agency 
to the Former RedevelopmeniAgerit:¥l' 

.1,<,., '<.. ' 

Schroedel et al. v. the tCity of Capitola, the0~;:Jjl[lta. Cruz Superior Court Case 
No. CV 175684 "':" "f/:.~ ..... 

CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEG(;)TIA10J~'(Govt. Co~; 54957.6) 
Negotiator: Lisa Murphy, AdriiinistfaJi\ie~S~ryicee'Director 
Employe~0~(9:~[;li~ations:r;; . '''. 
Capitol~~PoliceQfflxers Association and the"Capitola Police Captains 

//~;.;'.':':' \{-~kfA 

PUBLIC EMPLq: E PERf"ORMANCE EVALttJATION (Govt. Code § 54957) 

City Coun P~~~~Tc~99:ty:'~~~I~~tlo~ of the City Attorney 
. '. .......• .>. . .,. ".' .y ..•. ·"."C'y 

LlAI3IL1TY CLAlnnS (G~\jf;jCode §Sk956.95) 
Claimanl:.'Kyle Rubp!j~, /) 
Agency claimed agaiQ~t;';tity of Capitola ,. }Y/ 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL/SUCCESSOR AGENCY 
TOTHIFORMERREDEVELOPMENTAGENCY 

SPECIAL JOINT MEETING - 7:00 PM 

1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Council Members Dennis Norton, Sam Storey, Ed Bottorff, Michael Termini and 
Mayor Stephanie Harlan 

City Treasurer DeWitt was absent. 

2. CONSENT CALENDAR 

A Consider adopting a Resolution approving the proposed 2013/2014 Fiscal 
Year Budget for the City of Capitola General Fund, the Capitola Successor 



12415 CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL MINUTES - Thursday, June 13, 2013 

Agency, and the Capital Improvement Budgets. [330-05/780-30] 
Council Member Norton suggested for budgetary purposes renaming 
references to "Pacific Cove" in order to establish a distinction between the 
former Pacific Cove Mobile Home Park and for future uses. (Finance Director 
Hannah responded that staff will arrive at a name to differentiate them). 

ACTION Motion made by Council Member Termini, seconded by Council Member 
Bottorff, to adopt Resolution No. 3959 approving the proposed 
2013/2014 Fiscal Year Budget for the City of Capitola General Fund, the 
Capitola Successor Agency, and the Capital Improvement Budgets. The 
motion was passed unanimously with Council lVI~mber Storey recusing 

3. 

2. 

/'-",,::;;:;,;;(7)-_ 

on the portion of the 2013/2014 Fiscal Yea~u;'Buaget regarding the 
Community Based Health and Human Servic~~ffroviders Grants. , ,::,,>~!;t,· 

F--- / 

ADJOURNMENT o",.:f;~};; ... ,; 
'<t...-

City Council is adjourned to the next Regul£r~~~eting of'tlii~~ity Council to be 
held on Thursday, June 27, 2013, at 7:00 p.m., in the't:~ity Hall Council 
Chambers, 420 Capitola Avenue,£Gapitola, CaliJornia. ,,/ . 

-co,,-"'" -;-__ - .. ,.', 

Successor Agency adjourned to theoext spe~ral meeting af/ the City of 
Capitola, as Successor Agency to the forin~(Capitola Redevelopment Agency; 
date to be determined. t:,! ';)k " 

, ::j~;> 
'-;;;2\:;//[.,: ,-- ,,',~ y 

; '\ ,,-/J<'"-"-., 

Cou~cilM~mbersQennis Norton, &am ?torey, Ed Bottorff, Michael Termini and 
Mayor St~phanie Harlan ')",;f' 

.; .~/ 
., .. CitY,Tr~asurerDeWitrwasabselif. 

P~~~ENT~~i~NS 
:~fif\ 

At. , proclamati~kponOril)gAmateur Radio Week - June 16 thru June 22, 2013. 
[120-40] . :i\ .. 

","} 
~--: , y/··A 

'S~§II~ne P~f~fsen, Public Information Officer, representing the University of 
Calif6rnia/(Santa Cruz Amateur Radio Club, Santa Cruz Amateur Radio 
Emerg~ifty Service, and the Santa Cruz County Amateur Radio Club, received 

'>J{ . 

the pr&$C1amation. 

3. REPORT ON CLOSED SESSION [520-25] 

. City Attorney Barisone reported that the City Council discussed with 
Administrative Services Director Murphy the Schroedel et al. v. the City of 
Capitola existing litigation; there is no settlement at this time; the City will 
proceed with a Motion for Summary Judgment. Administrative Services 
Director Murphy (City's labor negotiator) reported on negotiations with the 
Capitola Police Officers Association and the Capitola Police Captains; there 
was no reportable action. Council provided the City Attorney's performance 

-6-

Item #: 8.A. Attach 1.pdf

12415 CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL MINUTES - Thursday, June 13, 2013 

Agency, and the Capital Improvement Budgets. [330-05/780-30] 
Council Member Norton suggested for budgetary purposes renaming 
references to "Pacific Cove" in order to establish a distinction between the 
former Pacific Cove Mobile Home Park and for future uses. (Finance Director 
Hannah responded that staff will arrive at a name to differentiate them). 

ACTION Motion made by Council Member Termini, seconded by Council Member 
Bottorff, to adopt Resolution No. 3959 approving the proposed 
2013/2014 Fiscal Year Budget for the City of Capitola General Fund, the 
Capitola Successor Agency, and the Capital Improvement Budgets. The 
motion was passed unanimously with Council lVI~mber Storey recusing 

3. 

2. 

/'-",,::;;:;,;;(7)-_ 

on the portion of the 2013/2014 Fiscal Yea~u;'Buaget regarding the 
Community Based Health and Human Servic~~ffroviders Grants. , ,::,,>~!;t,· 

F--- / 

ADJOURNMENT o",.:f;~};; ... ,; 
'<t...-

City Council is adjourned to the next Regul£r~~~eting of'tlii~~ity Council to be 
held on Thursday, June 27, 2013, at 7:00 p.m., in the't:~ity Hall Council 
Chambers, 420 Capitola Avenue,£Gapitola, CaliJornia. ,,/ . 

-co,,-"'" -;-__ - .. ,.', 

Successor Agency adjourned to theoext spe~ral meeting af/ the City of 
Capitola, as Successor Agency to the forin~(Capitola Redevelopment Agency; 
date to be determined. t:,! ';)k " 

, ::j~;> 
'-;;;2\:;//[.,: ,-- ,,',~ y 

; '\ ,,-/J<'"-"-., 

Cou~cilM~mbersQennis Norton, &am ?torey, Ed Bottorff, Michael Termini and 
Mayor St~phanie Harlan ')",;f' 

.; .~/ 
., .. CitY,Tr~asurerDeWitrwasabselif. 

P~~~ENT~~i~NS 
:~fif\ 

At. , proclamati~kponOril)gAmateur Radio Week - June 16 thru June 22, 2013. 
[120-40] . :i\ .. 

","} 
~--: , y/··A 

'S~§II~ne P~f~fsen, Public Information Officer, representing the University of 
Calif6rnia/(Santa Cruz Amateur Radio Club, Santa Cruz Amateur Radio 
Emerg~ifty Service, and the Santa Cruz County Amateur Radio Club, received 

'>J{ . 

the pr&$C1amation. 

3. REPORT ON CLOSED SESSION [520-25] 

. City Attorney Barisone reported that the City Council discussed with 
Administrative Services Director Murphy the Schroedel et al. v. the City of 
Capitola existing litigation; there is no settlement at this time; the City will 
proceed with a Motion for Summary Judgment. Administrative Services 
Director Murphy (City's labor negotiator) reported on negotiations with the 
Capitola Police Officers Association and the Capitola Police Captains; there 
was no reportable action. Council provided the City Attorney's performance 



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES - Thursday, June 13, 2013 12416 

evaluation; no reportable action. The City Council received a report on the tort 
claim filed by Kyle Rupp; there was no reportable action (this item is agendized 
for the regular meeting this evening). City Attorney Barisone reported on 
threatened litigation the City received from the Surf and Sand Mobile Home 
Park's attorney regarding a subdivision request; there was no report action. 

4. ADDITIONS AND DELETIONS TO AGENDA (none provided) 

5. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

Kathleen Johnson, Director of Advocacy Inc. and rep(es~ntative Human Care 
Alliance announced that Will O'Sullivan, Capitola'~;:1.hJiisatetional Chair on the 
Human Care Alliance, will be retiring. She !IJ;~' d Mr. O'Sullivan for his 
excellent service to the City. ..4ijr", 
Will O'Sullivan, Human Care Alliance, thank~djMs. Johns'" 
and thanked the City Council for their sLlPPort'\ 

6. CITY COUNCIL I CITY TREASURER I STARF COMMJ:NTS 

7. 

Police Chief Escalante stated th~~~;;e15th isg;~e'n,Abuse Awar 

Council Member Termlni stated that th~'first Capitola Twilight Concert is 
scheduled for June 19th .' . 

Mayor Harlan stated that~t:le will'bemtending%Hi~ Leadership Santa Cruz 
County graduation on June 20th . She provided a'brief report on the June 13th 

Santa Cry~ ~~Ymy Sanitation Bi&trict Board, meeting. In addition, she provided 
a progresreporticm various projects in the City. 

BOARDS, efn.l~tll!lIO~~}.ND COMMITtE~ APPOINTMENTS 

A. 
,~- ", ;f;(;f~;· ~C: r '>~-;;!O/<<<';: "'. -_ _ <~ 

HeaPPointmeOt,,9f fOl)f"(4)m'~!tlpers to the Capitola Historical Museum Board 
'6fTru§t~Sls. [24Q2tQ] ····9·' 

~{;.'\ <,h;:Si';» A'~ 
ACTIQN Motion made by Gauneil Member Termini, seconded by Council Member 

8. 

Storey, to,reappoi~tmentthe following four (4) members to the Capitola 
Historical.Museum Board of Trustees: Bob Anderson, Niels Kisling, 

. Thomas M~Granahan, and Gordon van Zuiden. The motion was passed 
lJ~f1,nimou~JY. 

CONSENT CALeNDAR , YiP 

J 
Council Member Norton requested that the following Consent Calendar items 
be pulled for discussion: Items B.C.: B.E.; and B.F. 

Council Member Storey requested that Item B.G. be pulled for discussion. 

A. Approval of the City Council Minutes of the May 22, 2013 Special Budget 
Session and the May 23,2013, Regular City Council meeting. 

B. Receive Planning Commission Action Minutes for the Regular Meeting of June 
6,2013. [740-50] 

-7-

Item #: 8.A. Attach 1.pdf

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES - Thursday, June 13, 2013 12416 

evaluation; no reportable action. The City Council received a report on the tort 
claim filed by Kyle Rupp; there was no reportable action (this item is agendized 
for the regular meeting this evening). City Attorney Barisone reported on 
threatened litigation the City received from the Surf and Sand Mobile Home 
Park's attorney regarding a subdivision request; there was no report action. 

4. ADDITIONS AND DELETIONS TO AGENDA (none provided) 

5. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

Kathleen Johnson, Director of Advocacy Inc. and rep(es~ntative Human Care 
Alliance announced that Will O'Sullivan, Capitola'~;:1.hJiisatetional Chair on the 
Human Care Alliance, will be retiring. She !IJ;~' d Mr. O'Sullivan for his 
excellent service to the City. ..4ijr", 
Will O'Sullivan, Human Care Alliance, thank~djMs. Johns'" 
and thanked the City Council for their sLlPPort'\ 

6. CITY COUNCIL I CITY TREASURER I STARF COMMJ:NTS 

7. 

Police Chief Escalante stated th~~~;;e15th isg;~e'n,Abuse Awar 

Council Member Termlni stated that th~'first Capitola Twilight Concert is 
scheduled for June 19th .' . 

Mayor Harlan stated that~t:le will'bemtending%Hi~ Leadership Santa Cruz 
County graduation on June 20th . She provided a'brief report on the June 13th 

Santa Cry~ ~~Ymy Sanitation Bi&trict Board, meeting. In addition, she provided 
a progresreporticm various projects in the City. 

BOARDS, efn.l~tll!lIO~~}.ND COMMITtE~ APPOINTMENTS 

A. 
,~- ", ;f;(;f~;· ~C: r '>~-;;!O/<<<';: "'. -_ _ <~ 

HeaPPointmeOt,,9f fOl)f"(4)m'~!tlpers to the Capitola Historical Museum Board 
'6fTru§t~Sls. [24Q2tQ] ····9·' 

~{;.'\ <,h;:Si';» A'~ 
ACTIQN Motion made by Gauneil Member Termini, seconded by Council Member 

8. 

Storey, to,reappoi~tmentthe following four (4) members to the Capitola 
Historical.Museum Board of Trustees: Bob Anderson, Niels Kisling, 

. Thomas M~Granahan, and Gordon van Zuiden. The motion was passed 
lJ~f1,nimou~JY. 

CONSENT CALeNDAR , YiP 

J 
Council Member Norton requested that the following Consent Calendar items 
be pulled for discussion: Items B.C.: B.E.; and B.F. 

Council Member Storey requested that Item B.G. be pulled for discussion. 

A. Approval of the City Council Minutes of the May 22, 2013 Special Budget 
Session and the May 23,2013, Regular City Council meeting. 

B. Receive Planning Commission Action Minutes for the Regular Meeting of June 
6,2013. [740-50] 



12417 

C. 

D. 

E. 

F. 

G. 

H. 

ACTION 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL MINUTES - Thursday, June 13, 2013 

Consider a liability claim of Kyle Rupp in the amount of $60.00 and forward to 
the City's liability insurance carrier. [Claims Binder] 

Adoption of Resolution No. 3957 setting the 201.3-2014 Fiscal Year 
Appropriation Limit pursuant to Article XIIIB of the California Constitution. [330-
05] 

Consider adopting a Resolution of Intention to Levy Business Improvement 
Assessments for Fiscal Year 2013-2014, which receiv~s the Capitola Village 
and Wharf Business Improvement Area Annual Repbft;;, and the proposed 
Fiscal Year 2013-2014 Budget; sets a public headllg to receive oral or written 
protests on the levy of assessments for Fisca!,Yeargp13-2014 for Thursday, 
June 27, 2013; and directs required noticing of the'pl..lOHc hearing by the City 
Clerk and the Capitola Village and Whq/(fBusiness lri1prdvement Area. [140-
05] /;;(I}6.·:~"" ",". ·····f" \ 

-f)/ .) :\, 

Consider an agreement with Ch~Jl:~J,Business~~~ upgrade theCi!Y'p,Wide Area 
and Interne~ Connect!vity to City facili!!~;~0.in ag;t~!l;lount not to e~Qeed $28,000 
and authOrize the CIty Manager to ex~ctlteJAhe agreement. [565-25/500-10 

AlC: Charter BUSineSS], , ·W;~:. 

Designation of Voting D~legate. for the LeagUe?Qf Galifornia Cities Annual 
Conference in SacramentqCaHf9rhia,from Sept~~tYer 18 to 20, 2013. [150-
50] .. '. ,lifT 

, . 
Authorize the Police Department to surplus and sell two police motorcycles: 
2007 Harley Davidson Motorcycle and 2007 Harley Davidson Motorcycle. [370-
40] 

#,W"~~ ...... , 

{V ':, -\~;~k ff~l 
Motion n1~~e b~i,~~.Yrl~JI Mem~~r Norton, seconded by Council Member 
Termini, to"appr~vethe~,foIl9Wjrtg Consent Calendar items: Items No. B.A.; 
8,;B.; B.D.; and BiH. The mofion was passed unanimously . 

. ' "'<'; 

THE FOLLOWING qQ~SE~~brLENDAR ITEMS ARE UNDER CONSIDERATION 

C. 

ACTION 

E. 

Consider denying liability claim of Kyle Rupp in the amount of $60.00 and 
forWard to th~.City's liability insurance carrier. [Claims Binder] 

MotiolJ, made by Council Member Norton, seconded by Council Member 
Storey; to approve paying the liability claim of Kyle Rupp in the amount 
of $60.00 and forward to the City's liability insurance carrier. The motion 
was passed unanimously. 

Consider adopting a Resolution of Intention to Levy Business Improvement 
Assessments for Fiscal Year 2013-2014, which receives the Capitola Village 
and Wharf Business Improvement Area Annual Repo'rt and the proposed 
Fiscal Year 2013-2014 Budget; sets a public hearing to receive oral or written 
protests on the levy of assessments for Fiscal Year 2013-2014 for Thursday, 
June 27, 2013; and directs required noticing of the public hearing by the City 
Clerk and the Capitola Village and Wharf Business Improvement Area. [140-

-8-

Item #: 8.A. Attach 1.pdf

12417 

C. 

D. 

E. 

F. 

G. 

H. 

ACTION 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL MINUTES - Thursday, June 13, 2013 

Consider a liability claim of Kyle Rupp in the amount of $60.00 and forward to 
the City's liability insurance carrier. [Claims Binder] 

Adoption of Resolution No. 3957 setting the 201.3-2014 Fiscal Year 
Appropriation Limit pursuant to Article XIIIB of the California Constitution. [330-
05] 

Consider adopting a Resolution of Intention to Levy Business Improvement 
Assessments for Fiscal Year 2013-2014, which receiv~s the Capitola Village 
and Wharf Business Improvement Area Annual Repbft;;, and the proposed 
Fiscal Year 2013-2014 Budget; sets a public headllg to receive oral or written 
protests on the levy of assessments for Fisca!,Yeargp13-2014 for Thursday, 
June 27, 2013; and directs required noticing of the'pl..lOHc hearing by the City 
Clerk and the Capitola Village and Whq/(fBusiness lri1prdvement Area. [140-
05] /;;(I}6.·:~"" ",". ·····f" \ 

-f)/ .) :\, 

Consider an agreement with Ch~Jl:~J,Business~~~ upgrade theCi!Y'p,Wide Area 
and Interne~ Connect!vity to City facili!!~;~0.in ag;t~!l;lount not to e~Qeed $28,000 
and authOrize the CIty Manager to ex~ctlteJAhe agreement. [565-25/500-10 

AlC: Charter BUSineSS], , ·W;~:. 

Designation of Voting D~legate. for the LeagUe?Qf Galifornia Cities Annual 
Conference in SacramentqCaHf9rhia,from Sept~~tYer 18 to 20, 2013. [150-
50] .. '. ,lifT 

, . 
Authorize the Police Department to surplus and sell two police motorcycles: 
2007 Harley Davidson Motorcycle and 2007 Harley Davidson Motorcycle. [370-
40] 

#,W"~~ ...... , 

{V ':, -\~;~k ff~l 
Motion n1~~e b~i,~~.Yrl~JI Mem~~r Norton, seconded by Council Member 
Termini, to"appr~vethe~,foIl9Wjrtg Consent Calendar items: Items No. B.A.; 
8,;B.; B.D.; and BiH. The mofion was passed unanimously . 

. ' "'<'; 

THE FOLLOWING qQ~SE~~brLENDAR ITEMS ARE UNDER CONSIDERATION 

C. 

ACTION 

E. 

Consider denying liability claim of Kyle Rupp in the amount of $60.00 and 
forWard to th~.City's liability insurance carrier. [Claims Binder] 

MotiolJ, made by Council Member Norton, seconded by Council Member 
Storey; to approve paying the liability claim of Kyle Rupp in the amount 
of $60.00 and forward to the City's liability insurance carrier. The motion 
was passed unanimously. 

Consider adopting a Resolution of Intention to Levy Business Improvement 
Assessments for Fiscal Year 2013-2014, which receives the Capitola Village 
and Wharf Business Improvement Area Annual Repo'rt and the proposed 
Fiscal Year 2013-2014 Budget; sets a public hearing to receive oral or written 
protests on the levy of assessments for Fiscal Year 2013-2014 for Thursday, 
June 27, 2013; and directs required noticing of the public hearing by the City 
Clerk and the Capitola Village and Wharf Business Improvement Area. [140-



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES - Thursday, June 13, 2013 12418 

ACTION 

F. 

ACTION 

05] 

Council Member Norton requested that staff provide the following information 
regarding the Capitola Village and Wharf Business Improvement Area 
(CVWBIA): (1) Reimbursement procedures and rate of reimbursement; (2) the 
amount of tax increases in the Village for the past five years; and (3) the 
amount of increased business in the Village. 

Motion made by Council Member Termini, seconded by Council Member 
Bottorff, to adopt Resolution No. 3958 - Resolutign of Intention to Levy 
Business Improvement Assessments for FiscaJ/Ye,~ 2013-2014, which 
receives the Capitola Village and Wharf Bu~tness improvement Area 
Annual Report and the proposed Fiscal Y~~t~Q,~3-2014 Budget; sets a 
public hearing to. receive oral or wri.· lY/ 'Pi:~\~~ts on the levy of 
assessments for Fiscal Year 2013-2014 hurscray~June 27, 2013; and 
directs required noticing of the pubH~hearing by th~~!f~ity Clerk and the 

{.·.co.- .;~ v{<c:".----' 

Capitola Village and Wharf Businetij; Improvement Area~]be motion was 
passed unanimously. " ...... . 

Consider an agreement with Charte;Bu~ineswt()U~grade the Ci~ s Wide Area 
and Internet Connectivity to City facilities. irt~n amount not to exceed $28,000 
and authorize the CitY"Manager to executet\1e agreement. [565-25/500-10 
NC: Charter Business]('~~;;c ',<' 

'<: ._r_,_ O-h~~ 

"~~--':~~~:-;~;,'!;fiit>- -,', un '. -::-it:)'.' X;>,-···:t~-

Council Member Norton aslSedif·~!~fL~ent out a request for proposal for this 
item.+t!\ ':>;):Ptr; . <#. 

..\;(;{)y :\7 . 
Information SY$t~111 Specialist~~rrrent respqntled that he received quotes from 
variou~providers. ,tie stated tPfat there are very few organizations that can 
pro¥iae thi~ type 6I::irfrastructure. ;'\ 

Motion madijQyGQ~l1cll.Memby r Termini, seconded by Council Member 
}li'~(;)rff, toent~rinto a agreement with Charter Business to upgrade the 

y City's'.~l~e Are~~'~nd Internet Connectivity to City facilities in an amount 
not to'E(i~'ged $2Q;,pOOu'tand authorize the City Manager to execute the 
agreemeR{;l1;he m6ti.orl' was passed unanimously. 

" ',~, 

9. 
:;:&h ,. . ., 

GEN~RA.L GOVER~.rlVl¥NT I PUBLIC HEARINGS 
. ~'.... .•.•...... :;~f 

A ReYi~iN the/~11 & Cultural Commissions' recommendation for final approval of 
the;4~1~~kAy~nue Median Public Art Project. [1010-50] 

ACTION 

Troy €orliss, Artist, provided an update of the 41 st Avenue Streetscape Pubic 
Art Project proposal. This project is to be completed in the fall. 

Roy Johnson, Art and Culture Commission (Commission), provided input from 
the Commission regarding the Streetscape Pubic Art Project (Project). He 
suggested installing a camera to prevent vandalism "of the Project. 

Motion made by Council Member Termini, seconded by Council Member 
Norton, to accept the final approval of the 41st Avenue Median Public Art 
Project. The motion was passed unanimously. 

-9-

Item #: 8.A. Attach 1.pdf

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES - Thursday, June 13, 2013 12418 

ACTION 

F. 

ACTION 

05] 

Council Member Norton requested that staff provide the following information 
regarding the Capitola Village and Wharf Business Improvement Area 
(CVWBIA): (1) Reimbursement procedures and rate of reimbursement; (2) the 
amount of tax increases in the Village for the past five years; and (3) the 
amount of increased business in the Village. 

Motion made by Council Member Termini, seconded by Council Member 
Bottorff, to adopt Resolution No. 3958 - Resolutign of Intention to Levy 
Business Improvement Assessments for FiscaJ/Ye,~ 2013-2014, which 
receives the Capitola Village and Wharf Bu~tness improvement Area 
Annual Report and the proposed Fiscal Y~~t~Q,~3-2014 Budget; sets a 
public hearing to. receive oral or wri.· lY/ 'Pi:~\~~ts on the levy of 
assessments for Fiscal Year 2013-2014 hurscray~June 27, 2013; and 
directs required noticing of the pubH~hearing by th~~!f~ity Clerk and the 

{.·.co.- .;~ v{<c:".----' 

Capitola Village and Wharf Businetij; Improvement Area~]be motion was 
passed unanimously. " ...... . 

Consider an agreement with Charte;Bu~ineswt()U~grade the Ci~ s Wide Area 
and Internet Connectivity to City facilities. irt~n amount not to exceed $28,000 
and authorize the CitY"Manager to executet\1e agreement. [565-25/500-10 
NC: Charter Business]('~~;;c ',<' 

'<: ._r_,_ O-h~~ 

"~~--':~~~:-;~;,'!;fiit>- -,', un '. -::-it:)'.' X;>,-···:t~-

Council Member Norton aslSedif·~!~fL~ent out a request for proposal for this 
item.+t!\ ':>;):Ptr; . <#. 

..\;(;{)y :\7 . 
Information SY$t~111 Specialist~~rrrent respqntled that he received quotes from 
variou~providers. ,tie stated tPfat there are very few organizations that can 
pro¥iae thi~ type 6I::irfrastructure. ;'\ 

Motion madijQyGQ~l1cll.Memby r Termini, seconded by Council Member 
}li'~(;)rff, toent~rinto a agreement with Charter Business to upgrade the 

y City's'.~l~e Are~~'~nd Internet Connectivity to City facilities in an amount 
not to'E(i~'ged $2Q;,pOOu'tand authorize the City Manager to execute the 
agreemeR{;l1;he m6ti.orl' was passed unanimously. 

" ',~, 

9. 
:;:&h ,. . ., 

GEN~RA.L GOVER~.rlVl¥NT I PUBLIC HEARINGS 
. ~'.... .•.•...... :;~f 

A ReYi~iN the/~11 & Cultural Commissions' recommendation for final approval of 
the;4~1~~kAy~nue Median Public Art Project. [1010-50] 

ACTION 

Troy €orliss, Artist, provided an update of the 41 st Avenue Streetscape Pubic 
Art Project proposal. This project is to be completed in the fall. 

Roy Johnson, Art and Culture Commission (Commission), provided input from 
the Commission regarding the Streetscape Pubic Art Project (Project). He 
suggested installing a camera to prevent vandalism "of the Project. 

Motion made by Council Member Termini, seconded by Council Member 
Norton, to accept the final approval of the 41st Avenue Median Public Art 
Project. The motion was passed unanimously. 



12419 

B. 

ACTION 

C. 

ACTION 

D. 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL MINUTES - Thursday, June 13, 2013 

Receive presentation regarding the City's updated General Plan Work Plan 
and Schedule. [740-40] 

Community Development Director Grunow provided an overview of the revised 
Work Plan for the City's General Plan Update. 

Council Member Norton requested that staff provide the City Council with a 
proposed budget timeline to finalize the General Plan Update. 

Mayor Harlan requested that the public review peri()/~JJortb{~ draft General Plan 
be at least eight weeks. A: ~ /~ 

Council Member Storey requested that sta 
example on the Land Use Element for th~n 
Plan. /';;;> 

ovi, City Council with an 
propo ~q'~treamlined General 

','~ <.;-0 
Y'-'''i:v;-+::'-,-, 

-,,); -"-<'~--~-; 

Motion made by Council Memg~t~Storey, '~~conded by C' ·IJMember 
Norton, to accept the revised~G~Iii~l PlanlW~rk Plan and *'Jedule; for 
~taff. to provide the City Council 'Wil~,;21~roposed budge'( timeline to 
fmallze the General Plan Update, and:'iPtovlde an example on the Land 
Use Element for the n~w.proposed strecilfiliined General Plan. The motion 
was passed unanimouSIY~.. "~,~~:; / 

Consider updates to the Fina~;Cial, Managen)~ht Policies and rescind 
Resolution No. 2683 relatedt.o Inter~~I~Rrt9~!ngt:[100-10] 

, 
Hannah provided the report on the City's Financial 

4> 

Motion _"",,,ci£.,.,,ncil Memb~rStorey, seconded by Council Member 
Bottorff, apPf;()Ve ""B$I~~e~ t9?the City's Financial Management Policies 
@"dre~!=ind lutiorfi'No •. 2683 which relates to internal borrowings. 
The motion unanimously. 

Consider an Qrdina 
specifying parking 

ding Chapter 10.38 of the Capitola Municipal Code 
r rates and zones [1st Reading]. 470-30/740-30] 

City Manager Goldstein stated that staff is recommending adding the parking 
met§Llanguage back into the City's Municipal Code (Code), which was 
remoVed SIX months prior from another section of the Code. The new section 
of Coc\e,~iII be outside the purview of the Coastal Commission, while the old 
langua'ge was contained in a section of the City's Code that required Coastal 
Commission review to modify. 

The only substantive difference between the old section of Code and the new 
section of Code is that the Lower Pacific Cove lot has been added into the 
meter zone. The State Vehicle Code requires that parking meters zones and 
rates be set up by Ordinance. 

-10-

Item #: 8.A. Attach 1.pdf

12419 

B. 

ACTION 

C. 

ACTION 

D. 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL MINUTES - Thursday, June 13, 2013 

Receive presentation regarding the City's updated General Plan Work Plan 
and Schedule. [740-40] 

Community Development Director Grunow provided an overview of the revised 
Work Plan for the City's General Plan Update. 

Council Member Norton requested that staff provide the City Council with a 
proposed budget timeline to finalize the General Plan Update. 

Mayor Harlan requested that the public review peri()/~JJortb{~ draft General Plan 
be at least eight weeks. A: ~ /~ 

Council Member Storey requested that sta 
example on the Land Use Element for th~n 
Plan. /';;;> 

ovi, City Council with an 
propo ~q'~treamlined General 

','~ <.;-0 
Y'-'''i:v;-+::'-,-, 

-,,); -"-<'~--~-; 

Motion made by Council Memg~t~Storey, '~~conded by C' ·IJMember 
Norton, to accept the revised~G~Iii~l PlanlW~rk Plan and *'Jedule; for 
~taff. to provide the City Council 'Wil~,;21~roposed budge'( timeline to 
fmallze the General Plan Update, and:'iPtovlde an example on the Land 
Use Element for the n~w.proposed strecilfiliined General Plan. The motion 
was passed unanimouSIY~.. "~,~~:; / 

Consider updates to the Fina~;Cial, Managen)~ht Policies and rescind 
Resolution No. 2683 relatedt.o Inter~~I~Rrt9~!ngt:[100-10] 

, 
Hannah provided the report on the City's Financial 

4> 

Motion _"",,,ci£.,.,,ncil Memb~rStorey, seconded by Council Member 
Bottorff, apPf;()Ve ""B$I~~e~ t9?the City's Financial Management Policies 
@"dre~!=ind lutiorfi'No •. 2683 which relates to internal borrowings. 
The motion unanimously. 

Consider an Qrdina 
specifying parking 

ding Chapter 10.38 of the Capitola Municipal Code 
r rates and zones [1st Reading]. 470-30/740-30] 

City Manager Goldstein stated that staff is recommending adding the parking 
met§Llanguage back into the City's Municipal Code (Code), which was 
remoVed SIX months prior from another section of the Code. The new section 
of Coc\e,~iII be outside the purview of the Coastal Commission, while the old 
langua'ge was contained in a section of the City's Code that required Coastal 
Commission review to modify. 

The only substantive difference between the old section of Code and the new 
section of Code is that the Lower Pacific Cove lot has been added into the 
meter zone. The State Vehicle Code requires that parking meters zones and 
rates be set up by Ordinance. 



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES - Thursday, June 13, 2013 12420 

Council Member Bottorff suggested waiting until August 2013 after the City 
hears back from the Coastal Commission regarding their decision (Ordinance 
No. 978) pertaining to parking meter rates and zones. In addition, in 
September 2013 the City Council will receive the City's Parking and Traffic 
Committee's recommendation regarding parking time periods and rate 
increases/decreases in various areas including the lower Pacific Cove 
property. ' 

Staff clarified that this Ordinance was proposed at this time to ensure that, 
when the Coastal Commission takes action to remove the old section of Code, 
the City remains in compliance with the Vehicle Code:~nd meter rates/zones 
continue to be defined by Ordinance.' 

ACTION Motion made by Council Member Norton, seconded by Council Member 
Bottorff, to introduce the proposed Ordinance adding Chapter 10.38 of 
the Capitola Municipal Code specify!gg ii~rking meter rates and zones 
[1st Reading]. The motion was pas~«~;t.fiaflimously. 

The City Council took separate as-liQITi:,;pn the':fpllowing Con~~hVCalendar 
item (Item 8.G.): "-.;;,!!f;> ')f 

8.G. 

"' - -_ ... _- :.'. 

'/ 

Designation of Voting .Delegate for theft",gue of California Cities Annual 
Conference in Sacramento California, from"$;~Rtember 18 to 20, 2013. [150-5m . ' . 

"';',';f' 
" , . '. .•... \;jY 

Council Member Bottorff vo'lunteered to be assigrted as the City's an Alternate 
Voting Delegate should the Mayor 6e'-ul1~bleto attend the 2013 League of 
californi~5il'fle§Annual Confer$nce.; . 

--{1) i/ --.. ~~- '. --~::--\_. \ . 
ACTION Mo"Si~ll,i:;'l1Jade by,;~buncil Member ~torey, seconded by Council Member 

Termilii,:t()desig,;iate Mayor Harlan as the City's Voting Delegate and 
Counc!1 ivI~~,~~,t:l.' ' .. ~!; t~j,Alternateyoting Delegate fo~ the. League 

10. 

QfCa,hformaw:Clt~es nual§onference m Sacramento Callforma, from 
Sept~lt1ber 18tQ?Q, 2013. The motion was passed unanimously. 

CITY COUNCIL rSTAFF C lNTS 
Council Mernb~r Norton suggested that a section be included in all staff reports 
regarding "Quality of Life Impact." In addition, he stated that he was 
disappointe~Fthat the scheduled July 2013 Special Joint Meeting with the 
Soquel Union Elementary School District (SUESD) and 'the City Council was 
cancelled. He suggested composing a letter to the SUESD Board to present 
issueg; 

Council Member Goldstein suggested that two Council Members meet with two 
SUESD Board members to discuss issues such as the Community Center 
lease with the SUESD; there are maintenance issues and long-term project 
needs. 

-11-

Item #: 8.A. Attach 1.pdf

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES - Thursday, June 13, 2013 12420 

Council Member Bottorff suggested waiting until August 2013 after the City 
hears back from the Coastal Commission regarding their decision (Ordinance 
No. 978) pertaining to parking meter rates and zones. In addition, in 
September 2013 the City Council will receive the City's Parking and Traffic 
Committee's recommendation regarding parking time periods and rate 
increases/decreases in various areas including the lower Pacific Cove 
property. ' 

Staff clarified that this Ordinance was proposed at this time to ensure that, 
when the Coastal Commission takes action to remove the old section of Code, 
the City remains in compliance with the Vehicle Code:~nd meter rates/zones 
continue to be defined by Ordinance.' 

ACTION Motion made by Council Member Norton, seconded by Council Member 
Bottorff, to introduce the proposed Ordinance adding Chapter 10.38 of 
the Capitola Municipal Code specify!gg ii~rking meter rates and zones 
[1st Reading]. The motion was pas~«~;t.fiaflimously. 

The City Council took separate as-liQITi:,;pn the':fpllowing Con~~hVCalendar 
item (Item 8.G.): "-.;;,!!f;> ')f 

8.G. 

"' - -_ ... _- :.'. 

'/ 

Designation of Voting .Delegate for theft",gue of California Cities Annual 
Conference in Sacramento California, from"$;~Rtember 18 to 20, 2013. [150-5m . ' . 

"';',';f' 
" , . '. .•... \;jY 

Council Member Bottorff vo'lunteered to be assigrted as the City's an Alternate 
Voting Delegate should the Mayor 6e'-ul1~bleto attend the 2013 League of 
californi~5il'fle§Annual Confer$nce.; . 

--{1) i/ --.. ~~- '. --~::--\_. \ . 
ACTION Mo"Si~ll,i:;'l1Jade by,;~buncil Member ~torey, seconded by Council Member 

Termilii,:t()desig,;iate Mayor Harlan as the City's Voting Delegate and 
Counc!1 ivI~~,~~,t:l.' ' .. ~!; t~j,Alternateyoting Delegate fo~ the. League 

10. 

QfCa,hformaw:Clt~es nual§onference m Sacramento Callforma, from 
Sept~lt1ber 18tQ?Q, 2013. The motion was passed unanimously. 

CITY COUNCIL rSTAFF C lNTS 
Council Mernb~r Norton suggested that a section be included in all staff reports 
regarding "Quality of Life Impact." In addition, he stated that he was 
disappointe~Fthat the scheduled July 2013 Special Joint Meeting with the 
Soquel Union Elementary School District (SUESD) and 'the City Council was 
cancelled. He suggested composing a letter to the SUESD Board to present 
issueg; 

Council Member Goldstein suggested that two Council Members meet with two 
SUESD Board members to discuss issues such as the Community Center 
lease with the SUESD; there are maintenance issues and long-term project 
needs. 



12421 CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL MINUTES - Thursday, June 13, 2013 

11. ADJOURNMENT 

Mayor Harlan adjourned the meeting at 9:00 PM to the next Regular Meeting of 
the City Council on Thursday, June 27,2013, at 7:00 PM, in the City Hall Council 
Chambers, 420 Capitola Avenue, Capitola, California. 

ATTEST: 

__________________ ,CMC 

Susan Sneddon, City Clerk 

Stephanie Harlan, Mayor 

-12-

Item #: 8.A. Attach 1.pdf

12421 CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL MINUTES - Thursday, June 13, 2013 

11. ADJOURNMENT 

Mayor Harlan adjourned the meeting at 9:00 PM to the next Regular Meeting of 
the City Council on Thursday, June 27,2013, at 7:00 PM, in the City Hall Council 
Chambers, 420 Capitola Avenue, Capitola, California. 

ATTEST: 

__________________ ,CMC 

Susan Sneddon, City Clerk 

Stephanie Harlan, Mayor 



CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING OF JULY 11, 2013 

FROM: FINANCE DEPARTMENT 

SUBJECT: CONSIDER A POLICY TO ESTABLISH PROCEDUR~S FOR RECEIVING, 
ACKNOWLEDGING, AND REPORTING DONATIONS AND CONTRIBUTIONS TO 
THE CITY 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve the proposed Donations Policy. 

BACKGROUND: The City has historically accepted donations of cash and personal property for 
public purposes. The proposed policy establishes guidance for the consistent acceptance, 
acknowledgement, and reporting of contributions. This policy also. allows the City Manager to 
accept and appropriate donations and grants of $5,000 or less to support (Jrojects and programs 
previously approved by the City Council, without formal Council acceptance. ~ 

DISCUSSION: The City receives donations throughout the year for museum activities, public 
safety, and other public purposes. The current budget policies require that Council approve any 
new supplemental appropriations with each fiscal year. The Donations Policy would allow the City 
Manager to accept funds of $5,000 or less to support existing programs, if the donor or contributor 
does not require formal Council acceptance. This policy would eliminate the need for individual 
staff reports for each donation and replace it with a comprehensive annual report of donations and 
their related expenditures. Small anonymous donations made to the Museum's "donation box" and 
similar contributions would be reported as a combined amount under grant/revenue donations. 
This report would be provided to Council on the Consent Agenda in Octob~r of each year. 

This Policy is not applicable to donations of Public Art, as it is addressed in the Capitola Municipal 
Code Chapter 2.58, Section 2.58.090 and 2.58.100. 

FISCAL IMPACT: This action has no fiscal impact. 

ATTACHMENTS 
1. Donations Policy 

Report Prepared By: Tori Hannah 
Finance Director 

Reviewed and M~ded 
by City Manag\j~ 

R:\CITY COUNCIL\City CounciI\Agenda Staff Reports\20 13 Agenda Reports\07 11 13\8.B. Donations Staff Report.docx -13-

Item #: 8.B. Staff Report.pdf

CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING OF JULY 11, 2013 

FROM: FINANCE DEPARTMENT 

SUBJECT: CONSIDER A POLICY TO ESTABLISH PROCEDUR~S FOR RECEIVING, 
ACKNOWLEDGING, AND REPORTING DONATIONS AND CONTRIBUTIONS TO 
THE CITY 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve the proposed Donations Policy. 

BACKGROUND: The City has historically accepted donations of cash and personal property for 
public purposes. The proposed policy establishes guidance for the consistent acceptance, 
acknowledgement, and reporting of contributions. This policy also. allows the City Manager to 
accept and appropriate donations and grants of $5,000 or less to support (Jrojects and programs 
previously approved by the City Council, without formal Council acceptance. ~ 

DISCUSSION: The City receives donations throughout the year for museum activities, public 
safety, and other public purposes. The current budget policies require that Council approve any 
new supplemental appropriations with each fiscal year. The Donations Policy would allow the City 
Manager to accept funds of $5,000 or less to support existing programs, if the donor or contributor 
does not require formal Council acceptance. This policy would eliminate the need for individual 
staff reports for each donation and replace it with a comprehensive annual report of donations and 
their related expenditures. Small anonymous donations made to the Museum's "donation box" and 
similar contributions would be reported as a combined amount under grant/revenue donations. 
This report would be provided to Council on the Consent Agenda in Octob~r of each year. 

This Policy is not applicable to donations of Public Art, as it is addressed in the Capitola Municipal 
Code Chapter 2.58, Section 2.58.090 and 2.58.100. 

FISCAL IMPACT: This action has no fiscal impact. 

ATTACHMENTS 
1. Donations Policy 

Report Prepared By: Tori Hannah 
Finance Director 

Reviewed and M~ded 
by City Manag\j~ 

R:\CITY COUNCIL\City CounciI\Agenda Staff Reports\20 13 Agenda Reports\07 11 13\8.B. Donations Staff Report.docx 



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

-14-



ADMINISTRATIVE POLICY 

DONATIONS POLICY 

Number: __ 
Issued: __ 
Jurisdiction: City Council 

I. PURPOSE 

The p.urpose of.this policy is t~ es~ablish a procedure for r~~~tih§1*ac~nowled~ing, a.nd 
reporting donations and contributions presented to the/{,> y of Capitola. This policy 
provides the city manager with the ~uthority to acce,gu~:propriate donations a~d 
grants of $5,000 or less to support projects and progra~s pr J.I§\Y approved by the City 
Council, without formal acceptance by the City CouJ:l,ciJ. 'Y~c\ . 

,/ ___ _r -';~-,,;-',,;<:;>. 

<.~~ -'(4}1!;;;;ik:::;~ 

II. POLICY 

III. 

.0 \,,

0Z
tQ!f'r'8d, 

It is the intent of the City to accept don ions of gooq$y';'services, fundif)y( or property 
granted by businesses, nonprofit organizations,6 ., 'g'dtrzens. Based/on the value of 
the donation, appropriate City staff will review nditions of the donation and 
determine if the benefits to be deriVed warrant the ace .' . (Ice of the donation. Criteria for 
evaluation include consideration of an~iD::kind contribJfi~6§~, th~ potential and extend of 
the City's obligation to maintain the donation,ClQd the coml11'tJ:rlify benefit derived from the 
donation. . ' .. '. J/ 

';",/.' '.' .: .... 7 
This Policy is not applicabl~ to donatioli~£Hjl'Public AI}Cas it is addressed in the Capitola 
Municipal Code Chapter2,~8;., Section 2.5&\090 and 2~58.1 00. / .. - ~'<;" 

Gifts to the OitV rnaype con§idered charitabi~contributions if the gift is entirely for public 
purposes. 

PRoeEt1(j~~;';;;:h;';, 
/'" ,/ , ~---:""-"" 

i~rt;':1. Receipting 

#~~~ a. Donatid~$'lundef$; 00 
'; .. , . ". All cash(fti~onations (cash, check, money order, credit card) should be 
'~f~;>i{eceiveg;~ttlrough the City's regular cash receipting process. All donations 

~nder,$'jfOO will be considered de minimis and will be accumulated during 
the :yEfar, recorded, and treated in the same manner as other revenues. 
D,Qrtations under $100 may be made to a specific project or program if such 
a'<>,7 project or program has been established by the City Councilor City 
Manager. 

b. Amounts between $100 and $5,000 

The City Manager has the authority to determine whether a contribution 
between $100 and $5,000 should be subject to formal Council acceptance, 
when the contributing or donating authority does not require formal Council 
acceptance. All donations should be receipted through the city's regular 
cash receipting process. 

R:\CITY COUNCIL\City Council\Agenda Staff Reports\2013 Agenda Reports\07 11 13\8.B Donations Policy-Attachment I Rev 
Su.docx -15-

Item #: 8.B. Attach 1.pdf

ADMINISTRATIVE POLICY 

DONATIONS POLICY 

Number: __ 
Issued: __ 
Jurisdiction: City Council 

I. PURPOSE 

The p.urpose of.this policy is t~ es~ablish a procedure for r~~~tih§1*ac~nowled~ing, a.nd 
reporting donations and contributions presented to the/{,> y of Capitola. This policy 
provides the city manager with the ~uthority to acce,gu~:propriate donations a~d 
grants of $5,000 or less to support projects and progra~s pr J.I§\Y approved by the City 
Council, without formal acceptance by the City CouJ:l,ciJ. 'Y~c\ . 

,/ ___ _r -';~-,,;-',,;<:;>. 

<.~~ -'(4}1!;;;;ik:::;~ 

II. POLICY 

III. 

.0 \,,

0Z
tQ!f'r'8d, 

It is the intent of the City to accept don ions of gooq$y';'services, fundif)y( or property 
granted by businesses, nonprofit organizations,6 ., 'g'dtrzens. Based/on the value of 
the donation, appropriate City staff will review nditions of the donation and 
determine if the benefits to be deriVed warrant the ace .' . (Ice of the donation. Criteria for 
evaluation include consideration of an~iD::kind contribJfi~6§~, th~ potential and extend of 
the City's obligation to maintain the donation,ClQd the coml11'tJ:rlify benefit derived from the 
donation. . ' .. '. J/ 

';",/.' '.' .: .... 7 
This Policy is not applicabl~ to donatioli~£Hjl'Public AI}Cas it is addressed in the Capitola 
Municipal Code Chapter2,~8;., Section 2.5&\090 and 2~58.1 00. / .. - ~'<;" 

Gifts to the OitV rnaype con§idered charitabi~contributions if the gift is entirely for public 
purposes. 

PRoeEt1(j~~;';;;:h;';, 
/'" ,/ , ~---:""-"" 

i~rt;':1. Receipting 

#~~~ a. Donatid~$'lundef$; 00 
'; .. , . ". All cash(fti~onations (cash, check, money order, credit card) should be 
'~f~;>i{eceiveg;~ttlrough the City's regular cash receipting process. All donations 

~nder,$'jfOO will be considered de minimis and will be accumulated during 
the :yEfar, recorded, and treated in the same manner as other revenues. 
D,Qrtations under $100 may be made to a specific project or program if such 
a'<>,7 project or program has been established by the City Councilor City 
Manager. 

b. Amounts between $100 and $5,000 

The City Manager has the authority to determine whether a contribution 
between $100 and $5,000 should be subject to formal Council acceptance, 
when the contributing or donating authority does not require formal Council 
acceptance. All donations should be receipted through the city's regular 
cash receipting process. 

R:\CITY COUNCIL\City Council\Agenda Staff Reports\2013 Agenda Reports\07 11 13\8.B Donations Policy-Attachment I Rev 
Su.docx 



Number: __ 
Issued: __ 
Jurisdiction: City Council 
Page 2 of 3 

The Finance Department shall be notified when the receipting department 
receives cash contributions that are $1,000 or more. The cash receipt shall 
be accompanied by an Administrative Budget Adjustment to appropriate the 
revenue and any related expenditures. It is the Department's responsibility 
to ensure that funds are spent in accordance w~~~¥,~pecified purpose. 

c. Amounts greater than $5,000 /?/ .. ", 

Donations or contributions in amount~J~~fe~te~tlit~n $5,000 will require 
formal Council acceptance. The staftrep'cft:t should:i(r~lude the contributor's 
name, purpose, City's obligation tp:m~it:l~ajn or receiya:lre funds; and the' 
amount of the contribution. Fo(;Cash receipts, a bl::l<':>O adjustment to 
identify the appropriate rec~iying accoul1\t, along with a . ()J[~sponding 
expenditures shall be attaoned'(IQJjt!1e staff r~port. All cont'trons of real 
property shall be accompanied byaresolution'~:> 

Ddnations or contl1!R.utions of personal./prqperty with values greater than 
$5,000, should be 'it 'ed with the 'Finance Department for potential 
inclusion in the City's :., ,al;t13§§et system. '" 

~.>\;, '.; :Y;.:-- ,_.; '. 

If appropriate .information i.s availab:{~$? ca~Hj:i<5dm~i~~tlQ~s~r donations may also be 
presented and Incorporated Into the Cltyt~\~r:)ntlal buClgxt~process. 

IV. Annual Reporting 

Finance will prep~Ee an ar;ln\..i81 report to~~encil on donations/contributions, including 
funds spenton behalf ()f.theGitybyoutside~rganizations and in-kind contributions. This 
repOJfwUI beoistributed.iO Octobefof each year. 

/<;»,.. '" '. :-:.---';----~~~';::::--,-:,::,:;--':-:-, ' .. )- >'~'''' 

V. 'Acknowledgment LE:!tt~r 

Thef¢ceiving departmE;l,nt shOuld send a thank you letter to the donor. The letter should 
include:th~ form lett~r regarding the City's tax status (Exhibit 1). Copies of this form 
shouldal§Q"Qe forwa~~.~d to the Finance Department for inclusion in the Annual Report. 

}j,> <1/ 
ThiSW~~Y,l.'s approved by the City Council of the City of Capitola at its meeting 

held on the 11th 9ayof July, 2013, and authorized by: 

Attachment: 

I. Acknowledgment Letter 

Jamie Goldstein 
City Manager 

R:\CITY COUNCIL\City Council\Agenda Staff Reports\2013 Agenda Reports\07 11 13\8.8 Donations POlicy_Attachment I Rev 
Su.docx 

-16-

Item #: 8.B. Attach 1.pdf

Number: __ 
Issued: __ 
Jurisdiction: City Council 
Page 2 of 3 

The Finance Department shall be notified when the receipting department 
receives cash contributions that are $1,000 or more. The cash receipt shall 
be accompanied by an Administrative Budget Adjustment to appropriate the 
revenue and any related expenditures. It is the Department's responsibility 
to ensure that funds are spent in accordance w~~~¥,~pecified purpose. 

c. Amounts greater than $5,000 /?/ .. ", 

Donations or contributions in amount~J~~fe~te~tlit~n $5,000 will require 
formal Council acceptance. The staftrep'cft:t should:i(r~lude the contributor's 
name, purpose, City's obligation tp:m~it:l~ajn or receiya:lre funds; and the' 
amount of the contribution. Fo(;Cash receipts, a bl::l<':>O adjustment to 
identify the appropriate rec~iying accoul1\t, along with a . ()J[~sponding 
expenditures shall be attaoned'(IQJjt!1e staff r~port. All cont'trons of real 
property shall be accompanied byaresolution'~:> 

Ddnations or contl1!R.utions of personal./prqperty with values greater than 
$5,000, should be 'it 'ed with the 'Finance Department for potential 
inclusion in the City's :., ,al;t13§§et system. '" 

~.>\;, '.; :Y;.:-- ,_.; '. 

If appropriate .information i.s availab:{~$? ca~Hj:i<5dm~i~~tlQ~s~r donations may also be 
presented and Incorporated Into the Cltyt~\~r:)ntlal buClgxt~process. 

IV. Annual Reporting 

Finance will prep~Ee an ar;ln\..i81 report to~~encil on donations/contributions, including 
funds spenton behalf ()f.theGitybyoutside~rganizations and in-kind contributions. This 
repOJfwUI beoistributed.iO Octobefof each year. 

/<;»,.. '" '. :-:.---';----~~~';::::--,-:,::,:;--':-:-, ' .. )- >'~'''' 

V. 'Acknowledgment LE:!tt~r 

Thef¢ceiving departmE;l,nt shOuld send a thank you letter to the donor. The letter should 
include:th~ form lett~r regarding the City's tax status (Exhibit 1). Copies of this form 
shouldal§Q"Qe forwa~~.~d to the Finance Department for inclusion in the Annual Report. 

}j,> <1/ 
ThiSW~~Y,l.'s approved by the City Council of the City of Capitola at its meeting 

held on the 11th 9ayof July, 2013, and authorized by: 

Attachment: 

I. Acknowledgment Letter 

Jamie Goldstein 
City Manager 

R:\CITY COUNCIL\City Council\Agenda Staff Reports\2013 Agenda Reports\07 11 13\8.8 Donations POlicy_Attachment I Rev 
Su.docx 



Page 3 of 3 

ATTACHMENT 1 

(Date) 

Dear XX, 

Thank you for your recent donation to the City Of9~pitola.~~e City of c~Pitaia.i~at"california 
municipal corporation. Contributions made diregtly:toJhe City may be deductiQlefjf'the gift i::; 
made exclusively for public purposes and the &mordo~§ not recejve any subst~Htial benefit in 
return for the contribution. The Internal Revenue Codeornay limit ~the percentage of charitable 
deductions allowed in certain circumstau~es. "«~, 

The City's Federal Tax Identification Nurrib~Li~~ 

Please consult your tax advisor to 
circumstances. 

Sincerely, 

Receipting Department Head, 

Name ot~Donor: 

Intended Use: '! 27 

Additional Comments 

apply to your own 

R:\CITY COUNCIL\City Council\Agenda Staff Reports\2013 Agenda Reports\07 11 13\8.8 Donations Policy-Attachment I Rev 
SU.docx 

-17-

Item #: 8.B. Attach 1.pdf
Page 3 of 3 

ATTACHMENT 1 

(Date) 

Dear XX, 

Thank you for your recent donation to the City Of9~pitola.~~e City of c~Pitaia.i~at"california 
municipal corporation. Contributions made diregtly:toJhe City may be deductiQlefjf'the gift i::; 
made exclusively for public purposes and the &mordo~§ not recejve any subst~Htial benefit in 
return for the contribution. The Internal Revenue Codeornay limit ~the percentage of charitable 
deductions allowed in certain circumstau~es. "«~, 

The City's Federal Tax Identification Nurrib~Li~~ 

Please consult your tax advisor to 
circumstances. 

Sincerely, 

Receipting Department Head, 

Name ot~Donor: 

Intended Use: '! 27 

Additional Comments 

apply to your own 

R:\CITY COUNCIL\City Council\Agenda Staff Reports\2013 Agenda Reports\07 11 13\8.8 Donations Policy-Attachment I Rev 
SU.docx 



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

-18-



CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING OF JULY 11, 2013 

FROM: 

SUBJECT: 

OFFICE OF THE CITY CLERK 

CONSIDER AN ORDINANCE REZONING 
NEIGHBORHOOD COMMERCIAL DISTRICT 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT [2ND READING]; 
CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL. 

PROPERTY FROM THE 
TO THE PLANNED 

AND APPROVE THE 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Adopt the proposed Ordinance for a .72 acre site located at 1575 
38th Avenue, Assessor's Parcel Number 034-181-17 by way of rezoning this property from the 
CN "Neighborhood Commercial" District to the PO "Planned Development" District [2nd 
Reading]; and approve the Conditions of Approval. 

BACKGROUNDIDISCUSSION: The City Council approved the first reading of this Ordinance at 
the Council meeting held on June 27,2013. 

The proposed Ordinance is before the City Council for its second reading and final adoption. If 
adopted, the Ordinance will take effect in thirty (30) days. 

FISCAL IMPACT: None 

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Draft Ordinance 
2. Conditions of Approval 

Report Prepared By: Susan Sneddon, CMC 
City Clerk 

Reviewed and F. 
By City Manag r: -+-~'T--

R:\CITY COUNCIL\City Council\Agenda Staff Reports\2013 Agenda Reports\07 11 13\8.C. Ordinance stfrept.docx -19-

Item #: 8.C. Staff Report.pdf

CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING OF JULY 11, 2013 

FROM: 

SUBJECT: 

OFFICE OF THE CITY CLERK 

CONSIDER AN ORDINANCE REZONING 
NEIGHBORHOOD COMMERCIAL DISTRICT 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT [2ND READING]; 
CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL. 

PROPERTY FROM THE 
TO THE PLANNED 

AND APPROVE THE 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Adopt the proposed Ordinance for a .72 acre site located at 1575 
38th Avenue, Assessor's Parcel Number 034-181-17 by way of rezoning this property from the 
CN "Neighborhood Commercial" District to the PO "Planned Development" District [2nd 
Reading]; and approve the Conditions of Approval. 

BACKGROUNDIDISCUSSION: The City Council approved the first reading of this Ordinance at 
the Council meeting held on June 27,2013. 

The proposed Ordinance is before the City Council for its second reading and final adoption. If 
adopted, the Ordinance will take effect in thirty (30) days. 

FISCAL IMPACT: None 

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Draft Ordinance 
2. Conditions of Approval 

Report Prepared By: Susan Sneddon, CMC 
City Clerk 

Reviewed and F. 
By City Manag r: -+-~'T--

R:\CITY COUNCIL\City Council\Agenda Staff Reports\2013 Agenda Reports\07 11 13\8.C. Ordinance stfrept.docx 



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

-20-



ORDINANCE NO. 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF CAPITOLA AMENDING THE ZONING MAP OF THE 
ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CAPITOLA MUNICIPAL CODE FOR A .72 ACRE SITE 

LOCATED AT 1575 38th AVENUE, ASSESSOR'S PARCEL NUMBER 034-181-17 BY WAY 
OF REZONING THIS PROPERTY FROM THE CN "NEIGHBORHOOD COMMERCIAL" 

DISTRICT TO THE PD-"PLANNED DEVELOPMENT" DISTRICT 

WHEREAS, the City of Capitola reviews land use desig 
regulate appropriate use of land and to protect the public health, 

WHEREAS, Zoning Districts specifying al 
development standards are applied to lands in order tq Imrw::>n""",n 

designations and the City of Capitola has determined thpt 

APPLICATION #13-061 

zoning in order to 
\AlQ'T~'"Q; and 

Avenue is consistent with and implements the Genec~IPlan land use desig 
-'<'-
"\ 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission "neICl, a public hearing on J 
":':P"': "' 

, 2013 and 
recommended denial of the application; and <"i';"""/" 4t"" 

WHEREAS, the City ~,~,~mcil considereq the Planning Commission's 
recommendation along with the documEt""" ecord and oralt~~timony, and determined that a 
23-unit senior housing use was appr the site Qjanction with a Planned 
Development District zoning designation; a 

WHEREAS, th~L City Council, folio", ,iLl' he 'earing determined to adopt the 
ordinance rezoning the,"sul5ject;p~(eel, and her~[y finds tha' the public necessity, convenience, 

, general welfare and g09P zoning practice, suppoi!f"and require amendment of the Zoning Map to 
provide "Planned De\/elpHl11ent District" zoning deP

;" nation on the subject property. 
''-<. :~'/~>., ;:;';.'}''':~'- "':-'-- . 

REFOR~, BEIT9RDAIN~ ,by the City Council of the City of Capitola, 
as follows:/ i , ':: 

// 

Capifbja~:RQ,~d and Brom 
034-181-17Ll:ll1d more pa ' 
hereof, is her~by~rezoned to 
Zoning Ordinal1~~~of the c' 

reclassification. ",.. 'i1f:'~/ 

""'::, " 

reaYprbpe,fty located on the west side of 38th Avenue between 
',Known as 1575 38th Avenue, Assessor's Parcel Number 

d~scribed in Exhibit "A", attached hereto and made a part 
PD "Planned Development" district, and the zoning Map of the 

pitola Municipal Code is hereby amended to reflect this 

-21-

Item #: 8.C. Attach 1.pdf

ORDINANCE NO. 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF CAPITOLA AMENDING THE ZONING MAP OF THE 
ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CAPITOLA MUNICIPAL CODE FOR A .72 ACRE SITE 

LOCATED AT 1575 38th AVENUE, ASSESSOR'S PARCEL NUMBER 034-181-17 BY WAY 
OF REZONING THIS PROPERTY FROM THE CN "NEIGHBORHOOD COMMERCIAL" 

DISTRICT TO THE PD-"PLANNED DEVELOPMENT" DISTRICT 

WHEREAS, the City of Capitola reviews land use desig 
regulate appropriate use of land and to protect the public health, 

WHEREAS, Zoning Districts specifying al 
development standards are applied to lands in order tq Imrw::>n""",n 

designations and the City of Capitola has determined thpt 

APPLICATION #13-061 

zoning in order to 
\AlQ'T~'"Q; and 

Avenue is consistent with and implements the Genec~IPlan land use desig 
-'<'-
"\ 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission "neICl, a public hearing on J 
":':P"': "' 

, 2013 and 
recommended denial of the application; and <"i';"""/" 4t"" 

WHEREAS, the City ~,~,~mcil considereq the Planning Commission's 
recommendation along with the documEt""" ecord and oralt~~timony, and determined that a 
23-unit senior housing use was appr the site Qjanction with a Planned 
Development District zoning designation; a 

WHEREAS, th~L City Council, folio", ,iLl' he 'earing determined to adopt the 
ordinance rezoning the,"sul5ject;p~(eel, and her~[y finds tha' the public necessity, convenience, 

, general welfare and g09P zoning practice, suppoi!f"and require amendment of the Zoning Map to 
provide "Planned De\/elpHl11ent District" zoning deP

;" nation on the subject property. 
''-<. :~'/~>., ;:;';.'}''':~'- "':-'-- . 

REFOR~, BEIT9RDAIN~ ,by the City Council of the City of Capitola, 
as follows:/ i , ':: 

// 

Capifbja~:RQ,~d and Brom 
034-181-17Ll:ll1d more pa ' 
hereof, is her~by~rezoned to 
Zoning Ordinal1~~~of the c' 

reclassification. ",.. 'i1f:'~/ 

""'::, " 

reaYprbpe,fty located on the west side of 38th Avenue between 
',Known as 1575 38th Avenue, Assessor's Parcel Number 

d~scribed in Exhibit "A", attached hereto and made a part 
PD "Planned Development" district, and the zoning Map of the 

pitola Municipal Code is hereby amended to reflect this 



ORDINANCE NO. 

SECTION 2. This ordinance shall be in full force and take effect thirty (30) days after 
its final adoption. . 

This ordinance was introduced on the 27th day of June 2013, and was passed and 
adopted by the City Council of the City of Capitola on the 11 th day of July, 2013, by the following 
vote: 

AYES: 

NOES: 

ABSENT: 

ABSTAIN: 

ATTEST: 

_____________________ ,CMC 

Susan Sneddon, City Clerk 

R:\CITYCOUNCIL\City Council\Agenda StaffReports\2013 Agenda Reports\07 11 13\38th Ave 1575 Senior 
Housing 6-27-13 Ordinance. doc 

-22-

Item #: 8.C. Attach 1.pdf
ORDINANCE NO. 

SECTION 2. This ordinance shall be in full force and take effect thirty (30) days after 
its final adoption. . 

This ordinance was introduced on the 27th day of June 2013, and was passed and 
adopted by the City Council of the City of Capitola on the 11 th day of July, 2013, by the following 
vote: 

AYES: 

NOES: 

ABSENT: 

ABSTAIN: 

ATTEST: 

_____________________ ,CMC 

Susan Sneddon, City Clerk 

R:\CITYCOUNCIL\City Council\Agenda StaffReports\2013 Agenda Reports\07 11 13\38th Ave 1575 Senior 
Housing 6-27-13 Ordinance. doc 



Exhibit "A,,1 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
1575 38th Avenue 

Application #13-061 

1. The project approval is for a Planned Development Rezoning, Conditional Use Permit, and 
Design Permit to demolish a commercial salvage yard (Capitola Freight and Salvage) and 
construct a three-story, 23-unit residential senior housing project in the CN (Neighborhood 
Commercial) Zoning District. 

2. Any significant modifications to the size or exterior appearance of the approved design must 
be approved by the Planning Commission. Similarly, any significant change to the use itself, 
or the site, must be approved by the Planning Commission. 

3. Prior to granting of final occupancy, compliance with all conditions of approval shall be 
demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Community Development Director. 

4. Hours of construction shall be Monday to Friday 7:30 a.m. - 9:00 p.m., and Saturday 9:00 
a.m. - 4:00 p.m., per city ordinance. 

5. Air-conditioning equipment and other roof top equipment shall be screened from view and 
fall within the allowable city permitted decibel levels. 

6. Affordable housing in-lieu fees shall be paid as required to assure cqmpliance with the Cit~1 
of Capitola Affordable (lnclusionary) Housing Ordinance. Any appropriate fees shall be paid 
prior to building permit issuance. 

7. The applicant shall submit a drainage plan, with the building permit plans, subject to the 
current Post Construction Requirements for stormwater mitigation practices as specified by 
the Regional Board and the County of Santa Cruz Design Criteria. The drainage plan shall 
be reviewed and approved to the satisfaction of the Public Works Director and the Santa 
Cruz County's Zone 5 Drainage District. 

8. The final landscape plan shall be submitted with the building permit application and will 
include the specific number of plants of each type and their size, as well as the irrigation 
system to be utilized. Irrigation and landscaping shall be installed prior to final building 
occupancy. 

9. An erosion control plan shall be approved and in place prior to grading and construction on 
site. 

10. Prior to Certificates of Occupancy being issued, the project Developer shall be responsible 
for installing all required frontage improvements including curb, gutter, and sidewalk, along 
38th Avenue for the length of the property frontage. All sidewalks are to meet the standards 
for ADA accessibility. 

1 (Exhibit A) Resolution No. 3961 -Approved at the June 27, 2013 City Council Meeting] 

1 

-23-

Item #: 8.C. Attach 2.pdf

Exhibit "A,,1 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
1575 38th Avenue 

Application #13-061 

1. The project approval is for a Planned Development Rezoning, Conditional Use Permit, and 
Design Permit to demolish a commercial salvage yard (Capitola Freight and Salvage) and 
construct a three-story, 23-unit residential senior housing project in the CN (Neighborhood 
Commercial) Zoning District. 

2. Any significant modifications to the size or exterior appearance of the approved design must 
be approved by the Planning Commission. Similarly, any significant change to the use itself, 
or the site, must be approved by the Planning Commission. 

3. Prior to granting of final occupancy, compliance with all conditions of approval shall be 
demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Community Development Director. 

4. Hours of construction shall be Monday to Friday 7:30 a.m. - 9:00 p.m., and Saturday 9:00 
a.m. - 4:00 p.m., per city ordinance. 

5. Air-conditioning equipment and other roof top equipment shall be screened from view and 
fall within the allowable city permitted decibel levels. 

6. Affordable housing in-lieu fees shall be paid as required to assure cqmpliance with the Cit~1 
of Capitola Affordable (lnclusionary) Housing Ordinance. Any appropriate fees shall be paid 
prior to building permit issuance. 

7. The applicant shall submit a drainage plan, with the building permit plans, subject to the 
current Post Construction Requirements for stormwater mitigation practices as specified by 
the Regional Board and the County of Santa Cruz Design Criteria. The drainage plan shall 
be reviewed and approved to the satisfaction of the Public Works Director and the Santa 
Cruz County's Zone 5 Drainage District. 

8. The final landscape plan shall be submitted with the building permit application and will 
include the specific number of plants of each type and their size, as well as the irrigation 
system to be utilized. Irrigation and landscaping shall be installed prior to final building 
occupancy. 

9. An erosion control plan shall be approved and in place prior to grading and construction on 
site. 

10. Prior to Certificates of Occupancy being issued, the project Developer shall be responsible 
for installing all required frontage improvements including curb, gutter, and sidewalk, along 
38th Avenue for the length of the property frontage. All sidewalks are to meet the standards 
for ADA accessibility. 

1 (Exhibit A) Resolution No. 3961 -Approved at the June 27, 2013 City Council Meeting] 

1 



Exhibit "A" 1575 38th Avenue Conditions of Approval 1575 38th Avenue (Application #13-061) 

11. All lighting shall be shielded and directed on to subject property, away from adjacent 
residential properties. Lighting intensity shall be reviewed and approved by staff prior to 
final occupancy and shall be reviewed by the Planning Commission upon receipt of a 
complaint. 

12. No roof equipment is to be visible to the general public. Any necessary roof screening is to 
match the color of the building as closely as possible. Plans for any necessary screening 
shall be submitted to the Community Development Department prior to, or in conjunction 
with, building permit submittal. 

13. A 6'-8" high concrete block wall (measured from project finished grade) shall be constructed 
along the western property line adjacent to residential properties. 

14. The applicant shall obtain an encroachment permit, from the Director. of Public Works, pric;
to any work in the public right of way. 

15. The utilities shall be underground to the nearest utility pole in accordance with PG&E and 
Public Works Department requirements. A note shall be placed on the final building plans 
indicating this requirement. Underground utility vaults shall be located in a paved surface 
area outside of the landscaped area. 

16. The applicant shall comply with all requirements of the Santa Cruz City Water Department 
regarding landscape irrigation and/or water fixture requir.ements, as well as any 
infrastructure improvements. Final building plans shall be reviewed and approved by the 
Department prior to issuance of building permits. 

17. The applicant shall implement "Best Management" construction practices to control dust and 
PM10 emissions during grading and site development. The MBUAPCD identifies the 
following construction practices to control dust: 

o Water all active construction areas at least twice daily; 
o Prohibit all grading activities during periods of high winds (over 15 mph); 
o Cover all trucks hauling dirt, sand or loose materials. 
o Cover or water stockpiles of debris, soil and other materials which can become 

windblown; 
o Install wheel washers at the entrance to construction sites for all existing trucks; 
o Sweep streets if visible soil material is carried out from the construction site; 
o Apply chemical soil stabilizers on inactive construction sites; 
o Plant vegetative ground cover in disturbed areas as soon as possible. 

18. The applicant shall submit a construction plan for approval prior to building permit issuance. 
The plan shall include, but not be limited to, identifying construction hours, access to the 
site, contractor parking locations, office trailer locations, material storage, etc. 

19. If archaeological resources or human remains are accidentally discovered during 
construction, work shall be halted within 50 meters (150 feet) of the find until it can be 
evaluated by a qualified professional archaeologist. If the find is determined to be significant, 
appropriate mitigation measures shall be formulated and implemented. Disturbance shall not 
resume until the significance of the archaeological resources is determined and appropriate 
mitigations to preserve the resource on the site are established. If human remains are 
encountered during construction or any other phase of development, work in the area of 
discovery must be halted, the Santa Cruz County coroner notified, and the provisions of 
Public Resources Code 5097.98-99, Health and Safety Code 7050.5 carried out. If the 

-24-

Item #: 8.C. Attach 2.pdf
Exhibit "A" 1575 38th Avenue Conditions of Approval 1575 38th Avenue (Application #13-061) 

11. All lighting shall be shielded and directed on to subject property, away from adjacent 
residential properties. Lighting intensity shall be reviewed and approved by staff prior to 
final occupancy and shall be reviewed by the Planning Commission upon receipt of a 
complaint. 

12. No roof equipment is to be visible to the general public. Any necessary roof screening is to 
match the color of the building as closely as possible. Plans for any necessary screening 
shall be submitted to the Community Development Department prior to, or in conjunction 
with, building permit submittal. 

13. A 6'-8" high concrete block wall (measured from project finished grade) shall be constructed 
along the western property line adjacent to residential properties. 

14. The applicant shall obtain an encroachment permit, from the Director. of Public Works, pric;
to any work in the public right of way. 

15. The utilities shall be underground to the nearest utility pole in accordance with PG&E and 
Public Works Department requirements. A note shall be placed on the final building plans 
indicating this requirement. Underground utility vaults shall be located in a paved surface 
area outside of the landscaped area. 

16. The applicant shall comply with all requirements of the Santa Cruz City Water Department 
regarding landscape irrigation and/or water fixture requir.ements, as well as any 
infrastructure improvements. Final building plans shall be reviewed and approved by the 
Department prior to issuance of building permits. 

17. The applicant shall implement "Best Management" construction practices to control dust and 
PM10 emissions during grading and site development. The MBUAPCD identifies the 
following construction practices to control dust: 

o Water all active construction areas at least twice daily; 
o Prohibit all grading activities during periods of high winds (over 15 mph); 
o Cover all trucks hauling dirt, sand or loose materials. 
o Cover or water stockpiles of debris, soil and other materials which can become 

windblown; 
o Install wheel washers at the entrance to construction sites for all existing trucks; 
o Sweep streets if visible soil material is carried out from the construction site; 
o Apply chemical soil stabilizers on inactive construction sites; 
o Plant vegetative ground cover in disturbed areas as soon as possible. 

18. The applicant shall submit a construction plan for approval prior to building permit issuance. 
The plan shall include, but not be limited to, identifying construction hours, access to the 
site, contractor parking locations, office trailer locations, material storage, etc. 

19. If archaeological resources or human remains are accidentally discovered during 
construction, work shall be halted within 50 meters (150 feet) of the find until it can be 
evaluated by a qualified professional archaeologist. If the find is determined to be significant, 
appropriate mitigation measures shall be formulated and implemented. Disturbance shall not 
resume until the significance of the archaeological resources is determined and appropriate 
mitigations to preserve the resource on the site are established. If human remains are 
encountered during construction or any other phase of development, work in the area of 
discovery must be halted, the Santa Cruz County coroner notified, and the provisions of 
Public Resources Code 5097.98-99, Health and Safety Code 7050.5 carried out. If the 



Exhibit "A" 1575 38th Avenue Conditions of Approval 1575 38th Avenue (Application #13-061) 

remains are determined to be Native American, the Native American Heritage Commission 
(NAHC) shall be notified within 24 hours as required by Public Resources Code 5097. 

20. The applicant shall meet or exceed the California Green Building Code and Capitola Green 
Building Program. 

21. Mitigation Measure 1: The applicant shall prepare an acoustical study with the building 
permit submittal. The building plans shall incorporate any recommended building or window 
design measures, if needed to achieve required indoor noise levels. 

22. The applicant shall submit the manufacturer specifications which demonstrate that the 
HVAC will' comply with the 60 dba Ldn standard. 

23. The applicant shall construct a mid-block pedestrian crossing on 38th Avenue from the 
project to King's Shopping Center. The crossing shall be designed based on 
recommendations of the traffic engineer and approved by the Public Works Director. 

24. The applicant shall submit a detailed arborist report prior to any grading, with 
recommendations for protection of the redwood trees and the root systems. The 
recommendations shall be incorporated into the construction documents. An arborist shall 
be on-site during excavation of the site and construction of the foundation to ensure the 
redwood trees are not damaged. 

25. The applicant shall minimize the number of construction vehicles on-site at anyone time. 

26. The applicant shall include, in the resident lease agreement and project CC&Rs, R 

disclosure regarding the potential for noise from the adjacent commerCial district. 

27. The applicant shall include, in the resident lease agreement and project CC&Rs, a 
restriction of one vehicle per unit. 

28. The minimum age for tenant occupancy of the project shall be 62 years of age (California 
Civil Code §51.3). 

29. The applicant shall submit a final drainage plan, site lighting pl.an, landscape and irrigation 
plan for review and approval by the Community Development Director, prior to issuance of a 
building permit. 

30. The final building permit plans shall move the entire building 5'-0" toward the east, 
increasing the west setback. 

31. The final building permit plans shall incorporate a green parking zone along the property 
street frontage. 

32. The final parking layout shall be revised to add a minimum of two compact parking spaces. 
The applicant shall submit the final parking plan for review and approval by the Community 
Development Director, prior to issuance of a building permit. 

-25-

Item #: 8.C. Attach 2.pdf
Exhibit "A" 1575 38th Avenue Conditions of Approval 1575 38th Avenue (Application #13-061) 

remains are determined to be Native American, the Native American Heritage Commission 
(NAHC) shall be notified within 24 hours as required by Public Resources Code 5097. 

20. The applicant shall meet or exceed the California Green Building Code and Capitola Green 
Building Program. 

21. Mitigation Measure 1: The applicant shall prepare an acoustical study with the building 
permit submittal. The building plans shall incorporate any recommended building or window 
design measures, if needed to achieve required indoor noise levels. 

22. The applicant shall submit the manufacturer specifications which demonstrate that the 
HVAC will' comply with the 60 dba Ldn standard. 

23. The applicant shall construct a mid-block pedestrian crossing on 38th Avenue from the 
project to King's Shopping Center. The crossing shall be designed based on 
recommendations of the traffic engineer and approved by the Public Works Director. 

24. The applicant shall submit a detailed arborist report prior to any grading, with 
recommendations for protection of the redwood trees and the root systems. The 
recommendations shall be incorporated into the construction documents. An arborist shall 
be on-site during excavation of the site and construction of the foundation to ensure the 
redwood trees are not damaged. 

25. The applicant shall minimize the number of construction vehicles on-site at anyone time. 

26. The applicant shall include, in the resident lease agreement and project CC&Rs, R 

disclosure regarding the potential for noise from the adjacent commerCial district. 

27. The applicant shall include, in the resident lease agreement and project CC&Rs, a 
restriction of one vehicle per unit. 

28. The minimum age for tenant occupancy of the project shall be 62 years of age (California 
Civil Code §51.3). 

29. The applicant shall submit a final drainage plan, site lighting pl.an, landscape and irrigation 
plan for review and approval by the Community Development Director, prior to issuance of a 
building permit. 

30. The final building permit plans shall move the entire building 5'-0" toward the east, 
increasing the west setback. 

31. The final building permit plans shall incorporate a green parking zone along the property 
street frontage. 

32. The final parking layout shall be revised to add a minimum of two compact parking spaces. 
The applicant shall submit the final parking plan for review and approval by the Community 
Development Director, prior to issuance of a building permit. 



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

-26-



CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING OF JULY 11, 2013 

FROM: COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

SUBJECT: WATER & SEWER CONNECTION COSTS FOR SECONDARY DWELLING UNITS 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Receive report. 

BACKGROUND: At their May 23, 2013 hearing, the City Council directed staff to research the 
requirements and costs for secondary dwelling units to establish water and sewer service. 
Concerns were expressed that costs could be prohibitive to developing secondary dwelling units 
which could in-turn impair the City's ability to satisfy its affordable housing goals. 

DISCUSSION: Domestic water service in Capitola is provided by the Soquel Creek Water District 
or the Santa Cruz Water Department, depending in which district a property resides. Sewer service 

. is provided by the County of Santa Cruz Sanitation District. 

Staff surveyed several additional local service providers to compare policies and costs related to 
water and sewer connections for secondary dwelling units. Most of the surveyed districts require 
secondary units to establish separate water and sewer connections. Exceptions to that 
requirement include the Santa Cruz Water Department, which requires a separate meter if the 
increased water demand of a secondary dwelling unit exceeds the capacity of the existing meter, 
and the Marina Coast Water District, which has the authority to require separate meters, but does 
not have an established threshold for requiring a separate connection. The Soquel Creek Water 
District and Santa Cruz Water Department are the only providers· surveyed who offer reduced 
connection rates for secondary dwelling units. 

Service providers employ varying methods to calculate connection and installation costs. For ease 
of comparison, the table below represents the total known costs to establish new service, including 
connection, water demand offsets, inspection, and installation fees. It should be noted that some 
service providers perform installations with internal staff and charge an associated installation fee. 
Other districts require a property owner to hire a private contractor to construct and install new 
connections. A cost of $5,000 was estimated for private contractor installations. 

Separate Water Connection & Water Connection 
Sewer Connection 

District Meter Installation Cost & Installation Cost 
Required? Single-Family Home 2nd Dwelling Unit 

Cost 

Scotts Valley Yes $23,958 $23,958 $6,137 

Soquel Creek Yes $17,765 $14,9651 N/A 
Santa Cruz Maybe $11,530 $8,918 $0 

Marina Coast Maybe $10,450 $10,450 $4,325 

Watsonville Yes $7,304 $7,304 $1,626 

Monterey Peninsula Yes $6,3932 $6,393 N/A 
Santa Cruz Sanitation Yes N/A N/A 3,000 

1 2nd Dwelling Unit under 640 square feet 
2 Monterey Peninsula cost based on $24,735 per acre-feet of water per year, 25 ac-ft assumed for 2nd Unit 

-27-

Item #: 9.A. Staff Report.pdf

CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING OF JULY 11, 2013 

FROM: COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

SUBJECT: WATER & SEWER CONNECTION COSTS FOR SECONDARY DWELLING UNITS 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Receive report. 

BACKGROUND: At their May 23, 2013 hearing, the City Council directed staff to research the 
requirements and costs for secondary dwelling units to establish water and sewer service. 
Concerns were expressed that costs could be prohibitive to developing secondary dwelling units 
which could in-turn impair the City's ability to satisfy its affordable housing goals. 

DISCUSSION: Domestic water service in Capitola is provided by the Soquel Creek Water District 
or the Santa Cruz Water Department, depending in which district a property resides. Sewer service 

. is provided by the County of Santa Cruz Sanitation District. 

Staff surveyed several additional local service providers to compare policies and costs related to 
water and sewer connections for secondary dwelling units. Most of the surveyed districts require 
secondary units to establish separate water and sewer connections. Exceptions to that 
requirement include the Santa Cruz Water Department, which requires a separate meter if the 
increased water demand of a secondary dwelling unit exceeds the capacity of the existing meter, 
and the Marina Coast Water District, which has the authority to require separate meters, but does 
not have an established threshold for requiring a separate connection. The Soquel Creek Water 
District and Santa Cruz Water Department are the only providers· surveyed who offer reduced 
connection rates for secondary dwelling units. 

Service providers employ varying methods to calculate connection and installation costs. For ease 
of comparison, the table below represents the total known costs to establish new service, including 
connection, water demand offsets, inspection, and installation fees. It should be noted that some 
service providers perform installations with internal staff and charge an associated installation fee. 
Other districts require a property owner to hire a private contractor to construct and install new 
connections. A cost of $5,000 was estimated for private contractor installations. 

Separate Water Connection & Water Connection 
Sewer Connection 

District Meter Installation Cost & Installation Cost 
Required? Single-Family Home 2nd Dwelling Unit 

Cost 

Scotts Valley Yes $23,958 $23,958 $6,137 

Soquel Creek Yes $17,765 $14,9651 N/A 
Santa Cruz Maybe $11,530 $8,918 $0 

Marina Coast Maybe $10,450 $10,450 $4,325 

Watsonville Yes $7,304 $7,304 $1,626 

Monterey Peninsula Yes $6,3932 $6,393 N/A 
Santa Cruz Sanitation Yes N/A N/A 3,000 

1 2nd Dwelling Unit under 640 square feet 
2 Monterey Peninsula cost based on $24,735 per acre-feet of water per year, 25 ac-ft assumed for 2nd Unit 



AGENDA STAFF REPORT JULY 11, 2013 
WATER AND SEWER CONNECTION COSTS FOR SECONDARY DWELLING UNITS 

The City's Secondary Dwelling Unit Ordinance was adopted in 2004. The Ordinance allows 
secondary dwelling units in the Single-Family Residence District (R-1) on lots of 5,000 square-feet 
or greater and on lots developed with one single-family residence in the Multiple Family (RM) 
District. The Ordinance does not impose any affordability restrictions on secondary dwelling units. 

The Housing Element identifies secondary dwelling units as an opportunity to satisfy the City's 
Regional Housing Needs Assessment obligations. The Housing Element projected seven new 
secondary dwelling units would be added to the City's housing stock during the 2007-2014 
planning period. Due to their inherent size limitations and typical site characteristics, it was 
anticipated that all secondary dwelling units would be offered at rents affordable to moderate
income households. Six secondary dwelling units have been permitted and constructed since 
2007. 

FISCAL IMPACT: None 

ATTACHMENTS: None 

Report Prepared By: Richard Grunow 
Community Development Director 

Reviewed and FO~ded 
By City Manager~ 

R:\CITY COUNCIL\City Council\Agenda Staff Reports\2013 Agenda Reports\07 1113\9.A 2nd DU water meters StaffReport.docx -28-

Item #: 9.A. Staff Report.pdf
AGENDA STAFF REPORT JULY 11, 2013 
WATER AND SEWER CONNECTION COSTS FOR SECONDARY DWELLING UNITS 

The City's Secondary Dwelling Unit Ordinance was adopted in 2004. The Ordinance allows 
secondary dwelling units in the Single-Family Residence District (R-1) on lots of 5,000 square-feet 
or greater and on lots developed with one single-family residence in the Multiple Family (RM) 
District. The Ordinance does not impose any affordability restrictions on secondary dwelling units. 

The Housing Element identifies secondary dwelling units as an opportunity to satisfy the City's 
Regional Housing Needs Assessment obligations. The Housing Element projected seven new 
secondary dwelling units would be added to the City's housing stock during the 2007-2014 
planning period. Due to their inherent size limitations and typical site characteristics, it was 
anticipated that all secondary dwelling units would be offered at rents affordable to moderate
income households. Six secondary dwelling units have been permitted and constructed since 
2007. 

FISCAL IMPACT: None 

ATTACHMENTS: None 

Report Prepared By: Richard Grunow 
Community Development Director 

Reviewed and FO~ded 
By City Manager~ 

R:\CITY COUNCIL\City Council\Agenda Staff Reports\2013 Agenda Reports\07 1113\9.A 2nd DU water meters StaffReport.docx 



CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING OF JULY 11, 2013 

FROM: COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

SUBJECT: REVIEW OF CITY'S AFFORDABLE HOUSING PROGRAM 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Receive report and provide direction regarding reinstating affordable 
housing programs or continuing to allow monies to accumulate to fund a larger affordable housing 
project. 

BACKGROUND: The City of Capitola has historically funded a number of programs to help provide 
and improve affordable housing in the community. Funding for the progra.ms primarily came frcm 
the City's Redevelopment Housing Set-Aside Fund. In 2011, the State terminated redevelopment, 
ending the City's funding source for these programs. In addition, with the end of redevelopment, 
the City no longer has a Housing Program Manager position. As a result, administration of existing 
housing programs has fallen onto existing staff and consultant contracts. In summary, those 
contracts for Fiscal Year 2013/2014 include: 

• R.L. Hastings & Associates, LLC - $3,200 for HOME reporting, funded through HOME 
Grant funds 

• Carolyn Flynn - $13,200 to oversee sales of new Inclusionary units, sales of existing 
affordable mobile home units, and to assist with payoffs of affordable housing loans, funded 
through the General Fund and Housing Successor reuse funds. 

DISCUSSION: In the past, the City's primary affordable housing programs included the following: 

• First Time Homebuyer Loan, Security Deposit program and Housing Rehabilitation Loan 
programs, administered by the Housing Authority of Santa Cruz County. 

• Emergency Housing Assistance Program, administered by Community Action Board (CAB). 
• Major affordable housing projects, including Bay Avenue Senior Housing, Dakota 

Apartments, mobile home park acquisitions, etc. Those projects were developed by third 
party affordable housing developers, with assistance from City staff. 

• Mobile Home Park Resident Purchase assistance, administered by City staff with the 
Redevelopment Agency (RDA) and CDBG funds. 

• Mobile Home Rental Assistance, administered by the Housing Authority with an annual 
budget of around $100,000. This is the only currently active housing program. 

Historic funding levels for these programs were as follows: 

PROJECT Average Annual FY 09-10 FY 10-11 FY 13-14 
Budget 

Emergency Housing $95,000 $ 105,237 $ 105,260 $ 0 
Assistance 
Security Deposit $15,000 $ 12,964 . $ 20,000 $ 0 
First Time Home Buyer $60,000 $ 55,736 $ 4,167 $ 0 
Housing Rehab $75,000 $ 40,667 $ 65,679 $ 0 
MHP Rental Assistance 1 Varied $ 11,497 $ 11,497 -$100,000 

1 Includes Wharf Road and Lorna Vista. MHP Rental Subsidy Program started in Aug. 2011 to support Surf and Sand, 
Castle, and Cabrillo. -29-

Item #: 9.B. Staff Report.pdf

CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING OF JULY 11, 2013 

FROM: COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

SUBJECT: REVIEW OF CITY'S AFFORDABLE HOUSING PROGRAM 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Receive report and provide direction regarding reinstating affordable 
housing programs or continuing to allow monies to accumulate to fund a larger affordable housing 
project. 

BACKGROUND: The City of Capitola has historically funded a number of programs to help provide 
and improve affordable housing in the community. Funding for the progra.ms primarily came frcm 
the City's Redevelopment Housing Set-Aside Fund. In 2011, the State terminated redevelopment, 
ending the City's funding source for these programs. In addition, with the end of redevelopment, 
the City no longer has a Housing Program Manager position. As a result, administration of existing 
housing programs has fallen onto existing staff and consultant contracts. In summary, those 
contracts for Fiscal Year 2013/2014 include: 

• R.L. Hastings & Associates, LLC - $3,200 for HOME reporting, funded through HOME 
Grant funds 

• Carolyn Flynn - $13,200 to oversee sales of new Inclusionary units, sales of existing 
affordable mobile home units, and to assist with payoffs of affordable housing loans, funded 
through the General Fund and Housing Successor reuse funds. 

DISCUSSION: In the past, the City's primary affordable housing programs included the following: 

• First Time Homebuyer Loan, Security Deposit program and Housing Rehabilitation Loan 
programs, administered by the Housing Authority of Santa Cruz County. 

• Emergency Housing Assistance Program, administered by Community Action Board (CAB). 
• Major affordable housing projects, including Bay Avenue Senior Housing, Dakota 

Apartments, mobile home park acquisitions, etc. Those projects were developed by third 
party affordable housing developers, with assistance from City staff. 

• Mobile Home Park Resident Purchase assistance, administered by City staff with the 
Redevelopment Agency (RDA) and CDBG funds. 

• Mobile Home Rental Assistance, administered by the Housing Authority with an annual 
budget of around $100,000. This is the only currently active housing program. 

Historic funding levels for these programs were as follows: 

PROJECT Average Annual FY 09-10 FY 10-11 FY 13-14 
Budget 

Emergency Housing $95,000 $ 105,237 $ 105,260 $ 0 
Assistance 
Security Deposit $15,000 $ 12,964 . $ 20,000 $ 0 
First Time Home Buyer $60,000 $ 55,736 $ 4,167 $ 0 
Housing Rehab $75,000 $ 40,667 $ 65,679 $ 0 
MHP Rental Assistance 1 Varied $ 11,497 $ 11,497 -$100,000 

1 Includes Wharf Road and Lorna Vista. MHP Rental Subsidy Program started in Aug. 2011 to support Surf and Sand, 
Castle, and Cabrillo. 



AGENDA STAFF REPORT JULY 11,2013 
REVIEW OF CITY'S AFFORDABLE HOUSING PROGRAM 

The only affordable housing program currently offered by the City is the Mobile Home Rental 
Assistance Program. Limited funding is available to reinitiate other programs through the Housing 
Successor, HOME Program Reuse Fund, and/or the Housing Trust Fund. The Council may 
allocate the limited available funding to reinstate one or more affordable housing programs. 
Alternatively, the Council could allow funds to accumulate to finance a lC!rger affordable housi!1g 
project in the future. . 

Potentially available funding sources for affordable housing programs include approximately 
$66,000 in Housing Successor monies and $18,000 in Home Program Reuse Funds. 
Approximately $184,000 is also available from the Housing Trust Fund; however, these monies 
have been earmarked to pay for the Pacific Cove Relocation debt service and the fund is 
anticipated to be depleted over the next couple of years. None of these funds include a 
dependable annual revenue stream, and only receive revenue when loans are repaid. 

Each of these funding sources has regulatory limitations which would need to be further 
investigated before committing to fund a program. Additionally, any allocation of these funds for 
affordable housing programs must be made on a year-to-year basis, with the understanding that 
ongoing expenditures may not be possible. 

Currently the legal landscape regarding appropriate uses for Housing Successor funds is still being 
defined. For example, Senate Bill 341 is being considered in the State Senate which would better 
define appropriate uses for Housing Successor funds. If the City Council chooses to reinstate one 
or more affordable housing programs, rather than save funding for a larger scale 
acquisition/renovation-type project, staff will return with funding and program recommendations. 

FISCAL IMPACT: None 

ATTACHMENTS 
1. Housing program description 

Report Prepared By: Richard Grunow 
Community Development Director 

Reviewed and Fo 
By City Manager --t+'~ 

R:\CITY COUNCIL\City Council\Agenda Staff Reports\2013 Agenda Reports\07 II 13\9.B Affordable Housing Programs StaffReport.doc -30-

Item #: 9.B. Staff Report.pdf
AGENDA STAFF REPORT JULY 11,2013 
REVIEW OF CITY'S AFFORDABLE HOUSING PROGRAM 

The only affordable housing program currently offered by the City is the Mobile Home Rental 
Assistance Program. Limited funding is available to reinitiate other programs through the Housing 
Successor, HOME Program Reuse Fund, and/or the Housing Trust Fund. The Council may 
allocate the limited available funding to reinstate one or more affordable housing programs. 
Alternatively, the Council could allow funds to accumulate to finance a lC!rger affordable housi!1g 
project in the future. . 

Potentially available funding sources for affordable housing programs include approximately 
$66,000 in Housing Successor monies and $18,000 in Home Program Reuse Funds. 
Approximately $184,000 is also available from the Housing Trust Fund; however, these monies 
have been earmarked to pay for the Pacific Cove Relocation debt service and the fund is 
anticipated to be depleted over the next couple of years. None of these funds include a 
dependable annual revenue stream, and only receive revenue when loans are repaid. 

Each of these funding sources has regulatory limitations which would need to be further 
investigated before committing to fund a program. Additionally, any allocation of these funds for 
affordable housing programs must be made on a year-to-year basis, with the understanding that 
ongoing expenditures may not be possible. 

Currently the legal landscape regarding appropriate uses for Housing Successor funds is still being 
defined. For example, Senate Bill 341 is being considered in the State Senate which would better 
define appropriate uses for Housing Successor funds. If the City Council chooses to reinstate one 
or more affordable housing programs, rather than save funding for a larger scale 
acquisition/renovation-type project, staff will return with funding and program recommendations. 

FISCAL IMPACT: None 

ATTACHMENTS 
1. Housing program description 

Report Prepared By: Richard Grunow 
Community Development Director 

Reviewed and Fo 
By City Manager --t+'~ 

R:\CITY COUNCIL\City Council\Agenda Staff Reports\2013 Agenda Reports\07 II 13\9.B Affordable Housing Programs StaffReport.doc 



AFFORDABLE HOUSING PROGRAM DESCRIPTIONS 

Security Deposit Program (SDP) . 
This program was implemented by the Housing Authority and provides forgivable loans to low
and very low-income households to cover the costs associated with moving into a new rental 
unit. The program provided participants who were at risk of becoming homeless with funds 
needed for security deposits and last month's rent. 

Emergency Housing Assistance Program (EHAP) 
This program service had been operated through a contract with the Community Action Board. 
The objective of this program is to provide emergency, sholi-term housing payment assistance to 
lower-income families to prevent eviction or foreclosure leading to homelessness. The 
assistance granted must be used for the household's rent or moligage payment in cases where a 
job loss, medical emergency, or similar event has precluded the household from making their 
regular housing payment. The household must have no other funds available to make this 
payment, and must be below very low income limits, with either children or a disabled adult in 
the household. 

Home Rehabilitation Loan Program 
This program was administered through the Housing Authority and is designed to address basic 
health and safety concerns. The program is limited to owner-occupied households and cannot be 
used to rehabilitate rental units. 

First Time Homebuyer Program 
This program was administered by the Housing Authority. Because the high cost of market rate 
housing in Capitola usually precludes participation by moderate and low-income buyers, the fIrst 
time homebuyer program seems to be most effective when used in conjunction with the City's 
Inclusionary Housing program or for the purchase of mobile homes that are located in parks that 
have some form of affordability requirements already in place. 

Mobile Home Rental Assistance 
This program is administered by the Housing Authority. The purpose of the program is to 
provide assistance to existing full-time mobile home park residents with anticipated space rent 
increases due to park acquisition or new leases under the amended rent stabilization ordinance. 
The program serves residents of Surf & Sand, Cabrillo, Castle, Wharf Road, and Loma Vista. 

-31-

Item #: 9.B. Attach 1.pdf

AFFORDABLE HOUSING PROGRAM DESCRIPTIONS 

Security Deposit Program (SDP) . 
This program was implemented by the Housing Authority and provides forgivable loans to low
and very low-income households to cover the costs associated with moving into a new rental 
unit. The program provided participants who were at risk of becoming homeless with funds 
needed for security deposits and last month's rent. 

Emergency Housing Assistance Program (EHAP) 
This program service had been operated through a contract with the Community Action Board. 
The objective of this program is to provide emergency, sholi-term housing payment assistance to 
lower-income families to prevent eviction or foreclosure leading to homelessness. The 
assistance granted must be used for the household's rent or moligage payment in cases where a 
job loss, medical emergency, or similar event has precluded the household from making their 
regular housing payment. The household must have no other funds available to make this 
payment, and must be below very low income limits, with either children or a disabled adult in 
the household. 

Home Rehabilitation Loan Program 
This program was administered through the Housing Authority and is designed to address basic 
health and safety concerns. The program is limited to owner-occupied households and cannot be 
used to rehabilitate rental units. 

First Time Homebuyer Program 
This program was administered by the Housing Authority. Because the high cost of market rate 
housing in Capitola usually precludes participation by moderate and low-income buyers, the fIrst 
time homebuyer program seems to be most effective when used in conjunction with the City's 
Inclusionary Housing program or for the purchase of mobile homes that are located in parks that 
have some form of affordability requirements already in place. 

Mobile Home Rental Assistance 
This program is administered by the Housing Authority. The purpose of the program is to 
provide assistance to existing full-time mobile home park residents with anticipated space rent 
increases due to park acquisition or new leases under the amended rent stabilization ordinance. 
The program serves residents of Surf & Sand, Cabrillo, Castle, Wharf Road, and Loma Vista. 



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

-32-



CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING OF JULY 11, 2013 

FROM: DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 

SUBJECT: CONSIDERATION OF AN ORDINANCE ADDING CHAPTER 13.16 TO THE 
CAPITOLA MUNICIPAL CODE ESTABLISHING REGULATIONS FOR STORM 
WATER POLLUTION PREVENTION AND PROTECTION [1 st READING] 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve for a first reading an Ordinance adding Chapter 13.16 to the 
Capitola Municipal Code establishing regulations for Storm Water Pollution Prevention and 
Protection. 

BACKGROUND: The State Water Resources Control Board (SWQCB) has established waste 
discharge requirements for storm water discharges for municipal storm water systems. Under the 
regulations established by the State, the City of Capitola was issued a discharge permit in 2010 
and has been implementing the programs detailed in the Storm Water Management Plan. In 2012 
the SWQCB issued revised regulations that went into effect on July 1, 2013. Further the Central 
Coast Regional Water Quality Control Board adopted a Resolution establishing project standards 
that must be met on new development and redevelopment projects beginning in March, 2014. 

In response to these regulations, staff is recommending the addition of Chapter 13.16 to Municipal 
Code to regulate storm water pollution prevention and protection. The proposed Ordinance will 
regulate water course protection, industrial and construction activities, illicit discharges and 
connections, and post construction storm water management. . 

DISCUSSION: The language contained in the proposed Ordinance '(Attachment 1) is based on a 
review and analysis of requirements of State law and similar Ordinances adopted by other 
jurisdictions. These regulations will give staff the enforcement mechanisms required to meet the 
conditions of the discharge permit. Following the adoption of this Ordinance the Public Works 
Department will begin a review of the Public Works Design Standards for consistency with the 
regulations with plans to have updates completed by the March 2014 deadline. At this time, the 
standards as established in the General Permit No CAS000004 adopted by the SWQCB 
(Attachment 2) and Resolution No. R3-2013-0032 (Attachment 3) scheduled for adoption by the 
RWQCB on July 12, 2013 will govern as specified in the draft Ordinance. 

The Public Works Department will take the lead on implementation and enforcement with 
assistance from the Community Development Department, Building Department and Police 
Department. 

CEQA COMPLIANCE: The adoption of this Ordinance is categorically exempt from CEQA 
pursuant to Section 15307 Actions by Regulatory Agency for Protection of Natural Resources and 
Section 15308 Actions by Regulatory Agency for Protection of the Environment of the CEQA 
guidelines. 

-33-

Item #: 9.C. Staff Report.pdf

CITY COUNCIL 
AGENDA REPORT 

MEETING OF JULY 11, 2013 

FROM: DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 

SUBJECT: CONSIDERATION OF AN ORDINANCE ADDING CHAPTER 13.16 TO THE 
CAPITOLA MUNICIPAL CODE ESTABLISHING REGULATIONS FOR STORM 
WATER POLLUTION PREVENTION AND PROTECTION [1 st READING] 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve for a first reading an Ordinance adding Chapter 13.16 to the 
Capitola Municipal Code establishing regulations for Storm Water Pollution Prevention and 
Protection. 

BACKGROUND: The State Water Resources Control Board (SWQCB) has established waste 
discharge requirements for storm water discharges for municipal storm water systems. Under the 
regulations established by the State, the City of Capitola was issued a discharge permit in 2010 
and has been implementing the programs detailed in the Storm Water Management Plan. In 2012 
the SWQCB issued revised regulations that went into effect on July 1, 2013. Further the Central 
Coast Regional Water Quality Control Board adopted a Resolution establishing project standards 
that must be met on new development and redevelopment projects beginning in March, 2014. 

In response to these regulations, staff is recommending the addition of Chapter 13.16 to Municipal 
Code to regulate storm water pollution prevention and protection. The proposed Ordinance will 
regulate water course protection, industrial and construction activities, illicit discharges and 
connections, and post construction storm water management. . 

DISCUSSION: The language contained in the proposed Ordinance '(Attachment 1) is based on a 
review and analysis of requirements of State law and similar Ordinances adopted by other 
jurisdictions. These regulations will give staff the enforcement mechanisms required to meet the 
conditions of the discharge permit. Following the adoption of this Ordinance the Public Works 
Department will begin a review of the Public Works Design Standards for consistency with the 
regulations with plans to have updates completed by the March 2014 deadline. At this time, the 
standards as established in the General Permit No CAS000004 adopted by the SWQCB 
(Attachment 2) and Resolution No. R3-2013-0032 (Attachment 3) scheduled for adoption by the 
RWQCB on July 12, 2013 will govern as specified in the draft Ordinance. 

The Public Works Department will take the lead on implementation and enforcement with 
assistance from the Community Development Department, Building Department and Police 
Department. 

CEQA COMPLIANCE: The adoption of this Ordinance is categorically exempt from CEQA 
pursuant to Section 15307 Actions by Regulatory Agency for Protection of Natural Resources and 
Section 15308 Actions by Regulatory Agency for Protection of the Environment of the CEQA 
guidelines. 



AGENDA STAFF REPORT JULY 11,2013 
ORDINANCE ADDING CHAPTER 13.16 (STORM WATER POLLUTION PREVENTION AND PROTECTION 

FISCAL IMPACT: The storm water regulations established by the State are in direct response to 
Federal Clean Water Act. Currently, besides periodic grant funding for improvement projects and 
programs, the bulk of the implementation and enforcement costs are born by the City General 
Fund. In. addition to staffing costs for the Public Works Director and Environmental Projects 
Coordinator, currently $56,000 is budgeted for direct program costs such as State permit fees, 
education programs, water quality monitoring, and consultant services. Another $23,000 is 
budgeted for indirect program costs such as litter removal and riparian restoration work. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Draft Storm Water Ordinance: Title 13 Public Services, Chapter 13.16 Storm Water 
Pollution Prevention and Protection. 

2. Water Quality Order 2013-0001-DWQ, General Permit No. CAS000004. "Waste Discharge 
Requirements (WDRs) for Storm Water Discharges from Small Municipal Separate Storm 
Sewer Systems (MS4s)." 

3. Resolution No. R3-2013-0032, Central Coast Regional Water Quality Control Board. 
"Approving Post-Construction Stormwater Management Requirements for Development 
Projects in the Central Coast Region." 

Report Prepared By: Steven Jesberg 
Public Works Director 

Reviewed and Fo~ed 
By City Manager: ~ 

R:\CITY COUNCIL\City Council\Agenda Staff Reports\2013 Agenda Reports\07 11 13\Storm water ord additng 13.16 staff report.docx -34-

Item #: 9.C. Staff Report.pdf
AGENDA STAFF REPORT JULY 11,2013 
ORDINANCE ADDING CHAPTER 13.16 (STORM WATER POLLUTION PREVENTION AND PROTECTION 

FISCAL IMPACT: The storm water regulations established by the State are in direct response to 
Federal Clean Water Act. Currently, besides periodic grant funding for improvement projects and 
programs, the bulk of the implementation and enforcement costs are born by the City General 
Fund. In. addition to staffing costs for the Public Works Director and Environmental Projects 
Coordinator, currently $56,000 is budgeted for direct program costs such as State permit fees, 
education programs, water quality monitoring, and consultant services. Another $23,000 is 
budgeted for indirect program costs such as litter removal and riparian restoration work. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Draft Storm Water Ordinance: Title 13 Public Services, Chapter 13.16 Storm Water 
Pollution Prevention and Protection. 

2. Water Quality Order 2013-0001-DWQ, General Permit No. CAS000004. "Waste Discharge 
Requirements (WDRs) for Storm Water Discharges from Small Municipal Separate Storm 
Sewer Systems (MS4s)." 

3. Resolution No. R3-2013-0032, Central Coast Regional Water Quality Control Board. 
"Approving Post-Construction Stormwater Management Requirements for Development 
Projects in the Central Coast Region." 

Report Prepared By: Steven Jesberg 
Public Works Director 

Reviewed and Fo~ed 
By City Manager: ~ 

R:\CITY COUNCIL\City Council\Agenda Staff Reports\2013 Agenda Reports\07 11 13\Storm water ord additng 13.16 staff report.docx 



ORDINANCE NO. 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF CAPITOLA ADDING CHAPTER 13.16 TO THE 
CAPITOLA MUNICIPAL CODE ESTABLISHING REGULATIONS FOR STORM WATER 

POLLUTION PREVENTION AND PROTECTION 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CAPITOLA AS 
FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. Chapter 13.16 is hereby added to the Capitola ~~ctfg!pal Code to read as follows: 

TITLE 13 PUBLIC SERVICES A:;J j/ 

Chapter 13.16 Storm Water Pollution Prevention a,D(~fot~". 'on 

13.16.010 Purposellntent. .,:<. / 
'>.f ", 

A. This ordinance establishes regulations for gqntrolling the introd . n of pollutants into the 
storm water system to ensure the City of Capitola's compliance wltl;t'ct?J;pvisions of the 
California State Water Resources ControlBq~g;l's National PoliutantriZI§,~J1arge Elimination 
System (NPDES) General Permit and WasteDis9I1arge~equirements'~{~~h~se regulations 

_ will provide for the health, safety" nd general w9'lfare,ofthecitizens of the(Qlty of Capitola 
,"u' _ , ..... -- - ._" >/7~;V 

through the regulation of non-sf .er discharg~~t(rthe storm drainage system as 
required by federal and state law." _ . ,,' 

B. The objectives of this ordinance ar~:':;-,_ ;, 

1. To regulate the c,ontribution of p~ll~t9nts t 
___ :}_,-- -----------. :- >{t~:\ 

2. To prohibit illicitconneGtioi1~ and ndn.:..stor 
of - - -:--, • '. ", ': -'. ~ \;".:;.:;, -"'-" {~ 

3. To establish"legal, authoritY.]9, carry OlJ;~'
enforcement proceawes ne~~ssary to 

--~f;*~)to[m ~ater:system by any discharger. 

terdi~~bprges to the storm water system. 
f~/ -"":{J:&;pg;t0' 

spection,surveillance, monitoring, and 
fe compliance with this ordinance. 

4. To rpinimizy_increasEi~I.in st¢rrn ~ater run0fftf~~m any development or redevelopment in 
o~if&'kJtb reduc~,ttlooding,siltation,inCr§la~es\J~;stream temperature and stream bank 

(~r~si6n, andmaRltSJin the, integrity ofstreafl1 channels. 

5 .• TQz)ninimize incr~~$,.~~"in nooPoint source pollution caused by storm water runoff from 
develQpment or redg~~lgpmentV!{h"ich would otherwise degrade local water quality 

6. To ~ihi~j&~ the total ~;~~4"al vol~ri,e of surface water runoff which flows from any 
specific sit~::j~pring and foll~wing development or redevelopment to not exceed the pre
developmet1t;'hydrologidr~gime to the maximum extent practicable. 

7. To reduce st~rm~a.t~~jJ[~IlfOff rates and volumes, soil erosion and nonpoint source 
pollution, wherever,{j)J?;~sible, through storm water management controls and to ensure 
that these management controls are properly maintained and pose no threat to public 
safety. 

-35-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 1.pdf

ORDINANCE NO. 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF CAPITOLA ADDING CHAPTER 13.16 TO THE 
CAPITOLA MUNICIPAL CODE ESTABLISHING REGULATIONS FOR STORM WATER 

POLLUTION PREVENTION AND PROTECTION 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CAPITOLA AS 
FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. Chapter 13.16 is hereby added to the Capitola ~~ctfg!pal Code to read as follows: 

TITLE 13 PUBLIC SERVICES A:;J j/ 

Chapter 13.16 Storm Water Pollution Prevention a,D(~fot~". 'on 

13.16.010 Purposellntent. .,:<. / 
'>.f ", 

A. This ordinance establishes regulations for gqntrolling the introd . n of pollutants into the 
storm water system to ensure the City of Capitola's compliance wltl;t'ct?J;pvisions of the 
California State Water Resources ControlBq~g;l's National PoliutantriZI§,~J1arge Elimination 
System (NPDES) General Permit and WasteDis9I1arge~equirements'~{~~h~se regulations 

_ will provide for the health, safety" nd general w9'lfare,ofthecitizens of the(Qlty of Capitola 
,"u' _ , ..... -- - ._" >/7~;V 

through the regulation of non-sf .er discharg~~t(rthe storm drainage system as 
required by federal and state law." _ . ,,' 

B. The objectives of this ordinance ar~:':;-,_ ;, 

1. To regulate the c,ontribution of p~ll~t9nts t 
___ :}_,-- -----------. :- >{t~:\ 

2. To prohibit illicitconneGtioi1~ and ndn.:..stor 
of - - -:--, • '. ", ': -'. ~ \;".:;.:;, -"'-" {~ 

3. To establish"legal, authoritY.]9, carry OlJ;~'
enforcement proceawes ne~~ssary to 

--~f;*~)to[m ~ater:system by any discharger. 

terdi~~bprges to the storm water system. 
f~/ -"":{J:&;pg;t0' 

spection,surveillance, monitoring, and 
fe compliance with this ordinance. 

4. To rpinimizy_increasEi~I.in st¢rrn ~ater run0fftf~~m any development or redevelopment in 
o~if&'kJtb reduc~,ttlooding,siltation,inCr§la~es\J~;stream temperature and stream bank 

(~r~si6n, andmaRltSJin the, integrity ofstreafl1 channels. 

5 .• TQz)ninimize incr~~$,.~~"in nooPoint source pollution caused by storm water runoff from 
develQpment or redg~~lgpmentV!{h"ich would otherwise degrade local water quality 

6. To ~ihi~j&~ the total ~;~~4"al vol~ri,e of surface water runoff which flows from any 
specific sit~::j~pring and foll~wing development or redevelopment to not exceed the pre
developmet1t;'hydrologidr~gime to the maximum extent practicable. 

7. To reduce st~rm~a.t~~jJ[~IlfOff rates and volumes, soil erosion and nonpoint source 
pollution, wherever,{j)J?;~sible, through storm water management controls and to ensure 
that these management controls are properly maintained and pose no threat to public 
safety. 



DRAFT STORM WATER ORDINANCE 

13.16.010 Definitions. 

A. For the purposes of this ordinance, the following shall mean: 

1. "Best Management Practices (BMPs)" Schedules of activities, prohibitions of practices, 
general good housekeeping practices, pollution prevention and educational practices, 
maintenance procedures, and other management practices to prevent or reduce the 
discharge of pollutants directly or indirectly to storm water, receiving waters, or storm 
water conveyance systems. BMPs also include treatment practices, operating 
procedures, and practices to control site runoff, spillage or leaks, sludge or water 
disposal, or drainage from raw materials storage. 

2. "City Design Standards" refers to the City of Capitola P.!ic Works Design Standards, 
most recent version as amended. 

3. ~~~~~~~t~~~~:~2:~~~~~e~:t~~:~~~ution~~t'. t (33 U.S.C. § 1251 et seq.), 

4. "Construction Activity" Activities subject tothe~b~t curret1!'§Jate Water Resources 
Control Board NPDES Construction General Permit. These'lrf~Jl.!de construction projects 
resulting in land disturbance of a mininiLim area as defined intl')~tl)1ost recent 
Construction General Permit. Such activities include but are' notf~;~ned to clearing and 
grubbing, grading, excavating, and demolition. 

5. "Construction General Permi 'I,: .:'CGP" State\l}(Ci.ter.Resources Contro ard National 
Pollutant Discharge Eliminati§!~m Generappennit providing the Waste Discharge 
Requirements for Storm Wat .c'· es Associate'dwith Construction and Land 
Disturbance Activities. At all tim" 'Qnstruction'General Permit refers to the most 
recently adopted permit as amend;," y tff~{~;'; Water Resources Control Board. 

~ -? 

6. "Hazardous Materlals"Any materia" ,Glud y,sJlb~tance, waste, or combination 
, .' " --: - ..... ~ '~:~-,-'-~-'~_"\ <-; --"--,_;-;_~\::~xf'A4 

thereof, whioh because otits,quantitY;<~<;l' ; ration;·:;Q~fphysical, chemical, or infectious 
characteristics may cause,orcsignificarit\:" ntribute to,'Ca SUbstantial present or potential 
hazard to human health, safety, propertY};;9~Jhe environment when improperly treated, 
stored,trall~ported, disposedof,oLotherWiS~!).managed. 

:,--:-.' -.:. ','",','<:~,::::::.~;: ~':-;ri:j;;10/i,t(~, ",. '- '. --:.' --' '. ----:;~::~;~:-;;::;::f,-:~'- ~--, " ," >" • " ~-;-;{~~ 
7. ~Hydrdinoaifi€~1jgn" shaUmean the alteratiori<to the patterns and processes of runoff and 

-, <,' .~"."/<,-,,, -', -... ,,' __ .... -c _:__ "', , 

~~climent transp6rtJrpm a vy~tershed into its receiving waters as a result of land use 
cH~Qges, in a mann~~J~at gerierCiUy produces changes to the physical, chemical, and/or 
bioI8gT~~1 condition(s}tof~ osereceiving waters. 

8. "lIleg~iii'b,i'Spharge" Any ~V,),,\ct or indirect non-storm water discharge to the storm drain 
system orl"eq~jying wat~i,sl except as exempted in Section 63 of the MS4 Permit of this 
ordinance. 'j.' 

",~?- >, ,. 

9. "Illicit connecti~~~\~~£gI16it connection is defined as either of the following: 

a. Any drain or conveyance, whether on the surface or subsurface, that allows an illegal 
discharge to enter the storm drain system or receiving waters including but not 
limited to: 

(i) any conveyances that allow any non-storm water discharge including sewage, 
process wastewater, and wash water to enter the storm drain system, and 

(ii) any connections to the storm drain system from indoor drains and sinks, 
regardless of whether said drain or connection had been previously allowed, 
permitted, or approved by the City, and . 

R:\CITY COUNCIL\City Council\Agenda Staff Reports\2013 Agenda Reports\071113\9.C. Capitola SW 
Ordinance_Attachment l.docx 

-36-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 1.pdf
DRAFT STORM WATER ORDINANCE 

13.16.010 Definitions. 

A. For the purposes of this ordinance, the following shall mean: 

1. "Best Management Practices (BMPs)" Schedules of activities, prohibitions of practices, 
general good housekeeping practices, pollution prevention and educational practices, 
maintenance procedures, and other management practices to prevent or reduce the 
discharge of pollutants directly or indirectly to storm water, receiving waters, or storm 
water conveyance systems. BMPs also include treatment practices, operating 
procedures, and practices to control site runoff, spillage or leaks, sludge or water 
disposal, or drainage from raw materials storage. 

2. "City Design Standards" refers to the City of Capitola P.!ic Works Design Standards, 
most recent version as amended. 

3. ~~~~~~~t~~~~:~2:~~~~~e~:t~~:~~~ution~~t'. t (33 U.S.C. § 1251 et seq.), 

4. "Construction Activity" Activities subject tothe~b~t curret1!'§Jate Water Resources 
Control Board NPDES Construction General Permit. These'lrf~Jl.!de construction projects 
resulting in land disturbance of a mininiLim area as defined intl')~tl)1ost recent 
Construction General Permit. Such activities include but are' notf~;~ned to clearing and 
grubbing, grading, excavating, and demolition. 

5. "Construction General Permi 'I,: .:'CGP" State\l}(Ci.ter.Resources Contro ard National 
Pollutant Discharge Eliminati§!~m Generappennit providing the Waste Discharge 
Requirements for Storm Wat .c'· es Associate'dwith Construction and Land 
Disturbance Activities. At all tim" 'Qnstruction'General Permit refers to the most 
recently adopted permit as amend;," y tff~{~;'; Water Resources Control Board. 

~ -? 

6. "Hazardous Materlals"Any materia" ,Glud y,sJlb~tance, waste, or combination 
, .' " --: - ..... ~ '~:~-,-'-~-'~_"\ <-; --"--,_;-;_~\::~xf'A4 

thereof, whioh because otits,quantitY;<~<;l' ; ration;·:;Q~fphysical, chemical, or infectious 
characteristics may cause,orcsignificarit\:" ntribute to,'Ca SUbstantial present or potential 
hazard to human health, safety, propertY};;9~Jhe environment when improperly treated, 
stored,trall~ported, disposedof,oLotherWiS~!).managed. 

:,--:-.' -.:. ','",','<:~,::::::.~;: ~':-;ri:j;;10/i,t(~, ",. '- '. --:.' --' '. ----:;~::~;~:-;;::;::f,-:~'- ~--, " ," >" • " ~-;-;{~~ 
7. ~Hydrdinoaifi€~1jgn" shaUmean the alteratiori<to the patterns and processes of runoff and 

-, <,' .~"."/<,-,,, -', -... ,,' __ .... -c _:__ "', , 

~~climent transp6rtJrpm a vy~tershed into its receiving waters as a result of land use 
cH~Qges, in a mann~~J~at gerierCiUy produces changes to the physical, chemical, and/or 
bioI8gT~~1 condition(s}tof~ osereceiving waters. 

8. "lIleg~iii'b,i'Spharge" Any ~V,),,\ct or indirect non-storm water discharge to the storm drain 
system orl"eq~jying wat~i,sl except as exempted in Section 63 of the MS4 Permit of this 
ordinance. 'j.' 

",~?- >, ,. 

9. "Illicit connecti~~~\~~£gI16it connection is defined as either of the following: 

a. Any drain or conveyance, whether on the surface or subsurface, that allows an illegal 
discharge to enter the storm drain system or receiving waters including but not 
limited to: 

(i) any conveyances that allow any non-storm water discharge including sewage, 
process wastewater, and wash water to enter the storm drain system, and 

(ii) any connections to the storm drain system from indoor drains and sinks, 
regardless of whether said drain or connection had been previously allowed, 
permitted, or approved by the City, and . 

R:\CITY COUNCIL\City Council\Agenda Staff Reports\2013 Agenda Reports\071113\9.C. Capitola SW 
Ordinance_Attachment l.docx 



DRAFT STORM WATER ORDINANCE 

b. Any drain or conveyance connected from a commercial or industrial land use to the 
storm drain system that has not been documented in plans, maps, or equivalent 
records and approved by the City. 

10. "Illicit discharge" means any discharge to a municipal separate storm sewer that is not 
composed entirely of storm water except for discharges pursuant to a NPDES permit or 
exempted herein. Examples include, but are not limited to, oils, grease, paint, motor oil, 
concrete wash, among other materials. 

11. "Incidental runoff" is defined as unintended amounts (volume) of runoff, such as 
unintended, minimal over-spray from sprinklers that escapes the area of intended use. 

12. "Industrial Activity" Activities subject to the most current State Water Resources Control 
Board NPDES General Permit for Discharges of Stqrm Water associated with Industrial 
Activities (excluding construction activities)., .. , . 

13. "Maximum Extent Practicable" or "MEP" The CUml.JI1:i{i~eJeSult of implementing, 
evaluating, and creating corresponding ch~!il~f~sto a vari~t¥j.2f technically appropriate 
and economically feasible Best Manag~mgbjtPractices (BMRslic~hat serve to reduce the 
discharge of pollutants from MS4s to Ua!§1f'of the U.S., ensUr:trjg~that the most 
appropriate BMPs are implemented in'th~A:rl0st effective mannEH"< 

14. "Municipal Separate Storm Sewer syster~W~~~A)" T 4;$ystem of conVeyances (including 
~"n,: "'.-_,'>. _/< ___ ~_:_r -,' - '. ,", 

sidewalks, roads with drainage.~ystems, muhicipa ets, catch basins; curbs, gutters, ," ...... ". ;." ,", .. 
ditches, man-made channelsio[stq(m drains) oVj", and operated by th'e City of 
Capitola and designed or usedforGpll~cting or cd~'ying storm water, and that is not 
used for collecting or conveying~~\Nage.\'·:( . '''j~.'l' ..... 

15. "National Poll uta . harge EIirl1iDation SYst~m·(NPD~t~torm Water Discharge 
Permit" mean?/ .ued by tfl~$tate\l\f~lecRl?source§ Control Board or Central 
Coast Regio ·c . Control Boar&tnat authorizes the discharge of pollutants 
to waters oftn~L.lJited St , whether tfle permit is applicable on an individual, group, 
or general area~wiq~~basi 

16. "NonpointSource p'bI[YJ( eafd~ I?ollutiol) from any source other than from any 
discerhible, cQI1Tined, l3;:> ·screte 'conv~M:i=Jnces, and shall include, but not be limited to, 
pOllutants from agdCljltur "Si~\ficultural'(lf@: forestry), mining, construction, subsurface 
disposal and urban; runoff socr!,~§,s. 

" -.-. "0),(f,," 

17. "Nol1.,.Storm Water Discharge" Anwjgischarge to the storm drain system that is not 
composed;entirely of storm water."ff7 

18. "Person" AnY'individual)~$sociation, organization, partnership, firm, corporation or other 
entity recogniz@d'by 19wal1d acting as either the owner or as the owner's agent. 

19. "Phase II MS4 Perti,ft" State Water Resources Control Board National Pollutant 
Discharge Elimination System General Permit Order No. 2013-0001-DWQ providing the 
Waste Discharge Requirements for Storm Water Discharges from ·Small Municipal 
Separate Storm Sewer Systems (MS4). At all times, "Phase II MS4 permit" represents 
the most recently adopted permit as amended by the State Water Resources Control 
Board. 

20. "Pollutant" Anything which causes or contributes to pollution. Pollutants may include, but 
are not limited to: paints, varnishes, and solvents; oil and other automotive fluids; non
hazardous liquid and solid wastes and yard wastes; refuse, rubbish, garbage, litter, or 
other discarded or abandoned objects, ordinances, and accumulations, so that same 
may cause or contribute to pollution; floatables; pesticides, herbicides, and fertilizers; 

R:\CITY COUNCIL\City Council\Agenda Staff Reports\2013 Agenda Reports\07 1113\9.C. Capitola SW 
Ordinance_Attachment l.docx 

-37-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 1.pdf
DRAFT STORM WATER ORDINANCE 

b. Any drain or conveyance connected from a commercial or industrial land use to the 
storm drain system that has not been documented in plans, maps, or equivalent 
records and approved by the City. 

10. "Illicit discharge" means any discharge to a municipal separate storm sewer that is not 
composed entirely of storm water except for discharges pursuant to a NPDES permit or 
exempted herein. Examples include, but are not limited to, oils, grease, paint, motor oil, 
concrete wash, among other materials. 

11. "Incidental runoff" is defined as unintended amounts (volume) of runoff, such as 
unintended, minimal over-spray from sprinklers that escapes the area of intended use. 

12. "Industrial Activity" Activities subject to the most current State Water Resources Control 
Board NPDES General Permit for Discharges of Stqrm Water associated with Industrial 
Activities (excluding construction activities)., .. , . 

13. "Maximum Extent Practicable" or "MEP" The CUml.JI1:i{i~eJeSult of implementing, 
evaluating, and creating corresponding ch~!il~f~sto a vari~t¥j.2f technically appropriate 
and economically feasible Best Manag~mgbjtPractices (BMRslic~hat serve to reduce the 
discharge of pollutants from MS4s to Ua!§1f'of the U.S., ensUr:trjg~that the most 
appropriate BMPs are implemented in'th~A:rl0st effective mannEH"< 

14. "Municipal Separate Storm Sewer syster~W~~~A)" T 4;$ystem of conVeyances (including 
~"n,: "'.-_,'>. _/< ___ ~_:_r -,' - '. ,", 

sidewalks, roads with drainage.~ystems, muhicipa ets, catch basins; curbs, gutters, ," ...... ". ;." ,", .. 
ditches, man-made channelsio[stq(m drains) oVj", and operated by th'e City of 
Capitola and designed or usedforGpll~cting or cd~'ying storm water, and that is not 
used for collecting or conveying~~\Nage.\'·:( . '''j~.'l' ..... 

15. "National Poll uta . harge EIirl1iDation SYst~m·(NPD~t~torm Water Discharge 
Permit" mean?/ .ued by tfl~$tate\l\f~lecRl?source§ Control Board or Central 
Coast Regio ·c . Control Boar&tnat authorizes the discharge of pollutants 
to waters oftn~L.lJited St , whether tfle permit is applicable on an individual, group, 
or general area~wiq~~basi 

16. "NonpointSource p'bI[YJ( eafd~ I?ollutiol) from any source other than from any 
discerhible, cQI1Tined, l3;:> ·screte 'conv~M:i=Jnces, and shall include, but not be limited to, 
pOllutants from agdCljltur "Si~\ficultural'(lf@: forestry), mining, construction, subsurface 
disposal and urban; runoff socr!,~§,s. 

" -.-. "0),(f,," 

17. "Nol1.,.Storm Water Discharge" Anwjgischarge to the storm drain system that is not 
composed;entirely of storm water."ff7 

18. "Person" AnY'individual)~$sociation, organization, partnership, firm, corporation or other 
entity recogniz@d'by 19wal1d acting as either the owner or as the owner's agent. 

19. "Phase II MS4 Perti,ft" State Water Resources Control Board National Pollutant 
Discharge Elimination System General Permit Order No. 2013-0001-DWQ providing the 
Waste Discharge Requirements for Storm Water Discharges from ·Small Municipal 
Separate Storm Sewer Systems (MS4). At all times, "Phase II MS4 permit" represents 
the most recently adopted permit as amended by the State Water Resources Control 
Board. 

20. "Pollutant" Anything which causes or contributes to pollution. Pollutants may include, but 
are not limited to: paints, varnishes, and solvents; oil and other automotive fluids; non
hazardous liquid and solid wastes and yard wastes; refuse, rubbish, garbage, litter, or 
other discarded or abandoned objects, ordinances, and accumulations, so that same 
may cause or contribute to pollution; floatables; pesticides, herbicides, and fertilizers; 

R:\CITY COUNCIL\City Council\Agenda Staff Reports\2013 Agenda Reports\07 1113\9.C. Capitola SW 
Ordinance_Attachment l.docx 



DRAFT STORM WATER ORDINANCE 

hazardous substances and wastes; sewage, fecal coliform and pathogens; dissolved 
and particulate metals; animal wastes; wastes and residues that result from constructing 
a building or structure; and noxious or offensive matter of any kind. 

21. "Post-Construction Requirements" or "PCRs" Requirements as defined in the Central 
Coast Regional Water Quality Control Board Resolution No. R3-2013-0032 Approving 
Post-Construction Storm Water Management Requirements for Development Projects in 
the Central Coast Region, including attachments thereto, or any applicable updated or 
amended resolutions adopted by the SWRQB or RWQCB. 

22. "Premises" Any building, lot, parcel of land, or portion of land whether improved or 
unimproved including adjacent sidewalks and parking st ·ps. 

23. "Receiving waters" shall mean "waters of the Unite /' " as defined in 40 Code of 
Federal Regulations Section 122.2, any other natJ{ Itered channels or streams into 
which the storm water discharges, any body ofta::', . ater, and groundwater. 

\", --- :--~'~:~~;jb>" 

24. "Regional Water Board" The Central CoastRe91 nal war' 
25. "State Water Board" California State Waf~r:.~e~ources Con oard. 

26. "Storm Drainage System" PUbIiCly-owh~df~cilities by which sto?~.w~ter is collected 
and/or conveyed, including but not IimitedtQany road!)\('Jith draina@~~~Mstems, municipal 
streets, gutters, curbs, inlets, iped storm dr~ih$, RUmpirlg facilities, ret~htion and 
detention basins, natural an an-made oraltereej}tlrainage channels1,reservoirs, and 
other drainage structures. '1~~i}" 

27. "Storm Water" Any surface flowfit!J,n'bff,~Il1f:li9rainageconsisting entirely of water from 
any form of natural precipitation,\~~:d resUlflQ@j rom such precipitation. 

28. "Wastewater" Any wat~('Or other li~:~i~,> oth ::Y 
discharged from a facility" \;;!\ . 

13.16.010 Applicability» 

A. This ordigafl§~>~~all apply to'all\l\fater~nteringth~ storm drain system or receiving waters 
ge~~~~{~~toff~rly~~veI6p~dand unde'l~I()Pl3d'I~~ds unless explicitly ~xempted by this 
or?:!g~pce and the~J~~!ik,'JJ . . ... 

13.16.02if'Responsibilir'ifor Admilli$tration. 
·'~/c':_'::>c' -,,-'--->- -, " 

A. The Cit~r~,O.all administerli~~mplement, a~d enforce the provisions of this ordinance. The City 
Managennay.~elegate in writi,ng to persons or entities acting in the beneficial interest of or 
in the empl6Yc:ifthe City to~~rpinister, implement, and/or enforce the provisions of this 
ordinance. ;'}'~;1 

13.16.030 Watercou ".,rq /Jjon. 
"V~{, :,:~:~: ~ <~~~_ /' 

A. Every person owningpmg ity through which a watercourse passes, or such person's 
lessee, shall keep and maintain that part of the watercourse within the property free of trash, 
debris, excessive vegetation, and other obstacles that would pollute, contaminate, or 
significantly retard the flow of water through the watercourse. In addition, the owner or 
lessee shall maintain existing privately owned structures within or adjacent to a watercourse, 
so that such structures will not become a hazard to the use, function, or physical integrity of 
the watercourse. 

B. All property located within the Environmentally Sensitive Habitat District or otherwise 
identified as sensitive habitat is subject to the provisions and requirements of Chapter 17.95. 

R:\CITY COUNCIL\City Council\Agenda Staff Reports\2013 Agenda Reports\07 1113\9.C, Capitola SW 
Ordinance_Attachment 1.docx 

-38-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 1.pdf
DRAFT STORM WATER ORDINANCE 

hazardous substances and wastes; sewage, fecal coliform and pathogens; dissolved 
and particulate metals; animal wastes; wastes and residues that result from constructing 
a building or structure; and noxious or offensive matter of any kind. 

21. "Post-Construction Requirements" or "PCRs" Requirements as defined in the Central 
Coast Regional Water Quality Control Board Resolution No. R3-2013-0032 Approving 
Post-Construction Storm Water Management Requirements for Development Projects in 
the Central Coast Region, including attachments thereto, or any applicable updated or 
amended resolutions adopted by the SWRQB or RWQCB. 

22. "Premises" Any building, lot, parcel of land, or portion of land whether improved or 
unimproved including adjacent sidewalks and parking st ·ps. 

23. "Receiving waters" shall mean "waters of the Unite /' " as defined in 40 Code of 
Federal Regulations Section 122.2, any other natJ{ Itered channels or streams into 
which the storm water discharges, any body ofta::', . ater, and groundwater. 

\", --- :--~'~:~~;jb>" 

24. "Regional Water Board" The Central CoastRe91 nal war' 
25. "State Water Board" California State Waf~r:.~e~ources Con oard. 

26. "Storm Drainage System" PUbIiCly-owh~df~cilities by which sto?~.w~ter is collected 
and/or conveyed, including but not IimitedtQany road!)\('Jith draina@~~~Mstems, municipal 
streets, gutters, curbs, inlets, iped storm dr~ih$, RUmpirlg facilities, ret~htion and 
detention basins, natural an an-made oraltereej}tlrainage channels1,reservoirs, and 
other drainage structures. '1~~i}" 

27. "Storm Water" Any surface flowfit!J,n'bff,~Il1f:li9rainageconsisting entirely of water from 
any form of natural precipitation,\~~:d resUlflQ@j rom such precipitation. 

28. "Wastewater" Any wat~('Or other li~:~i~,> oth ::Y 
discharged from a facility" \;;!\ . 

13.16.010 Applicability» 

A. This ordigafl§~>~~all apply to'all\l\fater~nteringth~ storm drain system or receiving waters 
ge~~~~{~~toff~rly~~veI6p~dand unde'l~I()Pl3d'I~~ds unless explicitly ~xempted by this 
or?:!g~pce and the~J~~!ik,'JJ . . ... 

13.16.02if'Responsibilir'ifor Admilli$tration. 
·'~/c':_'::>c' -,,-'--->- -, " 

A. The Cit~r~,O.all administerli~~mplement, a~d enforce the provisions of this ordinance. The City 
Managennay.~elegate in writi,ng to persons or entities acting in the beneficial interest of or 
in the empl6Yc:ifthe City to~~rpinister, implement, and/or enforce the provisions of this 
ordinance. ;'}'~;1 

13.16.030 Watercou ".,rq /Jjon. 
"V~{, :,:~:~: ~ <~~~_ /' 

A. Every person owningpmg ity through which a watercourse passes, or such person's 
lessee, shall keep and maintain that part of the watercourse within the property free of trash, 
debris, excessive vegetation, and other obstacles that would pollute, contaminate, or 
significantly retard the flow of water through the watercourse. In addition, the owner or 
lessee shall maintain existing privately owned structures within or adjacent to a watercourse, 
so that such structures will not become a hazard to the use, function, or physical integrity of 
the watercourse. 

B. All property located within the Environmentally Sensitive Habitat District or otherwise 
identified as sensitive habitat is subject to the provisions and requirements of Chapter 17.95. 

R:\CITY COUNCIL\City Council\Agenda Staff Reports\2013 Agenda Reports\07 1113\9.C, Capitola SW 
Ordinance_Attachment 1.docx 



DRAFT STORM WATER ORDINANCE 

13.16.040 Industrial or Construction Activity Discharges 

A. Submission of NOI 

1. Any person subject to an industrial or construction activity General NPDES storm water 
discharge permit shall comply with all provisions of such permit. Proof of compliance 
with said permit is required in a form acceptable to the City prior to allowing discharges 
to the MS4. 

2. The operator of a facility, including construction sites, required to have an NPDES permit 
to discharge storm water shall submit a copy of the Notice of Intent (NOI) to the City at 
the same time the operator or contractor submits the original NOI to the Regional Water 
Board as applicable. p. • 

3. The copy of the NOI shall be delivered to the City eit ~i~)person or by mailing it to: 

Notice of Intent to Discharge Storm Water 
City of Capitola, Public Works Department 
420 Capitola Avenue 
Capitola, CA 95010 

13.16.050 Illicit Discharges and ConnectionsL' 

A. Discharge Prohibitions : }c:.~j~;;", 
1. Prohibition of Illegal Discharg§~. 

cause, or allow others undet~if 
MS4 or receiving waters any' 
storm water. 

No person shall throw, drain, or oth@hNis.e discharge, 
'(ltrol to throw, drain, or otherwise disch"arge into the 
"h S.or waters containing any pollutants, other than 

The commencetrlerit;q0rlduct or c~t[nuanc:t ., 
system is prohiblt~dexcepLas descfi~~\d !nJ 

B. Prohibition of IlIibt60nnectionsi" '~K\, 
'~,~ . - ·~t<,; ~,;.' 

' .. illegal'ai~charge to the storm drain 
. as~U MS4 permit. 

1. The construction,.use, maint~'nance or cbHttnued existence of illicit connections to the 
storm drain system is prRbibitEig.;~Jfd~\ 

2. Thisprbhibifiortexpressl:y;dQcludes, Withol,ltll8jltation, illicit connections made in the past, 
regardless of\Nh~th~r thec90nectionwas'permissible under law or practices applicable 
or prevailing at thelirne of CobOElction. 

3. A person is consideredto be i~"igJc;ition of this ordinance if the person connects a line 
conveying sewage to thefylS4, oralfows such a connection to continue. 

4. Impropercpnnections in violation of this ordinance must be disconnected and redirected, 
if necessary;t6an approvea onsite wastewater management system or the sanitary 
sewer system uponappr9vaI of the City. 

5. Any drain or comieyarice that has not been documented in plans, maps or equivalent, 
and which may be connected to the storm sewer system, shall be located by the owner 
or occupant of that property upon receipt of written notice of violation from the City 
requiring that such locating be completed. . 

Such notice will specify a reasonable time period within which the location of the drain or 
conveyance is to be determined, that the drain or conveyance be identified as storm 
sewer, sanitary sewer or other, and that the outfall location or point of connection to the 
storm sewer system, sanitary sewer system or other discharge point be identified. 

Results of these investigations are to be documented and provided to the City. 

R:\CllY COUNCIL\City Council\Agenda Staff Reports\2013 Agenda Reports\07 11 ·13\9.C. Capitola SW 
Ordinance_Attachment 1.docx 

-39-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 1.pdf
DRAFT STORM WATER ORDINANCE 

13.16.040 Industrial or Construction Activity Discharges 

A. Submission of NOI 

1. Any person subject to an industrial or construction activity General NPDES storm water 
discharge permit shall comply with all provisions of such permit. Proof of compliance 
with said permit is required in a form acceptable to the City prior to allowing discharges 
to the MS4. 

2. The operator of a facility, including construction sites, required to have an NPDES permit 
to discharge storm water shall submit a copy of the Notice of Intent (NOI) to the City at 
the same time the operator or contractor submits the original NOI to the Regional Water 
Board as applicable. p. • 

3. The copy of the NOI shall be delivered to the City eit ~i~)person or by mailing it to: 

Notice of Intent to Discharge Storm Water 
City of Capitola, Public Works Department 
420 Capitola Avenue 
Capitola, CA 95010 

13.16.050 Illicit Discharges and ConnectionsL' 

A. Discharge Prohibitions : }c:.~j~;;", 
1. Prohibition of Illegal Discharg§~. 

cause, or allow others undet~if 
MS4 or receiving waters any' 
storm water. 

No person shall throw, drain, or oth@hNis.e discharge, 
'(ltrol to throw, drain, or otherwise disch"arge into the 
"h S.or waters containing any pollutants, other than 

The commencetrlerit;q0rlduct or c~t[nuanc:t ., 
system is prohiblt~dexcepLas descfi~~\d !nJ 

B. Prohibition of IlIibt60nnectionsi" '~K\, 
'~,~ . - ·~t<,; ~,;.' 

' .. illegal'ai~charge to the storm drain 
. as~U MS4 permit. 

1. The construction,.use, maint~'nance or cbHttnued existence of illicit connections to the 
storm drain system is prRbibitEig.;~Jfd~\ 

2. Thisprbhibifiortexpressl:y;dQcludes, Withol,ltll8jltation, illicit connections made in the past, 
regardless of\Nh~th~r thec90nectionwas'permissible under law or practices applicable 
or prevailing at thelirne of CobOElction. 

3. A person is consideredto be i~"igJc;ition of this ordinance if the person connects a line 
conveying sewage to thefylS4, oralfows such a connection to continue. 

4. Impropercpnnections in violation of this ordinance must be disconnected and redirected, 
if necessary;t6an approvea onsite wastewater management system or the sanitary 
sewer system uponappr9vaI of the City. 

5. Any drain or comieyarice that has not been documented in plans, maps or equivalent, 
and which may be connected to the storm sewer system, shall be located by the owner 
or occupant of that property upon receipt of written notice of violation from the City 
requiring that such locating be completed. . 

Such notice will specify a reasonable time period within which the location of the drain or 
conveyance is to be determined, that the drain or conveyance be identified as storm 
sewer, sanitary sewer or other, and that the outfall location or point of connection to the 
storm sewer system, sanitary sewer system or other discharge point be identified. 

Results of these investigations are to be documented and provided to the City. 

R:\CllY COUNCIL\City Council\Agenda Staff Reports\2013 Agenda Reports\07 11 ·13\9.C. Capitola SW 
Ordinance_Attachment 1.docx 



DRAFT STORM WATER ORDINANCE 

C. Incidental Discharge Prohibition and Prevention. 

1. Non-storm water runoff discharge that is not incidental is prohibited, unless otherwise 
specified in the Phase II MS4 permit. 

2. Discharges in excess of an amount deemed to be incidental runoff shall be controlled. 
Water leaving an intended use area is not considered incidental if it is part of the facility 
design, if it is due to excessive application, if it is due to intentional overflow or 
application, or if it is due to negligence. 

3. Parties responsible for controlling runoff in excess of incidental runoff shall do so in 
accordance with the Phase II MS4 permit. 

13.16.060 Suspension of MS4 Access 

A. Emergency Cease and Desist Orders 

1. When the City finds that any person has violated;orCQfltinues to violate, any provision 
of this ordinance, or any order issued hereunderi}prthaUhe person's past violations are 
likely to recur, and that the person's violatigt\(f)has (have}c~used or contributed to an 
actual or threatened discharge to the M, "1t"~waters of theW.6JJ~d States which 
reasonably appears to present an imrrr' X or substantial end~ngerment to the health or 
welfare of persons or to the environm' ,.,,;the City may issue an'o(c:t€lC to the violator 
directing it immediately to cease and desistall such ~idlCitions andBlre~ting the violator 
to

·. . . / .,,} ,," ' 
-;-,{/1~·:}·, // / 

, ....• '·i,',;,·" V 
a. Immediately comply withalLordinance requirements; and 

• - -___ - ,,_, ',~' un 

.,:\ __ :: __ ~_;:-~--:---_ v,' :.~>"'''' '.:: ___ --" ",:, :/":,:;)i>.::_ 

b. Take such appropriate prev~nti\iegctiQn as ma'Y;!~~";Reeded to properly address a 
continuing or threatened violatlo!1, inCl\J~ing immeai~t~IY halting operations and/or 
terminating t :·;~J~£harge. .' ..... 'Ji~~'~r 

2. Any person Q,./ a6r~n':~l]ergency o'rd~<diredtE:ld!§ijt.under this Subsection shall 
immediately %tSo,rl1Rly and '§t9P., or elimin?t~dts endangering discharge in accordance with 
the following reqp)J:)~,mentsJ' d as detail~d\in the Order: 

a. Abate.and cle;h:~fi>. / jgctlq[ge, spill,or pollutant release within 72 hours of 
notification,'~Y;;<;3iv . 

; :_:--~:,; __ :-.--.--- '-'--::'-:~T: ;--- -_:-r~-_~_,_ '~::-~~r~J~g{!<t." .. ' 
\ b .. Clean up hignrisk spill$;a~ soon as pO'$sible 

,~, , 

c.' LJn90ntrolied S()llfd~S of~bllu!pnts that may pose an environmental threat shall be 
aBated within 30 delyS of notification 

:. ,T\;o7 

3. In the event()f a dischar9~r's failure to immediately comply voluntarily with the 
emergencY'Qra~r, the CitY!rnay take such steps as deemed necessary to prevent or 
minimize harfu'td the MS4,Or waters of the United States, and/or endangerment to 
persons or to the~twirQnment, including seeking termination of a facility's utility services. 

The City may allow the person to recommence its discharge when it has been 
demonstrated to the satisfaction of the City that the period of endangerment has passed, 
unless further termination proceedings are initiated against the discharger under this 
ordinance. 

A person that is responsible, in whole or in part, for any discharge presenting imminent 
endangerment shall submit a detailed written statement, describing the causes of the 
harmful discharge and the measures taken to prevent any future occurrence, to the City 
within 30 days of receipt of the emergency order. Issuance of an emergency cease and 
desist order shall not be a bar against, or a prerequisite for, taking any other action 
against the violator. 

R:\CITY COUNCIL\City Council\Agenda Staff Reports\2013 Agenda Reports\07 1113\9.C. Capitola SW 
Ordinance_Attachment 1.docx 

-40-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 1.pdf
DRAFT STORM WATER ORDINANCE 

C. Incidental Discharge Prohibition and Prevention. 

1. Non-storm water runoff discharge that is not incidental is prohibited, unless otherwise 
specified in the Phase II MS4 permit. 

2. Discharges in excess of an amount deemed to be incidental runoff shall be controlled. 
Water leaving an intended use area is not considered incidental if it is part of the facility 
design, if it is due to excessive application, if it is due to intentional overflow or 
application, or if it is due to negligence. 

3. Parties responsible for controlling runoff in excess of incidental runoff shall do so in 
accordance with the Phase II MS4 permit. 

13.16.060 Suspension of MS4 Access 

A. Emergency Cease and Desist Orders 

1. When the City finds that any person has violated;orCQfltinues to violate, any provision 
of this ordinance, or any order issued hereunderi}prthaUhe person's past violations are 
likely to recur, and that the person's violatigt\(f)has (have}c~used or contributed to an 
actual or threatened discharge to the M, "1t"~waters of theW.6JJ~d States which 
reasonably appears to present an imrrr' X or substantial end~ngerment to the health or 
welfare of persons or to the environm' ,.,,;the City may issue an'o(c:t€lC to the violator 
directing it immediately to cease and desistall such ~idlCitions andBlre~ting the violator 
to

·. . . / .,,} ,," ' 
-;-,{/1~·:}·, // / 

, ....• '·i,',;,·" V 
a. Immediately comply withalLordinance requirements; and 

• - -___ - ,,_, ',~' un 

.,:\ __ :: __ ~_;:-~--:---_ v,' :.~>"'''' '.:: ___ --" ",:, :/":,:;)i>.::_ 

b. Take such appropriate prev~nti\iegctiQn as ma'Y;!~~";Reeded to properly address a 
continuing or threatened violatlo!1, inCl\J~ing immeai~t~IY halting operations and/or 
terminating t :·;~J~£harge. .' ..... 'Ji~~'~r 

2. Any person Q,./ a6r~n':~l]ergency o'rd~<diredtE:ld!§ijt.under this Subsection shall 
immediately %tSo,rl1Rly and '§t9P., or elimin?t~dts endangering discharge in accordance with 
the following reqp)J:)~,mentsJ' d as detail~d\in the Order: 

a. Abate.and cle;h:~fi>. / jgctlq[ge, spill,or pollutant release within 72 hours of 
notification,'~Y;;<;3iv . 

; :_:--~:,; __ :-.--.--- '-'--::'-:~T: ;--- -_:-r~-_~_,_ '~::-~~r~J~g{!<t." .. ' 
\ b .. Clean up hignrisk spill$;a~ soon as pO'$sible 

,~, , 

c.' LJn90ntrolied S()llfd~S of~bllu!pnts that may pose an environmental threat shall be 
aBated within 30 delyS of notification 

:. ,T\;o7 

3. In the event()f a dischar9~r's failure to immediately comply voluntarily with the 
emergencY'Qra~r, the CitY!rnay take such steps as deemed necessary to prevent or 
minimize harfu'td the MS4,Or waters of the United States, and/or endangerment to 
persons or to the~twirQnment, including seeking termination of a facility's utility services. 

The City may allow the person to recommence its discharge when it has been 
demonstrated to the satisfaction of the City that the period of endangerment has passed, 
unless further termination proceedings are initiated against the discharger under this 
ordinance. 

A person that is responsible, in whole or in part, for any discharge presenting imminent 
endangerment shall submit a detailed written statement, describing the causes of the 
harmful discharge and the measures taken to prevent any future occurrence, to the City 
within 30 days of receipt of the emergency order. Issuance of an emergency cease and 
desist order shall not be a bar against, or a prerequisite for, taking any other action 
against the violator. 

R:\CITY COUNCIL\City Council\Agenda Staff Reports\2013 Agenda Reports\07 1113\9.C. Capitola SW 
Ordinance_Attachment 1.docx 



DRAFT STORM WATER ORDINANCE 

B. Suspension due to Illicit Discharges in Emergency Situations. 

1. The City may, without prior notice, suspend MS4 discharge access to a person when 
such suspension is necessary to stop an actual or threatened discharge which presents 
or may present imminent and substantial danger to the environment, or to the health or 
welfare of persons, or to the MS4 or waters of the United States. 

If the violator fails to comply with a suspension order issued in an emergency, the City 
may take such steps as deemed necessary to prevent or minimize damage to the MS4 
or waters of the United States, or to minimize danger to persons. 

C. Suspension due to the Detection of Illicit Discharge. 

1. Any person discharging to the MS4 in violation of thO 
access terminated if such termination would abat 
will notify a violator of the proposed terminati02,R. " 
petition the City for a reconsideration and hearing; 

il1ahce may have their MS4 
ce an illicit discharge. The City 

, 4 access. The violator may 

2. A person commits an offense if the perspnJ~irlstate.s MS4a.~g~ss to premises 
terminated pursuant to this Section, w,ithputthe prior approval::gf"lbe City. 

13.16.070 Post Construction Storm Water Mal1~gement <;~¥~>i,. 

A. Design Standards and Site Design Measures. ""',' .;0, .. 
~~ .~- .,._.'.____ '. -', '-'. ~ .'" ~ "'\,>-'\%:0 

1. New development and rede\lel~'p ent projects 9nallcomply with the Posf"Construction 
Requirements (PCR's), and fqe:: ·esign Standards. 

" " -" " 

2. Design standards include meas or.$itedesign,s:<ilAr~e control·, runoff reduction, 
storm water treatment and baselJ ydrol'l')'" 'cation m~l1agement for regulated 
projects as furt~er::qEils~ril:>ed in th . Desl ' Qpards. 

3. It .is the r.esppnSIbiliiYof tti~Appl~can ·;%&\9m~t.; , re~i~Wi";2J1d follow the PCRs, and the 
City DeSign Stal1dards fon~9mplJance''«llQ;ttils ordinance. 

B. Regulated Projects.t'~¥i!~> 
1. PrQj~~W,~~e!.gefined aSre~~Ia"tedor.non-~~g(lI~ted by type of project and by square 

fop(~~'e'iffifj:etYiQl!s sufface that is created and/or replaced. . 
/;:;?fr"~:'-/ ":';':~-/p/':::?'" _ -< .. <'~'.:.:' > ~ 

2. "Special measure$·.for site design, source control, runoff reduction, storm water treatment 
, ,', ."'-'- ~,/,.::/~'/ ,-. -. - .' 

artd.bflseline hydrol'lJpaification'l'I')anagement shall apply to regulated projects that create 
or re~J~;~,e a certain th~e old val,Ul?pf impervious surface, as defined in the Phase II 
MS4 pe,froit. '>; 

; 

1 
: ontrol measures for pollutant generating activities and 

C. Source Contf'0bMeasures. 
\>;'~r5~~:(j;;>. ~ 

1. Conformance with sout' , . /' 

sources shall be, " consistent with recommendations from industry specific 
guidance manual·. / 'handbooks serving to identify Best Management Practices 
(BMPs) contained in he City Design Standards. 

Activities and sources to which these measures apply are described in the State Water 
Board Phase II MS4 Permit. 

D. Low Impact Development Design Standards. 

1. Applicant shall adhere to the Post Construction Requirements (PCR's) and City Design 
Standards including all standards relating to Low Impact Development (LID). Threshold 
site areas where various design standards apply are described in the City Design 
Standards. 

R:\CITY COUNCIL\City Council\Agenda Staff Reports\2013 Agenda Reports\07 1113\9.C. Capitola SW 
Ordinance_Attachment l.docx 

-41-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 1.pdf
DRAFT STORM WATER ORDINANCE 

B. Suspension due to Illicit Discharges in Emergency Situations. 

1. The City may, without prior notice, suspend MS4 discharge access to a person when 
such suspension is necessary to stop an actual or threatened discharge which presents 
or may present imminent and substantial danger to the environment, or to the health or 
welfare of persons, or to the MS4 or waters of the United States. 

If the violator fails to comply with a suspension order issued in an emergency, the City 
may take such steps as deemed necessary to prevent or minimize damage to the MS4 
or waters of the United States, or to minimize danger to persons. 

C. Suspension due to the Detection of Illicit Discharge. 

1. Any person discharging to the MS4 in violation of thO 
access terminated if such termination would abat 
will notify a violator of the proposed terminati02,R. " 
petition the City for a reconsideration and hearing; 

il1ahce may have their MS4 
ce an illicit discharge. The City 

, 4 access. The violator may 

2. A person commits an offense if the perspnJ~irlstate.s MS4a.~g~ss to premises 
terminated pursuant to this Section, w,ithputthe prior approval::gf"lbe City. 

13.16.070 Post Construction Storm Water Mal1~gement <;~¥~>i,. 

A. Design Standards and Site Design Measures. ""',' .;0, .. 
~~ .~- .,._.'.____ '. -', '-'. ~ .'" ~ "'\,>-'\%:0 

1. New development and rede\lel~'p ent projects 9nallcomply with the Posf"Construction 
Requirements (PCR's), and fqe:: ·esign Standards. 

" " -" " 

2. Design standards include meas or.$itedesign,s:<ilAr~e control·, runoff reduction, 
storm water treatment and baselJ ydrol'l')'" 'cation m~l1agement for regulated 
projects as furt~er::qEils~ril:>ed in th . Desl ' Qpards. 

3. It .is the r.esppnSIbiliiYof tti~Appl~can ·;%&\9m~t.; , re~i~Wi";2J1d follow the PCRs, and the 
City DeSign Stal1dards fon~9mplJance''«llQ;ttils ordinance. 

B. Regulated Projects.t'~¥i!~> 
1. PrQj~~W,~~e!.gefined aSre~~Ia"tedor.non-~~g(lI~ted by type of project and by square 

fop(~~'e'iffifj:etYiQl!s sufface that is created and/or replaced. . 
/;:;?fr"~:'-/ ":';':~-/p/':::?'" _ -< .. <'~'.:.:' > ~ 

2. "Special measure$·.for site design, source control, runoff reduction, storm water treatment 
, ,', ."'-'- ~,/,.::/~'/ ,-. -. - .' 

artd.bflseline hydrol'lJpaification'l'I')anagement shall apply to regulated projects that create 
or re~J~;~,e a certain th~e old val,Ul?pf impervious surface, as defined in the Phase II 
MS4 pe,froit. '>; 

; 

1 
: ontrol measures for pollutant generating activities and 

C. Source Contf'0bMeasures. 
\>;'~r5~~:(j;;>. ~ 

1. Conformance with sout' , . /' 

sources shall be, " consistent with recommendations from industry specific 
guidance manual·. / 'handbooks serving to identify Best Management Practices 
(BMPs) contained in he City Design Standards. 

Activities and sources to which these measures apply are described in the State Water 
Board Phase II MS4 Permit. 

D. Low Impact Development Design Standards. 

1. Applicant shall adhere to the Post Construction Requirements (PCR's) and City Design 
Standards including all standards relating to Low Impact Development (LID). Threshold 
site areas where various design standards apply are described in the City Design 
Standards. 

R:\CITY COUNCIL\City Council\Agenda Staff Reports\2013 Agenda Reports\07 1113\9.C. Capitola SW 
Ordinance_Attachment l.docx 



DRAFT STORM WATER ORDINANCE 

2. Not all new development and redevelopment project sites reqiJire adherence to these 
standards; project applicability and criteria are detailed in the PCRs and City Design 
Standards. 

E. Hydromodification Management. 

1. Applicant shall adhere to the Post Construction Requirements (PCR's) and City Design 
Standards including all standards relating to Hydromodification Management. Threshold 
site areas where various design standards apply are described in the PCRs and City 
Design Standards. 

2. Not all new development and redevelopment project sites require adherence to these 
standards; project applicability and criteria are detailed [n the Post Construction 
equirements (PCR's) and City Design Standards.' 

13.16.080 Construction Site Storm Water Runoff Con 

A. Construction Projects. (: 

1. Certain projects are subject to the ConstruptiorYenera "ermit in addition to this 
construction site storm water runoff contrQlbtcfinance. Criteria:for project applicability 
are included in the CGP and City Desjgri$.tandards.' 

2. All projects are subject to the 

a. City Design Standards 

(i) Requirements for er9§tb'1~md sedimentcQntrols 

(ii) Requirements for soiI';ttaBirl~~tipn ", 

(iii) Requirements for dew~(~iR~J'Z::';i;~~£;., 
(iv) RequirelT1ents fpr source oOl:1t[ols '" "":" ' /"" 

(v) ~e~~if1~~htsfg~~~,llutio.n ~'k~venJlq~~g~U~~§j + 
b. Prohlblte'd~,~!B~hargesa~"pefmed II1J ' ·rdmance "'f'/ 

{;'S7Y!~>'" ~.~·L:>A "t~" 
c. The excavation8,nd gr '/'~g requirenl~nJs detailed in Chapter 15.28 

d. Theerosi,on ancrQr~ :LC~ntr9tr~qui/Eim~nts detailed in Chapter 16.24 

e. Phasellrv1s4Peri1il;s!::';~;;!!~ii!." ,/ 
'-', ,':;"' . -. -:, . 'y~:,:j/{jiJ> .. ~::;:>::.-.:::' 

B. Erosion and Sediment Contrcil:;rd;?, 
, ' ,"', '''",;':", 

1. All projects are required to develop an Erosion and Sediment Control Plan in accordance 
with the requirements inJhe PhaSe II MS4 Permit and City Design Standards. The Plan 
shall be ,!Supmitted witht~egrading/or building permit application and must be reviewed 
and approveapy the City/prior to issuance of said permit. 

, ' : <~ ; 

2. Prior to commeI19,~mentiWland disturbance, a pre-site inspection must be conducted by 
the Grading Official p~rt.he requirements in the City Design Standards to verify 
compliance with the approved erosion and sediment control plan. 

C. Periodic Inspection. 

1. Periodic inspections will be conducted on the basis of project priority and the discretion 
of the Grading Official. 

2. Project priority for the purpose of determining inspection frequency shall be based on 
project threat to water quality. Project threat to water quality includes soil erosion 
potential, site slope, projects size and type, sensitivity of receiving water bodies, 
proximity to receiving water bodies, non-storm water discharges, projects more than one 
acre that are not subject to the CGP (sites that have obtained an Erosivity Waiver) and 
past record of non-compliance by the operator of the construction site. 

R:\CITY COUNCIL\City Council\Agenda Staff Reports\2013 Agenda Reports\07 1113\9.C. Capitola SW 
Ordinance_Attachment 1.docx 

-42-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 1.pdf
DRAFT STORM WATER ORDINANCE 

2. Not all new development and redevelopment project sites reqiJire adherence to these 
standards; project applicability and criteria are detailed in the PCRs and City Design 
Standards. 

E. Hydromodification Management. 

1. Applicant shall adhere to the Post Construction Requirements (PCR's) and City Design 
Standards including all standards relating to Hydromodification Management. Threshold 
site areas where various design standards apply are described in the PCRs and City 
Design Standards. 

2. Not all new development and redevelopment project sites require adherence to these 
standards; project applicability and criteria are detailed [n the Post Construction 
equirements (PCR's) and City Design Standards.' 

13.16.080 Construction Site Storm Water Runoff Con 

A. Construction Projects. (: 

1. Certain projects are subject to the ConstruptiorYenera "ermit in addition to this 
construction site storm water runoff contrQlbtcfinance. Criteria:for project applicability 
are included in the CGP and City Desjgri$.tandards.' 

2. All projects are subject to the 

a. City Design Standards 

(i) Requirements for er9§tb'1~md sedimentcQntrols 

(ii) Requirements for soiI';ttaBirl~~tipn ", 

(iii) Requirements for dew~(~iR~J'Z::';i;~~£;., 
(iv) RequirelT1ents fpr source oOl:1t[ols '" "":" ' /"" 

(v) ~e~~if1~~htsfg~~~,llutio.n ~'k~venJlq~~g~U~~§j + 
b. Prohlblte'd~,~!B~hargesa~"pefmed II1J ' ·rdmance "'f'/ 

{;'S7Y!~>'" ~.~·L:>A "t~" 
c. The excavation8,nd gr '/'~g requirenl~nJs detailed in Chapter 15.28 

d. Theerosi,on ancrQr~ :LC~ntr9tr~qui/Eim~nts detailed in Chapter 16.24 

e. Phasellrv1s4Peri1il;s!::';~;;!!~ii!." ,/ 
'-', ,':;"' . -. -:, . 'y~:,:j/{jiJ> .. ~::;:>::.-.:::' 

B. Erosion and Sediment Contrcil:;rd;?, 
, ' ,"', '''",;':", 

1. All projects are required to develop an Erosion and Sediment Control Plan in accordance 
with the requirements inJhe PhaSe II MS4 Permit and City Design Standards. The Plan 
shall be ,!Supmitted witht~egrading/or building permit application and must be reviewed 
and approveapy the City/prior to issuance of said permit. 

, ' : <~ ; 

2. Prior to commeI19,~mentiWland disturbance, a pre-site inspection must be conducted by 
the Grading Official p~rt.he requirements in the City Design Standards to verify 
compliance with the approved erosion and sediment control plan. 

C. Periodic Inspection. 

1. Periodic inspections will be conducted on the basis of project priority and the discretion 
of the Grading Official. 

2. Project priority for the purpose of determining inspection frequency shall be based on 
project threat to water quality. Project threat to water quality includes soil erosion 
potential, site slope, projects size and type, sensitivity of receiving water bodies, 
proximity to receiving water bodies, non-storm water discharges, projects more than one 
acre that are not subject to the CGP (sites that have obtained an Erosivity Waiver) and 
past record of non-compliance by the operator of the construction site. 

R:\CITY COUNCIL\City Council\Agenda Staff Reports\2013 Agenda Reports\07 1113\9.C. Capitola SW 
Ordinance_Attachment 1.docx 



DRAFT STORM WATER ORDINANCE 

3. Inspection frequencies shall be determined by the grading official and be conducted 
based on the prioritization criteria described above. 

13.16.090 Compliance Monitoring 

A. Right of Entry: Inspection and Sampling. 

1. Pursuant to, and subject to the requirements of, Section 4.02.040 of the Capitola 
Municipal Code, the City shall be permitted to enter and inspect facilities subject to 
regulation under this ordinance as often as may be necessary to determine compliance 
with this ordinance. 

a. If a discharger has security measures in force which require proper identification and 
clearance before entry into its premises, the dischargl?r shall make the necessary 
arrangements to allow access to representative§;9fJh~ City. 

b. Facility operators shall allow the City ready acC~.$SJo all parts of the premises for the 
purposes of inspection, sampling, examinatioQ~hdcopying of records that must be 
kept under the conditions of an NPDES ermitto discharge storm water, and the 
performance of any additional duties 'c!~fined by statetand federal law. 

c. The City shall have the right to seh~ .,tS> . any permitted fabi!ity~UCh devices as are 
necessary in the opinion of the City; r~'.\ onduct monitoring andlor.sampling of the 
facility's storm water discharge. .;1/2" 

• '.; ,.(:j~!dy,;i'J '. '.' .' ..... 

d. The City has the right torequire the disch~(~l~!&jiP;irJstall monitoring,,~9~ipment as 
necessary. The facility's:sarnpling and mohit:s>mf)g equipment shall be maintained at 
all times in a safe and proper,6perating condrtlQnt)y the discharger at its own 
expense. All devices used to.meas~re storm waterflow and quality shall be 
calibrated to ensure their accuracy. . i . 

e. Any tempoCiiJry~~~[tii' anent obstructionto§~feqnd e'a's'y access to the facility to be 
inspecte2{;jJilJf!8r'''J.~d shall b~pr9mgtlY remm/~$~ by the operator at the written or 
oral requ~«t¥of the City.~nd shall n QJ,!;?l9re placed. The costs of clearing such access 
shall be born~~by the oli~tator. i 

13.16.1 00 ~c:>mpCltibilitY·Wii~#gtfl~i~.a;~~'~k~tio~~,,' 
A. This ordirfanc~ is·riQtintenCl.~~tJ~ mOdifY\\Bt;~~R~atany other ordinance, rule, regulation, or 

ott:Jerprovision of laW. The rtG!1ftjr.~ments of~thi~)ordinance are in addition to the 
requirements of any otherprdirra:bi~~, rule, regulation, or other p~ovision of law, and where 
any provi~ipn of this ordiQi~l1ee inipQ.~til;~ restrictions different from those imposed by any 
other ordiqanQe, rule, regDlatton, or ot~er provision of law, whichever provision is more 
restrictive or. imposes highetgrotective standards for human health or the environment shall 
control. ., ... , 

B. Other relevant Capifpla mLinicjpal codes associated with the protection of storm water and 
receiving waters inclq~~s, but is not limited to, the following: 

1. Title 4 General Municipal Code Enforcement 

2. Title 15 Buildings and Construction 

a. Chapter 15.28 Excavation and Grading 

3. Title 16 Subdivisions 

a. Chapter 16.24 Design Standards 

4. Title 17 Zoning 

a. Chapter 17.63 Architectural and Site Review 

b. Chapter 17.95 Environmentally Sensitive Habitats 

R:\CITY COUNCIL\City Council\Agenda Staff Reports\2013 Agenda Reports\071113\9.C. Capitola SW 
Ordinance_Attachment 1.docx 

-43-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 1.pdf
DRAFT STORM WATER ORDINANCE 

3. Inspection frequencies shall be determined by the grading official and be conducted 
based on the prioritization criteria described above. 

13.16.090 Compliance Monitoring 

A. Right of Entry: Inspection and Sampling. 

1. Pursuant to, and subject to the requirements of, Section 4.02.040 of the Capitola 
Municipal Code, the City shall be permitted to enter and inspect facilities subject to 
regulation under this ordinance as often as may be necessary to determine compliance 
with this ordinance. 

a. If a discharger has security measures in force which require proper identification and 
clearance before entry into its premises, the dischargl?r shall make the necessary 
arrangements to allow access to representative§;9fJh~ City. 

b. Facility operators shall allow the City ready acC~.$SJo all parts of the premises for the 
purposes of inspection, sampling, examinatioQ~hdcopying of records that must be 
kept under the conditions of an NPDES ermitto discharge storm water, and the 
performance of any additional duties 'c!~fined by statetand federal law. 

c. The City shall have the right to seh~ .,tS> . any permitted fabi!ity~UCh devices as are 
necessary in the opinion of the City; r~'.\ onduct monitoring andlor.sampling of the 
facility's storm water discharge. .;1/2" 

• '.; ,.(:j~!dy,;i'J '. '.' .' ..... 

d. The City has the right torequire the disch~(~l~!&jiP;irJstall monitoring,,~9~ipment as 
necessary. The facility's:sarnpling and mohit:s>mf)g equipment shall be maintained at 
all times in a safe and proper,6perating condrtlQnt)y the discharger at its own 
expense. All devices used to.meas~re storm waterflow and quality shall be 
calibrated to ensure their accuracy. . i . 

e. Any tempoCiiJry~~~[tii' anent obstructionto§~feqnd e'a's'y access to the facility to be 
inspecte2{;jJilJf!8r'''J.~d shall b~pr9mgtlY remm/~$~ by the operator at the written or 
oral requ~«t¥of the City.~nd shall n QJ,!;?l9re placed. The costs of clearing such access 
shall be born~~by the oli~tator. i 

13.16.1 00 ~c:>mpCltibilitY·Wii~#gtfl~i~.a;~~'~k~tio~~,,' 
A. This ordirfanc~ is·riQtintenCl.~~tJ~ mOdifY\\Bt;~~R~atany other ordinance, rule, regulation, or 

ott:Jerprovision of laW. The rtG!1ftjr.~ments of~thi~)ordinance are in addition to the 
requirements of any otherprdirra:bi~~, rule, regulation, or other p~ovision of law, and where 
any provi~ipn of this ordiQi~l1ee inipQ.~til;~ restrictions different from those imposed by any 
other ordiqanQe, rule, regDlatton, or ot~er provision of law, whichever provision is more 
restrictive or. imposes highetgrotective standards for human health or the environment shall 
control. ., ... , 

B. Other relevant Capifpla mLinicjpal codes associated with the protection of storm water and 
receiving waters inclq~~s, but is not limited to, the following: 

1. Title 4 General Municipal Code Enforcement 

2. Title 15 Buildings and Construction 

a. Chapter 15.28 Excavation and Grading 

3. Title 16 Subdivisions 

a. Chapter 16.24 Design Standards 

4. Title 17 Zoning 

a. Chapter 17.63 Architectural and Site Review 

b. Chapter 17.95 Environmentally Sensitive Habitats 

R:\CITY COUNCIL\City Council\Agenda Staff Reports\2013 Agenda Reports\071113\9.C. Capitola SW 
Ordinance_Attachment 1.docx 



DRAFT STORM WATER ORDINANCE 

C. Governing agencies and applicable permits associated with the protection of storm water 
and receiving waters includes, but is not limited to, the following: 

1. State Water Resources Control Board (State Water Board) . 

a. NPDES Phase II MS4 Permit (most recent adopted order as amended) 

b. NPDES Construction General Permit (most recent adopted order as amended) 

c. NPDES Industrial General Permit (most recent adopted order as amended) 

2. Central Coast Regional Water Quality Control Board (Regional Water Board) 

a. Post-Construction Requirements (most recent adopted resolution as amended) 

13.16.110 Severability. 

A. The provisions of this ordinance are hereby declared tq4<M'F>e'~erable. If any provision, 
clause, sentence, or paragraph of this ordinance or t /;;;ti'l£s""'/ication thereof to any person, 
establishment, or circumstances shall be held inv'1l(y ,'jDvalidity shall not affect the 
other provisions or application of this ordinance.'~fr 

,-:<~\:«, 

13.16.120 Ultimate Responsibility. "..< 

A. The standards set forth herein and prom~lg~~~c::rpursuant to this orr~insmce are minimum 
standards; therefore this ordinance does hoilntend or imply that com~IjB(lCe by any person 
will ensure that there will be no contaminatiori;pOllution"'C>(llnauthorizecl{~ischarge of 
pollutants. .. :. .....,' 

13.16.130 Requirement to Preven ..... ~")ltrpl, and ~~~~'¢~~~~orm Water PO;IU ants by the 
Use of Best Management PracticeS./;;\·;i{;J:·;y: " .... 

-~;Aft'1·. . -... , ,;;«;i""'h. --"'~ ~,,,'" 

A. The City has adopted industry specificguid'a'O:~§imanualsaridhandbooks serving to identify 
Best Management Pr~ctices (BMPs)'f~f:1i~ny actiVif, perationi;Qr facility which may cause 
or contribute to poIlA.l!iqnorcontaminafiQ~'efGC Jhe storm drain system, or waters 
of the United St~!~~?ACcePta,~le referen<c;~, cri the City Design Standards. 
The owner or oper!iitor of sucnastivity, operat; , or facilit shall provide, at their own 
expense, reasonableprQtection'from accide~f~l discharge of prohibited materials or other 
wastesio/!g;:tt:J~ .. p1UnicipalstorlTlfarainsystem\~t·;'Natercourses through the use of these 
stru S~IilS~J:folhdingt}:.~JructLlr?1 8M Ps. .. .... \'{,;;v 

B. Af1Y'R~r$on respon:$i~l~ for aiproperty or premis~Hthat is, or may be, the source of an illicit 
discnarQ~' may be re'c( .,d to il11lSl~ment, at said person's expense, additional structural and 
non-stryctllral BMPs tot~vent the Jyrther discharge of pollutants to the MS4. Compliance 
with all te(~$and conditidJ;1§.9f a vahd. NPDES permit authorizing the discharge of storm 
water assoCi~f~9 with indus$rj~1 activity, to the extent practicable, shall be deemed 
compliance wffl'{i1 e provisi ,C/'; :of this section. 

These BMPs are parfiof ;';fty Design Standards as necessary for compliance with 
requirements of the Ph€! f MS4 permit 

13.16.140 Notification of Spills 

A. Notwithstanding other requirements of law, as soon as any person responsible for a facility 
or operation, or responsible for emergency response for a facility or operation has 
information of any known or suspected release of materials whioh are resulting or may result 
in illegal discharges or pollutants discharging into storm water, the storm drain system, or 
waters of the United States, said person shall take all necessary steps to ensure the 
discovery, containment, and cleanup of such release. 

In the event of such a release of hazardous materials said person shall immediately notify 
emergency response agencies of the occurrence via emergency dispatch services. 

R:\CITY COUNCIL\City Council\Agenda Staff Reports\2013 Agenda Reports\07 1113\9,(, Capitola SW 
Ordinance_Attachment l.docx 

-44-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 1.pdf
DRAFT STORM WATER ORDINANCE 

C. Governing agencies and applicable permits associated with the protection of storm water 
and receiving waters includes, but is not limited to, the following: 

1. State Water Resources Control Board (State Water Board) . 

a. NPDES Phase II MS4 Permit (most recent adopted order as amended) 

b. NPDES Construction General Permit (most recent adopted order as amended) 

c. NPDES Industrial General Permit (most recent adopted order as amended) 

2. Central Coast Regional Water Quality Control Board (Regional Water Board) 

a. Post-Construction Requirements (most recent adopted resolution as amended) 

13.16.110 Severability. 

A. The provisions of this ordinance are hereby declared tq4<M'F>e'~erable. If any provision, 
clause, sentence, or paragraph of this ordinance or t /;;;ti'l£s""'/ication thereof to any person, 
establishment, or circumstances shall be held inv'1l(y ,'jDvalidity shall not affect the 
other provisions or application of this ordinance.'~fr 

,-:<~\:«, 

13.16.120 Ultimate Responsibility. "..< 

A. The standards set forth herein and prom~lg~~~c::rpursuant to this orr~insmce are minimum 
standards; therefore this ordinance does hoilntend or imply that com~IjB(lCe by any person 
will ensure that there will be no contaminatiori;pOllution"'C>(llnauthorizecl{~ischarge of 
pollutants. .. :. .....,' 

13.16.130 Requirement to Preven ..... ~")ltrpl, and ~~~~'¢~~~~orm Water PO;IU ants by the 
Use of Best Management PracticeS./;;\·;i{;J:·;y: " .... 

-~;Aft'1·. . -... , ,;;«;i""'h. --"'~ ~,,,'" 

A. The City has adopted industry specificguid'a'O:~§imanualsaridhandbooks serving to identify 
Best Management Pr~ctices (BMPs)'f~f:1i~ny actiVif, perationi;Qr facility which may cause 
or contribute to poIlA.l!iqnorcontaminafiQ~'efGC Jhe storm drain system, or waters 
of the United St~!~~?ACcePta,~le referen<c;~, cri the City Design Standards. 
The owner or oper!iitor of sucnastivity, operat; , or facilit shall provide, at their own 
expense, reasonableprQtection'from accide~f~l discharge of prohibited materials or other 
wastesio/!g;:tt:J~ .. p1UnicipalstorlTlfarainsystem\~t·;'Natercourses through the use of these 
stru S~IilS~J:folhdingt}:.~JructLlr?1 8M Ps. .. .... \'{,;;v 

B. Af1Y'R~r$on respon:$i~l~ for aiproperty or premis~Hthat is, or may be, the source of an illicit 
discnarQ~' may be re'c( .,d to il11lSl~ment, at said person's expense, additional structural and 
non-stryctllral BMPs tot~vent the Jyrther discharge of pollutants to the MS4. Compliance 
with all te(~$and conditidJ;1§.9f a vahd. NPDES permit authorizing the discharge of storm 
water assoCi~f~9 with indus$rj~1 activity, to the extent practicable, shall be deemed 
compliance wffl'{i1 e provisi ,C/'; :of this section. 

These BMPs are parfiof ;';fty Design Standards as necessary for compliance with 
requirements of the Ph€! f MS4 permit 

13.16.140 Notification of Spills 

A. Notwithstanding other requirements of law, as soon as any person responsible for a facility 
or operation, or responsible for emergency response for a facility or operation has 
information of any known or suspected release of materials whioh are resulting or may result 
in illegal discharges or pollutants discharging into storm water, the storm drain system, or 
waters of the United States, said person shall take all necessary steps to ensure the 
discovery, containment, and cleanup of such release. 

In the event of such a release of hazardous materials said person shall immediately notify 
emergency response agencies of the occurrence via emergency dispatch services. 

R:\CITY COUNCIL\City Council\Agenda Staff Reports\2013 Agenda Reports\07 1113\9,(, Capitola SW 
Ordinance_Attachment l.docx 



DRAFT STORM WATER ORDINANCE 

I n the event of a release of non-hazardous materials, said person shall notify the City in 
person or by phone or facsimile no later than the next business day. 

B. Notifications in person or by phone shall be confirmed by written notice addressed and 
mailed to the City within five business days of the phone notice. 

C. If the discharge of prohibited materials emanates from a commercial or industrial 
establishment, the owner or operator of such establishment shall also retain an on-site 
written record of the discharge and the actions taken to prevent its recurrence. Such records 
shall be retained for at least five years. 

D. Failure to provide notification of a release as provided ab~7,i~ a violation of this ordinance. 

13.16.150 Remedies not Exclusive. /!f . 

A. The remedies listed in this ordinance are not exclusi1~ 6 ot~er remedies available 
under any applicable federal, state or local law anE!HttiS/.>lhe discretion of the City to 
seek cumulative remedies pursuant to Title 40ftt1~ 'GapitolaMI.lf;llcipal Code. 

13.16.160 Violations, Enforcement, and Pei1alti~s~ 

A. Violations. . ,. . .... 

1. It shall be unlawful for any person to violate any pro'{i~iotl or fail tocQm Iy with any of 
the requirements of this ordin~Dce. Any persOn'!t90~:~siviolated or c/ ~es to violate 
the provisions of this ordinal1cern?y be subjecHq)hef enforcement actios outlined in 
Title 4 of the Capitola Municipc:ihGoae .. 

B. Notice of Violation. 

1. Whenever the Cityfiodsthat a pet-$bn ha~Violated a prohibition or failed to meet a 
requirement okttlI§,;prell1~J1ce, the Gitymay order:Sompliance' by written notice of 
violation to tl;l~~t,~'sponsibl~~erson pUfS,UaQ!l0 Chapt~r 4; 10 of the Capitola Municipal 
Code. In additi~'jIJ:,such nO$ipr may requirewithout limitation: 

a. The performgnq~pf m, }lfQ~i[lg, analyses, and reporting; 

b. Theelimination6ft(U·'fi~9ti.Q~$ or"di~charges; 
'-':;,:.i'cd .,". _. 

c. That violatingdisch~rges, practlces,QCQperations shall cease and desist; 
- ". :'. .'_': '., ----:~:,:-:~~:~:~~~-i:~~. -·:-,<fti;l:l 

d. The abatement or remedi.~ti,Qn of stonn water pollution or contamination hazards and 
the restoration of any affecf*": roperty 

e. Payment of a fine to CQver a 'nistrative and remediation costs; and 

f. The implementation otsource control or treatment BMPs. 

C. CompensatoryAqtiql')' 

1. In lieu of enforcemenfproceedings, penalties, and remedies authorized by this 
ordinance, the CitYiafits discretion, may impose upon a violator alternative 
compensatory action, such as storm drain stenciling, attendance at compliance 
workshops, creek cleanup, etc. 

D. Revision to Abatement Timeframe. 

1. If all parties, including the City, agree that clean-up activities cannot be completed within 
the original timeframe dictated by any notice of violation and/or cease and desist order, 
the City shall notify the Regional Water Board in writing within five-business days of the 
determination that the timeframe requires revision. 

R:\CITY COUNCIL\City Council\Agenda Staff Reports\2013 Agenda Reports\07 1113\9.C. Capitola SW 
Ordinance_Attachment l.docx 

-45-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 1.pdf
DRAFT STORM WATER ORDINANCE 

I n the event of a release of non-hazardous materials, said person shall notify the City in 
person or by phone or facsimile no later than the next business day. 

B. Notifications in person or by phone shall be confirmed by written notice addressed and 
mailed to the City within five business days of the phone notice. 

C. If the discharge of prohibited materials emanates from a commercial or industrial 
establishment, the owner or operator of such establishment shall also retain an on-site 
written record of the discharge and the actions taken to prevent its recurrence. Such records 
shall be retained for at least five years. 

D. Failure to provide notification of a release as provided ab~7,i~ a violation of this ordinance. 

13.16.150 Remedies not Exclusive. /!f . 

A. The remedies listed in this ordinance are not exclusi1~ 6 ot~er remedies available 
under any applicable federal, state or local law anE!HttiS/.>lhe discretion of the City to 
seek cumulative remedies pursuant to Title 40ftt1~ 'GapitolaMI.lf;llcipal Code. 

13.16.160 Violations, Enforcement, and Pei1alti~s~ 

A. Violations. . ,. . .... 

1. It shall be unlawful for any person to violate any pro'{i~iotl or fail tocQm Iy with any of 
the requirements of this ordin~Dce. Any persOn'!t90~:~siviolated or c/ ~es to violate 
the provisions of this ordinal1cern?y be subjecHq)hef enforcement actios outlined in 
Title 4 of the Capitola Municipc:ihGoae .. 

B. Notice of Violation. 

1. Whenever the Cityfiodsthat a pet-$bn ha~Violated a prohibition or failed to meet a 
requirement okttlI§,;prell1~J1ce, the Gitymay order:Sompliance' by written notice of 
violation to tl;l~~t,~'sponsibl~~erson pUfS,UaQ!l0 Chapt~r 4; 10 of the Capitola Municipal 
Code. In additi~'jIJ:,such nO$ipr may requirewithout limitation: 

a. The performgnq~pf m, }lfQ~i[lg, analyses, and reporting; 

b. Theelimination6ft(U·'fi~9ti.Q~$ or"di~charges; 
'-':;,:.i'cd .,". _. 

c. That violatingdisch~rges, practlces,QCQperations shall cease and desist; 
- ". :'. .'_': '., ----:~:,:-:~~:~:~~~-i:~~. -·:-,<fti;l:l 

d. The abatement or remedi.~ti,Qn of stonn water pollution or contamination hazards and 
the restoration of any affecf*": roperty 

e. Payment of a fine to CQver a 'nistrative and remediation costs; and 

f. The implementation otsource control or treatment BMPs. 

C. CompensatoryAqtiql')' 

1. In lieu of enforcemenfproceedings, penalties, and remedies authorized by this 
ordinance, the CitYiafits discretion, may impose upon a violator alternative 
compensatory action, such as storm drain stenciling, attendance at compliance 
workshops, creek cleanup, etc. 

D. Revision to Abatement Timeframe. 

1. If all parties, including the City, agree that clean-up activities cannot be completed within 
the original timeframe dictated by any notice of violation and/or cease and desist order, 
the City shall notify the Regional Water Board in writing within five-business days of the 
determination that the timeframe requires revision. 

R:\CITY COUNCIL\City Council\Agenda Staff Reports\2013 Agenda Reports\07 1113\9.C. Capitola SW 
Ordinance_Attachment l.docx 



DRAFT STORM WATER ORDINANCE 

The person, owner, agent or person in possession of the premises shall be subject to 
the modified abatement timeframe and any citations and penalties issued by the State 
and/or Regional Board in addition to those issued by the City. 

Section 2: This ordinance shall take effect and be in full force thirty (30) days after its final 
adoption by the City Council. 

This ordinance was introduced on the 11th day of July, 2013, and was passed and adopted 
by the City Council of the City of Capitola on the _ day of 2013, by the following vote: 

AYES: 

NOES: 

ABSENT: 

ABSTAIN: 

ATTEST: 

R:\ClTY COUNCIL\City Council\Agenda Staff Reports\2013 Agenda Reports\07 1113\9.C. Capitola SW 
Ordinance_Attachment l.docx 

-46-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 1.pdf
DRAFT STORM WATER ORDINANCE 

The person, owner, agent or person in possession of the premises shall be subject to 
the modified abatement timeframe and any citations and penalties issued by the State 
and/or Regional Board in addition to those issued by the City. 

Section 2: This ordinance shall take effect and be in full force thirty (30) days after its final 
adoption by the City Council. 

This ordinance was introduced on the 11th day of July, 2013, and was passed and adopted 
by the City Council of the City of Capitola on the _ day of 2013, by the following vote: 

AYES: 

NOES: 

ABSENT: 

ABSTAIN: 

ATTEST: 

R:\ClTY COUNCIL\City Council\Agenda Staff Reports\2013 Agenda Reports\07 1113\9.C. Capitola SW 
Ordinance_Attachment l.docx 



STATE WATER RESOURCES CONTROL BOARD 
WATER QUALITY ORDER NO. 2013-0001-DWQ 

NATIONAL POLLUTANT DISCHARGE ELIMINATION SYSTEM (NPDES) 
GENERAL PERMIT NO. CAS000004 

WASTE DISCHARGE REQUIREMENTS (WDRs) 
FOR 

STORM WATER DISCHARGES FROM SMALL MUNICIPAL SEPARATE STORM SEWER 
SYSTEMS (MS4s) (GENERAL PERMIT) 

-47-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

STATE WATER RESOURCES CONTROL BOARD 
WATER QUALITY ORDER NO. 2013-0001-DWQ 

NATIONAL POLLUTANT DISCHARGE ELIMINATION SYSTEM (NPDES) 
GENERAL PERMIT NO. CAS000004 

WASTE DISCHARGE REQUIREMENTS (WDRs) 
FOR 

STORM WATER DISCHARGES FROM SMALL MUNICIPAL SEPARATE STORM SEWER 
SYSTEMS (MS4s) (GENERAL PERMIT) 



Phase" Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 2 February 5, 2013 

-48-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

Phase" Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 2 February 5, 2013 



Contents 

STATE WATER RESOURCES CONTROL BOARD ........................................................................................................ 1 

WASTE DISCHARGE REQUIREMENTS (WDRS) ........................................................................................................... 1 

FINDINGS ......................................................................................................................................................................... 5 

A. APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS FOR ALL SMALL MS4 PERMITTEES ............................................................... 14 

B. DISCHARGE PROHIBITIONS ................................................................................................................................... 17 

C. EFFLUENT LIMITATIONS ......................................................................................................................................... 18 

D. RECEIVING WATER LIMITATIONS .......................................................................................................................... 19 

E. PROVISIONS FOR ALL TRADITIONAL SMALL MS4 PERMITTEES ...................................................................... 19 

E.1. RENEWAL TRADITIONAL SMALL MS4 PERMITTEES ........................................................................................ 1 9 

E.2. NEW TRADITIONAL SMALL MS4 PERMITTEES .................................................................................................. 19 

E.3. NON·TRADITIONAL SMALL MS4S PERMITTEES ................................................................................................ 20 

E.4. SMALL MS4 ASBS PERMITTEES ......................................................................................................................... 20 

E.5. SEPARATE IMPLEMENTING ENTITY (SIE) .......................................................................................................... 20 

E.6. PROGRAM MANAGEMENT ELEMENT ................................................................................................................. 20 

E.7. EDUCATION AND OUTREACH PROGRAM .......................................................................................................... 24 

E.8. PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT AND PARTICIPATION PROGRAM ............................................................................... 30 

E.9. ILLICIT DISCHARGE DETECTION AND ELIMINATION ........................................................................................ 31 

E.10. CONSTRUCTION SITE STORM WATER RUNOFF CONTROL PROGRAM ....................................................... 37 

E.11. POLLUTION PREVENTION/GOOD HOUSEKEEPING ........................................................................................ 40 

E.12. POST CONSTRUCTION STORM WATER MANAGEMENT PROGRAM ............................................................. 48 

E.13. WATER QUALITY MONITORING ......................................................................................................................... 62 

E.14. PROGRAM EFFECTIVENESS ASSESSMENT AND IMPROVEMENT.. .............................................................. 70 

E.15. TOTAL MAXIMUM DAILY LOADS COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENTS ................................................................ 73 

E.16. ANNUAL REPORTING PROGRAM ...................................................................................................................... 74 

F. NON - TRADITIONAL SMALL MS4 PERMITTEE PROVISIONS ............................................................................. 75 

F.1 NON·TRADITIONAL SMALL MS4 CATEGORIES .................................................................................................. 75 

F.2 SECURITY CONCERNS .......................................................................................................................................... 75 

F.3 MAXIMIZE EFFICIENCY .......................................................................................................................................... 75 

F.4 EQUIVALENT OR EXISTING DOCUMENT ............................................................................................................. 75 

F.5 PROViSiONS ............................................................................................................................................................ 76 

G. REGIONAL WATER BOARD AUTHORITIES ........................................................................................................ 103 

H. DISPUTE RESOLUTION ..................................................... ; .................................................................................. 103 

I. PERMIT RE·OPENER ............................................................................................................................................ 104 

J. PERMIT EXPIRATION ........................................................................................................................................... 105 

CERTIFICATION .......................................................................................................................................................... 105 

Attachment A - Traditional Small MS4 List 
Attachment B - Non·traditional Small MS4 List 
Attachment C - ASBS Specific Provisions 
Attachment D - ASBS Dischargers List 
Attachment E - CBSM Requirements 
Attachment F - Standard Provisions 
Attachment G - TMDLs 
Attachment H - Acrol1yms 
Attachment I - Glossary 
Designation Flow Chart 
Monitoring Flow Chart 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013·0001-DWQ 3 February 5, 2013 

-49-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

Contents 

STATE WATER RESOURCES CONTROL BOARD ........................................................................................................ 1 

WASTE DISCHARGE REQUIREMENTS (WDRS) ........................................................................................................... 1 

FINDINGS ......................................................................................................................................................................... 5 

A. APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS FOR ALL SMALL MS4 PERMITTEES ............................................................... 14 

B. DISCHARGE PROHIBITIONS ................................................................................................................................... 17 

C. EFFLUENT LIMITATIONS ......................................................................................................................................... 18 

D. RECEIVING WATER LIMITATIONS .......................................................................................................................... 19 

E. PROVISIONS FOR ALL TRADITIONAL SMALL MS4 PERMITTEES ...................................................................... 19 

E.1. RENEWAL TRADITIONAL SMALL MS4 PERMITTEES ........................................................................................ 1 9 

E.2. NEW TRADITIONAL SMALL MS4 PERMITTEES .................................................................................................. 19 

E.3. NON·TRADITIONAL SMALL MS4S PERMITTEES ................................................................................................ 20 

E.4. SMALL MS4 ASBS PERMITTEES ......................................................................................................................... 20 

E.5. SEPARATE IMPLEMENTING ENTITY (SIE) .......................................................................................................... 20 

E.6. PROGRAM MANAGEMENT ELEMENT ................................................................................................................. 20 

E.7. EDUCATION AND OUTREACH PROGRAM .......................................................................................................... 24 

E.8. PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT AND PARTICIPATION PROGRAM ............................................................................... 30 

E.9. ILLICIT DISCHARGE DETECTION AND ELIMINATION ........................................................................................ 31 

E.10. CONSTRUCTION SITE STORM WATER RUNOFF CONTROL PROGRAM ....................................................... 37 

E.11. POLLUTION PREVENTION/GOOD HOUSEKEEPING ........................................................................................ 40 

E.12. POST CONSTRUCTION STORM WATER MANAGEMENT PROGRAM ............................................................. 48 

E.13. WATER QUALITY MONITORING ......................................................................................................................... 62 

E.14. PROGRAM EFFECTIVENESS ASSESSMENT AND IMPROVEMENT.. .............................................................. 70 

E.15. TOTAL MAXIMUM DAILY LOADS COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENTS ................................................................ 73 

E.16. ANNUAL REPORTING PROGRAM ...................................................................................................................... 74 

F. NON - TRADITIONAL SMALL MS4 PERMITTEE PROVISIONS ............................................................................. 75 

F.1 NON·TRADITIONAL SMALL MS4 CATEGORIES .................................................................................................. 75 

F.2 SECURITY CONCERNS .......................................................................................................................................... 75 

F.3 MAXIMIZE EFFICIENCY .......................................................................................................................................... 75 

F.4 EQUIVALENT OR EXISTING DOCUMENT ............................................................................................................. 75 

F.5 PROViSiONS ............................................................................................................................................................ 76 

G. REGIONAL WATER BOARD AUTHORITIES ........................................................................................................ 103 

H. DISPUTE RESOLUTION ..................................................... ; .................................................................................. 103 

I. PERMIT RE·OPENER ............................................................................................................................................ 104 

J. PERMIT EXPIRATION ........................................................................................................................................... 105 

CERTIFICATION .......................................................................................................................................................... 105 

Attachment A - Traditional Small MS4 List 
Attachment B - Non·traditional Small MS4 List 
Attachment C - ASBS Specific Provisions 
Attachment D - ASBS Dischargers List 
Attachment E - CBSM Requirements 
Attachment F - Standard Provisions 
Attachment G - TMDLs 
Attachment H - Acrol1yms 
Attachment I - Glossary 
Designation Flow Chart 
Monitoring Flow Chart 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013·0001-DWQ 3 February 5, 2013 



Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 4 February 5, 2013 

-50-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 4 February 5, 2013 



FINDINGS 

The State Water Resources Control Board (State Water Board) finds that: 

1. Storm water is a resource and an asset and should not be treated as a waste product. 
Managing rainwater and storm water at the source is a more effective and sustainable 
alternative to augmenting water supply, preventing impacts from flooding, mitigating storm 
water pollution, creating green space, and enhancing fish and wildlife habitat. California 
encourages alternative, innovative, multi-objective solutions to help use and protect this 
valuable resource, while at the same time controlling pollution due to urban runoff. 

2. As human population increases, urban development creates new pollution sources and 
brings with it proportionately higher levels of car emissions, car maintenance wastes, 
municipal sewage, pesticides, household hazardous wastes,pet wastes, trash, etc. which 
can either be washed or directly dumped into the municipal separate storm sewer system 
(MS4). As a result, the runoff leaving the developed urban area is greater in pollutant load 
than the pre-development runoff from the same area. Also, when natural vegetated 
pervious ground cover is converted to impervious surfaces such as paved highways, streets, 
rooftops, walkways and parking lots, the natural absorption and infiltration abilities of the 
land are lost. Therefore, runoff leaving developed urban area is significantly greater in 
runoff volume, velocity, peak flow rate, and duration than pre-development runoff from the 
same area. The increased volume, velocity, rate, and duration of runoff greatly accelerate 
the erosion of downstream natural channels. In addition, the greater the impervious cover 
the greater the significance of the degradation. 

3. Pollutants of concern found in urban runoff include sediments, non-sediment solids, 
nutrients, pathogens, oxygen-demanding substances, petroleum hydrocarbons, heavy 
metals, floatables, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), trash, pesticides and 
herbicides. 

4. Trash and litter are a pervasive problem in California. Controlling trash is a priority, because 
trash adversely affects our use of California's waterways. Trash impacts aquatic life in 
streams, rivers, and the ocean as well as terrestrial species in adjacent riparian and shore 
areas. Trash, particularly plastics, persists for years. It concentrates organic toxins, 
entangles and ensnares wildlife, and disrupts feeding when animals mistake plastic for food 
and ingest it. Additionally, trash creates aesthetic impacts, impairing our ability to enjoy our 
waterways. 

5. The State Water Resources Control Board (State Board) is developing a statewide policy for 
trash control in California's waterways. The draft Trash Policy will identify trash as a 
separate pollutant and establish methods to control trash pollution in waterways, statewide. 
Following adoption of the draft Trash Policy, the State Water Board may re-open this Order 
to incorporate water body trash pollution control methods and introduce Trash Reduction 
Program requirements. 

6. A higher percentage of impervious area in urban areas correlates to a greater pollutant 
loading, resulting in turbid water, nutrient enrichment, bacterial contamination, organic 
matter loads, toxic compounds, temperature increases, and increases in trash or debris. 

7. Conventional landscaping features large lawns, non-native plants, abundant irrigation, and 
heavy use of fertilizers, herbicides, and pesticides. It frequently requires significant mowing, 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 5 February 5,2013 

-51-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

FINDINGS 

The State Water Resources Control Board (State Water Board) finds that: 

1. Storm water is a resource and an asset and should not be treated as a waste product. 
Managing rainwater and storm water at the source is a more effective and sustainable 
alternative to augmenting water supply, preventing impacts from flooding, mitigating storm 
water pollution, creating green space, and enhancing fish and wildlife habitat. California 
encourages alternative, innovative, multi-objective solutions to help use and protect this 
valuable resource, while at the same time controlling pollution due to urban runoff. 

2. As human population increases, urban development creates new pollution sources and 
brings with it proportionately higher levels of car emissions, car maintenance wastes, 
municipal sewage, pesticides, household hazardous wastes,pet wastes, trash, etc. which 
can either be washed or directly dumped into the municipal separate storm sewer system 
(MS4). As a result, the runoff leaving the developed urban area is greater in pollutant load 
than the pre-development runoff from the same area. Also, when natural vegetated 
pervious ground cover is converted to impervious surfaces such as paved highways, streets, 
rooftops, walkways and parking lots, the natural absorption and infiltration abilities of the 
land are lost. Therefore, runoff leaving developed urban area is significantly greater in 
runoff volume, velocity, peak flow rate, and duration than pre-development runoff from the 
same area. The increased volume, velocity, rate, and duration of runoff greatly accelerate 
the erosion of downstream natural channels. In addition, the greater the impervious cover 
the greater the significance of the degradation. 

3. Pollutants of concern found in urban runoff include sediments, non-sediment solids, 
nutrients, pathogens, oxygen-demanding substances, petroleum hydrocarbons, heavy 
metals, floatables, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), trash, pesticides and 
herbicides. 

4. Trash and litter are a pervasive problem in California. Controlling trash is a priority, because 
trash adversely affects our use of California's waterways. Trash impacts aquatic life in 
streams, rivers, and the ocean as well as terrestrial species in adjacent riparian and shore 
areas. Trash, particularly plastics, persists for years. It concentrates organic toxins, 
entangles and ensnares wildlife, and disrupts feeding when animals mistake plastic for food 
and ingest it. Additionally, trash creates aesthetic impacts, impairing our ability to enjoy our 
waterways. 

5. The State Water Resources Control Board (State Board) is developing a statewide policy for 
trash control in California's waterways. The draft Trash Policy will identify trash as a 
separate pollutant and establish methods to control trash pollution in waterways, statewide. 
Following adoption of the draft Trash Policy, the State Water Board may re-open this Order 
to incorporate water body trash pollution control methods and introduce Trash Reduction 
Program requirements. 

6. A higher percentage of impervious area in urban areas correlates to a greater pollutant 
loading, resulting in turbid water, nutrient enrichment, bacterial contamination, organic 
matter loads, toxic compounds, temperature increases, and increases in trash or debris. 

7. Conventional landscaping features large lawns, non-native plants, abundant irrigation, and 
heavy use of fertilizers, herbicides, and pesticides. It frequently requires significant mowing, 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 5 February 5,2013 



blowing, trimming, and removal of plants debris. Adopting more storm water-friendly 
landscape practices reduces pollutants and also provides tangible water conservation, 
wildlife habitat, and energy saving benefits. 

8. The State Water Board recognizes that this Order affects varied and diverse entities, 
including agencies that are required to carry out water conservation regulations, wastewater 
discharge regulations, and land use regulations that may implement, all or in part, provisions 
of this Order. The State Water Board seeks to minimize duplicate efforts and maximize 
resources to achieve the greatest water quality benefit; thus the State Water Board 
recognizes specified related regulations, cited in the body of this Order, as equivalent to 
implementing designated provisions of this Order. 

9. When water quality impacts are considered during the planning stages of a project, new 
development and many redevelopment projects can more efficiently incorporate measures 
to protect water quality. 

10. In California, urban storm water is listed as the primary source of impairment for ten percent 
of all rivers, ten percent of all lakes and reservoirs, and 17 percent of all estuaries (2010 
Integrated Report). Although these numbers may seem low, urban areas cover just six 
percent of the land mass of California and so their influence is disproportionately large. 
Urbanization causes changes in the landscape, including increased loads of chemical 
pollutants, increased toxicity, changes to flow magnitude, frequency, and seasonality of 
various discharges, physical changes to stream, lake, or wetland habitats, changes in the 
energy dynamics of food webs, sunlight, and temperature; and biotic interactions between 
native and exotic species. In addition to surface water impacts, urbanization can alter the 
amount and quality of storm water that infiltrates and recharges groundwater aquifers. 

11. Education and awareness programs help change human behavior with respect to reducing 
the amount of pollution generated from storm water sources within the Permittee's MS4 
system. In addition to education, encouraging public participation in local storm water 
programs can lead to program improvement as well as enabling people to identify and report 
a pollution-causing activity, such as spotting an illicit discharge. 

12. Field experience in conducting outfall surveys indicates that illicit discharges may be present 
at 2 to 5 percent of all outfalls at any given time. Given that pollutants are being introduced 
into the receiving water during dry weather, illicit discharges may have an amplified effect on 
water quality and biological diversity.1 Therefore, implementation of an effective Illicit 
Discharge and Detection Elimination program in conjunction with focused wet weather 
monitoring, as necessary, is an essential component of an effective municipal storm water 
program. 

13. In 1990, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA) promulgated rules 
establishing Phase I of the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) storm 
water program. The Phase I program for MS4s requires operators of "medium" and "large" 
MS4s, that is, those that generally serve populations of 100,000 or greater, to implement a 
storm water management program as a means to control polluted discharges from these 
MS4s. 

Urban Stormwater Management in the United States, National Research Council, 2008 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 6 February 5, 2013 

-52-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

blowing, trimming, and removal of plants debris. Adopting more storm water-friendly 
landscape practices reduces pollutants and also provides tangible water conservation, 
wildlife habitat, and energy saving benefits. 

8. The State Water Board recognizes that this Order affects varied and diverse entities, 
including agencies that are required to carry out water conservation regulations, wastewater 
discharge regulations, and land use regulations that may implement, all or in part, provisions 
of this Order. The State Water Board seeks to minimize duplicate efforts and maximize 
resources to achieve the greatest water quality benefit; thus the State Water Board 
recognizes specified related regulations, cited in the body of this Order, as equivalent to 
implementing designated provisions of this Order. 

9. When water quality impacts are considered during the planning stages of a project, new 
development and many redevelopment projects can more efficiently incorporate measures 
to protect water quality. 

10. In California, urban storm water is listed as the primary source of impairment for ten percent 
of all rivers, ten percent of all lakes and reservoirs, and 17 percent of all estuaries (2010 
Integrated Report). Although these numbers may seem low, urban areas cover just six 
percent of the land mass of California and so their influence is disproportionately large. 
Urbanization causes changes in the landscape, including increased loads of chemical 
pollutants, increased toxicity, changes to flow magnitude, frequency, and seasonality of 
various discharges, physical changes to stream, lake, or wetland habitats, changes in the 
energy dynamics of food webs, sunlight, and temperature; and biotic interactions between 
native and exotic species. In addition to surface water impacts, urbanization can alter the 
amount and quality of storm water that infiltrates and recharges groundwater aquifers. 

11. Education and awareness programs help change human behavior with respect to reducing 
the amount of pollution generated from storm water sources within the Permittee's MS4 
system. In addition to education, encouraging public participation in local storm water 
programs can lead to program improvement as well as enabling people to identify and report 
a pollution-causing activity, such as spotting an illicit discharge. 

12. Field experience in conducting outfall surveys indicates that illicit discharges may be present 
at 2 to 5 percent of all outfalls at any given time. Given that pollutants are being introduced 
into the receiving water during dry weather, illicit discharges may have an amplified effect on 
water quality and biological diversity.1 Therefore, implementation of an effective Illicit 
Discharge and Detection Elimination program in conjunction with focused wet weather 
monitoring, as necessary, is an essential component of an effective municipal storm water 
program. 

13. In 1990, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA) promulgated rules 
establishing Phase I of the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) storm 
water program. The Phase I program for MS4s requires operators of "medium" and "large" 
MS4s, that is, those that generally serve populations of 100,000 or greater, to implement a 
storm water management program as a means to control polluted discharges from these 
MS4s. 

Urban Stormwater Management in the United States, National Research Council, 2008 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 6 February 5, 2013 



14. A MS4 is a conveyance or system of conveyances that is: 1) owned by a state, city, town, 
village, or other public entity that discharges to waters of the United States; 2) designed or 
used to collect or convey storm water (including storm drains, pipes, ditches, etc.); 3) not a 
combined sewer; and 4) not part of a Publicly Owned Treatment Works or sewage treatment 
plant. 

15. On December 8, 1999, U.S. EPA promulgated Phase II storm water regulations under 
authority of the Clean Water Act section 402(p)(6). The Phase II Storm Water requires State 
Water Board to issue NPDES storm water permits to operators of Small MS4s. 

16. On April 30, 2003, the State Water Board adopted Water Quality Order No. 2003-0005-
DWQ, NPDES General Permit CAS000004 WDRs for Storm Water Discharges from Small 
Municipal Separate Storm Sewer Systems (General Permit) to comply with Clean Water Act 
section 402(p)(6). 

17. Title 40 of the Code of Federal Regulations (40 C.F.R.) section122.26(b)(16) defines Small 
MS4s as those not defined as "large" or "medium" MS4s under section122.26(b)(4) or (b)(7) 
or designated under 40 Code of Federal Regulations section122.26(a)(1)(v). The term 
Small MS4s includes systems similar to separate storm sewer systems in municipalities, 
such as systems at military bases, large hospital or prison complexes, and highways and 
other thoroughfares. (40 C.F.R. §122.26(b)(16)(iii).) These latter subsets of Small MS4s 
are referred to herein as Non-traditional Small MS4s. Non-traditional Small MS4s discharge 
the same types of pollutants that are typically associated with urban runoff. Separate storm 
sewers in very discrete areas, such as individual buildings, are not defined as Small MS4s. 

18. Of the Small MS4s defined by federal regulations, only "Regulated Small MS4s" (also 
referred to as "Permittees" herein) must obtain an NPDES permit. Small MS4s are 
designated as Regulated Small MS4s in this Order in accordance with the criteria described 
in Findings 19-25.2 

19. Under 40 Code of Federal Regulations section 122.32(a)(1) all Small MS4s located within 
an "urbanized area" as determined by the latest Decennial Census by the Bureau of the 
Census (Urbanized Area) are automatically designated as Regulated Small MS4s. 

20. Under 40 Code of Federal Regulations sections 122.32(a)(2) and 123.35(b) the State Water 
Board is directed to develop a process, as well as criteria, to designate Small MS4s located 
outside of an Urbanized Area as Regulated Small MS4s. These criteria are to evaluate 
whether a storm water discharge results in or has the potential to result in exceedances of 
water quality standards, including impairment of designated uses, or other significant water 
quality impacts, including habitat and biological impacts. 

21. Under guidance provided in 40 Code of Federal Regulations secton123.35(b)(1)(ii), for 
determining other significant water quality impacts, U.S. EPA recommends a balanced 
consideration of the following designation criteria on a watershed or other local basis: 
discharge to sensitive waters, high growth or growth potential, high population density, 

2 In addition to the designation criteria specified in this Order, the State Water Board may designate a Small MS4 as a Regulated 
Small MS4 in response to a petition received under 40 Code of Federal Regulations section 122.26(f). Any person may petition the 
State Water Board to require an NPDES permit for a discharge composed entirely of storm water that contributes to a violation of a 
water quality standard or is a significant contributor of pollutants to the waters of the United States. (ld.). The State Water Board 
must make a final determination oh any petition within 180 days after receiving the petition. (40 C.F.R. §123.35(c).) 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 7 February 5, 2013 

-53-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

14. A MS4 is a conveyance or system of conveyances that is: 1) owned by a state, city, town, 
village, or other public entity that discharges to waters of the United States; 2) designed or 
used to collect or convey storm water (including storm drains, pipes, ditches, etc.); 3) not a 
combined sewer; and 4) not part of a Publicly Owned Treatment Works or sewage treatment 
plant. 

15. On December 8, 1999, U.S. EPA promulgated Phase II storm water regulations under 
authority of the Clean Water Act section 402(p)(6). The Phase II Storm Water requires State 
Water Board to issue NPDES storm water permits to operators of Small MS4s. 

16. On April 30, 2003, the State Water Board adopted Water Quality Order No. 2003-0005-
DWQ, NPDES General Permit CAS000004 WDRs for Storm Water Discharges from Small 
Municipal Separate Storm Sewer Systems (General Permit) to comply with Clean Water Act 
section 402(p)(6). 

17. Title 40 of the Code of Federal Regulations (40 C.F.R.) section122.26(b)(16) defines Small 
MS4s as those not defined as "large" or "medium" MS4s under section122.26(b)(4) or (b)(7) 
or designated under 40 Code of Federal Regulations section122.26(a)(1)(v). The term 
Small MS4s includes systems similar to separate storm sewer systems in municipalities, 
such as systems at military bases, large hospital or prison complexes, and highways and 
other thoroughfares. (40 C.F.R. §122.26(b)(16)(iii).) These latter subsets of Small MS4s 
are referred to herein as Non-traditional Small MS4s. Non-traditional Small MS4s discharge 
the same types of pollutants that are typically associated with urban runoff. Separate storm 
sewers in very discrete areas, such as individual buildings, are not defined as Small MS4s. 

18. Of the Small MS4s defined by federal regulations, only "Regulated Small MS4s" (also 
referred to as "Permittees" herein) must obtain an NPDES permit. Small MS4s are 
designated as Regulated Small MS4s in this Order in accordance with the criteria described 
in Findings 19-25.2 

19. Under 40 Code of Federal Regulations section 122.32(a)(1) all Small MS4s located within 
an "urbanized area" as determined by the latest Decennial Census by the Bureau of the 
Census (Urbanized Area) are automatically designated as Regulated Small MS4s. 

20. Under 40 Code of Federal Regulations sections 122.32(a)(2) and 123.35(b) the State Water 
Board is directed to develop a process, as well as criteria, to designate Small MS4s located 
outside of an Urbanized Area as Regulated Small MS4s. These criteria are to evaluate 
whether a storm water discharge results in or has the potential to result in exceedances of 
water quality standards, including impairment of designated uses, or other significant water 
quality impacts, including habitat and biological impacts. 

21. Under guidance provided in 40 Code of Federal Regulations secton123.35(b)(1)(ii), for 
determining other significant water quality impacts, U.S. EPA recommends a balanced 
consideration of the following designation criteria on a watershed or other local basis: 
discharge to sensitive waters, high growth or growth potential, high population density, 

2 In addition to the designation criteria specified in this Order, the State Water Board may designate a Small MS4 as a Regulated 
Small MS4 in response to a petition received under 40 Code of Federal Regulations section 122.26(f). Any person may petition the 
State Water Board to require an NPDES permit for a discharge composed entirely of storm water that contributes to a violation of a 
water quality standard or is a significant contributor of pollutants to the waters of the United States. (ld.). The State Water Board 
must make a final determination oh any petition within 180 days after receiving the petition. (40 C.F.R. §123.35(c).) 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 7 February 5, 2013 



contiguity to an urbanized area, significant contributor of pollutants to waters of the U.S., 
and ineffective protection of water quality by other programs. 

22. The State Water Board is required to apply the designation criteria at a minimum to all Small 
MS4s located outside of Urbanized Areas serving jurisdictions with a population density of at 
least 1,000 people per square mile and a population of at least 10,000. (40 C.F.R. 
§123.35(b)(2).) The State Water Board has discretion to apply the criteria to jurisdictions 
with smaller population or lower density. All such jurisdictions are then Regulated Small 
MS4s. 

23. In developing the designation criteria, the State Water Board included factors indicative of 
the potential to result in exceedances of water quality standards and other significant water 
quality impacts. The following criteria are used to designate Small MS4s outside of 
Urbanized Areas as Regulated Small MS4s in this Order. 

a. The Small MS4 has high population and high population density - High 
population means a population of 10,000 or more. High population density 
means a density of 1,000 residents per square mile or greater. Also to be 
considered in this definition is a high density created by a non-residential 
population, such as tourists or commuters. 

b. The Small MS4 discharges to Areas of Special Biological Significance (ASBS) as 
defined in the California Ocean Plan. 

24. Designation of additional Small MS4s as Regulated Small MS4s may be made by the 
Regional Water Boards on a case by case basis. Case by case determinations of 
designation shall be based on the potential of a Small MS4's discharges to result in 
exceedances of water quality standards, including impairment of designated uses, or 
other significant water quality impacts, including habitat and biological impacts. Where 
such case by case designations have been recommended by the Regional Water 
Boards prior to adoption of this Order, the designated Small MS4s are listed on the 
relevant Attachments to the Order and the reasons for designation are laid out in the 
Fact Sheet. The Regional Water Boards may continue to make case by case 
determinations of designation during the permit term. Such designations must be 
approved by the Regional Water Board after public review and comment. 

25. 40 Code of Federal Regulations section 123.35(b)(4) requires designation as a 
Regulated Small MS4 of any Small MS4 outside an Urbanized Area that contributes 
substantially to the pollutant loadings of a physically interconnected MS4 regulated by 
the NPDES storm water program. A Small MS4 is interconnected with a separately 
permitted MS4 if storm water that has entered the Small MS4 is allowed to flow directly 
into a permitted MS4. In general, if the Small MS4 discharges more than ten percent of 
its storm water to the permitted MS4, or its discharge makes up more than ten percent of 
the permitted MS4's total storm water volume, it is a significant contributor of pollutants 
to the permitted MS4. In specific cases, the MS4s involved or third parties may show 
that the ten percent threshold is inappropriate for the MS4 in question. 

26. Regulated Small MS4s may seek a waiver from Phase " requir~ments if they meet 
criteria specified in 40 Code of Federal Regulations sections 122.32(c)-(e).3 The State 

3 Waiver criteria also found at 40 C.F.R. 123.35(d). 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 8 February 5, 2013 

-54-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

contiguity to an urbanized area, significant contributor of pollutants to waters of the U.S., 
and ineffective protection of water quality by other programs. 

22. The State Water Board is required to apply the designation criteria at a minimum to all Small 
MS4s located outside of Urbanized Areas serving jurisdictions with a population density of at 
least 1,000 people per square mile and a population of at least 10,000. (40 C.F.R. 
§123.35(b)(2).) The State Water Board has discretion to apply the criteria to jurisdictions 
with smaller population or lower density. All such jurisdictions are then Regulated Small 
MS4s. 

23. In developing the designation criteria, the State Water Board included factors indicative of 
the potential to result in exceedances of water quality standards and other significant water 
quality impacts. The following criteria are used to designate Small MS4s outside of 
Urbanized Areas as Regulated Small MS4s in this Order. 

a. The Small MS4 has high population and high population density - High 
population means a population of 10,000 or more. High population density 
means a density of 1,000 residents per square mile or greater. Also to be 
considered in this definition is a high density created by a non-residential 
population, such as tourists or commuters. 

b. The Small MS4 discharges to Areas of Special Biological Significance (ASBS) as 
defined in the California Ocean Plan. 

24. Designation of additional Small MS4s as Regulated Small MS4s may be made by the 
Regional Water Boards on a case by case basis. Case by case determinations of 
designation shall be based on the potential of a Small MS4's discharges to result in 
exceedances of water quality standards, including impairment of designated uses, or 
other significant water quality impacts, including habitat and biological impacts. Where 
such case by case designations have been recommended by the Regional Water 
Boards prior to adoption of this Order, the designated Small MS4s are listed on the 
relevant Attachments to the Order and the reasons for designation are laid out in the 
Fact Sheet. The Regional Water Boards may continue to make case by case 
determinations of designation during the permit term. Such designations must be 
approved by the Regional Water Board after public review and comment. 

25. 40 Code of Federal Regulations section 123.35(b)(4) requires designation as a 
Regulated Small MS4 of any Small MS4 outside an Urbanized Area that contributes 
substantially to the pollutant loadings of a physically interconnected MS4 regulated by 
the NPDES storm water program. A Small MS4 is interconnected with a separately 
permitted MS4 if storm water that has entered the Small MS4 is allowed to flow directly 
into a permitted MS4. In general, if the Small MS4 discharges more than ten percent of 
its storm water to the permitted MS4, or its discharge makes up more than ten percent of 
the permitted MS4's total storm water volume, it is a significant contributor of pollutants 
to the permitted MS4. In specific cases, the MS4s involved or third parties may show 
that the ten percent threshold is inappropriate for the MS4 in question. 

26. Regulated Small MS4s may seek a waiver from Phase " requir~ments if they meet 
criteria specified in 40 Code of Federal Regulations sections 122.32(c)-(e).3 The State 

3 Waiver criteria also found at 40 C.F.R. 123.35(d). 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 8 February 5, 2013 



Water Board has additionally provided for a waiver for those communities outside of 
urbanized areas with a population of 20,000 or less with an annual median household 
income (MHI) that is less than 80 percent of the statewide annual MHI. (Wat. Code, § 
79505.5, subd. (a)). 

27. Small MS4s face highly variable conditions both in terms of threats to water quality from 
their storm water discharges and resources available to manage those discharges. 
Therefore, one set of prescriptive requirements is not an appropriate regulatory 
approach for all Regulated Small MS4s. This Order distinguishes between New and 
Renewal Traditional Small MS4 Permittees. Additionally, this Order addresses 
differences between Traditional and Non-traditional Small MS4s by detailing Non
traditional Small MS4 specific provisions in Section F Non-Traditional Small MS4 
Provisions. Provisions are tailored to address the diverse program structures of Non
traditional Small MS4s to allow for an appropriate regulatory approach. 

28. There are variable levels of resources available to Regulated Small MS4s for public 
outreach and education and water quality monitoring. Recognizing this, the Order gives 
Permittees numerous compliance options in these two program areas. However, all 
Regulated Small MS4s that discharge to ASBS or impaired water bodies4 must conduct 
monitoring as specified 'in Attachment C and Attachment G, respectively. All Regulated 
Small MS4s with a population of 50,000 or more must conduct monitoring specified in 
Sections E.13.d.1. or E.13.d.2. of the Order or as approved by the Executive Officer of 
the applicable Regional Board. Additionally, for the public outreach program, the 
Regional Water Boards may require the Regulated Small MS4s to utilize the approach of 
Community-Based Social Marketing. 

29. Renewal Traditional Small MS4 Permittees shall comply with Section E. Certain 
provisions within Section E contain compliance dates that are past the effective date of 
this Order, in these cases, the Permittee shall implement its existing program until that 
date. 

30. This Order modifies the existing General Permit, Order 2003-0005-DWQ by establishing the 
storm water management program requirements in the Order and defining the minimum 
acceptable elements of the municipal storm water management program. Minimum permit 
requirements are known at the time of permit issuance and not left to be determined later 
through Regional Water Board review and approval of Storm Water Management Plans 
(SWMPs). 

31. The State Water Board recognizes the necessity of a storm water program guidance' 
document specific to each Permittee to provide planning and guidance for each program area 
and to identify responsible implementing parties. Permittees must develop and implement a 
storm water program guidance document and must submit the document during the 
application process. 

32. The State Water Board recognizes that in some instances Renewal Permittees' SWMPs that 
were approved under the prior General Permit, Order 2003-0005-DWQ have incorporated 
BMPs designed to address locality-specific storm water issues and that in some cases these 

4 A waterbody that has been determined under state policy and federal law not meet water quality standards. An impaired water is a 
water that has been listed on the California 303(d) list or has not yet been listed but otherwise meets the criteria for listing. A water is 
a portion of a surface water of the state, including ocean, estuary, lake, river, creek, or wetland. The water currently 
may not be meeting state water quality standards or may be determined to be threatened and have the potential to not meet 
standards in the future. The State of California's 303(d) list can be found at http://www.swrcb.ca.gov/quality.html. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 9 February 5, 2013 

-55-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

Water Board has additionally provided for a waiver for those communities outside of 
urbanized areas with a population of 20,000 or less with an annual median household 
income (MHI) that is less than 80 percent of the statewide annual MHI. (Wat. Code, § 
79505.5, subd. (a)). 

27. Small MS4s face highly variable conditions both in terms of threats to water quality from 
their storm water discharges and resources available to manage those discharges. 
Therefore, one set of prescriptive requirements is not an appropriate regulatory 
approach for all Regulated Small MS4s. This Order distinguishes between New and 
Renewal Traditional Small MS4 Permittees. Additionally, this Order addresses 
differences between Traditional and Non-traditional Small MS4s by detailing Non
traditional Small MS4 specific provisions in Section F Non-Traditional Small MS4 
Provisions. Provisions are tailored to address the diverse program structures of Non
traditional Small MS4s to allow for an appropriate regulatory approach. 

28. There are variable levels of resources available to Regulated Small MS4s for public 
outreach and education and water quality monitoring. Recognizing this, the Order gives 
Permittees numerous compliance options in these two program areas. However, all 
Regulated Small MS4s that discharge to ASBS or impaired water bodies4 must conduct 
monitoring as specified 'in Attachment C and Attachment G, respectively. All Regulated 
Small MS4s with a population of 50,000 or more must conduct monitoring specified in 
Sections E.13.d.1. or E.13.d.2. of the Order or as approved by the Executive Officer of 
the applicable Regional Board. Additionally, for the public outreach program, the 
Regional Water Boards may require the Regulated Small MS4s to utilize the approach of 
Community-Based Social Marketing. 

29. Renewal Traditional Small MS4 Permittees shall comply with Section E. Certain 
provisions within Section E contain compliance dates that are past the effective date of 
this Order, in these cases, the Permittee shall implement its existing program until that 
date. 

30. This Order modifies the existing General Permit, Order 2003-0005-DWQ by establishing the 
storm water management program requirements in the Order and defining the minimum 
acceptable elements of the municipal storm water management program. Minimum permit 
requirements are known at the time of permit issuance and not left to be determined later 
through Regional Water Board review and approval of Storm Water Management Plans 
(SWMPs). 

31. The State Water Board recognizes the necessity of a storm water program guidance' 
document specific to each Permittee to provide planning and guidance for each program area 
and to identify responsible implementing parties. Permittees must develop and implement a 
storm water program guidance document and must submit the document during the 
application process. 

32. The State Water Board recognizes that in some instances Renewal Permittees' SWMPs that 
were approved under the prior General Permit, Order 2003-0005-DWQ have incorporated 
BMPs designed to address locality-specific storm water issues and that in some cases these 

4 A waterbody that has been determined under state policy and federal law not meet water quality standards. An impaired water is a 
water that has been listed on the California 303(d) list or has not yet been listed but otherwise meets the criteria for listing. A water is 
a portion of a surface water of the state, including ocean, estuary, lake, river, creek, or wetland. The water currently 
may not be meeting state water quality standards or may be determined to be threatened and have the potential to not meet 
standards in the future. The State of California's 303(d) list can be found at http://www.swrcb.ca.gov/quality.html. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 9 February 5, 2013 



BMPs may, because of locality-specific factors, be more protective of water quality than the 
minimum requirements established by this Order. Renewal Permittees will additionally 
include in the guidance document the following: identification and brief description of each 
BMP and associated measurable goal included in the Permittee's previously approved 
SWMP under the prior General Permit, Order 2003-0005-DWQ, that constitutes a more 
specific local or tailored level of implementation that may be more protective of water quality 
than the minimum requirements of this Order; and identification of whether the Permittee 
proposes to maintain, reduce, or cease implementation for each more protective, locally
tailored BMP. In no instance maya BMP be reduced or ceased if it is required by the 
minimum standards set by this Order. 

33. Minimum measures have been established in this Order to simplify assessment of 
compliance and allow the public to more easily assess each Permittee's compliance. 

34. Each provision establishes the required task description, minimum implementation levels 
(Le., escalating enforcement, reporting requirements for tracking projects, number of 
monitoring sites, etc.), and reporting elements to substantiate that the Permittee meets these 
implementation levels. Regional Water Board staff will be able to evaluate each individual 
Permittee's compliance through Annual Report review and the program evaluation (audit) 
process. 

35. The provisions contained in this Order were derived from two main U.S. EPA documents: 
MS4 Program Evaluation Guide5 and the MS4 Permit Improvement GuideS along with 
interviews and information gathered from a lengthy collaborative stakeholder process. 

36. Consistent with Clean Water Act section 402(p)(3)(B)(iii), this Order requires controls to 
reduce pollutants from the MS4 to the maximum extent practicable (MEP). The MEP 
standard requires Permittees to apply Best Management Practices (BMPs) that are effective 
in reducing or eliminating the discharge of pollutants to the waters of the U.S. MEP 
emphasizes pollutant reduction and source control BMPs to prevent pollutants from entering 
storm water runoff. MEP may require treatment of the storm water runoff if it contains 
pollutants. The MEP standard is an ever-evolving, flexible, and advancing concept, which 
considers technical and economic feasibility. BMP development is a dynamic process and 
may require changes over time as the Permittees gain experience and/or the state of the 
science and art progresses. To do this, the Permittees must conduct and document 
evaluation and assessment of each relevant element of its program, and their program as a 
whole, and revise activities, control measures/BMPs, and measurable goals, as necessary to 
meet MEP. MEP is the cumUlative result of implementing, evaluating, and creating 
corresponding changes to a variety of technically appropriate and economically feasible 
BMPs, ensuring that the most appropriate BMPs are implemented in the most effective 
manner. 

37. The. Order's Receiving Water Limitations language is consistent with State Water Board 
Order WQ 99-05 (Orange County) adopted by the State Water Board on June 17, 1999. 
Receiving Water Limitations apply to all Permittees subject to this Order. The State Water 
Board held a workshop on November 20,2012, to hear comments on the receiving water 
limitations provisions in MS4 permits. This Order has a reopener clause that will allow the 
State Water Board to reopen the Order if the Board directs changes to the Receiving Water 
Limitations language based on comments received. 

38. Non-storm water discharges consist of all discharges from an MS4 that do not originate from 
precipitation events. This Order effectively prohibits non-storm water discharges through an 

5 Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System (MS4) Program Evaluation Guidance, USEPA, EPA-833-R-07-003, January 1, 2007 
6 MS4 Permit Improvement Guide, USEPA, April 1, 2010 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 10 February 5,2013 

-56-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

BMPs may, because of locality-specific factors, be more protective of water quality than the 
minimum requirements established by this Order. Renewal Permittees will additionally 
include in the guidance document the following: identification and brief description of each 
BMP and associated measurable goal included in the Permittee's previously approved 
SWMP under the prior General Permit, Order 2003-0005-DWQ, that constitutes a more 
specific local or tailored level of implementation that may be more protective of water quality 
than the minimum requirements of this Order; and identification of whether the Permittee 
proposes to maintain, reduce, or cease implementation for each more protective, locally
tailored BMP. In no instance maya BMP be reduced or ceased if it is required by the 
minimum standards set by this Order. 

33. Minimum measures have been established in this Order to simplify assessment of 
compliance and allow the public to more easily assess each Permittee's compliance. 

34. Each provision establishes the required task description, minimum implementation levels 
(Le., escalating enforcement, reporting requirements for tracking projects, number of 
monitoring sites, etc.), and reporting elements to substantiate that the Permittee meets these 
implementation levels. Regional Water Board staff will be able to evaluate each individual 
Permittee's compliance through Annual Report review and the program evaluation (audit) 
process. 

35. The provisions contained in this Order were derived from two main U.S. EPA documents: 
MS4 Program Evaluation Guide5 and the MS4 Permit Improvement GuideS along with 
interviews and information gathered from a lengthy collaborative stakeholder process. 

36. Consistent with Clean Water Act section 402(p)(3)(B)(iii), this Order requires controls to 
reduce pollutants from the MS4 to the maximum extent practicable (MEP). The MEP 
standard requires Permittees to apply Best Management Practices (BMPs) that are effective 
in reducing or eliminating the discharge of pollutants to the waters of the U.S. MEP 
emphasizes pollutant reduction and source control BMPs to prevent pollutants from entering 
storm water runoff. MEP may require treatment of the storm water runoff if it contains 
pollutants. The MEP standard is an ever-evolving, flexible, and advancing concept, which 
considers technical and economic feasibility. BMP development is a dynamic process and 
may require changes over time as the Permittees gain experience and/or the state of the 
science and art progresses. To do this, the Permittees must conduct and document 
evaluation and assessment of each relevant element of its program, and their program as a 
whole, and revise activities, control measures/BMPs, and measurable goals, as necessary to 
meet MEP. MEP is the cumUlative result of implementing, evaluating, and creating 
corresponding changes to a variety of technically appropriate and economically feasible 
BMPs, ensuring that the most appropriate BMPs are implemented in the most effective 
manner. 

37. The. Order's Receiving Water Limitations language is consistent with State Water Board 
Order WQ 99-05 (Orange County) adopted by the State Water Board on June 17, 1999. 
Receiving Water Limitations apply to all Permittees subject to this Order. The State Water 
Board held a workshop on November 20,2012, to hear comments on the receiving water 
limitations provisions in MS4 permits. This Order has a reopener clause that will allow the 
State Water Board to reopen the Order if the Board directs changes to the Receiving Water 
Limitations language based on comments received. 

38. Non-storm water discharges consist of all discharges from an MS4 that do not originate from 
precipitation events. This Order effectively prohibits non-storm water discharges through an 

5 Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System (MS4) Program Evaluation Guidance, USEPA, EPA-833-R-07-003, January 1, 2007 
6 MS4 Permit Improvement Guide, USEPA, April 1, 2010 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 10 February 5,2013 



MS4 into waters of the U.S. Certain categories of non-storm water discharges are 
conditionally exempt as specified at 40 Code of Federal Regulations section 
122.26(d)(2)(iv)(B)(1). Non-storm water discharges that are regulated by a separate NPDES 
permit are not subject to the discharge prohibition. Prohibited non-storm water discharges 
include conditionally exempt discharges that are found to be a significant source of pollutants 
to waters of the U.S. 

39. Non-storm water discharges to ASBS are prohibited except as specified in the General 
Exception. Certain enumerated non-storm water discharges are allowed under the General 
Exception if essential for emergency response purposes, structural stability, slope stability, or 
if occur naturally. In addition, an NPDES permitting authority may authorize non-storm water 
discharges to an MS4 with a direct discharge to an ASBS to the extent the NPDES permitting 
authority finds that the discharge does not alter natural ocean water quality in the ASBS. 
This Order allows utility vault discharges to an MS4 with a direct discharge to an ASBS, 
provided the discharge is authorized by the General NPDES Permit for Discharges from 
Utility Vaults and Underground Structures to Surface Water, NPDES No. CAG 990002. The 
State Water Board is in the process of reissuing the General NPDES Permit for Utility Vaults. 
As part of the renewal, the State Water Board will require a study to characterize 
representative utility vault discharges to an MS4 with a direct discharge to an ASBS and will 
impose conditions on such discharges to ensure the discharges do not alter natural ocean 
water quality in the ASBS. Given the limited number and intermittent nature of utility vault 
discharges to MS4s that discharge directly to an ASBS, the State Water Board finds that 
discharges from utility vaults and underground structures to an MS4 with a direct discharge to 
an ASBS are not expected to result in a substantial alteration of natural ocean water quality 
in the ASBS in the interim period while the General NPDES Permit for Discharges from Utility 
Vaults is renewed and the study is completed. Other short-duration, intermittent non-storm 
water discharges related to lUPs (e.g. groundwater dewatering, potable water system 
flushing, hydrotest discharges) are regulated under NPDES permits issued by the Regional 
Water Boards. Although such discharges are not specifically enumerated in the General 
Exception as essential for emergency response purposes, structural stability, or slope 
stability, they may be required to ensure the safety and stability of the utility systems or for 
operations and maintenance and for extending these essential services. For this reason, and 
because the short-duration and intermittent nature of these discharges renders them unlikely 
to result in sUbstantial alteration of natural ocean water quality in the ASBS, this Order 
permits such discharges to a segment of the MS4 with a direct discharge to an ASBS 
provided they are authorized by an NPDES permit issued by the State Water Board or 
relevant Regional Water Board. However, if a Regional Water Board determines a specific 
discharge from a utility vault or underground structure does alter the natural ocean water 
quality in an ASBS, the Regional Water Board may prohibit the discharge as specified in this 
Order. 

40. Total Maximum Daily Loads (TMDL) are numerical calculations of the maximum amount of a 
pollutant that a water body can assimilate and still meet water quality standards. A TMDL is 
the sum of the allowable loads of a single pollutant from all contributing point sources (waste 
load allocations) and non-point sources (load allocations), background contribution, plus a 
margin of safety. Discharges from Small MS4s are point source discharges subject to 
TMDLs. This Order requires Permittees to comply with all applicable TMDLs approved 
pursuant to 40 Code of Federal Regulations section 130.7 that assign a Waste Load 
Allocation to Permittee and that have been identified in Attachment G. The high variance in 
the level of detail and specificity of TMDLs necessitates the development of more specific 
permit requirements in many cases to provide clarity to the Permittees regarding 
responsibilities for compliance. The Regional Water Boards have submitted TMDL-specific 
permit requirements to the State Water Board, for applicable TMDLs, along with statements 
explaining how the requirements are designed to achieve the goals of the TMDLs 
(incorporated into the Fact Sheet). The TMDL-specific permit requirements are summarized 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 11 . February 5, 2013 

-57-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

MS4 into waters of the U.S. Certain categories of non-storm water discharges are 
conditionally exempt as specified at 40 Code of Federal Regulations section 
122.26(d)(2)(iv)(B)(1). Non-storm water discharges that are regulated by a separate NPDES 
permit are not subject to the discharge prohibition. Prohibited non-storm water discharges 
include conditionally exempt discharges that are found to be a significant source of pollutants 
to waters of the U.S. 

39. Non-storm water discharges to ASBS are prohibited except as specified in the General 
Exception. Certain enumerated non-storm water discharges are allowed under the General 
Exception if essential for emergency response purposes, structural stability, slope stability, or 
if occur naturally. In addition, an NPDES permitting authority may authorize non-storm water 
discharges to an MS4 with a direct discharge to an ASBS to the extent the NPDES permitting 
authority finds that the discharge does not alter natural ocean water quality in the ASBS. 
This Order allows utility vault discharges to an MS4 with a direct discharge to an ASBS, 
provided the discharge is authorized by the General NPDES Permit for Discharges from 
Utility Vaults and Underground Structures to Surface Water, NPDES No. CAG 990002. The 
State Water Board is in the process of reissuing the General NPDES Permit for Utility Vaults. 
As part of the renewal, the State Water Board will require a study to characterize 
representative utility vault discharges to an MS4 with a direct discharge to an ASBS and will 
impose conditions on such discharges to ensure the discharges do not alter natural ocean 
water quality in the ASBS. Given the limited number and intermittent nature of utility vault 
discharges to MS4s that discharge directly to an ASBS, the State Water Board finds that 
discharges from utility vaults and underground structures to an MS4 with a direct discharge to 
an ASBS are not expected to result in a substantial alteration of natural ocean water quality 
in the ASBS in the interim period while the General NPDES Permit for Discharges from Utility 
Vaults is renewed and the study is completed. Other short-duration, intermittent non-storm 
water discharges related to lUPs (e.g. groundwater dewatering, potable water system 
flushing, hydrotest discharges) are regulated under NPDES permits issued by the Regional 
Water Boards. Although such discharges are not specifically enumerated in the General 
Exception as essential for emergency response purposes, structural stability, or slope 
stability, they may be required to ensure the safety and stability of the utility systems or for 
operations and maintenance and for extending these essential services. For this reason, and 
because the short-duration and intermittent nature of these discharges renders them unlikely 
to result in sUbstantial alteration of natural ocean water quality in the ASBS, this Order 
permits such discharges to a segment of the MS4 with a direct discharge to an ASBS 
provided they are authorized by an NPDES permit issued by the State Water Board or 
relevant Regional Water Board. However, if a Regional Water Board determines a specific 
discharge from a utility vault or underground structure does alter the natural ocean water 
quality in an ASBS, the Regional Water Board may prohibit the discharge as specified in this 
Order. 

40. Total Maximum Daily Loads (TMDL) are numerical calculations of the maximum amount of a 
pollutant that a water body can assimilate and still meet water quality standards. A TMDL is 
the sum of the allowable loads of a single pollutant from all contributing point sources (waste 
load allocations) and non-point sources (load allocations), background contribution, plus a 
margin of safety. Discharges from Small MS4s are point source discharges subject to 
TMDLs. This Order requires Permittees to comply with all applicable TMDLs approved 
pursuant to 40 Code of Federal Regulations section 130.7 that assign a Waste Load 
Allocation to Permittee and that have been identified in Attachment G. The high variance in 
the level of detail and specificity of TMDLs necessitates the development of more specific 
permit requirements in many cases to provide clarity to the Permittees regarding 
responsibilities for compliance. The Regional Water Boards have submitted TMDL-specific 
permit requirements to the State Water Board, for applicable TMDLs, along with statements 
explaining how the requirements are designed to achieve the goals of the TMDLs 
(incorporated into the Fact Sheet). The TMDL-specific permit requirements are summarized 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 11 . February 5, 2013 



in Attachment G and are an enforceable component of this Order. The Regional Water 
Boards are additionally being directed through this Order to review the TMDL-specific permit 
requirements of Attachment G in consultation with the Permittees and the State Water Board 
staff and propose any revisions to the State Water Board within one year of the effective date 
of this Order. TMDLs applicable to non-traditional dischargers in the region of the Los 
Angeles Regional Water Board are listed in Attachment G without TMDL-specific permit 
requirements. The Los Angeles Water Board is being directed to develop and propose 
TMDL-specific permit requirements for Attachment G in consultation with the Permittees and 
the State Water Board staff within one year of the effective date of this Order. Any such 
revisions will be incorporated into the permit through a reopener. 

41. Degraded watershed processes lead to degraded water quality. To fully protect beneficial 
uses, post-construction runoff retention and hydromodification control criteria for individual 
projects must be derived with a knowledge of dominant watershed processes. Watershed 
management zones will be delineated by the State Board during this permit term. The 
Watershed management zones will be used to identify applicable areas and appropriate 
criteria for runoff retention and hydromodification control to be incorporated into the next 
permit. Regional Water Boards that approve watershed process-based criteria for post
construction during this permit term will be permitted to require Permittees to implement 
these criteria. 

42. The post-construction requirements and design standards contained in this Order are 
consistent with State Water Board Order WQ 2000-11 (Bellflower). 

43. State Water Board, California State Parks and the State Historic Preservation Officer may 
coordinate efforts to manage post-construction projects involving historic sites, structures or 
landscapes that cannot alter their original configuration in order to maintain their historic 
integrity. 

44. Permittees will submit Annual Reports electronically using the State Water Board's Storm 
Water Multi-Application Reporting and Tracking System (SMARTS). The purpose of the 
Annual Report is to evaluate (1) the implementation of Permittees' storm water program; 
(2) the effectiveness of BMPs and Measurable Goals, (3) the Permittee's improvement 
opportunities to achieve MEP, and (4) any supplemental information required by a Regional 
Water Board in accordance with the Regional Water Board's specific requirements. 

45. To apply for General Permit coverage authorizing storm water discharges to surface waters 
pursuant to this Order, the Permittees shall electronically file a Notice of Intent (NOI) using 
SMARTS and mail the appropriate permit fee to the State Water Board. The NOI represents 
the Permittee's commitment to comply with the BMPs specified in this Order to achieve 
compliance with the minimum control measures specified at 40 Code of Federal Regulations 
sections122.34 (b)(1) through (b)(6). 

46. Under 40 Code of Federal Regulations section 122.35, a Separate Implementing Entity (SIE) 
can implement a storm water management program for another entity such as a municipality, 
agency, or special district. The SIE implements parts or all of a storm water program for a 
Permittee. Permittees relying on a SIE to implement their entire program must electronically 
file an NOI using SMARTS and mail appropriate fee to the State Water Board. 

47. Each Permittee is individually responsible for adoption and enforcement of ordinances 
and/or policies, implementation of identified control measures/BMPs needed to prevent 
or reduce pollutants in storm water and operation and maintenance (O&M). 
Enforcement actions concerning this Order will be pursued only against the individual 
Permittee responsible for specific violations of this Order. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 12 February 5, 2013 

-58-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

in Attachment G and are an enforceable component of this Order. The Regional Water 
Boards are additionally being directed through this Order to review the TMDL-specific permit 
requirements of Attachment G in consultation with the Permittees and the State Water Board 
staff and propose any revisions to the State Water Board within one year of the effective date 
of this Order. TMDLs applicable to non-traditional dischargers in the region of the Los 
Angeles Regional Water Board are listed in Attachment G without TMDL-specific permit 
requirements. The Los Angeles Water Board is being directed to develop and propose 
TMDL-specific permit requirements for Attachment G in consultation with the Permittees and 
the State Water Board staff within one year of the effective date of this Order. Any such 
revisions will be incorporated into the permit through a reopener. 

41. Degraded watershed processes lead to degraded water quality. To fully protect beneficial 
uses, post-construction runoff retention and hydromodification control criteria for individual 
projects must be derived with a knowledge of dominant watershed processes. Watershed 
management zones will be delineated by the State Board during this permit term. The 
Watershed management zones will be used to identify applicable areas and appropriate 
criteria for runoff retention and hydromodification control to be incorporated into the next 
permit. Regional Water Boards that approve watershed process-based criteria for post
construction during this permit term will be permitted to require Permittees to implement 
these criteria. 

42. The post-construction requirements and design standards contained in this Order are 
consistent with State Water Board Order WQ 2000-11 (Bellflower). 

43. State Water Board, California State Parks and the State Historic Preservation Officer may 
coordinate efforts to manage post-construction projects involving historic sites, structures or 
landscapes that cannot alter their original configuration in order to maintain their historic 
integrity. 

44. Permittees will submit Annual Reports electronically using the State Water Board's Storm 
Water Multi-Application Reporting and Tracking System (SMARTS). The purpose of the 
Annual Report is to evaluate (1) the implementation of Permittees' storm water program; 
(2) the effectiveness of BMPs and Measurable Goals, (3) the Permittee's improvement 
opportunities to achieve MEP, and (4) any supplemental information required by a Regional 
Water Board in accordance with the Regional Water Board's specific requirements. 

45. To apply for General Permit coverage authorizing storm water discharges to surface waters 
pursuant to this Order, the Permittees shall electronically file a Notice of Intent (NOI) using 
SMARTS and mail the appropriate permit fee to the State Water Board. The NOI represents 
the Permittee's commitment to comply with the BMPs specified in this Order to achieve 
compliance with the minimum control measures specified at 40 Code of Federal Regulations 
sections122.34 (b)(1) through (b)(6). 

46. Under 40 Code of Federal Regulations section 122.35, a Separate Implementing Entity (SIE) 
can implement a storm water management program for another entity such as a municipality, 
agency, or special district. The SIE implements parts or all of a storm water program for a 
Permittee. Permittees relying on a SIE to implement their entire program must electronically 
file an NOI using SMARTS and mail appropriate fee to the State Water Board. 

47. Each Permittee is individually responsible for adoption and enforcement of ordinances 
and/or policies, implementation of identified control measures/BMPs needed to prevent 
or reduce pollutants in storm water and operation and maintenance (O&M). 
Enforcement actions concerning this Order will be pursued only against the individual 
Permittee responsible for specific violations of this Order. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 12 February 5, 2013 



48. In accordance with 40 Code of Federal Regulations section122.28(b)(3), a Regional 
Water Board may issue an individual MS4 NPDES Permit to a Permittee otherwise 
subject to this Order, or adopt an alternative general permit that covers storm water 
discharges regulated by this Order. In accordance with Code of Federal Regulations 
section 122.34(b)(3), a Regulated Small MS4 in the same urbanized area as a medium 
or large MS4 may jointly with the medium or large MS4 seek a modification of the other 
MS4s permit to be added as a limited co-permittee. The applicability of this Order is 
automatically terminated on the effective date of the individual permit or joint permit or 
the date of approval for coverage under the alternative general permit. 

49. Certain BMPs implemented or required by Permittees for urban runoff management may 
create a habitat for vectors (e.g., mosquitoes and rodents) if not properly designed or 
maintained. Close collaboration and cooperation among the Permittees, local vector 
control agencies, Regional Water Board staff, and the California Department of Public 
Health is necessary to identify and implement appropriate vector control measures that 
minimize potential nuisances and public health impacts resulting from vector breeding. 

50. 40 Code of Federal Regulations section 131.12 requires that state water quality 
standards include an anti~degradation policy consistent with the federal policy. The 
State Water Board establishe<!l California's anti-degradation policy in State Water Board 
Resolution No. 68-16. Resolution No. 68-16 incorporates the federal anti-degradation 
policy where the federal policy applies under federal law. Resolution No. 68-16 requires 
that existing quality of waters be maintained unless degradation is justified based on 
specific findings. The Regional Water Board's Water Quality Control Plans (Basin 
Plans) implement, and incorporate by reference, both the State and federal anti
degradation policies. 

51. This action to adopt an NPDES permit is exempt from the provisions of the California 
Environmental Quality Act (Public Resources Code § 21100, et seq.) in accordance with 
Water Code section13389. (County of Los Angeles v. Cal. Water Boards, (2006), 143 
Cal.AppAth 985.) 

52. Following public notice in accordance with State and federal laws and regulations, the 
State Water Board, in a public hearing on August 8, 2012, heard and considered all 
comments. The State Water Board has prepared written responses to all significant 
comments. 

53. The State Water Board has considered the costs of complying with this Order and' 
whether the required BMPs meet the minimum MEP Standard required by federal law. 
Further discussion of cost of compliance is included in the Fact Sheet. 

54. This Order shall serve and become effective as an NPDES permit and the Permitees 
shall comply with all its requirements pursuant to the timeframes identified within the 
permit. 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that operators of Small MS4s subject to this Order shall comply with 
the following: 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 13 February 5,2013 

-59-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

48. In accordance with 40 Code of Federal Regulations section122.28(b)(3), a Regional 
Water Board may issue an individual MS4 NPDES Permit to a Permittee otherwise 
subject to this Order, or adopt an alternative general permit that covers storm water 
discharges regulated by this Order. In accordance with Code of Federal Regulations 
section 122.34(b)(3), a Regulated Small MS4 in the same urbanized area as a medium 
or large MS4 may jointly with the medium or large MS4 seek a modification of the other 
MS4s permit to be added as a limited co-permittee. The applicability of this Order is 
automatically terminated on the effective date of the individual permit or joint permit or 
the date of approval for coverage under the alternative general permit. 

49. Certain BMPs implemented or required by Permittees for urban runoff management may 
create a habitat for vectors (e.g., mosquitoes and rodents) if not properly designed or 
maintained. Close collaboration and cooperation among the Permittees, local vector 
control agencies, Regional Water Board staff, and the California Department of Public 
Health is necessary to identify and implement appropriate vector control measures that 
minimize potential nuisances and public health impacts resulting from vector breeding. 

50. 40 Code of Federal Regulations section 131.12 requires that state water quality 
standards include an anti~degradation policy consistent with the federal policy. The 
State Water Board establishe<!l California's anti-degradation policy in State Water Board 
Resolution No. 68-16. Resolution No. 68-16 incorporates the federal anti-degradation 
policy where the federal policy applies under federal law. Resolution No. 68-16 requires 
that existing quality of waters be maintained unless degradation is justified based on 
specific findings. The Regional Water Board's Water Quality Control Plans (Basin 
Plans) implement, and incorporate by reference, both the State and federal anti
degradation policies. 

51. This action to adopt an NPDES permit is exempt from the provisions of the California 
Environmental Quality Act (Public Resources Code § 21100, et seq.) in accordance with 
Water Code section13389. (County of Los Angeles v. Cal. Water Boards, (2006), 143 
Cal.AppAth 985.) 

52. Following public notice in accordance with State and federal laws and regulations, the 
State Water Board, in a public hearing on August 8, 2012, heard and considered all 
comments. The State Water Board has prepared written responses to all significant 
comments. 

53. The State Water Board has considered the costs of complying with this Order and' 
whether the required BMPs meet the minimum MEP Standard required by federal law. 
Further discussion of cost of compliance is included in the Fact Sheet. 

54. This Order shall serve and become effective as an NPDES permit and the Permitees 
shall comply with all its requirements pursuant to the timeframes identified within the 
permit. 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that operators of Small MS4s subject to this Order shall comply with 
the following: 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 13 February 5,2013 



A. APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS FOR ALL SMALL MS4 PERMITTEES 

Any Small MS4s designated under this Order that chooses to apply for an individual permit or 
request to join the permit of a Phase I Permittee must notify the Regional Water Board of its 
intent to do so by July 1,2013. Census Designated Places (CDPs) listed on Attachment A that 
are located within an existing NPDES permit area are not required to file for separate coverage 
and pay separate fees. 

A.1. Small MS4 Permittees (Except for Department of Defense and Department of 
Corrections and Rehabilitation Permittees) 

a. New Permittees shall electronically file an NO!' via SMARTS and mail the appropriate 
fee to the State Water Board by July 1, 2013. Renewal Permittees shall 
electronically file an NOI via SMARTS and pay the appropriate application fee to the 
State Water Board. Any Renewal Permittees with paid 2013 application fee invoices 
shall receive a prorated refund. If the Permittee is designated as a Regulated Small 
MS4 by a Regional Water Board after adoption of this Order, the Permittee shall file 
the NOI and mail the appropriate fee within six months of the date of designation. 

b. General Permit coverage will be in effect upon receipt of the following: 
1) NOI via SMARTS 
2) Appropriate Fee (in accordance with the most recent fee schedule?) 
3) Permit boundary map delineating permit jurisdiction: At a minimum the map shall 

include the following: 

(a) Phase /I MS4 permit boundary based on 2010 Census data. For cities, the 
permit area boundary is the city boundary. For Counties, permit boundaries 
must include urbanized areas and places identified in Attachment A located 
within their jurisdictions. The boundaries must be proposed in the permit 
boundary map and may be developed in conjunction with the applicable 
Regional Water Board 

(b) City/County Boundaries 
(c) Main Arterial Streets 
(d) Highways 
(e) Waterways 
(f) Phase I MS4 Permit Boundary (if applicable) 

4) Guidance document: The document shall at least include the following: 

New Permittees: 
(a) Overall program planning 
(b) Identifification of all permit requirements and responsible implementing 

parties 

Renewal Permittees: 
(a) Overall program planning 
(b) Identification of all permit requirements and responsible implementing parties 

7 California Code of Regulations. Title 23. Division 3. Chapter 9 Waste Discharge Reports and Requirements. Article 1 Fees. 

Phase" Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 14 February 5, 2013 

-60-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

A. APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS FOR ALL SMALL MS4 PERMITTEES 

Any Small MS4s designated under this Order that chooses to apply for an individual permit or 
request to join the permit of a Phase I Permittee must notify the Regional Water Board of its 
intent to do so by July 1,2013. Census Designated Places (CDPs) listed on Attachment A that 
are located within an existing NPDES permit area are not required to file for separate coverage 
and pay separate fees. 

A.1. Small MS4 Permittees (Except for Department of Defense and Department of 
Corrections and Rehabilitation Permittees) 

a. New Permittees shall electronically file an NO!' via SMARTS and mail the appropriate 
fee to the State Water Board by July 1, 2013. Renewal Permittees shall 
electronically file an NOI via SMARTS and pay the appropriate application fee to the 
State Water Board. Any Renewal Permittees with paid 2013 application fee invoices 
shall receive a prorated refund. If the Permittee is designated as a Regulated Small 
MS4 by a Regional Water Board after adoption of this Order, the Permittee shall file 
the NOI and mail the appropriate fee within six months of the date of designation. 

b. General Permit coverage will be in effect upon receipt of the following: 
1) NOI via SMARTS 
2) Appropriate Fee (in accordance with the most recent fee schedule?) 
3) Permit boundary map delineating permit jurisdiction: At a minimum the map shall 

include the following: 

(a) Phase /I MS4 permit boundary based on 2010 Census data. For cities, the 
permit area boundary is the city boundary. For Counties, permit boundaries 
must include urbanized areas and places identified in Attachment A located 
within their jurisdictions. The boundaries must be proposed in the permit 
boundary map and may be developed in conjunction with the applicable 
Regional Water Board 

(b) City/County Boundaries 
(c) Main Arterial Streets 
(d) Highways 
(e) Waterways 
(f) Phase I MS4 Permit Boundary (if applicable) 

4) Guidance document: The document shall at least include the following: 

New Permittees: 
(a) Overall program planning 
(b) Identifification of all permit requirements and responsible implementing 

parties 

Renewal Permittees: 
(a) Overall program planning 
(b) Identification of all permit requirements and responsible implementing parties 

7 California Code of Regulations. Title 23. Division 3. Chapter 9 Waste Discharge Reports and Requirements. Article 1 Fees. 

Phase" Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 14 February 5, 2013 



(c) Identification and brief description of each BMP and associated measurable 
goal included in the Permittee's most current SWMP that constitutes a more 
specific local or tailored level of implementation that may be more protective 
of water quality than the minimum requirements of this Order. 

(d) Identification of whether the Permittee will maintain, reduce, or cease 
implementation for each more protective, locally-tailored BMP. 

(e) For any more protective, locally-tailored BMP and associated measurable 
goal for which the Renewal Permittee will reduce or cease implementation, 
the Renewal Permittee shall demonstrate to the Executive Officer of the 
relevant Regional Water Board that the reduction or cessation is in 
compliance with this Order and the maximum extent practicable standard, 
and will not result in increased pollutant discharges. The demonstration by 
the Permittee will be subject to public comment before any approval by the 
Executive Officer of reduction or cessation of BMPs In no instance may the 
Renewal Permittee reduce or cease a BMP if it is required by the minimum 
standards set by this Order. 

The guidance document may be in spreadsheet, tabular or narrative format. 

A.2. Department of Defense and Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation Permittees 

a. Permittee shall electronically file an NOI via SMARTS and mail the appropriate fee to 
the State Water Board by July 1, 2013. If the Permittee is designated as a 
Regulated Small MS4 by a Regional Water Board after adoption of this Order, the 
Permittee shall file the NOI and mail the appropriate fee within six months of the date 
of designation. 

b. General Permit coverage will be in effect upon receipt of the following: 
1) NOI via SMARTS 
2) Appropriate fee (in accordance with the most recent fee schedule8

) 

3) Permit boundary map as developed by the Permittee 

Renewal MS4s must continue implementing their current storm water management 
programs until submittal of a NOI via SMARTS. 

A.3. Waiver Certification 

Regulated Small MS4s may seek a waiver from the General Permit requirements if they 
meet criteria specified in 40 C.F.R. §122.32(c)-(e) or additional criteria specified in 
A.3.b.(3) below. 

In order for a Regional Water Board to waive requirements for a Regulated Small MS4, 
(1) the Regulated Small MS4 must certify that its discharges do not cause or contribute 
to, or have the potential to cause or contribute to, a water quality impairment, and (2) 
the Regulated Small MS4 must meet one of the waiver options in Section b below: 

a. Waiver Certification Application Requirements - A Waiver Certification will only be in 
effect upon completion of the following: 

8 California Code of Regulations. Title 23. Division 3. Chapter 9 Waste Discharge Reports and Requirements. Article 1 Fees. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 15 February 5, 2013 

-61-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

(c) Identification and brief description of each BMP and associated measurable 
goal included in the Permittee's most current SWMP that constitutes a more 
specific local or tailored level of implementation that may be more protective 
of water quality than the minimum requirements of this Order. 

(d) Identification of whether the Permittee will maintain, reduce, or cease 
implementation for each more protective, locally-tailored BMP. 

(e) For any more protective, locally-tailored BMP and associated measurable 
goal for which the Renewal Permittee will reduce or cease implementation, 
the Renewal Permittee shall demonstrate to the Executive Officer of the 
relevant Regional Water Board that the reduction or cessation is in 
compliance with this Order and the maximum extent practicable standard, 
and will not result in increased pollutant discharges. The demonstration by 
the Permittee will be subject to public comment before any approval by the 
Executive Officer of reduction or cessation of BMPs In no instance may the 
Renewal Permittee reduce or cease a BMP if it is required by the minimum 
standards set by this Order. 

The guidance document may be in spreadsheet, tabular or narrative format. 

A.2. Department of Defense and Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation Permittees 

a. Permittee shall electronically file an NOI via SMARTS and mail the appropriate fee to 
the State Water Board by July 1, 2013. If the Permittee is designated as a 
Regulated Small MS4 by a Regional Water Board after adoption of this Order, the 
Permittee shall file the NOI and mail the appropriate fee within six months of the date 
of designation. 

b. General Permit coverage will be in effect upon receipt of the following: 
1) NOI via SMARTS 
2) Appropriate fee (in accordance with the most recent fee schedule8

) 

3) Permit boundary map as developed by the Permittee 

Renewal MS4s must continue implementing their current storm water management 
programs until submittal of a NOI via SMARTS. 

A.3. Waiver Certification 

Regulated Small MS4s may seek a waiver from the General Permit requirements if they 
meet criteria specified in 40 C.F.R. §122.32(c)-(e) or additional criteria specified in 
A.3.b.(3) below. 

In order for a Regional Water Board to waive requirements for a Regulated Small MS4, 
(1) the Regulated Small MS4 must certify that its discharges do not cause or contribute 
to, or have the potential to cause or contribute to, a water quality impairment, and (2) 
the Regulated Small MS4 must meet one of the waiver options in Section b below: 

a. Waiver Certification Application Requirements - A Waiver Certification will only be in 
effect upon completion of the following: 

8 California Code of Regulations. Title 23. Division 3. Chapter 9 Waste Discharge Reports and Requirements. Article 1 Fees. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 15 February 5, 2013 



1) Annual Waiver Certification submitted via SMARTS. 
2) Annual Waiver Certification renewal fee of $200 plus any applicable surcharge. 
3) Letter via SMARTS from Regional Water Board or its Executive Officer waiving 

requirements. 

Requirements are automatically waived if the Regional Water Board does not respond 
within six months. 

b. Waiver Criteria 
(1) Option 1 

(a) The jurisdiction served by the system is less than 1,000 people; 
(b) The system is not contributing substantially (as defined in Finding 25) to the 

pollutant loadings of a physically interconnected regulated MS4; and 
(c) If the small MS4 discharges any pollutants identified as a cause of impairment 

of any water body to which it discharges, storm water controls are not needed 
based on WLAs that are part of a U.S.EPA approved or established TMDL 
that addresses the pollutant(s) of concern. 

(2) Option 2 

(a) The jurisdiction served by the system is less than 10,000 people; 
(b) The Regional Water Board has evaluated all waters of the U.S. that receive a 

discharge from the system; 
(c) The Regional Water Board has determined that storm water BMPs are not 

needed based on WLAs that are part of a U.S. EPA approved or established 
TMDL that addresses the pollutant(s) of concern or an equivalent analysis; 
and 

(d) The Regional Water Board has determined that future discharges from the 
Regulated Small MS4 do not have the potential to result in exceedances of 
water quality standards. 

(3) Option 3 (applicable to Small MS4s outside an Urbanized Area only) 

Small Disadvantaged Community - The Regulated Small MS4 certifies that it is a 
community with a population of 20,000 or less with an annual median household 
income (MHI) that is less than 80 percent of the statewide annual MHI. (Wat. 
Code, § 79505.5 , subd.(a)). 

If the Waiver Certification Application Requirements or conditions of any waiver option 
are not met by the Regulated Small MS4, then the Regulated Small MS4 must submit a. 
NOI via SMARTS and appropriate fee for coverage under this General Permit or apply 
for an individual NPDES permit. 

The State Water Board or a Regional Water Board can, at any time, require a 
previously waived Regulated Small MS4 to comply with this General Permit or an 
individual NPDES permit if circumstances change so that the conditions of the waiver 
are no longer met. Changed circumstances can also allow a Regulated Small MS4 to 
request a waiver at any time. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 16 February 5, 2013 

-62-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

1) Annual Waiver Certification submitted via SMARTS. 
2) Annual Waiver Certification renewal fee of $200 plus any applicable surcharge. 
3) Letter via SMARTS from Regional Water Board or its Executive Officer waiving 

requirements. 

Requirements are automatically waived if the Regional Water Board does not respond 
within six months. 

b. Waiver Criteria 
(1) Option 1 

(a) The jurisdiction served by the system is less than 1,000 people; 
(b) The system is not contributing substantially (as defined in Finding 25) to the 

pollutant loadings of a physically interconnected regulated MS4; and 
(c) If the small MS4 discharges any pollutants identified as a cause of impairment 

of any water body to which it discharges, storm water controls are not needed 
based on WLAs that are part of a U.S.EPA approved or established TMDL 
that addresses the pollutant(s) of concern. 

(2) Option 2 

(a) The jurisdiction served by the system is less than 10,000 people; 
(b) The Regional Water Board has evaluated all waters of the U.S. that receive a 

discharge from the system; 
(c) The Regional Water Board has determined that storm water BMPs are not 

needed based on WLAs that are part of a U.S. EPA approved or established 
TMDL that addresses the pollutant(s) of concern or an equivalent analysis; 
and 

(d) The Regional Water Board has determined that future discharges from the 
Regulated Small MS4 do not have the potential to result in exceedances of 
water quality standards. 

(3) Option 3 (applicable to Small MS4s outside an Urbanized Area only) 

Small Disadvantaged Community - The Regulated Small MS4 certifies that it is a 
community with a population of 20,000 or less with an annual median household 
income (MHI) that is less than 80 percent of the statewide annual MHI. (Wat. 
Code, § 79505.5 , subd.(a)). 

If the Waiver Certification Application Requirements or conditions of any waiver option 
are not met by the Regulated Small MS4, then the Regulated Small MS4 must submit a. 
NOI via SMARTS and appropriate fee for coverage under this General Permit or apply 
for an individual NPDES permit. 

The State Water Board or a Regional Water Board can, at any time, require a 
previously waived Regulated Small MS4 to comply with this General Permit or an 
individual NPDES permit if circumstances change so that the conditions of the waiver 
are no longer met. Changed circumstances can also allow a Regulated Small MS4 to 
request a waiver at any time. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 16 February 5, 2013 



B. DISCHARGE PROHIBITIONS 

1. Discharges of waste from the MS4 that are prohibited by Statewide Water Quality 
Control Plans or applicable Regional Water Quality Control Plans (Basin Plans) are 
prohibited. 

2. Discharges of storm water from the MS4 to waters of the U.S. in a manner causing or 
threatening to cause a condition of pollution or nuisance as defined in Water Code § 
13050 are prohibited. 

3. Discharges through the MS40f material other than storm water to waters of the U.S. 
shall be effectively prohibited, except as allowed under this Provision or as otherwise 
authorized by a separate NPDES permit. The following non-storm water discharges are 
not prohibited provided any pollutant discharges are identified and appropriate control 
measures to minimize the impacts of such discharges, are developed and implemented 
under the Permittee's storm water program. This provision does not obviate the need to 
obtain any other appropriate permits for such discharges. 

a. water line flushing; 
b. individual residential car washing; 
c. diverted stream flows; 
d. rising ground waters; 
e. uncontaminated ground water infiltration (as defined at 40 C.F.R. §35.2005(20» 

to separate storm sewers; 
f. uncontaminated pumped ground water; 
g. discharges from potable water sources; 
h. foundation drains; 
i. air conditioning condensation; 
j. springs; 
k. water from crawl space pumps; 
I. footing drains; 
m. flows from riparian habitats and wetlands; 
n. dechlorinated swimming pool discharges; and 
o. incidental runoff from landscaped areas(as defined and in accordance with 

Section B.4 of this Order). 

Discharges or flows from fire-fighting activities are excluded from the effective prohibition 
against non-storm water and need only be addressed where they are identified as 
significant sources of pollutants to waters of the U.S. 

If a Permittee or a Regional Water Board Executive Officer determines that any 
individual or class of non-storm water discharge(s) listed above may be a significant 
source of pollutants to waters of the U.S. or physically interconnected MS4, or poses a 
threat to water quality standards (beneficial uses), the Regional Water Board Executive 
Officer may require the appropriate Permittee to monitor and submit a report and to 
implement BMPs on the discharge. 

4. Discharges in excess of an amount deemed to be incidental runoff shall be controlled. 
Regulated Small MS4s shall require parties responsible for such to implement Sections 
B.4.a-d below. Incidental runoff is defined as unintended amounts (volume) of runoff, 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 17 February 5, 2013 

-63-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

B. DISCHARGE PROHIBITIONS 

1. Discharges of waste from the MS4 that are prohibited by Statewide Water Quality 
Control Plans or applicable Regional Water Quality Control Plans (Basin Plans) are 
prohibited. 

2. Discharges of storm water from the MS4 to waters of the U.S. in a manner causing or 
threatening to cause a condition of pollution or nuisance as defined in Water Code § 
13050 are prohibited. 

3. Discharges through the MS40f material other than storm water to waters of the U.S. 
shall be effectively prohibited, except as allowed under this Provision or as otherwise 
authorized by a separate NPDES permit. The following non-storm water discharges are 
not prohibited provided any pollutant discharges are identified and appropriate control 
measures to minimize the impacts of such discharges, are developed and implemented 
under the Permittee's storm water program. This provision does not obviate the need to 
obtain any other appropriate permits for such discharges. 

a. water line flushing; 
b. individual residential car washing; 
c. diverted stream flows; 
d. rising ground waters; 
e. uncontaminated ground water infiltration (as defined at 40 C.F.R. §35.2005(20» 

to separate storm sewers; 
f. uncontaminated pumped ground water; 
g. discharges from potable water sources; 
h. foundation drains; 
i. air conditioning condensation; 
j. springs; 
k. water from crawl space pumps; 
I. footing drains; 
m. flows from riparian habitats and wetlands; 
n. dechlorinated swimming pool discharges; and 
o. incidental runoff from landscaped areas(as defined and in accordance with 

Section B.4 of this Order). 

Discharges or flows from fire-fighting activities are excluded from the effective prohibition 
against non-storm water and need only be addressed where they are identified as 
significant sources of pollutants to waters of the U.S. 

If a Permittee or a Regional Water Board Executive Officer determines that any 
individual or class of non-storm water discharge(s) listed above may be a significant 
source of pollutants to waters of the U.S. or physically interconnected MS4, or poses a 
threat to water quality standards (beneficial uses), the Regional Water Board Executive 
Officer may require the appropriate Permittee to monitor and submit a report and to 
implement BMPs on the discharge. 

4. Discharges in excess of an amount deemed to be incidental runoff shall be controlled. 
Regulated Small MS4s shall require parties responsible for such to implement Sections 
B.4.a-d below. Incidental runoff is defined as unintended amounts (volume) of runoff, 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 17 February 5, 2013 



such as unintended, minimal over-spray from sprinklers that escapes the area of 
intended use. Water leaving an intended use area is not considered incidental if it is part 
of the facility design, if it is due to excessive application, if it is due to intentional overflow 
or application, or if it is due to negligence. 

Parties responsible for controlling runoff in excess of incidental runoff shall: 

a. Detect leaks (for example, from broken sprinkler heads) and correct the leaks within 
72 hours of learning of the leak; 

b. Properly design and aim sprinkler heads; 

c. Not irrigate during precipitation events; and 

d. Manage pond containing recycled water such that no discharge occurs unless the 
discharge is a result of a 25-year, 24-hour storm event or greater, and the 
appropriate Regional Water Board is notified by email no later than 24 hours after 
the discharge. The notification is to include identifying information, including the 
Permittee's name and permit identification number. 

Non-storm water runoff discharge that is not incidental is prohibited, unless otherwise 
specified in Section B.3 above. 

Incidental runoff may be regulated by waste discharge requirements or, where 
necessary, waste discharge requirements that serve as a NPDES permit, including MS4 
permits. 

5. Discharge to Areas of Special Biological Significance (ASBS) is prohibited except in 
compliance with the ASBS Special Protection Provisions in Attachment C. Regulated 
Small MS4s that discharge to an ASBS are listed in Attachment D and are subject to the 
ASBS Special Protection Provisions. 

C. EFFLUENT LIMITATIONS 

1. Permittees shall implement controls as required by this Order to reduce the discharge of 
pollutants from their MS4s to waters of the U. S. to the MEP. Permittees shall 
additionally reduce the discharge of pollutants (1) to achieve TMDL waste load 
allocations (WLAs) established for discharges by the MS4s and (2) to comply with the 
Special Protections for discharges to ASBS. 

2. Storm water discharges regulated by this Order shall not contain a hazardous substance 
in amounts equal to or in excess of a reportable quantity listed in 40 C.F.R. Part 117 or 
40 C.F.R. Part 302. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 18 February 5, 2013 

-64-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

such as unintended, minimal over-spray from sprinklers that escapes the area of 
intended use. Water leaving an intended use area is not considered incidental if it is part 
of the facility design, if it is due to excessive application, if it is due to intentional overflow 
or application, or if it is due to negligence. 

Parties responsible for controlling runoff in excess of incidental runoff shall: 

a. Detect leaks (for example, from broken sprinkler heads) and correct the leaks within 
72 hours of learning of the leak; 

b. Properly design and aim sprinkler heads; 

c. Not irrigate during precipitation events; and 

d. Manage pond containing recycled water such that no discharge occurs unless the 
discharge is a result of a 25-year, 24-hour storm event or greater, and the 
appropriate Regional Water Board is notified by email no later than 24 hours after 
the discharge. The notification is to include identifying information, including the 
Permittee's name and permit identification number. 

Non-storm water runoff discharge that is not incidental is prohibited, unless otherwise 
specified in Section B.3 above. 

Incidental runoff may be regulated by waste discharge requirements or, where 
necessary, waste discharge requirements that serve as a NPDES permit, including MS4 
permits. 

5. Discharge to Areas of Special Biological Significance (ASBS) is prohibited except in 
compliance with the ASBS Special Protection Provisions in Attachment C. Regulated 
Small MS4s that discharge to an ASBS are listed in Attachment D and are subject to the 
ASBS Special Protection Provisions. 

C. EFFLUENT LIMITATIONS 

1. Permittees shall implement controls as required by this Order to reduce the discharge of 
pollutants from their MS4s to waters of the U. S. to the MEP. Permittees shall 
additionally reduce the discharge of pollutants (1) to achieve TMDL waste load 
allocations (WLAs) established for discharges by the MS4s and (2) to comply with the 
Special Protections for discharges to ASBS. 

2. Storm water discharges regulated by this Order shall not contain a hazardous substance 
in amounts equal to or in excess of a reportable quantity listed in 40 C.F.R. Part 117 or 
40 C.F.R. Part 302. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 18 February 5, 2013 



D. RECEIVING WATER LIMITATIONS 

Discharges shall not cause or contribute to an exceedance of water quality standards 
contained in a Statewide Water Quality Control Plan, the California Toxics Rule (CTR), or in 
the applicable Regional Water Board Basin Plan. 

The Permittee shall comply with Receiving Water Limitations through timely implementation 
of control measures/BMPs and other actions to reduce pollutants in the discharges and 
other requirements of this Order including any modifications. The storm water program shall 
be designed to achieve compliance with Receiving Water Limitations. If exceedance(s) of 
water quality objectives or water quality standards persist notwithstanding implementation of 
other storm water program requirements of this Order, the Permittee shall assure 
compliance with Receiving Water Limitations by complying with the following procedure: 

1. Upon a determination by either the Permittee or the Regional Water Board that MS4 
discharges are causing or contributing to an exceedance of an applicable water quality 
standard, the Permittee shall promptly notify and thereafter submit a report to the 
Regional Water Board that describes BMPs that are currently being implemented and 
additional BMPs that will be implemented to prevent or reduce any pollutants that are 
causing or contributing to the exceedance of water quality standards. The report shall 
include an implementation schedule. The Regional Board may require modifications to 
the report; 

2. Submit any modifications to the report required by the Regional Water Board within 
30 days of notification; 

3. Implement the actions specified in the report in accordance with the approved schedule; 

4. So long as the Permittee has complied with the procedure set forth above and is 
implementing the actions, the Permittee does not have to repeat the same procedure for 
continuing or recurring exceedances of the same receiving water limitations unless 
directed by the State Water Board or the Regional Water Board to develop additional 
BMPs. 

E. PROVISIONS FOR ALL TRADITIONAL SMALL MS4 PERMITTEES 

E.1. RENEWAL TRADITIONAL SMALL MS4 PERMITTEES 

All Renewal Traditional Small MS4s Permittees shall comply with this Section. Where the 
requirements of a certain subsection provide a compliance date that is past the effective 
date of this Order, the Renewal Traditional Small MS4 shall implement its existing program 
until that date. 

E.2. NEW TRADITIONAL SMALL MS4 PERMITTEES 

New Traditional Small MS4s shall comply with this Section. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 19 February 5, 2013 

-65-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

D. RECEIVING WATER LIMITATIONS 

Discharges shall not cause or contribute to an exceedance of water quality standards 
contained in a Statewide Water Quality Control Plan, the California Toxics Rule (CTR), or in 
the applicable Regional Water Board Basin Plan. 

The Permittee shall comply with Receiving Water Limitations through timely implementation 
of control measures/BMPs and other actions to reduce pollutants in the discharges and 
other requirements of this Order including any modifications. The storm water program shall 
be designed to achieve compliance with Receiving Water Limitations. If exceedance(s) of 
water quality objectives or water quality standards persist notwithstanding implementation of 
other storm water program requirements of this Order, the Permittee shall assure 
compliance with Receiving Water Limitations by complying with the following procedure: 

1. Upon a determination by either the Permittee or the Regional Water Board that MS4 
discharges are causing or contributing to an exceedance of an applicable water quality 
standard, the Permittee shall promptly notify and thereafter submit a report to the 
Regional Water Board that describes BMPs that are currently being implemented and 
additional BMPs that will be implemented to prevent or reduce any pollutants that are 
causing or contributing to the exceedance of water quality standards. The report shall 
include an implementation schedule. The Regional Board may require modifications to 
the report; 

2. Submit any modifications to the report required by the Regional Water Board within 
30 days of notification; 

3. Implement the actions specified in the report in accordance with the approved schedule; 

4. So long as the Permittee has complied with the procedure set forth above and is 
implementing the actions, the Permittee does not have to repeat the same procedure for 
continuing or recurring exceedances of the same receiving water limitations unless 
directed by the State Water Board or the Regional Water Board to develop additional 
BMPs. 

E. PROVISIONS FOR ALL TRADITIONAL SMALL MS4 PERMITTEES 

E.1. RENEWAL TRADITIONAL SMALL MS4 PERMITTEES 

All Renewal Traditional Small MS4s Permittees shall comply with this Section. Where the 
requirements of a certain subsection provide a compliance date that is past the effective 
date of this Order, the Renewal Traditional Small MS4 shall implement its existing program 
until that date. 

E.2. NEW TRADITIONAL SMALL MS4 PERMITTEES 

New Traditional Small MS4s shall comply with this Section. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 19 February 5, 2013 



E.3. NON-TRADITIONAL SMALL MS4S PERMITTEES 

E.3.a. All Renewal Non-Traditional Small MS4 Permittees shall comply with Section F of 
this Order. Where the requirements of a certain subsection provide a compliance 
date that is past the effective date of this Order, the Renewal Non-Traditional Small 
MS4 shall implement its existing program until that date. 

E.3.b. New Non-Traditional Small MS4s Permittees shall comply with Section F of this 
Order. 

E.4. SMALL MS4 ASBS PERMITTEES 

Both Traditional and Non-traditional Small MS4s Permittees that discharge to ASBS as 
listed on Attachment D shall comply with Attachment C in addition to all other applicable 
provisions of this Order. 

E.5. SEPARATE IMPLEMENTING ENTITY (SIE) 

Permittees, both Traditional and Non-traditional Small MS4s, may rely on a SIE to satisfy 
one or more of the permit obligations, if the SI E can appropriately and adequately address 
the storm water issues of the Permittee. The SIE must agree to implement the BMPs, or 
components thereof, to achieve compliance with this Order. If the SIE fails to implement 
the BMPs, the Permittee remains responsible for compliance with this Order. 

E.G. PROGRAM MANAGEMENT ELEMENT 

To effectively implement a coordinated storm water program, the Permittee shall have an 
overarching Program Management element in its storm water management program. The 
Program Management element shall include the following: 

E.G.a. Legal Authority 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall review and revise relevant ordinances or other regulatory 
mechanisms, or adopt any new ordinances or other regulatory mechanisms, to 
obtain adequate legal authority, to the extent allowable under state or local law, to 
control pollutant discharges into and from, as applicable, its MS4, and to meet the 
requirements of this Order. 

(ii) Implementation Level -At a minimum, the Permittee shall have adequate legal 
authority to: 

(a) Effectively prohibit non-storm water discharges through the MS4. Exceptions to 
this prohibition are NPDES-permitted discharges of non-storm water and non
storm water discharges in B.3 that are considered non-significant contributors of 
pollutants. Where the non-storm water discharge is to a segment of an MS4 that 
discharges directly to an ASBS, exceptions to the non-storm water prohibition are 
specified in Attachment C. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 20 February 5, 2013 

-66-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

E.3. NON-TRADITIONAL SMALL MS4S PERMITTEES 

E.3.a. All Renewal Non-Traditional Small MS4 Permittees shall comply with Section F of 
this Order. Where the requirements of a certain subsection provide a compliance 
date that is past the effective date of this Order, the Renewal Non-Traditional Small 
MS4 shall implement its existing program until that date. 

E.3.b. New Non-Traditional Small MS4s Permittees shall comply with Section F of this 
Order. 

E.4. SMALL MS4 ASBS PERMITTEES 

Both Traditional and Non-traditional Small MS4s Permittees that discharge to ASBS as 
listed on Attachment D shall comply with Attachment C in addition to all other applicable 
provisions of this Order. 

E.5. SEPARATE IMPLEMENTING ENTITY (SIE) 

Permittees, both Traditional and Non-traditional Small MS4s, may rely on a SIE to satisfy 
one or more of the permit obligations, if the SI E can appropriately and adequately address 
the storm water issues of the Permittee. The SIE must agree to implement the BMPs, or 
components thereof, to achieve compliance with this Order. If the SIE fails to implement 
the BMPs, the Permittee remains responsible for compliance with this Order. 

E.G. PROGRAM MANAGEMENT ELEMENT 

To effectively implement a coordinated storm water program, the Permittee shall have an 
overarching Program Management element in its storm water management program. The 
Program Management element shall include the following: 

E.G.a. Legal Authority 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall review and revise relevant ordinances or other regulatory 
mechanisms, or adopt any new ordinances or other regulatory mechanisms, to 
obtain adequate legal authority, to the extent allowable under state or local law, to 
control pollutant discharges into and from, as applicable, its MS4, and to meet the 
requirements of this Order. 

(ii) Implementation Level -At a minimum, the Permittee shall have adequate legal 
authority to: 

(a) Effectively prohibit non-storm water discharges through the MS4. Exceptions to 
this prohibition are NPDES-permitted discharges of non-storm water and non
storm water discharges in B.3 that are considered non-significant contributors of 
pollutants. Where the non-storm water discharge is to a segment of an MS4 that 
discharges directly to an ASBS, exceptions to the non-storm water prohibition are 
specified in Attachment C. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 20 February 5, 2013 



(b) Detect and eliminate illicit discharges and illegal connections to the MS4. Illicit 
connections include pipes, drains, open channels, or other conveyances that 
have the potential to allow an illicit discharge to enter the MS4. Illicit discharges 
include all non-storm water discharges not otherwise authorized in this Order, 
including discharges from organized car washes, mobile cleaning and pressure 
wash operations, 

(c) Respond to the discharge of spills, and prohibit dumping or disposal of materials 
other than storm water into the MS4. 

(d) Require parties responsible for runoff in excess of incidental runoff to implement 
Discharge Prohibition B.4.a-e. 

(e) Require operators of construction sites, new or redeveloped land; and industrial 
and commercial facilities to minimize the discharge of pollutants to the MS4 
through the installation, implementation, or maintenance of BMPs consistent with 
the California Storm Water Quality Association (CASQA) Best Management 
Practice Handbooks or equivalent. 

(f) Require information deemed necessary to assess compliance with this Order. 
The Permittee shall only require information in compliance with the Homeland 
Security Act or any other federal law that concerns security in the United States. 
The Permittee shall also have the authority to review designs and proposals for 
new development and redevelopment to determine whether adequate BMPs will 
be installed, implemented, and maintained during construction and after final 
stabilization (post-construction). 

(g) Enter private property for the purpose of inspecting, at reasonable times, any 
facilities, equipment, practices, or operations for active or potential storm water 
discharges, or non-compliance with local ordinances/standards or requirements 
in this Order, as consistent with any applicable state and federal laws. 

(h) Require that dischargers promptly cease and desist discharging and/or cleanup 
and abate a discharge, including the ability to: 

1) Effectively require the discharger to abate and clean up their discharge, spill, or 
pollutant release within 72 hours of notification; high risk spill should be 
cleaned up as soon as possible. 

2) Require abatement within 30 days of notification, for uncontrolled sources of 
pollutants that could pose an environmental threat; 

3) Perform the clean-up and abatement work and bill the responsible party, if 
necessary; 

4) Provide the option to order the cessation of activities until such problems are 
adequately addressed if a situation persists where pollutant-causing sources 
or activities are not abated; 

5) Require a new timeframe and notify the appropriate Regional Water Board 
when all parties agree that clean-up activities cannot be completed within the 
original timeframe and notify the appropriate Regional Water Board in writing 
within five business days of the determination that the timeframe requires 
revision. 

(i) When warranted, have the ability to: 

1) Levy citations or administrative fines against responsible parties either 
immediately at the site, or within a few days. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 21 February 5, 2013 

-67-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

(b) Detect and eliminate illicit discharges and illegal connections to the MS4. Illicit 
connections include pipes, drains, open channels, or other conveyances that 
have the potential to allow an illicit discharge to enter the MS4. Illicit discharges 
include all non-storm water discharges not otherwise authorized in this Order, 
including discharges from organized car washes, mobile cleaning and pressure 
wash operations, 

(c) Respond to the discharge of spills, and prohibit dumping or disposal of materials 
other than storm water into the MS4. 

(d) Require parties responsible for runoff in excess of incidental runoff to implement 
Discharge Prohibition B.4.a-e. 

(e) Require operators of construction sites, new or redeveloped land; and industrial 
and commercial facilities to minimize the discharge of pollutants to the MS4 
through the installation, implementation, or maintenance of BMPs consistent with 
the California Storm Water Quality Association (CASQA) Best Management 
Practice Handbooks or equivalent. 

(f) Require information deemed necessary to assess compliance with this Order. 
The Permittee shall only require information in compliance with the Homeland 
Security Act or any other federal law that concerns security in the United States. 
The Permittee shall also have the authority to review designs and proposals for 
new development and redevelopment to determine whether adequate BMPs will 
be installed, implemented, and maintained during construction and after final 
stabilization (post-construction). 

(g) Enter private property for the purpose of inspecting, at reasonable times, any 
facilities, equipment, practices, or operations for active or potential storm water 
discharges, or non-compliance with local ordinances/standards or requirements 
in this Order, as consistent with any applicable state and federal laws. 

(h) Require that dischargers promptly cease and desist discharging and/or cleanup 
and abate a discharge, including the ability to: 

1) Effectively require the discharger to abate and clean up their discharge, spill, or 
pollutant release within 72 hours of notification; high risk spill should be 
cleaned up as soon as possible. 

2) Require abatement within 30 days of notification, for uncontrolled sources of 
pollutants that could pose an environmental threat; 

3) Perform the clean-up and abatement work and bill the responsible party, if 
necessary; 

4) Provide the option to order the cessation of activities until such problems are 
adequately addressed if a situation persists where pollutant-causing sources 
or activities are not abated; 

5) Require a new timeframe and notify the appropriate Regional Water Board 
when all parties agree that clean-up activities cannot be completed within the 
original timeframe and notify the appropriate Regional Water Board in writing 
within five business days of the determination that the timeframe requires 
revision. 

(i) When warranted, have the ability to: 

1) Levy citations or administrative fines against responsible parties either 
immediately at the site, or within a few days. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 21 February 5, 2013 



2) Require recovery and remediation costs from responsible parties. 

(j) Impose more substantial civil or criminal sanctions (including referral to a city or 
district attorney) and escalate corrective response, consistent with its 
Enforcement Response Plan developed pursuant to Section E.6.c., for persistent 
non-compliance, repeat or escalating violations, or incidents of major 
environmental harm. 

E.G.b. Certification 

0) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall certify by its Principal Executive Officer, Ranking Elected Official, or 
Duly Authorized Representative as described in 40 Code of Federal Regulations 
section 122.22(b) that the Permittee has and will maintain full legal authority to 
implement and enforce each of the requirements contained in this Order. 

(ii) Implementation Level- The Permittee's certification statement shall include the 
following: 

(a) Identification of all depa'rtments within the Permittee's jurisdiction that conduct 
storm water-related activities and their roles and responsibilities under this Order. 

(b) Citation of storm water runoff related ordinances, identification of the topics each 
ordinance addresses; 

(c) Identification of the local administrative and legal procedures and ordinances 
available to mandate compliance with storm water-related ordinances and 
therefore with the conditions of this Order. 

(d) A description of how storm water related-ordinances are reviewed and 
implemented. 

(e) A statement that the municipality will implement enforcement actions consistent 
with its Enforcement Response Plan developed pursuant to Section E.6.c. 

(iii) Reporting - All Permittees shall submit in the second year online Annual Report, a 
statement signed by an authorized signatory certifying the Permittee has adequate 
legal authority to comply with all Order requirements. 

E.G.c. Enforcement Measures and Tracking 

(i) Task Description - Within the third year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall develop and implement an Enforcement Response Plan. The 
Enforcement Response Plan shall contain enforcement procedures and actions and 
identify the Permittee's responses to violations and describe how the Permittee will 
address repeat and continuing violations by implementing progressively stricter 
responses as needed to achieve compliance. 

(ii) Implementation Level - The Enforcement Response Plan shall describe how the 
Permittee will use each of the following types of enforcement responses based on 
the type of violation: 

(a) Verbal Warnings - Verbal warnings are primarily consultative in nature. At a 
,minimum, verbal warnings shall specify the nature of the violation and required 
corrective action. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 22 February 5, 2013 

-68-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

2) Require recovery and remediation costs from responsible parties. 

(j) Impose more substantial civil or criminal sanctions (including referral to a city or 
district attorney) and escalate corrective response, consistent with its 
Enforcement Response Plan developed pursuant to Section E.6.c., for persistent 
non-compliance, repeat or escalating violations, or incidents of major 
environmental harm. 

E.G.b. Certification 

0) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall certify by its Principal Executive Officer, Ranking Elected Official, or 
Duly Authorized Representative as described in 40 Code of Federal Regulations 
section 122.22(b) that the Permittee has and will maintain full legal authority to 
implement and enforce each of the requirements contained in this Order. 

(ii) Implementation Level- The Permittee's certification statement shall include the 
following: 

(a) Identification of all depa'rtments within the Permittee's jurisdiction that conduct 
storm water-related activities and their roles and responsibilities under this Order. 

(b) Citation of storm water runoff related ordinances, identification of the topics each 
ordinance addresses; 

(c) Identification of the local administrative and legal procedures and ordinances 
available to mandate compliance with storm water-related ordinances and 
therefore with the conditions of this Order. 

(d) A description of how storm water related-ordinances are reviewed and 
implemented. 

(e) A statement that the municipality will implement enforcement actions consistent 
with its Enforcement Response Plan developed pursuant to Section E.6.c. 

(iii) Reporting - All Permittees shall submit in the second year online Annual Report, a 
statement signed by an authorized signatory certifying the Permittee has adequate 
legal authority to comply with all Order requirements. 

E.G.c. Enforcement Measures and Tracking 

(i) Task Description - Within the third year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall develop and implement an Enforcement Response Plan. The 
Enforcement Response Plan shall contain enforcement procedures and actions and 
identify the Permittee's responses to violations and describe how the Permittee will 
address repeat and continuing violations by implementing progressively stricter 
responses as needed to achieve compliance. 

(ii) Implementation Level - The Enforcement Response Plan shall describe how the 
Permittee will use each of the following types of enforcement responses based on 
the type of violation: 

(a) Verbal Warnings - Verbal warnings are primarily consultative in nature. At a 
,minimum, verbal warnings shall specify the nature of the violation and required 
corrective action. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 22 February 5, 2013 



(b) Written Notices - Written notices shall include nature of the violation and the 
required corrective action, with deadlines for taking such action. 

(c) Escalated Enforcement Measures - The Permittee shall establish legal authority 
to employ any combination of the enforcement actions below (or their functional 
equivalent), and to escalate enforcement responses where necessary to correct 
persistent non-compliance, repeat or escalating violations, or incidents of major 
environmental harm: 

1) Citations (with Fines) - The Enforcement Response Plan shall describe when 
the Permittee will assess monetary fines, which may include civil and 
administrative penalties. 

2) Stop Work Orders - The Enforcement Response Plan shall describe when 
the Permittee will issue stop work orders that require construction activities to 
be halted, except for those activities directed at cleaning up, abating 
discharge, and installing appropriate BMPs. 

3) Withholding of Plan Approvals or Other Authorizations - Where a facility is in 
non-compliance, the Enforcement Response Plan shall describe how the 
Permittee's own approval or authorization processes that affect the facility's 
ability to discharge to the MS4 can be used to abate the violation. 

4) Additional Measures - The Enforcement Response Plan may also describe 
other escalated measures the Permittee has under its local legal authorities. 
For example, the Permittee may need to improve erosion control measures 
and collect the funds to pay for work and materials from the responsible party 
by either collecting against the project's bond or directly billing the 
responsible party. 

(d) NPDES Permit Referrals-For those construction projects or industrial 
facilities subject to the State's Construction General Permit (CGP) or 
Industrial General Permit (IGP), the Permittee shall: 

1) Refer non-filers (Le., those facilities that cannot demonstrate that they 
obtained permit coverage) to the appropriate Regional Water Board 
within 30 days of making that determination, or file a complaint on the 
State Water Board's website: 
http://www.dtsc.ca.gov/database/CaIEPA Complaintlindex.cfm. In 
making such referrals, at a minimum include the following 
documentation: 

a) Construction project or industrial facility location. 

b) Name of owner or operator. 

c) Estimated construction project size or type of industrial activity (including 
the Standard Industrial or the North American Industry Classification, if 
known). 

d) Records of communication with the owner or operator regarding filing 
requirements. 

2) Refer ongoing violations to the appropriate Regional Water Board 
provided that the Permittee has made a good faith effort of progressive 
enforcement to achieve compliance with its own ordinances. At a 
minimum, the Permittee's good faith effort shall include documentation 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 23 February 5,2013 

-69-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

(b) Written Notices - Written notices shall include nature of the violation and the 
required corrective action, with deadlines for taking such action. 

(c) Escalated Enforcement Measures - The Permittee shall establish legal authority 
to employ any combination of the enforcement actions below (or their functional 
equivalent), and to escalate enforcement responses where necessary to correct 
persistent non-compliance, repeat or escalating violations, or incidents of major 
environmental harm: 

1) Citations (with Fines) - The Enforcement Response Plan shall describe when 
the Permittee will assess monetary fines, which may include civil and 
administrative penalties. 

2) Stop Work Orders - The Enforcement Response Plan shall describe when 
the Permittee will issue stop work orders that require construction activities to 
be halted, except for those activities directed at cleaning up, abating 
discharge, and installing appropriate BMPs. 

3) Withholding of Plan Approvals or Other Authorizations - Where a facility is in 
non-compliance, the Enforcement Response Plan shall describe how the 
Permittee's own approval or authorization processes that affect the facility's 
ability to discharge to the MS4 can be used to abate the violation. 

4) Additional Measures - The Enforcement Response Plan may also describe 
other escalated measures the Permittee has under its local legal authorities. 
For example, the Permittee may need to improve erosion control measures 
and collect the funds to pay for work and materials from the responsible party 
by either collecting against the project's bond or directly billing the 
responsible party. 

(d) NPDES Permit Referrals-For those construction projects or industrial 
facilities subject to the State's Construction General Permit (CGP) or 
Industrial General Permit (IGP), the Permittee shall: 

1) Refer non-filers (Le., those facilities that cannot demonstrate that they 
obtained permit coverage) to the appropriate Regional Water Board 
within 30 days of making that determination, or file a complaint on the 
State Water Board's website: 
http://www.dtsc.ca.gov/database/CaIEPA Complaintlindex.cfm. In 
making such referrals, at a minimum include the following 
documentation: 

a) Construction project or industrial facility location. 

b) Name of owner or operator. 

c) Estimated construction project size or type of industrial activity (including 
the Standard Industrial or the North American Industry Classification, if 
known). 

d) Records of communication with the owner or operator regarding filing 
requirements. 

2) Refer ongoing violations to the appropriate Regional Water Board 
provided that the Permittee has made a good faith effort of progressive 
enforcement to achieve compliance with its own ordinances. At a 
minimum, the Permittee's good faith effort shall include documentation 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 23 February 5,2013 



of two follow-up inspections and two warning letters or notices of 
violation. In making such referrals, the Permittee shall include, at a 
minimum,' the following information: 

a) Construction project or industrial facility location 

b) Name of owner or operator 

c) Estimated construction project size or type of industrial activity (including 
Standard Industrial Classification or North American Industry 
Classification System if known) 

d) Records of communication with the owner or operator regarding the 
violation, including at least two follow-up inspections, two warning letters 
or notices of violation, and any response from the owner or operator 

e) Enforcement Tracking -Track instances of non-compliance via 
hard-copy files or electronically. The enforcement tracking 
documentation shall include, at a minimum, the following: 

(1) Name of owner/operator 

(2) Location of construction project or industrial facility 

(3) Description of violation 

(4) Required schedule for returning to compliance 

(5) Description of enforcement response used, including escalated 
responses if repeat violations occur or violations are not resolved 
within the time specified in the enforcement action. 

(6) Accompanying documentation of enforcement response (e.g., notices 
of noncompliance, notices of violations, etc.) 

(7) Any referrals to different departments or agencies 

f) Recidivism Reduction - The Permittee shall identify chronic 
violators of any provision of this Order or of any related local 
ordinance or regulation and reduce the rate of noncompliance 
recidivism. The Permittee shall develop incentives, disincentives, or 
increase inspection frequency at the operator's sites to prevent 
chronic violations. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all 
requirements of this program element. The summary shall also address the 
relationship between the program element activities and the Permittee's 
Program Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement Plan that tracks annual 
and long-term effectiveness of the storm water program. If a Permittee is 
unable to certify compliance with a requirement in this program element see 
Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.7. EDUCATION AND OUTREACH PROGRAM 

Traditional Small MS4 Permittees may be required to implement Community-Based Social 
Marketing (CBSM) requirements as detailed in Attachment E upon determination by a Regional 
Board Executive Officer. The Regional Board Executive Officer shall notify Permittees within 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 24 February 5, 2013 

-70-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

of two follow-up inspections and two warning letters or notices of 
violation. In making such referrals, the Permittee shall include, at a 
minimum,' the following information: 

a) Construction project or industrial facility location 

b) Name of owner or operator 

c) Estimated construction project size or type of industrial activity (including 
Standard Industrial Classification or North American Industry 
Classification System if known) 

d) Records of communication with the owner or operator regarding the 
violation, including at least two follow-up inspections, two warning letters 
or notices of violation, and any response from the owner or operator 

e) Enforcement Tracking -Track instances of non-compliance via 
hard-copy files or electronically. The enforcement tracking 
documentation shall include, at a minimum, the following: 

(1) Name of owner/operator 

(2) Location of construction project or industrial facility 

(3) Description of violation 

(4) Required schedule for returning to compliance 

(5) Description of enforcement response used, including escalated 
responses if repeat violations occur or violations are not resolved 
within the time specified in the enforcement action. 

(6) Accompanying documentation of enforcement response (e.g., notices 
of noncompliance, notices of violations, etc.) 

(7) Any referrals to different departments or agencies 

f) Recidivism Reduction - The Permittee shall identify chronic 
violators of any provision of this Order or of any related local 
ordinance or regulation and reduce the rate of noncompliance 
recidivism. The Permittee shall develop incentives, disincentives, or 
increase inspection frequency at the operator's sites to prevent 
chronic violations. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all 
requirements of this program element. The summary shall also address the 
relationship between the program element activities and the Permittee's 
Program Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement Plan that tracks annual 
and long-term effectiveness of the storm water program. If a Permittee is 
unable to certify compliance with a requirement in this program element see 
Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.7. EDUCATION AND OUTREACH PROGRAM 

Traditional Small MS4 Permittees may be required to implement Community-Based Social 
Marketing (CBSM) requirements as detailed in Attachment E upon determination by a Regional 
Board Executive Officer. The Regional Board Executive Officer shall notify Permittees within 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 24 February 5, 2013 



three months of the permit adoption date of their determination to require CBSM. 9 The 
notification shall include a statement of reasons why the Executive Officer finds that 
implementation of CBSM is appropriate. If the Permittee disagrees with the Executive Officer 
determination, the Permittee may bring the dispute to the State Water Board Executive Director 
or his designee as specified under the Dispute Resolution provision of this Order. 

E.7.a. Public Education and Outreach 

Within the first year of the effective date of the permit, all Permittees shall comply with 
the requirements in this Section by selecting one or more of the following Public 
Education and Outreach options: 

1) Contributing to a countywide storm water program, as determined appropriate by the 
Permittee members, so that the countywide storm water program conducts outreach 
and education on behalf of its members; or 

2) Contributing to a regional outreach and education collaborative effort (a regional 
outreach and education collaborative effort occurs when all or a majority of the 
Permittees collaborate to conduct regional outreach and education. Regional 
outreach and education collaboration includes Permittees defining a uniform and 
consistent message, deciding how best to communicate the message, and how 
to facilitate behavioral changes, then collaboratively apply what is learned 
through local jurisdiction groups, pooling resources and skills.); or 

3) Fulfilling outreach and education requirements within their jurisdictional 
boundaries on their own; or 

4) A combination of the previous options, so that all requirements are fulfilled. 

Reporting - By the first year Annual Report, the Permittee shall submit information 
indicating which Public Education and Outreach option(s) it will use to comply with 
this Section. For each option involving a contribution to a countywide storm water 
program or regional outreach and education collaborative effort, the Permittee shall 
complete and have available in the first year Annual Report documentation, such as 
a written agreement, letter or similar document, which confirms the collaboration with 
other MS4s. 

(i)Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall develop and implement a comprehensive storm water public 
education and outreach program. The public education and outreach program shall 
be designed to reduce pollutant discharges in storm water runoff and non-storm 
water discharges to the MS4 through increased storm water knowledge and 
awareness in target communities. The Public Education and Outreach Program 
shall be designed to measurably increase the knowledge and awareness of targeted 
audience regarding the municipal storm drain system, impacts of urban runoff and 
non-storm water discharges on receiving waters, and potential BMP solutions for the 
target audiences, thereby reducing pollutant releases to the MS4 and the 
environment. 

9 Getting in Step, A Guide to, Conducting Watershed Outreach Campaigns, 3'd Edition, November 2010, EPA 841-B-10-002, 
USEPA, Office of Water. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 25 February 5,2013 

-71-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

three months of the permit adoption date of their determination to require CBSM. 9 The 
notification shall include a statement of reasons why the Executive Officer finds that 
implementation of CBSM is appropriate. If the Permittee disagrees with the Executive Officer 
determination, the Permittee may bring the dispute to the State Water Board Executive Director 
or his designee as specified under the Dispute Resolution provision of this Order. 

E.7.a. Public Education and Outreach 

Within the first year of the effective date of the permit, all Permittees shall comply with 
the requirements in this Section by selecting one or more of the following Public 
Education and Outreach options: 

1) Contributing to a countywide storm water program, as determined appropriate by the 
Permittee members, so that the countywide storm water program conducts outreach 
and education on behalf of its members; or 

2) Contributing to a regional outreach and education collaborative effort (a regional 
outreach and education collaborative effort occurs when all or a majority of the 
Permittees collaborate to conduct regional outreach and education. Regional 
outreach and education collaboration includes Permittees defining a uniform and 
consistent message, deciding how best to communicate the message, and how 
to facilitate behavioral changes, then collaboratively apply what is learned 
through local jurisdiction groups, pooling resources and skills.); or 

3) Fulfilling outreach and education requirements within their jurisdictional 
boundaries on their own; or 

4) A combination of the previous options, so that all requirements are fulfilled. 

Reporting - By the first year Annual Report, the Permittee shall submit information 
indicating which Public Education and Outreach option(s) it will use to comply with 
this Section. For each option involving a contribution to a countywide storm water 
program or regional outreach and education collaborative effort, the Permittee shall 
complete and have available in the first year Annual Report documentation, such as 
a written agreement, letter or similar document, which confirms the collaboration with 
other MS4s. 

(i)Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall develop and implement a comprehensive storm water public 
education and outreach program. The public education and outreach program shall 
be designed to reduce pollutant discharges in storm water runoff and non-storm 
water discharges to the MS4 through increased storm water knowledge and 
awareness in target communities. The Public Education and Outreach Program 
shall be designed to measurably increase the knowledge and awareness of targeted 
audience regarding the municipal storm drain system, impacts of urban runoff and 
non-storm water discharges on receiving waters, and potential BMP solutions for the 
target audiences, thereby reducing pollutant releases to the MS4 and the 
environment. 

9 Getting in Step, A Guide to, Conducting Watershed Outreach Campaigns, 3'd Edition, November 2010, EPA 841-B-10-002, 
USEPA, Office of Water. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 25 February 5,2013 



(ii) Implementation Level -The Permittee shall, at a minimum: 

(a) Develop and implement a public education strategy that establishes education 
tasks based on water quality problems, target audiences, and anticipated task 
effectiveness. The strategy must include identification of who is responsible for 
implementing specific tasks and a schedule for task implementation. The 
strategy must demonstrate how specific high priority storm water quality issues in 
the community or local pollutants of concern are addressed. 

(b) Implement surveys at least twice during the permit term to gauge the level of 
awareness in target audiences and effectiveness of education tasks. 

(c) Develop and convey a specific storm water message that focuses on the 
following: 
1) Local pollutants of concern 
2) Target audience 
3) Regional water quality issues 

(d) Develop and disseminate appropriate educational materials to target audiences 
and translate into applicable languages when appropriate (e.g. the materials can 
utilize various media such as printed materials, billboard and mass transit 
advertisements, signage at select locations, stenciling at storm drain inlets, radio 
advertisements, television advertisements, and websites); 

(e) Utilize public input (e.g., the opportunity for public comment, or public meetings) 
in the development of the program; 

(f) Distribute the educational materials, using whichever methods and procedures 
determined appropriate during development of the public education strategy; 

(g) Convey messages to explain the benefits of water-efficient and storm water
friendly landscaping 10, using existing information if available; 

(h) Develop and convey messages specific to reducing illicit discharges with 
information about how the public can report incidents to the appropriate 
authorities. The Permittee must promote, publicize, and facilitate public reporting 
of illicit discharges or water quality impacts associated with discharges into or 
from MS4s through a central contact point, including phone numbers for 
complaints and spill reporting, and publicize to both internal Permittee staff and 
the public. If 911 is selected, the Permittee must also create, maintain, and 
publicize a staffed, nonemergency phone number with voicemail, which is 
checked daily; 

(i) Develop and convey messages specific to proper application of pesticides, 
herbicides, and fertilizers; 

U) Within the Permittee's jurisdiction, provide independent, parochial, and public 
schools with materials to effectively educate school-age children about storm 
water runoff and how they can help protect water quality habitat in their local 
watershed (s). The Permittee is encouraged to use environmental and place
based, experiential learning materials that are integrated into school curricula 
and school facility management11

. In the case that an environmental and place-

10 For example, Surfrjder's Ocean Friendly Garden Program (http://www.surfrider.org/prograins/entrv/ocean-friendly-gardens) and 
the Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance (WELO) 
11 For example, Splash (www.sacsplash.orgl),Effie Yeaw Nature Center (www.sacnature.net) or Yolo Basin (www. yolobasin.org) 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 26 February 5, 2013 

-72-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

(ii) Implementation Level -The Permittee shall, at a minimum: 

(a) Develop and implement a public education strategy that establishes education 
tasks based on water quality problems, target audiences, and anticipated task 
effectiveness. The strategy must include identification of who is responsible for 
implementing specific tasks and a schedule for task implementation. The 
strategy must demonstrate how specific high priority storm water quality issues in 
the community or local pollutants of concern are addressed. 

(b) Implement surveys at least twice during the permit term to gauge the level of 
awareness in target audiences and effectiveness of education tasks. 

(c) Develop and convey a specific storm water message that focuses on the 
following: 
1) Local pollutants of concern 
2) Target audience 
3) Regional water quality issues 

(d) Develop and disseminate appropriate educational materials to target audiences 
and translate into applicable languages when appropriate (e.g. the materials can 
utilize various media such as printed materials, billboard and mass transit 
advertisements, signage at select locations, stenciling at storm drain inlets, radio 
advertisements, television advertisements, and websites); 

(e) Utilize public input (e.g., the opportunity for public comment, or public meetings) 
in the development of the program; 

(f) Distribute the educational materials, using whichever methods and procedures 
determined appropriate during development of the public education strategy; 

(g) Convey messages to explain the benefits of water-efficient and storm water
friendly landscaping 10, using existing information if available; 

(h) Develop and convey messages specific to reducing illicit discharges with 
information about how the public can report incidents to the appropriate 
authorities. The Permittee must promote, publicize, and facilitate public reporting 
of illicit discharges or water quality impacts associated with discharges into or 
from MS4s through a central contact point, including phone numbers for 
complaints and spill reporting, and publicize to both internal Permittee staff and 
the public. If 911 is selected, the Permittee must also create, maintain, and 
publicize a staffed, nonemergency phone number with voicemail, which is 
checked daily; 

(i) Develop and convey messages specific to proper application of pesticides, 
herbicides, and fertilizers; 

U) Within the Permittee's jurisdiction, provide independent, parochial, and public 
schools with materials to effectively educate school-age children about storm 
water runoff and how they can help protect water quality habitat in their local 
watershed (s). The Permittee is encouraged to use environmental and place
based, experiential learning materials that are integrated into school curricula 
and school facility management11

. In the case that an environmental and place-

10 For example, Surfrjder's Ocean Friendly Garden Program (http://www.surfrider.org/prograins/entrv/ocean-friendly-gardens) and 
the Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance (WELO) 
11 For example, Splash (www.sacsplash.orgl),Effie Yeaw Nature Center (www.sacnature.net) or Yolo Basin (www. yolobasin.org) 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 26 February 5, 2013 



based, experiential learning local program does not exist, the Permittee may use 
California's Education and Environment Initiative Curriculum 12 or equivalent. 

(k) Develop (or coordinate with existing, effective programs) and convey messages 
specific to reducing discharges from organized car washes, mobile cleaning and 
pressure washing operations, and landscape irrigation. 

(I) Conduct storm water-friendly education·for organized car wash participants and 
provide information pertaining to car wash discharge reduction. The Permittee 
may use the Sacramento Stormwater Quality Partnership's River Friendly 
Carwash Program 13, or equivalent, for guidance. 

(m) Develop and convey messages specific to mobile cleaning and pressure wash 
businesses. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program· element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.7.b. Staff and Site Operator Training and Education 

E. 7 .b.1. Illicit Discharge Detection and Elimination Training 

(i) Task Description - Within the third year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall develop and implement a training program for all Permittee staff who, 
as part of their normal job responsibilities, may be notified of, come into contact with, 
or otherwise observe an illicit discharge or illegal connection to the storm drain 
system. 

(ii) Implementation Level- The training program shall include at a minimum: 
(a) Identification of an illicit discharge or illegal connection. 
(b) Proper procedures for reporting and responding to the illicit discharge or illegal 

connection. 
(c) Follow-up training shall be provided as needed to address changes in 

procedures, techniques, or staffing. 
(d) An annual assessment of their trained staff's knowledge of illicit discharge 

response and refresher training as needed. 
(e) Training for new staff who, as part of their normal job responsibilities may be 

notified of, come into contact with, or otherwise observe an illicit discharge or 
illegal connection shall be trained no later than six months after the start of 
employment. 

(f) Contact information, including the procedure for reporting an illicit discharge, 
shall be included in each of the Permittee's fleet vehicles that are used by field 
staff. 

(g) Focused education on identified illicit discharges and associated illicit discharge 
locations. 

12 http://www.californiaeeLorg/ 
13 http://www.beriverfriendly.netlriverfriendlycarwashing/ 

Phase" Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 27 February 5, 2013 

-73-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

based, experiential learning local program does not exist, the Permittee may use 
California's Education and Environment Initiative Curriculum 12 or equivalent. 

(k) Develop (or coordinate with existing, effective programs) and convey messages 
specific to reducing discharges from organized car washes, mobile cleaning and 
pressure washing operations, and landscape irrigation. 

(I) Conduct storm water-friendly education·for organized car wash participants and 
provide information pertaining to car wash discharge reduction. The Permittee 
may use the Sacramento Stormwater Quality Partnership's River Friendly 
Carwash Program 13, or equivalent, for guidance. 

(m) Develop and convey messages specific to mobile cleaning and pressure wash 
businesses. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program· element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.7.b. Staff and Site Operator Training and Education 

E. 7 .b.1. Illicit Discharge Detection and Elimination Training 

(i) Task Description - Within the third year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall develop and implement a training program for all Permittee staff who, 
as part of their normal job responsibilities, may be notified of, come into contact with, 
or otherwise observe an illicit discharge or illegal connection to the storm drain 
system. 

(ii) Implementation Level- The training program shall include at a minimum: 
(a) Identification of an illicit discharge or illegal connection. 
(b) Proper procedures for reporting and responding to the illicit discharge or illegal 

connection. 
(c) Follow-up training shall be provided as needed to address changes in 

procedures, techniques, or staffing. 
(d) An annual assessment of their trained staff's knowledge of illicit discharge 

response and refresher training as needed. 
(e) Training for new staff who, as part of their normal job responsibilities may be 

notified of, come into contact with, or otherwise observe an illicit discharge or 
illegal connection shall be trained no later than six months after the start of 
employment. 

(f) Contact information, including the procedure for reporting an illicit discharge, 
shall be included in each of the Permittee's fleet vehicles that are used by field 
staff. 

(g) Focused education on identified illicit discharges and associated illicit discharge 
locations. 

12 http://www.californiaeeLorg/ 
13 http://www.beriverfriendly.netlriverfriendlycarwashing/ 

Phase" Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 27 February 5, 2013 



(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance direCtions. 

E.7.b.2. Construction Outreach and Education 

(a) Permittee Staff Training 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall ensure that all staff implementing the construction site storm water 
runoff control program are adequately trained. 

(ij) Implementation Level- The Permittee may conduct in-house training or contract 
with consultants. Training shall be provided to the following staff positions of the 
MS4: 

(a) Plan Reviewers and Permitting Staff - The Permittee shall ensure plan reviewers 
and permitting staff are qualified individuals, knowledgeable in the technical 
review of local erosion and sediment control plans, (including proper control 
measure selection, installation, implementation, and maintenance, as well as 
administrative requirements such as inspection reporting/tracking and the use of 
the Permittee's enforcement responses), and are certified pursuant to a State 
Water Board sponsored program as a Qualified Storm Water Pollution 
Prevention Plan (SWPPP) Developer (QSD), or a designated person on staff 
possesses the QSD credential. 

(b) Erosion Sediment Control/Storm Water Inspectors - The Permittee shall ensure 
inspectors are qualified individuals, knowledgeable in inspection procedures, and 
are certified pursuant to a State Water Board sponsored program as either (1) a 
Qualified SWPPP Developer (QSD); (2) a Qualified SWPPP Practitioner (QSP); 
or (3) a designated person on staff possesses each credential (QSD to supervise 
plan review, QSP to supervise inspection operations). 

(c) Third-Party Plan Reviewers, Permitting Staff, and Inspectors - If the Permittee 
utilizes outside parties to review plans and/or conduct inspections, the Permittee 
shall ensure these staff are trained. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 28 February 5, 2013 

-74-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance direCtions. 

E.7.b.2. Construction Outreach and Education 

(a) Permittee Staff Training 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall ensure that all staff implementing the construction site storm water 
runoff control program are adequately trained. 

(ij) Implementation Level- The Permittee may conduct in-house training or contract 
with consultants. Training shall be provided to the following staff positions of the 
MS4: 

(a) Plan Reviewers and Permitting Staff - The Permittee shall ensure plan reviewers 
and permitting staff are qualified individuals, knowledgeable in the technical 
review of local erosion and sediment control plans, (including proper control 
measure selection, installation, implementation, and maintenance, as well as 
administrative requirements such as inspection reporting/tracking and the use of 
the Permittee's enforcement responses), and are certified pursuant to a State 
Water Board sponsored program as a Qualified Storm Water Pollution 
Prevention Plan (SWPPP) Developer (QSD), or a designated person on staff 
possesses the QSD credential. 

(b) Erosion Sediment Control/Storm Water Inspectors - The Permittee shall ensure 
inspectors are qualified individuals, knowledgeable in inspection procedures, and 
are certified pursuant to a State Water Board sponsored program as either (1) a 
Qualified SWPPP Developer (QSD); (2) a Qualified SWPPP Practitioner (QSP); 
or (3) a designated person on staff possesses each credential (QSD to supervise 
plan review, QSP to supervise inspection operations). 

(c) Third-Party Plan Reviewers, Permitting Staff, and Inspectors - If the Permittee 
utilizes outside parties to review plans and/or conduct inspections, the Permittee 
shall ensure these staff are trained. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 28 February 5, 2013 



(b) Construction Site Operator Education 

(i) Task Description - Within the third year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall develop and distribute educational materials to construction site 
operators. 

(ii) Implementation Level- The Permittee shall do the following: 
(a) Each year, provide information on training opportunities for construction operators 

on BMP selection, installation, implementation, and maintenance as well as 
overall program compliance. 

(b) Develop or utilize existing outreach tools (Le. brochures, posters, etc.) aimed at 
educating construction operators on appropriate selection, installation, 
implementation, and maintenance of storm water BMPs, as well as overall 
program compliance. 

(c) Distribute appropriate outreach materials to all construction operators who will be 
disturbing land within the MS4 boundary. The Permittee's contact information 
and website shall be included in these materials. 

(d) Update the existing storm water website, as necessary, to include information on 
appropriate selection, installation, implementation, and maintenance of BMPs. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between 
the program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness 
Assessment and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness 
of the storm water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a 
requirement in this program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.7.b.3. Pollution Prevention and Good Housekeeping Staff Training 

The Permittee shall train employees on how to incorporate pollution prevention/good 
housekeeping techniques into Permittee operations. 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall develop a biennial employee training program for appropriate 
employees involved in implementing pollution prevention and good housekeeping 
practices as specified in Section E.11. Pollution Prevention/Good Housekeeping for 
Permittee Operations of this Order. The Permittee shall determine the need for 
interim training during alternate years when training is not conducted, through an 
evaluation of employee Pollution Prevention/Good Housekeeping knowledge. All new 
hires whose jobs include implementation of pollution prevention and good 
housekeeping practices must receive this training within the first year of their hire 
date. 

(ii) Implementation Level- The training program shall include the following: 

(a) Biennial training for all employees implementing this program element. This 
biennual training shall include a general storm water education component, any 
new technologies, operations, or responsibilities that arise during the year, and 
the permit requirements that apply to the staff being trained. Employees shall 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 29 February 5, 2013 

-75-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

(b) Construction Site Operator Education 

(i) Task Description - Within the third year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall develop and distribute educational materials to construction site 
operators. 

(ii) Implementation Level- The Permittee shall do the following: 
(a) Each year, provide information on training opportunities for construction operators 

on BMP selection, installation, implementation, and maintenance as well as 
overall program compliance. 

(b) Develop or utilize existing outreach tools (Le. brochures, posters, etc.) aimed at 
educating construction operators on appropriate selection, installation, 
implementation, and maintenance of storm water BMPs, as well as overall 
program compliance. 

(c) Distribute appropriate outreach materials to all construction operators who will be 
disturbing land within the MS4 boundary. The Permittee's contact information 
and website shall be included in these materials. 

(d) Update the existing storm water website, as necessary, to include information on 
appropriate selection, installation, implementation, and maintenance of BMPs. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between 
the program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness 
Assessment and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness 
of the storm water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a 
requirement in this program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.7.b.3. Pollution Prevention and Good Housekeeping Staff Training 

The Permittee shall train employees on how to incorporate pollution prevention/good 
housekeeping techniques into Permittee operations. 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall develop a biennial employee training program for appropriate 
employees involved in implementing pollution prevention and good housekeeping 
practices as specified in Section E.11. Pollution Prevention/Good Housekeeping for 
Permittee Operations of this Order. The Permittee shall determine the need for 
interim training during alternate years when training is not conducted, through an 
evaluation of employee Pollution Prevention/Good Housekeeping knowledge. All new 
hires whose jobs include implementation of pollution prevention and good 
housekeeping practices must receive this training within the first year of their hire 
date. 

(ii) Implementation Level- The training program shall include the following: 

(a) Biennial training for all employees implementing this program element. This 
biennual training shall include a general storm water education component, any 
new technologies, operations, or responsibilities that arise during the year, and 
the permit requirements that apply to the staff being trained. Employees shall 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 29 February 5, 2013 



receive clear guidance on appropriate storm water BMPs to use at municipal 
facilities and during typical O&M activities. 

(b) A biennual assessment of trained staff's knowledge of pollution prevention 
and good housekeeping and shall revise the training as needed. 

(c) A requirement that any contractors hired by the Permittee to perform O&M 
activities shall be contractually required to comply with all of the storm 
water BMPs, good housekeeping practices, and standard operating 
procedures described above. 

(d) The Permittee shall provide oversight of contractor activities to ensure that 
contractors are using appropriate BMPs, good housekeeping practices and 
following standard operating procedures. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.8. PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT AND PARTICIPATION PROGRAM 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall involve the public in the development and implementation of activities 
related to the program. The public participation and involvement program shall 
encourage volunteerism, public comment and input on policy, and activism in the 
community. The Permittee shall also be involved in their Integrated Regional Water 
Management Plan (IRWMP) or other watershed-level planning effort, if applicable. 

(ii) Implementation Level - At a minimum, the Permittee shall: 

(a) Develop a public involvement and participation strategy that establishes who is 
responsible for specific tasks and goals. 

(b) Consider development of a citizen advisory group (either a stand-alone group or 
utilize an existing group or process). The advisory group may consist of a 
balanced representation of all affected parties, includil'lg residents, business 
owners, and environmental organizations in the MS4 service area and/or affected 
watershed. The Permittee may invite the citizen advisory group to participate in 
the development and implementation of all parts of the community's storm water 
program. 

(c) Create opportunities for citizens to participate in the implementation of BMPs 
through sponsoring activities (e.g., stream/beachllake clean-ups, storm drain 
stenciling, volunteer monitoring and educational activities). 

(d) Ensure the public can easily find information about the Permittee's storm 
water program. 

(e) Actively engage in the Permittee's IRWMP or other watershed-level 
planning effort. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 30 February 5, 2013 

-76-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

receive clear guidance on appropriate storm water BMPs to use at municipal 
facilities and during typical O&M activities. 

(b) A biennual assessment of trained staff's knowledge of pollution prevention 
and good housekeeping and shall revise the training as needed. 

(c) A requirement that any contractors hired by the Permittee to perform O&M 
activities shall be contractually required to comply with all of the storm 
water BMPs, good housekeeping practices, and standard operating 
procedures described above. 

(d) The Permittee shall provide oversight of contractor activities to ensure that 
contractors are using appropriate BMPs, good housekeeping practices and 
following standard operating procedures. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.8. PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT AND PARTICIPATION PROGRAM 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall involve the public in the development and implementation of activities 
related to the program. The public participation and involvement program shall 
encourage volunteerism, public comment and input on policy, and activism in the 
community. The Permittee shall also be involved in their Integrated Regional Water 
Management Plan (IRWMP) or other watershed-level planning effort, if applicable. 

(ii) Implementation Level - At a minimum, the Permittee shall: 

(a) Develop a public involvement and participation strategy that establishes who is 
responsible for specific tasks and goals. 

(b) Consider development of a citizen advisory group (either a stand-alone group or 
utilize an existing group or process). The advisory group may consist of a 
balanced representation of all affected parties, includil'lg residents, business 
owners, and environmental organizations in the MS4 service area and/or affected 
watershed. The Permittee may invite the citizen advisory group to participate in 
the development and implementation of all parts of the community's storm water 
program. 

(c) Create opportunities for citizens to participate in the implementation of BMPs 
through sponsoring activities (e.g., stream/beachllake clean-ups, storm drain 
stenciling, volunteer monitoring and educational activities). 

(d) Ensure the public can easily find information about the Permittee's storm 
water program. 

(e) Actively engage in the Permittee's IRWMP or other watershed-level 
planning effort. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 30 February 5, 2013 



(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements 
of this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship 
between the program element activities and the Permittee's Program 
Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long
term effectiveness of the storm water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify 
compliance with a requirement in this program element see Section E.16.a.for 
compliance directions. 

E.g. ILLICIT DISCHARGE DETECTION AND ELIMINATION 

The Permittee shall develop an Illicit Discharge Detection and Elimination program 
to detect, investigate, and eliminate illicit discharges, including illegal dumping, into 
its system, to the extent allowable under law.14 The Permittee may utilize the CWP's 
guide on Illicit Discharge Detection and Elimination as guidance. 

E.g.a. Outfall Mapping 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall create and maintain an up-to-date and accurate outfall map15. The 
map may be in hard copy and/or electronic form or within a geographic information 
system (GIS) the development of the outfall map shall include a visual outfall inventory 
involving a site visit to each outfall. Renewal Permittees that have an existing up-to
date outfall map that includes the minimum requirements specified in Section 
E.9.a.(ii)(a-e) are not required to re-create the outfall map. This does not exempt 
Renewal Permittees with an existing outfall map from conducting the field sampling 
specified in Section E.9.c. 

(ii) Implementation Level - The outfall map shall at a minimum show: 

(a) The location of all outfalls 16 that are operated by the Permittee within the urbanized 
area, drainage areas, and land use(s) contributing to those outfalls that are 
operated by the Permittee, and that discharge within the Permittee's jurisdiction to 
a receiving water. Each mapped outfall shall be located using coordinates 
obtained from a global positioning system (GPS) and given an individual 
alphanumeric identifier, which shall be noted on the map. Photographs or an 
electronic database shall be utilized to provide baseline information and track 
operation and maintenance needs over time. 

(b) The location (and name, where known to the Permittee) of all water bodies 
receiving direct discharges from those outfall pipes. 

(c) Priority areas, including, but not limited to the following: 

14 The Permittee shall use the Center for Watershed Protection's guide on Illicit Discharge Detection and Elimination (lODE): A 
Guidance Manual~or Program Development and Technical Assistance (available at www.cwp.org) or equivalent when developing 
an lODE program. Guidance can also be found at: http://cfpub.epa.gov/npdes/stormwater/idde.cfm. 
15 The Permittee may utilize existing forms such as the CWP Outfall Reconnaissance Inventory/Sample Collection Field Sheet while 
conducting the mapping inventory and Field Sampling as specified below, in Section 
E.9.c.(http://cfpub.epa.gov/npdes/stormwater/idde.cfm). 
16 Submerged outfalls or other outfalls that may pose a threat to public safety and/or that are inaccessible are not required to be 
inventoried. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 31 February 5, 2013 

-77-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements 
of this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship 
between the program element activities and the Permittee's Program 
Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long
term effectiveness of the storm water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify 
compliance with a requirement in this program element see Section E.16.a.for 
compliance directions. 

E.g. ILLICIT DISCHARGE DETECTION AND ELIMINATION 

The Permittee shall develop an Illicit Discharge Detection and Elimination program 
to detect, investigate, and eliminate illicit discharges, including illegal dumping, into 
its system, to the extent allowable under law.14 The Permittee may utilize the CWP's 
guide on Illicit Discharge Detection and Elimination as guidance. 

E.g.a. Outfall Mapping 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall create and maintain an up-to-date and accurate outfall map15. The 
map may be in hard copy and/or electronic form or within a geographic information 
system (GIS) the development of the outfall map shall include a visual outfall inventory 
involving a site visit to each outfall. Renewal Permittees that have an existing up-to
date outfall map that includes the minimum requirements specified in Section 
E.9.a.(ii)(a-e) are not required to re-create the outfall map. This does not exempt 
Renewal Permittees with an existing outfall map from conducting the field sampling 
specified in Section E.9.c. 

(ii) Implementation Level - The outfall map shall at a minimum show: 

(a) The location of all outfalls 16 that are operated by the Permittee within the urbanized 
area, drainage areas, and land use(s) contributing to those outfalls that are 
operated by the Permittee, and that discharge within the Permittee's jurisdiction to 
a receiving water. Each mapped outfall shall be located using coordinates 
obtained from a global positioning system (GPS) and given an individual 
alphanumeric identifier, which shall be noted on the map. Photographs or an 
electronic database shall be utilized to provide baseline information and track 
operation and maintenance needs over time. 

(b) The location (and name, where known to the Permittee) of all water bodies 
receiving direct discharges from those outfall pipes. 

(c) Priority areas, including, but not limited to the following: 

14 The Permittee shall use the Center for Watershed Protection's guide on Illicit Discharge Detection and Elimination (lODE): A 
Guidance Manual~or Program Development and Technical Assistance (available at www.cwp.org) or equivalent when developing 
an lODE program. Guidance can also be found at: http://cfpub.epa.gov/npdes/stormwater/idde.cfm. 
15 The Permittee may utilize existing forms such as the CWP Outfall Reconnaissance Inventory/Sample Collection Field Sheet while 
conducting the mapping inventory and Field Sampling as specified below, in Section 
E.9.c.(http://cfpub.epa.gov/npdes/stormwater/idde.cfm). 
16 Submerged outfalls or other outfalls that may pose a threat to public safety and/or that are inaccessible are not required to be 
inventoried. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 31 February 5, 2013 



1) Areas with older infrastructure that are more likely to have illegal 
connections and a history of sewer overflows or cross-connections 

2) Industrial, commercial, or mixed use areas; 

3) Areas with a history of past illicit discharges; 

4) Areas with a history of illegal dumping; 

5) Areas with onsite sewage disposal systems; 

6) Areas upstream of sensitive water bodies; 

7) Areas that drain to outfalls greater than 36 inches that directly discharge to 
the ocean; and 

8) Other areas that are likely to have illicit discharges 

The priority area list shall be updated annually. 

(d) Field sampling stations 

(e) The permit boundary 

Submerged outfalls or other outfalls that may pose a threat to public safety 
and/or that are inaccessible are not required to be inventoried. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of this 
program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and t~e Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in this 
program .element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.9.b. Illicit Discharge Source/Facility Inventory 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall maintain an inventory of all industrial/commercial facilities/sources 
within the Permittee's jurisdiction (regardless of ownership) that could discharge 
pollutants in storm water to the MS4. The Permittee shall utilize the inventory to 
identify facilities for inspections of potential illicit discharges. 

(ii) Implementation Level - The inventory shall include the following: 
(a) Minimum information for each industrial facility/source: 

• Facility name; 
• Address; 
• Nature of business or activity; 
• Physical location (decimal latitude-longitude) of storm drain receiving 

discharge; 
• Name of receiving water and if the facility/source is tributary to a Clean 

Water Act Section 303(d) listed water body segment or water body 
segment subject to a TMDL; 

• Incorporation of facility information into GIS is optional. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 32 February 5, 2013 

-78-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

1) Areas with older infrastructure that are more likely to have illegal 
connections and a history of sewer overflows or cross-connections 

2) Industrial, commercial, or mixed use areas; 

3) Areas with a history of past illicit discharges; 

4) Areas with a history of illegal dumping; 

5) Areas with onsite sewage disposal systems; 

6) Areas upstream of sensitive water bodies; 

7) Areas that drain to outfalls greater than 36 inches that directly discharge to 
the ocean; and 

8) Other areas that are likely to have illicit discharges 

The priority area list shall be updated annually. 

(d) Field sampling stations 

(e) The permit boundary 

Submerged outfalls or other outfalls that may pose a threat to public safety 
and/or that are inaccessible are not required to be inventoried. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of this 
program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and t~e Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in this 
program .element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.9.b. Illicit Discharge Source/Facility Inventory 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall maintain an inventory of all industrial/commercial facilities/sources 
within the Permittee's jurisdiction (regardless of ownership) that could discharge 
pollutants in storm water to the MS4. The Permittee shall utilize the inventory to 
identify facilities for inspections of potential illicit discharges. 

(ii) Implementation Level - The inventory shall include the following: 
(a) Minimum information for each industrial facility/source: 

• Facility name; 
• Address; 
• Nature of business or activity; 
• Physical location (decimal latitude-longitude) of storm drain receiving 

discharge; 
• Name of receiving water and if the facility/source is tributary to a Clean 

Water Act Section 303(d) listed water body segment or water body 
segment subject to a TMDL; 

• Incorporation of facility information into GIS is optional. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 32 February 5, 2013 



(b) At a minimum, the following industrial and commercial facilities/sources shall be 
included in the inventory. 

• Vehicle salvage yards 
• Metal and other recycled materials collection facilities 
• Waste transfer facilities 
• Vehicle mechanical repair, maintenance or cleaning 
• Building trade central facilities or yards 
• Corporation yards 
• Landscape nurseries and greenhouses 
• BUilding material retailers and storage 
• Plastic manufacturers 
• Other facilities designated by the Permittees or Regional Water Boards to 

have reasonable potential to contribute to pollution of storm water runoff 

(c) The Permittee shall determine if the facilities that are required to be covered under 
the Statewide Industrial General Permit have done so. Upon discovering any 
facilities requiring permit coverage but are not yet permitted, the Permittee shall 
notify the appropriate Regional Water Board, and include copies of the notification 
in the online Annual Report. 

(d) The Permittee shall update the inventory annually. The update shall be 
accomplished through collection of new information obtained during inspections 
and contacts with commercial and industrial facility operators and owners, or 
through other readily available intra-agency informational databases (e.g., 
business licenses, pretreatment permits, sanitary sewer hook-up permits, and 
SMARTS database. 

(e) The Permittee shall develop and implement procedures to proactively identify illicit 
discharges originating from priority areas identified in Section E.9.a.(ii).(c). The 
Permittee shall implement the procedures to assess priority areas for the presence 
of illicit discharges at least once over the length of the permit term. The 
procedures shall include field observations, field screening, inspections, and any 
other appropriate and effective survey methods. Alternatively, Permittees may 
establish a self--certification program where Permittees require reports from 
authorized parties demonstrating the prevention and elimination of illicit discharges 
at their facilities in priority areas at least once over the length of the permit term. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of this 
program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in this 
program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.9.c. Field Sampling to Detect Illicit Discharges 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit (e.g. 
while conducting the outfall inventory under Section E.9.a.), the Permittee shall sample 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 33 February 5, 2013 

-79-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

(b) At a minimum, the following industrial and commercial facilities/sources shall be 
included in the inventory. 

• Vehicle salvage yards 
• Metal and other recycled materials collection facilities 
• Waste transfer facilities 
• Vehicle mechanical repair, maintenance or cleaning 
• Building trade central facilities or yards 
• Corporation yards 
• Landscape nurseries and greenhouses 
• BUilding material retailers and storage 
• Plastic manufacturers 
• Other facilities designated by the Permittees or Regional Water Boards to 

have reasonable potential to contribute to pollution of storm water runoff 

(c) The Permittee shall determine if the facilities that are required to be covered under 
the Statewide Industrial General Permit have done so. Upon discovering any 
facilities requiring permit coverage but are not yet permitted, the Permittee shall 
notify the appropriate Regional Water Board, and include copies of the notification 
in the online Annual Report. 

(d) The Permittee shall update the inventory annually. The update shall be 
accomplished through collection of new information obtained during inspections 
and contacts with commercial and industrial facility operators and owners, or 
through other readily available intra-agency informational databases (e.g., 
business licenses, pretreatment permits, sanitary sewer hook-up permits, and 
SMARTS database. 

(e) The Permittee shall develop and implement procedures to proactively identify illicit 
discharges originating from priority areas identified in Section E.9.a.(ii).(c). The 
Permittee shall implement the procedures to assess priority areas for the presence 
of illicit discharges at least once over the length of the permit term. The 
procedures shall include field observations, field screening, inspections, and any 
other appropriate and effective survey methods. Alternatively, Permittees may 
establish a self--certification program where Permittees require reports from 
authorized parties demonstrating the prevention and elimination of illicit discharges 
at their facilities in priority areas at least once over the length of the permit term. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of this 
program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in this 
program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.9.c. Field Sampling to Detect Illicit Discharges 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit (e.g. 
while conducting the outfall inventory under Section E.9.a.), the Permittee shall sample 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 33 February 5, 2013 



any outfalls that are flowing or ponding more than 72 hours after the last rain event. 
The Permittee shall also conduct dry weather sampling (more than 72 hours since the 
last rain event) of outfalls annually identified as priority areas. 

(ii) Implementation Level- The Permittee shall: 

(a) Conduct monitoring 17 for the following indicator parameters identified in Table 1 to 
help determine the source of the discharge. Alternatively, the Permittee may select 
parameters based on local knowledge of pollutants of concern in lieu of sampling 
for the parameters listed in Table 1. Modifications and associated justifications 
shall be identified within SMARTS prior to conducting field sampling as specified in 
Section E.9.c.(i). 

Table 1. Indicator Parameters 

® ® 

® ® 0 

• • 0 

0 0 • Reagent is a hazardous waste 
Exception for communities that do not 
fluoridate their tap water 

• May need to use two separate 
analytical techniques, depending on 
the concentration 

• Can almost always (>80% of samples) d[sting· this discharge from clean flow types (e.g., tap water or natural water). For 
tap water, can distinguish from natural water. i 

® Can sometimes (>50%-<)f samples) distinguish t~is discharge from clean flow types depending on regional characteristics, 
or can be helpful in combinatfon with another p~rameter 

o Poor indicator. Cannot reliably detect illicit disc~arges, or cannot detect tap water . 
N/A: Data are not available to assess the utility of tfuis parameter forthis purpose. 
Data sources: Pitt ( 
*Fluoride is a poor indicator when used as a single rameter, but when combined with additional parameters (such as 
detergel)ts, ammonia arid'lJotassium), it can distinguish between sewage and wash water. 

17 A description of indicator parameter sampling equipment is described in Chapter 12: Indicator 
Monitoring in the CWP lODE: Guidance Manual found at: 
http://www.epa.gov/npdes/pubs/idde manualwithappendices.pdf. Sampling may be conducted using field 
test kits. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 34 February 5, 2013 

-80-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

any outfalls that are flowing or ponding more than 72 hours after the last rain event. 
The Permittee shall also conduct dry weather sampling (more than 72 hours since the 
last rain event) of outfalls annually identified as priority areas. 

(ii) Implementation Level- The Permittee shall: 

(a) Conduct monitoring 17 for the following indicator parameters identified in Table 1 to 
help determine the source of the discharge. Alternatively, the Permittee may select 
parameters based on local knowledge of pollutants of concern in lieu of sampling 
for the parameters listed in Table 1. Modifications and associated justifications 
shall be identified within SMARTS prior to conducting field sampling as specified in 
Section E.9.c.(i). 

Table 1. Indicator Parameters 

® ® 

® ® 0 

• • 0 

0 0 • Reagent is a hazardous waste 
Exception for communities that do not 
fluoridate their tap water 

• May need to use two separate 
analytical techniques, depending on 
the concentration 

• Can almost always (>80% of samples) d[sting· this discharge from clean flow types (e.g., tap water or natural water). For 
tap water, can distinguish from natural water. i 

® Can sometimes (>50%-<)f samples) distinguish t~is discharge from clean flow types depending on regional characteristics, 
or can be helpful in combinatfon with another p~rameter 

o Poor indicator. Cannot reliably detect illicit disc~arges, or cannot detect tap water . 
N/A: Data are not available to assess the utility of tfuis parameter forthis purpose. 
Data sources: Pitt ( 
*Fluoride is a poor indicator when used as a single rameter, but when combined with additional parameters (such as 
detergel)ts, ammonia arid'lJotassium), it can distinguish between sewage and wash water. 

17 A description of indicator parameter sampling equipment is described in Chapter 12: Indicator 
Monitoring in the CWP lODE: Guidance Manual found at: 
http://www.epa.gov/npdes/pubs/idde manualwithappendices.pdf. Sampling may be conducted using field 
test kits. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 34 February 5, 2013 



(b) Verify that indicator parameters, as specified in Table 2. Action Level 
Concentrations for Indicator Parameters are not exceeded. Alternatively, the 
Permittee may tailor Table 2 to align with parameters based on local knowledge of 
pollutants of concern. Modifications and associated justifications shall be identified 
within SMARTS prior to conducting field sampling as specified in Section E.9.c.(i). 

Table 2. Action Level Concentrations for Indicator Parameters 

Indicator Action Level Concentration 
Parameter 

Ammonia >= 50 mg/L 
Color >= 500 units 
Conductivity >= 2,000 !-IS/cm 
Hardness <= 10 mg/L as CaC03 or >= 2,000 mg/L as 

CaC03 
pH <= 5 or >=9 
Potassium >= 20 mg/L 
Turbidity >= 1,000 NTU 

(c) Conduct follow up investigations per Section E.9.d. if the action level 
concentrations are exceeded. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unableto certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.9.d. Illicit Discharge Detection and Elimination Source Investigations and 
Corrective Actions 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date" of the permit, 
the Permittee shall develop written procedures for conducting investigations 
into the source of all non-storm water discharges suspected to be illicit 
discharges, including approaches to requiring such discharges to be 
eliminated, and procedures to implement corrective actions (e.g., BMPs). 
These procedures shall be included as part of the Illicit Discharge Detection 
and Elimination program. The Permittee may leverage existing inspection 
procedures and personnel to conduct illicit discharge detection and elimination 
source investigations and corrective actions. 

(ii) Implementation Level - At a minimum, the Permittee shall conduct an 
investigation(s) to identify and locate the source of any suspected illicit 
discharge within 72 hours of becoming aware of the suspected illicit discharge. 
For investigations that require more than 72 hours, the Permittee shall identify 
the actions being taken to identify and locate the source of the suspected illicit 
discharge. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 35 February 5, 2013 

-81-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

(b) Verify that indicator parameters, as specified in Table 2. Action Level 
Concentrations for Indicator Parameters are not exceeded. Alternatively, the 
Permittee may tailor Table 2 to align with parameters based on local knowledge of 
pollutants of concern. Modifications and associated justifications shall be identified 
within SMARTS prior to conducting field sampling as specified in Section E.9.c.(i). 

Table 2. Action Level Concentrations for Indicator Parameters 

Indicator Action Level Concentration 
Parameter 

Ammonia >= 50 mg/L 
Color >= 500 units 
Conductivity >= 2,000 !-IS/cm 
Hardness <= 10 mg/L as CaC03 or >= 2,000 mg/L as 

CaC03 
pH <= 5 or >=9 
Potassium >= 20 mg/L 
Turbidity >= 1,000 NTU 

(c) Conduct follow up investigations per Section E.9.d. if the action level 
concentrations are exceeded. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unableto certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.9.d. Illicit Discharge Detection and Elimination Source Investigations and 
Corrective Actions 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date" of the permit, 
the Permittee shall develop written procedures for conducting investigations 
into the source of all non-storm water discharges suspected to be illicit 
discharges, including approaches to requiring such discharges to be 
eliminated, and procedures to implement corrective actions (e.g., BMPs). 
These procedures shall be included as part of the Illicit Discharge Detection 
and Elimination program. The Permittee may leverage existing inspection 
procedures and personnel to conduct illicit discharge detection and elimination 
source investigations and corrective actions. 

(ii) Implementation Level - At a minimum, the Permittee shall conduct an 
investigation(s) to identify and locate the source of any suspected illicit 
discharge within 72 hours of becoming aware of the suspected illicit discharge. 
For investigations that require more than 72 hours, the Permittee shall identify 
the actions being taken to identify and locate the source of the suspected illicit 
discharge. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 35 February 5, 2013 



(a) Non-storm water discharges suspected of being sanitary sewage and/or 
significantly contaminated shall be investigated within 24 hours. 

(b) The Permittee shall prioritize investigations of suspected sanitary sewage and/or 
significantly contaminated discharges over investigations of non-storm water 
discharges suspected of being cooling water, wash water, or natural flows. 

(c) Report immediately the occurrence of any flows believed to be an immediate 
threat to human health or the environment to local Health Department. 

(d) Determine and document through its investigations the source of all non-storm 
water discharges. If the source of the non-storm water discharge is found to be 
a discharge authorized under this General Permit, or authorized under another 
NPDES permit, no further action is required. 

(e) Corrective Action to Eliminate Illicit Discharge - Once the source of the 
illicit discharge has been determined, the Permittee shall immediately 
notify the responsible party of the problem, and require the responsible 
party to conduct all necessary corrective actions to eliminate the non
storm water discharge within 72 hours of notification. Upon being notified 
that the discharge has been eliminated, conduct a follow-up investigation 
and field screening to verify that the discharge has been eliminated using 
BMPs or some other corrective action. The Permittee shall document its 
follow-up investigation. The Permittee may seek recovery and 
remediation costs from responsible parties or require compensation for 
the cost of field screening and investigations. Resulting enforcement 
actions shall follow the program's Enforcement Response Plan as 
specified in E.6.c. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.g.e. Spill Response Plan 

(i) Task Description - Within the first year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall develop and implement a spill response plan. 

(ii) Implementation Level- At a minimum, the spill response plan will incorporate the 
information from Section E.9.c. and outline the following: 

(a) Agency roles and responsibilities (e.g. County Department of Environmental 
. Health, local police department, local fire department, etc.) 

(b) The procedures for responding to complaints 
(c) How investigations are to be conducted 
(d) How clean up is initiated or conducted 
(e) How reporting is completed and what information is required 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of this 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 36 February 5, 2013 

-82-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

(a) Non-storm water discharges suspected of being sanitary sewage and/or 
significantly contaminated shall be investigated within 24 hours. 

(b) The Permittee shall prioritize investigations of suspected sanitary sewage and/or 
significantly contaminated discharges over investigations of non-storm water 
discharges suspected of being cooling water, wash water, or natural flows. 

(c) Report immediately the occurrence of any flows believed to be an immediate 
threat to human health or the environment to local Health Department. 

(d) Determine and document through its investigations the source of all non-storm 
water discharges. If the source of the non-storm water discharge is found to be 
a discharge authorized under this General Permit, or authorized under another 
NPDES permit, no further action is required. 

(e) Corrective Action to Eliminate Illicit Discharge - Once the source of the 
illicit discharge has been determined, the Permittee shall immediately 
notify the responsible party of the problem, and require the responsible 
party to conduct all necessary corrective actions to eliminate the non
storm water discharge within 72 hours of notification. Upon being notified 
that the discharge has been eliminated, conduct a follow-up investigation 
and field screening to verify that the discharge has been eliminated using 
BMPs or some other corrective action. The Permittee shall document its 
follow-up investigation. The Permittee may seek recovery and 
remediation costs from responsible parties or require compensation for 
the cost of field screening and investigations. Resulting enforcement 
actions shall follow the program's Enforcement Response Plan as 
specified in E.6.c. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.g.e. Spill Response Plan 

(i) Task Description - Within the first year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall develop and implement a spill response plan. 

(ii) Implementation Level- At a minimum, the spill response plan will incorporate the 
information from Section E.9.c. and outline the following: 

(a) Agency roles and responsibilities (e.g. County Department of Environmental 
. Health, local police department, local fire department, etc.) 

(b) The procedures for responding to complaints 
(c) How investigations are to be conducted 
(d) How clean up is initiated or conducted 
(e) How reporting is completed and what information is required 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of this 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 36 February 5, 2013 



program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.10. CONSTRUCTION SITE STORM WATER RUNOFF CONTROL PROGRAM 

The Permittee shall develop, implement, and enforce a program to prevent construction site 
discharges of pollutants and impacts on beneficial uses of receiving waters. The program shall 
include the development of an enforceable construction site storm water runoff control 
ordinance for all projects that disturb less than one acre of soil. The construction site storm 
water runoff control ordinance shall include, at a minimum, requirements for erosion and 
sediment controls, soil stabilization, dewatering, source controls, pollution prevention measures 
and prohibited discharges. 

Projects that disturb one acre or more of soil or disturb less than one acre but are part of a 
larger common plan or development or sale are subject to the CGP in addition to the 
construction site storm water runoff control ordinance. 

E.10.a. Construction Site Inventory 

(i) Task Description - Within the first year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall maintain an inventory of all projects subject to the local construction 
site storm water runoff control ordinance within its jurisdiction. 

(ii) Implementation Level -The Permittee shall maintain an inventory of all construction 
projects and continuously update as new projects are permitted and projects are 
completed. The inventory shall address all projects subject to the local construction 
site storm water runoff control ordinance. For projects subject to the CGP the 
Permittee may obtain the inventory from the SMARTS database and shall supplement 
as needed by the Permittee. 

The inventory shall contain, at a minimum: 
(a) Relevant contact information for each project (e.g., name, address, phone, email, 

etc. for the owner and contractor); 
(b) The basic site information including location, status, size of the project and area of 

disturbance; 
(c) The location of the project with respect to all waterbodies, waterbodies listed as 

impaired by sediment-related pollutants, and waterbodies listed as impaired for 
sediment or turbidity under the CWA Section 303(d) and approved by U.S. EPA; 

(d) Project threat to water quality; 
(e) Current construction phase; 
(f) The required inspection frequency per the local construction site storm water 

runoff control ordinance; 
(g) The pr.oject start and anticipated completion dates; and 
(h) The date the Permittee approved the erosion and sediment control plan in 

accordance with this Section. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 37 February 5, 2013 

-83-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.10. CONSTRUCTION SITE STORM WATER RUNOFF CONTROL PROGRAM 

The Permittee shall develop, implement, and enforce a program to prevent construction site 
discharges of pollutants and impacts on beneficial uses of receiving waters. The program shall 
include the development of an enforceable construction site storm water runoff control 
ordinance for all projects that disturb less than one acre of soil. The construction site storm 
water runoff control ordinance shall include, at a minimum, requirements for erosion and 
sediment controls, soil stabilization, dewatering, source controls, pollution prevention measures 
and prohibited discharges. 

Projects that disturb one acre or more of soil or disturb less than one acre but are part of a 
larger common plan or development or sale are subject to the CGP in addition to the 
construction site storm water runoff control ordinance. 

E.10.a. Construction Site Inventory 

(i) Task Description - Within the first year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall maintain an inventory of all projects subject to the local construction 
site storm water runoff control ordinance within its jurisdiction. 

(ii) Implementation Level -The Permittee shall maintain an inventory of all construction 
projects and continuously update as new projects are permitted and projects are 
completed. The inventory shall address all projects subject to the local construction 
site storm water runoff control ordinance. For projects subject to the CGP the 
Permittee may obtain the inventory from the SMARTS database and shall supplement 
as needed by the Permittee. 

The inventory shall contain, at a minimum: 
(a) Relevant contact information for each project (e.g., name, address, phone, email, 

etc. for the owner and contractor); 
(b) The basic site information including location, status, size of the project and area of 

disturbance; 
(c) The location of the project with respect to all waterbodies, waterbodies listed as 

impaired by sediment-related pollutants, and waterbodies listed as impaired for 
sediment or turbidity under the CWA Section 303(d) and approved by U.S. EPA; 

(d) Project threat to water quality; 
(e) Current construction phase; 
(f) The required inspection frequency per the local construction site storm water 

runoff control ordinance; 
(g) The pr.oject start and anticipated completion dates; and 
(h) The date the Permittee approved the erosion and sediment control plan in 

accordance with this Section. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 37 February 5, 2013 



(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.10.b. Construction Plan Review and Approval Procedures 

(i) Task Description - Within the first year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall develop procedures to review and approve relevant 
construction plan documents. 

(ii) Implementation Level - The review procedures shall meet the following 
minimum requirements: 

(a) Prior to issuing a grading or building permit, the Permittee shall require each 
operator of a construction activity within its jurisdiction to prepare and submit 
an erosion and sediment control plan for the Permittee's review and written 
approval. The Permittee shall not approve any erosion and sediment control 
plan unless it contains appropriate site-specific construction site BMPs that 
meet the minimum requirements of the Permittee's construction site storm 
water runoff control ordinance. If the erosion and sediment control plan is 
revised, the Permittee shall review and approve those revisions. 

(b) Require that the erosion and sediment control plan include the rationale used 
for selecting BMPs including supporting soil loss calculations, if necessary. 

(c) Require that the erosion and sediment control plan list applicable permits 
directly associated with the grading activity, including, but not limited to the 
State Water Board's CGP, State Water Board 401 Water Quality Certification, 
U.S. Army.Corps 404 permit, and California Department of Fish and Game 
1600 Agreement. Include as a condition of the grading permit that the operator 
submit evidence to the MS4 that all permits directly associated with the grading 
activity have been obtained prior to commencing the soil disturbing activities 
authorized by the grading permit. 

(d) Conduct and document review of each erosion and sediment control plan using 
a checklist or similar process. 

(e) The SWPPP developed pursuant to the CGP may substitute for the erosion and 
sediment control plan for projects where a SWPPP is developed. The 
Permittee is responsible for reviewing applicable portions of the SWPPP for 
compliance with the Permittee's construction site storm water runoff control 
ordinance and this Order. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 38 February 5, 2013 

-84-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.10.b. Construction Plan Review and Approval Procedures 

(i) Task Description - Within the first year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall develop procedures to review and approve relevant 
construction plan documents. 

(ii) Implementation Level - The review procedures shall meet the following 
minimum requirements: 

(a) Prior to issuing a grading or building permit, the Permittee shall require each 
operator of a construction activity within its jurisdiction to prepare and submit 
an erosion and sediment control plan for the Permittee's review and written 
approval. The Permittee shall not approve any erosion and sediment control 
plan unless it contains appropriate site-specific construction site BMPs that 
meet the minimum requirements of the Permittee's construction site storm 
water runoff control ordinance. If the erosion and sediment control plan is 
revised, the Permittee shall review and approve those revisions. 

(b) Require that the erosion and sediment control plan include the rationale used 
for selecting BMPs including supporting soil loss calculations, if necessary. 

(c) Require that the erosion and sediment control plan list applicable permits 
directly associated with the grading activity, including, but not limited to the 
State Water Board's CGP, State Water Board 401 Water Quality Certification, 
U.S. Army.Corps 404 permit, and California Department of Fish and Game 
1600 Agreement. Include as a condition of the grading permit that the operator 
submit evidence to the MS4 that all permits directly associated with the grading 
activity have been obtained prior to commencing the soil disturbing activities 
authorized by the grading permit. 

(d) Conduct and document review of each erosion and sediment control plan using 
a checklist or similar process. 

(e) The SWPPP developed pursuant to the CGP may substitute for the erosion and 
sediment control plan for projects where a SWPPP is developed. The 
Permittee is responsible for reviewing applicable portions of the SWPPP for 
compliance with the Permittee's construction site storm water runoff control 
ordinance and this Order. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 38 February 5, 2013 



E.10.c. Construction Site Inspection and Enforcement 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, 
the Permittee shall use legal authority to implement procedures for inspecting 
public and private construction projects and conduct enforcement if necessary. 
The Permittee may leverage existing inspection procedures and personnel to 
conduct construction site inspections and enforcement. 

(ii) Implementation Level - The inspection procedures shall be implemented to 
verify compliance with the Permittee's construction site storm water control 
ordinance. Ata minimum, inspections must be conducted at priority 
construction sites (defined below) prior to land disturbance (during the rainy 
season), during active construction and following active construction. 
Construction site inspections shall include assessment of compliance with the 
Permittee's construction site storm water runoff control ordinance, and other 
applicable ordinances. A Permittee may propose, for Regional Water Board 
Executive Officer approval, an alternative approach for construction site 
oversight, provided the Permittee demonstrates the approach will be equally 
effective at reducing the discharge of pollutants from construction sites to the 
maximum extent practicable. 

Prior to allowing an operator to commence land disturbance during the rainy 
season, the Permittee must perform an inspection, to ensure all necessary 
sediment controls are in place. During active construction, the Permittee shall 
conduct inspections, based on prioritization of construction sites. Active 
construction inspections shall include at a minimum: inspection of maintenance 
of BMPs, effectiveness of BMPs installed and verification that pollutants of 
concern are not discharged into receiving water bodies. 

Prioritization criteria shall be based on project threat to water quality. Project 
threat to water quality includes soil erosion potential, site slope, projects size 
and type, sensitivity of receiving water bodies, proximity to receiving water 
bodies, non-storm water discharges, projects more than one acre that are not 
subject to the CGP (sites that have obtained an Erosivity Waiver) and past 
record of non-compliance by the operator of the construction site. Inspection 
frequencies shall be conducted based on the prioritization criteria described 
above. 

At the conclusion of the project, the Permittee must inspect to ensure that all 
disturbed areas have been stabilized and that all temporary erosion and 
sediment control measures that are no longer needed have been removed as 
required by the local construction site storm water control ordinance. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of this 
program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 39 February 5, 2013 

-85-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

E.10.c. Construction Site Inspection and Enforcement 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, 
the Permittee shall use legal authority to implement procedures for inspecting 
public and private construction projects and conduct enforcement if necessary. 
The Permittee may leverage existing inspection procedures and personnel to 
conduct construction site inspections and enforcement. 

(ii) Implementation Level - The inspection procedures shall be implemented to 
verify compliance with the Permittee's construction site storm water control 
ordinance. Ata minimum, inspections must be conducted at priority 
construction sites (defined below) prior to land disturbance (during the rainy 
season), during active construction and following active construction. 
Construction site inspections shall include assessment of compliance with the 
Permittee's construction site storm water runoff control ordinance, and other 
applicable ordinances. A Permittee may propose, for Regional Water Board 
Executive Officer approval, an alternative approach for construction site 
oversight, provided the Permittee demonstrates the approach will be equally 
effective at reducing the discharge of pollutants from construction sites to the 
maximum extent practicable. 

Prior to allowing an operator to commence land disturbance during the rainy 
season, the Permittee must perform an inspection, to ensure all necessary 
sediment controls are in place. During active construction, the Permittee shall 
conduct inspections, based on prioritization of construction sites. Active 
construction inspections shall include at a minimum: inspection of maintenance 
of BMPs, effectiveness of BMPs installed and verification that pollutants of 
concern are not discharged into receiving water bodies. 

Prioritization criteria shall be based on project threat to water quality. Project 
threat to water quality includes soil erosion potential, site slope, projects size 
and type, sensitivity of receiving water bodies, proximity to receiving water 
bodies, non-storm water discharges, projects more than one acre that are not 
subject to the CGP (sites that have obtained an Erosivity Waiver) and past 
record of non-compliance by the operator of the construction site. Inspection 
frequencies shall be conducted based on the prioritization criteria described 
above. 

At the conclusion of the project, the Permittee must inspect to ensure that all 
disturbed areas have been stabilized and that all temporary erosion and 
sediment control measures that are no longer needed have been removed as 
required by the local construction site storm water control ordinance. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of this 
program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 39 February 5, 2013 



E.11. POLLUTION PREVENTION/GOOD HOUSEKEEPING FOR PERMITTEE OPERATIONS 
PROGRAM 

The Permittee shall develop and implement a program to prevent or reduce the amount of 
pollutant runoff from Permittee operations. The Permittee shall implement appropriate 
BMPs for preventing or reducing the amount of storm water pollution generated by 
Permittee operations. 

E.11.a. Inventory of Permittee-Owned and Operated Facilities 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall develop and maintain an inventory of Permittee-owned or operated 
facilities within their jurisdiction that are a threat to water quality, if applicable. 

(ii) Implementation Level- The inventory shall include all Permittee-owned or operated 
facilities within their jurisdiction that are potential significant sources of pollution in 
storm water, including the following if applicable: 

• Airports 
• Animal control facilities 
• Chemical storage facilities 
• Composting facilities 
• Equipment storage and maintenance facilities (including landscape-related 

operations) 
• Fuel farms 
• Hazardous waste disposal facilities 
• Hazardous waste handling and transfer facilities 
• Incinerators 
• Landfills 
• Materials storage yards 
• Pesticide storage facilities 
• Public buildings, including schools, libraries, police stations, fire stations, 

Permittee (municipal) buildings, restrooms, and similar buildings (Le., 
buildings with a similar potential to be sources of storm water pollution as 
the examples provided) 

• Public parking lots 
• Public golf courses 
• Public swimming pools 
• Public parks 
• Public works yards 
• Public marinas 
• Recycling facilities 
• Salt or de-icing storage facilities 
• Solid waste handling and transfer facilities 
• Transportation hubs (e.g. bus transfer stations) 
• Vehicle storage and maintenance areas 
• Vehicle fueling facilities 
• Other (as directed by appropriate Regional Water Board) 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 40 February 5, 2013 

-86-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

E.11. POLLUTION PREVENTION/GOOD HOUSEKEEPING FOR PERMITTEE OPERATIONS 
PROGRAM 

The Permittee shall develop and implement a program to prevent or reduce the amount of 
pollutant runoff from Permittee operations. The Permittee shall implement appropriate 
BMPs for preventing or reducing the amount of storm water pollution generated by 
Permittee operations. 

E.11.a. Inventory of Permittee-Owned and Operated Facilities 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall develop and maintain an inventory of Permittee-owned or operated 
facilities within their jurisdiction that are a threat to water quality, if applicable. 

(ii) Implementation Level- The inventory shall include all Permittee-owned or operated 
facilities within their jurisdiction that are potential significant sources of pollution in 
storm water, including the following if applicable: 

• Airports 
• Animal control facilities 
• Chemical storage facilities 
• Composting facilities 
• Equipment storage and maintenance facilities (including landscape-related 

operations) 
• Fuel farms 
• Hazardous waste disposal facilities 
• Hazardous waste handling and transfer facilities 
• Incinerators 
• Landfills 
• Materials storage yards 
• Pesticide storage facilities 
• Public buildings, including schools, libraries, police stations, fire stations, 

Permittee (municipal) buildings, restrooms, and similar buildings (Le., 
buildings with a similar potential to be sources of storm water pollution as 
the examples provided) 

• Public parking lots 
• Public golf courses 
• Public swimming pools 
• Public parks 
• Public works yards 
• Public marinas 
• Recycling facilities 
• Salt or de-icing storage facilities 
• Solid waste handling and transfer facilities 
• Transportation hubs (e.g. bus transfer stations) 
• Vehicle storage and maintenance areas 
• Vehicle fueling facilities 
• Other (as directed by appropriate Regional Water Board) 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 40 February 5, 2013 



(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of this 
program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.11.b. Map of Permittee-Owned or Operated Facilities 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, submit 
a map of the area within the permit boundary and identify where the inventoried 
Permittee-owned or operated facilities are located. 

(ii) Implementation Level- The map identifying the location of the inventoried Permittee
owned or operated facilities shall identify the storm water drainage system (e.g., 
storm water outfalls or other mechanisms in which storm water leaves the site) 
corresponding to each of the facilities as well as the receiving waters to which these 
facilities discharge. The map shall also show the facility and the manager of each 
facility, including contact information. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of this 
program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.11.c. Facility Assessment 

(i) Task Description - Within the third year of the effective date of the permit, for all the 
inventoried Permittee-owned or operated facilities, the Permittee shall conduct a 
comprehensive inspection and assessment of pollutant discharge potential and 
identification of pollutant hotspots using the Center for Watershed Protection's (CWP) 
guide on Urban Subwatershed and Site Reconnaissance, or equivalent. 18 

(ii) Implementation Levels - Conduct an annual review and assessment of all 
municipally owned or operated facilities to determine their potential to impact surface 
waters. The assessment shall include the following: 

(a) Identification of pollutant hotspots: 

Based on the annual assessment, the Permittee shall identify those 
facilities that have a high potential to generate storm water and non
storm water pollutants as pollutant hotspots and assign them a high 
priority. Among the factors to be considered are the type and volume of 
pollutants stored at the site, the presence of improperly stored materials, 

18 The Permittee shall use the Center for Watershed Protection's Restoration Manual Series guide on Urban Subwatershed and Site 
Reconnaissance: a User's Manual (available as a free download at www.cwp.org) or equivalent when identifying priority areas. 
Hotspots are specific operations in a subwatershed that may generate high storm water pollution. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 41 February 5,2013 

-87-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of this 
program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.11.b. Map of Permittee-Owned or Operated Facilities 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, submit 
a map of the area within the permit boundary and identify where the inventoried 
Permittee-owned or operated facilities are located. 

(ii) Implementation Level- The map identifying the location of the inventoried Permittee
owned or operated facilities shall identify the storm water drainage system (e.g., 
storm water outfalls or other mechanisms in which storm water leaves the site) 
corresponding to each of the facilities as well as the receiving waters to which these 
facilities discharge. The map shall also show the facility and the manager of each 
facility, including contact information. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of this 
program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.11.c. Facility Assessment 

(i) Task Description - Within the third year of the effective date of the permit, for all the 
inventoried Permittee-owned or operated facilities, the Permittee shall conduct a 
comprehensive inspection and assessment of pollutant discharge potential and 
identification of pollutant hotspots using the Center for Watershed Protection's (CWP) 
guide on Urban Subwatershed and Site Reconnaissance, or equivalent. 18 

(ii) Implementation Levels - Conduct an annual review and assessment of all 
municipally owned or operated facilities to determine their potential to impact surface 
waters. The assessment shall include the following: 

(a) Identification of pollutant hotspots: 

Based on the annual assessment, the Permittee shall identify those 
facilities that have a high potential to generate storm water and non
storm water pollutants as pollutant hotspots and assign them a high 
priority. Among the factors to be considered are the type and volume of 
pollutants stored at the site, the presence of improperly stored materials, 

18 The Permittee shall use the Center for Watershed Protection's Restoration Manual Series guide on Urban Subwatershed and Site 
Reconnaissance: a User's Manual (available as a free download at www.cwp.org) or equivalent when identifying priority areas. 
Hotspots are specific operations in a subwatershed that may generate high storm water pollution. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 41 February 5,2013 



activities that should not be performed outside (e.g., changing automotive 
fluids, vehicle washing), proximity to water bodies, poor housekeeping 
practices, and the discharge of pollutant(s) of concern to receiving 
water(s). Pollutant hotspots shall include, at a minimum, the Permittee's 
maintenance yards, hazardous waste facilities, fuel storage and/or 
dispensing locations, airports marinas, and any other facilities at which 
chemicals or other materials have a high potential to be discharged in 
storm water. 

(b) Documentation of the comprehensive assessment procedures and 
results: 

The Permittee shall document the procedures it uses for conducting the 
comprehensive assessment along with a copy of any site evaluation 
checklists used to conduct the comprehensive assessment. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of this 
program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.11.d. Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plans 

(i) Task Description - Within the fourth year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall develop and implement SWPPPs for pollutant hotspots. If a Permittee 
has an existing document such as Hazardous Materials Business Plan, Spill 
Prevention Plan, or other equivalent document the Permittee is not required to 
develop a SWPPP. 

(ii) Implementation Level- The Permittee shall implement the following: 

(a) The Permittee shall develop and implement a site-specific SWPPP that 
identifies existing storm water BMPs and a set of storm water BMPs to be 
installed, implemented, and maintained to minimize the discharge of pollutants 
to protect water quality. The Permittee may utilize the CWP guide on Urban 
Subwatershed and Site Reconnaissance, or equivalent, as guidance. 

(b) The SWPPP(s) shall be kept on-site at each of the Permittee-owned or 
operated facilities' offices for which it was completed. The SWPPP shall be 
updated as necessary. 

(c) At a minimum the SWPPP will address the following: 

1) Facility specific information (location, owner, address, etc.) 

2) Purpose of the document 

3) Key staff/contacts at the facility 

4) Site map with drainage identified 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 42 February 5, 2013 

-88-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

activities that should not be performed outside (e.g., changing automotive 
fluids, vehicle washing), proximity to water bodies, poor housekeeping 
practices, and the discharge of pollutant(s) of concern to receiving 
water(s). Pollutant hotspots shall include, at a minimum, the Permittee's 
maintenance yards, hazardous waste facilities, fuel storage and/or 
dispensing locations, airports marinas, and any other facilities at which 
chemicals or other materials have a high potential to be discharged in 
storm water. 

(b) Documentation of the comprehensive assessment procedures and 
results: 

The Permittee shall document the procedures it uses for conducting the 
comprehensive assessment along with a copy of any site evaluation 
checklists used to conduct the comprehensive assessment. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of this 
program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.11.d. Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plans 

(i) Task Description - Within the fourth year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall develop and implement SWPPPs for pollutant hotspots. If a Permittee 
has an existing document such as Hazardous Materials Business Plan, Spill 
Prevention Plan, or other equivalent document the Permittee is not required to 
develop a SWPPP. 

(ii) Implementation Level- The Permittee shall implement the following: 

(a) The Permittee shall develop and implement a site-specific SWPPP that 
identifies existing storm water BMPs and a set of storm water BMPs to be 
installed, implemented, and maintained to minimize the discharge of pollutants 
to protect water quality. The Permittee may utilize the CWP guide on Urban 
Subwatershed and Site Reconnaissance, or equivalent, as guidance. 

(b) The SWPPP(s) shall be kept on-site at each of the Permittee-owned or 
operated facilities' offices for which it was completed. The SWPPP shall be 
updated as necessary. 

(c) At a minimum the SWPPP will address the following: 

1) Facility specific information (location, owner, address, etc.) 

2) Purpose of the document 

3) Key staff/contacts at the facility 

4) Site map with drainage identified 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 42 February 5, 2013 



5) Identification of significant materials that are handled and stored at the 
facility that may be exposed to storm water 

6) Description of potential pollutant sources 

7) Facility BMPs 

8) Spill control and cleanup - response to spills 

9) Inspection schedule 

10) Inspection procedures and checklist for inspections conducted to ensure 
proper selection, implementation, and maintenance of all BMPs 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.11.e.lnspections, Visual Monitoring and Remedial Action 

(i) Task Description - Within the fifth year of the effective date of the Permit, the 
Permittee shall conduct regular inspections of Permittee-owned and operated 
facilities. 

(ii) Implementation Level-Inspections shall be conducted as follows: 

(a) Quarterly visual hotspot inspections - Perform quarterly visual inspections, in 
accordance with the inspection procedures and inspection checklist developed 
for each Permittee-owned or operated hotspot, to ensure materials and 
equipment are clean and orderly; to minimize the potential for pollutant 
discharge; and to ensure effective selection, implementation, and maintenance 
of BMPs. The Permittee shall look for evidence of spills and immediately clean 
them up to prevent contact with precipitation or runoff. The quarterly 
inspections Shall be tracked in a log for every facility, and records kept with the 
SWPPP (records may be kept electronically). The inspection report shall also 
include any identified deficiencies and the corrective actions taken to correct 
the deficiencies. 

(b) Annual Hotspot comprehensive inspections - At least once per year, the 
Permittee shall conduct a comprehensive inspection of each hotspot facility, 
including all storm water BMPs, in accordance with the facility-specific 
inspection procedures and inspection checklist. The Permittee shall pay 
specific attention, without limiting its attention, t6: waste storage areas, 
dumpsters, vehicle and equipment maintenance/fueling areas, material 
handling areas, and similar potential pollutant-generating areas. The annual 
inspection results shall be documented and records kept with the SWPPP. The 
inspection report shall also include any identified deficiencies and the 
corrective actions taken to correct deficiencies. 

(c) Quarterly Hotspot visual observation of storm water and non-storm water 
discharges - At least once per quarter visually observe discharge locations 
from hotspot facilities. Where discharges are observed identify any observed 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 43 February 5, 2013 

-89-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

5) Identification of significant materials that are handled and stored at the 
facility that may be exposed to storm water 

6) Description of potential pollutant sources 

7) Facility BMPs 

8) Spill control and cleanup - response to spills 

9) Inspection schedule 

10) Inspection procedures and checklist for inspections conducted to ensure 
proper selection, implementation, and maintenance of all BMPs 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.11.e.lnspections, Visual Monitoring and Remedial Action 

(i) Task Description - Within the fifth year of the effective date of the Permit, the 
Permittee shall conduct regular inspections of Permittee-owned and operated 
facilities. 

(ii) Implementation Level-Inspections shall be conducted as follows: 

(a) Quarterly visual hotspot inspections - Perform quarterly visual inspections, in 
accordance with the inspection procedures and inspection checklist developed 
for each Permittee-owned or operated hotspot, to ensure materials and 
equipment are clean and orderly; to minimize the potential for pollutant 
discharge; and to ensure effective selection, implementation, and maintenance 
of BMPs. The Permittee shall look for evidence of spills and immediately clean 
them up to prevent contact with precipitation or runoff. The quarterly 
inspections Shall be tracked in a log for every facility, and records kept with the 
SWPPP (records may be kept electronically). The inspection report shall also 
include any identified deficiencies and the corrective actions taken to correct 
the deficiencies. 

(b) Annual Hotspot comprehensive inspections - At least once per year, the 
Permittee shall conduct a comprehensive inspection of each hotspot facility, 
including all storm water BMPs, in accordance with the facility-specific 
inspection procedures and inspection checklist. The Permittee shall pay 
specific attention, without limiting its attention, t6: waste storage areas, 
dumpsters, vehicle and equipment maintenance/fueling areas, material 
handling areas, and similar potential pollutant-generating areas. The annual 
inspection results shall be documented and records kept with the SWPPP. The 
inspection report shall also include any identified deficiencies and the 
corrective actions taken to correct deficiencies. 

(c) Quarterly Hotspot visual observation of storm water and non-storm water 
discharges - At least once per quarter visually observe discharge locations 
from hotspot facilities. Where discharges are observed identify any observed 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 43 February 5, 2013 



problems (e.g., color, foam, sheen, turbidity) associated with pollutant sources 
or BMPs shall be remedied as soon as practicable or before the next storm 
event, whichever is sooner. Visual observations shall be documented, and 
records kept with the SWPPP. This inspection shall be done in accordance 
with the developed standard operating procedures. The inspection report shall 
also include any identified deficiencies and the corrective actions taken to 
correct the deficiencies. 

(d) Non-Hotspot Inspection - At a minimum, inspect each inventoried municipal 
facility that is not a hotspot, once per permit term. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.11.f. Storm Drain System Assessment and Prioritization 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall develop and implement procedures to assess and prioritize MS4 
storm drain system maintenance, including but not limited to, catch basins, pipe and 
pump infrastructure, above-ground conveyances, including receiving water bodies 
within the Permittee's urbanized area and detention basins. 

If flood conveyance maintenance is undertaken by another entity, the Permittee shall 
coordinate with the flood conveyance management entity by year three to assess 
and prioritize maintenance of the MS4 storm drain system. 

(ii) Implementation Level- The Permittee shall: 

Assess/prioritize storm drain system facilities for c1eanout - Assign a priority to MS4 
storm drain facilities within the Permittee's urbanized areas based on accumulation 
of sediment, trash and/or debris. In particular, assign high priority to catch basin 
meeting any of the following criteria: 

1) Catch basins known to accumulate a significant amount of sediment, trash, 
and/or debris; 

2) Catch basins collecting large volumes of runoff; 

3) Catch basin collecting runoff from area that do not receive regular sweet 
sweeping; 

4) Catch basins collecting runoff from drainage areas with exposed or 
disturbed soil; or 

5) Catch basins that receive citizen complaints/reports. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 44 February 5, 2013 

-90-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

problems (e.g., color, foam, sheen, turbidity) associated with pollutant sources 
or BMPs shall be remedied as soon as practicable or before the next storm 
event, whichever is sooner. Visual observations shall be documented, and 
records kept with the SWPPP. This inspection shall be done in accordance 
with the developed standard operating procedures. The inspection report shall 
also include any identified deficiencies and the corrective actions taken to 
correct the deficiencies. 

(d) Non-Hotspot Inspection - At a minimum, inspect each inventoried municipal 
facility that is not a hotspot, once per permit term. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.11.f. Storm Drain System Assessment and Prioritization 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall develop and implement procedures to assess and prioritize MS4 
storm drain system maintenance, including but not limited to, catch basins, pipe and 
pump infrastructure, above-ground conveyances, including receiving water bodies 
within the Permittee's urbanized area and detention basins. 

If flood conveyance maintenance is undertaken by another entity, the Permittee shall 
coordinate with the flood conveyance management entity by year three to assess 
and prioritize maintenance of the MS4 storm drain system. 

(ii) Implementation Level- The Permittee shall: 

Assess/prioritize storm drain system facilities for c1eanout - Assign a priority to MS4 
storm drain facilities within the Permittee's urbanized areas based on accumulation 
of sediment, trash and/or debris. In particular, assign high priority to catch basin 
meeting any of the following criteria: 

1) Catch basins known to accumulate a significant amount of sediment, trash, 
and/or debris; 

2) Catch basins collecting large volumes of runoff; 

3) Catch basin collecting runoff from area that do not receive regular sweet 
sweeping; 

4) Catch basins collecting runoff from drainage areas with exposed or 
disturbed soil; or 

5) Catch basins that receive citizen complaints/reports. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 44 February 5, 2013 



and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.11.g. Maintenance of Storm Drain System 

(i) Task Description - Within the third year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall begin maintenance of all high priority storm drain systems on an 
ongoing schedule. 

(ii) Implementation Level- The Permittee shall begin maintenance of storm drain 
systems according to the procedures and priorities developed according to this 
Section. At a minimum the Permittee shall: 

(a) Inspect storm drain systems - Based on the priorities assigned above in 
Section E.11.f.(ii)(a), develop and implement a strategy to inspect storm drain 
systems within the Permittee's jurisdiction. At a minimum, inspect all high 
priority catch basins and systems annually. 

(b) Clean storm drains - Develop and implement a schedule to clean high priority 
catch basins and other systems. Cleaning frequencies shall be based on 
priority areas, with higher priority areas receiving more frequent maintenance. 

(c) Labeling catch basins - Ensure that each catch basin in high foot traffic areas 
includes a legible storm water awareness message (e.g., a label, stencil, 
marker, or pre-cast message such as "drains to the creek" or "only rain in the 
drain"). Catch basins with illegible or missing labels shall be recorded and re
labeled within one month of inspection. 

(d) Maintain surface drainage structures - High priority facilities, such as those with 
recurrent illegal dumping, shall be reviewed and maintained annually as 
needed. Non-priority facilities shall be reviewed as needed. Removal of trash 
and debris from high priority areas shall occur annually prior to the rainy 
season. 

(e) Dispose of waste materials - Develop and implement a procedure to dewater 
and dispose of materials extracted from catch basins. This procedure shall 
ensure that water removed during the catch basin cleaning process and waste 
material will not reenter the MS4. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between 
the program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness 
Assessment and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness 
of the storm water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a 
requirement in this program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.11.h. Permittee Operations and Maintenance Activities (O&M) 

(i) Task Description - Within the third year of the effective date of the permit, 
the Permittee shall assess their O&M activities for potential to discharge 
pollutants in storm water and inspect all O&M BMPs on a quarterly basis. 

(ii) Implementation Level - The Permittee shall: 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 45 February 5, 2013 

-91-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.11.g. Maintenance of Storm Drain System 

(i) Task Description - Within the third year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall begin maintenance of all high priority storm drain systems on an 
ongoing schedule. 

(ii) Implementation Level- The Permittee shall begin maintenance of storm drain 
systems according to the procedures and priorities developed according to this 
Section. At a minimum the Permittee shall: 

(a) Inspect storm drain systems - Based on the priorities assigned above in 
Section E.11.f.(ii)(a), develop and implement a strategy to inspect storm drain 
systems within the Permittee's jurisdiction. At a minimum, inspect all high 
priority catch basins and systems annually. 

(b) Clean storm drains - Develop and implement a schedule to clean high priority 
catch basins and other systems. Cleaning frequencies shall be based on 
priority areas, with higher priority areas receiving more frequent maintenance. 

(c) Labeling catch basins - Ensure that each catch basin in high foot traffic areas 
includes a legible storm water awareness message (e.g., a label, stencil, 
marker, or pre-cast message such as "drains to the creek" or "only rain in the 
drain"). Catch basins with illegible or missing labels shall be recorded and re
labeled within one month of inspection. 

(d) Maintain surface drainage structures - High priority facilities, such as those with 
recurrent illegal dumping, shall be reviewed and maintained annually as 
needed. Non-priority facilities shall be reviewed as needed. Removal of trash 
and debris from high priority areas shall occur annually prior to the rainy 
season. 

(e) Dispose of waste materials - Develop and implement a procedure to dewater 
and dispose of materials extracted from catch basins. This procedure shall 
ensure that water removed during the catch basin cleaning process and waste 
material will not reenter the MS4. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between 
the program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness 
Assessment and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness 
of the storm water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a 
requirement in this program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.11.h. Permittee Operations and Maintenance Activities (O&M) 

(i) Task Description - Within the third year of the effective date of the permit, 
the Permittee shall assess their O&M activities for potential to discharge 
pollutants in storm water and inspect all O&M BMPs on a quarterly basis. 

(ii) Implementation Level - The Permittee shall: 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 45 February 5, 2013 



(a) Develop and implement a program to assess O&M activities and 
subsequently develop applicable BMPs. The following Permittee O&M 
activities shall be included in the assessment for their potential to 
discharge pollutants in storm water: 

1) Road and parking lot maintenance, including sidewalk repair, curb and 
gutter repair, pothole repair, pavement marking, sealing, and re-paving 

2) Bridge maintenance, including re-chipping, grinding, saw cutting, and 
painting 

3) Cold weather operations, including plowing, sanding, and application of 
deicing compounds and maintenance of snow disposal areas 

4) Right-of-way maintenance, including mowing, herbicide and pesticide 
application, and planting vegetation 

5) Storm water relevant Permittee-sponsored or sanctioned events such as 
large outdoor festivals, parades, or street fairs (eg. Earth Day, Coastal 
Cleanup Day, Creek Week) 

6) Green waste deposited in the street 
7) Graffiti removal 
8) Hydrant flushing 

(b) Identify all materials that could be discharged from each of these O&M 
activities, and which materials contain pollutants. Typical pollutants associated 
with these activities include metals, chlorides, hydrocarbons (e.g. benzene, 
toluene, ethyl benzene, and xylene), sediment, green waste, herbicide, 
pesticide, dried paint, and trash. 

(c) Develop and implement a set of BMPs that, when applied during Permittee 
O&M activities, will reduce pollutants in storm water and non-storm water 
discharges. The Permittee shall use the CASQA Municipal Handbook or 
equivalent. 

(d) Evaluate BMPs - All BMPs implemented during O&M activities shall be 
evaluated quarterly. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between 
the program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness 
Assessment and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness 
of the storm water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a 
requirement in this program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.11.i. Incorporation of Water Quality and Habitat Enhancement Features in New 
Flood Management Facilities 

(i) Task Description - Within the third year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall develop and implement a process for incorporating water quality and 
habitat enha!lcement features into new and rehabilitated flood management 
facilities. 

(ii) Implementation Level - The Permittee shall develop and implement a process to 
incorporate water quality and habitat enhancement features in the design of all new 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 46 February 5, 2013 

-92-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

(a) Develop and implement a program to assess O&M activities and 
subsequently develop applicable BMPs. The following Permittee O&M 
activities shall be included in the assessment for their potential to 
discharge pollutants in storm water: 

1) Road and parking lot maintenance, including sidewalk repair, curb and 
gutter repair, pothole repair, pavement marking, sealing, and re-paving 

2) Bridge maintenance, including re-chipping, grinding, saw cutting, and 
painting 

3) Cold weather operations, including plowing, sanding, and application of 
deicing compounds and maintenance of snow disposal areas 

4) Right-of-way maintenance, including mowing, herbicide and pesticide 
application, and planting vegetation 

5) Storm water relevant Permittee-sponsored or sanctioned events such as 
large outdoor festivals, parades, or street fairs (eg. Earth Day, Coastal 
Cleanup Day, Creek Week) 

6) Green waste deposited in the street 
7) Graffiti removal 
8) Hydrant flushing 

(b) Identify all materials that could be discharged from each of these O&M 
activities, and which materials contain pollutants. Typical pollutants associated 
with these activities include metals, chlorides, hydrocarbons (e.g. benzene, 
toluene, ethyl benzene, and xylene), sediment, green waste, herbicide, 
pesticide, dried paint, and trash. 

(c) Develop and implement a set of BMPs that, when applied during Permittee 
O&M activities, will reduce pollutants in storm water and non-storm water 
discharges. The Permittee shall use the CASQA Municipal Handbook or 
equivalent. 

(d) Evaluate BMPs - All BMPs implemented during O&M activities shall be 
evaluated quarterly. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between 
the program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness 
Assessment and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness 
of the storm water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a 
requirement in this program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.11.i. Incorporation of Water Quality and Habitat Enhancement Features in New 
Flood Management Facilities 

(i) Task Description - Within the third year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall develop and implement a process for incorporating water quality and 
habitat enha!lcement features into new and rehabilitated flood management 
facilities. 

(ii) Implementation Level - The Permittee shall develop and implement a process to 
incorporate water quality and habitat enhancement features in the design of all new 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 46 February 5, 2013 



and rehabilitated flood management projects that are associated with the MS4 or 
that discharge to the MS4. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between 
the program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness 
Assessment and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness 
of the storm water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a 
requirement in this program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.11.j. Landscape Design and Maintenance 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall implement a landscape design and maintenance program to reduce 
the amount of water, pesticides, herbicides and fertilizers used during Permittee 
operations and activities 19. 

(ii) Implementation Tasks - At a minimum, the Permittee shall: 

(a) Evaluate pesticides, herbicides and fertilizers used and application activities 
performed and identify pollution prevention and source control opportunities. 

(b) Implement practices that reduce the discharge of pesticides, herbicides and 
fertilizers. At a minimum the Permittee shall: 

1) Implement educational activities for municipal applicators and distributors. 

2) Implement landscape management measures that rely on non-chemical 
solutions, including: 

a) Create drought-resistant soils by amending soils with compost; 
b) Create soil microbial community through the use of compost, compost 

tea, or inoculation; 
c) Use native and/or climate appropriate plants to reduce the amount of 

water, pesticides, herbicides and fertilizers used; 
d) Practice grasscycling on decorative turf landscapes to reduce water use 

and the need for fertilizers; 
e) Keeping grass clippings and leaves away from waterways and out of the 

street using mulching, composting, or landfilling; 
f) Preventing application of pesticides, herbicides and fertilizers during 

irrigation or within 48 hours of predicted rainfall with greater than 50% 
probability as predicted by National Oceanic and Atmospheric 
Administration (NOAA)20; 

g) Limiting or replacing herbicide and pesticide use (e.g., conducting manual 
weed and insect removal); 

h) Prohibiting application of pesticides, herbicides and fertilizers as required 
by the regulations DPR 11-004 Prevention of Surface Water 
Contamination by Pesticides enacted by the Department of Pesticide 
Regulation; 

19 Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance can be found at: 
http://www.water.ca. gov/wateruseefficiency/docs/MWEL009-1 0-09. pdf 
20 www.srh.noaa.gov/forecast 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 47 February 5,2013 

-93-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

and rehabilitated flood management projects that are associated with the MS4 or 
that discharge to the MS4. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between 
the program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness 
Assessment and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness 
of the storm water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a 
requirement in this program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.11.j. Landscape Design and Maintenance 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall implement a landscape design and maintenance program to reduce 
the amount of water, pesticides, herbicides and fertilizers used during Permittee 
operations and activities 19. 

(ii) Implementation Tasks - At a minimum, the Permittee shall: 

(a) Evaluate pesticides, herbicides and fertilizers used and application activities 
performed and identify pollution prevention and source control opportunities. 

(b) Implement practices that reduce the discharge of pesticides, herbicides and 
fertilizers. At a minimum the Permittee shall: 

1) Implement educational activities for municipal applicators and distributors. 

2) Implement landscape management measures that rely on non-chemical 
solutions, including: 

a) Create drought-resistant soils by amending soils with compost; 
b) Create soil microbial community through the use of compost, compost 

tea, or inoculation; 
c) Use native and/or climate appropriate plants to reduce the amount of 

water, pesticides, herbicides and fertilizers used; 
d) Practice grasscycling on decorative turf landscapes to reduce water use 

and the need for fertilizers; 
e) Keeping grass clippings and leaves away from waterways and out of the 

street using mulching, composting, or landfilling; 
f) Preventing application of pesticides, herbicides and fertilizers during 

irrigation or within 48 hours of predicted rainfall with greater than 50% 
probability as predicted by National Oceanic and Atmospheric 
Administration (NOAA)20; 

g) Limiting or replacing herbicide and pesticide use (e.g., conducting manual 
weed and insect removal); 

h) Prohibiting application of pesticides, herbicides and fertilizers as required 
by the regulations DPR 11-004 Prevention of Surface Water 
Contamination by Pesticides enacted by the Department of Pesticide 
Regulation; 

19 Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance can be found at: 
http://www.water.ca. gov/wateruseefficiency/docs/MWEL009-1 0-09. pdf 
20 www.srh.noaa.gov/forecast 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 47 February 5,2013 



i) Reducing mowing of grass to allow for greater pollutant removal, but not 
jeopardizing public safety. 

3) Collect and properly dispose of unused pesticides, herbicides, and 
fertilizers. 

4) Minimize irrigation run-off by using an evapotranspiration-based irrigation 
schedule and rain sensors. 

(c) Record the types and amounts of pesticides, herbicides and fertilizers used in 
the permit area. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between 
the program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness 
Assessment and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness 
of the storm water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a 
requirement in this program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.12. POST CONSTRUCTION STORM WATER MANAGEMENT PROGRAM 

E.12.a. Post-Construction Measures 

Permittees shall regulate development to comply with the following Sections: 

• E.12.b Site Design Measures 
• E.12.c. Regulated Projects 
• E.12.d. Source Control Measures 
• E.12.e. Low Impact Development (LID) Design Standards 
• E.12.f. Hydromodification Measures 
• E.12.g. Enforceable Mechanisms 
• E.12.h. Operation and Maintenance of Storm Water Control Measures 
• E.12.i. Post-Construction Best Management Practice Condition Assessment 
• E.12.j. Planning and Development Review Process 
• E.12.k. Post-Construction Storm Water Management Requirements Based on 

Assessment and Maintenance of Watershed Processes 
• E.12.1. Alternative Post-Construction Storm Water Management Program 

E.12.b. Site Design Measures 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall require implementation of site design measures for all projects that 
create and/or replace (including projects with no net increase in impervious 
footprint) between 2,500 square feet and 5,000 square feet of impervious surface, 
including detached single family homes that create and/or replace 2,500 square 
feet or more of impervious surface and are not part of a larger plan of 
development. Site design measures as specified in this section are not applicable 
to linear underground/overhead projects (LUPs). 

(ii) Implementation Level - Projects shall implement one or more of the following site 
design measures to reduce project site runoff: 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 48 February 5, 2013 

-94-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

i) Reducing mowing of grass to allow for greater pollutant removal, but not 
jeopardizing public safety. 

3) Collect and properly dispose of unused pesticides, herbicides, and 
fertilizers. 

4) Minimize irrigation run-off by using an evapotranspiration-based irrigation 
schedule and rain sensors. 

(c) Record the types and amounts of pesticides, herbicides and fertilizers used in 
the permit area. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between 
the program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness 
Assessment and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness 
of the storm water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a 
requirement in this program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.12. POST CONSTRUCTION STORM WATER MANAGEMENT PROGRAM 

E.12.a. Post-Construction Measures 

Permittees shall regulate development to comply with the following Sections: 

• E.12.b Site Design Measures 
• E.12.c. Regulated Projects 
• E.12.d. Source Control Measures 
• E.12.e. Low Impact Development (LID) Design Standards 
• E.12.f. Hydromodification Measures 
• E.12.g. Enforceable Mechanisms 
• E.12.h. Operation and Maintenance of Storm Water Control Measures 
• E.12.i. Post-Construction Best Management Practice Condition Assessment 
• E.12.j. Planning and Development Review Process 
• E.12.k. Post-Construction Storm Water Management Requirements Based on 

Assessment and Maintenance of Watershed Processes 
• E.12.1. Alternative Post-Construction Storm Water Management Program 

E.12.b. Site Design Measures 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall require implementation of site design measures for all projects that 
create and/or replace (including projects with no net increase in impervious 
footprint) between 2,500 square feet and 5,000 square feet of impervious surface, 
including detached single family homes that create and/or replace 2,500 square 
feet or more of impervious surface and are not part of a larger plan of 
development. Site design measures as specified in this section are not applicable 
to linear underground/overhead projects (LUPs). 

(ii) Implementation Level - Projects shall implement one or more of the following site 
design measures to reduce project site runoff: 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 48 February 5, 2013 



(a) Stream Setbacks and Buffers - a vegetated area including trees, shrubs, and 
herbaceous vegetation, that exists or is established to protect a stream system, 
lake reservoir, or coastal estuarine area; 

(b) Soil Quality Improvement and Maintenance - improvement and maintenance 
soil through soil amendments and creation of microbial community; 

(c) Tree Planting and Preservation - planting and preservation of healthy, 
established trees that include both evergreens and deciduous, as applicable; 

(d) Rooftop and Impervious Area Disconnection - rerouting of rooftop drainage 
pipes to drain rainwater to rain barrels, cisterns, or permeable areas instead of 
the storm sewer; 

(e) Porous Pavement - pavement that allows runoff to pass through it, thereby 
reducing the runoff from a site and surrounding areas and filtering pollutants; 

(f) Green Roofs - a vegetative layer grown on a roof (rooftop garden); 
(g) Vegetated Swales - a vegetated, open-channel management practice designed 

specifically to treat and attenuate storm water runoff; 
(h) Rain Barrels and Cisterns - system that collects and stores storm water runoff 

from a roof or other impervious surface. 

Project proponents shall use the State Water Board SMARTS Post-Construction 
Calculator21

, or equivalent to quantify the runoff reduction resulting from 
implementation of site design measures. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between 
the program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness 
Assessment and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness 
of the storm water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a 
requirement in this program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.12.c. Regulated Projects 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall implement standards to effectively reduce runoff and pollutants 
associated with runoff from Regulated Projects as defined below. 

(ii) Implementation Level- The Permittee shall regulate all projects that create 
and/or replace 5,000 square feet or more of impervious surface (Regulated 
Projects). The Permittee shall require these Regulated Projects to implement 
measures for site design, source control, runoff reduction, storm water treatment 
and baseline hydromodification management as defined in this Order. 

Regulated Projects do not include: 

• Detached single family home projects that are not part of a larger plan of 
development; 

• Interior remodels; 

21 The State Water Board SMARTS Post-Construction Calculator can be found at: 
https:llsmarts.waterboards.ca.gov/smarts/faces/SwSmartsLogin.jsp 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 49 February 5, 2013 

-95-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

(a) Stream Setbacks and Buffers - a vegetated area including trees, shrubs, and 
herbaceous vegetation, that exists or is established to protect a stream system, 
lake reservoir, or coastal estuarine area; 

(b) Soil Quality Improvement and Maintenance - improvement and maintenance 
soil through soil amendments and creation of microbial community; 

(c) Tree Planting and Preservation - planting and preservation of healthy, 
established trees that include both evergreens and deciduous, as applicable; 

(d) Rooftop and Impervious Area Disconnection - rerouting of rooftop drainage 
pipes to drain rainwater to rain barrels, cisterns, or permeable areas instead of 
the storm sewer; 

(e) Porous Pavement - pavement that allows runoff to pass through it, thereby 
reducing the runoff from a site and surrounding areas and filtering pollutants; 

(f) Green Roofs - a vegetative layer grown on a roof (rooftop garden); 
(g) Vegetated Swales - a vegetated, open-channel management practice designed 

specifically to treat and attenuate storm water runoff; 
(h) Rain Barrels and Cisterns - system that collects and stores storm water runoff 

from a roof or other impervious surface. 

Project proponents shall use the State Water Board SMARTS Post-Construction 
Calculator21

, or equivalent to quantify the runoff reduction resulting from 
implementation of site design measures. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between 
the program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness 
Assessment and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness 
of the storm water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a 
requirement in this program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.12.c. Regulated Projects 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall implement standards to effectively reduce runoff and pollutants 
associated with runoff from Regulated Projects as defined below. 

(ii) Implementation Level- The Permittee shall regulate all projects that create 
and/or replace 5,000 square feet or more of impervious surface (Regulated 
Projects). The Permittee shall require these Regulated Projects to implement 
measures for site design, source control, runoff reduction, storm water treatment 
and baseline hydromodification management as defined in this Order. 

Regulated Projects do not include: 

• Detached single family home projects that are not part of a larger plan of 
development; 

• Interior remodels; 

21 The State Water Board SMARTS Post-Construction Calculator can be found at: 
https:llsmarts.waterboards.ca.gov/smarts/faces/SwSmartsLogin.jsp 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 49 February 5, 2013 



• Routine maintenance or repair such as: exterior wall surface replacement, 
pavement resurfacing within the existing footprint. 

• LUPs - Unless the LUP has a discrete location that has 5,000 square feet or 
more of newly constructed contiguous impervious surface. When the LUP 
has a discrete location that has 5,000 sq-ft or more of new contiguous 
impervious surface, only that specific discrete location is subject to Section 
E.12.c. 

Regulated Projects include development projects. Development include$ new 
and redevelopment projects on public or private land that fall under the planning 
and permitting authority of a Permittee. Redevelopment is any land-disturbing 
activity that results in the creation, addition, or replacement of exterior impervious 
surface area on a site on which some past development has occurred. 
Redevelopment does not include trenching, excavation and resurfacing 
associated with LUPs; pavement grinding and resurfacing of existing roadways; 
construction of new sidewalks, pedestrian ramps, or bike lanes on existing 
roadways; or routine replacement of damaged pavement such as pothole repair or 
replacement of short, non-contiguous sections of roadway. The following (a-c) 
describe specific Regulated Project requirements for redevelopment, road projects 
and LUPs: 

(a) Where a redevelopment project results in an increase of more than 
50 percent of the impervious surface of a previously existing development, 
runoff from the entire project, consisting of all existing, new, and/or replaced 
impervious surfaces, must be included to the extent feasible. 

(b) Where a redevelopment project results in an increase of less than 50 percent 
of the impervious surface of a previously existing development, only runoff 
from the new and/or replaced impervious surface of the project must be 
included. 

(c) Road Projects and LUPs - Any of the following types of road projects and 
LUPs that create 5,000 square feet or more of newly constructed contiguous 
impervious surface and that are public road projects and/or fall under the 
building and planning authority of a Permittee shall comply with Section 
E.12.e. Low Impact Development Standards except that treatment of runoff 
of the 85th percentile that cannot be infiltrated onsite shall follow U.S. EPA 
guidance regarding green infrastructure to the extent feasible. Types of 
projects include: 

1) Construction of new streets or roads, including sidewalks and bicycle 
lanes built as part of the new streets or roads. 

2) Widening of existing streets or roads with additional traffic lanes. 

a) Where the addition of traffic lanes results in an alteration of more than 
50 percent of the impervious surface of an existing street or road, 
runoff from the entire project, consisting of all existing, new, and/or 
replaced impervious surfaces, must be included in the treatment 
system design. 

b) Where the addition of traffic lanes results in an alteration of less than 
50 percent (but 5,000 square feet or more) of the impervious surface 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 50 February 5, 2013 

-96-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

• Routine maintenance or repair such as: exterior wall surface replacement, 
pavement resurfacing within the existing footprint. 

• LUPs - Unless the LUP has a discrete location that has 5,000 square feet or 
more of newly constructed contiguous impervious surface. When the LUP 
has a discrete location that has 5,000 sq-ft or more of new contiguous 
impervious surface, only that specific discrete location is subject to Section 
E.12.c. 

Regulated Projects include development projects. Development include$ new 
and redevelopment projects on public or private land that fall under the planning 
and permitting authority of a Permittee. Redevelopment is any land-disturbing 
activity that results in the creation, addition, or replacement of exterior impervious 
surface area on a site on which some past development has occurred. 
Redevelopment does not include trenching, excavation and resurfacing 
associated with LUPs; pavement grinding and resurfacing of existing roadways; 
construction of new sidewalks, pedestrian ramps, or bike lanes on existing 
roadways; or routine replacement of damaged pavement such as pothole repair or 
replacement of short, non-contiguous sections of roadway. The following (a-c) 
describe specific Regulated Project requirements for redevelopment, road projects 
and LUPs: 

(a) Where a redevelopment project results in an increase of more than 
50 percent of the impervious surface of a previously existing development, 
runoff from the entire project, consisting of all existing, new, and/or replaced 
impervious surfaces, must be included to the extent feasible. 

(b) Where a redevelopment project results in an increase of less than 50 percent 
of the impervious surface of a previously existing development, only runoff 
from the new and/or replaced impervious surface of the project must be 
included. 

(c) Road Projects and LUPs - Any of the following types of road projects and 
LUPs that create 5,000 square feet or more of newly constructed contiguous 
impervious surface and that are public road projects and/or fall under the 
building and planning authority of a Permittee shall comply with Section 
E.12.e. Low Impact Development Standards except that treatment of runoff 
of the 85th percentile that cannot be infiltrated onsite shall follow U.S. EPA 
guidance regarding green infrastructure to the extent feasible. Types of 
projects include: 

1) Construction of new streets or roads, including sidewalks and bicycle 
lanes built as part of the new streets or roads. 

2) Widening of existing streets or roads with additional traffic lanes. 

a) Where the addition of traffic lanes results in an alteration of more than 
50 percent of the impervious surface of an existing street or road, 
runoff from the entire project, consisting of all existing, new, and/or 
replaced impervious surfaces, must be included in the treatment 
system design. 

b) Where the addition of traffic lanes results in an alteration of less than 
50 percent (but 5,000 square feet or more) of the impervious surface 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 50 February 5, 2013 



of an existing street or road, only the runoff from new and/or replaced 
impervious surface of the project must be included in the treatment 
system design. 

3) Construction of linear underground/overhead projects (LUPs) 

4) Specific exclusions are: 

a) Sidewalks built as part of new streets or roads and built to direct storm 
water runoff to adjacent vegetated areas. 

b) Bicycle lanes that are built as part of new streets or roads that direct 
storm water runoff to adjacent vegetated areas. 

c) Impervious trails built to direct storm water runoff to adjacent 
vegetated areas, or other non-erodible permeable areas, preferably 
away from creeks or towards the outboard side of levees. 

d) Sidewalks, bicycle lanes, or trails constructed with permeable 
surfaces. 

e) Trenching, excavation and resurfacing associated with LUPs; 
pavement grinding and resurfacing of existing roadways and parking 
lots; construction of new sidewalks, pedestrian ramps, or bike lanes 
on existing roadways; or routine replacement of damaged pavement 
such as pothole repair or replacement of short, non-contiguous 
sections of roadway. 

Effective Date for Applicability of Low Impact Development Runoff Standards to 
Regulated Projects: By the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall require these Post-Construction Standards be applied on 
applicable new and redevelopment Regulated Projects, both private development 
requiring municipal permits and public projects, to the extent allowable by 
applicable law. These include discretionary permit projects that have not been 
deemed complete for processing and discretionary permit projects without vesting 
tentative maps that have not requested and received an extension of previously 
granted approvals. Discretionary projects that have been deemed complete prior 
to the second year of the effective date of this Order are not subject to the Post
Construction Standards herein. For the Permittee's Regulated Projects, the 
effective date shall be the date their governing body or designee approves 
initiation of the project design. 

Permittee's Development Projects - The Permittee shall develop and implement 
an equivalent approach, to the approach used for private development projects, to 
apply the most current version of the low impact development runoff standards to 
applicable public development projects, to the extent allowable by applicable law. 

E.12.d. Source Control Measures 

(i) Task Description - Regulated Projects with pollutant-generating activities and 
sources shall be required to implement standard permanent and/or operation 
source control measures as applicable. 

(ii) Implementation Level - Measures for the following pollutant generating activities 
and sources shall be designed consistent with recommendations from the CASQA 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 51 February 5, 2013 

-97-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

of an existing street or road, only the runoff from new and/or replaced 
impervious surface of the project must be included in the treatment 
system design. 

3) Construction of linear underground/overhead projects (LUPs) 

4) Specific exclusions are: 

a) Sidewalks built as part of new streets or roads and built to direct storm 
water runoff to adjacent vegetated areas. 

b) Bicycle lanes that are built as part of new streets or roads that direct 
storm water runoff to adjacent vegetated areas. 

c) Impervious trails built to direct storm water runoff to adjacent 
vegetated areas, or other non-erodible permeable areas, preferably 
away from creeks or towards the outboard side of levees. 

d) Sidewalks, bicycle lanes, or trails constructed with permeable 
surfaces. 

e) Trenching, excavation and resurfacing associated with LUPs; 
pavement grinding and resurfacing of existing roadways and parking 
lots; construction of new sidewalks, pedestrian ramps, or bike lanes 
on existing roadways; or routine replacement of damaged pavement 
such as pothole repair or replacement of short, non-contiguous 
sections of roadway. 

Effective Date for Applicability of Low Impact Development Runoff Standards to 
Regulated Projects: By the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall require these Post-Construction Standards be applied on 
applicable new and redevelopment Regulated Projects, both private development 
requiring municipal permits and public projects, to the extent allowable by 
applicable law. These include discretionary permit projects that have not been 
deemed complete for processing and discretionary permit projects without vesting 
tentative maps that have not requested and received an extension of previously 
granted approvals. Discretionary projects that have been deemed complete prior 
to the second year of the effective date of this Order are not subject to the Post
Construction Standards herein. For the Permittee's Regulated Projects, the 
effective date shall be the date their governing body or designee approves 
initiation of the project design. 

Permittee's Development Projects - The Permittee shall develop and implement 
an equivalent approach, to the approach used for private development projects, to 
apply the most current version of the low impact development runoff standards to 
applicable public development projects, to the extent allowable by applicable law. 

E.12.d. Source Control Measures 

(i) Task Description - Regulated Projects with pollutant-generating activities and 
sources shall be required to implement standard permanent and/or operation 
source control measures as applicable. 

(ii) Implementation Level - Measures for the following pollutant generating activities 
and sources shall be designed consistent with recommendations from the CASQA 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 51 February 5, 2013 



Stormwater BMP Handbook for New Development and Redevelopment or 
equivalent manual, and include: 

(a) Accidental spills or leaks 
(b) Interior floor drains 
(c) Parking/storage areas and maintenance 
(d) Indoor and structural pest control 
(e) Landscape/outdoor pesticide use 
(f) Pools, spas, ponds, decorative fountains, and other water features 
(g) Restaurants, grocery stores, and other food service operations 
(h) Refuse areas 
(i) Industrial processes 
U) Outdoor storage of equipment or materials 
(k) Vehicle and equipment cleaning 
(I) VehiCle and equipment repair and maintenance 
(m) Fuel dispensing areas 
(n) Loading docks 
(0) Fire sprinkler test water 
(p) Drain or wash water from boiler drain lines, condensate drain lines, rooftop 

equipment, drainage sumps, and other sources 
(q) Unauthorized non-storm water discharges 
(r) Building and grounds maintenance 

E.12.e. Low Impact Development (LID) Design Standards 

(i) Task Description - The Permittee shall require all Regulated Projects to 
implement low impact development (LID) standards designed to reduce runoff, 
treat storm water, and provide baseline hydromodification management to the 
extent feasible, to meet the Numeric Sizing Criteria for Storm Water Retention and 
Treatment under Section E.12.e(ii)( c). 

(ii) Implementation Level- The Permittee shall adopt and implement requirements 
and standards to ensure design and construction of development projects achieve 
the following LID Design Standards. 

(a) Site Assessment 

At the earliest planning stages, the Permittee shall require Regulated 
Projects to assess and evaluate how site conditions, such as soils, 
vegetation, and flow paths, will influence the placement of buildings and 
paved surfaces. The evaluation will be used to meet the goals of capturing 
and treating runoff and assuring these goals are incorporated into the project 
design. The Permittee may adopt or reference an existing LID site 
assessment methodolog/2Permittees shall require Regulated Projects to 
consider optimizing the site layout through the following methods: 

1) Define the development envelope and protected areas, identifying areas 
that are most suitable for development and areas to be left undisturbed. 

22 Low Impact Development Manual for Southern California (Low Impact Development Center - See 
CASQA's LID website at: http://www.casqa.org/LlD/tabid/240/Default.aspx. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 52 February 5, 2013 

-98-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

Stormwater BMP Handbook for New Development and Redevelopment or 
equivalent manual, and include: 

(a) Accidental spills or leaks 
(b) Interior floor drains 
(c) Parking/storage areas and maintenance 
(d) Indoor and structural pest control 
(e) Landscape/outdoor pesticide use 
(f) Pools, spas, ponds, decorative fountains, and other water features 
(g) Restaurants, grocery stores, and other food service operations 
(h) Refuse areas 
(i) Industrial processes 
U) Outdoor storage of equipment or materials 
(k) Vehicle and equipment cleaning 
(I) VehiCle and equipment repair and maintenance 
(m) Fuel dispensing areas 
(n) Loading docks 
(0) Fire sprinkler test water 
(p) Drain or wash water from boiler drain lines, condensate drain lines, rooftop 

equipment, drainage sumps, and other sources 
(q) Unauthorized non-storm water discharges 
(r) Building and grounds maintenance 

E.12.e. Low Impact Development (LID) Design Standards 

(i) Task Description - The Permittee shall require all Regulated Projects to 
implement low impact development (LID) standards designed to reduce runoff, 
treat storm water, and provide baseline hydromodification management to the 
extent feasible, to meet the Numeric Sizing Criteria for Storm Water Retention and 
Treatment under Section E.12.e(ii)( c). 

(ii) Implementation Level- The Permittee shall adopt and implement requirements 
and standards to ensure design and construction of development projects achieve 
the following LID Design Standards. 

(a) Site Assessment 

At the earliest planning stages, the Permittee shall require Regulated 
Projects to assess and evaluate how site conditions, such as soils, 
vegetation, and flow paths, will influence the placement of buildings and 
paved surfaces. The evaluation will be used to meet the goals of capturing 
and treating runoff and assuring these goals are incorporated into the project 
design. The Permittee may adopt or reference an existing LID site 
assessment methodolog/2Permittees shall require Regulated Projects to 
consider optimizing the site layout through the following methods: 

1) Define the development envelope and protected areas, identifying areas 
that are most suitable for development and areas to be left undisturbed. 

22 Low Impact Development Manual for Southern California (Low Impact Development Center - See 
CASQA's LID website at: http://www.casqa.org/LlD/tabid/240/Default.aspx. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 52 February 5, 2013 



2) Concentrate development on portions of the site with less permeable soils 
and preserve areas that can promote infiltration. 

3) Limit overall impervious coverage of the site with paving and roofs. 
4) Set back development from creeks, wetlands, and riparian habitats. 
5) Preserve significant trees. 
6) Conform the site layout along natural landforms. 
7) Avoid excessive grading and disturbance of vegetation and soils. 
8) Replicate the site's natural drainage patterns. 
9) Detain and retain runoff throughout the site. 

(b) Drainage Management Areas 

The Permittee shall require each Regulated Project to provide a map or 
diagram dividing the developed portions of the project site into discrete 
Drainage Management Areas (DMAs), and to manage runoff from each DMA 
using Site Design Measures, Source Controls and/or Storm Water Treatment 
and Baseline Hydromodification Measures. 

(c) Numeric Sizing Criteria for Storm Water Retention and Treatment 

The Permittees shall require facilities designed to evapotranspire, infiltrate, 
harvest/use, and biotreat storm water to meet at least one of the following 
hydraulic sizing design criteria: 

1) Volumetric Criteria: 

a) The maximized capture storm water volume for the tributary area, on 
the basis of historical rainfall records, determined using the formula 
and volume capture coefficients in Urban Runoff Quality 
Management, WEF Manual of Practice No. 23/ASCE Manual of 
Practice No. 87 (1998) pages 175-178 (that is, approximately the 
85th percentile 24-hour storm runoff event); or 

b) The volume of annual runoff required to achieve 80 percent or more 
capture, determined in accordance with the methodology in Section 5 
of the CASQA's Stormwater Best Management Practice Handbook, 
New Development and Redevelopment (2003), using local rainfall 
data. 

2) Flow-based Criteria: 

a) The flow of runoff produced from a rain event equal to at least 
0.2 inches per hour intensity; or 

b) The flow of runoff produced from a rain event equal to at least 2 times 
the 85th percentile hourly rainfall intensity as determined from local 
rainfall records. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 53 February 5, 2013 

-99-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

2) Concentrate development on portions of the site with less permeable soils 
and preserve areas that can promote infiltration. 

3) Limit overall impervious coverage of the site with paving and roofs. 
4) Set back development from creeks, wetlands, and riparian habitats. 
5) Preserve significant trees. 
6) Conform the site layout along natural landforms. 
7) Avoid excessive grading and disturbance of vegetation and soils. 
8) Replicate the site's natural drainage patterns. 
9) Detain and retain runoff throughout the site. 

(b) Drainage Management Areas 

The Permittee shall require each Regulated Project to provide a map or 
diagram dividing the developed portions of the project site into discrete 
Drainage Management Areas (DMAs), and to manage runoff from each DMA 
using Site Design Measures, Source Controls and/or Storm Water Treatment 
and Baseline Hydromodification Measures. 

(c) Numeric Sizing Criteria for Storm Water Retention and Treatment 

The Permittees shall require facilities designed to evapotranspire, infiltrate, 
harvest/use, and biotreat storm water to meet at least one of the following 
hydraulic sizing design criteria: 

1) Volumetric Criteria: 

a) The maximized capture storm water volume for the tributary area, on 
the basis of historical rainfall records, determined using the formula 
and volume capture coefficients in Urban Runoff Quality 
Management, WEF Manual of Practice No. 23/ASCE Manual of 
Practice No. 87 (1998) pages 175-178 (that is, approximately the 
85th percentile 24-hour storm runoff event); or 

b) The volume of annual runoff required to achieve 80 percent or more 
capture, determined in accordance with the methodology in Section 5 
of the CASQA's Stormwater Best Management Practice Handbook, 
New Development and Redevelopment (2003), using local rainfall 
data. 

2) Flow-based Criteria: 

a) The flow of runoff produced from a rain event equal to at least 
0.2 inches per hour intensity; or 

b) The flow of runoff produced from a rain event equal to at least 2 times 
the 85th percentile hourly rainfall intensity as determined from local 
rainfall records. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 53 February 5, 2013 



(d) Site Design Measures 

The Permittee shall implement Site Design Measures (as defined in Section 
E.12.b. Site Design Measures and Section E.12.e(ii)(a) Site Assessment), 
site layout and design measures, based on the objective of achieving 
infiltration, evapotranspiration and/or harvesting/reuse of the 85th percentile 
24-hour storm runoff event. Site design measures shall be used to reduce 
the amount of runoff, to the extent technically feasible, for which retention and 
runoff is required. Any remaining runoff from impervious DMAs may then be 
directed to one or more bioretention facilities as specified in Section 
E.12.e.(ii)(f), below. 

(e) Source Controls 

The Permittee shall implement Source Controls as defined in Section E.12.d. 
Source Control Measures. 

(f) Storm Water Treatment Measures and Baseline Hydromodification 
Management Measures 

After implementation of Site Design Measures, remaining runoff from 
impervious DMAs must be directed to one or more facilities designed to 
infiltrate, evapotranspire, and/or bioretain the amount of runoff specified in 
Section E.12.e(ii)(c) Numeric Sizing Criteria for Storm Water Retention and 
Treatment. The facilities must be demonstrated to be at least as effective as 
a bioretention system with the following design parameters: 

1) Maximum surface loading rate of 5 inches per hour, based on the flow 
rates calculated. A sizing factor of 4% of tributary impervious area may 
be used. 

2) Minimum surface reservoir volume equal to surface area times a depth of 
6 inclJes. 

3) Minimum planting medium depth of 18 inches. The planting medium 
must sustain a minimum infiltration rate of 5 inches per hour throughout 
the life of the project and must maximize runoff retention and pollutant 
removal. A mixture of sand (60%-70%) meeting the specifications of 
American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM) C33 and compost 
(30%-40%) may be used. 

4) Subsurface drainage/storage (gravel) layer with an area equal to the 
surface area and having a minimum depth of 12 inches. 

5) Underdrain with discharge elevation at top of gravel layer. 
6) No compaction of soils beneath the facility, or ripping/loosening of soils if 

compacted. 
7) No liners or other barriers interfering with infiltration. 
8) Appropriate plant palette for the specified soil mix and maximum available 

water use. 

(g) Alternative Designs - Facilities, or a combination of facilities, of a different 
design than in Section E.12.e.(ii)(f) may be permitted if all of the following 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 54 February 5, 2013 

-100-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

(d) Site Design Measures 

The Permittee shall implement Site Design Measures (as defined in Section 
E.12.b. Site Design Measures and Section E.12.e(ii)(a) Site Assessment), 
site layout and design measures, based on the objective of achieving 
infiltration, evapotranspiration and/or harvesting/reuse of the 85th percentile 
24-hour storm runoff event. Site design measures shall be used to reduce 
the amount of runoff, to the extent technically feasible, for which retention and 
runoff is required. Any remaining runoff from impervious DMAs may then be 
directed to one or more bioretention facilities as specified in Section 
E.12.e.(ii)(f), below. 

(e) Source Controls 

The Permittee shall implement Source Controls as defined in Section E.12.d. 
Source Control Measures. 

(f) Storm Water Treatment Measures and Baseline Hydromodification 
Management Measures 

After implementation of Site Design Measures, remaining runoff from 
impervious DMAs must be directed to one or more facilities designed to 
infiltrate, evapotranspire, and/or bioretain the amount of runoff specified in 
Section E.12.e(ii)(c) Numeric Sizing Criteria for Storm Water Retention and 
Treatment. The facilities must be demonstrated to be at least as effective as 
a bioretention system with the following design parameters: 

1) Maximum surface loading rate of 5 inches per hour, based on the flow 
rates calculated. A sizing factor of 4% of tributary impervious area may 
be used. 

2) Minimum surface reservoir volume equal to surface area times a depth of 
6 inclJes. 

3) Minimum planting medium depth of 18 inches. The planting medium 
must sustain a minimum infiltration rate of 5 inches per hour throughout 
the life of the project and must maximize runoff retention and pollutant 
removal. A mixture of sand (60%-70%) meeting the specifications of 
American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM) C33 and compost 
(30%-40%) may be used. 

4) Subsurface drainage/storage (gravel) layer with an area equal to the 
surface area and having a minimum depth of 12 inches. 

5) Underdrain with discharge elevation at top of gravel layer. 
6) No compaction of soils beneath the facility, or ripping/loosening of soils if 

compacted. 
7) No liners or other barriers interfering with infiltration. 
8) Appropriate plant palette for the specified soil mix and maximum available 

water use. 

(g) Alternative Designs - Facilities, or a combination of facilities, of a different 
design than in Section E.12.e.(ii)(f) may be permitted if all of the following 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 54 February 5, 2013 



measures of equivalent effectiveness are demonstrated: 

1) Equal or greater amount of runoff infiltrated or evapotranspired; 
2) Equal or lower pollutant concentrations in runoff that is discharged after 

biotreatment; 
3) Equal or greater protection against shock loadings and spills; 
4) Equal or greater accessibility and ease of inspection and maintenance. 

(h) Allowed Variations for Special Site Conditions - The bioretention system 
design parameters in Section E.12.e.(ii)(f) may be adjusted for the following 
special site conditions: 

1) Facilities located within 10 feet of structures or other potential" 
geotechnical hazards established by the geotechnical expert for the 
project may incorporate an impervious cutoff wall between the 
bioretention facility and the structure or other geotechnical hazard. 

2) Facilities with documented high concentrations of pollutants in underlying 
soil or groundwater, facilities located where infiltration could contribute to 
a geotechnical hazard, and facilities located on elevated'plazas or other 
structures may incorporate an impervious liner and may locate the 
underdrain discharge at the bottom of the subsurface drainage/storage 
layer (this configuration is commonly known as a "flow-through planter"). 

3) Facilities located in areas of high groundwater, highly infiltrative soils or 
where connection of underdrain to a surface drain or to a subsurface 
storm drain are infeasible, may omit the underdrain. 

4) Facilities serving high-risk areas such as fueling stations, truck stops, 
auto repairs, and heavy industrial sites may be required to provide 
additional treatment to address pollutants of concern unless these high
risk areas are isolated from storm water runoff or bioretention areas with 
little chance of spill migration. 

(i) Exceptions to Requirements for Bioretention Facilities - Contingent on a 
demonstration that use of bioretention or a facility of equivalent effectiveness 
is infeasible, other types of biotreatment or media filters (such as tree-box
type biofilters or in-vault media filters) may be used for the following 
categories of Regulated Projects: 

1) Projects creating or replacing an acre or less of impervious area, and 
located in a designated pedestrian-oriented commercial district (Le., 
smart growth projects), and having at least 85% of the entire project site 
covered by permanent structures; 

2) Facilities receiving runoff solely from existing (pre-project) impervious 
areas;and 

3) Historic sites, structures or landscapes that cannot alter their original 
configuration in order to maintain their historic integrity. 

By the second year of the effective date of the permit, each Permittee shall 
adopt or reference appropriate performance criteria for such biotreatment and 
media filters. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 55 February 5, 2013 

-101-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

measures of equivalent effectiveness are demonstrated: 

1) Equal or greater amount of runoff infiltrated or evapotranspired; 
2) Equal or lower pollutant concentrations in runoff that is discharged after 

biotreatment; 
3) Equal or greater protection against shock loadings and spills; 
4) Equal or greater accessibility and ease of inspection and maintenance. 

(h) Allowed Variations for Special Site Conditions - The bioretention system 
design parameters in Section E.12.e.(ii)(f) may be adjusted for the following 
special site conditions: 

1) Facilities located within 10 feet of structures or other potential" 
geotechnical hazards established by the geotechnical expert for the 
project may incorporate an impervious cutoff wall between the 
bioretention facility and the structure or other geotechnical hazard. 

2) Facilities with documented high concentrations of pollutants in underlying 
soil or groundwater, facilities located where infiltration could contribute to 
a geotechnical hazard, and facilities located on elevated'plazas or other 
structures may incorporate an impervious liner and may locate the 
underdrain discharge at the bottom of the subsurface drainage/storage 
layer (this configuration is commonly known as a "flow-through planter"). 

3) Facilities located in areas of high groundwater, highly infiltrative soils or 
where connection of underdrain to a surface drain or to a subsurface 
storm drain are infeasible, may omit the underdrain. 

4) Facilities serving high-risk areas such as fueling stations, truck stops, 
auto repairs, and heavy industrial sites may be required to provide 
additional treatment to address pollutants of concern unless these high
risk areas are isolated from storm water runoff or bioretention areas with 
little chance of spill migration. 

(i) Exceptions to Requirements for Bioretention Facilities - Contingent on a 
demonstration that use of bioretention or a facility of equivalent effectiveness 
is infeasible, other types of biotreatment or media filters (such as tree-box
type biofilters or in-vault media filters) may be used for the following 
categories of Regulated Projects: 

1) Projects creating or replacing an acre or less of impervious area, and 
located in a designated pedestrian-oriented commercial district (Le., 
smart growth projects), and having at least 85% of the entire project site 
covered by permanent structures; 

2) Facilities receiving runoff solely from existing (pre-project) impervious 
areas;and 

3) Historic sites, structures or landscapes that cannot alter their original 
configuration in order to maintain their historic integrity. 

By the second year of the effective date of the permit, each Permittee shall 
adopt or reference appropriate performance criteria for such biotreatment and 
media filters. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 55 February 5, 2013 



(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between 
the program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness 
Assessment and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness 
of the storm water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a 
requirement in this program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.12.f. Hydromodification Management 

(i) Task Description - Within the third year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall develop and implement Hydromodification Management 
procedures. Hydromodification management projects are Regulated Projects that 
create and/or replace one acre or more of impervious surface. A project that does 
not increase impervious surface area over the pre-project condition is not a 
hydro modification management project. 

(ii) Implementation Level- The Permittee shall implement the following 
Hydromodification Standard: 

(a) Post-project runoff shall not exceed estimated pre-project flow rate for the 2-
year, 24-hour storm in the following geomorphic provinces (Figure 1): 

• Coast Ranges 
• Klamath Mountains· 
• Cascade Range 

• Modoc Plateau 

• Basin and Range 

• Sierra Nevada 

• Great Valley 

(b) Post-project runoff shall not exceed estimated pre-project flow rate for the 10-
year, 24-hour storm in the following geomorphic provinces (Figure 1): 

• Transverse Ranges 
• Peninsular Ranges 
• Mojave Desert 
• Colorado Desert 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 56 February 5, 2013 

-102-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between 
the program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness 
Assessment and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness 
of the storm water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a 
requirement in this program element see Section E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.12.f. Hydromodification Management 

(i) Task Description - Within the third year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall develop and implement Hydromodification Management 
procedures. Hydromodification management projects are Regulated Projects that 
create and/or replace one acre or more of impervious surface. A project that does 
not increase impervious surface area over the pre-project condition is not a 
hydro modification management project. 

(ii) Implementation Level- The Permittee shall implement the following 
Hydromodification Standard: 

(a) Post-project runoff shall not exceed estimated pre-project flow rate for the 2-
year, 24-hour storm in the following geomorphic provinces (Figure 1): 

• Coast Ranges 
• Klamath Mountains· 
• Cascade Range 

• Modoc Plateau 

• Basin and Range 

• Sierra Nevada 

• Great Valley 

(b) Post-project runoff shall not exceed estimated pre-project flow rate for the 10-
year, 24-hour storm in the following geomorphic provinces (Figure 1): 

• Transverse Ranges 
• Peninsular Ranges 
• Mojave Desert 
• Colorado Desert 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 56 February 5, 2013 



Ba$ln and Range 

N 

* 
lAiles 

~Iorado Desert 

Figure 1. California Geomorphic Provinces 

Alternatively, the Permittee may use a geomorphically based hydromodification 
standard or set of standards and analysis procedures designed to ensure that 
Regulated Projects do not cause a decrease in lateral (bank) and vertical (channel 
bed) stability in receiving stream channels. The alternative hydromodification 
standard or set of standards and analysis procedures must be reviewed and 
approved by the Regional Board Executive Officer. 

(iii) Reporting -The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements 
of this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship 
between the program element activities and the Permittee's Program 
Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long
term effectiveness of the storm water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify 
compliance with a requirement in this program element see Section E.16 .a.for 
compliance directions. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Perm it 
2013-0001 -0WQ 57 February 5, 2013 

-103-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

Cascade Range 

Basin and Range 

N 

* 
~iles 

~iora(JO Desert 

Figure 1. California Geomorphic Provinces 

Alternatively, the Permittee may use a geomorphically based hydromodification 
standard or set of standards and analysis procedures designed to ensure that 
Regulated Projects do not cause a decrease in lateral (bank) and vertical (channel 
bed) stability in receiving stream channels. The alternative hydromodification 
standard or set of standards and analysis procedures must be reviewed and 
approved by the Regional Board Executive Officer. 

(iii) Reporting -The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements 
of this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship 
between the program element activities and the Permittee's Program 
Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long
term effectiveness of the storm water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify 
compliance with a requirement in this program element see Section E.16 .a.for 
compliance directions. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 57 February 5, 2013 



E.12.g. Enforceable Mechanisms 

(i) Task Description - Within the third year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall develop and/or modify enforceable mechanisms that will 
effectively implement the requirements in Section E.12.b through f (if necessary). 

(ii) Implementation Level- The Permittee shall develop and/or modify enforceable 
mechanisms that will effectively implement the requirements in Section E.12.b 
through E.12.f and may include municipal codes, regulations, standards, and 
specifications. The Permittee shall: 

(a) Conduct an analysis of all applicable codes, regulations, standards, and/or 
specifications to identify modifications and/or additions necessary to fill gaps 
and remove impediments to effective implementation of project-scale 
development requirements. 

(b) Approve new and/or modified enforceable mechanisms that effectively 
resolve regulatory conflicts and implement the requirements in Sections 
E.12.b through E.12.f (if necessary) 

(c) Apply new and/or modified enforceable mechanisms to all applicable new 
and redevelopment projects. Develop and make available specific guidance 
for LID BMP design 

(d) Complete a Tracking Report indicating the Permittee's accomplishments in 
education and outreach supporting implementation of LID requirements for 
new and redevelopment projects. 

E.12.h. Operation and Maintenance of Post-Construction Storm Water Management 
Measures 

(i) Task Description -Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall implement an O&M Verification Program for storm water treatment 
and baseline hydromodification management structural control measures defined 
in Section E.12.e(ii)(f). Storm Water Treatment Measures and Baseline 
Hydromodification Management Measures on all Regulated Projects. 

(ii) Implementation Level - At a minimum, the O&M Verification Program shall 
include the following elements: 

(a) All Regulated Projects shall at a minimum, require at least one of the 
following from all project proponents and their successors in control of the 
Project or successors in fee title: 

1) The project proponent's signed statement accepting responsibility for the 
O&M of structural control measure(s) until such responsibility is legally 
transferred to another entity; 

2) Written conditions in the sales or lease agreements or deed for the 
project that requires the buyer or lessee to assume responsibility for the 
O&M of the installed treatment system(s) and hydromodification control(s) 
(if any) until such responsibility is legally transferred to another entity; 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 58 February 5, 2013 

-104-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

E.12.g. Enforceable Mechanisms 

(i) Task Description - Within the third year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall develop and/or modify enforceable mechanisms that will 
effectively implement the requirements in Section E.12.b through f (if necessary). 

(ii) Implementation Level- The Permittee shall develop and/or modify enforceable 
mechanisms that will effectively implement the requirements in Section E.12.b 
through E.12.f and may include municipal codes, regulations, standards, and 
specifications. The Permittee shall: 

(a) Conduct an analysis of all applicable codes, regulations, standards, and/or 
specifications to identify modifications and/or additions necessary to fill gaps 
and remove impediments to effective implementation of project-scale 
development requirements. 

(b) Approve new and/or modified enforceable mechanisms that effectively 
resolve regulatory conflicts and implement the requirements in Sections 
E.12.b through E.12.f (if necessary) 

(c) Apply new and/or modified enforceable mechanisms to all applicable new 
and redevelopment projects. Develop and make available specific guidance 
for LID BMP design 

(d) Complete a Tracking Report indicating the Permittee's accomplishments in 
education and outreach supporting implementation of LID requirements for 
new and redevelopment projects. 

E.12.h. Operation and Maintenance of Post-Construction Storm Water Management 
Measures 

(i) Task Description -Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall implement an O&M Verification Program for storm water treatment 
and baseline hydromodification management structural control measures defined 
in Section E.12.e(ii)(f). Storm Water Treatment Measures and Baseline 
Hydromodification Management Measures on all Regulated Projects. 

(ii) Implementation Level - At a minimum, the O&M Verification Program shall 
include the following elements: 

(a) All Regulated Projects shall at a minimum, require at least one of the 
following from all project proponents and their successors in control of the 
Project or successors in fee title: 

1) The project proponent's signed statement accepting responsibility for the 
O&M of structural control measure(s) until such responsibility is legally 
transferred to another entity; 

2) Written conditions in the sales or lease agreements or deed for the 
project that requires the buyer or lessee to assume responsibility for the 
O&M of the installed treatment system(s) and hydromodification control(s) 
(if any) until such responsibility is legally transferred to another entity; 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 58 February 5, 2013 



3) Written text in project deeds, or conditions, covenants and restrictions for 
multi-unit residential projects that require the homeowners association or, 
if there is no association, each individual owner to assume responsibility 
for the O&M of the installed treatment system(s) and hydro modification 
control(s) (if any) until such responsibility is legally transferred to another 
entity; or 

4) Any other legally enforceable agreement or mechanism, such as 
recordation in the property deed, that assigns the O&M responsibility for 
the installed treatment system(s) and hydromodification control(s) (if any) 
to the project owner(s) or the Permittee. 

(b) Coordination with the appropriate mosquit023 and vector control agency with 
jurisdiction to establish a protocol for notification of installed treatment 
systems a:nd hydromodification management controls. On an annual basis, 
before the wet season, prepare a list of newly installed (installed within the 
reporting period) storm water treatment systems and hydromodification 
management controls to the local mosquito and vector control agency and 
the appropriate Regional Water Board. The Permittee may submit the list of 
Regulated Projects as described in Section E.12.h.(ii)(e). This list shall 
include the facility locations and a description of the storm water treatment 
measures and hydromodification management controls installed. 

(c) Conditions of approval or other legally enforceable agreements or 
mechanisms for all Regulated Projects that require the granting of site access 
to all representatives of the Permittee for the sole purpose of performing 
O&M inspections of the installed treatment system(s) and hydromodification 
control(s) (if any). 

(d) A written implementation plan that describes O&M (including inspection) of all 
Regional Projects and regional controls that are Permittee-owned and/or 
operated. 

(e) A database or equivalent tabular format of all Regulated Projects (public and 
private) that have installed treatment systems. This database or equivalent 
tabular format shall include the following information for each Regulated 
Project: 

1) Name and address of the Regulated Project; 
2) Specific description of the location (or a map showing the location) of the 

installed treatment system(s) and hydromodification control(s) (if any); 
3) Date(s) that the treatment system(s) and hydro modification controls (if 

any) is/are installed; 
4) Description of the type and size of the treatment system(s) and 

hydromodification control(s) (if any) installed; 
5) Responsible operator(s) of each treatment system and 

hydromodification control (if any); 
6) Dates and findings of inspections (routine and follow-up) of the treatment 

system(s) and hydro modification control(s) (if any) by the Permittee; and 
7) Any problems and corrective or enforcement actions taken. 

23 California Department of Public Health. (2012). Best Management Practices for Mosquito Control in 
California. RetrieveCl qn July 20,2012 from http://www.westnile.ca.gov/resources.php 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 59 February 5, 2013 

-105-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

3) Written text in project deeds, or conditions, covenants and restrictions for 
multi-unit residential projects that require the homeowners association or, 
if there is no association, each individual owner to assume responsibility 
for the O&M of the installed treatment system(s) and hydro modification 
control(s) (if any) until such responsibility is legally transferred to another 
entity; or 

4) Any other legally enforceable agreement or mechanism, such as 
recordation in the property deed, that assigns the O&M responsibility for 
the installed treatment system(s) and hydromodification control(s) (if any) 
to the project owner(s) or the Permittee. 

(b) Coordination with the appropriate mosquit023 and vector control agency with 
jurisdiction to establish a protocol for notification of installed treatment 
systems a:nd hydromodification management controls. On an annual basis, 
before the wet season, prepare a list of newly installed (installed within the 
reporting period) storm water treatment systems and hydromodification 
management controls to the local mosquito and vector control agency and 
the appropriate Regional Water Board. The Permittee may submit the list of 
Regulated Projects as described in Section E.12.h.(ii)(e). This list shall 
include the facility locations and a description of the storm water treatment 
measures and hydromodification management controls installed. 

(c) Conditions of approval or other legally enforceable agreements or 
mechanisms for all Regulated Projects that require the granting of site access 
to all representatives of the Permittee for the sole purpose of performing 
O&M inspections of the installed treatment system(s) and hydromodification 
control(s) (if any). 

(d) A written implementation plan that describes O&M (including inspection) of all 
Regional Projects and regional controls that are Permittee-owned and/or 
operated. 

(e) A database or equivalent tabular format of all Regulated Projects (public and 
private) that have installed treatment systems. This database or equivalent 
tabular format shall include the following information for each Regulated 
Project: 

1) Name and address of the Regulated Project; 
2) Specific description of the location (or a map showing the location) of the 

installed treatment system(s) and hydromodification control(s) (if any); 
3) Date(s) that the treatment system(s) and hydro modification controls (if 

any) is/are installed; 
4) Description of the type and size of the treatment system(s) and 

hydromodification control(s) (if any) installed; 
5) Responsible operator(s) of each treatment system and 

hydromodification control (if any); 
6) Dates and findings of inspections (routine and follow-up) of the treatment 

system(s) and hydro modification control(s) (if any) by the Permittee; and 
7) Any problems and corrective or enforcement actions taken. 

23 California Department of Public Health. (2012). Best Management Practices for Mosquito Control in 
California. RetrieveCl qn July 20,2012 from http://www.westnile.ca.gov/resources.php 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 59 February 5, 2013 



8) Maintenance Approvals: The Permittee shall ensure that systems and 
hydromodification controls installed at Regulated Projects are properly 
operated and maintained for the life of the projects. In cases where the 
responsible party for a treatment system or hydromodification control has 
worked diligently and in good faith with the appropriate state and federal 
agencies and the Permittee to obtain approvals necessary to complete 
maintenance activities for the treatment system or hydromodification 
management control, but these approvals are not granted, the Permittee 
shall be deemed to be in compliance with this Provision. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements 
of this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship 
between the program element activities and the Permittee's Program 
Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long
term effectiveness of the storm water program. If a Permittee is unable to 
certify compliance with a requirement in this program element see Section 
E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.12.i. Post-Construction Best Management Practice Condition Assessment 

(i) Task Description - Within the third year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall inventory and assess the maintenance condition of structural 
post-construction BMPs (including BMPs used for flood control) within the 
Permittee's jurisdiction. 

(ii) Implementation Level- The Permittee shall develop and implement a plan to 
inventory, map, and determine the relative maintenance condition of structural 
post-construction BMPs. Maintenance condition shall be determined through a 
self-certification program where Permittees require annual reports from 
authorized parties demonstrating proper maintenance and operations. The plan 
shall include: 

(a) An inventory and map of existing structural post-construction BMPs, in GIS if 
available. 

(b) Assessments of the self-certification program annual reports. Assessment 
shall include a ranking of structural BMPs and verification that BMPs are 
operating to remove pollutants as designed. Regional BMPs should receive 
higher priority than lot-scale BMPs, and BMPs designed to remove pollutants 
for which receiving water is impaired should receive priority attention over 
other BMPs. 

(c) Appropriate escalating enforcement based on the Permittee Enforcement 
Response Plan to ensure proper maintenance of BMPs and submittal of self
certification annual reports. 

(d) Self-Certification Annual Reports. At a minimum, the self-certification annual 
reports shall include: 

1) Field observations to determine the effectiveness of the structural post 
construction BMPs in removing pollutants of concern from storm water 
runoff and/or reducing hydro modification impacts as designed. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 60 February 5, 2013 

-106-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

8) Maintenance Approvals: The Permittee shall ensure that systems and 
hydromodification controls installed at Regulated Projects are properly 
operated and maintained for the life of the projects. In cases where the 
responsible party for a treatment system or hydromodification control has 
worked diligently and in good faith with the appropriate state and federal 
agencies and the Permittee to obtain approvals necessary to complete 
maintenance activities for the treatment system or hydromodification 
management control, but these approvals are not granted, the Permittee 
shall be deemed to be in compliance with this Provision. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements 
of this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship 
between the program element activities and the Permittee's Program 
Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long
term effectiveness of the storm water program. If a Permittee is unable to 
certify compliance with a requirement in this program element see Section 
E.16.a.for compliance directions. 

E.12.i. Post-Construction Best Management Practice Condition Assessment 

(i) Task Description - Within the third year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall inventory and assess the maintenance condition of structural 
post-construction BMPs (including BMPs used for flood control) within the 
Permittee's jurisdiction. 

(ii) Implementation Level- The Permittee shall develop and implement a plan to 
inventory, map, and determine the relative maintenance condition of structural 
post-construction BMPs. Maintenance condition shall be determined through a 
self-certification program where Permittees require annual reports from 
authorized parties demonstrating proper maintenance and operations. The plan 
shall include: 

(a) An inventory and map of existing structural post-construction BMPs, in GIS if 
available. 

(b) Assessments of the self-certification program annual reports. Assessment 
shall include a ranking of structural BMPs and verification that BMPs are 
operating to remove pollutants as designed. Regional BMPs should receive 
higher priority than lot-scale BMPs, and BMPs designed to remove pollutants 
for which receiving water is impaired should receive priority attention over 
other BMPs. 

(c) Appropriate escalating enforcement based on the Permittee Enforcement 
Response Plan to ensure proper maintenance of BMPs and submittal of self
certification annual reports. 

(d) Self-Certification Annual Reports. At a minimum, the self-certification annual 
reports shall include: 

1) Field observations to determine the effectiveness of the structural post 
construction BMPs in removing pollutants of concern from storm water 
runoff and/or reducing hydro modification impacts as designed. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 60 February 5, 2013 



2) Long-term plan for conducting regular maintenance of BMPs, including 
the frequency of such maintenance. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements 
of this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship 
between the program element activities and the Permittee's Program 
Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long
term effectiveness of the storm water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify 
compliance with a requirement in this program element see Section E.16.a.for 
compliance directions. 

E.12.j. Planning and Development Review Process 

(i) Task Description - The Permittee shall review their planning and permitting 
process to assess any gaps or impediments impacting effective implementation 
of these post-construction requirements specified in Section E.12, and where 
these are found to exist, seek solutions to promote implementation of these 
requirements within the context of public safety and community goals for land 
use. The Permittee shall prioritize review of the landscape code (code detailing 
landscaping requirements and considerations which should be implemented to 
protect environmental qUCllity) to correct gaps and impediments impacting 
effective implementation of post..:construction requirements. 

(ii) Implementation Level- During years 1 - 3, the Permittee shall conduct the 
review using an existing guide or template already developed for MS4s (such as 
the Municipal Regulatory Update Assistance Program (MRUAP)24 conducted by 
AHBL, Inc. for the Low Impact Development Initiative (LlDI) on the Central 
Coast). By the fourth year of the effective date of the permit, any changes to the 
planning and permitting process will be completed to effectively administer these 
provisions. Priority shall be placed on review of the landscape code, with the 
following implementation level. 

(a) Within the first year of the effective date of this permit, the Permittee shall 
conduct an analysis of the landscape code to correct gaps and impediments 
impacting effective implementation of post-construction requirements. 

(b) Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, the Permittee shall 
complete any changes to the landscape code to effectively administer post
construction requirements. 

(iii) Reporting - By the second year Annual Report and annually thereafter, 
complete and have available a summary of the review process, and any 
proposed or completed changes to the Permittee's program. 

24 http://www.casqa.org/UDDemo/UDTraining/tabid/246/Default.aspx 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 61 February 5, 2013 

-107-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

2) Long-term plan for conducting regular maintenance of BMPs, including 
the frequency of such maintenance. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements 
of this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship 
between the program element activities and the Permittee's Program 
Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long
term effectiveness of the storm water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify 
compliance with a requirement in this program element see Section E.16.a.for 
compliance directions. 

E.12.j. Planning and Development Review Process 

(i) Task Description - The Permittee shall review their planning and permitting 
process to assess any gaps or impediments impacting effective implementation 
of these post-construction requirements specified in Section E.12, and where 
these are found to exist, seek solutions to promote implementation of these 
requirements within the context of public safety and community goals for land 
use. The Permittee shall prioritize review of the landscape code (code detailing 
landscaping requirements and considerations which should be implemented to 
protect environmental qUCllity) to correct gaps and impediments impacting 
effective implementation of post..:construction requirements. 

(ii) Implementation Level- During years 1 - 3, the Permittee shall conduct the 
review using an existing guide or template already developed for MS4s (such as 
the Municipal Regulatory Update Assistance Program (MRUAP)24 conducted by 
AHBL, Inc. for the Low Impact Development Initiative (LlDI) on the Central 
Coast). By the fourth year of the effective date of the permit, any changes to the 
planning and permitting process will be completed to effectively administer these 
provisions. Priority shall be placed on review of the landscape code, with the 
following implementation level. 

(a) Within the first year of the effective date of this permit, the Permittee shall 
conduct an analysis of the landscape code to correct gaps and impediments 
impacting effective implementation of post-construction requirements. 

(b) Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, the Permittee shall 
complete any changes to the landscape code to effectively administer post
construction requirements. 

(iii) Reporting - By the second year Annual Report and annually thereafter, 
complete and have available a summary of the review process, and any 
proposed or completed changes to the Permittee's program. 

24 http://www.casqa.org/UDDemo/UDTraining/tabid/246/Default.aspx 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 61 February 5, 2013 



E.12.k. Post-Construction Storm Water Management Requirements Based on 
Assessment and Maintenance of Watershed Processes 

Small MS4s subject to Section E of this Order, in place of complying with the 
requirements set forth in Section E.12, except for Sections E.12.j. Planning and 
Development Review Process and E.12.e(ii)(e) Source Control Requirements, shall 
comply with post-construction storm water management requirements based on a 
watershed-process approach developed by Regional Water Board that include the 
following: 

• Completion of a comprehensive assessment of dominant watershed 
processes affected by urban storm water 

• LI D site design and runoff reduction measures, numeric runoff treatment and 
retention controls, and hydromodification controls that will maintain watershed 
processes and protect water quality and beneficial uses. 

• A process by which Regional Board staff will actively engage Permittees to 
adaptively manage requirements as determined by the assessment of 
watershed processes. 

• An annual reporting program that involves Regional Board staff and State 
Board staff to inform statewide watershed process based criteria. 

The regional watershed-process based approach must be approved by the 
Regional Water Board following a public process. 

E.12.1. Alternative Post-Construction Storm Water Management Program 

A Permittee may propose alternative post-construction measures in lieu of some or 
all of Section E.12. requirements for multiple benefit projects. Multiple-benefit 
projects include projects that may address any of the following, in addition to water 
quality: water supply, flood control, habitat enhancement, open space preservation, 
recreation, climate change. Multiple-benefit projects may be applied at various 
scales including project site, municipal or sub-watershed level. Multiple-benefit 
projects may include, but are not limited to, projects developed under Watershed 
Improvement Plans (Water Code §16100 et seq.), IRWMP implementation and 
green infrastructure projects. Multiple benefit projects must be equally or more 
protective of water quality than Section E.12. requirements. 

The Regional Water Board or the Executive Officer, may approve alternative post
construction measures for multiple-benefit projects, as described above, after an 
opportunity for public comment, if the Regional Water Board or Executive Officer 
finds that the alternative measures are consistent with the MEP standard. 

E.13. WATER QUALITY MONITORING 

Traditional Small MS4 Permittees that are required to conduct monitoring of discharges to 
ASBS, TMDL, or 303(d) impaired water bodies, as described in Sections E.13.(a)-(c), are not 
required to perform additional monitoring as specified in Sections E.13.d.1. and E.13.d.2. 

Permittees are encouraged to participate in a regional monitoring program in order to cost
effectively combine resources and water quality information. Regional monitoring is the 

Phase" Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 62 February 5, 2013 

-108-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

E.12.k. Post-Construction Storm Water Management Requirements Based on 
Assessment and Maintenance of Watershed Processes 

Small MS4s subject to Section E of this Order, in place of complying with the 
requirements set forth in Section E.12, except for Sections E.12.j. Planning and 
Development Review Process and E.12.e(ii)(e) Source Control Requirements, shall 
comply with post-construction storm water management requirements based on a 
watershed-process approach developed by Regional Water Board that include the 
following: 

• Completion of a comprehensive assessment of dominant watershed 
processes affected by urban storm water 

• LI D site design and runoff reduction measures, numeric runoff treatment and 
retention controls, and hydromodification controls that will maintain watershed 
processes and protect water quality and beneficial uses. 

• A process by which Regional Board staff will actively engage Permittees to 
adaptively manage requirements as determined by the assessment of 
watershed processes. 

• An annual reporting program that involves Regional Board staff and State 
Board staff to inform statewide watershed process based criteria. 

The regional watershed-process based approach must be approved by the 
Regional Water Board following a public process. 

E.12.1. Alternative Post-Construction Storm Water Management Program 

A Permittee may propose alternative post-construction measures in lieu of some or 
all of Section E.12. requirements for multiple benefit projects. Multiple-benefit 
projects include projects that may address any of the following, in addition to water 
quality: water supply, flood control, habitat enhancement, open space preservation, 
recreation, climate change. Multiple-benefit projects may be applied at various 
scales including project site, municipal or sub-watershed level. Multiple-benefit 
projects may include, but are not limited to, projects developed under Watershed 
Improvement Plans (Water Code §16100 et seq.), IRWMP implementation and 
green infrastructure projects. Multiple benefit projects must be equally or more 
protective of water quality than Section E.12. requirements. 

The Regional Water Board or the Executive Officer, may approve alternative post
construction measures for multiple-benefit projects, as described above, after an 
opportunity for public comment, if the Regional Water Board or Executive Officer 
finds that the alternative measures are consistent with the MEP standard. 

E.13. WATER QUALITY MONITORING 

Traditional Small MS4 Permittees that are required to conduct monitoring of discharges to 
ASBS, TMDL, or 303(d) impaired water bodies, as described in Sections E.13.(a)-(c), are not 
required to perform additional monitoring as specified in Sections E.13.d.1. and E.13.d.2. 

Permittees are encouraged to participate in a regional monitoring program in order to cost
effectively combine resources and water quality information. Regional monitoring is the 

Phase" Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 62 February 5, 2013 



collaboration of local and regional monitoring programs that are designed to create a more 
comprehensive picture of water quality conditions within a watershed. The following 
management questions may be used to assist in guiding the development of a regional 
monitoring program, as applicable25

: 

1) Are water quality standards being met in receiving waters? 
2) What is the extent and magnitude of the current or potential receiving 

water problems26? 
3) What is the relative urban runoff contribution to the receiving water 

problem(s)? 
4) What are the sources to urban runoff that contribute to the receiving water 

problem(s)? 
5) Are conditions in receiving waters getting better or worse? 

Regional monitoring programs shall be reviewed and approved by the Executive Officer of the 
applicable Regional Water Board27

• 

Where a regional monitoring group has initiated plans, before the effective date of this Order, to 
conduct monitoring that achieves Section E.13. compliance, the Permittee may request the 
Executive Officer of the applicable Regional Board tailor compliance dates to synchronize with 
such efforts. Additionally, existing regional water monitoring efforts shall be reviewed and 
approved by a Regional Water Board Executive Officer. 

Where a Permittee receives grant funding to conduct monitoring that achieves Section E.13. 
compliance, the Permittee may request the Regional Water Board Executive Officer tailor 
compliance dates to synchronize with such efforts. 

E.13.a. ASBS Monitoring 

All Permittees that discharge to an ASBS and are covered by an Ocean Plan 
exception shall comply with the monitoring requirements described in the terms, 
prohibitions and special conditions in Attachment C. 

E.13.b. TMDL Monitoring 

All Permittees that are assigned a wasteload allocation or identified as a 
responsible party in a TMDL approved by the U.S. EPA where urban runoff is listed 
as the source, shall comply with the monitoring requirements included in 
Attachment G and consult with the Regional Water Board within one year of the 
effective date of the permit to determine the monitoring study design and a 
monitoring implementation schedule. Where a TMDL is limited to a single 

25 The five core management questions are based on the Stormwater Monitoring Coalition's Model 
Monitoring Technical Committee Technical Report # 419: Model Monitoring Program for Municipal 
Separate Storm Sewer Systems in Southern California. 
26 Water quality problems include exceedances of water quality standards, including impairment of 
designated uses, or other significant water quality impacts, including habitat and biological impacts. 
27 The regional monitoring programs may deviate from the specific requirements in Section E.13.a. to the 
extent approved by the Executive Officer, except that the regional monitoring program shall be SWAMP 
comparable and that all data shall be placed in the California Environmental Data Exchange Network 
(CEDEN). 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 63 February 5, 2013 

-109-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

collaboration of local and regional monitoring programs that are designed to create a more 
comprehensive picture of water quality conditions within a watershed. The following 
management questions may be used to assist in guiding the development of a regional 
monitoring program, as applicable25

: 

1) Are water quality standards being met in receiving waters? 
2) What is the extent and magnitude of the current or potential receiving 

water problems26? 
3) What is the relative urban runoff contribution to the receiving water 

problem(s)? 
4) What are the sources to urban runoff that contribute to the receiving water 

problem(s)? 
5) Are conditions in receiving waters getting better or worse? 

Regional monitoring programs shall be reviewed and approved by the Executive Officer of the 
applicable Regional Water Board27

• 

Where a regional monitoring group has initiated plans, before the effective date of this Order, to 
conduct monitoring that achieves Section E.13. compliance, the Permittee may request the 
Executive Officer of the applicable Regional Board tailor compliance dates to synchronize with 
such efforts. Additionally, existing regional water monitoring efforts shall be reviewed and 
approved by a Regional Water Board Executive Officer. 

Where a Permittee receives grant funding to conduct monitoring that achieves Section E.13. 
compliance, the Permittee may request the Regional Water Board Executive Officer tailor 
compliance dates to synchronize with such efforts. 

E.13.a. ASBS Monitoring 

All Permittees that discharge to an ASBS and are covered by an Ocean Plan 
exception shall comply with the monitoring requirements described in the terms, 
prohibitions and special conditions in Attachment C. 

E.13.b. TMDL Monitoring 

All Permittees that are assigned a wasteload allocation or identified as a 
responsible party in a TMDL approved by the U.S. EPA where urban runoff is listed 
as the source, shall comply with the monitoring requirements included in 
Attachment G and consult with the Regional Water Board within one year of the 
effective date of the permit to determine the monitoring study design and a 
monitoring implementation schedule. Where a TMDL is limited to a single 

25 The five core management questions are based on the Stormwater Monitoring Coalition's Model 
Monitoring Technical Committee Technical Report # 419: Model Monitoring Program for Municipal 
Separate Storm Sewer Systems in Southern California. 
26 Water quality problems include exceedances of water quality standards, including impairment of 
designated uses, or other significant water quality impacts, including habitat and biological impacts. 
27 The regional monitoring programs may deviate from the specific requirements in Section E.13.a. to the 
extent approved by the Executive Officer, except that the regional monitoring program shall be SWAMP 
comparable and that all data shall be placed in the California Environmental Data Exchange Network 
(CEDEN). 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 63 February 5, 2013 



constituent within a single reach of the watershed, the Regional Water Board 
Executive Officer may require additional monitoring, per Water Code § 13383. 
Permittees shall implement TMDL monitoring as specified by the Regional Water 
Board Executive Officer. 

E.13.c. 303(d) Monitoring 

All Permittees that discharge to waterbodies listed as impaired on the 303(d)28 list 
where urban runoff is listed as the source, shall consult with the Regional Water 
Board within one year of the effective date of the permit to assess whether 
monitoring is necessary and if so, determine the monitoring study design and a 
monitoring implementation schedule. Permittees shall implement monitoring of 
303(d) impaired water bodies as specified by the Regional Water Board Executive 
Officer. 

E.13.d. Receiving Water Monitoring and Special Studies 

Traditional Small MS4 Permittees with a population greater than 50,000 listed in 
Attachment A that are not already conducting ASBS, TMDL or 303(d) monitoring 
efforts shall participate in one of the following monitoring programs, subject to 
Regional Water Board Executive Officer approval: 

• E.13.d.1. Receiving Water Monitoring 
• E.13.d.2. Special Studies 

E.13.d.1. Receiving Water Monitoring 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall develop and implement a receiving water monitoring program to 
(1) Monitor receiving water quality at upstream location in an area undergoing 
development and evaluate changes in receiving water quality over time, and 
(2) Monitor receiving water quality at a downstream location in an urban area and 
evaluate changes in receiving water quality over time. Permittees may, to the extent 
allowed by law, establish a monitoring fund into which all new development 
contributes on a proportional basis (% development fee, size/number of lots, etc.). 
Monitoring funding may be overseen by municipalities or coalition of municipalities. 

(ii) Implementation Level - By the first year of the permit, the Permittee shall select one 
(1) urban/rural interface monitoring site to monitor receiving water quality. at an 
upstream location in an area undergoing development and evaluate changes in 
receiving water quality over time, and; one (1) urban area monitoring site to monitor 
receiving water quality at a downstream location in an urban area and evaluate 
changes in receiving water quality over time. Site selection shall include the 
following: 

(a) Urban/Rural Interface. Identify one characteristic waterway at the top, or 
upstream, of a HUC 12 level watershed planned for development in the near 
future that traverses an urbanlrural interface, using the 2010 Census Data 
and urban area maps, and establish a permanent monitoring location at the 

28 http://www.waterbbards.ca.gov/water issues/programs/tmdllintegrated2010.shtml 

Phase" Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 64 February 5, 2013 

-110-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

constituent within a single reach of the watershed, the Regional Water Board 
Executive Officer may require additional monitoring, per Water Code § 13383. 
Permittees shall implement TMDL monitoring as specified by the Regional Water 
Board Executive Officer. 

E.13.c. 303(d) Monitoring 

All Permittees that discharge to waterbodies listed as impaired on the 303(d)28 list 
where urban runoff is listed as the source, shall consult with the Regional Water 
Board within one year of the effective date of the permit to assess whether 
monitoring is necessary and if so, determine the monitoring study design and a 
monitoring implementation schedule. Permittees shall implement monitoring of 
303(d) impaired water bodies as specified by the Regional Water Board Executive 
Officer. 

E.13.d. Receiving Water Monitoring and Special Studies 

Traditional Small MS4 Permittees with a population greater than 50,000 listed in 
Attachment A that are not already conducting ASBS, TMDL or 303(d) monitoring 
efforts shall participate in one of the following monitoring programs, subject to 
Regional Water Board Executive Officer approval: 

• E.13.d.1. Receiving Water Monitoring 
• E.13.d.2. Special Studies 

E.13.d.1. Receiving Water Monitoring 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall develop and implement a receiving water monitoring program to 
(1) Monitor receiving water quality at upstream location in an area undergoing 
development and evaluate changes in receiving water quality over time, and 
(2) Monitor receiving water quality at a downstream location in an urban area and 
evaluate changes in receiving water quality over time. Permittees may, to the extent 
allowed by law, establish a monitoring fund into which all new development 
contributes on a proportional basis (% development fee, size/number of lots, etc.). 
Monitoring funding may be overseen by municipalities or coalition of municipalities. 

(ii) Implementation Level - By the first year of the permit, the Permittee shall select one 
(1) urban/rural interface monitoring site to monitor receiving water quality. at an 
upstream location in an area undergoing development and evaluate changes in 
receiving water quality over time, and; one (1) urban area monitoring site to monitor 
receiving water quality at a downstream location in an urban area and evaluate 
changes in receiving water quality over time. Site selection shall include the 
following: 

(a) Urban/Rural Interface. Identify one characteristic waterway at the top, or 
upstream, of a HUC 12 level watershed planned for development in the near 
future that traverses an urbanlrural interface, using the 2010 Census Data 
and urban area maps, and establish a permanent monitoring location at the 

28 http://www.waterbbards.ca.gov/water issues/programs/tmdllintegrated2010.shtml 

Phase" Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 64 February 5, 2013 



identified urban/rural interface29
. Monitoring at the urban/rural interface shall 

address the question: Does receiving water quality change as LID BMPs are 
integrated into new development? 

(b) Urban Downstream. Identify one characteristic waterway at the bottom, or 
downstream, of the same HUe 12 watershed as the urban/rural interface 
monitoring location and within an urbanized area and establish a permanent 
monitoring location at the identified urbanized area waterway. Monitoring at 
the urban area site shall address the question: Does receiving water quality 
improve as a result of efforts to control the sources of pollution and educate 
the public? 

By the second year of the permit term and after establishment of site selection, the 
Permittee shall monitor the urban/rural interface site to address the hypothesis that 
receiving water quality will remain the same as new development proceeds, and the 
urban area site to address the hypothesis that receiving water quality will improve 
over time as storm water and 'other water quality programmatic efforts are 
implemented. Monitoring shall be implemented in accordance with Table 3. 
Receiving Water Monitoring Parameters and Protocols. 

Table 3: Ilo"o;u;na Water Monitori Parameters and Protocol 
Urban/Rural Interface: 

Objective: Monitor receiving water quality at upstream location in an area undergoing development. Evaluate changes in receiving water 
quality over time. 

Question: Does receiving water quality change as LID BMPs are integrated into new development? 

Hypothesis: Receiving water quality will remain the same as new development proceeds. 

Urban Downstream: 

Objective: Monitor receiving water quality at a downstream location in an urban area. Evaluate changes in receiving water quality over time. 

Question: Does receiving water quality improve as a result of efforts to control the sources of pollution and educate the public? 

Hypothesis: Receiving water quality will improve over time as storm water and other water quality programmatic efforts are implemented. 

Water Quality Pyrethroids* 
(sediment) 

Dissolved oxygen 
(DO) 

Aquatic Life 

Aquatic life, 
recreation 

Pyrethroids** among the 
most ubiquitous urban 
contaminant in storm water. 
Highly toxic to aquatic life. 

DO reports on presence of 
excessive nutrients (N, P) and 
effects of organic matter loading 
into a waterbody. High DO during 
day, low DO at night suggests 

e ove 

Method with detection limit of 1 
pptr (5 pptr for permethrin only) 
such as the GC-MS-MS method of 
Water Pollution Control Lab. Yearly 
in spring at urban/rural interface 
only. Refer to pending SWAMP 

elines. 
Option 1: One week of evening grab 
samples (a minimum of 2 hours after 
dusk or 2 hours before sunrise) in 
spring (as soon as safe to get into 
waterway), summer, & fall. OR 

on 2: Continuous sam 1 

29 The urban/rural interface is identified as the geographical location at which urban land use and rural land use 
interact 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 65 February 5, 2013 

-111-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

identified urban/rural interface29
. Monitoring at the urban/rural interface shall 

address the question: Does receiving water quality change as LID BMPs are 
integrated into new development? 

(b) Urban Downstream. Identify one characteristic waterway at the bottom, or 
downstream, of the same HUe 12 watershed as the urban/rural interface 
monitoring location and within an urbanized area and establish a permanent 
monitoring location at the identified urbanized area waterway. Monitoring at 
the urban area site shall address the question: Does receiving water quality 
improve as a result of efforts to control the sources of pollution and educate 
the public? 

By the second year of the permit term and after establishment of site selection, the 
Permittee shall monitor the urban/rural interface site to address the hypothesis that 
receiving water quality will remain the same as new development proceeds, and the 
urban area site to address the hypothesis that receiving water quality will improve 
over time as storm water and 'other water quality programmatic efforts are 
implemented. Monitoring shall be implemented in accordance with Table 3. 
Receiving Water Monitoring Parameters and Protocols. 

Table 3: Ilo"o;u;na Water Monitori Parameters and Protocol 
Urban/Rural Interface: 

Objective: Monitor receiving water quality at upstream location in an area undergoing development. Evaluate changes in receiving water 
quality over time. 

Question: Does receiving water quality change as LID BMPs are integrated into new development? 

Hypothesis: Receiving water quality will remain the same as new development proceeds. 

Urban Downstream: 

Objective: Monitor receiving water quality at a downstream location in an urban area. Evaluate changes in receiving water quality over time. 

Question: Does receiving water quality improve as a result of efforts to control the sources of pollution and educate the public? 

Hypothesis: Receiving water quality will improve over time as storm water and other water quality programmatic efforts are implemented. 

Water Quality Pyrethroids* 
(sediment) 

Dissolved oxygen 
(DO) 

Aquatic Life 

Aquatic life, 
recreation 

Pyrethroids** among the 
most ubiquitous urban 
contaminant in storm water. 
Highly toxic to aquatic life. 

DO reports on presence of 
excessive nutrients (N, P) and 
effects of organic matter loading 
into a waterbody. High DO during 
day, low DO at night suggests 

e ove 

Method with detection limit of 1 
pptr (5 pptr for permethrin only) 
such as the GC-MS-MS method of 
Water Pollution Control Lab. Yearly 
in spring at urban/rural interface 
only. Refer to pending SWAMP 

elines. 
Option 1: One week of evening grab 
samples (a minimum of 2 hours after 
dusk or 2 hours before sunrise) in 
spring (as soon as safe to get into 
waterway), summer, & fall. OR 

on 2: Continuous sam 1 

29 The urban/rural interface is identified as the geographical location at which urban land use and rural land use 
interact 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 65 February 5, 2013 



week in spring summer, fall. In 
rivers or lakes, 2 samplers to obtain 
depth-integrated values. 

Temperature Aquatic life Aquatic life can survive within a Option 1: Daytime measurement 
temperature window, between noon - 5 pm, at the same 
exceedances lethal. If loggers are time of day, for 2 weeks in the 
deployed, DO probes often also spring, summer, and fall. 
measure temperature. Option 2: Continuous sample. Same 

as for dissolved oxygen. 
Bacteria Recreation Increase cell count linked to poor Once yearly in later summer or fall. 

management practices, high Collect 1 sample weekly x 4 weeks. 
bacteria levels limit recreational Calculate geometric mean. Measure 
use of waterways. e. coli. 

Nutrients Aquatic life Excess nutrients can cause Benthic algal biomass and % cover 
Recreation eutrophication of waterways (benthic chlorophyll a) from 
Other leading to low dissolved oxygen sediment in wadeable and non-

which harms aquatic life. Algal wadeable streams or planktonic 
overgrowth can also impair flows, algal biomass (water column 
adversely affect aesthetics, chlorophyll) from non-wadeable 
limiting recreation. rivers and lakes. 3 times per year at 

beginning, middle, and end of 
growing season. Use SWAMP protocol 

Physical Habitat PHAB Aquatic life Expect to see few changes in Once yearly in spring. Use SWAMP 
assessment habitat with effective LID protocol. 

implementation 
Channel cross Aquatic life Reports on stability of creek/river Once yearly in spring. 
sections channel 
Flow Aquatic life Expect minimal changes in flow Option 1: Pressure transducer. Use 

rate if LID practices minimizes channel cross sections put in same 
changes in hydrograph usually time as DO probe. Measure spring, 
seen with urbanization summer, and fall 

Option 2: Install stage gage, develop 
rating curve. Evaluate spring, 
summer, and fall for 2 weeks. 

Photo Overall Pictures and flood prone area will Once yearly in spring. 
documentation conditions aid in the interpretation of the . 

data 
Bioassessment Aquatic life BMls integrate the sum of all In spring as soon as safe. to enter 

Aquatic life conditions. Use early water, use SWAMP protocol 
measurements as the baseline. 
In some cases, expect improved 
BMls, depending on previous use 
of land. 

* Pyrethrold mOnltonng IS required at the urban/rural interface site only. 
**Currently, pyrethroids are the pesticide of greatest concern and abundance in urban/suburban waterways. However, new 
regulations enacted by the Dept. of Pesticide Regulatioh restrict how pyrethroids may be applied. Initial models by UC Davis 
researchers suggest that this could result in a runoff reduction of 80-90%,depending on the amount of impervious cover in the 
watershed. In the future, other pesticides may become more of a threat to aquatic life in urban waterways. One pesticide that 
is being used with greater frequency is fipronil, a phenylpyrazole insecticide, that is more water soluble than pyrethroids. In 
order to use the resources of the permittees most efficiently, the State Water Resource Control Board reserves the right to 
modify the terms and conditions of the permit based on new information on pesticide use and toxicity. This could include 
substituting another pesticide for monitoring or eliminating this endpoint. 

Phase 1/ Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 66 February 5, 2013 

-112-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

week in spring summer, fall. In 
rivers or lakes, 2 samplers to obtain 
depth-integrated values. 

Temperature Aquatic life Aquatic life can survive within a Option 1: Daytime measurement 
temperature window, between noon - 5 pm, at the same 
exceedances lethal. If loggers are time of day, for 2 weeks in the 
deployed, DO probes often also spring, summer, and fall. 
measure temperature. Option 2: Continuous sample. Same 

as for dissolved oxygen. 
Bacteria Recreation Increase cell count linked to poor Once yearly in later summer or fall. 

management practices, high Collect 1 sample weekly x 4 weeks. 
bacteria levels limit recreational Calculate geometric mean. Measure 
use of waterways. e. coli. 

Nutrients Aquatic life Excess nutrients can cause Benthic algal biomass and % cover 
Recreation eutrophication of waterways (benthic chlorophyll a) from 
Other leading to low dissolved oxygen sediment in wadeable and non-

which harms aquatic life. Algal wadeable streams or planktonic 
overgrowth can also impair flows, algal biomass (water column 
adversely affect aesthetics, chlorophyll) from non-wadeable 
limiting recreation. rivers and lakes. 3 times per year at 

beginning, middle, and end of 
growing season. Use SWAMP protocol 

Physical Habitat PHAB Aquatic life Expect to see few changes in Once yearly in spring. Use SWAMP 
assessment habitat with effective LID protocol. 

implementation 
Channel cross Aquatic life Reports on stability of creek/river Once yearly in spring. 
sections channel 
Flow Aquatic life Expect minimal changes in flow Option 1: Pressure transducer. Use 

rate if LID practices minimizes channel cross sections put in same 
changes in hydrograph usually time as DO probe. Measure spring, 
seen with urbanization summer, and fall 

Option 2: Install stage gage, develop 
rating curve. Evaluate spring, 
summer, and fall for 2 weeks. 

Photo Overall Pictures and flood prone area will Once yearly in spring. 
documentation conditions aid in the interpretation of the . 

data 
Bioassessment Aquatic life BMls integrate the sum of all In spring as soon as safe. to enter 

Aquatic life conditions. Use early water, use SWAMP protocol 
measurements as the baseline. 
In some cases, expect improved 
BMls, depending on previous use 
of land. 

* Pyrethrold mOnltonng IS required at the urban/rural interface site only. 
**Currently, pyrethroids are the pesticide of greatest concern and abundance in urban/suburban waterways. However, new 
regulations enacted by the Dept. of Pesticide Regulatioh restrict how pyrethroids may be applied. Initial models by UC Davis 
researchers suggest that this could result in a runoff reduction of 80-90%,depending on the amount of impervious cover in the 
watershed. In the future, other pesticides may become more of a threat to aquatic life in urban waterways. One pesticide that 
is being used with greater frequency is fipronil, a phenylpyrazole insecticide, that is more water soluble than pyrethroids. In 
order to use the resources of the permittees most efficiently, the State Water Resource Control Board reserves the right to 
modify the terms and conditions of the permit based on new information on pesticide use and toxicity. This could include 
substituting another pesticide for monitoring or eliminating this endpoint. 

Phase 1/ Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 66 February 5, 2013 



(iii) Reporting - By the second year Annual Report, the Permittee shall complete and 
have available a report (50 page maximum) that includes a summary of baseline 
data collections and discussion of monitoring program results; 

By the fifth year Annual Report, the Permittee shall complete and have available a 
report (50 page maximum) that includes a comparison of data collection to baseline 
data, and discussion of monitoring program results. 

At a minimum, the second and fifth year Annual Reports shall include the following 
information: 

(a) The purpose of the monitoring, brief contextual background and a brief 
description of the study design and rationale. 

(b) Sampling site(s) locations, including latitude and longitude coordinates, water 
body name and water body segment if applicable. Sampling design, including 
sampling protocol, time of year, sampling frequency and length of sampling. 

(c) Methods used for sample collection: list methods used for sample collection, 
sample or data collection identification, collection date, and media if 
applicable. 

(d) Results of data collection, including concentration detected, measurement 
units, and detection limits if applicable. 

(e) Quantifiable assessment, analysis and interpretation of data for each 
monitoring parameter. 

(f) Comparison to reference sites (if applicable), guidelines or targets 
(g) Discussion of whether data collected addresses the objective(s) or 

question(s) of study design 
(h) Quantifiable discussion of program/study pollutant reduction effectiveness. 

Where applicable, the Permittee shall prepare, maintain, and implement a Quality 
Assurance Project Plan (QAPP) in accordance with the Surface Water Ambient 
Monitoring Program. All monitoring samples shall be collected and analyzed 
according to the Program QAPP developed for the purpose of compliance with this 
Order. SWAMP Quality Assurance Program Plan (2008) is available at: 

http://www.waterboards.ca.gov/water issues/programs/swamp/docs/qapp/qaprp082 
209.pdf 

A formatted Microsoft Word document that includes guidelines and boilerplate 
language for developing the permit QAPP is available at: 

http://www.waterl:5oards.ca.gov/water issues/programs/swamp/tools.shtml#qa 

Water quality data shall be uploaded to SMARTS and must conform to California 
Environmental Data Exchange Network (CEDEN) Minimum Data Templates format. 
CEDEN Minim.~m Data Templates are also available at: http://ceden.org/ 

Phase" Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 67 February 5,2013 

-113-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

(iii) Reporting - By the second year Annual Report, the Permittee shall complete and 
have available a report (50 page maximum) that includes a summary of baseline 
data collections and discussion of monitoring program results; 

By the fifth year Annual Report, the Permittee shall complete and have available a 
report (50 page maximum) that includes a comparison of data collection to baseline 
data, and discussion of monitoring program results. 

At a minimum, the second and fifth year Annual Reports shall include the following 
information: 

(a) The purpose of the monitoring, brief contextual background and a brief 
description of the study design and rationale. 

(b) Sampling site(s) locations, including latitude and longitude coordinates, water 
body name and water body segment if applicable. Sampling design, including 
sampling protocol, time of year, sampling frequency and length of sampling. 

(c) Methods used for sample collection: list methods used for sample collection, 
sample or data collection identification, collection date, and media if 
applicable. 

(d) Results of data collection, including concentration detected, measurement 
units, and detection limits if applicable. 

(e) Quantifiable assessment, analysis and interpretation of data for each 
monitoring parameter. 

(f) Comparison to reference sites (if applicable), guidelines or targets 
(g) Discussion of whether data collected addresses the objective(s) or 

question(s) of study design 
(h) Quantifiable discussion of program/study pollutant reduction effectiveness. 

Where applicable, the Permittee shall prepare, maintain, and implement a Quality 
Assurance Project Plan (QAPP) in accordance with the Surface Water Ambient 
Monitoring Program. All monitoring samples shall be collected and analyzed 
according to the Program QAPP developed for the purpose of compliance with this 
Order. SWAMP Quality Assurance Program Plan (2008) is available at: 

http://www.waterboards.ca.gov/water issues/programs/swamp/docs/qapp/qaprp082 
209.pdf 

A formatted Microsoft Word document that includes guidelines and boilerplate 
language for developing the permit QAPP is available at: 

http://www.waterl:5oards.ca.gov/water issues/programs/swamp/tools.shtml#qa 

Water quality data shall be uploaded to SMARTS and must conform to California 
Environmental Data Exchange Network (CEDEN) Minimum Data Templates format. 
CEDEN Minim.~m Data Templates are also available at: http://ceden.org/ 

Phase" Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 67 February 5,2013 



E.13.d.2. Special Studies 

(i) Task Description - Within the first year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee, as an alternative to Section E.13.d.1. Receiving Water Monitoring, may 
develop and implement a special study monitoring program to assess and evaluate 
the effectiveness of water quality projects or storm water program elements designed 
to reduce specific water quality pollutants that are causing or contributing to 
beneficial use impairment. The special studies must demonstrate the nexus 
between storm water program implementation, water quality protection and pollutant 
reduction effectiveness and may include, but are not limited to: 

(a) Assessment of effectiveness of habitat enhancement efforts and 
assessment of effectiveness of stream restoration projects (Le., stream 
channel restoration as related to implementation of hydromodification 
standards); 

(b) Assessment of effectiveness of low impact development pilot projects, and 
assessment of storm water program components through pollutant load 
reduction quantification and/or discharge water quality monitoring (Le., 
reduction of impervious surface related to implementation of Post
Construction Storm \0fater Management Program). 

(ii) Implementation Level - By the first year of the permit, the Permittee shall develop 
and implement a special study plan and shall submit to an applicable Regional Board 
for review and approval. Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, 
the Permittee shall begin implementation of the approved special study plan. The 
study plan shall include, at a minimum: 

(a) Purpose/objective of themonitoring (sampling rationale), including reasoning 
to implement a special study in lieu of the Receiving Water Monitoring 
described in Section E.13.d.1. 

(b) Brief project background information and overall study design (Le., 
surrounding land uses, reference monitoring data, if applicable, and site 
conditions) 

(c) Parameters that are being measured, how parameters are measured and 
rationale for parameter selection. 

(d) Frequency that parameters are being measured (sampling frequency) 
(e) Sampling site location 
(f) Description of how the data will be managed, analyzed (including statistical 

analysis) and reported 
(g) Expected results based on study plan design and hypothesis 

(iii) Reporting - By the second year Annual Report, the Permittee shall complete and 
have available a report (50 page maximum) that includes a summary of baseline 
data collections and discussion of monitoring program results. 

By the fifth year Annual Report, the Permittee shall complete and have available a 
report (50 page maximum) that includes a comparison of data collection to baseline 
data, and discussion of monitoring program results. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 68 February 5,2013 

-114-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

E.13.d.2. Special Studies 

(i) Task Description - Within the first year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee, as an alternative to Section E.13.d.1. Receiving Water Monitoring, may 
develop and implement a special study monitoring program to assess and evaluate 
the effectiveness of water quality projects or storm water program elements designed 
to reduce specific water quality pollutants that are causing or contributing to 
beneficial use impairment. The special studies must demonstrate the nexus 
between storm water program implementation, water quality protection and pollutant 
reduction effectiveness and may include, but are not limited to: 

(a) Assessment of effectiveness of habitat enhancement efforts and 
assessment of effectiveness of stream restoration projects (Le., stream 
channel restoration as related to implementation of hydromodification 
standards); 

(b) Assessment of effectiveness of low impact development pilot projects, and 
assessment of storm water program components through pollutant load 
reduction quantification and/or discharge water quality monitoring (Le., 
reduction of impervious surface related to implementation of Post
Construction Storm \0fater Management Program). 

(ii) Implementation Level - By the first year of the permit, the Permittee shall develop 
and implement a special study plan and shall submit to an applicable Regional Board 
for review and approval. Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, 
the Permittee shall begin implementation of the approved special study plan. The 
study plan shall include, at a minimum: 

(a) Purpose/objective of themonitoring (sampling rationale), including reasoning 
to implement a special study in lieu of the Receiving Water Monitoring 
described in Section E.13.d.1. 

(b) Brief project background information and overall study design (Le., 
surrounding land uses, reference monitoring data, if applicable, and site 
conditions) 

(c) Parameters that are being measured, how parameters are measured and 
rationale for parameter selection. 

(d) Frequency that parameters are being measured (sampling frequency) 
(e) Sampling site location 
(f) Description of how the data will be managed, analyzed (including statistical 

analysis) and reported 
(g) Expected results based on study plan design and hypothesis 

(iii) Reporting - By the second year Annual Report, the Permittee shall complete and 
have available a report (50 page maximum) that includes a summary of baseline 
data collections and discussion of monitoring program results. 

By the fifth year Annual Report, the Permittee shall complete and have available a 
report (50 page maximum) that includes a comparison of data collection to baseline 
data, and discussion of monitoring program results. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 68 February 5,2013 



At a minimum, the second and fifth year Annual Reports shall include the following 
information: 

(a) The purpose of the monitoring, contextual background and a description of 
the study design and rationale. 

(b) Sampling site(s) locations, including latitude and longitude coordinates, 
water body name and water body segment if applicable. Sampling design, 
including sampling protocol, time of year, sampling frequency and length of 
sampling. 

(c) Methods used for sample collection: list methods used for sample collection, 
sample or data collection identification, collection date, and media if 
applicable. 

(d) Results of data collection, including concentration detected, measurement 
units, and detection limits if applicable. 

(e) Quantifiable assessment analysis and interpretation of data for each 
monitoring parameter or other data type. 

(f) Comparison to reference sites (if applicable), guidelines or targets 
(g) Discussion of whether data collected addresses the objective(s) or 

question(s) in the study plan 
(h) Quantifiable discussion of program/study pollutant reduction effectiveness. 

Where applicable, the Permittee shall prepare, maintain, and implement a QAPP in 
accordance with SWAMP. All monitoring samples shall be collected and analyzed 
according to the Program QAPP developed for the purpose of compliance with this 
Order. SWAMP Quality Assurance Program Plan (2008) is available at: 

http://www.waterboards.ca.gov/water issues/programs/swamp/docs/qapp/qaprp0822 
09.pdf 

A formatted Microsoft Word document that includes guidelines and boilerplate 
language for developing the permit QAPP is available at: 

http://www.waterljoards.ca.gov/water issues/programs/swamp/tools.shtml#qa 

Water quality data shall be uploaded to the Storm Water Multi-Application Reporting 
and Tracking System (SMARTS) and must conform to "CEDEN Minimum Data 
Templates" format. CEDEN Minimum Data Templates are also available at: 
http://ceden.org/ . 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 69 February 5, 2013 

-115-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

At a minimum, the second and fifth year Annual Reports shall include the following 
information: 

(a) The purpose of the monitoring, contextual background and a description of 
the study design and rationale. 

(b) Sampling site(s) locations, including latitude and longitude coordinates, 
water body name and water body segment if applicable. Sampling design, 
including sampling protocol, time of year, sampling frequency and length of 
sampling. 

(c) Methods used for sample collection: list methods used for sample collection, 
sample or data collection identification, collection date, and media if 
applicable. 

(d) Results of data collection, including concentration detected, measurement 
units, and detection limits if applicable. 

(e) Quantifiable assessment analysis and interpretation of data for each 
monitoring parameter or other data type. 

(f) Comparison to reference sites (if applicable), guidelines or targets 
(g) Discussion of whether data collected addresses the objective(s) or 

question(s) in the study plan 
(h) Quantifiable discussion of program/study pollutant reduction effectiveness. 

Where applicable, the Permittee shall prepare, maintain, and implement a QAPP in 
accordance with SWAMP. All monitoring samples shall be collected and analyzed 
according to the Program QAPP developed for the purpose of compliance with this 
Order. SWAMP Quality Assurance Program Plan (2008) is available at: 

http://www.waterboards.ca.gov/water issues/programs/swamp/docs/qapp/qaprp0822 
09.pdf 

A formatted Microsoft Word document that includes guidelines and boilerplate 
language for developing the permit QAPP is available at: 

http://www.waterljoards.ca.gov/water issues/programs/swamp/tools.shtml#qa 

Water quality data shall be uploaded to the Storm Water Multi-Application Reporting 
and Tracking System (SMARTS) and must conform to "CEDEN Minimum Data 
Templates" format. CEDEN Minimum Data Templates are also available at: 
http://ceden.org/ . 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 69 February 5, 2013 



E.14. PROGRAM EFFECTIVENESS ASSESSMENT AND IMPROVEMENT 

E.14.a. Program Effectiveness Assessment and improvement Plan 

(i) Task Description - The Permittee shall develop and implement a Program 
Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term 
effectiveness of the storm water program. The Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan will assist the Permittee to document compliance with permit 
conditions and to adaptively manage its storm water program and make necessary 
modifications to the program to improve program effectiveness at reducing pollutants 
of concern, achieving the MEP standard, and protecting water quality. The Program 
Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement Plan shall identify the strategy used to 
gauge the effectiveness of prioritized BMPs and program implementation as a whole. 
Prioritized BMPs include BMPs implemented based on pollutants of concern. Where 
pollutants of concern are unidentified, prioritized BMPs are based on common urban 
pollutants (i.e., sediment, bacteria, trash, nutrients). The annual effectiveness 
assessments will help identify potential modifications to the program to ensure long
term effectiveness. 

(ii) Implementation Level - The Program Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement 
Plan may be modeled upon the most recent version (if applicable) Municipal Storm 
Water Program Effectiveness Assessment Guidance (CASQA, May 2007) or 
equivalent. 

(a) The Program Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement Plan shall include the 
following elements, at a minimum as applicable: 

1) Identification of overall program goals including pollutants of concern and 
prioritized BMPs 

2) Documentation of the level of implementation of storm water program 
elements 

3) Identification and targeting of target audience(s) 
4) Assessment of BMP performance at achieving outcome levels 
5) Assessment of pollutant source reductions achieved by individual BMPs 
6) Quantification of pollutant loads and pollutant load reductions achieved by the 

program as a whole 
7) MS4 discharge quality, where available, including analysis of the data 
8) Receiving water quality data, including analysis of th~ data 
9) Identification of long-term effectiveness assessment, to be implemented 

beyond the permit term 

(b) The Program Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement Plan shall assess 
BMP and program effectiveness in terms of the following Outcome Levels: 

1) Storm water program activities 
2) Awareness 
3) Behavior 
4) Pollutant load reductions 
5) MS4 discharge quality (where assessment is supported by MS4 

discharge quality data) 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 70 February 5, 2013 

-116-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

E.14. PROGRAM EFFECTIVENESS ASSESSMENT AND IMPROVEMENT 

E.14.a. Program Effectiveness Assessment and improvement Plan 

(i) Task Description - The Permittee shall develop and implement a Program 
Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term 
effectiveness of the storm water program. The Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan will assist the Permittee to document compliance with permit 
conditions and to adaptively manage its storm water program and make necessary 
modifications to the program to improve program effectiveness at reducing pollutants 
of concern, achieving the MEP standard, and protecting water quality. The Program 
Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement Plan shall identify the strategy used to 
gauge the effectiveness of prioritized BMPs and program implementation as a whole. 
Prioritized BMPs include BMPs implemented based on pollutants of concern. Where 
pollutants of concern are unidentified, prioritized BMPs are based on common urban 
pollutants (i.e., sediment, bacteria, trash, nutrients). The annual effectiveness 
assessments will help identify potential modifications to the program to ensure long
term effectiveness. 

(ii) Implementation Level - The Program Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement 
Plan may be modeled upon the most recent version (if applicable) Municipal Storm 
Water Program Effectiveness Assessment Guidance (CASQA, May 2007) or 
equivalent. 

(a) The Program Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement Plan shall include the 
following elements, at a minimum as applicable: 

1) Identification of overall program goals including pollutants of concern and 
prioritized BMPs 

2) Documentation of the level of implementation of storm water program 
elements 

3) Identification and targeting of target audience(s) 
4) Assessment of BMP performance at achieving outcome levels 
5) Assessment of pollutant source reductions achieved by individual BMPs 
6) Quantification of pollutant loads and pollutant load reductions achieved by the 

program as a whole 
7) MS4 discharge quality, where available, including analysis of the data 
8) Receiving water quality data, including analysis of th~ data 
9) Identification of long-term effectiveness assessment, to be implemented 

beyond the permit term 

(b) The Program Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement Plan shall assess 
BMP and program effectiveness in terms of the following Outcome Levels: 

1) Storm water program activities 
2) Awareness 
3) Behavior 
4) Pollutant load reductions 
5) MS4 discharge quality (where assessment is supported by MS4 

discharge quality data) 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 70 February 5, 2013 



6) Receiving water conditions 

(c) The Program Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement Plan shall identify 
assessment methods for privately owned BMPs. 

(d) The Program Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement Plan shall identify 
assessment methods the Permittee will use to quantitatively assess BMP 
performance at reducing pollutant loads wherever feasible, using the following or 
equivalent methods: 

1) Direct quantitative measurement of pollutant load removal for BMPs that 
lend themselves to such measurement (e.g., measuring sediment 
collected through street-sweeping activities); 

2) Science-based estimates of pollutant load removal for BMPs where direct 
measurement of pollutant removal is overly challenging (e.g., removal of 
heavy metals through a bioswale); 

3) Direct quantitative measurement of behaviors that serve as proxies of 
pollutant removal or reduction (e.g., the percentage of construction sites 
demonstrated by inspection to be in compliance with permit conditions); 
or 

4) Visual comparison (e.g., using photographs to compare the amount of 
trash in a creek between one year and the next). 

(e) The Program Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement Plan shall ask and 
answer the following Management Questions for prioritized BMPs for which 
answers to management questions can be based on quantitative data 
appropriate to the question being answered. 

1) Were prioritized BMPs or group of BMPs implemented in accordance with 
the permit requirements? The Permittee shall develop quantitative data 
using the following or equivalent methods: 
a) Confirmation - Documenting whether an activity or task has been 

completed, expressed as positive or negative outcome (Le., yes or no) 
b) Tabulation - Simple accounting expressed in absolute (e.g., number of 

people participating), or relative terms (e.g. percent increase in 
recycled household hazardous waste) 

2) To what extent did prioritized BMPs or group of BMPs change the target 
audience's behavior? The Permittee shall develop quantitative data using 
the following or equivalent methods: 
a) Surveys or interviews to discern knowledge, attitudes, awareness, 

behavior of specific population, etc. 
b) Interviews of site personnel to discern awareness and behavior 
c) Inspections or site visits to directly observe or assess a practice. 

3) To what extent did prioritized BMPs or group of BMPs reduce pollutant 
loads from their sources to the storm drain system? 

(f) The Program Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement Plan shall include 
water quality monitoring data, where available, to answer the following long-term 
management questions, effectiveness of BMPs and the overall storm water 
program will be assessed in future permit terms. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 71 February 5, 2013 

-117-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

6) Receiving water conditions 

(c) The Program Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement Plan shall identify 
assessment methods for privately owned BMPs. 

(d) The Program Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement Plan shall identify 
assessment methods the Permittee will use to quantitatively assess BMP 
performance at reducing pollutant loads wherever feasible, using the following or 
equivalent methods: 

1) Direct quantitative measurement of pollutant load removal for BMPs that 
lend themselves to such measurement (e.g., measuring sediment 
collected through street-sweeping activities); 

2) Science-based estimates of pollutant load removal for BMPs where direct 
measurement of pollutant removal is overly challenging (e.g., removal of 
heavy metals through a bioswale); 

3) Direct quantitative measurement of behaviors that serve as proxies of 
pollutant removal or reduction (e.g., the percentage of construction sites 
demonstrated by inspection to be in compliance with permit conditions); 
or 

4) Visual comparison (e.g., using photographs to compare the amount of 
trash in a creek between one year and the next). 

(e) The Program Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement Plan shall ask and 
answer the following Management Questions for prioritized BMPs for which 
answers to management questions can be based on quantitative data 
appropriate to the question being answered. 

1) Were prioritized BMPs or group of BMPs implemented in accordance with 
the permit requirements? The Permittee shall develop quantitative data 
using the following or equivalent methods: 
a) Confirmation - Documenting whether an activity or task has been 

completed, expressed as positive or negative outcome (Le., yes or no) 
b) Tabulation - Simple accounting expressed in absolute (e.g., number of 

people participating), or relative terms (e.g. percent increase in 
recycled household hazardous waste) 

2) To what extent did prioritized BMPs or group of BMPs change the target 
audience's behavior? The Permittee shall develop quantitative data using 
the following or equivalent methods: 
a) Surveys or interviews to discern knowledge, attitudes, awareness, 

behavior of specific population, etc. 
b) Interviews of site personnel to discern awareness and behavior 
c) Inspections or site visits to directly observe or assess a practice. 

3) To what extent did prioritized BMPs or group of BMPs reduce pollutant 
loads from their sources to the storm drain system? 

(f) The Program Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement Plan shall include 
water quality monitoring data, where available, to answer the following long-term 
management questions, effectiveness of BMPs and the overall storm water 
program will be assessed in future permit terms. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 71 February 5, 2013 



1) TO what extent did implementation of the BMP, group of BMPs, or storm 
water program enhance or change the urban runoff and discharge 
quality? 

2) To what extent did implementation of the BMP, group of BMPs, or storm 
water program enhance or change receiving water quality? 

3) Did exceedance(s) of water quality objectives or water quality standards 
persist notwithstanding implementation of the storm water program? 

The Program Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement Plan shall include 
documentation of the effectiveness of BMPs implemented to reduce the 
discharge of pollutants to the MS4 to the MEP and protect water quality. 

(iii) Reporting - By the second year Annual Report complete and submit the Program 
Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement Plan. The Plan shall include the 
strategy the Permittee will use to assess the effectiveness of the program, the 
specific measures the Permittee will use to assess the effectiveness of BMPs and/or 
groups of BMPs,and how the Permittee will use the information obtained through 
effectiveness assessment to modify individual BMPs and the program as a whole to 
increase short and long-term effectiveness. In subsequent Annual Reports, describe 
implementation of the Program Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement Plan, 
summarize data obtained through effectiveness assessment measures and the short 
and long-term progress of the storm water program, and provide an analysis of the 
data to improve program effectiveness, to achieve the MEP standard, protect water 
quality, and to document the Permittee's compliance with permit conditions. 
Permittees that have a Program Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement Plans, 
or equivalent, approved by the applicable Regional Board, or that have a schedule 
approved by the applicable Regional Board to develop and implement such a Plan, 
shall adhere to the Plan and/or schedule approved by the Regional Board unless 
otherwise directed by the Regional Board. By the fifth year annual report, complete 
and submit an analysis of the effectiveness of modifications made at improving BMP 
and/or program effectiveness. 

E.14.b. Storm Water Program Modifications 

(i) Task Description -The Permittee shall modify BMPs and/or the program as a whole 
to improve compliance with permit conditions and improve program effectiveness at 
reducing pollutant loads, achieving the MEP standard, and protecting water quality. 
The Permittee shall use information gained through effectiveness assessment and 
MS4 discharge and receiving water monitoring to identify priority areas for program 
improvement. In addition, the Permittee shall identify and make modifications to 
BMPs, including new BMPs or modification to existing BMPs, to improve 
effectiveness in each priority area. The Permittee shall consult with the applicable 
Regional Water Board in setting expectations for the scope, timing, and frequency of 
BMP modifications. 

(ii) Implementation Level - Within the fifth year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall identify and summarize BMP and/or program modifications identified 
in priority program areas. Modifications shall include: 

(a) Improving upon BMPs that are underperforming 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 72 February 5, 2013 

-118-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

1) TO what extent did implementation of the BMP, group of BMPs, or storm 
water program enhance or change the urban runoff and discharge 
quality? 

2) To what extent did implementation of the BMP, group of BMPs, or storm 
water program enhance or change receiving water quality? 

3) Did exceedance(s) of water quality objectives or water quality standards 
persist notwithstanding implementation of the storm water program? 

The Program Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement Plan shall include 
documentation of the effectiveness of BMPs implemented to reduce the 
discharge of pollutants to the MS4 to the MEP and protect water quality. 

(iii) Reporting - By the second year Annual Report complete and submit the Program 
Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement Plan. The Plan shall include the 
strategy the Permittee will use to assess the effectiveness of the program, the 
specific measures the Permittee will use to assess the effectiveness of BMPs and/or 
groups of BMPs,and how the Permittee will use the information obtained through 
effectiveness assessment to modify individual BMPs and the program as a whole to 
increase short and long-term effectiveness. In subsequent Annual Reports, describe 
implementation of the Program Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement Plan, 
summarize data obtained through effectiveness assessment measures and the short 
and long-term progress of the storm water program, and provide an analysis of the 
data to improve program effectiveness, to achieve the MEP standard, protect water 
quality, and to document the Permittee's compliance with permit conditions. 
Permittees that have a Program Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement Plans, 
or equivalent, approved by the applicable Regional Board, or that have a schedule 
approved by the applicable Regional Board to develop and implement such a Plan, 
shall adhere to the Plan and/or schedule approved by the Regional Board unless 
otherwise directed by the Regional Board. By the fifth year annual report, complete 
and submit an analysis of the effectiveness of modifications made at improving BMP 
and/or program effectiveness. 

E.14.b. Storm Water Program Modifications 

(i) Task Description -The Permittee shall modify BMPs and/or the program as a whole 
to improve compliance with permit conditions and improve program effectiveness at 
reducing pollutant loads, achieving the MEP standard, and protecting water quality. 
The Permittee shall use information gained through effectiveness assessment and 
MS4 discharge and receiving water monitoring to identify priority areas for program 
improvement. In addition, the Permittee shall identify and make modifications to 
BMPs, including new BMPs or modification to existing BMPs, to improve 
effectiveness in each priority area. The Permittee shall consult with the applicable 
Regional Water Board in setting expectations for the scope, timing, and frequency of 
BMP modifications. 

(ii) Implementation Level - Within the fifth year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall identify and summarize BMP and/or program modifications identified 
in priority program areas. Modifications shall include: 

(a) Improving upon BMPs that are underperforming 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 72 February 5, 2013 



(b) Continuing and expanding upon BMPs that proved to be effective, including 
identifying new BMPs or modifications to existing BMPs designed to increase 
pollutant load reductions; 

(c) Discontinuing BMPs that may no longer be productive and replacing with more 
effective BMPs; and 

(d) Shifting priorities to make more effective use of resources 

(iii) Reporting - By the fifth year Annual Report, complete and submit the list of BMP 
and/or program modifications, as specified in E.14.c(ii), the Permittee will make for 
priority program areas, including identification of priority program areas and the 
schedule the Permittee will follow to complete identified modifications during the next 
permit term. The modifications shall be aimed at the goal of reducing pollutant loads, 
achieving the MEP standard and protecting water quality. 

E.1S. TOTAL MAXIMUM DAILY LOADS COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENTS 

E.1S.a. The Permittee shall comply with all applicable TMDLs approved pursuant to 40 
Code of Federal Regulations section 130.7 that assign a Waste Load Allocation 
to the Permittee and that have been identified in Attachment G. 

E.1S.b. WLA, Load Allocations (LA), effluent limitations, implementation requirements, 
and monitoring requirements are specified in the adopted and approved 
Regional Water Board Basin Plans and authorizing resolutions which are 
incorporated herein by reference as enforceable parts of this Order. Applicable 
Basin Plan amendments and resolutions are identified in Attachment G. 
Attachment G additionally contains a list of TMDL-specific permit requirements 
developed by the Regional Water Boards for compliance with the 
implementation requirements of the relevant TMDLs. These requirements are 
an enforceable component of this Order. In some cases, dates are given that 
fall outside the term of this Order. Compliance dates that have already passed 
are enforceable on the effective date of this Order. Compliance dates that 
exceed the term of this Order are included for reference, and become 
enforceable in the event that this Order is administratively extended. 

E.1S.c. The Regional Water Boards are directed to review, within one year of the 
effective date of this Order, the TMDL-specific permit requirements contained 
in Attachment G and to develop or propose revisions, as appropriate, to TMDL
specific permit requirements to the State Water Board after consultation with 
the Permittees and State Water Board staff. Any proposed revisions by the 
Regional Water Boards shall be supported by an explanation of how the 
proposed TMDL-specific permit requirements are consistent with the 
assumptions and requirements of applicable WLAs and with the goals of the 
TMDL. Where a TMDL is limited to a single constituent within a single reach of 
the watershed, the Regional Water Board Executive Officer may require 
additional monitoring, per Water Code § 13383. The State Water Board will 
incorporate any necessary revisions through a reopener. The State Water 
Board may additionally revise this Order through a reopener to incorporate any 
modifications or revisions to the TMDLs in Attachment G, or to incorporate any 
new TMDLs adopted during the term of this Order that assign a WLA to a 
Regulated Small MS4 or that identify a Regulated Small MS4 as a responsible 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 73 February 5, 2013 

-119-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

(b) Continuing and expanding upon BMPs that proved to be effective, including 
identifying new BMPs or modifications to existing BMPs designed to increase 
pollutant load reductions; 

(c) Discontinuing BMPs that may no longer be productive and replacing with more 
effective BMPs; and 

(d) Shifting priorities to make more effective use of resources 

(iii) Reporting - By the fifth year Annual Report, complete and submit the list of BMP 
and/or program modifications, as specified in E.14.c(ii), the Permittee will make for 
priority program areas, including identification of priority program areas and the 
schedule the Permittee will follow to complete identified modifications during the next 
permit term. The modifications shall be aimed at the goal of reducing pollutant loads, 
achieving the MEP standard and protecting water quality. 

E.1S. TOTAL MAXIMUM DAILY LOADS COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENTS 

E.1S.a. The Permittee shall comply with all applicable TMDLs approved pursuant to 40 
Code of Federal Regulations section 130.7 that assign a Waste Load Allocation 
to the Permittee and that have been identified in Attachment G. 

E.1S.b. WLA, Load Allocations (LA), effluent limitations, implementation requirements, 
and monitoring requirements are specified in the adopted and approved 
Regional Water Board Basin Plans and authorizing resolutions which are 
incorporated herein by reference as enforceable parts of this Order. Applicable 
Basin Plan amendments and resolutions are identified in Attachment G. 
Attachment G additionally contains a list of TMDL-specific permit requirements 
developed by the Regional Water Boards for compliance with the 
implementation requirements of the relevant TMDLs. These requirements are 
an enforceable component of this Order. In some cases, dates are given that 
fall outside the term of this Order. Compliance dates that have already passed 
are enforceable on the effective date of this Order. Compliance dates that 
exceed the term of this Order are included for reference, and become 
enforceable in the event that this Order is administratively extended. 

E.1S.c. The Regional Water Boards are directed to review, within one year of the 
effective date of this Order, the TMDL-specific permit requirements contained 
in Attachment G and to develop or propose revisions, as appropriate, to TMDL
specific permit requirements to the State Water Board after consultation with 
the Permittees and State Water Board staff. Any proposed revisions by the 
Regional Water Boards shall be supported by an explanation of how the 
proposed TMDL-specific permit requirements are consistent with the 
assumptions and requirements of applicable WLAs and with the goals of the 
TMDL. Where a TMDL is limited to a single constituent within a single reach of 
the watershed, the Regional Water Board Executive Officer may require 
additional monitoring, per Water Code § 13383. The State Water Board will 
incorporate any necessary revisions through a reopener. The State Water 
Board may additionally revise this Order through a reopener to incorporate any 
modifications or revisions to the TMDLs in Attachment G, or to incorporate any 
new TMDLs adopted during the term of this Order that assign a WLA to a 
Regulated Small MS4 or that identify a Regulated Small MS4 as a responsible 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 73 February 5, 2013 



party. In revising Attachment G, the State Water Board will allow adequate 
notice and public review. 

E.1S.d. The Permittee shall complete and report the status of their implementation of the 
specific TMDL implementation requirements that have been incorporated into 
the permit with each Annual Report via SMARTS. Reporting on TMDL 
implementation shall include the following information: 

(i) A description of BMPs implemented, including types, number, and 
locations 

(ii) An assessment of the effectiveness of implemented BMPs in progressing 
towards attainment of wasteload allocations within the TMDLs' specified 
timeframes . 

(iii) All monitoring data, including a statistical analysis of the data to assess 
progress towards attainment of wasteload allocations within the TMDLs' 
specified timeframes 

(iv) Based on results of the effectiveness assessment and monitoring, a 
description of the additional BMPs that will be implemented to attain 
wasteload allocations within the TMDLs specified timeframes 

E.1S.e. The Permittee shall comply with implementation requirements specified in 
Category 4b demonstrations associated with Clean Water Act Sections 303d, 
306b, and 314 Integrated Reporting and Listing Decisions. Implementation 
requirements described in Category 4b demonstrations are effective upon 
Regional Water Board approval of that region's Integrated Reporting and 
Listing Decisions and associated Category 4b demonstrations. The most 
recent Integrated Reporting and Listing Decisions and associated Category 4b 
demonstrations are available at 
http://www.waterboartls.ca.gov/water issues/programs/tmdllintegrated2010.sht 
ml. 

E.1S. ANNUAL REPORTING PROGRAM 

E.1S.a. The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a summary of 
the past year activities for each program element and certify compliance with 
all requirements of this permit. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance 
with a requirement, the Permittee must submit in SMARTS the reason for 
failure to comply, a description and schedule of tasks necessary to achieve 
compliance, and an estimated date for achieving full compliance. 

E.1S.b. Permittees shall complete and retain all Annual Report information on the 
previous fiscal year beginning July 1 and ending June 30. The Annual 
Reporting requirements are set forth in Provisions E. The Permittee shall 
retain documentation as necessary to support their Annual Report. The 
Permittee shall make this supporting information available during normal 
business hours, unless agreed to by the applicable Regional Water Board's 
Executive Officer. 

E.1S.c. The Permittee shall submit when requested by the Executive Officer of the 
applicable Regional Water Board a detailed written online annual report or in-

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 74 February 5, 2013 

-120-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

party. In revising Attachment G, the State Water Board will allow adequate 
notice and public review. 

E.1S.d. The Permittee shall complete and report the status of their implementation of the 
specific TMDL implementation requirements that have been incorporated into 
the permit with each Annual Report via SMARTS. Reporting on TMDL 
implementation shall include the following information: 

(i) A description of BMPs implemented, including types, number, and 
locations 

(ii) An assessment of the effectiveness of implemented BMPs in progressing 
towards attainment of wasteload allocations within the TMDLs' specified 
timeframes . 

(iii) All monitoring data, including a statistical analysis of the data to assess 
progress towards attainment of wasteload allocations within the TMDLs' 
specified timeframes 

(iv) Based on results of the effectiveness assessment and monitoring, a 
description of the additional BMPs that will be implemented to attain 
wasteload allocations within the TMDLs specified timeframes 

E.1S.e. The Permittee shall comply with implementation requirements specified in 
Category 4b demonstrations associated with Clean Water Act Sections 303d, 
306b, and 314 Integrated Reporting and Listing Decisions. Implementation 
requirements described in Category 4b demonstrations are effective upon 
Regional Water Board approval of that region's Integrated Reporting and 
Listing Decisions and associated Category 4b demonstrations. The most 
recent Integrated Reporting and Listing Decisions and associated Category 4b 
demonstrations are available at 
http://www.waterboartls.ca.gov/water issues/programs/tmdllintegrated2010.sht 
ml. 

E.1S. ANNUAL REPORTING PROGRAM 

E.1S.a. The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a summary of 
the past year activities for each program element and certify compliance with 
all requirements of this permit. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance 
with a requirement, the Permittee must submit in SMARTS the reason for 
failure to comply, a description and schedule of tasks necessary to achieve 
compliance, and an estimated date for achieving full compliance. 

E.1S.b. Permittees shall complete and retain all Annual Report information on the 
previous fiscal year beginning July 1 and ending June 30. The Annual 
Reporting requirements are set forth in Provisions E. The Permittee shall 
retain documentation as necessary to support their Annual Report. The 
Permittee shall make this supporting information available during normal 
business hours, unless agreed to by the applicable Regional Water Board's 
Executive Officer. 

E.1S.c. The Permittee shall submit when requested by the Executive Officer of the 
applicable Regional Water Board a detailed written online annual report or in-

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 74 February 5, 2013 



person presentation of the annual report that addresses the activities described 
in Provision E. The detailed Annual Report must clearly refer to the permit 
requirements and describe in quantifiable terms, the status of activities 
undertaken to comply with each requirement. 

E.1S.d. Permittees involved in regional programs may coordinate with the members to 
identify reporting responsibility. The one report submitted on behalf of 
Permittees involved in a regional program must include a summary of the past 
year activities for each program element and certification of compliance with all 
requirements of this Order for each of the Permittees in the regional program. 

F. NON - TRADITIONAL SMALL MS4 PERMITTEE PROVISIONS 

F.1. Non-Traditional Small MS4 Categories 

The Non-Traditional Small MS4s identified in Attachment B or by a Regional Water Board 
Executive Officer shall comply with the specific provisions in this Section. For military 
installations, this permit applies to areas, where the activities and population density 
resemble that of a traditional small MS4, as defined in the permit boundary map in Section 
A.2.b.(3). For Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation Permittees, this permit applies 
to facilities that are in active operation (Le., does not apply to closed facilities lacking 
management oversight). 

F.2. Security Concerns 

Department of Defense, Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation Permittees, ports 
and transportation agencies are exempt from Annual Reporting of any provlsion in this 
section that could pose a security risk and/or compromise facility security. l 

F.3. Maximize Efficiency 

Permittees may incorporate the required storm water provisions into already existing 
programs and leverage existing staff to implement BMPs during its day to day business and 
operations. 

F.4. Equivalent or Existing Document 

A Permittee may utilize an equivalent or existing document such as a Standard Operations 
and Procedures manual, Operation and Maintenance Plan, or Spill Response Plan if that 
document includes the necessary information required to comply with the provisions of this 
section. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 75 February 5, 2013 

-121-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

person presentation of the annual report that addresses the activities described 
in Provision E. The detailed Annual Report must clearly refer to the permit 
requirements and describe in quantifiable terms, the status of activities 
undertaken to comply with each requirement. 

E.1S.d. Permittees involved in regional programs may coordinate with the members to 
identify reporting responsibility. The one report submitted on behalf of 
Permittees involved in a regional program must include a summary of the past 
year activities for each program element and certification of compliance with all 
requirements of this Order for each of the Permittees in the regional program. 

F. NON - TRADITIONAL SMALL MS4 PERMITTEE PROVISIONS 

F.1. Non-Traditional Small MS4 Categories 

The Non-Traditional Small MS4s identified in Attachment B or by a Regional Water Board 
Executive Officer shall comply with the specific provisions in this Section. For military 
installations, this permit applies to areas, where the activities and population density 
resemble that of a traditional small MS4, as defined in the permit boundary map in Section 
A.2.b.(3). For Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation Permittees, this permit applies 
to facilities that are in active operation (Le., does not apply to closed facilities lacking 
management oversight). 

F.2. Security Concerns 

Department of Defense, Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation Permittees, ports 
and transportation agencies are exempt from Annual Reporting of any provlsion in this 
section that could pose a security risk and/or compromise facility security. l 

F.3. Maximize Efficiency 

Permittees may incorporate the required storm water provisions into already existing 
programs and leverage existing staff to implement BMPs during its day to day business and 
operations. 

F.4. Equivalent or Existing Document 

A Permittee may utilize an equivalent or existing document such as a Standard Operations 
and Procedures manual, Operation and Maintenance Plan, or Spill Response Plan if that 
document includes the necessary information required to comply with the provisions of this 
section. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 75 February 5, 2013 



F.S. PROVISIONS 

F.S.a. PROGRAM MANAGEMENT ELEMENT 

F.S.a.1. Legal Authority 

(i) Task Description - Permittee shall have adequate legal authority to meet the 
requirements of this Order 

(ii) Implementation Level- Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, 
the Permittee shall review, revise or adopt new relevant policies, contractual 
provisions, base orders, resolutions or other regulatory mechanisms, to the extent 
allowable under state or local law, to ensure it has at a minimum the legal authority 
to: 

(a) Effectively prohibit non-storm water discharges through the MS4. Exceptions to 
this prohibition are NPDES-permitted discharges of non-storm water and non
storm water discharges from B.3 that are considered non-significant contributors 
of pollutants. Where the non-storm water discharge is to a segment of an MS4 
that discharges directly to an ASBS, exceptions to the non-storm water 
prohibition are specified in Attachment C . 

. (b) Detect and eliminate illicit discharges and illegal connections to the MS4. Illicit 
connections include pipes, drains, open channels, or other conveyances that 
have the potential to allow an illicit discharge to enter the MS4. Illicit discharges 
include all non-storm water discharges not otherwise authorized in this Order, 
including, but not limited to discharges from mobile cleaning and pressure 
washing operations. 

'(c) Respond to spills, and prohibit dumping or disposal of materials other than storm 
water into the MS4. 

(d) Require vendors, contractors and operators of commercial facilities to minimize 
the discharge of pollutants to the MS4 through the installation, implementation, 
and maintenance of BMPs consistent with the CASQA Best Management 
Practice Handbooks or equivalent. 

(e) Ensure construction site or industrial facility operators provide a Waste Discharge 
Identification Number for coverage under the CGP and IGP and comply with the 
appropriate permit. 

(f) Review designs and proposals for new development and redevelopment to 
determine whether adequate BMPs will be installed, implemented, and 
maintained during construction and after final stabilization (post-construction). 

(g) Promptly cease and desist discharges and/or cleanup and abate a discharge, 
including the ability to: 

1) Effectively require the discharger to abate and clean up their discharge, spill, 
or pollutant release within 72 hours of notification; 

2) Require abatement, within 30 days of notification, for uncontrolled sources of 
pollutants that could pose an environmental threat; 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 76 February 5, 2013 

-122-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

F.S. PROVISIONS 

F.S.a. PROGRAM MANAGEMENT ELEMENT 

F.S.a.1. Legal Authority 

(i) Task Description - Permittee shall have adequate legal authority to meet the 
requirements of this Order 

(ii) Implementation Level- Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, 
the Permittee shall review, revise or adopt new relevant policies, contractual 
provisions, base orders, resolutions or other regulatory mechanisms, to the extent 
allowable under state or local law, to ensure it has at a minimum the legal authority 
to: 

(a) Effectively prohibit non-storm water discharges through the MS4. Exceptions to 
this prohibition are NPDES-permitted discharges of non-storm water and non
storm water discharges from B.3 that are considered non-significant contributors 
of pollutants. Where the non-storm water discharge is to a segment of an MS4 
that discharges directly to an ASBS, exceptions to the non-storm water 
prohibition are specified in Attachment C . 

. (b) Detect and eliminate illicit discharges and illegal connections to the MS4. Illicit 
connections include pipes, drains, open channels, or other conveyances that 
have the potential to allow an illicit discharge to enter the MS4. Illicit discharges 
include all non-storm water discharges not otherwise authorized in this Order, 
including, but not limited to discharges from mobile cleaning and pressure 
washing operations. 

'(c) Respond to spills, and prohibit dumping or disposal of materials other than storm 
water into the MS4. 

(d) Require vendors, contractors and operators of commercial facilities to minimize 
the discharge of pollutants to the MS4 through the installation, implementation, 
and maintenance of BMPs consistent with the CASQA Best Management 
Practice Handbooks or equivalent. 

(e) Ensure construction site or industrial facility operators provide a Waste Discharge 
Identification Number for coverage under the CGP and IGP and comply with the 
appropriate permit. 

(f) Review designs and proposals for new development and redevelopment to 
determine whether adequate BMPs will be installed, implemented, and 
maintained during construction and after final stabilization (post-construction). 

(g) Promptly cease and desist discharges and/or cleanup and abate a discharge, 
including the ability to: 

1) Effectively require the discharger to abate and clean up their discharge, spill, 
or pollutant release within 72 hours of notification; 

2) Require abatement, within 30 days of notification, for uncontrolled sources of 
pollutants that could pose an environmental threat; 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 76 February 5, 2013 



3) Perform the cleanup and abatement work and bill the responsible party, if 
necessary; 

4) Provide the option to order the cessation of activities until such problems are 
adequately addressed if a situation persists where pollutant-causing sources 
or activities are not abated; 

5) Require a new timeframe and notify the appropriate Regional Water Board 
when all parties agree that clean-up activities cannot be completed within 
the original timeframe and notify the appropriate Regional Water Board in 
writing within five business days of the determination that the timeframe 
requires revision. 

(iii) Reporting - All Permittees shall submit by the second year online Annual Report, a 
statement signed by both the Permittee's legal counsel and an authorized signatory 
certifying the Permittee has adequate legal authority to comply with all Order 
requirements. 

F.S.b. EDUCATION AND OUTREACH PROGRAM 

F.S.b.1. Compliance Participation Options 

All Permittees shall comply with the requirements in this Section by participating in one or 
more of the following: 

(a) Contributing to a countywide storm water program, as determined appropriate by the 
Permittee members, so that the countywide storm water program conducts 
education and outreach on behalf of its members; or 

(b) Contributing to a regional education and outreach collaborative effort (a regional 
education and outreach collaborative effort occurs when all or a majority of the 
Permittees collaborate to conduct regional education and outreach. Regional 
education and outreach collaboration includes Permittees defining a uniform and 
consistent message, deciding how best to communicate the message, and how 
to facilitate behavioral changes. Then collaboratively apply what is learned 
through local jurisdiction groups, pooling resources and skills.); or 

(c) Fulfilling education and outreach requirements within their jurisdictional 
boundaries on their own. Some level of coordination of education and outreach 
efforts with an adjacent Phase I MS4 Permittee is recommended/anticipated for 
watershed/region-wide consistency.; or 

(d) A combination of the previous options, so that all requirements are fulfilled. 

Reporting - By the first year online Annual Report, the Permittee shall submit 
information indicating which compliance participation option it will use to comply with 
the public education and outreach requirements in this Section. For each public 
education and outreach requirement in this Section that the Permittee will comply with 
through contribution to a countywide storm water program or regional education and 
outreach collaborative effort, the Permittee shall include in the first year online Annual 
Report documentation, such as a written agreement, letter or similar document, which 
confirms the collaboration with other MS4s. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 77 February 5, 2013 

-123-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

3) Perform the cleanup and abatement work and bill the responsible party, if 
necessary; 

4) Provide the option to order the cessation of activities until such problems are 
adequately addressed if a situation persists where pollutant-causing sources 
or activities are not abated; 

5) Require a new timeframe and notify the appropriate Regional Water Board 
when all parties agree that clean-up activities cannot be completed within 
the original timeframe and notify the appropriate Regional Water Board in 
writing within five business days of the determination that the timeframe 
requires revision. 

(iii) Reporting - All Permittees shall submit by the second year online Annual Report, a 
statement signed by both the Permittee's legal counsel and an authorized signatory 
certifying the Permittee has adequate legal authority to comply with all Order 
requirements. 

F.S.b. EDUCATION AND OUTREACH PROGRAM 

F.S.b.1. Compliance Participation Options 

All Permittees shall comply with the requirements in this Section by participating in one or 
more of the following: 

(a) Contributing to a countywide storm water program, as determined appropriate by the 
Permittee members, so that the countywide storm water program conducts 
education and outreach on behalf of its members; or 

(b) Contributing to a regional education and outreach collaborative effort (a regional 
education and outreach collaborative effort occurs when all or a majority of the 
Permittees collaborate to conduct regional education and outreach. Regional 
education and outreach collaboration includes Permittees defining a uniform and 
consistent message, deciding how best to communicate the message, and how 
to facilitate behavioral changes. Then collaboratively apply what is learned 
through local jurisdiction groups, pooling resources and skills.); or 

(c) Fulfilling education and outreach requirements within their jurisdictional 
boundaries on their own. Some level of coordination of education and outreach 
efforts with an adjacent Phase I MS4 Permittee is recommended/anticipated for 
watershed/region-wide consistency.; or 

(d) A combination of the previous options, so that all requirements are fulfilled. 

Reporting - By the first year online Annual Report, the Permittee shall submit 
information indicating which compliance participation option it will use to comply with 
the public education and outreach requirements in this Section. For each public 
education and outreach requirement in this Section that the Permittee will comply with 
through contribution to a countywide storm water program or regional education and 
outreach collaborative effort, the Permittee shall include in the first year online Annual 
Report documentation, such as a written agreement, letter or similar document, which 
confirms the collaboration with other MS4s. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 77 February 5, 2013 



F.S.b.2. Public Education and Outreach 

The public for a Non-traditional MS4 Permittee is considered the following, if applicable: 

• Faculty 
• Inmates 

• Military personnel 
• Residents 
• Students 
• Staff 
• Visitors 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall develop and implement a comprehensive storm water public 
education and outreach program. The public education and outreach program shall 
be designed to inform the public about storm water pollution and steps that can be 
taken to reduce storm water pollution. The Public Education and Outreach Program 
shall measurably increase the public's knowledge regarding the storm drain system, 
impacts of urban runoff and illicit discharges on receiving waters, and potential BMP 
solutions for the target audiences. 

(ii) Implementation Level -The Permittee shall, at a minimum: 

(a) Develop and implement a public education strategy that establishes education 
tasks based on water quality problems, target audiences, and anticipated task 
effectiveness. The strategy must include identification of who is responsible for 
implementing specific tasks and a schedule for task implementation. The 
strategy must demonstrate how specific high priority storm water quality issues 
in their jurisdiction or local pollutants of concern are addressed. 

(b) Implement BMPs that gauge level of awareness in target audiences and 
effectiveness of education tasks. 

(c) Develop and convey a specific storm water message that focuses on the 
following: 
1) Local pollutants of concern 
2) Target audience 
3) Regional water quality issues 

(d) Develop and disseminate appropriate educational materials to target audiences 
and translate into applicable languages when appropriate (e.g. the materials can 
utilize various media such as printed materials, billboard and mass transit 
advertisements, signage at select locations, stenciling at storm drain inlets, radio 
advertisements, television advertisements, and websites); 

(e) Distribute educational materials, using whichever methods and procedures 
determined appropriate during development of the public education strategy; 

(f) Develop and convey messages to explain the benefits of water-efficient 
landscaping (if appropriate); 

(g) Utilize information from storm water-friendly landscaping30 programs (if 
appropriate); 

30 For example, Surfrider's Ocean Friendly Garden Program (http://www.surfrider.org/programs/entry/ocean-friendly-gardens) 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 78 February 5, 2013 

-124-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

F.S.b.2. Public Education and Outreach 

The public for a Non-traditional MS4 Permittee is considered the following, if applicable: 

• Faculty 
• Inmates 

• Military personnel 
• Residents 
• Students 
• Staff 
• Visitors 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall develop and implement a comprehensive storm water public 
education and outreach program. The public education and outreach program shall 
be designed to inform the public about storm water pollution and steps that can be 
taken to reduce storm water pollution. The Public Education and Outreach Program 
shall measurably increase the public's knowledge regarding the storm drain system, 
impacts of urban runoff and illicit discharges on receiving waters, and potential BMP 
solutions for the target audiences. 

(ii) Implementation Level -The Permittee shall, at a minimum: 

(a) Develop and implement a public education strategy that establishes education 
tasks based on water quality problems, target audiences, and anticipated task 
effectiveness. The strategy must include identification of who is responsible for 
implementing specific tasks and a schedule for task implementation. The 
strategy must demonstrate how specific high priority storm water quality issues 
in their jurisdiction or local pollutants of concern are addressed. 

(b) Implement BMPs that gauge level of awareness in target audiences and 
effectiveness of education tasks. 

(c) Develop and convey a specific storm water message that focuses on the 
following: 
1) Local pollutants of concern 
2) Target audience 
3) Regional water quality issues 

(d) Develop and disseminate appropriate educational materials to target audiences 
and translate into applicable languages when appropriate (e.g. the materials can 
utilize various media such as printed materials, billboard and mass transit 
advertisements, signage at select locations, stenciling at storm drain inlets, radio 
advertisements, television advertisements, and websites); 

(e) Distribute educational materials, using whichever methods and procedures 
determined appropriate during development of the public education strategy; 

(f) Develop and convey messages to explain the benefits of water-efficient 
landscaping (if appropriate); 

(g) Utilize information from storm water-friendly landscaping30 programs (if 
appropriate); 

30 For example, Surfrider's Ocean Friendly Garden Program (http://www.surfrider.org/programs/entry/ocean-friendly-gardens) 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 78 February 5, 2013 



I .;. 

(h) Develop and convey messages specific to reducing illicit discharges with 
information about how the public can report incidents to the appropriate 
authorities; 

(i) Develop and convey of messages specific to proper application of pesticides, 
herbicides, and fertilizers; 

U) Within the Permittee's jurisdiction, provide independent, parochial and public 
schools with materials to effectively educate school-age children, if applicable, 
about storm water and how they can help to protect water quality habitat in their 
local watersheds. The Permittee is encouraged to use environmental and 
place-based, experiential learning materials that are integrated into school 
curricula and school facility managemene1

, In the case that a local program 
does not exist, the Permittee may use California's Education and Environment 
Initiative Curriculum32 or equivalent; 

(k) Develop (or coordinate with existing effective programs) and convey messages 
specific to reducing discharges from pressure washing operations and 
landscape irrigation; 

(I) If applicable, utilize storm water·:friendly education for organized car wash 
participants and provide information pertaining to car wash discharge reduction. 
The Permittee may use the Sacramento Stbrmwater Quality Partnership's River 
Friendly Carwash Program33

, or equivalent, for guidance; 
(m) The Permittee shall conduct focused education in identified illicit discharge flow 

areas based on identified illicit discharge(s). 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address' the relationship between 
the program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness 
Assessment and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness 
of the storm water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a 
reqmirement in this program element see Section F.5.j.2.for compliance directions. 

F.S.b.3. Staff and Site Operator Training and Education: Illicit Discharge Detection 
and Elimination Training 

(i) Task Description - Permittees shall develop and implement a training program for 
all Permittee staff, who, as part of their normal job responsibilities, may be notified 
of, come into contact with, or otherwise observe an illicit discharge or illegal 
connection to the storm drain system. 

Oi) Implementation Level- Within the third year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall develop the training program. The training program shall include at 
a minimum: 

(a) Identification of an illicit discharge or illegal connection; 
(b) Proper procedures for reporting and responding to the illicit discharge or illegal 

connection; 
(c) Follow-up training provided as needed to address changes in procedures, 

techniques, or staffing; 

31 For example, Splash (www.sacsplasfforg/),Effje Yeaw Nature Center (www.sacnature.net) or Yolo Basin (INww.yolobasin.org) 
32 http://WWW.californiaeeLorg/ 
33 http://www.beriverfriendly.netlriverfriendlycarwashing/ 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 79 February 5, 2013 

-125-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

I .;. 

(h) Develop and convey messages specific to reducing illicit discharges with 
information about how the public can report incidents to the appropriate 
authorities; 

(i) Develop and convey of messages specific to proper application of pesticides, 
herbicides, and fertilizers; 

U) Within the Permittee's jurisdiction, provide independent, parochial and public 
schools with materials to effectively educate school-age children, if applicable, 
about storm water and how they can help to protect water quality habitat in their 
local watersheds. The Permittee is encouraged to use environmental and 
place-based, experiential learning materials that are integrated into school 
curricula and school facility managemene1

, In the case that a local program 
does not exist, the Permittee may use California's Education and Environment 
Initiative Curriculum32 or equivalent; 

(k) Develop (or coordinate with existing effective programs) and convey messages 
specific to reducing discharges from pressure washing operations and 
landscape irrigation; 

(I) If applicable, utilize storm water·:friendly education for organized car wash 
participants and provide information pertaining to car wash discharge reduction. 
The Permittee may use the Sacramento Stbrmwater Quality Partnership's River 
Friendly Carwash Program33

, or equivalent, for guidance; 
(m) The Permittee shall conduct focused education in identified illicit discharge flow 

areas based on identified illicit discharge(s). 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address' the relationship between 
the program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness 
Assessment and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness 
of the storm water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a 
reqmirement in this program element see Section F.5.j.2.for compliance directions. 

F.S.b.3. Staff and Site Operator Training and Education: Illicit Discharge Detection 
and Elimination Training 

(i) Task Description - Permittees shall develop and implement a training program for 
all Permittee staff, who, as part of their normal job responsibilities, may be notified 
of, come into contact with, or otherwise observe an illicit discharge or illegal 
connection to the storm drain system. 

Oi) Implementation Level- Within the third year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall develop the training program. The training program shall include at 
a minimum: 

(a) Identification of an illicit discharge or illegal connection; 
(b) Proper procedures for reporting and responding to the illicit discharge or illegal 

connection; 
(c) Follow-up training provided as needed to address changes in procedures, 

techniques, or staffing; 

31 For example, Splash (www.sacsplasfforg/),Effje Yeaw Nature Center (www.sacnature.net) or Yolo Basin (INww.yolobasin.org) 
32 http://WWW.californiaeeLorg/ 
33 http://www.beriverfriendly.netlriverfriendlycarwashing/ 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 79 February 5, 2013 



(d) Annual assessment of their trained staff's knowledge of illicit discharge response 
and shall provide refresher training as needed; 

(e) Training of new staff who, as part of their normal job responsibilities may be 
notified of, come into co'ntact with, or otherwise observe an illicit discharge or 
illegal connection; 

(f) Contact information, including the procedure for reporting an illicit discharge, 
shall be included in each of the Permittee's fleet vehicles that are used by field 
staff. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between 
the program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness 
Assessment and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness 
of the storm water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a 
requirement in this program element see Section F.S.j.2.for compliance directions. 

F.S.b.4. Staff Pollution Prevention and Good Housekeeping 

The Permittee shall train employees on how to incorporate pollution prevention/good 
housekeeping techniques into Permittee operations. 

(i) Task Description - The Permittee shall provide a biennial training program for 
appropriate employees involved in implementing pollution prevention and good 
housekeeping practices in the Pollution Prevention/Good Housekeeping for 
Permittee Operations sections of this permit. The Permittee shall determine the 
need for interim training during alternate years when training is not conducted, 
through an evaluation of employee Pollution Prevention/Good Housekeeping 
knowledge. 

(ii) Implementation Level- The biennial training program shall include the following: 

(a) General storm water education component, any new technologies, operations, or 
responsibilities that arise during the year and the permit requirements which 
apply to the staff being trained. Clear guidance on appropriate storm water 
BMPs to use at Permittee owned facilities and during typical Operation and 
Maintenance activities. 

(b) An assessment of trained staff's knowledge of pollution prevention and 
good housekeeping and shall revise the training as needed. 

(c) A requirement that any contractors hired by the Permittee to perform 
Operation and Maintenance activities shall be contractually required to 
comply with all of the storm water BMPs, good housekeeping practices, 
and standard operating procedures described above. 

(d) The Permittee shall provide oversight of contractor activities to ensure that 
contractors are using appropriate BMPs, good housekeeping practices and 
following standard operating procedures. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 80 February 5, 2013 

-126-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

(d) Annual assessment of their trained staff's knowledge of illicit discharge response 
and shall provide refresher training as needed; 

(e) Training of new staff who, as part of their normal job responsibilities may be 
notified of, come into co'ntact with, or otherwise observe an illicit discharge or 
illegal connection; 

(f) Contact information, including the procedure for reporting an illicit discharge, 
shall be included in each of the Permittee's fleet vehicles that are used by field 
staff. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between 
the program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness 
Assessment and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness 
of the storm water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a 
requirement in this program element see Section F.S.j.2.for compliance directions. 

F.S.b.4. Staff Pollution Prevention and Good Housekeeping 

The Permittee shall train employees on how to incorporate pollution prevention/good 
housekeeping techniques into Permittee operations. 

(i) Task Description - The Permittee shall provide a biennial training program for 
appropriate employees involved in implementing pollution prevention and good 
housekeeping practices in the Pollution Prevention/Good Housekeeping for 
Permittee Operations sections of this permit. The Permittee shall determine the 
need for interim training during alternate years when training is not conducted, 
through an evaluation of employee Pollution Prevention/Good Housekeeping 
knowledge. 

(ii) Implementation Level- The biennial training program shall include the following: 

(a) General storm water education component, any new technologies, operations, or 
responsibilities that arise during the year and the permit requirements which 
apply to the staff being trained. Clear guidance on appropriate storm water 
BMPs to use at Permittee owned facilities and during typical Operation and 
Maintenance activities. 

(b) An assessment of trained staff's knowledge of pollution prevention and 
good housekeeping and shall revise the training as needed. 

(c) A requirement that any contractors hired by the Permittee to perform 
Operation and Maintenance activities shall be contractually required to 
comply with all of the storm water BMPs, good housekeeping practices, 
and standard operating procedures described above. 

(d) The Permittee shall provide oversight of contractor activities to ensure that 
contractors are using appropriate BMPs, good housekeeping practices and 
following standard operating procedures. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 80 February 5, 2013 



this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section F.5.j.2.for compliance directions. 

F.S.c. PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT AND PARTICIPATION PROGRAM 

(i) Task Description - Within the third year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall involve its public in the development and implementation of activities 
related to the program. The public participation and involvement program shall 
encourage volunteerism, public comment and input on policy, and activism in the 
community. 

(ii) Implementation Level - The Permittee shall, at a minimum: 

(a) Ensure that high priority storm drain inlets include a labeled, stenciled or other 
effective method (e.g., clearly visible sign strategically placed in area of high 
pedestrian activity) of communicating a storm water awareness message such as 
"drains to creek" or "only rain in the drain". 

(b) Integrate storm water awareness messages and information on a publicly 
accessible website 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section F.5.j.2.for compliance 

F.S.d.ILLICIT DISCHARGE DETECTION AND ELIMINATION PROGRAM 

The Permittee shall develop an Illicit Discharge Detection and Elimination program to 
detect, investigate, and eliminate illicit discharges, including illegal dumping, into its 
system or coordinate with an adjacent Phase I MS4 Permittees existing program. The 
existing program, at a minimum, must include the provisions in this section. 

F.S.d.1 Outfall Mapping 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall maintain an up-to-date and accurate outfall map. The map may be in 
hard copy and/or electronic form or within a geographic information system (GIS). 
The development of the outfall map shall include a visual outfall inventory involving a 
site visit to each outfall. It is recommended the Permittee coordinate with an adjacent 
Phase I MS4 Permittee to collect outfall data for which they may discharge to. 
Renewal Permittees that have an existing and up-to-date outfall map that includes 
the minimum requirements specified in Section F.5.d.1.(ii)(a-b) are not required to re
create the outfall map. This does not exempt renewal Permittees with an existing 
outfall map from conducting the field sampling specified in Section F.5.d.2. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 81 February 5, 2013 

-127-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section F.5.j.2.for compliance directions. 

F.S.c. PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT AND PARTICIPATION PROGRAM 

(i) Task Description - Within the third year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall involve its public in the development and implementation of activities 
related to the program. The public participation and involvement program shall 
encourage volunteerism, public comment and input on policy, and activism in the 
community. 

(ii) Implementation Level - The Permittee shall, at a minimum: 

(a) Ensure that high priority storm drain inlets include a labeled, stenciled or other 
effective method (e.g., clearly visible sign strategically placed in area of high 
pedestrian activity) of communicating a storm water awareness message such as 
"drains to creek" or "only rain in the drain". 

(b) Integrate storm water awareness messages and information on a publicly 
accessible website 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section F.5.j.2.for compliance 

F.S.d.ILLICIT DISCHARGE DETECTION AND ELIMINATION PROGRAM 

The Permittee shall develop an Illicit Discharge Detection and Elimination program to 
detect, investigate, and eliminate illicit discharges, including illegal dumping, into its 
system or coordinate with an adjacent Phase I MS4 Permittees existing program. The 
existing program, at a minimum, must include the provisions in this section. 

F.S.d.1 Outfall Mapping 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall maintain an up-to-date and accurate outfall map. The map may be in 
hard copy and/or electronic form or within a geographic information system (GIS). 
The development of the outfall map shall include a visual outfall inventory involving a 
site visit to each outfall. It is recommended the Permittee coordinate with an adjacent 
Phase I MS4 Permittee to collect outfall data for which they may discharge to. 
Renewal Permittees that have an existing and up-to-date outfall map that includes 
the minimum requirements specified in Section F.5.d.1.(ii)(a-b) are not required to re
create the outfall map. This does not exempt renewal Permittees with an existing 
outfall map from conducting the field sampling specified in Section F.5.d.2. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 81 February 5, 2013 



(ii) Implementation Level- The outfall map shall at a minimum show: 

(a) The location of all outfalls and drainage areas within the urbanized area, 
contributing to those outfalls that are operated by the Permittee, and that directly 
discharge within the Permittee's jurisdiction to a receiving water. Each mapped 
outfall shall be given an individual alphanumeric identifier, which shall be noted 
on the map. Photographs shall be taken or an electronic database shall be 
utilized to provide baseline information and track operation and maintenance 
needs over time. 

(b) The location (and name, where known to the Permittee) of all water bodies 
receiving direct discharges from those outfall pipes. 

Submerged outfalls or other outfalls that may pose a threat to public safety are not 
required to be inventoried. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section F.S.j.2.for compliance. 

F.S.d.2. Field Sampling to Detect Illicit Discharges 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall conduct field sampling to detect potential illicit discharges while 
conducting the outfall inventory specified in Section F.S.d. Outfall Inventory. If while 
conducting the outfall inventory specified in Section F.S.d., an outfall is flowing or 
ponding and it has been more than 72 hours since the last rain event, then the 
Permittee shall sample the discharge. 

(ii) Implementation Level-If an outfall is flowing or ponding and it has been more than 
72 hours since the last rain event, the Permittee shall: . 

(a) Conduct monitodng for the following indicator parameters identified in Table 1. 
Field Sampling Indicator Parameters (following page) to help determine the 
source and identification of the discharge. Alternatively, the Permittee may 
select parameters based on local knowledge of pollutants of concern in lieu of 
sampling for the parameters listed in Table 1. Modifications and associated 
justifications shall be identified within SMARTS prior to conducting field sampling 
as specified in Section F.S.d.2. 

Phase II Small MS4Generai Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 82 February 5, 2013 

-128-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

(ii) Implementation Level- The outfall map shall at a minimum show: 

(a) The location of all outfalls and drainage areas within the urbanized area, 
contributing to those outfalls that are operated by the Permittee, and that directly 
discharge within the Permittee's jurisdiction to a receiving water. Each mapped 
outfall shall be given an individual alphanumeric identifier, which shall be noted 
on the map. Photographs shall be taken or an electronic database shall be 
utilized to provide baseline information and track operation and maintenance 
needs over time. 

(b) The location (and name, where known to the Permittee) of all water bodies 
receiving direct discharges from those outfall pipes. 

Submerged outfalls or other outfalls that may pose a threat to public safety are not 
required to be inventoried. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section F.S.j.2.for compliance. 

F.S.d.2. Field Sampling to Detect Illicit Discharges 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall conduct field sampling to detect potential illicit discharges while 
conducting the outfall inventory specified in Section F.S.d. Outfall Inventory. If while 
conducting the outfall inventory specified in Section F.S.d., an outfall is flowing or 
ponding and it has been more than 72 hours since the last rain event, then the 
Permittee shall sample the discharge. 

(ii) Implementation Level-If an outfall is flowing or ponding and it has been more than 
72 hours since the last rain event, the Permittee shall: . 

(a) Conduct monitodng for the following indicator parameters identified in Table 1. 
Field Sampling Indicator Parameters (following page) to help determine the 
source and identification of the discharge. Alternatively, the Permittee may 
select parameters based on local knowledge of pollutants of concern in lieu of 
sampling for the parameters listed in Table 1. Modifications and associated 
justifications shall be identified within SMARTS prior to conducting field sampling 
as specified in Section F.S.d.2. 

Phase II Small MS4Generai Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 82 February 5, 2013 



Ammonia • ® 0 ® Can change into other nitrogen forms 
as the flow travels to the outfall 

Color ® ® 0 ® 

Conductivity ® ® 0 ® Ineffective in saline waters 

Detergents - • • 0 ® Reagent is a hazardous waste 
Surfactahts 

Fluoride* 0 0 

Potassium o 

Tur;bidity 

• ® 

o • 
o 

Reagent is a hazardous waste 
Exception for communities that do not 
fluoridate their tap water 

May need to use two separate 
analytical techniques, depending on 
the concentration 

• Can almost always (>80% of samples) . h this discharge from clean flow types (e.g., tap water or natural water). For 
tap water, can distinguish from natural water. 

@) Can sometimes (>50% of samples) distinguish, discharge from clean flow types depending on regional characteristics, 
or can be helpful in combination with another parameter 

o Poor indicator. Cannot reliably detect illicit discbarges, or cannot detect tap water 
N/A: Data are not available to assess the utility of t~is parameter for this purpose. 
Data sources: Pitt (this study) . 
"Fluoride is a poor indicator when used as a single . but when combined with additional parameters (such as 
detergel]ts, ammonia and,potassium), it can aim . between sewage and wash water. . 

(c) Verify that indicator parameters with the following action level concentrations 
specified in Table 2. Action Level Concentrations for Indicator Parameters are 
not exceeded. Alternatively, the Permittee may tailor Table 2 to align with 
parameters based on local knowledge of pollutants of concern. Modifications 
and associated justifications shall be identified within SMARTS prior to 
conducting field sampling as specified in Section F.5.d.2.: 

Table 2. Action Level Concentrations for Indicator Parameters 
Indicator 
Parameter 

Ammonia 
Color 
Conductivity 
Hardness 

pH 
Potassium 
Turbidity 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 

Action Level Concentration 

>= 50 mg/L 
>= 50d units 
>= 2,000 jJS/cm 
<= 10 mg/L as CaC03 or >= 2,000 mg/L as 
CaC03 
<= 5 or >=9 
>= 20 mg/L 
>= 1,000 NTU 

83 February 5,2013 
-129-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

Ammonia • ® 0 ® Can change into other nitrogen forms 
as the flow travels to the outfall 

Color ® ® 0 ® 

Conductivity ® ® 0 ® Ineffective in saline waters 

Detergents - • • 0 ® Reagent is a hazardous waste 
Surfactahts 

Fluoride* 0 0 

Potassium o 

Tur;bidity 

• ® 

o • 
o 

Reagent is a hazardous waste 
Exception for communities that do not 
fluoridate their tap water 

May need to use two separate 
analytical techniques, depending on 
the concentration 

• Can almost always (>80% of samples) . h this discharge from clean flow types (e.g., tap water or natural water). For 
tap water, can distinguish from natural water. 

@) Can sometimes (>50% of samples) distinguish, discharge from clean flow types depending on regional characteristics, 
or can be helpful in combination with another parameter 

o Poor indicator. Cannot reliably detect illicit discbarges, or cannot detect tap water 
N/A: Data are not available to assess the utility of t~is parameter for this purpose. 
Data sources: Pitt (this study) . 
"Fluoride is a poor indicator when used as a single . but when combined with additional parameters (such as 
detergel]ts, ammonia and,potassium), it can aim . between sewage and wash water. . 

(c) Verify that indicator parameters with the following action level concentrations 
specified in Table 2. Action Level Concentrations for Indicator Parameters are 
not exceeded. Alternatively, the Permittee may tailor Table 2 to align with 
parameters based on local knowledge of pollutants of concern. Modifications 
and associated justifications shall be identified within SMARTS prior to 
conducting field sampling as specified in Section F.5.d.2.: 

Table 2. Action Level Concentrations for Indicator Parameters 
Indicator 
Parameter 

Ammonia 
Color 
Conductivity 
Hardness 

pH 
Potassium 
Turbidity 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 

Action Level Concentration 

>= 50 mg/L 
>= 50d units 
>= 2,000 jJS/cm 
<= 10 mg/L as CaC03 or >= 2,000 mg/L as 
CaC03 
<= 5 or >=9 
>= 20 mg/L 
>= 1,000 NTU 

83 February 5,2013 



(d) Conduct follow up investigations per Section F.5.d.3. if the action level 
concentrations are exceeded. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section F.5.j.2.for compliance 

F.5.d.3. Illicit Discharge Detection and Elimination Source Investigations and 
Corrective Actions 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, 
the Permittee shall develop written procedures for conducting investigations 
into the source of all non-storm water discharges suspected to be illicit 
discharges, including approaches to requiring such discharges to be 
eliminated, and procedures to implement corrective actions (e.g., BMPs). 
These procedures shall be included as part of the Illicit Discharge Detection 
and Elimination program. 

(ii) Implementation Level - At a minimum, the Permittee shall conduct an 
investigation(s) to identify and locate the source of any suspected illicit discharge 
within 72 hours of becoming aware of the suspected illicit discharge. For 
investigations that require more than 72 hours, the Permittee shall identify the 
actions being taken to identify and locate the source of the suspected illicit 
discharge. The Permittee shall prioritize investig<ations of suspected sanitary sewage 
and/or significant contributors over investigations of non-storm water discharges 
suspected of being cooling water, wash water, or natural flows. 

(a) Report immediately the occurrence of any dry weather flows believed to be an 
immediate threat to human health or the environment to local Health 
Department. 

(b) Determine and document through its investigations the source of all non-storm 
water discharges. If the source of the non-storm water discharge is found to 
<be a discharge authorized under this permit, or authorized under another 
NPDES permit, no further action is required. 

(c) Corrective Action to Eliminate Illicit Discharge - Once the source of the 
illicit discharge has been determined, the Permittee shall immediately 
notify the responsible party of the problem. 

(d) Report immediately to the owners/operators of the downstream MS4 a 
non-storm water discharge suspected of being sanitary sewage and/or 
significantly contaminated. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 84 February 5, 2013 

-130-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

(d) Conduct follow up investigations per Section F.5.d.3. if the action level 
concentrations are exceeded. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section F.5.j.2.for compliance 

F.5.d.3. Illicit Discharge Detection and Elimination Source Investigations and 
Corrective Actions 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, 
the Permittee shall develop written procedures for conducting investigations 
into the source of all non-storm water discharges suspected to be illicit 
discharges, including approaches to requiring such discharges to be 
eliminated, and procedures to implement corrective actions (e.g., BMPs). 
These procedures shall be included as part of the Illicit Discharge Detection 
and Elimination program. 

(ii) Implementation Level - At a minimum, the Permittee shall conduct an 
investigation(s) to identify and locate the source of any suspected illicit discharge 
within 72 hours of becoming aware of the suspected illicit discharge. For 
investigations that require more than 72 hours, the Permittee shall identify the 
actions being taken to identify and locate the source of the suspected illicit 
discharge. The Permittee shall prioritize investig<ations of suspected sanitary sewage 
and/or significant contributors over investigations of non-storm water discharges 
suspected of being cooling water, wash water, or natural flows. 

(a) Report immediately the occurrence of any dry weather flows believed to be an 
immediate threat to human health or the environment to local Health 
Department. 

(b) Determine and document through its investigations the source of all non-storm 
water discharges. If the source of the non-storm water discharge is found to 
<be a discharge authorized under this permit, or authorized under another 
NPDES permit, no further action is required. 

(c) Corrective Action to Eliminate Illicit Discharge - Once the source of the 
illicit discharge has been determined, the Permittee shall immediately 
notify the responsible party of the problem. 

(d) Report immediately to the owners/operators of the downstream MS4 a 
non-storm water discharge suspected of being sanitary sewage and/or 
significantly contaminated. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 84 February 5, 2013 



this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section F.5.j.2.for compliance 

F.S.e. CONSTRUCTION SITE RUNOFF CONTROL PROGRAM 

The Permittee shall develop, implement, and enforce a program to prevent Construction site 
discharges of pollutants and impacts on beneficial uses of receiving waters. The program 
shall include the development of contract language ensuring the Permittee's in-house 
construction operators or outside contractors comply with the CGP. 

(i) Task Description - Within the first year of the effective date of the permit, each 
Permittee shall develop and implement contract language ensuring all outside 
contractors comply with the CGP and implement appropriate BMPs. Contract 
language shall apply to all projects that result in a total land disturbance of either one 
acre or more or that result in a total land disturbance of less than one acre if part of a 
larger common plan or development or sale. 

(ii) Implementation Level- The Permittee shall include CGP compliance requirements 
in construction contract language for all projects one acre or more or that result in a 
total land disturbance of less than one acre if part of a larger common plan or 
development or sale. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section F.5.j.2.for compliance. 

F.S.f. POLLUTION PREVENTION/GOOD HOUSEKEEPING FOR PERMITTEE 
OPERATIONS PROGRAM 

The Permittee shall develop and implement a program to prevent or reduce the amount of 
pollutant runoff from Permittee operations. The Permittee shall train employees on how to 
incorporate pollution prevention/good housekeeping techniques into Permittee operations. 
Permittee shall implement appropriate BMPs for preventing or reducing the amount of storm 
water pollution generated by Permittee operations. 

F.S.f.1.lnventory of Permittee-Owned or Operated Facilities 

(i) Task Description - Prepare an inventory of Permittee-owned or operated facilities 
within their jurisdiction that are a threat to water quality, and are not covered by 
another storm water General Permit. 

(ii) Implementation Level - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, 
the Permittee shall develop and maintain an inventory that shall include facilities that 
may impact storm water. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 85 February 5, 2013 

-131-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section F.5.j.2.for compliance 

F.S.e. CONSTRUCTION SITE RUNOFF CONTROL PROGRAM 

The Permittee shall develop, implement, and enforce a program to prevent Construction site 
discharges of pollutants and impacts on beneficial uses of receiving waters. The program 
shall include the development of contract language ensuring the Permittee's in-house 
construction operators or outside contractors comply with the CGP. 

(i) Task Description - Within the first year of the effective date of the permit, each 
Permittee shall develop and implement contract language ensuring all outside 
contractors comply with the CGP and implement appropriate BMPs. Contract 
language shall apply to all projects that result in a total land disturbance of either one 
acre or more or that result in a total land disturbance of less than one acre if part of a 
larger common plan or development or sale. 

(ii) Implementation Level- The Permittee shall include CGP compliance requirements 
in construction contract language for all projects one acre or more or that result in a 
total land disturbance of less than one acre if part of a larger common plan or 
development or sale. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section F.5.j.2.for compliance. 

F.S.f. POLLUTION PREVENTION/GOOD HOUSEKEEPING FOR PERMITTEE 
OPERATIONS PROGRAM 

The Permittee shall develop and implement a program to prevent or reduce the amount of 
pollutant runoff from Permittee operations. The Permittee shall train employees on how to 
incorporate pollution prevention/good housekeeping techniques into Permittee operations. 
Permittee shall implement appropriate BMPs for preventing or reducing the amount of storm 
water pollution generated by Permittee operations. 

F.S.f.1.lnventory of Permittee-Owned or Operated Facilities 

(i) Task Description - Prepare an inventory of Permittee-owned or operated facilities 
within their jurisdiction that are a threat to water quality, and are not covered by 
another storm water General Permit. 

(ii) Implementation Level - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, 
the Permittee shall develop and maintain an inventory that shall include facilities that 
may impact storm water. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 85 February 5, 2013 



(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section F.5.j.2.for compliance. 

F.S.f.2. Map of Permittee-Owned or Operated Facilities 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, 
prepare and submit a map of the urban area covered by the MS4 permit and identify 
where the Permittee-owned or operated facilities are located. 

(ii) Implementation Level - The Permittee shall complete and have available a map that 
identifies the storm water drainage system corresponding to each of the facilities as 
well as the receiving waters to which these facilities discharge. The map shall also 
show the facility and the manager of each facility, including contact information. 
Historic storm water collection facilities, conveyances and drainages located at 
historic places that are being operated for public interpretation and education shall 
be noted on this map so that the Regional Water Board can differentiate between 
modern and historic during site reviews or audits. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section F.5.j.2.for compliance. 

F.S.f.3. Facility Assessment 

(i) Task Description -Within the third year of the effective date of the permit, conduct 
an inspection and assessment of pollutant discharge potential and pollutant hotspots. 

(ii) Implementation Levels - The Permittee shall conduct an annual review and 
assessment of all Permittee-owned or operated facilities to determine their potential 
to impact surface waters. The assessment shall include the following: 

(a) Identification of pollutant hotspots based on th.e assessment, the 
Permittee shall identify as pollutant hotspots those facilities that have a 
high potential to generate storm water and non-storm water pollutants. 
Among the factors to be considered are the type and volume of 
pollutants stored at the site, the presence of improperly stored materials, 
activities that should not be performed outside (e.g., changing 
automotive fluids, vehicle washing), proximity to water bodies, poor 
housekeeping practices, and the discharge of pollutant(s) of concern to 
receiving water(s). Pollutant hotspots shall include, at a minimum, the 
Permittee's maintenance yards, hazardous waste facilities, fuel storage 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 86 February 5, 2013 

-132-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section F.5.j.2.for compliance. 

F.S.f.2. Map of Permittee-Owned or Operated Facilities 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, 
prepare and submit a map of the urban area covered by the MS4 permit and identify 
where the Permittee-owned or operated facilities are located. 

(ii) Implementation Level - The Permittee shall complete and have available a map that 
identifies the storm water drainage system corresponding to each of the facilities as 
well as the receiving waters to which these facilities discharge. The map shall also 
show the facility and the manager of each facility, including contact information. 
Historic storm water collection facilities, conveyances and drainages located at 
historic places that are being operated for public interpretation and education shall 
be noted on this map so that the Regional Water Board can differentiate between 
modern and historic during site reviews or audits. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section F.5.j.2.for compliance. 

F.S.f.3. Facility Assessment 

(i) Task Description -Within the third year of the effective date of the permit, conduct 
an inspection and assessment of pollutant discharge potential and pollutant hotspots. 

(ii) Implementation Levels - The Permittee shall conduct an annual review and 
assessment of all Permittee-owned or operated facilities to determine their potential 
to impact surface waters. The assessment shall include the following: 

(a) Identification of pollutant hotspots based on th.e assessment, the 
Permittee shall identify as pollutant hotspots those facilities that have a 
high potential to generate storm water and non-storm water pollutants. 
Among the factors to be considered are the type and volume of 
pollutants stored at the site, the presence of improperly stored materials, 
activities that should not be performed outside (e.g., changing 
automotive fluids, vehicle washing), proximity to water bodies, poor 
housekeeping practices, and the discharge of pollutant(s) of concern to 
receiving water(s). Pollutant hotspots shall include, at a minimum, the 
Permittee's maintenance yards, hazardous waste facilities, fuel storage 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 86 February 5, 2013 



locations, and any other facilities at which chemicals or other materials 
have a high potential to be discharged in storm water. 

(b) Documentation of the assessment procedures and results. The 
Permittee shall document the procedures it uses for conducting the 
assessment along with a copy of any site evaluation checklists used to 
conduct the assessment. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section F.5.j.2.for compliance. 

F.S.f.4. Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plans 

(i) Task Description- the Permittee shall develop and implement SWPPPs for 
pollutant hotspots at high priority sites. If a Permittee has an existing or equivalent 
document such as Hazardous Materials Business Plan or Spill Prevention Plan, the 
Permittee is not required to develop a SWPPP if that document includes the 
necessary information required within a SWPPP. 

(ii) Implementation Level - Within the fourth year of the effective date of this permit, 
the Permittee shall implement the following: 

(a) The Permittee shall develop and implement a site-specific SWPPP that 
identifies a set of storm water BMPs to be installed, implemented, and 
maintained to minimize the discharge of pollutants in storm water. 

(b) The SWPPP(s) shail be kept on-site at each of the Permittee-owned or 
operated facilities' offices for which it was completed. The SWPPP shall be 
updated as necessary. 

(c) At a minimum the SWPPP will address the following: 

1) Facility specific information (location, owner, address, etc.) 

2) Purpose of the document 

3) Key staff/contacts at the facility 

4) Site map with drainage identified 

5) Identification of significant materials that are handled and stored at the 
facility that may be exposed to storm water 

6) Description of potential pollutant sources 

7) BMPs employed at facility 

8) Spill control and cleanup - response to spills 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of this 
program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 87 February 5, 2013 

-133-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

locations, and any other facilities at which chemicals or other materials 
have a high potential to be discharged in storm water. 

(b) Documentation of the assessment procedures and results. The 
Permittee shall document the procedures it uses for conducting the 
assessment along with a copy of any site evaluation checklists used to 
conduct the assessment. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section F.5.j.2.for compliance. 

F.S.f.4. Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plans 

(i) Task Description- the Permittee shall develop and implement SWPPPs for 
pollutant hotspots at high priority sites. If a Permittee has an existing or equivalent 
document such as Hazardous Materials Business Plan or Spill Prevention Plan, the 
Permittee is not required to develop a SWPPP if that document includes the 
necessary information required within a SWPPP. 

(ii) Implementation Level - Within the fourth year of the effective date of this permit, 
the Permittee shall implement the following: 

(a) The Permittee shall develop and implement a site-specific SWPPP that 
identifies a set of storm water BMPs to be installed, implemented, and 
maintained to minimize the discharge of pollutants in storm water. 

(b) The SWPPP(s) shail be kept on-site at each of the Permittee-owned or 
operated facilities' offices for which it was completed. The SWPPP shall be 
updated as necessary. 

(c) At a minimum the SWPPP will address the following: 

1) Facility specific information (location, owner, address, etc.) 

2) Purpose of the document 

3) Key staff/contacts at the facility 

4) Site map with drainage identified 

5) Identification of significant materials that are handled and stored at the 
facility that may be exposed to storm water 

6) Description of potential pollutant sources 

7) BMPs employed at facility 

8) Spill control and cleanup - response to spills 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of this 
program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 87 February 5, 2013 



and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section F.5.j.2.for compliance. 

F.S.f.S. Inspections, Visual Monitoring and Remedial Action 

(i) Task Description -Within the fifth year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall conduct regular inspections of Permittee-owned and operated 
facilities not covered by another storm water General Permit. The Permittee 
may incorporate storm water inspections into existing, routine facility inspections. 

(ii) Implementation Level - The Permittee shall conduct inspections as follows: 

(a) Quarterly hotspot visual inspections - Perform quarterly visual inspections in 
accordance with the developed standing operating procedures of all hotspot 
Permittee-owned or operated facilities to ensure materials and equipment are 
clean and orderly, to minimize the potential for pollutant discharge, and to 
ensure implementation of BMPs. The Permittee shall look for evidence of 
spills and immediately clean them up to prevent contact with precipitation or 
runoff. The quarterly inspections shall be tracked in a log for every facility, 
and records kept with the SWPPP. The inspection report shall also include 
any identified deficiencies and the corrective actions taken to correct the 
deficiencies. 

(b) Quarterly Hotspot comprehensive inspections - At least once per quarter, a 
comprehensive inspection of hotspot facilities, including all storm water BMPs, 
shall be performed, with specific attention paid to the following, but not limited 
to waste storage areas, dumpsters, vehicle and equipment 
maintenance/fueling areas, material handling areas, and similar potential 
pollutant-generating areas. The quarterly inspection results shall be 
documented and records kept with the SWPPP. This inspection shall be 
performed in accordance with the developed standard operating procedures. 
The inspection report shall also include any identified deficiencies and the 
corrective actions taken to correct deficiencies. 

(c) Quarterly Hotspot visual observation of storm water and non-storm water 
discharges - At least once per quarter, visually observe discharge location 
from hotspot facilities. Where discharges are observed identify any observed 
problems (e.g., color, foam, sheen, turbidity) associated with pollutant sources 
or BMPs shall be remedied within seven days or before the next storm event, 
whichever is sooner. Visual observations shall be documented, and records 
kept with the SWPPP. This inspection shall be done in accordance with the 
developed standard operating procedures. The inspection report shall also 
include any identified deficiencies and the corrective actions taken to correct 
the deficiencies. 

(d) Non-Hotspot Inspection - At a minimum, inspect each inventoried facility that 
is not a hotspot, once per permit term. The inspection shall investigate and 
assess each of the items identified above. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of this 
program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 88 February 5, 2013 

-134-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section F.5.j.2.for compliance. 

F.S.f.S. Inspections, Visual Monitoring and Remedial Action 

(i) Task Description -Within the fifth year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall conduct regular inspections of Permittee-owned and operated 
facilities not covered by another storm water General Permit. The Permittee 
may incorporate storm water inspections into existing, routine facility inspections. 

(ii) Implementation Level - The Permittee shall conduct inspections as follows: 

(a) Quarterly hotspot visual inspections - Perform quarterly visual inspections in 
accordance with the developed standing operating procedures of all hotspot 
Permittee-owned or operated facilities to ensure materials and equipment are 
clean and orderly, to minimize the potential for pollutant discharge, and to 
ensure implementation of BMPs. The Permittee shall look for evidence of 
spills and immediately clean them up to prevent contact with precipitation or 
runoff. The quarterly inspections shall be tracked in a log for every facility, 
and records kept with the SWPPP. The inspection report shall also include 
any identified deficiencies and the corrective actions taken to correct the 
deficiencies. 

(b) Quarterly Hotspot comprehensive inspections - At least once per quarter, a 
comprehensive inspection of hotspot facilities, including all storm water BMPs, 
shall be performed, with specific attention paid to the following, but not limited 
to waste storage areas, dumpsters, vehicle and equipment 
maintenance/fueling areas, material handling areas, and similar potential 
pollutant-generating areas. The quarterly inspection results shall be 
documented and records kept with the SWPPP. This inspection shall be 
performed in accordance with the developed standard operating procedures. 
The inspection report shall also include any identified deficiencies and the 
corrective actions taken to correct deficiencies. 

(c) Quarterly Hotspot visual observation of storm water and non-storm water 
discharges - At least once per quarter, visually observe discharge location 
from hotspot facilities. Where discharges are observed identify any observed 
problems (e.g., color, foam, sheen, turbidity) associated with pollutant sources 
or BMPs shall be remedied within seven days or before the next storm event, 
whichever is sooner. Visual observations shall be documented, and records 
kept with the SWPPP. This inspection shall be done in accordance with the 
developed standard operating procedures. The inspection report shall also 
include any identified deficiencies and the corrective actions taken to correct 
the deficiencies. 

(d) Non-Hotspot Inspection - At a minimum, inspect each inventoried facility that 
is not a hotspot, once per permit term. The inspection shall investigate and 
assess each of the items identified above. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of this 
program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 88 February 5, 2013 



program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in this 
program element see Section F.5.j.2.for compliance. 

F.S.f.S. Storm Drain System Assessment and Prioritization 

(i) Task Description -Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall develop and implement procedures to assess and prioritize the MS4 
storm drain system, including but not limited to catch basins, pipe and pump 
infrastructure, above-ground conveyances, including receiving waterbodies within the 
Permittee's urbanized area and detention basins. 

(ii) Implementation Level - The Permittee shall: 

Assess/prioritize storm drain system facilities for cleanout- Assign a priority to all 
storm drain system facilities within the Permittee's urbanized areas based on 
accumulation of sediment, trash and/or debris. In particular, assign high priority to 
catch basins meeting the following criteria: 

1) Catch basins known to accumulate a significant amount of sediment, trash, 
'and/or debris; 

2) Catch basins collecting large volumes of runoff; 

3) Catch basin collecting runoff from area that do not receive regular sweet 
sweeping; 

4) Catch basins collecting runoff from drainage areas with exposed or 
disturbed soil; and 

5) Catch basins that receive citizen complaints/reports. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS,to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of this 
program element. 'The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program, If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in this 
program element see Section F.5.j.2.for compliance. 

F.S.f.7. Maintenance of Storm Drain System 

(i) Task Description -The Permittee shall begin maintenance of all high priority storm 
drain systems at least annually prior to the rainy season. 

(ii) Implementation Level- Within the third year of the effective date ofthe permit, the 
Permittee shall begin a maintenance program of high priority storm drain systems that, 
at a minimum includes: 

(a) Storm drain systems inspection - Based on the priorities assigned above, in 
Section F.5.f.6, develop a strategy to inspect storm drain systems within the 
Permittee's jurisdiction. At a minimum, inspect all catch basins of high priority 
systems annually, prior to the rainy season. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 89 February 5, 2013 

-135-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in this 
program element see Section F.5.j.2.for compliance. 

F.S.f.S. Storm Drain System Assessment and Prioritization 

(i) Task Description -Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall develop and implement procedures to assess and prioritize the MS4 
storm drain system, including but not limited to catch basins, pipe and pump 
infrastructure, above-ground conveyances, including receiving waterbodies within the 
Permittee's urbanized area and detention basins. 

(ii) Implementation Level - The Permittee shall: 

Assess/prioritize storm drain system facilities for cleanout- Assign a priority to all 
storm drain system facilities within the Permittee's urbanized areas based on 
accumulation of sediment, trash and/or debris. In particular, assign high priority to 
catch basins meeting the following criteria: 

1) Catch basins known to accumulate a significant amount of sediment, trash, 
'and/or debris; 

2) Catch basins collecting large volumes of runoff; 

3) Catch basin collecting runoff from area that do not receive regular sweet 
sweeping; 

4) Catch basins collecting runoff from drainage areas with exposed or 
disturbed soil; and 

5) Catch basins that receive citizen complaints/reports. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS,to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of this 
program element. 'The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program, If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in this 
program element see Section F.5.j.2.for compliance. 

F.S.f.7. Maintenance of Storm Drain System 

(i) Task Description -The Permittee shall begin maintenance of all high priority storm 
drain systems at least annually prior to the rainy season. 

(ii) Implementation Level- Within the third year of the effective date ofthe permit, the 
Permittee shall begin a maintenance program of high priority storm drain systems that, 
at a minimum includes: 

(a) Storm drain systems inspection - Based on the priorities assigned above, in 
Section F.5.f.6, develop a strategy to inspect storm drain systems within the 
Permittee's jurisdiction. At a minimum, inspect all catch basins of high priority 
systems annually, prior to the rainy season. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 89 February 5, 2013 



(b) Storm drain cleaning - Develop and implement a schedule to clean high 
priority catch basins and other systems. Cleaning frequencies shall be based 
on priority areas, with higher priority areas receiving more frequent 
maintenance. 

(c) Maintenance of surface drainage structures -Visually monitor all Permittee
owned open channels, detention basins, and other drainage structures for 
debris at least once per year and identify and prioritize problem areas. At a 
minimum, removal of trash and debris from open channels and other drainage 
structures shall occur annually. 

(d) Disposal of waste materials - Develop a procedure to dewater and dispose of 
materials extracted from catch basins. This procedure shall ensure that water 
removed during the catch basin cleaning process and waste material will not 
reenter the MS4. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of this 
program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in this 
program element see Section F.5.j.2.for compliance. 

F.S.f.8. Pe.rmittee Operations and Maintenance Activities (O&M) 

(i) Task Description -The Permittee shall assess their O&M activities for potential 
to discharge pollutants in storm water and inspect all BMPs on a quarterly basis. 

(ii) Implementation Level - Within the third year of the effective date of the permit, 
the Permittee shall: 

(a) Develop and implement O&M activity assessment. The O&M activities 
assessment shall include, but not be limited to, the potential to 
discharge pollutants in storm water. 

(b) Identify all materials that could be discharged from each of these O&M 
activities. 

(c) Develop and implement a set of BMPs that, when applied during Permittee 
O&M activities, will reduce the discharge of pollutants in storm water. The 
Permittee shall use the CASQA Municipal Handbook or equivalent. 

(d) Evaluate annually all BMPs implemented during O&M activities. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 90 February 5, 2013 

-136-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

(b) Storm drain cleaning - Develop and implement a schedule to clean high 
priority catch basins and other systems. Cleaning frequencies shall be based 
on priority areas, with higher priority areas receiving more frequent 
maintenance. 

(c) Maintenance of surface drainage structures -Visually monitor all Permittee
owned open channels, detention basins, and other drainage structures for 
debris at least once per year and identify and prioritize problem areas. At a 
minimum, removal of trash and debris from open channels and other drainage 
structures shall occur annually. 

(d) Disposal of waste materials - Develop a procedure to dewater and dispose of 
materials extracted from catch basins. This procedure shall ensure that water 
removed during the catch basin cleaning process and waste material will not 
reenter the MS4. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of this 
program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in this 
program element see Section F.5.j.2.for compliance. 

F.S.f.8. Pe.rmittee Operations and Maintenance Activities (O&M) 

(i) Task Description -The Permittee shall assess their O&M activities for potential 
to discharge pollutants in storm water and inspect all BMPs on a quarterly basis. 

(ii) Implementation Level - Within the third year of the effective date of the permit, 
the Permittee shall: 

(a) Develop and implement O&M activity assessment. The O&M activities 
assessment shall include, but not be limited to, the potential to 
discharge pollutants in storm water. 

(b) Identify all materials that could be discharged from each of these O&M 
activities. 

(c) Develop and implement a set of BMPs that, when applied during Permittee 
O&M activities, will reduce the discharge of pollutants in storm water. The 
Permittee shall use the CASQA Municipal Handbook or equivalent. 

(d) Evaluate annually all BMPs implemented during O&M activities. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 90 February 5, 2013 



water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section F.5.j.2.for compliance. 

F.S.f.9. Pesticide, Herbicide, and Fertilizer Application and New Landscape Design 
and Maintenance Management 

(i) Task Description -The Permittee shall implement a program which focuses on 
pollution prevention, source control BMPs, and landscape design and maintenance to 
reduce the amount of pesticides, herbicides and fertilizers used during their Permittee 
operations and activities. The Per'mittee shall implement the landscape design and 
maintenance on new or decorative landscapes. 

(ii) Implementation Tasks ;- Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, 
the Permittee shall implement the following: 

(a) Evaluate pesticides, herbicides and fertilizers used and application activities 
performed to identify pollution prevention and source control opportunities. 

(b) Implement practices that reduce the discharge of pesticides, herbicides and 
fertilizers. At a minimum the Permittee shall do the following, but not limited 
to: 

1) Educate applicators and distributors of storm water issues. 

2) Implement integrated pest management measures that rely on non
chemical solutions, including: 

a) Use of native and climate appropriate plants (reduces water usage and 
fertilization) for decorative landscape applications 

b) Keeping clippings and leaves away from waterways and out of the 
street using mulching, composting, or landfilling 

c) Preventing application of pesticides and fertilizers when two or more 
consecutive days with greater than 50% chance of rainfall are predicted 
by NOAA34 

d) Limiting or replacing herbicide and pesticide use (e.g., conducting 
manual weed and insect removal) 

e) Limiting or eliminating the use of fertilizers, including prohibiting 
application within five feet of pavement, 25 feet of a storm drain inlet, or 
50 feet of a water body 

f) Reducing mowing of grass to allow for greater pollutant removal, but not 
jeopardizing public safety 

3) Collect and properly dispose of unused pesticides, herbicides, and 
fertilizers. 

4) Minimize irrigation run-off. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of this 
program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Prograll) Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 

34 WWV>/.srh.noaa.gov/forecast 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 91 February 5,2013 

-137-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in 
this program element see Section F.5.j.2.for compliance. 

F.S.f.9. Pesticide, Herbicide, and Fertilizer Application and New Landscape Design 
and Maintenance Management 

(i) Task Description -The Permittee shall implement a program which focuses on 
pollution prevention, source control BMPs, and landscape design and maintenance to 
reduce the amount of pesticides, herbicides and fertilizers used during their Permittee 
operations and activities. The Per'mittee shall implement the landscape design and 
maintenance on new or decorative landscapes. 

(ii) Implementation Tasks ;- Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, 
the Permittee shall implement the following: 

(a) Evaluate pesticides, herbicides and fertilizers used and application activities 
performed to identify pollution prevention and source control opportunities. 

(b) Implement practices that reduce the discharge of pesticides, herbicides and 
fertilizers. At a minimum the Permittee shall do the following, but not limited 
to: 

1) Educate applicators and distributors of storm water issues. 

2) Implement integrated pest management measures that rely on non
chemical solutions, including: 

a) Use of native and climate appropriate plants (reduces water usage and 
fertilization) for decorative landscape applications 

b) Keeping clippings and leaves away from waterways and out of the 
street using mulching, composting, or landfilling 

c) Preventing application of pesticides and fertilizers when two or more 
consecutive days with greater than 50% chance of rainfall are predicted 
by NOAA34 

d) Limiting or replacing herbicide and pesticide use (e.g., conducting 
manual weed and insect removal) 

e) Limiting or eliminating the use of fertilizers, including prohibiting 
application within five feet of pavement, 25 feet of a storm drain inlet, or 
50 feet of a water body 

f) Reducing mowing of grass to allow for greater pollutant removal, but not 
jeopardizing public safety 

3) Collect and properly dispose of unused pesticides, herbicides, and 
fertilizers. 

4) Minimize irrigation run-off. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of this 
program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Prograll) Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 

34 WWV>/.srh.noaa.gov/forecast 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 91 February 5,2013 



water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in this 
program element see Section F.5.j.2.for compliance. 

F.S.g. POST CONSTRUCTION STORM WATER MANAGEMENT PROGRAM 

Permittees shall regulate development to comply with the following Sections: 

• F.5.g.1. Site Design Measures 
• F.5.g.2. Low Impact Development Design Standards 
• F.5.g.3. Alternative Post-Construction Storm Water Management Program 
• F.5.g.4. Operation and Maintenance of Post Construction Storm Water 

Management Measures 

Non-traditional Permittees with Regional Water Board approved post-construction storm 
water management requirements based on a watershed process approach, as described in 
Section E.12.j. Post-Construction Storm Water Management Requirements Based on 
Assessment and Maintenance of Watershed Processes, shall implement those post
construction requirements in lieu of Section F.5.g. Post Construction Storm Water 
Management Program. 

F.S.g.1. Site Design Measures 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall require implementation of site design measures for all projects that 
create and/or replace (including projects with no net increase in impervious footprint) 
between 2,500 square feet and 5,000 square feet of impervious surface, including 
detached single family homes that are not part of a larger plan of development. 

(ii) Implementation Level - Projects shall implement one or more of the following site 
design measures to reduce project site runoff: 

(a) Stream Setbacks and Buffers - a vegetated area including trees, shrubs, and 
herbaceous vegetation, that exists or is established to protect a stream 
system, lake reservoir, or coastal estuarine area; 

(b) Soil Quality Improvement and Maintenance - improvement and maintenance 
soil through soil amendments and creation of microbial community; 

(c) Tree planting and preservation - planting and preservation of healthy, 
established trees that include both evergreens and deciduous, as applicable; 

(d) Rooftop and Impervious Area Disconnection - rerouting of rooftop drainage 
pipes to drain rainwater to rain barrels, cisterns, or permeable areas instead of 
the storm sewer; 

(e) Porous Pavement - pavement that allows runoff to pass through it, thereby 
reducing the runoff from a site and surrounding areas and filtering pollutants; 

(f) Green Roofs - a vegetative layer grown on a roof (rooftop garden); 
(g) Vegetated Swales - a vegetated, open-channel management practice 

designed specifically to treat and attenuate storm water runoff; 
(h) Rain Barrels and Cisterns - system that collects and stores storm water runoff 

from a roof or other impervious surface. 

Phase" Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 92 February 5, 2013 

-138-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in this 
program element see Section F.5.j.2.for compliance. 

F.S.g. POST CONSTRUCTION STORM WATER MANAGEMENT PROGRAM 

Permittees shall regulate development to comply with the following Sections: 

• F.5.g.1. Site Design Measures 
• F.5.g.2. Low Impact Development Design Standards 
• F.5.g.3. Alternative Post-Construction Storm Water Management Program 
• F.5.g.4. Operation and Maintenance of Post Construction Storm Water 

Management Measures 

Non-traditional Permittees with Regional Water Board approved post-construction storm 
water management requirements based on a watershed process approach, as described in 
Section E.12.j. Post-Construction Storm Water Management Requirements Based on 
Assessment and Maintenance of Watershed Processes, shall implement those post
construction requirements in lieu of Section F.5.g. Post Construction Storm Water 
Management Program. 

F.S.g.1. Site Design Measures 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall require implementation of site design measures for all projects that 
create and/or replace (including projects with no net increase in impervious footprint) 
between 2,500 square feet and 5,000 square feet of impervious surface, including 
detached single family homes that are not part of a larger plan of development. 

(ii) Implementation Level - Projects shall implement one or more of the following site 
design measures to reduce project site runoff: 

(a) Stream Setbacks and Buffers - a vegetated area including trees, shrubs, and 
herbaceous vegetation, that exists or is established to protect a stream 
system, lake reservoir, or coastal estuarine area; 

(b) Soil Quality Improvement and Maintenance - improvement and maintenance 
soil through soil amendments and creation of microbial community; 

(c) Tree planting and preservation - planting and preservation of healthy, 
established trees that include both evergreens and deciduous, as applicable; 

(d) Rooftop and Impervious Area Disconnection - rerouting of rooftop drainage 
pipes to drain rainwater to rain barrels, cisterns, or permeable areas instead of 
the storm sewer; 

(e) Porous Pavement - pavement that allows runoff to pass through it, thereby 
reducing the runoff from a site and surrounding areas and filtering pollutants; 

(f) Green Roofs - a vegetative layer grown on a roof (rooftop garden); 
(g) Vegetated Swales - a vegetated, open-channel management practice 

designed specifically to treat and attenuate storm water runoff; 
(h) Rain Barrels and Cisterns - system that collects and stores storm water runoff 

from a roof or other impervious surface. 

Phase" Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 92 February 5, 2013 



Project proponents shall use the State Water Board SMARTS Post-Construction 
Calculator35

, or equivalent to quantify the runoff reduction resulting from 
implementation of site design measures. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of this 
program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in this 
program element see Section F.5.j.2.for compliance. 

F.S.g.2. Low Impact Development (LID) Design Standards 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall implement standards to effectively reduce runoff and pollutants 
associated with runoff from development projects. 

(ii) Implementation Level - The Permittee shall regulate all development projects 
that create and/or replace 5,000 square feet or more of impervious surface 
(Regulated Projects). The Permittee shall require these Regulated Projects to 
implement measures for site design, source control, runoff reduction, storm water 
treatment and baseline hydromodification management as defined in this Order. 

Regulated Projects do not include: 

(a) Interior remodels; 
(b) Routine maintenance or repair such as: exterior wall surface replacement, 

roof replacement or pavement resurfacing within the existing footprint. 

Regulated Projects include development projects. Development includes new and 
redevelopment projects on public or private land that fall under the planning and 
permitting authority of a Permittee. Redevelopment is any land-disturbing activity that 
results in the creation, addition, or replacement of exterior impervious surface area on 
a site on which some past development has occurred. The following (a-c) describe 
specific Regulated Project requirements for redevelopment and road projects: 

(a) Where a redevelopment project results in an increase of more than 50 
percent of the impervious surface of a previously existing development, runoff 
from the entire project, consisting of all existing, new, and/or replaced 
impervious surfaces, must be included to the extent feasible. 

(b) Where a redevelopment project results in an increase of less than 50 percent 
of the impervious surface of a previously existing development, only runoff 
from the new and/or replaced impervious surface of the project must be 
included. 

35 The State Water Board SMARTS Post-Construction Calculator can be found at: 
https:/Ismarts.waterboards.ca.gov/smarts/faces/SwSmartsLogin.jsp 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 93 February 5,2013 

-139-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

Project proponents shall use the State Water Board SMARTS Post-Construction 
Calculator35

, or equivalent to quantify the runoff reduction resulting from 
implementation of site design measures. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of this 
program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between the 
program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness Assessment 
and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness of the storm 
water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a requirement in this 
program element see Section F.5.j.2.for compliance. 

F.S.g.2. Low Impact Development (LID) Design Standards 

(i) Task Description - Within the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall implement standards to effectively reduce runoff and pollutants 
associated with runoff from development projects. 

(ii) Implementation Level - The Permittee shall regulate all development projects 
that create and/or replace 5,000 square feet or more of impervious surface 
(Regulated Projects). The Permittee shall require these Regulated Projects to 
implement measures for site design, source control, runoff reduction, storm water 
treatment and baseline hydromodification management as defined in this Order. 

Regulated Projects do not include: 

(a) Interior remodels; 
(b) Routine maintenance or repair such as: exterior wall surface replacement, 

roof replacement or pavement resurfacing within the existing footprint. 

Regulated Projects include development projects. Development includes new and 
redevelopment projects on public or private land that fall under the planning and 
permitting authority of a Permittee. Redevelopment is any land-disturbing activity that 
results in the creation, addition, or replacement of exterior impervious surface area on 
a site on which some past development has occurred. The following (a-c) describe 
specific Regulated Project requirements for redevelopment and road projects: 

(a) Where a redevelopment project results in an increase of more than 50 
percent of the impervious surface of a previously existing development, runoff 
from the entire project, consisting of all existing, new, and/or replaced 
impervious surfaces, must be included to the extent feasible. 

(b) Where a redevelopment project results in an increase of less than 50 percent 
of the impervious surface of a previously existing development, only runoff 
from the new and/or replaced impervious surface of the project must be 
included. 

35 The State Water Board SMARTS Post-Construction Calculator can be found at: 
https:/Ismarts.waterboards.ca.gov/smarts/faces/SwSmartsLogin.jsp 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 93 February 5,2013 



(c) Road Projects - Any of the following types of road projects that create 5,000 
square feet or more of newly constructed contiguous impervious surface and 
that are public road projects and/or fall under the building and planning 
authority of a Permittee shall comply with Low Impact Development 
Standards except that treatment of runoff of the 85th percentile 24-hour storm 
runoff event) that cannot be infiltrated onsite shall follow U.S. EPA guidance 
regarding green infrastructure to the extent feasible. Types of projects 
include: 

(1) Construction of new streets or roads, including sidewalks and bicycle 
lanes built as part of the new streets or roads which create 5,000 square 
feet or more of impervious surface. 

(2) Widening of existing streets or roads with additional traffic lanes. 
a) Where the addition of traffic lanes results in an alteration of more than 

50 percent of the impervious surface (5,000 square feet or more) of an 
existing street or road, runoff from the entire project, consisting of all 
existing, new, and/or replaced impervious surfaces, must be included 
in the treatment system design. 

b) Where the addition of traffic lanes results in an alteration of less than 
50 percent (but 5,000 square feet or more) of the impervious surface of 
an existing street or road, only the runoff equivalent from new and/or 
replaced impervious surface of the project must be included in the 
treatment system design. 

(3) Specific exclusions are: 
a) Sidewalks built as part of new streets or roads and built to direct storm 

water runoff to adjacent vegetated areas. 
b) Bicycle lanes that are built as part of new streets or roads that direct 

storm water runoff to adjacent vegetated areas. 
c) Impervious trails built to 'direct storm water runoff to adjacent vegetated 

areas, or other non-erodible permeable areas, preferably away from 
creeks or towards the outboard side of levees. 

(d) Sidewalks, bicycle lanes, or trails constructed with permeable surfaces. 

Effective Date for Applicability of Low Impact Development Runoff Standards to 
Regulated Projects: By the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall require these Post-Construction Standards be applied on applicable 
new and redevelopment R~gulated Projects. These include Regulated Projects that 
have not been deemed complete for processing, Regulated Projects without vesting 
tentative maps that have not requested and received an extension of previously 
granted approvals, and Regulated Projects that have received Project Planning Guide 
funding. Discretionary projects that have been deemed complete prior to the second 
year of the effective date of this permit are not subject to the Post-Construction 
Standards herein. For the Permittee's Regulated Projects, the effective date shall be 
the date their governing body or designee approves initiation of the project design. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 94 February 5, 2013 

-140-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

(c) Road Projects - Any of the following types of road projects that create 5,000 
square feet or more of newly constructed contiguous impervious surface and 
that are public road projects and/or fall under the building and planning 
authority of a Permittee shall comply with Low Impact Development 
Standards except that treatment of runoff of the 85th percentile 24-hour storm 
runoff event) that cannot be infiltrated onsite shall follow U.S. EPA guidance 
regarding green infrastructure to the extent feasible. Types of projects 
include: 

(1) Construction of new streets or roads, including sidewalks and bicycle 
lanes built as part of the new streets or roads which create 5,000 square 
feet or more of impervious surface. 

(2) Widening of existing streets or roads with additional traffic lanes. 
a) Where the addition of traffic lanes results in an alteration of more than 

50 percent of the impervious surface (5,000 square feet or more) of an 
existing street or road, runoff from the entire project, consisting of all 
existing, new, and/or replaced impervious surfaces, must be included 
in the treatment system design. 

b) Where the addition of traffic lanes results in an alteration of less than 
50 percent (but 5,000 square feet or more) of the impervious surface of 
an existing street or road, only the runoff equivalent from new and/or 
replaced impervious surface of the project must be included in the 
treatment system design. 

(3) Specific exclusions are: 
a) Sidewalks built as part of new streets or roads and built to direct storm 

water runoff to adjacent vegetated areas. 
b) Bicycle lanes that are built as part of new streets or roads that direct 

storm water runoff to adjacent vegetated areas. 
c) Impervious trails built to 'direct storm water runoff to adjacent vegetated 

areas, or other non-erodible permeable areas, preferably away from 
creeks or towards the outboard side of levees. 

(d) Sidewalks, bicycle lanes, or trails constructed with permeable surfaces. 

Effective Date for Applicability of Low Impact Development Runoff Standards to 
Regulated Projects: By the second year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall require these Post-Construction Standards be applied on applicable 
new and redevelopment R~gulated Projects. These include Regulated Projects that 
have not been deemed complete for processing, Regulated Projects without vesting 
tentative maps that have not requested and received an extension of previously 
granted approvals, and Regulated Projects that have received Project Planning Guide 
funding. Discretionary projects that have been deemed complete prior to the second 
year of the effective date of this permit are not subject to the Post-Construction 
Standards herein. For the Permittee's Regulated Projects, the effective date shall be 
the date their governing body or designee approves initiation of the project design. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 94 February 5, 2013 



Permittee's Development Projects - The Permittee shall develop and implement an 
equivalent approach, to the approach used for private development projects, to apply 
the most current version of the low impact development runoff standards to applicable 
public development projects. 

Where Project Planning Guide funding is applicable, Permittees shall ensure that 
adequate funding is available to implement post-construction treatment measures for 
Regulated Projects approved after the effective date of this permit. 

Where State of California project approvals are applicable, Permittees shall implement 
post-construction treatment measures for Regulated Projects approved after the 
effective date of this permit. 

F.5.g.2.a. Source Control Measures 

(i) Task Description - Regulated Projects with pollutant-generating activities and 
sources shall be required to implement standard permanent and/or operational 
source control measures as applicable. 

(ii) Implementation Level - Measures for the following pollutant-generating activities 
and sources shall be designed consistent with recommendations from the CASQA 
Stormwater BMP Handbook for New Development and Redevelopment or 
equivalent manual, and include: 

(a) Accidental spills or leaks 
(b) Interior floor drains 
(c) Parking/Storage area maintenance 
(d) Indoor and structural pest control 
(e) Landscape/outdoor pesticide use 
(f) Pools, spas, ponds, decorative fountains, and other water features 
(g) Restaurants, grocery stores, and other food service operations 
(h) Storage and handling of solid waste 
(i) Outdoor storage of equipment or materials 
U) Vehicle and equipment cleaning 
(k) Vehicle and equipment repair and maintenance 
(I) Fuel dispensing areas 
(m) Loading docks 
(n) Fire sprinkler test water 
(0) Drain or wash water from boiler drain lines, condensate drain lines, rooftop 

equipment, drainage sumps, and other sources 
(p) Unauthorized non-storm water discharges 
(q) Building and grounds maintenance 

F.5.g.2.b. Numeric Sizing Criteria for Storm Water Retention and Treatment 

The Permittees shall require facilities designed to evapotranspire, infiltrate, 
harvest/use, and biotreat storm water to meet at least one of the following hydraulic 
sizing design criteria: 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 95 February 5, 2013 

-141-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

Permittee's Development Projects - The Permittee shall develop and implement an 
equivalent approach, to the approach used for private development projects, to apply 
the most current version of the low impact development runoff standards to applicable 
public development projects. 

Where Project Planning Guide funding is applicable, Permittees shall ensure that 
adequate funding is available to implement post-construction treatment measures for 
Regulated Projects approved after the effective date of this permit. 

Where State of California project approvals are applicable, Permittees shall implement 
post-construction treatment measures for Regulated Projects approved after the 
effective date of this permit. 

F.5.g.2.a. Source Control Measures 

(i) Task Description - Regulated Projects with pollutant-generating activities and 
sources shall be required to implement standard permanent and/or operational 
source control measures as applicable. 

(ii) Implementation Level - Measures for the following pollutant-generating activities 
and sources shall be designed consistent with recommendations from the CASQA 
Stormwater BMP Handbook for New Development and Redevelopment or 
equivalent manual, and include: 

(a) Accidental spills or leaks 
(b) Interior floor drains 
(c) Parking/Storage area maintenance 
(d) Indoor and structural pest control 
(e) Landscape/outdoor pesticide use 
(f) Pools, spas, ponds, decorative fountains, and other water features 
(g) Restaurants, grocery stores, and other food service operations 
(h) Storage and handling of solid waste 
(i) Outdoor storage of equipment or materials 
U) Vehicle and equipment cleaning 
(k) Vehicle and equipment repair and maintenance 
(I) Fuel dispensing areas 
(m) Loading docks 
(n) Fire sprinkler test water 
(0) Drain or wash water from boiler drain lines, condensate drain lines, rooftop 

equipment, drainage sumps, and other sources 
(p) Unauthorized non-storm water discharges 
(q) Building and grounds maintenance 

F.5.g.2.b. Numeric Sizing Criteria for Storm Water Retention and Treatment 

The Permittees shall require facilities designed to evapotranspire, infiltrate, 
harvest/use, and biotreat storm water to meet at least one of the following hydraulic 
sizing design criteria: 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 95 February 5, 2013 



(1) Volumetric Criteria: 

a) The maximized capture storm water volume for the tributary area, on the 
basis of historical rainfall records, determined using the formula and 
volume capture coefficients in Urban Runoff Quality Management, WEF 
Manual of Practice No. 23/ASCE Manual of Practice No. 87 (1998) pages 
175-178 (that is, approximately the 85th percentile 24-hour storm runoff 
event); or 

b) The volume of annual runoff required to achieve 80 percent or more 
capture, determined in accordance with the methodology in Section 5 of 
CASQA's Stormwater Best Management Practice Handbook, New 
Development and Redevelopment (2003), using local rainfall data. 

(2) Flow-based Criteria 

a) The flow of runoff produced from a rain event equal to at least 0.2 inches 
per hour intensity; or 

b) The flow of runoff produced from a rain event equal to at least 2 times the 
85th percentile hourly rainfall intensity as determined from local rainfall 
records. 

F.5.g.2.c. Site Design Measures as defined in Section F.5.g.1. shall be based on the 
objective of achieving infiltration, evapotranspiration and/or harvesting/reuse of the 85th 
percentile rainfall event, to the extent feasible, to meet Section F.5.g.2.b. Numeric 
Sizing Criteria for Storm Water Retention and Treatment. Site design measures shall 
be used to reduce the amount of runoff, to the extent technically feasible, for which 
retention and runoff is required. Any remaining runoff from impervious DMAs may then 
be directed to one or bioretention facility as specified in Section F.5.g.2.d. Storm Water 
Treatment Measures and Baseline Hydromodification Management Measures, 
described below. 

F.5.g.2.d. Storm Water Treatment Measures and Baseline Hydromodification 
Management Measures After implementation of Site Design Measures in F.5.g.2.c., 
runoff from remaining impervious DMAs must be directed to one or more facilities 
designed to infiltrate, evapotranspire, and/or biotreat the amount of runoff specified in 
Section F.5.g.2.b. Numeric Sizing Criteria for Storm Water Retention and Treatment. 
The facilities must be demonstrated to be at least as effective as a bioretention system 
with the following design parameters. 

(1) Maximum surface loading rate of 5 inches per hour, based on the flow rates 
calculated. A sizing factor of 4% of tributary impervious area may be used. 

(2) Minimum surface reservoir volume equal to surface area times a depth of 6 
inches. 

(3) Minimum planting medium depth of 18 inches. The planting medium must 
sustain a minimum infiltration rate of 5 inches per hour throughout the life of 
the project and must maximize runoff retention and pollutant removal. A 
mixture of sand (60%-70%) meeting the specifications of American Society for 
Testing and Materials (ASTM) C33 and compost (30%-40%) may be used. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 96 February 5, 2013 

-142-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

(1) Volumetric Criteria: 

a) The maximized capture storm water volume for the tributary area, on the 
basis of historical rainfall records, determined using the formula and 
volume capture coefficients in Urban Runoff Quality Management, WEF 
Manual of Practice No. 23/ASCE Manual of Practice No. 87 (1998) pages 
175-178 (that is, approximately the 85th percentile 24-hour storm runoff 
event); or 

b) The volume of annual runoff required to achieve 80 percent or more 
capture, determined in accordance with the methodology in Section 5 of 
CASQA's Stormwater Best Management Practice Handbook, New 
Development and Redevelopment (2003), using local rainfall data. 

(2) Flow-based Criteria 

a) The flow of runoff produced from a rain event equal to at least 0.2 inches 
per hour intensity; or 

b) The flow of runoff produced from a rain event equal to at least 2 times the 
85th percentile hourly rainfall intensity as determined from local rainfall 
records. 

F.5.g.2.c. Site Design Measures as defined in Section F.5.g.1. shall be based on the 
objective of achieving infiltration, evapotranspiration and/or harvesting/reuse of the 85th 
percentile rainfall event, to the extent feasible, to meet Section F.5.g.2.b. Numeric 
Sizing Criteria for Storm Water Retention and Treatment. Site design measures shall 
be used to reduce the amount of runoff, to the extent technically feasible, for which 
retention and runoff is required. Any remaining runoff from impervious DMAs may then 
be directed to one or bioretention facility as specified in Section F.5.g.2.d. Storm Water 
Treatment Measures and Baseline Hydromodification Management Measures, 
described below. 

F.5.g.2.d. Storm Water Treatment Measures and Baseline Hydromodification 
Management Measures After implementation of Site Design Measures in F.5.g.2.c., 
runoff from remaining impervious DMAs must be directed to one or more facilities 
designed to infiltrate, evapotranspire, and/or biotreat the amount of runoff specified in 
Section F.5.g.2.b. Numeric Sizing Criteria for Storm Water Retention and Treatment. 
The facilities must be demonstrated to be at least as effective as a bioretention system 
with the following design parameters. 

(1) Maximum surface loading rate of 5 inches per hour, based on the flow rates 
calculated. A sizing factor of 4% of tributary impervious area may be used. 

(2) Minimum surface reservoir volume equal to surface area times a depth of 6 
inches. 

(3) Minimum planting medium depth of 18 inches. The planting medium must 
sustain a minimum infiltration rate of 5 inches per hour throughout the life of 
the project and must maximize runoff retention and pollutant removal. A 
mixture of sand (60%-70%) meeting the specifications of American Society for 
Testing and Materials (ASTM) C33 and compost (30%-40%) may be used. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 96 February 5, 2013 



(4) Subsurface drainage/storage (gravel) layer with an area equal to the surface 
area and having a minimum depth of 12 inches. 

(5) Underdrain with discharge elevation at top of gravel layer. 
(6) No compaction of soils beneath the facility, or ripping/loosening of soils if 

compacted. 
(7) No liners or other barriers interfering with infiltration. 
(8) Appropriate plant palette for the specified soil mix and maximum available 

water use. 

a) Alternative Designs for Bioretention Facilities - Facilities, or a combination of 
facilities, of a different design than in Section F.5.g.2.d. may be permitted if the 
following measures of equivalent effectiveness are demonstrated: 

(1) Equal or greater amount of runoff infiltrated or evapotranspired 
(2) Equal or lower pollutant concentrations in runoff that is discharged 

after bioretention 
(3) Equal or greater protection against shock loadings and spills 
(4) Equal or greater accessibility and ease of inspection and maintenance 

b) Allowed Adjustments for Bioretention Facilities for Special Site Conditions -
The bioretention design parameters as specified in Section F.5.g.2.d. may be 
adjusted for the following special site conditions: 

(1) Facilities located within 10 feet of structures or other potential 
geotechnical hazards established by the geotechnical expert for the 
project may incorporate an impervious cutoff wall between the 
bioretention facility and the structure or other geotechnical hazard. 

(2) Facilities in areas with documented high concentrations of pollutants 
in underlying soil or groundwater, facilities located where infiltration 
could contribute to a geotechnical hazard, and facilities located on 
elevated plazas or other structures may incorporate an impervious 
liner and may locate the underdrain discharge at the bottom of the 
subsurface drainage/storage layer (this configuration is commonly 
known as a "flow-through planter"). 

(3) Facilities located in areas of highly infiltrative soils or high 
groundwater, or where connection of underdrain to a surface drain or 
to a subsurface storm drain are infeasible, may omit the underdrain. 

c) Exceptions to Requirements for Bioretention Facilities - Contingent on a 
demonstration that use of bioretention or a facility of equivalent effectiveness is 
infeasible, other types of biotreatment or media filters (such as tree-box-type 
biofilters or in-vault media filters) may be used for the following: 

(1) Projects creating or replacing an acre or less of impervious area, and 
located in a designated pedestrian-oriented commercial district (Le., 
smart growth projects), and having at least 85% of the entire project 
site covered by permanent structures; 

(2) Facilities receiving runoff solely from existing (pre-project) impervious 
areas; 

(3) Historic sites, structures, or landscapes that cannot alter their original 
configuration in order to maintain their historic integrity. 

Phase" Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 97 February 5, 2013 

-143-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

(4) Subsurface drainage/storage (gravel) layer with an area equal to the surface 
area and having a minimum depth of 12 inches. 

(5) Underdrain with discharge elevation at top of gravel layer. 
(6) No compaction of soils beneath the facility, or ripping/loosening of soils if 

compacted. 
(7) No liners or other barriers interfering with infiltration. 
(8) Appropriate plant palette for the specified soil mix and maximum available 

water use. 

a) Alternative Designs for Bioretention Facilities - Facilities, or a combination of 
facilities, of a different design than in Section F.5.g.2.d. may be permitted if the 
following measures of equivalent effectiveness are demonstrated: 

(1) Equal or greater amount of runoff infiltrated or evapotranspired 
(2) Equal or lower pollutant concentrations in runoff that is discharged 

after bioretention 
(3) Equal or greater protection against shock loadings and spills 
(4) Equal or greater accessibility and ease of inspection and maintenance 

b) Allowed Adjustments for Bioretention Facilities for Special Site Conditions -
The bioretention design parameters as specified in Section F.5.g.2.d. may be 
adjusted for the following special site conditions: 

(1) Facilities located within 10 feet of structures or other potential 
geotechnical hazards established by the geotechnical expert for the 
project may incorporate an impervious cutoff wall between the 
bioretention facility and the structure or other geotechnical hazard. 

(2) Facilities in areas with documented high concentrations of pollutants 
in underlying soil or groundwater, facilities located where infiltration 
could contribute to a geotechnical hazard, and facilities located on 
elevated plazas or other structures may incorporate an impervious 
liner and may locate the underdrain discharge at the bottom of the 
subsurface drainage/storage layer (this configuration is commonly 
known as a "flow-through planter"). 

(3) Facilities located in areas of highly infiltrative soils or high 
groundwater, or where connection of underdrain to a surface drain or 
to a subsurface storm drain are infeasible, may omit the underdrain. 

c) Exceptions to Requirements for Bioretention Facilities - Contingent on a 
demonstration that use of bioretention or a facility of equivalent effectiveness is 
infeasible, other types of biotreatment or media filters (such as tree-box-type 
biofilters or in-vault media filters) may be used for the following: 

(1) Projects creating or replacing an acre or less of impervious area, and 
located in a designated pedestrian-oriented commercial district (Le., 
smart growth projects), and having at least 85% of the entire project 
site covered by permanent structures; 

(2) Facilities receiving runoff solely from existing (pre-project) impervious 
areas; 

(3) Historic sites, structures, or landscapes that cannot alter their original 
configuration in order to maintain their historic integrity. 

Phase" Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 97 February 5, 2013 



(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between 
the program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness 
Assessment and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness 
of the storm water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a 
requirement in this program element see Section F.5.j.2.for compliance. 

F.5.g.3. Alternative Post-Construction Storm Water Management Program 

A Permittee may propose alternative post-construction measures in lieu of some or 
all of Section F.5.g. requirements for multiple benefit projects. Multiple-benefit 
projects include projects that may address any of the following, in addition to water 
quality: water supply, flood control, habitat enhancement, open space preservation, 
recreation, climate change. Multiple-benefit projects may be applied at various 
scales including project site, municipal or sub-watershed level. Multiple-benefit 
projects may include, but are not limited to, projects developed under Watershed 
Improvement Plans (Water Code §16100 et seq.), IRWMP implementation and 
green infrastructure projects. Multiple benefit projects must be equally or more 
protective of water quality than Section E.12. requirements. 

The Regional Water Board or the Executive Officer may approve alternative post
construction measures for multiple-benefit projects, as described above, after an 
opportunity for public comment, if the Regional Water Board or Executive Officer 
finds that the alternative measures are consistent with the MEP standard. 

F.5.g.4. Operation and Maintenance (O&M) of Post-Construction Storm Water 
Management Measures 

(i) Task Description -Within the third year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall implement an O&M Verification Program for new development 
projects regulated under this Order. 

(ii) Implementation Level - At a minimum, the O&M Verification Program shall include 
the following elements: 

(a) Projects shall at a minimum, require at least one of the following from all 
project proponents and their successors in control of the Project or successors 
in fee title: 

(1)Written conditions in the sales or lease agreements or deed for the 
project that requires the buyer or lessee to assume responsibility for 
the O&M of the installed treatment system(s) and hydromodification 
control(s) (if any) until such responsibility is legally transferred to 
another entity; 

(2) Any other legally enforceable agreement or mechanism, such as 
recordation in the property deed, that assigns the O&M responsibility 
for the installed treatment system(s) and hydromodification control(s) 
(if any) to the project owner(s) or the Permittee. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 98 February 5,2013 

-144-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between 
the program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness 
Assessment and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness 
of the storm water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a 
requirement in this program element see Section F.5.j.2.for compliance. 

F.5.g.3. Alternative Post-Construction Storm Water Management Program 

A Permittee may propose alternative post-construction measures in lieu of some or 
all of Section F.5.g. requirements for multiple benefit projects. Multiple-benefit 
projects include projects that may address any of the following, in addition to water 
quality: water supply, flood control, habitat enhancement, open space preservation, 
recreation, climate change. Multiple-benefit projects may be applied at various 
scales including project site, municipal or sub-watershed level. Multiple-benefit 
projects may include, but are not limited to, projects developed under Watershed 
Improvement Plans (Water Code §16100 et seq.), IRWMP implementation and 
green infrastructure projects. Multiple benefit projects must be equally or more 
protective of water quality than Section E.12. requirements. 

The Regional Water Board or the Executive Officer may approve alternative post
construction measures for multiple-benefit projects, as described above, after an 
opportunity for public comment, if the Regional Water Board or Executive Officer 
finds that the alternative measures are consistent with the MEP standard. 

F.5.g.4. Operation and Maintenance (O&M) of Post-Construction Storm Water 
Management Measures 

(i) Task Description -Within the third year of the effective date of the permit, the 
Permittee shall implement an O&M Verification Program for new development 
projects regulated under this Order. 

(ii) Implementation Level - At a minimum, the O&M Verification Program shall include 
the following elements: 

(a) Projects shall at a minimum, require at least one of the following from all 
project proponents and their successors in control of the Project or successors 
in fee title: 

(1)Written conditions in the sales or lease agreements or deed for the 
project that requires the buyer or lessee to assume responsibility for 
the O&M of the installed treatment system(s) and hydromodification 
control(s) (if any) until such responsibility is legally transferred to 
another entity; 

(2) Any other legally enforceable agreement or mechanism, such as 
recordation in the property deed, that assigns the O&M responsibility 
for the installed treatment system(s) and hydromodification control(s) 
(if any) to the project owner(s) or the Permittee. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 98 February 5,2013 



(b) Coordination with the appropriate mosquit036 and vector control agency with 
jurisdiction to establish a protocol for notification of installed treatment systems 
and hydromodification management controls. On an annual basis, before the 
wet season, prepare a list of newly installed (installed within the reporting 
period) storm water treatment systems and hydromodification management 
controls to the local mosquito and vector control agency and the appropriate 
Regional Water Board. This list shall include the facility locations and'a 
description of the storm water treatment measures and hydromodification 
management controls installed. 

(c) A database or equivalent tabular format of all projects that have installed 
treatment systems. This database or equivalent tabular format shall include 
the following information for each project: 

(1) Name and address of the project; 
(2) Specific description of the location. (or a map showing the location) of 

the installed treatment system(s) and hydromodification control(s) (if 
any); 

(3) Date(s) that the treatment system(s) and hydromodification controls 
(if any) is/are installed; 

(4) Description of the type and size of the treatment system(s) and 
hydromodification control(s) (if any) installed; 

(5) Responsible operator(s) of each treatment system and 
hydromodification control (if any); 

(6) Dates and findings of inspections (routine and follow-up) of the 
treatment system(s) and hydromodification control(s) (if any) by the 
Permittee; and 

(7) Any problems and corrective or enforcement actions taken. 

(d) Maintenance Approvals: The Permittee shall ensure that systems and 
hydromodification controls installed at projects are properly operated and 
maintained for the life of the projects. In cases where the responsible party for 
a treatment system or hydromodification control has worked diligently and in 
good faith with the appropriate State and federal agencies and the Permittee 
to obtain approvals necessary to complete maintenance activities for the 
treatment system or hydromodification management control, but these 
approvals are not granted, the Permittee shall be deemed to be in 'compliance 
with this Provision. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between 
the program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness 
Assessment and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness 
of the storm water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a 
requirement in this program element see Section F.5.j.2.for compliance. 

36 "Best Management Practices for Mosquito Control on California State Properties" are available from the 
California West Nile virus website at http://www.westnile.ca.gov/resources.php. Please see Table 1, page 
22, for a list~of California mosquito control agencies or visit http://mvcac.org . 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 99 February 5, 2013 

-145-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

(b) Coordination with the appropriate mosquit036 and vector control agency with 
jurisdiction to establish a protocol for notification of installed treatment systems 
and hydromodification management controls. On an annual basis, before the 
wet season, prepare a list of newly installed (installed within the reporting 
period) storm water treatment systems and hydromodification management 
controls to the local mosquito and vector control agency and the appropriate 
Regional Water Board. This list shall include the facility locations and'a 
description of the storm water treatment measures and hydromodification 
management controls installed. 

(c) A database or equivalent tabular format of all projects that have installed 
treatment systems. This database or equivalent tabular format shall include 
the following information for each project: 

(1) Name and address of the project; 
(2) Specific description of the location. (or a map showing the location) of 

the installed treatment system(s) and hydromodification control(s) (if 
any); 

(3) Date(s) that the treatment system(s) and hydromodification controls 
(if any) is/are installed; 

(4) Description of the type and size of the treatment system(s) and 
hydromodification control(s) (if any) installed; 

(5) Responsible operator(s) of each treatment system and 
hydromodification control (if any); 

(6) Dates and findings of inspections (routine and follow-up) of the 
treatment system(s) and hydromodification control(s) (if any) by the 
Permittee; and 

(7) Any problems and corrective or enforcement actions taken. 

(d) Maintenance Approvals: The Permittee shall ensure that systems and 
hydromodification controls installed at projects are properly operated and 
maintained for the life of the projects. In cases where the responsible party for 
a treatment system or hydromodification control has worked diligently and in 
good faith with the appropriate State and federal agencies and the Permittee 
to obtain approvals necessary to complete maintenance activities for the 
treatment system or hydromodification management control, but these 
approvals are not granted, the Permittee shall be deemed to be in 'compliance 
with this Provision. 

(iii) Reporting - The Permittee shall use State Water Board SMARTS to submit a 
summary of the past year activities and certify compliance with all requirements of 
this program element. The summary shall also address the relationship between 
the program element activities and the Permittee's Program Effectiveness 
Assessment and Improvement Plan that tracks annual and long-term effectiveness 
of the storm water program. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a 
requirement in this program element see Section F.5.j.2.for compliance. 

36 "Best Management Practices for Mosquito Control on California State Properties" are available from the 
California West Nile virus website at http://www.westnile.ca.gov/resources.php. Please see Table 1, page 
22, for a list~of California mosquito control agencies or visit http://mvcac.org . 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 99 February 5, 2013 



F.S.h. PROGRAM EFFECTIVENESS ASSESSMENT AND IMPROVEMENT 

F.S.h.1. Program Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement Plan 

(i) Task Description - The Permittee shall develop and implement a Program 
Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement Plan that tracks short and long-term 
progress of the storm water program. The Program Effectiveness Assessment and 
Improvement Plan will assist the Permittee to adaptively manage its storm water 
program and make necessary modifications to the program to improve program 
effectiveness, reduce pollutants of concern, achieve the MEP standard, and protect 
water quality, and to document the Permittee's compliance with permit conditions. 
The Program Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement Plan shall identify the 
strategy used to gauge the effectiveness of prioritized BMPs and program 
implementation as a whole. Prioritized BMPs include BMPs implemented based on 
pollutants of concern. Where pollutants of concern are unidentified, prioritized 
BMPs are based on common pollutants of concern (Le., sediment, bacteria, trash, 
nutrients). The effectiveness assessments will build upon each other from one year 
to the next and shall identify modifications to the program the Permittee must 
undertake to improve effectiveness. 

(ii) Implementation Level- The Program Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement 
Plan may be modeled upon the most recent version (if applicable) Municipal Storm 
Water Program Effectiveness Assessment Guidance (CASQA, May 2007) or 
equivalent. 

(a) The Program Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement Plan shall include 
the following minimum elements: 

(1) Implementation of storm water program elements 
(2) Identification and targeting of Target Audience(s) 

(iii) Reporting - By the second year Annual Report complete and submit the Program 
Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement Plan. At a minimum, the Plan shall 
include implementation of storm water program elements and identification of the 
Targeted Audience(s). 

F.S.h.2 Storm Water Program Modifications 

(i) Task Description - Within the fifth year of the effective date of the permit, based 
on the information gained from the effectiveness assessment, the Permittee shall 
identify modifications to control measures/significant activities, including new BMPs 
or modification to existing BMPs. The Permittee shall consult with the Regional 
Water Board in setting expectations for the scope, timing, and frequency of BMP 
modifications for the next permit cycle. 

(ii) Implementation Level -The Permittee shall identify program modifications to 
include: 

(a) Improving upon BMPs that did not accomplish goals; 
(b) Continuing and expanding upon BMPs that proved to be effective, including 

identifying new BMPs or modifications to existing BMPs designed to increase 
pollutant load reductions; 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 100 February 5, 2013 

-146-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

F.S.h. PROGRAM EFFECTIVENESS ASSESSMENT AND IMPROVEMENT 

F.S.h.1. Program Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement Plan 

(i) Task Description - The Permittee shall develop and implement a Program 
Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement Plan that tracks short and long-term 
progress of the storm water program. The Program Effectiveness Assessment and 
Improvement Plan will assist the Permittee to adaptively manage its storm water 
program and make necessary modifications to the program to improve program 
effectiveness, reduce pollutants of concern, achieve the MEP standard, and protect 
water quality, and to document the Permittee's compliance with permit conditions. 
The Program Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement Plan shall identify the 
strategy used to gauge the effectiveness of prioritized BMPs and program 
implementation as a whole. Prioritized BMPs include BMPs implemented based on 
pollutants of concern. Where pollutants of concern are unidentified, prioritized 
BMPs are based on common pollutants of concern (Le., sediment, bacteria, trash, 
nutrients). The effectiveness assessments will build upon each other from one year 
to the next and shall identify modifications to the program the Permittee must 
undertake to improve effectiveness. 

(ii) Implementation Level- The Program Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement 
Plan may be modeled upon the most recent version (if applicable) Municipal Storm 
Water Program Effectiveness Assessment Guidance (CASQA, May 2007) or 
equivalent. 

(a) The Program Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement Plan shall include 
the following minimum elements: 

(1) Implementation of storm water program elements 
(2) Identification and targeting of Target Audience(s) 

(iii) Reporting - By the second year Annual Report complete and submit the Program 
Effectiveness Assessment and Improvement Plan. At a minimum, the Plan shall 
include implementation of storm water program elements and identification of the 
Targeted Audience(s). 

F.S.h.2 Storm Water Program Modifications 

(i) Task Description - Within the fifth year of the effective date of the permit, based 
on the information gained from the effectiveness assessment, the Permittee shall 
identify modifications to control measures/significant activities, including new BMPs 
or modification to existing BMPs. The Permittee shall consult with the Regional 
Water Board in setting expectations for the scope, timing, and frequency of BMP 
modifications for the next permit cycle. 

(ii) Implementation Level -The Permittee shall identify program modifications to 
include: 

(a) Improving upon BMPs that did not accomplish goals; 
(b) Continuing and expanding upon BMPs that proved to be effective, including 

identifying new BMPs or modifications to existing BMPs designed to increase 
pollutant load reductions; 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-0WQ 100 February 5, 2013 



(c) Discontinuing BMPs that may no longer be productive and replacing with more 
effective BMPs; and 

(d) Shifting priorities to make more effective use of resources 

(iii) Reporting - By the fifth year Annual Report complete and have available a list of 
maintenance activities of highest priority BMPs. By the fifth year Annual Report, 
complete and have available a summary of proposed modifications to the storm 
water program to improve program effectiveness, to achieve the MEP standard, and 
to protect water quality. 

F.S.i. TOTAL MAXIMUM DAILY LOADS COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENTS 

F.S.i.1. The Permittee shall comply with all applicable TMDLs approved pursuant to 40 
Code of Federal Regulations § 130.7 that assign a Waste Load Allocation to the 
Permittee and that have been identified in Attachment G. 

F.S.i.2. Waste Load Allocations (WLA), Load Allocations (LA), effluent limitations, 
implementation requirements, and monitoring requirements are specified in the 
adopted and approved Regional Water Board Basin Plans and authorizing 
resolutions which are incorporated herein by reference as enforceable parts of 
this Order. Applicable Basin Plan amendments and resolutions are identified in 
Attachment G. With the exception of the TMDLs for the Los Angeles Regional 
Water Board, Attachment G additionally contains a list of TMDL-specific permit 
requirements developed by the Regional Boards for compliance with the 
implementation requirements of the relevant TMDLs. These requirements are 
an enforceable component of this Order. In some cases, dates are given that 
fall outside the term of this Order. Compliance dates that have already passed 
are enforceable on the effective date of this Order. Compliance dates that 
exceed the term of this Order are included for reference, and become 
enforceable in the event that this Order is administratively extended. 

F.S.i.3. The Regional Water Boards are directed to review, within one year of the 
effective date of this Order, the TMDL-specific permit requirements contained in 
Attachment G and to propose to the State Water Board any appropriate 
revisions after consultation with the Permittees and State Water Board staff. 
The Los Angeles Regional Water Board will develop TMDL-specific permit 
requirements within one year of the effective date of this Order in consultation 
with the Permittees and State Water Board staff. Any proposed revisions by the 
Regional Water Boards shall be supported by a statement of reasons explaining 
how the proposed TMDL-specific permit requirements are consistent with the 
assumptions and requirements of applicable WLAs and with the goals of the 
TMDL. The State Water Board will incorporate into this Order any necessary 
revisions, including the statements of reasons through a reopener. The State 
Water Board may additionally revise this Order through a reopener to 
incorporate any modifications or revisions to the TMDLs in Attachment G, or to 
incorporate any new TMDLs adopted during the term of this General Permit that 
assign a WLA to the Permittee or that identify the Permittee as a responsible 
party. Where a TMDL is limited to a single constituent within a single reach of 
the watershed, the Regional Water Board Executive Officer may require 
additional monitoring, per Water Code § 13383. I n revising Attachment G, the 
State Water Board will allow adequate notice and public review. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 101 February 5, 2013 

-147-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

(c) Discontinuing BMPs that may no longer be productive and replacing with more 
effective BMPs; and 

(d) Shifting priorities to make more effective use of resources 

(iii) Reporting - By the fifth year Annual Report complete and have available a list of 
maintenance activities of highest priority BMPs. By the fifth year Annual Report, 
complete and have available a summary of proposed modifications to the storm 
water program to improve program effectiveness, to achieve the MEP standard, and 
to protect water quality. 

F.S.i. TOTAL MAXIMUM DAILY LOADS COMPLIANCE REQUIREMENTS 

F.S.i.1. The Permittee shall comply with all applicable TMDLs approved pursuant to 40 
Code of Federal Regulations § 130.7 that assign a Waste Load Allocation to the 
Permittee and that have been identified in Attachment G. 

F.S.i.2. Waste Load Allocations (WLA), Load Allocations (LA), effluent limitations, 
implementation requirements, and monitoring requirements are specified in the 
adopted and approved Regional Water Board Basin Plans and authorizing 
resolutions which are incorporated herein by reference as enforceable parts of 
this Order. Applicable Basin Plan amendments and resolutions are identified in 
Attachment G. With the exception of the TMDLs for the Los Angeles Regional 
Water Board, Attachment G additionally contains a list of TMDL-specific permit 
requirements developed by the Regional Boards for compliance with the 
implementation requirements of the relevant TMDLs. These requirements are 
an enforceable component of this Order. In some cases, dates are given that 
fall outside the term of this Order. Compliance dates that have already passed 
are enforceable on the effective date of this Order. Compliance dates that 
exceed the term of this Order are included for reference, and become 
enforceable in the event that this Order is administratively extended. 

F.S.i.3. The Regional Water Boards are directed to review, within one year of the 
effective date of this Order, the TMDL-specific permit requirements contained in 
Attachment G and to propose to the State Water Board any appropriate 
revisions after consultation with the Permittees and State Water Board staff. 
The Los Angeles Regional Water Board will develop TMDL-specific permit 
requirements within one year of the effective date of this Order in consultation 
with the Permittees and State Water Board staff. Any proposed revisions by the 
Regional Water Boards shall be supported by a statement of reasons explaining 
how the proposed TMDL-specific permit requirements are consistent with the 
assumptions and requirements of applicable WLAs and with the goals of the 
TMDL. The State Water Board will incorporate into this Order any necessary 
revisions, including the statements of reasons through a reopener. The State 
Water Board may additionally revise this Order through a reopener to 
incorporate any modifications or revisions to the TMDLs in Attachment G, or to 
incorporate any new TMDLs adopted during the term of this General Permit that 
assign a WLA to the Permittee or that identify the Permittee as a responsible 
party. Where a TMDL is limited to a single constituent within a single reach of 
the watershed, the Regional Water Board Executive Officer may require 
additional monitoring, per Water Code § 13383. I n revising Attachment G, the 
State Water Board will allow adequate notice and public review. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 101 February 5, 2013 



F .5.i.4. The Permittee shall complete and have available a report that includes the status 
of their implementation of the specific TMDL implementation requirements that 
have been incorporated into the Order with each Annual Report. The TMDL 
implementation report shall include the following information: 

(a) A description of BMPs implemented, including types, number, and locations 
(b) An assessment of the effectiveness of implemented BMPs in progressing 

towards attainment of wasteload allocations within the TMDLs' specified 
timeframes 

(c) All monitoring data, including a statistical analysis of the data to assess 
progress towards attainment of wasteload allocations within the TMDLs' 
specified timeframes 

(d) Based on results of the effectiveness assessment and monitoring, a 
description of the additional BMPs that will be implemented to attain 
wasteload allocations within the TMDLs/ specified timeframes 

F.5.i.5. The Permittee shall comply with implementation requirements specified in 
Category 4b demonstrations associated with Clean Water Act Sections 303d, 
306b, and 314 Integrated Reporting and Listing Decisions. Implementation 
requirements described in Category 4b demonstrations are effective upon 
Regional Water Board approval of that region's Integrated Reporting and Listing 
Decisions and associated Category 4b demonstrations. 

F.5.j. ONLINE ANNUAL REPORTING 

F.5.j.1. Department of Defense and Department of Corrections, ports, transportation 
agencies and Rehabilitation Permittees are exempt from Annual Reporting of 
any provision that could pose a security risk and compromise facility security. 
Any requested information to determine compliance with this Order [40 C.F.R. 
122.41 (h)] by the Water Boards or U.S. EPA shall be furnished during normal 
business hours. 

F.5.j.2. The Permittee shall use State Water Board's SMARTS to submit a summary of 
the past year activities for each program element and certify compliance with all 
requirements of this permit. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a 
requirement, it must submit in SMARTS the reason for failure to comply, a 
description and schedule of tasks necessary to achieve compliance, and an 
estimated date for achieving full compliance. 

F.5.j.3. Permittees shall complete and retain all Annual Report information on the 
previous fiscal year beginning July 1 and ending June 30. The Annual 
Reporting requirements are set forth in Provisions E. The Permittee shall retain 
documentation as necessary to support their Annual Report. The Permittee 
shall make this supporting information available during normal business hours, 
unless agreed to by the Regional Water Board's Executive Officer. 

F.5.j.4. The Permittee shall submit when requested by the Executive Officer of the 
applicable Regional Water Board a detailed written online annual report or in
person presentation of the annual report that addresses the activities described 
in Provision F. The detailed Annual Report must clearly refer to the permit 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 102 February 5,2013 

-148-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

F .5.i.4. The Permittee shall complete and have available a report that includes the status 
of their implementation of the specific TMDL implementation requirements that 
have been incorporated into the Order with each Annual Report. The TMDL 
implementation report shall include the following information: 

(a) A description of BMPs implemented, including types, number, and locations 
(b) An assessment of the effectiveness of implemented BMPs in progressing 

towards attainment of wasteload allocations within the TMDLs' specified 
timeframes 

(c) All monitoring data, including a statistical analysis of the data to assess 
progress towards attainment of wasteload allocations within the TMDLs' 
specified timeframes 

(d) Based on results of the effectiveness assessment and monitoring, a 
description of the additional BMPs that will be implemented to attain 
wasteload allocations within the TMDLs/ specified timeframes 

F.5.i.5. The Permittee shall comply with implementation requirements specified in 
Category 4b demonstrations associated with Clean Water Act Sections 303d, 
306b, and 314 Integrated Reporting and Listing Decisions. Implementation 
requirements described in Category 4b demonstrations are effective upon 
Regional Water Board approval of that region's Integrated Reporting and Listing 
Decisions and associated Category 4b demonstrations. 

F.5.j. ONLINE ANNUAL REPORTING 

F.5.j.1. Department of Defense and Department of Corrections, ports, transportation 
agencies and Rehabilitation Permittees are exempt from Annual Reporting of 
any provision that could pose a security risk and compromise facility security. 
Any requested information to determine compliance with this Order [40 C.F.R. 
122.41 (h)] by the Water Boards or U.S. EPA shall be furnished during normal 
business hours. 

F.5.j.2. The Permittee shall use State Water Board's SMARTS to submit a summary of 
the past year activities for each program element and certify compliance with all 
requirements of this permit. If a Permittee is unable to certify compliance with a 
requirement, it must submit in SMARTS the reason for failure to comply, a 
description and schedule of tasks necessary to achieve compliance, and an 
estimated date for achieving full compliance. 

F.5.j.3. Permittees shall complete and retain all Annual Report information on the 
previous fiscal year beginning July 1 and ending June 30. The Annual 
Reporting requirements are set forth in Provisions E. The Permittee shall retain 
documentation as necessary to support their Annual Report. The Permittee 
shall make this supporting information available during normal business hours, 
unless agreed to by the Regional Water Board's Executive Officer. 

F.5.j.4. The Permittee shall submit when requested by the Executive Officer of the 
applicable Regional Water Board a detailed written online annual report or in
person presentation of the annual report that addresses the activities described 
in Provision F. The detailed Annual Report must clearly refer to the permit 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 102 February 5,2013 



requirements and describe in quantifiable terms, the status of activities 
undertaken to comply with each requirement. 

F.5.j.5. Permittees involved in regional programs may coordinate with the members to 
identify reporting responsibility. The one report submitted on behalf of 
Permittees involved in a regional program must include a summary of the past 
year activities implemented for each program element and certification of 
compliance for each of the Permittees in the regional program. 

G. REGIONAL WATER BOARD AUTHORITIES 

Regional Water Boards are responsible for overseeing compliance with this Order. 
Oversight may include, but is not limited to, reviewing reports, requiring modification to 
storm water program components and various submissions, imposing region-specific 
monitoring requirements, conducting inspections and program evaluations (audits), 
taking enforcement actions against violators of this Order. Permittees shall modify and 
implement their storm water management programs and monitoring as required by the 
Regional Water Board Executive Officer. The Regional Water Board may designate 
additional Small MS4s as Regulated Small MS4s under this Order consistent with the 
criteria articulated in Finding 24 of this Order. Such designations must be approved by 
the Regional Water Board following public review and comment. The Executive Director 
of the State Water Board may amend Attachments A and B to add Regional Water 
Board designations. The Regional Water Boards may also issue individual permits to 
Regulated Small MS4s, and alternative general permits to categories of Regulated Small 
MS4s. Upon issuance of such permits by a Regional Water Board, this Order shall no 
longer regulate the affected Small MS4(s). 

H. DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

In the event of a disagreement between a Permittee or other interested party and a 
Regional Water Board over the interpretation or implementation of any provision of this 
Order, a Permittee or interested party shall first attempt to resolve the issue with the 
Executive Officer of the Regional Water Board. If a satisfactory resolution is not 
obtained at the Regional Water Board level, a Permittee or interested party may submit 
the issue in writing to the Executive Director of the State Water Board or his designee for 
resolution, with a copy to the Executive Officer of the Regional Water Board. The issue 
must be submitted to the Executive Director within thirty days of any final determination 
by the Executive Officer of the Regional Water Board; after thirty days the Permittee or 
interested party will be deemed to have accepted the Regional Water Board Executive 
Officer's determination. The Executive Officer of the Regional Water Board will be 
provided an opportunity to respond. The Executive Director or his/her designee shall 
make a determination on the request within 60 days. Determinations of the Regional 
Water Board Executive Officers in interpreting and implementing this permit are 
considered actions of the State Water Board except where the Regional Water Board 
itself acts or the Executive Officer acts under Water Code Sections 13300, 13304, or 
13383. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 103 February 5, 2013 

-149-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

requirements and describe in quantifiable terms, the status of activities 
undertaken to comply with each requirement. 

F.5.j.5. Permittees involved in regional programs may coordinate with the members to 
identify reporting responsibility. The one report submitted on behalf of 
Permittees involved in a regional program must include a summary of the past 
year activities implemented for each program element and certification of 
compliance for each of the Permittees in the regional program. 

G. REGIONAL WATER BOARD AUTHORITIES 

Regional Water Boards are responsible for overseeing compliance with this Order. 
Oversight may include, but is not limited to, reviewing reports, requiring modification to 
storm water program components and various submissions, imposing region-specific 
monitoring requirements, conducting inspections and program evaluations (audits), 
taking enforcement actions against violators of this Order. Permittees shall modify and 
implement their storm water management programs and monitoring as required by the 
Regional Water Board Executive Officer. The Regional Water Board may designate 
additional Small MS4s as Regulated Small MS4s under this Order consistent with the 
criteria articulated in Finding 24 of this Order. Such designations must be approved by 
the Regional Water Board following public review and comment. The Executive Director 
of the State Water Board may amend Attachments A and B to add Regional Water 
Board designations. The Regional Water Boards may also issue individual permits to 
Regulated Small MS4s, and alternative general permits to categories of Regulated Small 
MS4s. Upon issuance of such permits by a Regional Water Board, this Order shall no 
longer regulate the affected Small MS4(s). 

H. DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

In the event of a disagreement between a Permittee or other interested party and a 
Regional Water Board over the interpretation or implementation of any provision of this 
Order, a Permittee or interested party shall first attempt to resolve the issue with the 
Executive Officer of the Regional Water Board. If a satisfactory resolution is not 
obtained at the Regional Water Board level, a Permittee or interested party may submit 
the issue in writing to the Executive Director of the State Water Board or his designee for 
resolution, with a copy to the Executive Officer of the Regional Water Board. The issue 
must be submitted to the Executive Director within thirty days of any final determination 
by the Executive Officer of the Regional Water Board; after thirty days the Permittee or 
interested party will be deemed to have accepted the Regional Water Board Executive 
Officer's determination. The Executive Officer of the Regional Water Board will be 
provided an opportunity to respond. The Executive Director or his/her designee shall 
make a determination on the request within 60 days. Determinations of the Regional 
Water Board Executive Officers in interpreting and implementing this permit are 
considered actions of the State Water Board except where the Regional Water Board 
itself acts or the Executive Officer acts under Water Code Sections 13300, 13304, or 
13383. 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 103 February 5, 2013 



I. PERMIT RE-OPENER 

This Order may be modified, revoked and reissued, or terminated for cause due to 
promulgation of amended regulations, receipt of U.S. EPA guidance concerning 
regulated activities, judicial decision, or in accordance with 40 Code of Federal 
Regulations 122.62, 122.63, 122.64, and 124.5. The State Board may additionally 
reopen and modify this Order at any time prior to its expiration under any of the following 
circumstances: 

1. Present or future investigations demonstrate that the discharge(s) regulated by this 
Order may have the potential to cause or contribute to adverse impacts on water 
quality and/or beneficial uses. 

2. New or revised Water Quality Objectives come into effect, or any TMDL is adopted 
or revised that is applicable to the Permittees 

3. TMDL-specific permit requirements for adopted TMDLs are developed or revised by 
a Regional Water Board for incorporation into this Order. 

4. The State Water Board determines, after opportunity for public comment and a public 
workshop, that revisions are warranted to those provisions of the Order addressing 
compliance with water quality standards in the receiving water or those provisions of 
the Order laying out an iterative process for implementation of management 
practices to achieve compliance with water quality standards in the receiving water. 

5. The State Board completes the delineation of statewide watershed management 
zones based on watershed processes and the development of watershed based 
criteria for hydromodification measures. 

6. The State Water Board completes the statewide policy for trash control in California's 
waterways. 

Phase" Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 104 February 5, 2013 

-150-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

I. PERMIT RE-OPENER 

This Order may be modified, revoked and reissued, or terminated for cause due to 
promulgation of amended regulations, receipt of U.S. EPA guidance concerning 
regulated activities, judicial decision, or in accordance with 40 Code of Federal 
Regulations 122.62, 122.63, 122.64, and 124.5. The State Board may additionally 
reopen and modify this Order at any time prior to its expiration under any of the following 
circumstances: 

1. Present or future investigations demonstrate that the discharge(s) regulated by this 
Order may have the potential to cause or contribute to adverse impacts on water 
quality and/or beneficial uses. 

2. New or revised Water Quality Objectives come into effect, or any TMDL is adopted 
or revised that is applicable to the Permittees 

3. TMDL-specific permit requirements for adopted TMDLs are developed or revised by 
a Regional Water Board for incorporation into this Order. 

4. The State Water Board determines, after opportunity for public comment and a public 
workshop, that revisions are warranted to those provisions of the Order addressing 
compliance with water quality standards in the receiving water or those provisions of 
the Order laying out an iterative process for implementation of management 
practices to achieve compliance with water quality standards in the receiving water. 

5. The State Board completes the delineation of statewide watershed management 
zones based on watershed processes and the development of watershed based 
criteria for hydromodification measures. 

6. The State Water Board completes the statewide policy for trash control in California's 
waterways. 

Phase" Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 104 February 5, 2013 



J. PERMIT EXPIRATION 

This Order expires on June 30, 2018. If this Order is not reissued or replaced prior to 
the expiration date, it will be administratively continued in accordance with 40 Code of 
Federal Regulations section 122.6 and remain in full force and effect. If you wish to 
continue an activity regulated by this Order after the expiration date of this Order, you 
must apply for and obtain authorization as required by the new permit once it is issued. 

CERTIFICATION 

The undersigned, Clerk to the Board, does hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true, and 
correct copy of an order duly and regularly adopted at a meeting of State Water Board held on 
February 5, 2013. 

AYE: 

NAY: 

ABSENT: 

ABSTAIN: 

Chairman Charles R. Hoppin 
Vice Chair Frances Spivy-Weber 
Board Member Tam M. Doduc 
Board Member Steven Moore 
Board Member Felicia Marcus 

None 

None 

None 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 105 February 5, 2013 

-151-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 2.pdf

J. PERMIT EXPIRATION 

This Order expires on June 30, 2018. If this Order is not reissued or replaced prior to 
the expiration date, it will be administratively continued in accordance with 40 Code of 
Federal Regulations section 122.6 and remain in full force and effect. If you wish to 
continue an activity regulated by this Order after the expiration date of this Order, you 
must apply for and obtain authorization as required by the new permit once it is issued. 

CERTIFICATION 

The undersigned, Clerk to the Board, does hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true, and 
correct copy of an order duly and regularly adopted at a meeting of State Water Board held on 
February 5, 2013. 

AYE: 

NAY: 

ABSENT: 

ABSTAIN: 

Chairman Charles R. Hoppin 
Vice Chair Frances Spivy-Weber 
Board Member Tam M. Doduc 
Board Member Steven Moore 
Board Member Felicia Marcus 

None 

None 

None 

Phase II Small MS4 General Permit 
2013-0001-DWQ 105 February 5, 2013 



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 

-152-



Resolution No. R3-2012-0025 

POST-CONSTRUCTION STORMWATER MANAGEMENT REQUIREMENTS FOR 
DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS IN THE 

CENTRAL COAST REGION 

September 6,2012 

CALIFORNIA REGIONAL WATER QUALITY CONTROL BOARD 
CENTRAL COAST REGION 

895 Aerovista Place, Suite 101, San Luis Obispo, California 93401 
Phone· (805) 549-3147 

http://w.lI/w.waterboards.ca . 9 ovl centralcoastl 

Documents also are available at: 

To request copies of this report please contact 
Dominic Roques at (805) 542-4780, or by email at: 

drogues@waterboards.ca.gov 

http://www.waterboards.ca.gov/centralcoastlwater issues/programs/stormwater/docs/lid/lid hyd 
romod charette index.shtml 

-153-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 3.pdf

Resolution No. R3-2012-0025 

POST-CONSTRUCTION STORMWATER MANAGEMENT REQUIREMENTS FOR 
DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS IN THE 

CENTRAL COAST REGION 

September 6,2012 

CALIFORNIA REGIONAL WATER QUALITY CONTROL BOARD 
CENTRAL COAST REGION 

895 Aerovista Place, Suite 101, San Luis Obispo, California 93401 
Phone· (805) 549-3147 

http://w.lI/w.waterboards.ca . 9 ovl centralcoastl 

Documents also are available at: 

To request copies of this report please contact 
Dominic Roques at (805) 542-4780, or by email at: 

drogues@waterboards.ca.gov 

http://www.waterboards.ca.gov/centralcoastlwater issues/programs/stormwater/docs/lid/lid hyd 
romod charette index.shtml 



Resolution No. R3-2012-002S 

POST-CONSTRUCTION STORMWATER MANAGEMENT REQUIREMENTS FOR 
DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS IN THE CENTRAL COAST REGION 

TABLE of CONTENTS 
A. Watershed Management Zones (WMZs) ............................................................................ 1 
B. Post-Construction Requirements ........................................................................................ 1 

1) Reg ulated Projects .......................................................................................................... 1 
2) Performance Requirement NO.1: Site Design and Runoff Reduction .............................. 3 
3) Performance Requirement NO.2: Water Quality Treatment.. ........................................... 4 
4) Performance Requirement NO.3: Runoff Retention ......................................................... 6 
5) Performance Requirement NO.4: Peak Management.. ................................................... 1 0 
6) Performance Requirement NO.5: Special Circumstances .............................................. 11 
7) Required Hydrologic Analysis ........................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

C. Alternative Compliance (Off-Site Compliance) ................................................................... 13 
1) Technical Infeasibility ..................................................................................................... 13 
2) Approved Watershed or Regional Plan ........................................................................... 14 
3) Approved Urban Sustainability Area ............................................................................... 14 

D. Field Verifications of Post-Construction Stormwater Control Measures .............................. 15 
E. Operation and Maintenance for Structural SCMs ............................................................... 16 

1) O&M Plan ....................................................................................................................... 16 
2) Maintenance Agreement and Transfer of Responsibility for SCMs ................................. 16 
3) Structural Stormwater Control Measure O&M Database ................................................. 16 

F. Permittee Reporting Requirements .................................................................................... 17 
G. Pre-existing Prog rams ........................................................................................................ 18 
ATTACHMENT A: Watershed Management Zones .................................................................. 19 
ATTACHMENT B: Designated Groundwater Basins ................................................................ 20 
ATTACHMENT C: Definitions Related to Post-Construction Requirements ............................. 23 
ATTACHMENT D: Hydrologic Analysis and Stormwater Control Measure Sizing Guidance ..... 27 
ATTACHMENT E: Ten Percent Adjustment to Retention Requirement - Calculation 
Instructions ............................................................................................................ 30 
ATTACHMENT F: Calculating Off-Site Retention Requirements ....................................... 32 

-154-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 3.pdf

Resolution No. R3-2012-002S 

POST-CONSTRUCTION STORMWATER MANAGEMENT REQUIREMENTS FOR 
DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS IN THE CENTRAL COAST REGION 

TABLE of CONTENTS 
A. Watershed Management Zones (WMZs) ............................................................................ 1 
B. Post-Construction Requirements ........................................................................................ 1 

1) Reg ulated Projects .......................................................................................................... 1 
2) Performance Requirement NO.1: Site Design and Runoff Reduction .............................. 3 
3) Performance Requirement NO.2: Water Quality Treatment.. ........................................... 4 
4) Performance Requirement NO.3: Runoff Retention ......................................................... 6 
5) Performance Requirement NO.4: Peak Management.. ................................................... 1 0 
6) Performance Requirement NO.5: Special Circumstances .............................................. 11 
7) Required Hydrologic Analysis ........................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

C. Alternative Compliance (Off-Site Compliance) ................................................................... 13 
1) Technical Infeasibility ..................................................................................................... 13 
2) Approved Watershed or Regional Plan ........................................................................... 14 
3) Approved Urban Sustainability Area ............................................................................... 14 

D. Field Verifications of Post-Construction Stormwater Control Measures .............................. 15 
E. Operation and Maintenance for Structural SCMs ............................................................... 16 

1) O&M Plan ....................................................................................................................... 16 
2) Maintenance Agreement and Transfer of Responsibility for SCMs ................................. 16 
3) Structural Stormwater Control Measure O&M Database ................................................. 16 

F. Permittee Reporting Requirements .................................................................................... 17 
G. Pre-existing Prog rams ........................................................................................................ 18 
ATTACHMENT A: Watershed Management Zones .................................................................. 19 
ATTACHMENT B: Designated Groundwater Basins ................................................................ 20 
ATTACHMENT C: Definitions Related to Post-Construction Requirements ............................. 23 
ATTACHMENT D: Hydrologic Analysis and Stormwater Control Measure Sizing Guidance ..... 27 
ATTACHMENT E: Ten Percent Adjustment to Retention Requirement - Calculation 
Instructions ............................................................................................................ 30 
ATTACHMENT F: Calculating Off-Site Retention Requirements ....................................... 32 



Resolution No. R3-2012-002S 
-1 

A. Watershed Management Zones (WMZs) 
The urbanized portions of the Central Coast Region are categorized into 10 Watershed 
Management Zones (WMZs), based on common key watershed processes and receiving water 
type (creek, marine nearshore waters, lake, etc). Maps in Attachment A illustrate the WMZs for 
the Central Coast Region's urbanized areas. Designated Groundwater Basins of the Central 
Coast Region (Attachment B) underlie some but not all WMZs in urbanized portions of the 
Central Coast Region. The map and table in Attachment B illustrates the Groundwater Basins 
of the Central Coast Region. Each WMZ and, where present, Groundwater Basin, is aligned 
with specific Post-Construction Stormwater Management Requirements to address the impacts 
of development on those watershed processes and beneficial uses. 
1) The Permittee shall, maintain the ability to identify the WMZs and their boundaries, and to 

determine the WMZ in which development projects are proposed, throughout the urbanized 
portions of their jurisdiction corresponding with the Phase I or Phase II Municipal Stormwater 
Permit boundary. 

2) The Permittee shall maintain the ability to determine whether development projects are 
proposed in areas overlying designated Groundwater Basins, throughout the urbanized 
portions of their jurisdiction subject to either a Phase I or Phase II Municipal Stormwater 
Permit. 

B. Post-Construction Requirements 
The primary objective of these Post-Construction Stormwater Management Requirements 
(hereinafter, Post-Construction Requirements) is to ensure that the Permittee is reducing 
pollutant discharges to the Maximum Extent Practicable and preventing stormwater discharges 
from causing or contributing to a violation of receiving water quality standards in all applicable 
development projects that require approvals and/or permits issued under the Permittee's 
planning, building, or other comparable authority. The Post-Construction Requirements 
emphasize protecting and, where degraded, restoring key watershed processes to create and 
sustain linkages between hydrology, channel geomorphology, and biological health necessary 
for healthy watersheds. Maintenance and restoration of watershed processes impacted by 
stormwater management is necessary to protect water quality and beneficial uses. 

1) Regulated Projects 
Regulated Projects include all New Development or Redevelopment projects that create 
and/or replace ~2,500 square feet of impervious surface (collectively over the entire project 
site) 
a) Regulated Projects include, but are not limited to the following road projects/practices: 

i) Removing and replacing a paved surface resulting in alteration of the original line 
and grade, hydraulic capacity or overall footprint of the road 

ii) Extending the pavement edge, or paving graveled shoulders 
iii) Resurfacing by upgrading from dirt to asphalt, or concrete; upgrading from gravel to 

asphalt, or concrete; or upgrading from a bituminous surface treatment ("chip seal ") 
to asphalt or concrete 

b) Regulated Projects do not include: 
i) Road and Parking Lot maintenance: 

(1) Road surface repair including slurry sealing, fog sealing, and pothole and square 
cut patching 

(2) Overlaying existing asphalt or concrete pavement with asphalt or concrete 
without expanding the area of coverage 

(3) Shoulder grading 
(4) Cleaning, repairing, maintaining, reshaping, or regrading drainage systems 

-155-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 3.pdf

Resolution No. R3-2012-002S 
-1 

A. Watershed Management Zones (WMZs) 
The urbanized portions of the Central Coast Region are categorized into 10 Watershed 
Management Zones (WMZs), based on common key watershed processes and receiving water 
type (creek, marine nearshore waters, lake, etc). Maps in Attachment A illustrate the WMZs for 
the Central Coast Region's urbanized areas. Designated Groundwater Basins of the Central 
Coast Region (Attachment B) underlie some but not all WMZs in urbanized portions of the 
Central Coast Region. The map and table in Attachment B illustrates the Groundwater Basins 
of the Central Coast Region. Each WMZ and, where present, Groundwater Basin, is aligned 
with specific Post-Construction Stormwater Management Requirements to address the impacts 
of development on those watershed processes and beneficial uses. 
1) The Permittee shall, maintain the ability to identify the WMZs and their boundaries, and to 

determine the WMZ in which development projects are proposed, throughout the urbanized 
portions of their jurisdiction corresponding with the Phase I or Phase II Municipal Stormwater 
Permit boundary. 

2) The Permittee shall maintain the ability to determine whether development projects are 
proposed in areas overlying designated Groundwater Basins, throughout the urbanized 
portions of their jurisdiction subject to either a Phase I or Phase II Municipal Stormwater 
Permit. 

B. Post-Construction Requirements 
The primary objective of these Post-Construction Stormwater Management Requirements 
(hereinafter, Post-Construction Requirements) is to ensure that the Permittee is reducing 
pollutant discharges to the Maximum Extent Practicable and preventing stormwater discharges 
from causing or contributing to a violation of receiving water quality standards in all applicable 
development projects that require approvals and/or permits issued under the Permittee's 
planning, building, or other comparable authority. The Post-Construction Requirements 
emphasize protecting and, where degraded, restoring key watershed processes to create and 
sustain linkages between hydrology, channel geomorphology, and biological health necessary 
for healthy watersheds. Maintenance and restoration of watershed processes impacted by 
stormwater management is necessary to protect water quality and beneficial uses. 

1) Regulated Projects 
Regulated Projects include all New Development or Redevelopment projects that create 
and/or replace ~2,500 square feet of impervious surface (collectively over the entire project 
site) 
a) Regulated Projects include, but are not limited to the following road projects/practices: 

i) Removing and replacing a paved surface resulting in alteration of the original line 
and grade, hydraulic capacity or overall footprint of the road 

ii) Extending the pavement edge, or paving graveled shoulders 
iii) Resurfacing by upgrading from dirt to asphalt, or concrete; upgrading from gravel to 

asphalt, or concrete; or upgrading from a bituminous surface treatment ("chip seal ") 
to asphalt or concrete 

b) Regulated Projects do not include: 
i) Road and Parking Lot maintenance: 

(1) Road surface repair including slurry sealing, fog sealing, and pothole and square 
cut patching 

(2) Overlaying existing asphalt or concrete pavement with asphalt or concrete 
without expanding the area of coverage 

(3) Shoulder grading 
(4) Cleaning, repairing, maintaining, reshaping, or regrading drainage systems 



Resolution No. R3-2012-0025 
-2 

(5) Crack sealing 
(6) Resurfacing with in-kind material without expanding the road or parking lot 
(7) Practices to maintain original line and grade, hydraulic capacity, and overall 

footprint of the road or parking lot 
(8) Repair or reconstruction of the road because of slope failures, natural disasters, 

acts of God or other man-made disaster 
ii) Sidewalk and bicycle path or lane projects, where no other impervious surfaces are 

created or replaced, built to direct stormwater runoff to adjacent vegetated areas 
iii) Trails and pathways, where no other impervious surfaces are replaced or created, 

and built to direct stormwater runoff to adjacent vegetated areas 
iv) Underground utility projects that replace the ground surface with in-kind material or 

materials with similar runoff characteristics 
v) Curb and gutter improvement or replacement projects that are not part of any 

additional creation or replacement of impervious surface area (e.g., sidewalks, 
roadway) 

vi) Second-story additions that do not increase the building footprint 
vii) Raised (not built directly on the ground) decks, stairs, or walkways designed with 

spaces to allow for water drainage 
viii) Photovoltaic systems installed on/over existing roof or other impervious surfaces, 

and panels located over pervious surfaces with well-maintained grass or vegetated 
groundcover, or panel arrays with a buffer strip at the most down gradient row of 
panels 

ix) Temporary structures (in place for less than six months) 
x) Electrical and utility vaults, sewer and water lift stations, backflows and other utility 

devices 
xi) Above-ground fuel storage tanks and fuel farms with spill containment system 

c) For all New Development Regulated Projects: 
i) Site Design Measures shall be applied throughout the Regulated Project site 
ii) Water Quality Treatment, Runoff Retention, and Peak Management Performance 

Requirements, as applicable to the Regulated Project, shall apply to the Regulated 
Project's entire Equivalent Impervious Surface Area for the site (see Attachment E 
for how to calculate) 

d) For Redevelopment Regulated Projects: 
i) Site Design Measures shall be applied throughout the Regulated Project site 
ii) Water Quality Treatment and Runoff Retention Performance Requirements shall 

apply to the Regulated Project's entire Equivalent Impervious Surface Area for the 
site (see Attachment E for how to calculate) 

iii) Peak Management Performance Requirements shall apply only to the additional 
runoff generated by increased impervious surfaces on the Regulated Project site 

iv) Water Quality Treatment Performance Requirements shall apply to the runoff from 
existing, new, and replaced impervious surfaces on sites where runoff from existing 
impervious surfaces cannot be separated from runoff from new and replaced 
impervious surfaces 

e) The Permittee shall apply the Post-Construction Requirements, within 365 days of 
Central Coast Water Board approval of the Post-Construction Requirements, to all 
applicable Regulated Projects that require approvals and/or permits issued under the 
Permittee's planning, building, or other comparable authority. Applicable Regulated 
Projects include both private development requiring permits, and public projects: 
i) Private Development Projects 

-156-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 3.pdf

Resolution No. R3-2012-0025 
-2 

(5) Crack sealing 
(6) Resurfacing with in-kind material without expanding the road or parking lot 
(7) Practices to maintain original line and grade, hydraulic capacity, and overall 

footprint of the road or parking lot 
(8) Repair or reconstruction of the road because of slope failures, natural disasters, 

acts of God or other man-made disaster 
ii) Sidewalk and bicycle path or lane projects, where no other impervious surfaces are 

created or replaced, built to direct stormwater runoff to adjacent vegetated areas 
iii) Trails and pathways, where no other impervious surfaces are replaced or created, 

and built to direct stormwater runoff to adjacent vegetated areas 
iv) Underground utility projects that replace the ground surface with in-kind material or 

materials with similar runoff characteristics 
v) Curb and gutter improvement or replacement projects that are not part of any 

additional creation or replacement of impervious surface area (e.g., sidewalks, 
roadway) 

vi) Second-story additions that do not increase the building footprint 
vii) Raised (not built directly on the ground) decks, stairs, or walkways designed with 

spaces to allow for water drainage 
viii) Photovoltaic systems installed on/over existing roof or other impervious surfaces, 

and panels located over pervious surfaces with well-maintained grass or vegetated 
groundcover, or panel arrays with a buffer strip at the most down gradient row of 
panels 

ix) Temporary structures (in place for less than six months) 
x) Electrical and utility vaults, sewer and water lift stations, backflows and other utility 

devices 
xi) Above-ground fuel storage tanks and fuel farms with spill containment system 

c) For all New Development Regulated Projects: 
i) Site Design Measures shall be applied throughout the Regulated Project site 
ii) Water Quality Treatment, Runoff Retention, and Peak Management Performance 

Requirements, as applicable to the Regulated Project, shall apply to the Regulated 
Project's entire Equivalent Impervious Surface Area for the site (see Attachment E 
for how to calculate) 

d) For Redevelopment Regulated Projects: 
i) Site Design Measures shall be applied throughout the Regulated Project site 
ii) Water Quality Treatment and Runoff Retention Performance Requirements shall 

apply to the Regulated Project's entire Equivalent Impervious Surface Area for the 
site (see Attachment E for how to calculate) 

iii) Peak Management Performance Requirements shall apply only to the additional 
runoff generated by increased impervious surfaces on the Regulated Project site 

iv) Water Quality Treatment Performance Requirements shall apply to the runoff from 
existing, new, and replaced impervious surfaces on sites where runoff from existing 
impervious surfaces cannot be separated from runoff from new and replaced 
impervious surfaces 

e) The Permittee shall apply the Post-Construction Requirements, within 365 days of 
Central Coast Water Board approval of the Post-Construction Requirements, to all 
applicable Regulated Projects that require approvals and/or permits issued under the 
Permittee's planning, building, or other comparable authority. Applicable Regulated 
Projects include both private development requiring permits, and public projects: 
i) Private Development Projects 



Resolution No. R3-2012-002S 
-3 

(1) Discretionary Projects - The Permittee shall apply the Post-Construction 
Req uirements to those projects that have not received the first discretionary 
approval of project design. 

(2) Ministerial Projects - If the project is only subject to ministerial approval, the 
Permittee shall apply the Post-Construction Requirements to those projects that 
have not received any ministerial approvals. If the ministerial project receives 
multiple ministerial approvals, the Permittee shall apply the Post-Construction 
Requirements to the first ministerial approval. Ministerial approvals include, but 
are not limited to, building permits, site engineering improvements, and grading 
permits. 

ii) Public Development Projects 
(1) The Permittee shall develop and implement an equivalent approach, to the 

approach used for private development projects, to apply the Post-Construction 
Requirements to applicable public development projects, including applicable 
university development project 

iii) Exemptions - The Permittee may propose, to the Central Coast Water Board 
Executive Officer, a lesser application of the Post-Construction Requirements for 
projects with completed project applications dated prior to the Central Coast Water 
Board approval of the Post-Construction Requirements. The Permittee must 
demonstrate that the application of the Post-Construction Requirements would pose 
financial infeasibility for the project. The Permittee shall not grant any exemptions 
without prior approval from the Central Coast Water Board Executive Officer. 

2) Performance Requirement NO.1: Site Design and Runoff Reduction 
a) The Permittee shall require all Regulated Projects that create and/or replace ~ 2,500 

square feet of impervious surface (collectively over the entire project site), including 
detached single-family home projects, to implement at least the following design 
strategies: 
i) Limit disturbance of creeks and natural drainage features 
ii) Minimize compaction of highly permeable soils 
iii) Limit clearing and grading of native vegetation at the site to the minimum area 

needed to build the project, allow access, and provide fire protection 
iv) Minimize impervious surfaces by concentrating improvements on the least-sensitive 

portions of the site, while leaving the remaining land in a natural undisturbed state 
v) Minimize stormwater runoff by implementing one or more of the following site design 

measures: 
(1) Direct roof runoff into cisterns or rain barrels for reuse 
(2) Direct roof runoff onto vegetated areas safely away from building foundations 

and footings, consistent with California building code 
(3) Direct runoff from sidewalks, walkways, and/or patios onto vegetated areas 

safely away from building foundations and footings, consistent with California 
building code 

(4) Direct runoff from driveways and/or uncovered parking lots onto vegetated areas 
safely away from building foundations and footings, consistent with California 
building code 

(5) Construct bike lanes, driveways, uncovered parking lots, sidewalks, walkways, 
and patios with permeable surfaces 

b) The Permittee shall confirm that projects comply with Site Design and Runoff Reduction 
Performance Requirements by means of appropriate documentation (e.g., check lists) 
accompanying applications for project approval. 

-157-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 3.pdf

Resolution No. R3-2012-002S 
-3 

(1) Discretionary Projects - The Permittee shall apply the Post-Construction 
Req uirements to those projects that have not received the first discretionary 
approval of project design. 

(2) Ministerial Projects - If the project is only subject to ministerial approval, the 
Permittee shall apply the Post-Construction Requirements to those projects that 
have not received any ministerial approvals. If the ministerial project receives 
multiple ministerial approvals, the Permittee shall apply the Post-Construction 
Requirements to the first ministerial approval. Ministerial approvals include, but 
are not limited to, building permits, site engineering improvements, and grading 
permits. 

ii) Public Development Projects 
(1) The Permittee shall develop and implement an equivalent approach, to the 

approach used for private development projects, to apply the Post-Construction 
Requirements to applicable public development projects, including applicable 
university development project 

iii) Exemptions - The Permittee may propose, to the Central Coast Water Board 
Executive Officer, a lesser application of the Post-Construction Requirements for 
projects with completed project applications dated prior to the Central Coast Water 
Board approval of the Post-Construction Requirements. The Permittee must 
demonstrate that the application of the Post-Construction Requirements would pose 
financial infeasibility for the project. The Permittee shall not grant any exemptions 
without prior approval from the Central Coast Water Board Executive Officer. 

2) Performance Requirement NO.1: Site Design and Runoff Reduction 
a) The Permittee shall require all Regulated Projects that create and/or replace ~ 2,500 

square feet of impervious surface (collectively over the entire project site), including 
detached single-family home projects, to implement at least the following design 
strategies: 
i) Limit disturbance of creeks and natural drainage features 
ii) Minimize compaction of highly permeable soils 
iii) Limit clearing and grading of native vegetation at the site to the minimum area 

needed to build the project, allow access, and provide fire protection 
iv) Minimize impervious surfaces by concentrating improvements on the least-sensitive 

portions of the site, while leaving the remaining land in a natural undisturbed state 
v) Minimize stormwater runoff by implementing one or more of the following site design 

measures: 
(1) Direct roof runoff into cisterns or rain barrels for reuse 
(2) Direct roof runoff onto vegetated areas safely away from building foundations 

and footings, consistent with California building code 
(3) Direct runoff from sidewalks, walkways, and/or patios onto vegetated areas 

safely away from building foundations and footings, consistent with California 
building code 

(4) Direct runoff from driveways and/or uncovered parking lots onto vegetated areas 
safely away from building foundations and footings, consistent with California 
building code 

(5) Construct bike lanes, driveways, uncovered parking lots, sidewalks, walkways, 
and patios with permeable surfaces 

b) The Permittee shall confirm that projects comply with Site Design and Runoff Reduction 
Performance Requirements by means of appropriate documentation (e.g., check lists) 
accompanying applications for project approval. 



Resolution No. R3-2012-002S 
-4 

3) Performance Requirement NO.2: Water Quality Treatment 
a) The Permittee shall require Regulated Projects, except detached single-family homes, ::: 

5,000 square feet of Net Impervious Area, and detached single-family homes::: 15,000 
square feet of Net Impervious Area, to treat stormwater runoff as required in the Water 
Quality Treatment Performance Requirements in Section B.3.b. to reduce pollutant loads 
and concentrations using physical, biological, and chemical removal. 
i) Net Impervious Area is the total (including new and replaced) post-project impervious 

areas, minus any reduction in total imperviousness from the pre-project to post
project condition: Net Impervious Area = (New and Replaced Impervious Area) -
(Reduced Impervious Area Credit), where Reduced Impervious Area Credit is the 
total pre-project to post-project reduction in impervious area, if any. 

b) The Permittee shall require each Regulated Project subject to Water Quality Treatment 
Performance Requirements to treat runoff using the onsite measures below, listed in the 
order of preference (highest to lowest): 
i) Low Impact Development (LID) Treatment Systems -Implement harvesting and use, 

infiltration, and evapotranspiration Stormwater Control Measures that collectively 
achieve the following hydraulic sizing criteria for LID systems: 
(1) Hydraulic Sizing Criteria for LID Treatment Systems - LID systems shall be 

designed to retain stormwater runoff equal to the volume of runoff generated by 
the 85th percentile 24-hour storm event, based on local rainfall data. 

ii) Biofiltration Treatment Systems - Implement biofiltration treatment systems using 
facilities that must be demonstrated to be at least as effective as a biofiltration 
treatment system with the following design parameters: 
(1) Maximum surface loading rate appropriate to prevent erosion, scour and 

channeling within the biofiltration treatment system itself and equal to 5 inches 
per hour, based on the flow of runoff produced from a rain event equal to or at 
least: 
(a) 0.2 inches per hour intensity; or 
(b) Two times the 85th percentile hourly rainfall intensity for the applicable area, 

based on historical records of hourly rainfall depth 
(2) Minimum surface reservoir volume equal to the biofiltration treatment system 

surface area times a depth of 6 inches 
(3) Minimum planting medium depth of 24 inches. The planting medium must sustain 

a minimum infiltration rate of 5 inches per hour throughout the life of the project 
and must maximize runoff retention and pollutant removal. A mixture of sand 
(60%-70%) meeting the specifications of American Society for Testing and 
Materials (ASTM) C33 and compost (30%-40%) may be used. A Regulated 
Project may utilize an alternative planting medium if it demonstrates its planting 
medium is equal to or more effective at attenuating pollutants than the specified 
planting medium mixture. 

(4) Proper plant selection 1 

(5) Subsurface drainage/storage (gravel) layer with an area equal to the biofiltration 
treatment system surface area and having a minimum depth of 12 inches 

(6) Underdrain with discharge elevation at top of gravel layer 
(7) No compaction of soils beneath the biofiltration facility (ripping/loosening of soils 

required if compacted) 

1 Technical guidance for designing bioretention facilities is available from the Central Coast LID Initiative. 
The guidance includes design specifications and plant lists appropriate for the Central Coast climate. 
(http://www.centralcoastlidLorg/Central_Coast_LlDI/LlD_Structural_BMPs.html) 

-158-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 3.pdf

Resolution No. R3-2012-002S 
-4 

3) Performance Requirement NO.2: Water Quality Treatment 
a) The Permittee shall require Regulated Projects, except detached single-family homes, ::: 

5,000 square feet of Net Impervious Area, and detached single-family homes::: 15,000 
square feet of Net Impervious Area, to treat stormwater runoff as required in the Water 
Quality Treatment Performance Requirements in Section B.3.b. to reduce pollutant loads 
and concentrations using physical, biological, and chemical removal. 
i) Net Impervious Area is the total (including new and replaced) post-project impervious 

areas, minus any reduction in total imperviousness from the pre-project to post
project condition: Net Impervious Area = (New and Replaced Impervious Area) -
(Reduced Impervious Area Credit), where Reduced Impervious Area Credit is the 
total pre-project to post-project reduction in impervious area, if any. 

b) The Permittee shall require each Regulated Project subject to Water Quality Treatment 
Performance Requirements to treat runoff using the onsite measures below, listed in the 
order of preference (highest to lowest): 
i) Low Impact Development (LID) Treatment Systems -Implement harvesting and use, 

infiltration, and evapotranspiration Stormwater Control Measures that collectively 
achieve the following hydraulic sizing criteria for LID systems: 
(1) Hydraulic Sizing Criteria for LID Treatment Systems - LID systems shall be 

designed to retain stormwater runoff equal to the volume of runoff generated by 
the 85th percentile 24-hour storm event, based on local rainfall data. 

ii) Biofiltration Treatment Systems - Implement biofiltration treatment systems using 
facilities that must be demonstrated to be at least as effective as a biofiltration 
treatment system with the following design parameters: 
(1) Maximum surface loading rate appropriate to prevent erosion, scour and 

channeling within the biofiltration treatment system itself and equal to 5 inches 
per hour, based on the flow of runoff produced from a rain event equal to or at 
least: 
(a) 0.2 inches per hour intensity; or 
(b) Two times the 85th percentile hourly rainfall intensity for the applicable area, 

based on historical records of hourly rainfall depth 
(2) Minimum surface reservoir volume equal to the biofiltration treatment system 

surface area times a depth of 6 inches 
(3) Minimum planting medium depth of 24 inches. The planting medium must sustain 

a minimum infiltration rate of 5 inches per hour throughout the life of the project 
and must maximize runoff retention and pollutant removal. A mixture of sand 
(60%-70%) meeting the specifications of American Society for Testing and 
Materials (ASTM) C33 and compost (30%-40%) may be used. A Regulated 
Project may utilize an alternative planting medium if it demonstrates its planting 
medium is equal to or more effective at attenuating pollutants than the specified 
planting medium mixture. 

(4) Proper plant selection 1 

(5) Subsurface drainage/storage (gravel) layer with an area equal to the biofiltration 
treatment system surface area and having a minimum depth of 12 inches 

(6) Underdrain with discharge elevation at top of gravel layer 
(7) No compaction of soils beneath the biofiltration facility (ripping/loosening of soils 

required if compacted) 

1 Technical guidance for designing bioretention facilities is available from the Central Coast LID Initiative. 
The guidance includes design specifications and plant lists appropriate for the Central Coast climate. 
(http://www.centralcoastlidLorg/Central_Coast_LlDI/LlD_Structural_BMPs.html) 



Resolution No. R3-2012-0025 
-5 

(8) No liners or other barriers interfering with infiltration, except for situations where 
lateral infiltration is not technically feasible. 

iii) Non-Retention Based Treatment Systems ~ Implement Stormwater Control 
Measures that co"ectively achieve at least one of the following hydraulic sizing 
criteria for non-retention based treatment systems: 
(1) Hydraulic Sizing Criteria for Non-Retention Based Treatment Systems: 

(a) Volume Hydraulic Design Basis - Treatment systems whose primary mode of 
action depends on volume capacity shall be designed to treat stormwater 
runoff equal to the volume of runoff generated by the 85th percentile 24-hour 
storm event, based on local rainfall data. 

(b) Flow Hydraulic Design Basis - Treatment systems whose primary mode of 
action depends on flow capacity shall be sized to treat: 
(i) The flow of runoff produced by a rain event equal to at least two times the 

85th percentile hourly rainfall intensity for the applicable area, based on 
historical records of hourly rainfall depths; or 

Oi) The flow of runoff resulting from a rain event equal to at least 0.2 inches· 
per hour intensity. 

c) Stormwater Control Plan Requirements - For each Regulated Project subject to the 
Water Quality Treatment Performance Requirement, the Permittee shall require the 
Project Applicant to provide the below information in a Stormwater Control Plan. The 
Permittee shall not grant final project approval, until the Stormwater Control Plan for the 
Regulated Project sufficiently demonstrates the Regulated Project design meets the 
Water Quality Treatment Performance Requirements. 
i) Project name, application number, location including address and assessor's 

parcel number 
ii) Name of Applicant 
iii) Project Phase number (if project is being constructed in phases) 
iv) Project Type (e.g., commercial, industrial, multi-unit residential, mixed-use, public), 

and description 
v) Total project site area 
vi) Total new impervious surface area, total replaced impervious surface area, total 

new pervious area, and calculation of Net Impervious Area 
vii) Statement of Water Quality Treatment Performance Requirements that apply to the 

Project 
viii) Summary of Site Design and Runoff Reduction Performance Requirement 

measures selected for the project 
ix) Description of a" post-construction structural Stormwater Control Measures 
x) Supporting calculations used to comply with the applicable Water Quality 

Treatment Performance Requirements 
xi) Documentation certifying that the selection, sizing, and design of the Stormwater 

Control Measures meet the full or partial Water Quality Treatment Performance 
Requirement 

xii) Water quality treatment calculations used to comply with Water Quality Treatment 
Performance Requirement and any analysis to support infeasibility determination 

xiii) Statement of Compliance: 
(1) Statement that Water Quality Treatment Performance Requirement has been 

met on-site, or, if not achievable: 
(a) Documentation of the volume of runoff for which compliance cannot be 

achieved on-site and the associated off-site compliance requirements. 
(b) Statement of intent to comply with Water Quality Treatment Performance 

Requirement through Alternative Compliance 

-159-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 3.pdf

Resolution No. R3-2012-0025 
-5 

(8) No liners or other barriers interfering with infiltration, except for situations where 
lateral infiltration is not technically feasible. 

iii) Non-Retention Based Treatment Systems ~ Implement Stormwater Control 
Measures that co"ectively achieve at least one of the following hydraulic sizing 
criteria for non-retention based treatment systems: 
(1) Hydraulic Sizing Criteria for Non-Retention Based Treatment Systems: 

(a) Volume Hydraulic Design Basis - Treatment systems whose primary mode of 
action depends on volume capacity shall be designed to treat stormwater 
runoff equal to the volume of runoff generated by the 85th percentile 24-hour 
storm event, based on local rainfall data. 

(b) Flow Hydraulic Design Basis - Treatment systems whose primary mode of 
action depends on flow capacity shall be sized to treat: 
(i) The flow of runoff produced by a rain event equal to at least two times the 

85th percentile hourly rainfall intensity for the applicable area, based on 
historical records of hourly rainfall depths; or 

Oi) The flow of runoff resulting from a rain event equal to at least 0.2 inches· 
per hour intensity. 

c) Stormwater Control Plan Requirements - For each Regulated Project subject to the 
Water Quality Treatment Performance Requirement, the Permittee shall require the 
Project Applicant to provide the below information in a Stormwater Control Plan. The 
Permittee shall not grant final project approval, until the Stormwater Control Plan for the 
Regulated Project sufficiently demonstrates the Regulated Project design meets the 
Water Quality Treatment Performance Requirements. 
i) Project name, application number, location including address and assessor's 

parcel number 
ii) Name of Applicant 
iii) Project Phase number (if project is being constructed in phases) 
iv) Project Type (e.g., commercial, industrial, multi-unit residential, mixed-use, public), 

and description 
v) Total project site area 
vi) Total new impervious surface area, total replaced impervious surface area, total 

new pervious area, and calculation of Net Impervious Area 
vii) Statement of Water Quality Treatment Performance Requirements that apply to the 

Project 
viii) Summary of Site Design and Runoff Reduction Performance Requirement 

measures selected for the project 
ix) Description of a" post-construction structural Stormwater Control Measures 
x) Supporting calculations used to comply with the applicable Water Quality 

Treatment Performance Requirements 
xi) Documentation certifying that the selection, sizing, and design of the Stormwater 

Control Measures meet the full or partial Water Quality Treatment Performance 
Requirement 

xii) Water quality treatment calculations used to comply with Water Quality Treatment 
Performance Requirement and any analysis to support infeasibility determination 

xiii) Statement of Compliance: 
(1) Statement that Water Quality Treatment Performance Requirement has been 

met on-site, or, if not achievable: 
(a) Documentation of the volume of runoff for which compliance cannot be 

achieved on-site and the associated off-site compliance requirements. 
(b) Statement of intent to comply with Water Quality Treatment Performance 

Requirement through Alternative Compliance 



Resolution No. R3-2012-0025 
-6 

4) Performance Requirement NO.3: Runoff Retention 
a) The Permittee shall require Regulated Projects, except detached single-family homes, 

that create and/or replace ~15,OOO square feet of impervious surface (collectively over 
the entire project site), and detached single-family homes.::: 15,000 square feet of Net 
Impervious Area, in WMZs 1, 2, 5, 6, 8 and 9, and those portions of WMZs 4, 7, and 10 
that overlie designated Groundwater Basins (Attachment B) to meet the Runoff 
Retention Performance Requirements in Sections BA.b. and BA.c. using the LID 
Development Standards in Section B.4.d. for optimal management of watershed 
processes. 

b) Adjustments to the Runoff Retention Performance Requirements for Redevelopment -
Where the Regulated Project includes replaced impervious surface, the below 
adjustments apply. These adjustments are accounted for in the Tributary Area 
calculation in Attachment D. 
i) Redevelopment Projects outside an approved Urban Sustainability Area, as 

described in Section C.3. - The total amount of replaced impervious surface shall be 
multiplied by 0.5 when calculating the volume of runoff subject to Runoff Retention 
Performance Requirements. 

ii) Redevelopment Projects located within an approved Urban Sustainability Area 
(Section C.3.) - The total amount of runoff volume to be retained from replaced 
impervious surfaces shall be equivalent to the pre-project runoff volume retained. 

c) The Permittee shall require Regulated Projects, subject to the Runoff Retention 
Performance Requirements, to meet the following Performance Requirements: 
i) Watershed Management Zone 1 and portions of Watershed Management Zones 4, 

7 and 10 which overlie designated Groundwater Basins: 
(1) Retain 95th Percentile Rainfall Event - Prevent offsite discharge from events up 

to the 95 th percentile 24-hour rainfall event as determined from local rainfall 
data.2 

(2) Compliance must be achieved via infiltration 
ii) Watershed Management Zone 2: 

(1) Retain 95th Percentile Rainfall Event - Prevent offsite discharge from events up 
to the 95th percentile 24-hour rainfall event as determined from local rainfall data. 

(2) Compliance must be achieved via storage, rainwater harvesting, infiltration, 
and/or evapotranspiration. 

iii) Watershed Management Zones 5 and 8: 
(1) Retain 85th Percentile Rainfall Event - Prevent offsite discharge from events up 

to the 85 th percentile 24-hour rainfall event as determined from local rainfall data. 
(2) Compliance must be achieved via infiltration. 

iv) Watershed Management Zones 6 and 9: 
(1) Retain 85th Percentile Rainfall Event - Prevent offsite discharge from events up 

to the 85th percentile 24-hour rainfall event as determined from local rainfall data. 
(2) Compliance must be achieved via storage, rainwater harvesting, infiltration, 

and/or evapotranspiration. 
d). LID Development Standards - The Permittee shall require Regulated Projects, subject to 

Runoff Retention Performance Requirements, to meet Runoff Retention Performance 

2 Use either the methodology provided in Part I.D of the December 2009 Technical Guidance on 
Implementing the Storm water Runoff Requirements for Federal Projects under Section 438 of the Energy 
Independence and Security Act, or, rainfall statistics provided by the Central Coast Water Board, 
whichever produces a more accurate value for rainfall depth. 

-160-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 3.pdf

Resolution No. R3-2012-0025 
-6 

4) Performance Requirement NO.3: Runoff Retention 
a) The Permittee shall require Regulated Projects, except detached single-family homes, 

that create and/or replace ~15,OOO square feet of impervious surface (collectively over 
the entire project site), and detached single-family homes.::: 15,000 square feet of Net 
Impervious Area, in WMZs 1, 2, 5, 6, 8 and 9, and those portions of WMZs 4, 7, and 10 
that overlie designated Groundwater Basins (Attachment B) to meet the Runoff 
Retention Performance Requirements in Sections BA.b. and BA.c. using the LID 
Development Standards in Section B.4.d. for optimal management of watershed 
processes. 

b) Adjustments to the Runoff Retention Performance Requirements for Redevelopment -
Where the Regulated Project includes replaced impervious surface, the below 
adjustments apply. These adjustments are accounted for in the Tributary Area 
calculation in Attachment D. 
i) Redevelopment Projects outside an approved Urban Sustainability Area, as 

described in Section C.3. - The total amount of replaced impervious surface shall be 
multiplied by 0.5 when calculating the volume of runoff subject to Runoff Retention 
Performance Requirements. 

ii) Redevelopment Projects located within an approved Urban Sustainability Area 
(Section C.3.) - The total amount of runoff volume to be retained from replaced 
impervious surfaces shall be equivalent to the pre-project runoff volume retained. 

c) The Permittee shall require Regulated Projects, subject to the Runoff Retention 
Performance Requirements, to meet the following Performance Requirements: 
i) Watershed Management Zone 1 and portions of Watershed Management Zones 4, 

7 and 10 which overlie designated Groundwater Basins: 
(1) Retain 95th Percentile Rainfall Event - Prevent offsite discharge from events up 

to the 95 th percentile 24-hour rainfall event as determined from local rainfall 
data.2 

(2) Compliance must be achieved via infiltration 
ii) Watershed Management Zone 2: 

(1) Retain 95th Percentile Rainfall Event - Prevent offsite discharge from events up 
to the 95th percentile 24-hour rainfall event as determined from local rainfall data. 

(2) Compliance must be achieved via storage, rainwater harvesting, infiltration, 
and/or evapotranspiration. 

iii) Watershed Management Zones 5 and 8: 
(1) Retain 85th Percentile Rainfall Event - Prevent offsite discharge from events up 

to the 85 th percentile 24-hour rainfall event as determined from local rainfall data. 
(2) Compliance must be achieved via infiltration. 

iv) Watershed Management Zones 6 and 9: 
(1) Retain 85th Percentile Rainfall Event - Prevent offsite discharge from events up 

to the 85th percentile 24-hour rainfall event as determined from local rainfall data. 
(2) Compliance must be achieved via storage, rainwater harvesting, infiltration, 

and/or evapotranspiration. 
d). LID Development Standards - The Permittee shall require Regulated Projects, subject to 

Runoff Retention Performance Requirements, to meet Runoff Retention Performance 

2 Use either the methodology provided in Part I.D of the December 2009 Technical Guidance on 
Implementing the Storm water Runoff Requirements for Federal Projects under Section 438 of the Energy 
Independence and Security Act, or, rainfall statistics provided by the Central Coast Water Board, 
whichever produces a more accurate value for rainfall depth. 



Resolution No. R3-2012-0025 
-7 

Requirements (Sections SA.b. and SA.c.) using the following LID Development 
Standards: 
i) Site Assessment Measures - Permittees shall require the applicant for each 

Regulated Project to identify opportunities and constraints to implement LID 
Stormwater Control Measures. Permittees shall require the applicant to document 
the following, as appropriate to the development site: 
• Site topography 
• Hydrologic features including contiguous natural areas, wetlands, watercourses, 

seeps, or springs 
• Depth to seasonal high groundwater 
• Locations of groundwater wells used for drinking water 
• Depth to an impervious layer such as bedrock 
• Presence of unique geology (e.g., karst) 
• Geotechnical hazards 
• Documented soil and/or groundwater contamination 
• Soil types and hydrologic soil groups 
• Vegetative cover/trees 
• Run-on characteristics (source and estimated runoff from offsite which discharges 

to the project area) 
• Existing drainage infrastructure for the site and nearby areas including the 

location of municipal storm drains 
• Structures including retaining .walls 
• Utilities 
• Easements 
• Covenants 
• Zoning/Land Use 
• Setbacks 
• Open space requirements 
• Other pertinent overlay( s) 

ii) Site Design Measures - Permittees shall require the applicant for each Regulated 
Project to optimize the use of LID site design measures, as feasible and appropriate 
at the project site. Regulated Projects subject to Performance Requirement NO.3 
must augment design strategies required by Performance Requirement No. 1 
(Section S.2.a.i-v) with the following: 

• Define the development envelope and protected areas, identifying areas that are 
most suitable for development and areas to be left undisturbed 

• Conserve natural areas, including existing trees, other vegetation, and soils 
.• Limit the overall impervious footprint of the project 
• Construct streets, sidewalks, or parking lot aisles to the minimum widths 

necessary, provided that public safety or mobility uses are not compromised 
• Set back development from creeks, wetlands, and riparian habitats 
• Conform the site layout along natural landforms 
• Avoid excessive grading and disturbance of vegetation and soils 

iii) Delineation of discrete Drainage Management Areas (DMAs) - The Permittee shall 
require each Regulated Project to delineate DMAs to support a decentralized 
approach to stormwater management. 
(1) The Permittee shall require the applicant for each Regulated Project to provide a 

map or diagram dividing the entire project site into discrete DMAs 

-161-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 3.pdf

Resolution No. R3-2012-0025 
-7 

Requirements (Sections SA.b. and SA.c.) using the following LID Development 
Standards: 
i) Site Assessment Measures - Permittees shall require the applicant for each 

Regulated Project to identify opportunities and constraints to implement LID 
Stormwater Control Measures. Permittees shall require the applicant to document 
the following, as appropriate to the development site: 
• Site topography 
• Hydrologic features including contiguous natural areas, wetlands, watercourses, 

seeps, or springs 
• Depth to seasonal high groundwater 
• Locations of groundwater wells used for drinking water 
• Depth to an impervious layer such as bedrock 
• Presence of unique geology (e.g., karst) 
• Geotechnical hazards 
• Documented soil and/or groundwater contamination 
• Soil types and hydrologic soil groups 
• Vegetative cover/trees 
• Run-on characteristics (source and estimated runoff from offsite which discharges 

to the project area) 
• Existing drainage infrastructure for the site and nearby areas including the 

location of municipal storm drains 
• Structures including retaining .walls 
• Utilities 
• Easements 
• Covenants 
• Zoning/Land Use 
• Setbacks 
• Open space requirements 
• Other pertinent overlay( s) 

ii) Site Design Measures - Permittees shall require the applicant for each Regulated 
Project to optimize the use of LID site design measures, as feasible and appropriate 
at the project site. Regulated Projects subject to Performance Requirement NO.3 
must augment design strategies required by Performance Requirement No. 1 
(Section S.2.a.i-v) with the following: 

• Define the development envelope and protected areas, identifying areas that are 
most suitable for development and areas to be left undisturbed 

• Conserve natural areas, including existing trees, other vegetation, and soils 
.• Limit the overall impervious footprint of the project 
• Construct streets, sidewalks, or parking lot aisles to the minimum widths 

necessary, provided that public safety or mobility uses are not compromised 
• Set back development from creeks, wetlands, and riparian habitats 
• Conform the site layout along natural landforms 
• Avoid excessive grading and disturbance of vegetation and soils 

iii) Delineation of discrete Drainage Management Areas (DMAs) - The Permittee shall 
require each Regulated Project to delineate DMAs to support a decentralized 
approach to stormwater management. 
(1) The Permittee shall require the applicant for each Regulated Project to provide a 

map or diagram dividing the entire project site into discrete DMAs 



Resolution No. R3-2012-0025 
-8 

(2) The Permittee shall require the applicant for each Regulated Project to account 
for the drainage from each DMA using measures identified in Sections BA.d.iv. 
and BA.d.v., below. 

iv) Undisturbed and Natural Landscape Areas - Permittees shall require each 
Regulated Project to implement appropriate Site Design (Section BA.d.iL), and 
Runoff Reduction Measures in Performance Requirement No.1, to reduce the 
amount of runoff for which retention and treatment is required. Runoff reduction 
measures that can be used to account for this reduction also include the below 
measures. The Tributary Area calculation in Attachment D accounts for these 
reductions. 
(1) Undisturbed or areas planted with native vegetation that do not receive runoff 

from other areas may be considered self-treating and no additional stormwater 
management is required. 

(2) Runoff from impervious surfaces, generated by the rainfall events identified in 
Section BA.c, may be directed to undisturbed or natural landscaped areas. 
When the applicant can demonstrate that this runoff will be infiltrated and will not 
produce runoff to the storm drain system, or a surface receiving waterbody, or 
create nuisance ponding that may affect vegetation health or contribute to vector 
problems, then no additional stormwater management i$ required for these 
impervious surfaces. 

v) Structural Stormwater Control Measures - Where Regulated Project Applicants have 
demonstrated in their Stormwater Control Plans, and the Permittee has confirmed, 
that further use of Site Design measures listed in Section BA.d.iL, Runoff Reduction 
measures listed in Performance Requirement No.1, and undisturbed and natural 
landscape areas discussed in Section BA.d.iv. is technically infeasible, Structural 
Stormwater Control Measures designed for water quality treatment and/or flow 
control shall be used to comply with Performance Require~ent No.3. 
(1) The Permittee shall require the Regulated Project applicant to use structural 

Stormwater Control Measures that optimize retention and result in optimal 
protection and restoration of watershed processes, such as Structural Control 
Measures associated with small-scale, decentralized facilities designed to 
infiltrate evapotranspirate, filter, or capture and use stormwater. Where 
Regulated Project Applicants have demonstrated in their Stormwater Control 
Plans, and the Permittee has confirmed, that retention-based Stormwater Control 
Measures are technically infeasible, other non-retention-based Stormwater 
Control Measures are permissible (see Attachment D for information about using 
non-retention-based Stormwater Control Measures). 

vi) Hydrologic Analysis and Structural Stormwater Control Measure Sizing - To 
determine Stormwater Control Measure sizing and design, Permittees shall require 
Regulated Project applicants to use the hydrologic analysis and sizing methods as 
outlined in Attachment D, or a locally/regionally calibrated continuous simulation 
model that results in equivalent optimization of on-site runoff volume retention. 

e) Off-Site Mitigation - Off-site mitigation of full Retention Volume per Section BA.d.vL is 
not required where technical infeasibility as described in Section C.1.c. limits on-site 

-162-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 3.pdf

Resolution No. R3-2012-0025 
-8 

(2) The Permittee shall require the applicant for each Regulated Project to account 
for the drainage from each DMA using measures identified in Sections BA.d.iv. 
and BA.d.v., below. 

iv) Undisturbed and Natural Landscape Areas - Permittees shall require each 
Regulated Project to implement appropriate Site Design (Section BA.d.iL), and 
Runoff Reduction Measures in Performance Requirement No.1, to reduce the 
amount of runoff for which retention and treatment is required. Runoff reduction 
measures that can be used to account for this reduction also include the below 
measures. The Tributary Area calculation in Attachment D accounts for these 
reductions. 
(1) Undisturbed or areas planted with native vegetation that do not receive runoff 

from other areas may be considered self-treating and no additional stormwater 
management is required. 

(2) Runoff from impervious surfaces, generated by the rainfall events identified in 
Section BA.c, may be directed to undisturbed or natural landscaped areas. 
When the applicant can demonstrate that this runoff will be infiltrated and will not 
produce runoff to the storm drain system, or a surface receiving waterbody, or 
create nuisance ponding that may affect vegetation health or contribute to vector 
problems, then no additional stormwater management i$ required for these 
impervious surfaces. 

v) Structural Stormwater Control Measures - Where Regulated Project Applicants have 
demonstrated in their Stormwater Control Plans, and the Permittee has confirmed, 
that further use of Site Design measures listed in Section BA.d.iL, Runoff Reduction 
measures listed in Performance Requirement No.1, and undisturbed and natural 
landscape areas discussed in Section BA.d.iv. is technically infeasible, Structural 
Stormwater Control Measures designed for water quality treatment and/or flow 
control shall be used to comply with Performance Require~ent No.3. 
(1) The Permittee shall require the Regulated Project applicant to use structural 

Stormwater Control Measures that optimize retention and result in optimal 
protection and restoration of watershed processes, such as Structural Control 
Measures associated with small-scale, decentralized facilities designed to 
infiltrate evapotranspirate, filter, or capture and use stormwater. Where 
Regulated Project Applicants have demonstrated in their Stormwater Control 
Plans, and the Permittee has confirmed, that retention-based Stormwater Control 
Measures are technically infeasible, other non-retention-based Stormwater 
Control Measures are permissible (see Attachment D for information about using 
non-retention-based Stormwater Control Measures). 

vi) Hydrologic Analysis and Structural Stormwater Control Measure Sizing - To 
determine Stormwater Control Measure sizing and design, Permittees shall require 
Regulated Project applicants to use the hydrologic analysis and sizing methods as 
outlined in Attachment D, or a locally/regionally calibrated continuous simulation 
model that results in equivalent optimization of on-site runoff volume retention. 

e) Off-Site Mitigation - Off-site mitigation of full Retention Volume per Section BA.d.vL is 
not required where technical infeasibility as described in Section C.1.c. limits on-site 



Resolution No. R3-2012-0025 
-9 

compliance with the Runoff Retention Performance Requirement AND ten percent of a 
project's Equivalent Impervious Surface Area3 has been dedicated to retention-based 
Stormwater Control Measures. The Water Quality Treatment Performance Requirement 
is not subject to this adjustment, i.e., mitigation to achieve full compliance with the Water 
Quality Treatment Performance Requirement is required on- or off-site. 
i) Use the Attachment E instructions to calculate the ten percent adjustment for 

applying the Runoff Retention Performance Requirement. 
ii) Use the Attachment F instructions to calculate the Off-Site retention requirements 

when a .Regulated Project subject to the Runoff Retention Performance Requirement 
cannot allocate the full ten percent of the project site's Equivalent Impervious 
Surface Area to retention-based Stormwater Control Measures. 

f) Reporting Requirements - For each Regulated Project subject to the Runoff Retention 
Performance Requirement, the Permittee- shall require the Project Applicant to provide 
the below information in a Stormwater Control Plan. The Permittee shall not grant final 
project approval, until the Stormwater Control Plan for the Regulated Project sufficiently 
demonstrates the Regulated Project design meets the Water Quality Treatment and 
Runoff Retention Performance Requirements. 
i) Project Name, application number, and location including address and assessor's 

parcel number 
ii) Name of Applicant 
iii) Project Phase number (if project is being constructed in phases) 
iv) Project Type (e.g., commercial, industrial, multiunit residential, mixed-use, public), 

and description 
v) Total project site area 
vi) Total new and/or replaced impervious surface area 
vii) Statement of Water Quality Treatment and Runoff Retention Performance 

Requirements that apply to the Project 
viii) Adjusted Requirements based on the local jurisdiction's approval, that the Project 

is allowed a Special Circumstance, Watershed or Regional Plan, or Urban 
Sustainability Area designation 

ix) Site assessment summary 
x) LID Measures used: 

(1) Site design measures 
(2) Runoff Reduction Measures 
(3) Post-construction structural Stormwater Control Measures 

xi) Summary of Runoff Reduction Measures and Structural Stormwater Control 
Measures, by Drainage Management Area, as well as for the entire site 

xii) Supporting calculations used to comply with the applicable Water Quality 
Treatment and Runoff Retention Performance Requirements 

xiii) Documentation demonstrating infeasibility where Site Design and Runoff 
Reduction measures cannot retain required runoff volume 

xiv) Documentation demonstrating infeasibility where retention-based Stormwater 
Control Measures cannot retain and/or treat the required runoff volume 

xv) Documentation demonstrating infeasibility where on-site compliance cannot be 
achieved 

xvi) Documentation demonstrating percentage of the project's Equivalent Impervious 
Surface Area dedicated to retention-based Stormwater Control Measures 

3 Calculate Equivalent Impervious Surface Area using guidance in Attachment E 

-163-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 3.pdf

Resolution No. R3-2012-0025 
-9 

compliance with the Runoff Retention Performance Requirement AND ten percent of a 
project's Equivalent Impervious Surface Area3 has been dedicated to retention-based 
Stormwater Control Measures. The Water Quality Treatment Performance Requirement 
is not subject to this adjustment, i.e., mitigation to achieve full compliance with the Water 
Quality Treatment Performance Requirement is required on- or off-site. 
i) Use the Attachment E instructions to calculate the ten percent adjustment for 

applying the Runoff Retention Performance Requirement. 
ii) Use the Attachment F instructions to calculate the Off-Site retention requirements 

when a .Regulated Project subject to the Runoff Retention Performance Requirement 
cannot allocate the full ten percent of the project site's Equivalent Impervious 
Surface Area to retention-based Stormwater Control Measures. 

f) Reporting Requirements - For each Regulated Project subject to the Runoff Retention 
Performance Requirement, the Permittee- shall require the Project Applicant to provide 
the below information in a Stormwater Control Plan. The Permittee shall not grant final 
project approval, until the Stormwater Control Plan for the Regulated Project sufficiently 
demonstrates the Regulated Project design meets the Water Quality Treatment and 
Runoff Retention Performance Requirements. 
i) Project Name, application number, and location including address and assessor's 

parcel number 
ii) Name of Applicant 
iii) Project Phase number (if project is being constructed in phases) 
iv) Project Type (e.g., commercial, industrial, multiunit residential, mixed-use, public), 

and description 
v) Total project site area 
vi) Total new and/or replaced impervious surface area 
vii) Statement of Water Quality Treatment and Runoff Retention Performance 

Requirements that apply to the Project 
viii) Adjusted Requirements based on the local jurisdiction's approval, that the Project 

is allowed a Special Circumstance, Watershed or Regional Plan, or Urban 
Sustainability Area designation 

ix) Site assessment summary 
x) LID Measures used: 

(1) Site design measures 
(2) Runoff Reduction Measures 
(3) Post-construction structural Stormwater Control Measures 

xi) Summary of Runoff Reduction Measures and Structural Stormwater Control 
Measures, by Drainage Management Area, as well as for the entire site 

xii) Supporting calculations used to comply with the applicable Water Quality 
Treatment and Runoff Retention Performance Requirements 

xiii) Documentation demonstrating infeasibility where Site Design and Runoff 
Reduction measures cannot retain required runoff volume 

xiv) Documentation demonstrating infeasibility where retention-based Stormwater 
Control Measures cannot retain and/or treat the required runoff volume 

xv) Documentation demonstrating infeasibility where on-site compliance cannot be 
achieved 

xvi) Documentation demonstrating percentage of the project's Equivalent Impervious 
Surface Area dedicated to retention-based Stormwater Control Measures 

3 Calculate Equivalent Impervious Surface Area using guidance in Attachment E 



Resolution No. R3-2012-0025 
-10 

xvii) Documentation of certification that the selection, SIZing, and design of the 
Stormwater Control Measures meets the applicable Water Quality Treatment and 
Runoff Retention Performance Requirement 

xviii) O&M Plan for all structural Stormwater Control Measures to ensure long-term 
performance 

xix) Owner of facilities 
xx) Statement of Compliance: 

(1) Statement that the Water Quality Treatment and Runoff Retention Performance 
Requirements have been met on-site, or, if not achievable: 

(a) Documentation of the volume of runoff for which compliance cannot be 
achieved on-site and the associated off-site compliance volume. 

(b) Statement of intent to comply with Water Quality Treatment and Runoff 
Retention Performance Requirements through an Alternative Compliance 
agreement. . 

5) Performance Requirement No.4: Peak Management 
The Permittee shall require all Regulated Projects that create and/or replace .:::22,500 
square feet of impervious surface (collectively over the entire project site) in Watershed 
Management Zones 1, 2, 3, 6, and 9 to manage peak stormwater runoff as required below 
(Section B.5.a.i.), and to meet Water Quality Treatment and Runoff Retention Performance 
Requirements. 
a) The Permittee shall apply the following Peak Management Performance Requirements: 

i) Post-development peak flows, discharged from the site, shall not exceed pre-project 
peak flows for the 2- through 1 O-year storm events. 

b) Reporting Requirements - For each Regulated Project subject to the Peak Management 
Performance Requirement, the Permittee shall require the Project Applicant to provide 
the below information in a Stormwater Control Plan. The Permittee shall not grant final 
project approval, until the Stormwater Control Plan for the Regulated Project sufficiently 
demonstrates the Regulated Project design meets the Water Quality Treatment, Runoff 
Retention, and Peak Management Requirements. 
i) Project Name, application number, and location including address and assessor's 

parcel number 
ii) Name of Applicant 
iii) Project Phase number (if project is being constructed in phases) 
iv) Project Type (e.g., commercial, industrial, multiunit residential, mixed-use, public), 

and description' 
v) Total project site area 
vi) Total new and/or replaced impervious surface area 
vii) Statement of Water Quality Treatment, Runoff Retention, and Peak Management 

Performance Requirements that apply to the Project 
viii) Adjusted Requirements based on the local jurisdiction's approval, that the Project 

is allowed a Special Circumstance, Watershed or Regional Plan, or Urban 
Sustainability Area designation 

ix) Site assessment summary 
x) LID Measures used: 

(1) Site design measures 
(2) Runoff RedUction Measures 
(3) Post-construction structural Stormwater Control Measures 

xi) Summary of Runoff Reduction Measures and Structural Stormwater Control 
Measures, by Drainage Management Area, as well as for the entire site 

••• _1fi. 

--ji 

.::~ 

-164-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 3.pdf

Resolution No. R3-2012-0025 
-10 

xvii) Documentation of certification that the selection, SIZing, and design of the 
Stormwater Control Measures meets the applicable Water Quality Treatment and 
Runoff Retention Performance Requirement 

xviii) O&M Plan for all structural Stormwater Control Measures to ensure long-term 
performance 

xix) Owner of facilities 
xx) Statement of Compliance: 

(1) Statement that the Water Quality Treatment and Runoff Retention Performance 
Requirements have been met on-site, or, if not achievable: 

(a) Documentation of the volume of runoff for which compliance cannot be 
achieved on-site and the associated off-site compliance volume. 

(b) Statement of intent to comply with Water Quality Treatment and Runoff 
Retention Performance Requirements through an Alternative Compliance 
agreement. . 

5) Performance Requirement No.4: Peak Management 
The Permittee shall require all Regulated Projects that create and/or replace .:::22,500 
square feet of impervious surface (collectively over the entire project site) in Watershed 
Management Zones 1, 2, 3, 6, and 9 to manage peak stormwater runoff as required below 
(Section B.5.a.i.), and to meet Water Quality Treatment and Runoff Retention Performance 
Requirements. 
a) The Permittee shall apply the following Peak Management Performance Requirements: 

i) Post-development peak flows, discharged from the site, shall not exceed pre-project 
peak flows for the 2- through 1 O-year storm events. 

b) Reporting Requirements - For each Regulated Project subject to the Peak Management 
Performance Requirement, the Permittee shall require the Project Applicant to provide 
the below information in a Stormwater Control Plan. The Permittee shall not grant final 
project approval, until the Stormwater Control Plan for the Regulated Project sufficiently 
demonstrates the Regulated Project design meets the Water Quality Treatment, Runoff 
Retention, and Peak Management Requirements. 
i) Project Name, application number, and location including address and assessor's 

parcel number 
ii) Name of Applicant 
iii) Project Phase number (if project is being constructed in phases) 
iv) Project Type (e.g., commercial, industrial, multiunit residential, mixed-use, public), 

and description' 
v) Total project site area 
vi) Total new and/or replaced impervious surface area 
vii) Statement of Water Quality Treatment, Runoff Retention, and Peak Management 

Performance Requirements that apply to the Project 
viii) Adjusted Requirements based on the local jurisdiction's approval, that the Project 

is allowed a Special Circumstance, Watershed or Regional Plan, or Urban 
Sustainability Area designation 

ix) Site assessment summary 
x) LID Measures used: 

(1) Site design measures 
(2) Runoff RedUction Measures 
(3) Post-construction structural Stormwater Control Measures 

xi) Summary of Runoff Reduction Measures and Structural Stormwater Control 
Measures, by Drainage Management Area, as well as for the entire site 

••• _1fi. 

--ji 

.::~ 



Resolution No. R3-2012-0025 
-11 

xii) Supporting calculations used to comply with the applicable Water Quality 
Treatment, Runoff Retention, and Peak Management Performance Requirements 

xiii) Documentation demonstrating infeasibility where on-site compliance cannot be 
achieved 

xiv) Documentation of certification that the selection, sizing, and design of the 
Stormwater Control Measures meets the applicable Water Quality Treatment, 
Runoff Retention, and Peak Management Performance Requirements 

xv) O&M Plan for all structural SCMs to ensure long-term performance 
xvi) Owner of facilities 
xvii) Statement of Compliance: 

(1) Statement that the Water Quality Treatment, Runoff Retention, and Peak 
Management Performance Requirements have been met on-site, or, if not 
achievable: 

(a) Documentation of the volume of runoff for which compliance cannot be 
achieved on-site and the associated off-site compliance requirements. 

(b) Statement of intent to comply with Water Quality Treatment, Runoff 
Retention, and Peak Management Performance Requirements through an 
Alternative Compliance agreement. 

6) Performance Requirement NO.5: Special Circumstances 
The Permittee may designate Regulated Projects as subject to Special Circumstances 
based on certain site and/or receiving water conditions. The Special Circumstances 
designation exempts a Regulated Project from Runoff Retention and/or Peak Management 
Performance Requirements where those Performance Requirements would be ineffective to 
maintain or restore beneficial uses of receiving waters. The Regulated Project subject to 
Special Circumstances must still comply with the Water Quality Treatment Performance 
Req uirements. 
a) Special Circumstances include: 

i) Highly Altered Channel Special Circumstance: 
The Permittee may designate Regulated Projects as subject to Special Circumstances 
for Highly Altered Channels for the following conditions: 

(1) Project runoff discharges into stream channels that are concrete-lined or 
otherwise continuously armored from the discharge point to the channel's 
confluence with a lake, large river (>200-square mile drainage area). 

(2) Project runoff discharges to a continuous underground storm drain system that 
discharges directly to a lake, large .river (>200-square mile drainage area), the 
San Lorenzo River in the City of Santa Cruz, or marine nearshore waters 

(3) Project runoff discharges to other areas identified by the Central Coast Water 
Board 

(4) Under no circumstance described in 6.a.i. can runoff from the Regulated Project 
result in adverse impacts to downstream receiving waters 

ii) Intermediate Flow Control Facility Special Circumstance: 
(1) The Permittee may designate Regulated Projects as subject to Special 

Circumstances for Intermediate Flow Control Facilities if the project runoff 
discharges to an existing (as of the date when the Central Coast Water Board 
approved Resolution R3-2012'-0025) flow control facility that regulates flow 
volumes and durations to levels that have been demonstrated to be protective of 
beneficial uses of the receiving water downstream of the facility. 

(2) The flow control facility must have the capacity to accept the Regulated Project's 
runoff. 

-165-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 3.pdf

Resolution No. R3-2012-0025 
-11 

xii) Supporting calculations used to comply with the applicable Water Quality 
Treatment, Runoff Retention, and Peak Management Performance Requirements 

xiii) Documentation demonstrating infeasibility where on-site compliance cannot be 
achieved 

xiv) Documentation of certification that the selection, sizing, and design of the 
Stormwater Control Measures meets the applicable Water Quality Treatment, 
Runoff Retention, and Peak Management Performance Requirements 

xv) O&M Plan for all structural SCMs to ensure long-term performance 
xvi) Owner of facilities 
xvii) Statement of Compliance: 

(1) Statement that the Water Quality Treatment, Runoff Retention, and Peak 
Management Performance Requirements have been met on-site, or, if not 
achievable: 

(a) Documentation of the volume of runoff for which compliance cannot be 
achieved on-site and the associated off-site compliance requirements. 

(b) Statement of intent to comply with Water Quality Treatment, Runoff 
Retention, and Peak Management Performance Requirements through an 
Alternative Compliance agreement. 

6) Performance Requirement NO.5: Special Circumstances 
The Permittee may designate Regulated Projects as subject to Special Circumstances 
based on certain site and/or receiving water conditions. The Special Circumstances 
designation exempts a Regulated Project from Runoff Retention and/or Peak Management 
Performance Requirements where those Performance Requirements would be ineffective to 
maintain or restore beneficial uses of receiving waters. The Regulated Project subject to 
Special Circumstances must still comply with the Water Quality Treatment Performance 
Req uirements. 
a) Special Circumstances include: 

i) Highly Altered Channel Special Circumstance: 
The Permittee may designate Regulated Projects as subject to Special Circumstances 
for Highly Altered Channels for the following conditions: 

(1) Project runoff discharges into stream channels that are concrete-lined or 
otherwise continuously armored from the discharge point to the channel's 
confluence with a lake, large river (>200-square mile drainage area). 

(2) Project runoff discharges to a continuous underground storm drain system that 
discharges directly to a lake, large .river (>200-square mile drainage area), the 
San Lorenzo River in the City of Santa Cruz, or marine nearshore waters 

(3) Project runoff discharges to other areas identified by the Central Coast Water 
Board 

(4) Under no circumstance described in 6.a.i. can runoff from the Regulated Project 
result in adverse impacts to downstream receiving waters 

ii) Intermediate Flow Control Facility Special Circumstance: 
(1) The Permittee may designate Regulated Projects as subject to Special 

Circumstances for Intermediate Flow Control Facilities if the project runoff 
discharges to an existing (as of the date when the Central Coast Water Board 
approved Resolution R3-2012'-0025) flow control facility that regulates flow 
volumes and durations to levels that have been demonstrated to be protective of 
beneficial uses of the receiving water downstream of the facility. 

(2) The flow control facility must have the capacity to accept the Regulated Project's 
runoff. 



Resolution No. R3-2012-0025 
-12 

(3) Demonstration of facility capacity to accept runoff and to regulate flow volumes 
and durations must include quantitative analysis based on numeric, hydraulic 
modeling of facility performance. 

(4) Under no circumstance described in Section B.6.a.ii. can runoff from the 
Regulated Project result in adverse impacts to downstream receiving waters. 

iii) Historic Lake and Wetland Special Circumstance: 
(1) The Permittee may designate Regulated Projects as subject to Special 

Circumstances for Historic Lakes and Wetlands for the following conditions: 
(a) Project is located where there was once a historic lake or wetland where pre

development hydrologic processes included filtration and storage but no 
significant infiltration to support downstream receiving water. 

(b) The Special Circumstance has been established based on a delineation of 
the historic lake or wetland approved by the Central Coast Water Board 
Executive Officer 

b) Performance Requirements for Highly Altered Channel and/or Intermediate Flow Control 
Facility Special Circumstances: 
i) For Regulated Projects that: 1) create and/or replace ~22,500 square feet of 

impervious surface; 2) are located in WMZs 1, 2, 5, and 8, and those portions of 
WMZs 4,7, and 10 that overlie a designated Groundwater Basin: 
(1) Water Quality Treatment (Performance Requirement No.2) 
(2) Runoff Retention (Performance Requirement No.3) 

ii) For Regulated Projects that: 1) create and/or replace ~22,500 square feet of 
impervious surface; and 2) are located in WMZs 3, 6, and 9, arid those portions of 
WMZs 4,7, and 10 that do not overlie a designated Groundwater Basin: 
(1) Water Quality Treatment (Performance Requirement No.2) 

c) Performance Requirements for Historic Lake and Wetland Special Circumstances 
i)· For Regulated Projects that create and/or replace ~15,000 and < 22,500 square feet 

of impervious surface and meet the Historic Lake and Wetland Special 
Circumstance: 
(1) Water Quality Treatment (Performance Requirement No.2). 
(2) Detention: Detain runoff such that the post-project peak discharge rate does not 

exceed the pre-project rate for all runoff up to the 95th percentile 24-hr rainfall 
event, or a more protective rate consistent with the Permittee's own development 
requirements 

ii) For Regulated Projects that create and/or replace ~22,500 square feet of impervious 
surface and meet the Historic Lake and Wetland Special Circumstance: 
(1) Water Quality Treatment (Performance Requirement No.2) 
(2) Peak Management: Detain runoff such that the post-project peak discharge rate 

does not exceed the pre-project rate for the 95th percentile 24-hr rainfall event 
and the 2- through 10-yr storm events or a more protective rate consistent with 
the Permittee's own development requirements. 

d) Documentation and Approval of Special Circumstances - The Permittee shall provide 
reasonable documentation to justify that a Regulated Project is more appropriately 
categorized under the Special Circumstances category. 
i) Historic Lake and Wetland Special Circumstance - Prior to granting a Regulated 

Project Special Circumstances, the Permittee shall submit a proposal to the Central 
Coast Water Board Executive Officer for review and approval. The proposal shall 
include, at a minimum: 
(1) Delineation of historic lakes and wetlands and any supporting technical 

information to substantiate the requested Special Circumstances designation; 
and 

-166-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 3.pdf

Resolution No. R3-2012-0025 
-12 

(3) Demonstration of facility capacity to accept runoff and to regulate flow volumes 
and durations must include quantitative analysis based on numeric, hydraulic 
modeling of facility performance. 

(4) Under no circumstance described in Section B.6.a.ii. can runoff from the 
Regulated Project result in adverse impacts to downstream receiving waters. 

iii) Historic Lake and Wetland Special Circumstance: 
(1) The Permittee may designate Regulated Projects as subject to Special 

Circumstances for Historic Lakes and Wetlands for the following conditions: 
(a) Project is located where there was once a historic lake or wetland where pre

development hydrologic processes included filtration and storage but no 
significant infiltration to support downstream receiving water. 

(b) The Special Circumstance has been established based on a delineation of 
the historic lake or wetland approved by the Central Coast Water Board 
Executive Officer 

b) Performance Requirements for Highly Altered Channel and/or Intermediate Flow Control 
Facility Special Circumstances: 
i) For Regulated Projects that: 1) create and/or replace ~22,500 square feet of 

impervious surface; 2) are located in WMZs 1, 2, 5, and 8, and those portions of 
WMZs 4,7, and 10 that overlie a designated Groundwater Basin: 
(1) Water Quality Treatment (Performance Requirement No.2) 
(2) Runoff Retention (Performance Requirement No.3) 

ii) For Regulated Projects that: 1) create and/or replace ~22,500 square feet of 
impervious surface; and 2) are located in WMZs 3, 6, and 9, arid those portions of 
WMZs 4,7, and 10 that do not overlie a designated Groundwater Basin: 
(1) Water Quality Treatment (Performance Requirement No.2) 

c) Performance Requirements for Historic Lake and Wetland Special Circumstances 
i)· For Regulated Projects that create and/or replace ~15,000 and < 22,500 square feet 

of impervious surface and meet the Historic Lake and Wetland Special 
Circumstance: 
(1) Water Quality Treatment (Performance Requirement No.2). 
(2) Detention: Detain runoff such that the post-project peak discharge rate does not 

exceed the pre-project rate for all runoff up to the 95th percentile 24-hr rainfall 
event, or a more protective rate consistent with the Permittee's own development 
requirements 

ii) For Regulated Projects that create and/or replace ~22,500 square feet of impervious 
surface and meet the Historic Lake and Wetland Special Circumstance: 
(1) Water Quality Treatment (Performance Requirement No.2) 
(2) Peak Management: Detain runoff such that the post-project peak discharge rate 

does not exceed the pre-project rate for the 95th percentile 24-hr rainfall event 
and the 2- through 10-yr storm events or a more protective rate consistent with 
the Permittee's own development requirements. 

d) Documentation and Approval of Special Circumstances - The Permittee shall provide 
reasonable documentation to justify that a Regulated Project is more appropriately 
categorized under the Special Circumstances category. 
i) Historic Lake and Wetland Special Circumstance - Prior to granting a Regulated 

Project Special Circumstances, the Permittee shall submit a proposal to the Central 
Coast Water Board Executive Officer for review and approval. The proposal shall 
include, at a minimum: 
(1) Delineation of historic lakes and wetlands and any supporting technical 

information to substantiate the requested Special Circumstances designation; 
and 



Resolution No. R3-2012-0025 
-13 

(2) Documentation that the proposal was completed by a registered professional 
engineer, geologist, architect, and/or landscape architect. 

C. Alternative Compliance (Off-Site Compliance) 
Alternative Compliance refers to Water Quality Treatment, Runoff Retention and Peak 
Management Performance Requirements that are achieved off-site through mechanisms such 
as developer fee-in-lieu arrangements and/or use of regional facilities. Alternative Compliance 
may be allowed under the following circumstances: 
1) Technicallnfeasibility 

Off-site compliance with Water Quality Treatment, Runoff Retention, or Peak Management 
Performance Requirements may be allowed when technical infeasibility limits or prevents 
use of structural Stormwater Control Measures. 
a) To pursue Alternative Compliance based on technical infeasibility, the Regulated Project 

applicant, for Regulated Projects outside of Urban Sustainability Areas, must submit a 
site-specific hydrologic and/or design analysis conducted and endorsed by a registered 
professional engineer, geologist, architect, and/or landscape architect, demonstrating 
that compliance with the applicable numeric Post-Construction Stormwater Management 
Requirements is technically infeasible 

b) The Regulated Project applicant must submit a description of the project(s) that will 
provide off-site mitigation. The proposed off-site projects may be existing facilities and/or 
prospective projects that are as effective in maintaining watershed processes as 
implementation of the applicable Post-Construction Stormwater Requirements on-site. 
The description shall include: 
i) The location of the proposed off-site project(s), which must be within the same 

watershed as the Regulated Project. Alternative Compliance project sites located 
outside the watershed may be approved by the Central Coast Water Board 
Executive Officer 

ii) A schedule for completion of offsite mitigation project(s), where the off...;site mitigation 
project(s) has not been constructed. 

c) Technical infeasibility may be caused by site conditions, including: 
i) Depth to seasonal high groundwater limits infiltration and/or prevents construction of 

subgrade stormwater control measures4 

ii) Depth to an impervious layer such as bedrock limits infiltration 
iii) Sites where soil types significantly limit infiltration 
iv) Sites where pollutant mobilization in the soil or groundwater is a documented 

concern 
v) Space constraints (e.g., infill projects, some redevelopment projects, high density 

development) 
vi) Geotechnical hazards 
vii) Stormwater Control Measures located within 100 feet of a groundwater well used for 

drinking water 

4 According to the CASQA Frequently Asked Questions about LID, "some MS4 permits and BMP 
guidance manuals require anywhere from 3-10 feet of separation from the groundwater level for 
infiltration practices. This distance depends on the soil type, pollutants of concern, and groundwater 
use. In some cases, however, where there may be groundwater or soil contamination, LID infiltrative 
practices may be restricted completely. '(p. 7 in https:llwww.casqa.org/Portals/O/LiD/CA LID FAQ 06-
28-2011.pdf) 

-167-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 3.pdf

Resolution No. R3-2012-0025 
-13 

(2) Documentation that the proposal was completed by a registered professional 
engineer, geologist, architect, and/or landscape architect. 

C. Alternative Compliance (Off-Site Compliance) 
Alternative Compliance refers to Water Quality Treatment, Runoff Retention and Peak 
Management Performance Requirements that are achieved off-site through mechanisms such 
as developer fee-in-lieu arrangements and/or use of regional facilities. Alternative Compliance 
may be allowed under the following circumstances: 
1) Technicallnfeasibility 

Off-site compliance with Water Quality Treatment, Runoff Retention, or Peak Management 
Performance Requirements may be allowed when technical infeasibility limits or prevents 
use of structural Stormwater Control Measures. 
a) To pursue Alternative Compliance based on technical infeasibility, the Regulated Project 

applicant, for Regulated Projects outside of Urban Sustainability Areas, must submit a 
site-specific hydrologic and/or design analysis conducted and endorsed by a registered 
professional engineer, geologist, architect, and/or landscape architect, demonstrating 
that compliance with the applicable numeric Post-Construction Stormwater Management 
Requirements is technically infeasible 

b) The Regulated Project applicant must submit a description of the project(s) that will 
provide off-site mitigation. The proposed off-site projects may be existing facilities and/or 
prospective projects that are as effective in maintaining watershed processes as 
implementation of the applicable Post-Construction Stormwater Requirements on-site. 
The description shall include: 
i) The location of the proposed off-site project(s), which must be within the same 

watershed as the Regulated Project. Alternative Compliance project sites located 
outside the watershed may be approved by the Central Coast Water Board 
Executive Officer 

ii) A schedule for completion of offsite mitigation project(s), where the off...;site mitigation 
project(s) has not been constructed. 

c) Technical infeasibility may be caused by site conditions, including: 
i) Depth to seasonal high groundwater limits infiltration and/or prevents construction of 

subgrade stormwater control measures4 

ii) Depth to an impervious layer such as bedrock limits infiltration 
iii) Sites where soil types significantly limit infiltration 
iv) Sites where pollutant mobilization in the soil or groundwater is a documented 

concern 
v) Space constraints (e.g., infill projects, some redevelopment projects, high density 

development) 
vi) Geotechnical hazards 
vii) Stormwater Control Measures located within 100 feet of a groundwater well used for 

drinking water 

4 According to the CASQA Frequently Asked Questions about LID, "some MS4 permits and BMP 
guidance manuals require anywhere from 3-10 feet of separation from the groundwater level for 
infiltration practices. This distance depends on the soil type, pollutants of concern, and groundwater 
use. In some cases, however, where there may be groundwater or soil contamination, LID infiltrative 
practices may be restricted completely. '(p. 7 in https:llwww.casqa.org/Portals/O/LiD/CA LID FAQ 06-
28-2011.pdf) 



Resolution No. R3-2012-002S 
-14 

viii) Incompatibility with surrounding drainage system (e.g., project drains to an existing 
stormwater collection system whose elevation or location precludes connection to a 
properly functioning treatment or flow control facility) 

2) Approved Watershed or Regional Plan 
An approved Watershed or Regional Plan as described below (Section C.2.a.), may be used 
to justify Alternative Compliance for a Regulated Project's numeric Runoff Retention and 
Peak Management Performance Requirements without demonstrating technical infeasibility. 
a) The Permittee must submit the proposed Watershed or Regional Plan to the Central 

Coast Water Board Executive Officer for approval. Watershed and Regional Plans must 
take into consideration the long-term cumulative impacts of urbanization including 
existing and future development and include, at minimum: 
i) A description of the project(s) that will provide off-site mitigation. The proposed off

site projects may be existing facilities and/or prospective projects. 
ii) The location of the proposed off-site project(s), which must be within the same 

watershed as the Regulated Project. Alternative Compliance project sites located 
outside the watershed may be approved by the Central Coast Water Board 
Executive Officer. 

iii) Demonstration that implementation of projects per the Watershed or Regional Plan 
will be as effective in maintaining watershed processes as implementation of the 
applicable Post-Construction Stormwater Requirements on-site. The proposal must 
include quantitative analysis (e.g., calculations and modeling) used to evaluate off
site compliance. 

iv) A schedule for completion of offsite mitigation project(s), where the off-site mitigation 
project(s) has not been constructed. 

b) The Permittee may use projects identified per the Watershed or Regional Plan to meet 
Water Quality Treatment Performance Requirements off-site only when: 
i) The Regulated Project applicant has demonstrated that on-site water quality 

treatment is infeasible as described in Sections C.1.a and C.1.c., and 
ii) The proposed off-site project(s) has been demonstrated to comply with the Water 

Quality Treatment Performance Requirements for the Regulated Project. 

3) Approved Urban Sustainability Area 
The Permittee may allow Regulated Projects located within an approved Urban 
Sustainability Area to pursue Alternative Compliance for numeric Runoff Retention and Peak 
Management Performance Requirements without demonstrating technical infeasibility. 
a) The Urban Sustainability Area may only encompass redevelopment in high density 

urban centers (but not limited to incorporated jurisdictional areas) that are pedestrian
oriented and/or transit-oriented development projects intended to promote infill of 
existing urban areas. The Permittee must submit a proposal to the Central Coast Water 
Board Executive Officer for approval of an Urban Sustainability Area. The USA proposal 
must include, at minimum: 
i) A definition and delineation of the USA for high-density infill and redevelopment for 

which area-wide approval for Alternative Compliance is sought. 
ii) Information and analysis that supports the Permittee's intention to balance water 

quality protection with the needs for adequate housing, population growth, public 
transportation, land recycling, and urban revitalization. 

iii) Demonstration that implementation of Alternative Compliance for Regulated Projects 
in the USA will meet or exceed the on-site requirements for Runoff Retention and 
Peak Management. The proposal must include quantitative analysis (e.g., 

-168-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 3.pdf

Resolution No. R3-2012-002S 
-14 

viii) Incompatibility with surrounding drainage system (e.g., project drains to an existing 
stormwater collection system whose elevation or location precludes connection to a 
properly functioning treatment or flow control facility) 

2) Approved Watershed or Regional Plan 
An approved Watershed or Regional Plan as described below (Section C.2.a.), may be used 
to justify Alternative Compliance for a Regulated Project's numeric Runoff Retention and 
Peak Management Performance Requirements without demonstrating technical infeasibility. 
a) The Permittee must submit the proposed Watershed or Regional Plan to the Central 

Coast Water Board Executive Officer for approval. Watershed and Regional Plans must 
take into consideration the long-term cumulative impacts of urbanization including 
existing and future development and include, at minimum: 
i) A description of the project(s) that will provide off-site mitigation. The proposed off

site projects may be existing facilities and/or prospective projects. 
ii) The location of the proposed off-site project(s), which must be within the same 

watershed as the Regulated Project. Alternative Compliance project sites located 
outside the watershed may be approved by the Central Coast Water Board 
Executive Officer. 

iii) Demonstration that implementation of projects per the Watershed or Regional Plan 
will be as effective in maintaining watershed processes as implementation of the 
applicable Post-Construction Stormwater Requirements on-site. The proposal must 
include quantitative analysis (e.g., calculations and modeling) used to evaluate off
site compliance. 

iv) A schedule for completion of offsite mitigation project(s), where the off-site mitigation 
project(s) has not been constructed. 

b) The Permittee may use projects identified per the Watershed or Regional Plan to meet 
Water Quality Treatment Performance Requirements off-site only when: 
i) The Regulated Project applicant has demonstrated that on-site water quality 

treatment is infeasible as described in Sections C.1.a and C.1.c., and 
ii) The proposed off-site project(s) has been demonstrated to comply with the Water 

Quality Treatment Performance Requirements for the Regulated Project. 

3) Approved Urban Sustainability Area 
The Permittee may allow Regulated Projects located within an approved Urban 
Sustainability Area to pursue Alternative Compliance for numeric Runoff Retention and Peak 
Management Performance Requirements without demonstrating technical infeasibility. 
a) The Urban Sustainability Area may only encompass redevelopment in high density 

urban centers (but not limited to incorporated jurisdictional areas) that are pedestrian
oriented and/or transit-oriented development projects intended to promote infill of 
existing urban areas. The Permittee must submit a proposal to the Central Coast Water 
Board Executive Officer for approval of an Urban Sustainability Area. The USA proposal 
must include, at minimum: 
i) A definition and delineation of the USA for high-density infill and redevelopment for 

which area-wide approval for Alternative Compliance is sought. 
ii) Information and analysis that supports the Permittee's intention to balance water 

quality protection with the needs for adequate housing, population growth, public 
transportation, land recycling, and urban revitalization. 

iii) Demonstration that implementation of Alternative Compliance for Regulated Projects 
in the USA will meet or exceed the on-site requirements for Runoff Retention and 
Peak Management. The proposal must include quantitative analysis (e.g., 



Resolution No. R3-2012-0025 
-15 

calculations and modeling) used to evaluate off-site compliance. Identification of 
specific off-site projects is not necessary for approval of the USA designation. 

b) The Permittee may allow Regulated Projects in a USA to meet Water Quality Treatment 
Performance Requirements off-site only when: 
i) The Regulated Project applicant has demonstrated that on-site water quality 

treatment is infeasible as described in Sections C.1.a. and C.1.c., and 
ii) The proposed off-site project(s) have been demonstrated to comply with the Water. 

Quality Treatment Performance Requirements. 
c) The Central Coast Water Board Executive Officer will deem complete a Permittee's USA 

proposal within 60 days of receiving a complete proposal. The Central Coast Water 
Board Executive Officer will approve or deny the proposal within 120 days of a proposal 
being deemed complete. 

4) Other situations as approved by the Central Coast Water Board Executive Officer 
5) Location of Alternative Compliance Project(s) - The location of the proposed off-site 

project(s) must be within the same watershed as the Regulated Project. Alternative 
Compliance project sites located outside the watershed may be approved by the Central 
Coast Water Board Executive Officer. 

6) Timing and Funding Requirements for Alternative Compliance Projects - The Permittee 
shall develop a schedule for the completion of off-site mitigation projects, including 
milestone dates to identify funding, design, and construction of the off-site projects. 
a) Complete the project(s) as soon as practicable and no longer than four years from the 

date of the certificate of occupancy for the project for which off-site mitigation is required, 
unless a longer period is otherwise authorized by the Central Coast Water Board 
Executive Officer. 

b) The timeline for completion of the off-site mitigation project may be extended, up to five 
years with prior Central Coast Water Board Executive Officer approval. Central Coast 
Water Board Executive Officer approval will be granted contingent upon a demonstration 
of good faith efforts to implement an Alternative Compliance project, such as having 
funds encumbered and applying for the appropriate regulatory permits. 

c) Require sufficient funding be transferred to the Permittee for public off-site mitigation 
projects. Require private off-site mitigation projects to transfer sufficient funding to a 
Permittee controlled escrow account, or provide the Permittee with appropriate project 
bonding within one year of the initiation of construction of the Regulated Project. 

d) The Permittee may establish different timelines and requirements that are more 
restrictive than those outlined above. 

D. Field Verifications of Post-Construction Stormwater Control Measures 
1) The Permittee shall establish and implement a mechanism (a checklist or other tools) to 

verify5 that structural Water Quality Treatment, Runoff Retention, and/or Peak Management 
controls are designed and constructed in accordance with these Post-Construction 
Stormwater Management Requirements 

2) Prior to occupancy of each Regulated Project, the Permittee shall field verify that the Site 
Design, Water Quality Treatment, Runoff Retention, and/or Peak Management controls 
have been implemented in accordance with these Post-Construction Requirements 

5 A series of checklists that can be used by both inspectors and maintenance personnel is available in 
the City of Santa Barbara Storm Water BMP Guidance Manual, Appendix H: Facility Inspection and 
Maintenance Checklists. GeoSyntec Consultants, July 2008. 
hUp:llwww.santabarbaraca."gov/ResidentlCommunity/Creeks/LowlmpactDevelopment.htm 

-169-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 3.pdf

Resolution No. R3-2012-0025 
-15 

calculations and modeling) used to evaluate off-site compliance. Identification of 
specific off-site projects is not necessary for approval of the USA designation. 

b) The Permittee may allow Regulated Projects in a USA to meet Water Quality Treatment 
Performance Requirements off-site only when: 
i) The Regulated Project applicant has demonstrated that on-site water quality 

treatment is infeasible as described in Sections C.1.a. and C.1.c., and 
ii) The proposed off-site project(s) have been demonstrated to comply with the Water. 

Quality Treatment Performance Requirements. 
c) The Central Coast Water Board Executive Officer will deem complete a Permittee's USA 

proposal within 60 days of receiving a complete proposal. The Central Coast Water 
Board Executive Officer will approve or deny the proposal within 120 days of a proposal 
being deemed complete. 

4) Other situations as approved by the Central Coast Water Board Executive Officer 
5) Location of Alternative Compliance Project(s) - The location of the proposed off-site 

project(s) must be within the same watershed as the Regulated Project. Alternative 
Compliance project sites located outside the watershed may be approved by the Central 
Coast Water Board Executive Officer. 

6) Timing and Funding Requirements for Alternative Compliance Projects - The Permittee 
shall develop a schedule for the completion of off-site mitigation projects, including 
milestone dates to identify funding, design, and construction of the off-site projects. 
a) Complete the project(s) as soon as practicable and no longer than four years from the 

date of the certificate of occupancy for the project for which off-site mitigation is required, 
unless a longer period is otherwise authorized by the Central Coast Water Board 
Executive Officer. 

b) The timeline for completion of the off-site mitigation project may be extended, up to five 
years with prior Central Coast Water Board Executive Officer approval. Central Coast 
Water Board Executive Officer approval will be granted contingent upon a demonstration 
of good faith efforts to implement an Alternative Compliance project, such as having 
funds encumbered and applying for the appropriate regulatory permits. 

c) Require sufficient funding be transferred to the Permittee for public off-site mitigation 
projects. Require private off-site mitigation projects to transfer sufficient funding to a 
Permittee controlled escrow account, or provide the Permittee with appropriate project 
bonding within one year of the initiation of construction of the Regulated Project. 

d) The Permittee may establish different timelines and requirements that are more 
restrictive than those outlined above. 

D. Field Verifications of Post-Construction Stormwater Control Measures 
1) The Permittee shall establish and implement a mechanism (a checklist or other tools) to 

verify5 that structural Water Quality Treatment, Runoff Retention, and/or Peak Management 
controls are designed and constructed in accordance with these Post-Construction 
Stormwater Management Requirements 

2) Prior to occupancy of each Regulated Project, the Permittee shall field verify that the Site 
Design, Water Quality Treatment, Runoff Retention, and/or Peak Management controls 
have been implemented in accordance with these Post-Construction Requirements 

5 A series of checklists that can be used by both inspectors and maintenance personnel is available in 
the City of Santa Barbara Storm Water BMP Guidance Manual, Appendix H: Facility Inspection and 
Maintenance Checklists. GeoSyntec Consultants, July 2008. 
hUp:llwww.santabarbaraca."gov/ResidentlCommunity/Creeks/LowlmpactDevelopment.htm 



Resolution No. R3-2012-0025 
-16 

a) The Permittee may accept third-party verification of SCMs conducted and endorsed by a 
registered professional engineer, geologist, architect, and/or landscape architect 

b) The Permittee shall ensure, through conditions of approval or other legally enforceable 
agreements or mechanisms, that site access is granted to all representatives of the 
Permittee for the sole purpose of performing operation and maintenance (O&M) 
inspections of the installed Stormwater Control Measures 

E. Operation and Maintenance for Structural SeMs 
The Permittee shall require O&M Plans and Maintenance Agreements that clearly establish 
responsibility for all structural Water Quality Treatment, Runoff Retention, and/or Peak 
Management controls on private and public Regulated Projects. The Permittee shall also 
maintain a structural SCM tracking database to support long-term performance of structural 
SCMs. 
1) O&M Plan 

The Regulated Project applicant shall develop and implement a written O&M Plan that, at a 
minimum, includes each component listed below. The Permittee may allow the Regulated 
Project applicant to include the O&M Plan components in the Stormwater Control Plan in 
place of developing a separate document. The Permittee shall approve the O&M Plan prior 
to final approval/occupancy. The O&M Plan must include, at minimum: 
a) A site map identifying all structural Stormwater Control Measures requiring O&M 

practices to function as designed 

b) O&M procedures for each structural stormwater control measure including, but not 
limited to, LID facilities, retention/detention basins, and proprietorship devices. 

c) The O&M Plan will include short-and long-term maintenance requirements, 
recommended frequency of maintenance, and estimated cost for maintenance. 

2) Maintenance Agreement and Transfer of Responsibility for SCMs 
Prior to issuing approval for final occupancy each Permittee shall require that Regulated 
Projects subject to these Post-Construction Requirements provide verification of ongoing 
maintenance provisions for Structural Stormwater Control Measures, including but not 
limited to legal agreements, covenants, CEQA mitigation requirements, and or conditional 
use permits. Verification shall include, at a minimum: 
a) The project owner's signed statement accepting responsibility for the O&M of the 

installed onsite and/or offsite structural treatment and flow control SCMs until such 
responsibility is legally transferred to another entity; and either 
i) A signed statement from the public entity assuming responsibility for structural 

treatment and flow control SCM maintenance and stating that the SCM meets all 
local agency design standards; or 

ii) Written conditions in the sales or lease agreements or deed for the project that 
require the buyer or lessee to assume responsibility for the O&M of the onsite and/or 
offsite structural treatment and flow control SCM until such responsibility is legally 
transferred to another entity; or 

iii) Written text in project deeds, or conditions, covenants and restrictions for multi-unit 
residential projects that require the homeowners association or, if there is no 
association, each individual owner to assume responsibility for the O&M of the onsite 
and/or offsite structural treatment and flow control SCM until such responsibility is 
legally transferred to another entity; or 

iv) Any other legally enforceable agreement or mechanism, such as recordation in the 
property deed, that assigns responsibility for the O&M of the onsite and/or offsite 
structural treatment and flow control SCM to the project owner(s) or the Permittee 

3) Structural Stormwater Control Measure O&M Database 

-170-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 3.pdf

Resolution No. R3-2012-0025 
-16 

a) The Permittee may accept third-party verification of SCMs conducted and endorsed by a 
registered professional engineer, geologist, architect, and/or landscape architect 

b) The Permittee shall ensure, through conditions of approval or other legally enforceable 
agreements or mechanisms, that site access is granted to all representatives of the 
Permittee for the sole purpose of performing operation and maintenance (O&M) 
inspections of the installed Stormwater Control Measures 

E. Operation and Maintenance for Structural SeMs 
The Permittee shall require O&M Plans and Maintenance Agreements that clearly establish 
responsibility for all structural Water Quality Treatment, Runoff Retention, and/or Peak 
Management controls on private and public Regulated Projects. The Permittee shall also 
maintain a structural SCM tracking database to support long-term performance of structural 
SCMs. 
1) O&M Plan 

The Regulated Project applicant shall develop and implement a written O&M Plan that, at a 
minimum, includes each component listed below. The Permittee may allow the Regulated 
Project applicant to include the O&M Plan components in the Stormwater Control Plan in 
place of developing a separate document. The Permittee shall approve the O&M Plan prior 
to final approval/occupancy. The O&M Plan must include, at minimum: 
a) A site map identifying all structural Stormwater Control Measures requiring O&M 

practices to function as designed 

b) O&M procedures for each structural stormwater control measure including, but not 
limited to, LID facilities, retention/detention basins, and proprietorship devices. 

c) The O&M Plan will include short-and long-term maintenance requirements, 
recommended frequency of maintenance, and estimated cost for maintenance. 

2) Maintenance Agreement and Transfer of Responsibility for SCMs 
Prior to issuing approval for final occupancy each Permittee shall require that Regulated 
Projects subject to these Post-Construction Requirements provide verification of ongoing 
maintenance provisions for Structural Stormwater Control Measures, including but not 
limited to legal agreements, covenants, CEQA mitigation requirements, and or conditional 
use permits. Verification shall include, at a minimum: 
a) The project owner's signed statement accepting responsibility for the O&M of the 

installed onsite and/or offsite structural treatment and flow control SCMs until such 
responsibility is legally transferred to another entity; and either 
i) A signed statement from the public entity assuming responsibility for structural 

treatment and flow control SCM maintenance and stating that the SCM meets all 
local agency design standards; or 

ii) Written conditions in the sales or lease agreements or deed for the project that 
require the buyer or lessee to assume responsibility for the O&M of the onsite and/or 
offsite structural treatment and flow control SCM until such responsibility is legally 
transferred to another entity; or 

iii) Written text in project deeds, or conditions, covenants and restrictions for multi-unit 
residential projects that require the homeowners association or, if there is no 
association, each individual owner to assume responsibility for the O&M of the onsite 
and/or offsite structural treatment and flow control SCM until such responsibility is 
legally transferred to another entity; or 

iv) Any other legally enforceable agreement or mechanism, such as recordation in the 
property deed, that assigns responsibility for the O&M of the onsite and/or offsite 
structural treatment and flow control SCM to the project owner(s) or the Permittee 

3) Structural Stormwater Control Measure O&M Database 



Resolution No. R3-2012-002S 
-17 

The Permittee shall develop a database with information regarding each structural 
Stormwater Control Measure installed per these Post-Construction Stormwater Management 
Requirements. The Database shall contain, at a minimum, fields for: 
a) SCM identification number and location/address 
b) Type of SCM 
c) Completion date of the following project stages, where applicable: 

i) Construction 
ii) Field verification of SCM 
iii) Final Project approval/occupancy 
iv) O&M plan approval by Permittee 

d) Location (physical and/or electronic) where the O&M Plan is available to view 
e) Party responsible for O&M 
f) Source of funding for O&M 
g) Verification that responsible party has maintained the SCM as outlined in the O&M Plan, 

or, indication that a self-inspection program is in place to verify that the SCM continues 
to function as designed and to repair and/or replace the SCM if it is not functioning as 
designed 

h) Any problems identified during inspections including any vector or nuisance problems. 

F. Permittee Reporting Requirements 
1) The Permittee shall submit a sample checklist and the number of permits regulated under 

the Site Design and Runoff Reduction Requirement (No.1) as part of Stormwater Program 
Annual Reporting. This" information" must demonstrate the Site Design and Runoff 
Reduction Performance Requirement (No.1) is applied to all applicable projects. 

2) The Permittee shall report the following for all Regulated Projects subject to numeric 
Performance Requirements (Nos. 2, 3,4, and 5) in Stormwater Program Annual Reporting: 
a) The total number of completed Regulated Projects 
b) The total number of Regulated Projects within each of the following categories of new 

and/or replaced impervious surface: 
i) ~ 5,000 and <15,000 (based on Net Impervious Area) 
ii) ~ 15,000 and < 22,500 
iii) ~ 22,500 

c) A list of which projects were granted each of the following: 
i) Special Circumstances - Highly Altered Channel 
ii) Special Circumstances -Intermediate Flow Control Facility 
iii) Special Circumstances - Historic Lake or Wetland 
iv) Alternative Compliance - Technical Infeasibility 

(1) Performance Requirement NO.2: Water Quality Treatment 
(2) Performance Requirement NO.3: Runoff Retention 
(3) Performance Requirement NO.4: Peak Management 

v) Alternative Compliance - Watershed or Regional Plan 
vi) Alternative Compliance - Urban Sustainability Area 
vii) Other Technical Infeasibility 

(1) Technical infeasibility to retain the required runoff volume (per Performance 
Requirement NO.3: Runoff Retention) using Site Design and Runoff Reduction 
measures 

(2) Technical infeasibility to retain and/or treat the required runoff volume (per 
Performance Requirement NO.3: Runoff Retention) using retention-based 
Stormwater Control Measures 

-171-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 3.pdf

Resolution No. R3-2012-002S 
-17 

The Permittee shall develop a database with information regarding each structural 
Stormwater Control Measure installed per these Post-Construction Stormwater Management 
Requirements. The Database shall contain, at a minimum, fields for: 
a) SCM identification number and location/address 
b) Type of SCM 
c) Completion date of the following project stages, where applicable: 

i) Construction 
ii) Field verification of SCM 
iii) Final Project approval/occupancy 
iv) O&M plan approval by Permittee 

d) Location (physical and/or electronic) where the O&M Plan is available to view 
e) Party responsible for O&M 
f) Source of funding for O&M 
g) Verification that responsible party has maintained the SCM as outlined in the O&M Plan, 

or, indication that a self-inspection program is in place to verify that the SCM continues 
to function as designed and to repair and/or replace the SCM if it is not functioning as 
designed 

h) Any problems identified during inspections including any vector or nuisance problems. 

F. Permittee Reporting Requirements 
1) The Permittee shall submit a sample checklist and the number of permits regulated under 

the Site Design and Runoff Reduction Requirement (No.1) as part of Stormwater Program 
Annual Reporting. This" information" must demonstrate the Site Design and Runoff 
Reduction Performance Requirement (No.1) is applied to all applicable projects. 

2) The Permittee shall report the following for all Regulated Projects subject to numeric 
Performance Requirements (Nos. 2, 3,4, and 5) in Stormwater Program Annual Reporting: 
a) The total number of completed Regulated Projects 
b) The total number of Regulated Projects within each of the following categories of new 

and/or replaced impervious surface: 
i) ~ 5,000 and <15,000 (based on Net Impervious Area) 
ii) ~ 15,000 and < 22,500 
iii) ~ 22,500 

c) A list of which projects were granted each of the following: 
i) Special Circumstances - Highly Altered Channel 
ii) Special Circumstances -Intermediate Flow Control Facility 
iii) Special Circumstances - Historic Lake or Wetland 
iv) Alternative Compliance - Technical Infeasibility 

(1) Performance Requirement NO.2: Water Quality Treatment 
(2) Performance Requirement NO.3: Runoff Retention 
(3) Performance Requirement NO.4: Peak Management 

v) Alternative Compliance - Watershed or Regional Plan 
vi) Alternative Compliance - Urban Sustainability Area 
vii) Other Technical Infeasibility 

(1) Technical infeasibility to retain the required runoff volume (per Performance 
Requirement NO.3: Runoff Retention) using Site Design and Runoff Reduction 
measures 

(2) Technical infeasibility to retain and/or treat the required runoff volume (per 
Performance Requirement NO.3: Runoff Retention) using retention-based 
Stormwater Control Measures 



Resolution No. R3-2012-002S 
-18 

d) Confirmation by the Permittee that for all Permittee-approved technical infeasibility 
determinations, the Regulated Project's Stormwater Control Plan adequately 
demonstrated the basis for the technical infeasibility 

e) A list of mitigation projects constructed for Alternative Compliance and the following 
project information: 
i) A summary description of pollutant and flow reduction analyses (compiled from 

design specifications submitted by project applicants and approved by the Permittee) 
comparing the expected aggregate results of Alternative Compliance projects to the 
results that would otherwise have been achieved by meeting the numeric 
Performance Requirements on-site 

ii) For public offsite mitigation projects, a summation of total offsite mitigation funds 
raised to date and a description (including location, general design concept, volume 
of water expected to be retained, and total estimated budget) of all pending public 
offsite mitigation projects 

f) Number of Regulated Projects where Field Verification of Post-Construction Stormwater 
Management Measures was required and was NOT completed 

g) Number of Regulated Projects where the required O&M Plan was NOT 
submitted/completed 

h) Number of Regulated Projects where Ownership and Responsibility of structural 
Stormwater Control Measures was not completed 

i) Structural Stormwater Control Measure O&M Database, including elements identified in 
Section E.3. Tabular spreadsheet data are acceptable. 
i) The Permittee shall provide Central Coast Water Board staff electronic access to the 

database. 

G. Pre-existing Programs 
a) A Permittee may propose, for Central Coast Water Board Executive Officer approval, 

implementation of pre-existing post-construction stormwater management requirements 
for development projects in the Permittee's jurisdictional coverage area, in place of 
implementing the requirements set forth in the Post-Construction Requirements. To be 
eligible for consideration and approval, the proposal must demonstrate the following: 
i) The Permittee's pre-existing post-construction stormwater management 

requirements are as effective as the Post-Construction Requirements in maintaining 
watershed processes, impacted by stormwater management, that are necessary to 
protect water quality and beneficial uses; 

ii) The Permittee was implementing its pre-existing post-construction stormwater 
management requirements prior to Central Coast Water Board approval of the Post
Construction Requirements; and 

iii) The Permittee's pre-existing post-construction stormwater management 
requirements include LID site design and runoff reduction measures, numeric runoff 
treatment controls, numeric runoff retention controls, numeric runoff peak 
management controls, and project applicability thresholds as effective as those 
included in the Post-Construction Requirements. 

b) A Permittee must submit its proposal within 30 days of adoption of the Post-Construction 
Requirements by the Central Coast Water Board. The Central Coast Water Board 
Executive Officer will approve or deny the proposal within 90 days of receipt of. a 
proposal. 

c) If the Central Coast Water Board Executive Officer denies a Permittee's proposal, the 
Permittee shall adhere to the Post-Construction Requirements provisions and deadlines. 

-172-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 3.pdf

Resolution No. R3-2012-002S 
-18 

d) Confirmation by the Permittee that for all Permittee-approved technical infeasibility 
determinations, the Regulated Project's Stormwater Control Plan adequately 
demonstrated the basis for the technical infeasibility 

e) A list of mitigation projects constructed for Alternative Compliance and the following 
project information: 
i) A summary description of pollutant and flow reduction analyses (compiled from 

design specifications submitted by project applicants and approved by the Permittee) 
comparing the expected aggregate results of Alternative Compliance projects to the 
results that would otherwise have been achieved by meeting the numeric 
Performance Requirements on-site 

ii) For public offsite mitigation projects, a summation of total offsite mitigation funds 
raised to date and a description (including location, general design concept, volume 
of water expected to be retained, and total estimated budget) of all pending public 
offsite mitigation projects 

f) Number of Regulated Projects where Field Verification of Post-Construction Stormwater 
Management Measures was required and was NOT completed 

g) Number of Regulated Projects where the required O&M Plan was NOT 
submitted/completed 

h) Number of Regulated Projects where Ownership and Responsibility of structural 
Stormwater Control Measures was not completed 

i) Structural Stormwater Control Measure O&M Database, including elements identified in 
Section E.3. Tabular spreadsheet data are acceptable. 
i) The Permittee shall provide Central Coast Water Board staff electronic access to the 

database. 

G. Pre-existing Programs 
a) A Permittee may propose, for Central Coast Water Board Executive Officer approval, 

implementation of pre-existing post-construction stormwater management requirements 
for development projects in the Permittee's jurisdictional coverage area, in place of 
implementing the requirements set forth in the Post-Construction Requirements. To be 
eligible for consideration and approval, the proposal must demonstrate the following: 
i) The Permittee's pre-existing post-construction stormwater management 

requirements are as effective as the Post-Construction Requirements in maintaining 
watershed processes, impacted by stormwater management, that are necessary to 
protect water quality and beneficial uses; 

ii) The Permittee was implementing its pre-existing post-construction stormwater 
management requirements prior to Central Coast Water Board approval of the Post
Construction Requirements; and 

iii) The Permittee's pre-existing post-construction stormwater management 
requirements include LID site design and runoff reduction measures, numeric runoff 
treatment controls, numeric runoff retention controls, numeric runoff peak 
management controls, and project applicability thresholds as effective as those 
included in the Post-Construction Requirements. 

b) A Permittee must submit its proposal within 30 days of adoption of the Post-Construction 
Requirements by the Central Coast Water Board. The Central Coast Water Board 
Executive Officer will approve or deny the proposal within 90 days of receipt of. a 
proposal. 

c) If the Central Coast Water Board Executive Officer denies a Permittee's proposal, the 
Permittee shall adhere to the Post-Construction Requirements provisions and deadlines. 



Resolution No. R3·2012·0025 
·19 

ATTACHMENT A: Watershed Management Zones 

Available electronically at: 
http://www.waterboards.ca.gov/centralcoast/water issues/programs/stormwater/docs/lidl 
lid hydromod charette index.shtml 

-173-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 3.pdf

Resolution No. R3·2012·0025 
·19 

ATTACHMENT A: Watershed Management Zones 

Available electronically at: 
http://www.waterboards.ca.gov/centralcoast/water issues/programs/stormwater/docs/lidl 
lid hydromod charette index.shtml 



Resolution No.R3-2012-0025 
-20 

ATTACHMENT B: Designated Groundwater Basins 

Groundwater basin areas are defined by the California Department of Water Resources 
(CDWR)6 and used in the Central Coast Water Board Joint Effort for Hydromodification Control 
to identify groundwater receiving-water issues and areas where recharge is a key watershed 
process. CDWR based identification of the groundwater basins on the presence and areal 
extent of unconsolidated alluvial soils identified on a 1 :250,000 scale from geologic maps 
provided by the California Department of Conservation, Division of Mines and Geology. CDWR 
then further evaluated identified groundwater basin areas through review of relevant geologic 
and hydrogeologic reports, well completion reports, court-determined adjudicated- basin 
boundaries, and contact with local agencies to refine the basin boundaries. 

Designated Groundwater Basins include those identified in the CDWR Groundwater Basins 
Map. Numbers correspond to Groundwater Basins in Table 1. 

6 California Department of Water Resources. 2004. Groundwater basin map. 
<http://www.water.ca. gov/groundwater/bulletin 118/gwbasin_maps_ descriptions. cfm>. Accessed 
September 15,2006. 

-174-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 3.pdf

Resolution No.R3-2012-0025 
-20 

ATTACHMENT B: Designated Groundwater Basins 

Groundwater basin areas are defined by the California Department of Water Resources 
(CDWR)6 and used in the Central Coast Water Board Joint Effort for Hydromodification Control 
to identify groundwater receiving-water issues and areas where recharge is a key watershed 
process. CDWR based identification of the groundwater basins on the presence and areal 
extent of unconsolidated alluvial soils identified on a 1 :250,000 scale from geologic maps 
provided by the California Department of Conservation, Division of Mines and Geology. CDWR 
then further evaluated identified groundwater basin areas through review of relevant geologic 
and hydrogeologic reports, well completion reports, court-determined adjudicated- basin 
boundaries, and contact with local agencies to refine the basin boundaries. 

Designated Groundwater Basins include those identified in the CDWR Groundwater Basins 
Map. Numbers correspond to Groundwater Basins in Table 1. 

6 California Department of Water Resources. 2004. Groundwater basin map. 
<http://www.water.ca. gov/groundwater/bulletin 118/gwbasin_maps_ descriptions. cfm>. Accessed 
September 15,2006. 



Resolution No.R3-2012-0025 
-21 

P 'I J I 

() fl (/ II 

Cen!ra l Coast Hydromodiification Project 0 ' .. " 
CDWR Gro'undw"ate r Basins o l2.5 

Qo""iQ r 
~IW:; coo(.t'l'f r:,:.' 

...;.:-........-..... ..-.... 
~::_ '~ ~~~:: .. 5:-, .. ::i; .... 

, -" 

¥~~'\l~ 
:9 

\"/~--;; 
0-

nr Vb 1(" 

so =-___ MI~ 

-175-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 3.pdf

Resolution No.R3-2012-0025 
-21 

P 'I J J 

n Ii (/ II 

Centra l Coast Hydromodiification Project 0 ' .. " 
CDWR Gro'undw"ate r Basins o l2. 5 2-5 50 =-___ MI~ 

¥~~''Y-r4 

'" V/~;; 

.Q~j>lo 

~!~!4 COL>.!! ' '''' ... ?' ""-A
"'~I;i:,;9Cl.~4C-

nr Vto 1(" 



Resolution No.R3-2012-0025 
-22 

Table 1: Groundwater Basins in the Central Coast Region by GIS Basin Number (See 
IVI.~pJ .. __ ._._. __ ....... . ... _........... . ... __ .. _._. _ .. _. __ .. ----c ...... -.... - ...... __ ._._ ......... _ ....... _._ .. . 

GIS-SASINGROU·NDWiATER-SASIN NAME 
NUMBER 

,_. ___ .,_._. ___ .~ ____ • _"......;;: ___ • __ • ___ ~_ •• ___ • ____ • __ ." "' .. __ __ •••• 1 __ • ___ ••• __ • __ •• _ ._ •• 

1 . Carpinteria 

, Santa Barbara 

3 . Montecito 
'--~-.. - "-- --~----.--..!-~~--.---.- .. -~.-------------.--- -, .--.. _-._ .. -~ -_. 

. GIS BASIN' GROUNDWATER BASIN 

. NUMBER ._L~~I\II'!. __ ._ .. ____ ........... _ .. _ ..... _ ..... . 

_. :_.':i~!.~_~~~~~ va~~~ ........ _ ..... «_ •• _, 

L~al~~_~ .. -,,~J!~t __ . __ .... _._ .. __ .. ._, 
· 4 ; Foothill . . i Bitter Water valley • "5 -.- ..... --..... _-"<-·G~t~·-------" .. --...... -----. -. . .. -. ----- "---r39·-·- . _. -·T·D~YL~k-;·~~i i;y-----· --...--"-." 

6 , Santa Y nez River v~II~Y-----·- -. ---. .'-..... -·[-40-_···- _co:. Ca~~-;;i-~~I~Y--·--·-"---·--·-·-
· 7--·--.. - T S~t~-Yn;;R·~~; ~;II~y-..·-· .. ·-· · ... -.. ·-T~L-~.~= -. _~~I~I·i~~~_v.~~i=.~~.~-=:·~~: .. -.~.=·~._._J 
j~.~= -=~~~.~~~.I~~~~~;;;-ci-~j~X_=~~.=~·.·=~.·~---··--·-··--.-- _J .. ~~~~~~~~i~er ~~I~}' ... . 
~.~._ ___ ... _ .... i._~i~_,=~~~~.~~.~~ .. _........ . .. _ .~. . ... . .. J.§.~I!~~~~~II.~I. __ . __ ....... . 
· _ !.Q. . ...._ .. _L§.an .~~~~~i~ ... ~E~~~y~II.~~._ ......... __ :I.r~~.,=i!l.?~_-"~~~X_. ____ . __ . __ 

: 12 

13 

14 
-' - - .. - -_.- .. - -

15 

16 

· 17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

Santa Maria 

.. . ,.~.~y~.I!l.~ .. ~all~y ..... 

_:.§.i~LSl:>~'2~L~~~.~ . 
. '3.<3!§l~l.Y§llley 

...... .. §..~.11...!: ~l~_Q~l~p.~ '.t'Cl II ey 

._~~.~g~9~."C3!I~y ... 

. :.F3Ln ~o~.C3_~Cl-"Cl.II~l 
. ,=()!O "al~ex_ .. 

,47 

_ . ___ L§~lin~~.,,-~~~)'._ .... __ ........ _. 
i Upper Santa Ana valley 

- .. 1---•.• ________________ ._. __ . '. -.----------.-~~- - - . 

L§~~!1§l.~_~.~JI.~Y ......... ____ ... 
; Salinas valley 

---l- ---------.. ---.--.--.. -.------.--

_ L§~!1!~~~.Cl~.~II~)" __ . 
. ._. ____ . __ . . .... __ ..L9~i~!1.§.~_~~_,,~~I~.Y __ . 

: 51 

52 

·53 

; 54 

_,-~!~oJ~!1_~~~~t~~_\f~~~'y 
_ , ... f'!~~_~!~.F3()_~~""p9i!1!.. ." _ .. 

: Gilroy-Hollister valley 
.1-..... _-----_. __ .- - ... ~.--.-•..• ---.. --. _ ... 

West Santa Cruz terrace 
.. \ ..... - -.--- _._- _ .. _.- .--. --.. _._- - .'- -. - _.- .--"-' 

: 55 . West Santa Cruz terrace 
-- .- ~- <'.-.~- -- - . .--" - - .. -~ .. --------.-.--.------.-.-- .---.-~---.-.... ---. _. -.---

_~? .. __ ,, __ ,__,,"_ T or:?' .. -"Cl"ey ___ .. ___ .. ... _... .. _ ...... _; __ ~§_.~ ... __ ._ ._L~.ClJ~!S c~ee~._ .... _ .... _ .. _ .... _ ....... _ 

· ?_3_ ..... _ ....... __ ; .. ~_~~r.~~£!§li!1 .. _ .... _. ; 57 i Soquel valley .... , 

.. ~~._.._. _ .. _.;_~.~X~~...?~ .. ,,§l ... II~Y_. __ ..... '.~ .. ~' .~.-.. ' .. =_ .. ~.~-_. ~I~~~:~ ._~ .... ~.I~~~(§~~~c:.g~~~t!i~~~~_.::.· .... _, 
25 ... __ .... _ .... L.2~~_"Cl~~_._. __ . __ ._ .. _ ..... _ .... __ : West Santa Cruz terrace 

26 ..... _ .. _._ .. .'. Vi!~~.-"Cl~eL_ .. ___ ...... _._ .. _.. _ ... c_.Q.i!!"9Y.:-_Ij~!~s.~~--"~!~~L. __ .. ____ ~~ 
_~?. ____ . ___ ...... ~ ... §an~~_ R~~ .. ~Y~II.~X .. _. __ .. ~~ ..... ___ .. 
. _~~.. __ ~.~._L~~-.§i.l!l.~..C?.':l-~-~I.I~X .. _- .. --.-... -..... __ .. 

;.~~.:. ......_ .. L~r.r?'X?' .. 9.~_!~.~.r~.z.YCl~.~X 
30._.;_§~E1 .. ~.~P~!~~?y~~I~y . 
31 '~!1.~-'.~I!l.~_~ .. ClI~~}' _ .... 

L!:()~~~~.() .. ~."~"~L ... _ ......... . 

i Santa Cruz Purisima formation 

Ano Nuevo area 

Gilr~y~Ij?I!~s.~~~"~IIe::\,- _ ... 
.L!:'_~~.~Cl9.~r~_yalle}' .. _ .. 

, 33 

·34 _.' ... §.Cl!i!1~_YCl~~L _. _ .. __ . ___ ___. ___ .. _ .... _ .. _.. . __ .. .. ....... i .~ .. ~'2!Cl .. ~lar§l."Cl! ~~L _.. ,_,, __ . _ .. _._ .. ' 

-176-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 3.pdf

Resolution No.R3-2012-0025 
-22 

Table 1: Groundwater Basins in the Central Coast Region by GIS Basin Number (See 
IVI.~pJ .. __ ._._. __ ....... . ... _........... . ... __ .. _._. _ .. _. __ .. ----c ...... -.... - ...... __ ._._ ......... _ ....... _._ .. . 

GIS-SASINGROU·NDWiATER-SASIN NAME 
NUMBER 

,_. ___ .,_._. ___ .~ ____ • _"......;;: ___ • __ • ___ ~_ •• ___ • ____ • __ ." "' .. __ __ •••• 1 __ • ___ ••• __ • __ •• _ ._ •• 

1 . Carpinteria 

, Santa Barbara 

3 . Montecito 
'--~-.. - "-- --~----.--..!-~~--.---.- .. -~.-------------.--- -, .--.. _-._ .. -~ -_. 

. GIS BASIN' GROUNDWATER BASIN 

. NUMBER ._L~~I\II'!. __ ._ .. ____ ........... _ .. _ ..... _ ..... . 

_. :_.':i~!.~_~~~~~ va~~~ ........ _ ..... «_ •• _, 

L~al~~_~ .. -,,~J!~t __ . __ .... _._ .. __ .. ._, 
· 4 ; Foothill . . i Bitter Water valley • "5 -.- ..... --..... _-"<-·G~t~·-------" .. --...... -----. -. . .. -. ----- "---r39·-·- . _. -·T·D~YL~k-;·~~i i;y-----· --...--"-." 

6 , Santa Y nez River v~II~Y-----·- -. ---. .'-..... -·[-40-_···- _co:. Ca~~-;;i-~~I~Y--·--·-"---·--·-·-
· 7--·--.. - T S~t~-Yn;;R·~~; ~;II~y-..·-· .. ·-· · ... -.. ·-T~L-~.~= -. _~~I~I·i~~~_v.~~i=.~~.~-=:·~~: .. -.~.=·~._._J 
j~.~= -=~~~.~~~.I~~~~~;;;-ci-~j~X_=~~.=~·.·=~.·~---··--·-··--.-- _J .. ~~~~~~~~i~er ~~I~}' ... . 
~.~._ ___ ... _ .... i._~i~_,=~~~~.~~.~~ .. _........ . .. _ .~. . ... . .. J.§.~I!~~~~~II.~I. __ . __ ....... . 
· _ !.Q. . ...._ .. _L§.an .~~~~~i~ ... ~E~~~y~II.~~._ ......... __ :I.r~~.,=i!l.?~_-"~~~X_. ____ . __ . __ 

: 12 

13 

14 
-' - - .. - -_.- .. - -

15 

16 

· 17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

Santa Maria 

.. . ,.~.~y~.I!l.~ .. ~all~y ..... 

_:.§.i~LSl:>~'2~L~~~.~ . 
. '3.<3!§l~l.Y§llley 

...... .. §..~.11...!: ~l~_Q~l~p.~ '.t'Cl II ey 

._~~.~g~9~."C3!I~y ... 

. :.F3Ln ~o~.C3_~Cl-"Cl.II~l 
. ,=()!O "al~ex_ .. 

,47 

_ . ___ L§~lin~~.,,-~~~)'._ .... __ ........ _. 
i Upper Santa Ana valley 

- .. 1---•.• ________________ ._. __ . '. -.----------.-~~- - - . 

L§~~!1§l.~_~.~JI.~Y ......... ____ ... 
; Salinas valley 

---l- ---------.. ---.--.--.. -.------.--

_ L§~!1!~~~.Cl~.~II~)" __ . 
. ._. ____ . __ . . .... __ ..L9~i~!1.§.~_~~_,,~~I~.Y __ . 

: 51 

52 

·53 

; 54 

_,-~!~oJ~!1_~~~~t~~_\f~~~'y 
_ , ... f'!~~_~!~.F3()_~~""p9i!1!.. ." _ .. 

: Gilroy-Hollister valley 
.1-..... _-----_. __ .- - ... ~.--.-•..• ---.. --. _ ... 

West Santa Cruz terrace 
.. \ ..... - -.--- _._- _ .. _.- .--. --.. _._- - .'- -. - _.- .--"-' 

: 55 . West Santa Cruz terrace 
-- .- ~- <'.-.~- -- - . .--" - - .. -~ .. --------.-.--.------.-.-- .---.-~---.-.... ---. _. -.---

_~? .. __ ,, __ ,__,,"_ T or:?' .. -"Cl"ey ___ .. ___ .. ... _... .. _ ...... _; __ ~§_.~ ... __ ._ ._L~.ClJ~!S c~ee~._ .... _ .... _ .. _ .... _ ....... _ 

· ?_3_ ..... _ ....... __ ; .. ~_~~r.~~£!§li!1 .. _ .... _. ; 57 i Soquel valley .... , 

.. ~~._.._. _ .. _.;_~.~X~~...?~ .. ,,§l ... II~Y_. __ ..... '.~ .. ~' .~.-.. ' .. =_ .. ~.~-_. ~I~~~:~ ._~ .... ~.I~~~(§~~~c:.g~~~t!i~~~~_.::.· .... _, 
25 ... __ .... _ .... L.2~~_"Cl~~_._. __ . __ ._ .. _ ..... _ .... __ : West Santa Cruz terrace 

26 ..... _ .. _._ .. .'. Vi!~~.-"Cl~eL_ .. ___ ...... _._ .. _.. _ ... c_.Q.i!!"9Y.:-_Ij~!~s.~~--"~!~~L. __ .. ____ ~~ 
_~?. ____ . ___ ...... ~ ... §an~~_ R~~ .. ~Y~II.~X .. _. __ .. ~~ ..... ___ .. 
. _~~.. __ ~.~._L~~-.§i.l!l.~..C?.':l-~-~I.I~X .. _- .. --.-... -..... __ .. 

;.~~.:. ......_ .. L~r.r?'X?' .. 9.~_!~.~.r~.z.YCl~.~X 
30._.;_§~E1 .. ~.~P~!~~?y~~I~y . 
31 '~!1.~-'.~I!l.~_~ .. ClI~~}' _ .... 

L!:()~~~~.() .. ~."~"~L ... _ ......... . 

i Santa Cruz Purisima formation 

Ano Nuevo area 

Gilr~y~Ij?I!~s.~~~"~IIe::\,- _ ... 
.L!:'_~~.~Cl9.~r~_yalle}' .. _ .. 

, 33 

·34 _.' ... §.Cl!i!1~_YCl~~L _. _ .. __ . ___ ___. ___ .. _ .... _ .. _.. . __ .. .. ....... i .~ .. ~'2!Cl .. ~lar§l."Cl! ~~L _.. ,_,, __ . _ .. _._ .. ' 



Resolution No.R3-2012-0025 
-23 

ATTACHMENT C: Definitions Related to Post-Construction Requirements 

Bioretention - A Stormwater Control Measure designed to retain stormwater runoff using 
vegetated depressions and soils engineered to collect, store, treat, and infiltrate runoff. 
Bioretention designs do not include underdrains. 

Biotreatment or Biofiltration Treatment -A Stormwater Control Measure designed to detain 
stormwater runoff, filter stormwater through soil media and plant roots, and release the treated 
stormwater runoff to the storm drain system. Biotreatment systems include an underdrain. 

Discretionary Approval - A project approval which requires the exercise of judgment or 
deliberation when the MS4 decides to approve or disapprove a particular activity, as 
distinguished from situations where the MS4 merely has to determine whether there has been 
conformity with applicable statutes, ordinances, or regulations. 

Dispersion - The practice of routing stormwater runoff from impervious areas, such as 
rooftops, walkways, and patios, onto the surface of adjacent pervious areas. Stormwater runoff 
is dispersed via splash block, dispersion trench, or sheet flow and soaks into the ground as it 
moves slowly across the surface of the pervious area. 

Drainage Management Area (DMAs) - Following the low impact development principle of 
managing stormwater through small-scale, decentralized measures, DMAs are designated 
individual drainage areas within a Regulated Project that typically follow grade breaks and roof 
ridge lines and account for each surface type (e.g., landscaping, pervious paving, or roofs). 
Stormwater Control Measures for runoff reduction and structural facilities are designed for each 
DMA. 

Equivalent Impervious Surface Area - is equal to Impervious Tributary Surface Area (ft2) + 
Pervious Tributary Surface Area (ff) , where Impervious Tributary Surface Area is defined as the 
sum of all of the site's conventional impervious surfaces, and Pervious Tributary Surface Area is 
defined as the sum of all of the site's pervious surfaces, corrected by a factor equal to the 
surface's runoff coefficient. . 

Evapotranspiration (ET) - The loss of water to the atmosphere by the combined processes of 
evaporation (from soil and plant surfaces) and transpiration (from plant tissues). 

Flow-Through Water Quality Treatment Systems - Stormwater Control Measures that are 
designed to treat stormwater through filtration and/or settling. Flow-through systems do not 
provide significant retention or detention benefits for stormwater volume control. 

Groundwater Basins - Groundwater basin areas defined by the California Department of 
Water Resources (DWR) and used in the .Central Coast Water Board Joint Effort for 
Hydromodification Control to identify groundwater receiving-water issues and areas where 
recharge is a key watershed process. DWR based identification of the groundwater basins on 
the presence and areal extent of unconsolidated alluvial soils identified on a 1 :250,000 scale 
from geologic maps provided by the California Department of Conservation, Division of Mines 
and Geology. DWR then further evaluated identified groundwater basin areas through review of 
relevant geologic and hydrogeologic reports, well completion reports, court-determined 
adjudicated basin boundaries, and contact with local agencies to refine the basin boundaries. 

-177-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 3.pdf

Resolution No.R3-2012-0025 
-23 

ATTACHMENT C: Definitions Related to Post-Construction Requirements 

Bioretention - A Stormwater Control Measure designed to retain stormwater runoff using 
vegetated depressions and soils engineered to collect, store, treat, and infiltrate runoff. 
Bioretention designs do not include underdrains. 

Biotreatment or Biofiltration Treatment -A Stormwater Control Measure designed to detain 
stormwater runoff, filter stormwater through soil media and plant roots, and release the treated 
stormwater runoff to the storm drain system. Biotreatment systems include an underdrain. 

Discretionary Approval - A project approval which requires the exercise of judgment or 
deliberation when the MS4 decides to approve or disapprove a particular activity, as 
distinguished from situations where the MS4 merely has to determine whether there has been 
conformity with applicable statutes, ordinances, or regulations. 

Dispersion - The practice of routing stormwater runoff from impervious areas, such as 
rooftops, walkways, and patios, onto the surface of adjacent pervious areas. Stormwater runoff 
is dispersed via splash block, dispersion trench, or sheet flow and soaks into the ground as it 
moves slowly across the surface of the pervious area. 

Drainage Management Area (DMAs) - Following the low impact development principle of 
managing stormwater through small-scale, decentralized measures, DMAs are designated 
individual drainage areas within a Regulated Project that typically follow grade breaks and roof 
ridge lines and account for each surface type (e.g., landscaping, pervious paving, or roofs). 
Stormwater Control Measures for runoff reduction and structural facilities are designed for each 
DMA. 

Equivalent Impervious Surface Area - is equal to Impervious Tributary Surface Area (ft2) + 
Pervious Tributary Surface Area (ff) , where Impervious Tributary Surface Area is defined as the 
sum of all of the site's conventional impervious surfaces, and Pervious Tributary Surface Area is 
defined as the sum of all of the site's pervious surfaces, corrected by a factor equal to the 
surface's runoff coefficient. . 

Evapotranspiration (ET) - The loss of water to the atmosphere by the combined processes of 
evaporation (from soil and plant surfaces) and transpiration (from plant tissues). 

Flow-Through Water Quality Treatment Systems - Stormwater Control Measures that are 
designed to treat stormwater through filtration and/or settling. Flow-through systems do not 
provide significant retention or detention benefits for stormwater volume control. 

Groundwater Basins - Groundwater basin areas defined by the California Department of 
Water Resources (DWR) and used in the .Central Coast Water Board Joint Effort for 
Hydromodification Control to identify groundwater receiving-water issues and areas where 
recharge is a key watershed process. DWR based identification of the groundwater basins on 
the presence and areal extent of unconsolidated alluvial soils identified on a 1 :250,000 scale 
from geologic maps provided by the California Department of Conservation, Division of Mines 
and Geology. DWR then further evaluated identified groundwater basin areas through review of 
relevant geologic and hydrogeologic reports, well completion reports, court-determined 
adjudicated basin boundaries, and contact with local agencies to refine the basin boundaries. 



Resolution No.R3-2012-0025 
-24 

Impervious Surface - A hard, non-vegetated surface area that prevents or significantly limits 
the entry of water into the soil mantle, as would occur under natural conditions prior to 
development. Common impervious surfaces include, but are not limited to, roof tops, walkways, 
patios, driveways, parking lots or storage areas, concrete or asphalt paving, oiled, macadam or 
other surfaces which similarly impede the natural infiltration of stormwater. Open, uncovered 
retention/detention facilities shall not be considered as impervious surfaces for purposes of 
determining whether the thresholds for application of Performance Requirements are exceeded. 
However, for modeling purposes, open, uncovered facilities that retain/detain water (e.g., 
retention ponds, pools) shall be considered impervious surfaces. 

Land recycling - The reuse of abandoned, vacant, or underused properties for redevelopment 
or repurposing 

Landscaped Areas - Areas of soil and vegetation not including any impervious surfaces of 
ancillary features such as impervious patios, BBQ areas, and pools. 

Large River - A river draining 200 square miles or more. 

Low Impact Development (LID) - A stormwater and land use management strategy that 
strives to mimic pre-disturbance hydrologic processes of infiltration, filtration, storage, 
evaporation, and transpiration by emphasizing conservation, use of on-site natural features, site 
planning, and distributed stormwater management practices that are integrated into a project 
design. 

Ministerial Approval - A project approval which involves little or no personal judgment by 
the MS4 as to the wisdom or manner of carrying out the project and only involves the use of 
fixed standards or objective measurements. 

Native Vegetation - Vegetation comprised of plant species indigenous to the Central Coast 
Region and which reasonably could have been expected to naturally occur on the .site. 

Net Impervious Area - The sum of new and replaced post-project impervious areas, minus any 
reduction in total imperviousness from the pre-project to post-project condition: Net Impervious 
Area = (New and Replaced Impervious Area) - (Reduced Impervious Area Credit), where 
·Reduced Impervious Area Credit is the total pre-project to post-project reduction in impervious 
area, if any. 

New Development - Land disturbing activities that include the construction or installation of 
buildings, roads, driveways a!ld other impervious surfaces. Development projects with pre
existing impervious surfaces are not considered New Development. 

Percentile Rainfall Event (e.g., 85th and 95th) - A percentile rainfall event represents a rainfall 
amount which a certain percent of ail rainfall events for the period of record do not exceed. For 
example, the 95th percentile rainfall event is defined as the measured rainfall depth 
accumulated over a 24-hour period, for the period of record, which ranks as the ~5th percentile 
rainfall depth based on the range of all daily event occurrences during this period. 

Permeable or Pervious Surface - A surface that allows varying amounts of stormwater to 
infiltrate into the ground. Examples include pasture, native vegetation areas, landscape areas, 
and permeable pavements designed to infiltrate. 

-178-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 3.pdf

Resolution No.R3-2012-0025 
-24 

Impervious Surface - A hard, non-vegetated surface area that prevents or significantly limits 
the entry of water into the soil mantle, as would occur under natural conditions prior to 
development. Common impervious surfaces include, but are not limited to, roof tops, walkways, 
patios, driveways, parking lots or storage areas, concrete or asphalt paving, oiled, macadam or 
other surfaces which similarly impede the natural infiltration of stormwater. Open, uncovered 
retention/detention facilities shall not be considered as impervious surfaces for purposes of 
determining whether the thresholds for application of Performance Requirements are exceeded. 
However, for modeling purposes, open, uncovered facilities that retain/detain water (e.g., 
retention ponds, pools) shall be considered impervious surfaces. 

Land recycling - The reuse of abandoned, vacant, or underused properties for redevelopment 
or repurposing 

Landscaped Areas - Areas of soil and vegetation not including any impervious surfaces of 
ancillary features such as impervious patios, BBQ areas, and pools. 

Large River - A river draining 200 square miles or more. 

Low Impact Development (LID) - A stormwater and land use management strategy that 
strives to mimic pre-disturbance hydrologic processes of infiltration, filtration, storage, 
evaporation, and transpiration by emphasizing conservation, use of on-site natural features, site 
planning, and distributed stormwater management practices that are integrated into a project 
design. 

Ministerial Approval - A project approval which involves little or no personal judgment by 
the MS4 as to the wisdom or manner of carrying out the project and only involves the use of 
fixed standards or objective measurements. 

Native Vegetation - Vegetation comprised of plant species indigenous to the Central Coast 
Region and which reasonably could have been expected to naturally occur on the .site. 

Net Impervious Area - The sum of new and replaced post-project impervious areas, minus any 
reduction in total imperviousness from the pre-project to post-project condition: Net Impervious 
Area = (New and Replaced Impervious Area) - (Reduced Impervious Area Credit), where 
·Reduced Impervious Area Credit is the total pre-project to post-project reduction in impervious 
area, if any. 

New Development - Land disturbing activities that include the construction or installation of 
buildings, roads, driveways a!ld other impervious surfaces. Development projects with pre
existing impervious surfaces are not considered New Development. 

Percentile Rainfall Event (e.g., 85th and 95th) - A percentile rainfall event represents a rainfall 
amount which a certain percent of ail rainfall events for the period of record do not exceed. For 
example, the 95th percentile rainfall event is defined as the measured rainfall depth 
accumulated over a 24-hour period, for the period of record, which ranks as the ~5th percentile 
rainfall depth based on the range of all daily event occurrences during this period. 

Permeable or Pervious Surface - A surface that allows varying amounts of stormwater to 
infiltrate into the ground. Examples include pasture, native vegetation areas, landscape areas, 
and permeable pavements designed to infiltrate. 



Resolution No.R3-2012-0025 
-25 

Pre-Project - Stormwater runoff conditions that exist onsite immediately before development 
activities occur. This definition is not intended to be interpreted as that period before any 
human-induced land activities occurred. This definition pertains to redevelopment as well as 
initial development. 

Project Site - The area defined by the legal boundaries of a parcel or parcels of land within 
which the new development or redevelopment takes place and is subject to these Post
Construction Stormwater Management Requirements. 

Rainwater Harvest - Capture and storage of rainwater or stormwater runoff for later use, such 
as irrigation (without runofr') , domestic use (e.g. toilets), or storage for fire suppression. 

Receiving Waters - Bodies of water, surface water systems or groundwater that receive 
surface water runoff through a point source, sheet flow or infiltration. 

Redevelopment - On a site that has already been developed, construction or installation of a 
building or other structure subject to the Permittee's planning and building authority including: 1) 
the creation or addition of impervious surfaces; 2) the expansion of a building footprint or 
addition or replacement of a structure; or 3) structural development including construction, 
installation or expansion of a building or other structure. It does not include routine road 
maintenance, nor does it include emergency construction activities required to immediately 
protect public health and safety.· 

Replaced Impervious Surface - The removal of existing impervious surfaces down to bare soil 
or base course, and replacement with new impervious surface. Replacement of impervious 
surfaces that are part of routine road maintenance activities are not considered replaced 
impervious surfaces. 

Self-Retaining Areas - (also called "zero discharge" areas), are designed to retain some 
amount of rainfall (by ponding and infiltration and/or evapotranspiration) without producing 
stormwater runoff. Self-Retaining Areas may include graded depressions with landscaping or 
pervious pavement. 

Self-Treating Areas - are a portion of a Regulated Project in which infiltration, 
evapotranspiration and other natural processes remove pollutants from stormwater. The self
treating areas may include conserved natural open areas and areas of native landscaping. The 
self-treating area only treats the rain falling on itself and does not receive stormwater runoff from 
other areas. 

Routine Road Maintenance - includes pothole and square cut patching; overlaying existing 
asphalt or concrete pavement with asphalt or concrete without expanding the area of coverage; 
shoulder grading; reshaping/regrading drainage systems; crack sealing; resurfacing with in-kind 
material without expanding the road prism or altering the original line and grade and/or hydraulic 
capacity of the road. 

Single-Family Residence - The building of one single new house or the addition and/or 
replacement of impervious surface associated with one single existing house, which is not part 
of a larger plan of development. 

Stormwater Control Measures - Stormwater management measures integrated into project 
designs that emphasize protection of watershed processes through replication of pre-

-179-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 3.pdf

Resolution No.R3-2012-0025 
-25 

Pre-Project - Stormwater runoff conditions that exist onsite immediately before development 
activities occur. This definition is not intended to be interpreted as that period before any 
human-induced land activities occurred. This definition pertains to redevelopment as well as 
initial development. 

Project Site - The area defined by the legal boundaries of a parcel or parcels of land within 
which the new development or redevelopment takes place and is subject to these Post
Construction Stormwater Management Requirements. 

Rainwater Harvest - Capture and storage of rainwater or stormwater runoff for later use, such 
as irrigation (without runofr') , domestic use (e.g. toilets), or storage for fire suppression. 

Receiving Waters - Bodies of water, surface water systems or groundwater that receive 
surface water runoff through a point source, sheet flow or infiltration. 

Redevelopment - On a site that has already been developed, construction or installation of a 
building or other structure subject to the Permittee's planning and building authority including: 1) 
the creation or addition of impervious surfaces; 2) the expansion of a building footprint or 
addition or replacement of a structure; or 3) structural development including construction, 
installation or expansion of a building or other structure. It does not include routine road 
maintenance, nor does it include emergency construction activities required to immediately 
protect public health and safety.· 

Replaced Impervious Surface - The removal of existing impervious surfaces down to bare soil 
or base course, and replacement with new impervious surface. Replacement of impervious 
surfaces that are part of routine road maintenance activities are not considered replaced 
impervious surfaces. 

Self-Retaining Areas - (also called "zero discharge" areas), are designed to retain some 
amount of rainfall (by ponding and infiltration and/or evapotranspiration) without producing 
stormwater runoff. Self-Retaining Areas may include graded depressions with landscaping or 
pervious pavement. 

Self-Treating Areas - are a portion of a Regulated Project in which infiltration, 
evapotranspiration and other natural processes remove pollutants from stormwater. The self
treating areas may include conserved natural open areas and areas of native landscaping. The 
self-treating area only treats the rain falling on itself and does not receive stormwater runoff from 
other areas. 

Routine Road Maintenance - includes pothole and square cut patching; overlaying existing 
asphalt or concrete pavement with asphalt or concrete without expanding the area of coverage; 
shoulder grading; reshaping/regrading drainage systems; crack sealing; resurfacing with in-kind 
material without expanding the road prism or altering the original line and grade and/or hydraulic 
capacity of the road. 

Single-Family Residence - The building of one single new house or the addition and/or 
replacement of impervious surface associated with one single existing house, which is not part 
of a larger plan of development. 

Stormwater Control Measures - Stormwater management measures integrated into project 
designs that emphasize protection of watershed processes through replication of pre-



Resolution No.R3-2012-0025 
-26 

development runoff patterns (rate, volume, duration). Physical control measures include, but 
are not limited to, bioretentionirain gardens, permeable pavements, roof downspout controls, 
dispersion, soil quality and depth, minimal excavation foundations, vegetated roofs, and water 
use. Design control measures include but are not limited to conserving and protecting the 
function of existing natural areas, maintaining or creating riparian buffers, using onsite natural 
drainage features, directing runoff from impervious surfaces toward pervious areas, and 
distributing physical control measures to maximize infiltration, filtration, storage, evaporation, 
and transpiration of stormwater before it becomes runoff. 

Stormwater Control Plan - A plan, developed by the Regulated Project applicant, detailing 
how the project will achieve the applicable Post-Construction Stormwater Management 
Requirements (for both onsite and offsite systems). 

-180-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 3.pdf

Resolution No.R3-2012-0025 
-26 

development runoff patterns (rate, volume, duration). Physical control measures include, but 
are not limited to, bioretentionirain gardens, permeable pavements, roof downspout controls, 
dispersion, soil quality and depth, minimal excavation foundations, vegetated roofs, and water 
use. Design control measures include but are not limited to conserving and protecting the 
function of existing natural areas, maintaining or creating riparian buffers, using onsite natural 
drainage features, directing runoff from impervious surfaces toward pervious areas, and 
distributing physical control measures to maximize infiltration, filtration, storage, evaporation, 
and transpiration of stormwater before it becomes runoff. 

Stormwater Control Plan - A plan, developed by the Regulated Project applicant, detailing 
how the project will achieve the applicable Post-Construction Stormwater Management 
Requirements (for both onsite and offsite systems). 



Resolution No.R3-2012-0025 
-27 

ATTACHMENT D: Hydrologic Analysis and Stormwater Control Measure Sizing Guidance 

Project site conditions will influence the ability to comply with the Water Quality Treatment and 
Runoff Reterition Performance Requirements. This Appendix provides the acceptable 
hydrologic analysis and Stormwater Control Measure (SCM) sizing methodology to evaluate 
runoff characteristics. This guidance provides an event-based hydrologic analysis approach. 
Calculations are conservative to acknowledge the limitations of event-based approaches. Using 
an event-based approach avoids the necessity of using calibrated, continuous simulation 
modeling. The Permittee can Elflow project applicants to use a locally/regionally calibrated 
continuous simulation-based model to improve hydrologic analysis and SCM sizing. 

1) Determination of Tributary Area 
Determining the Tributary Area is the basis for calculating the runoff volumes subject to 
Performance Requirement Number 3. Tributary Area should be calculated for each 
individual Drainage Management Area to facilitate the design of SCMs for each Drainage 
Management Area. The generic equation below illustrates how various portions of the site 
are addressed when determining the Tributary Area. The Tributary Area calculation must 
also account for the adjustments for Redevelopment Projects subject to Performance 
Requirement NO.3. 

a) Compute the Tributary Area, using the equation: 

Tributary Area = (Entire Project Area) - (Undisturbed or Planted Areas)* - (Impervious 
Surface Areas that Discharge to Infiltrating Areas)** 

*As defined in Section B.4.d.iv.1. 
** As defined in Section B.4.d.iv.2. 

b) Adjustments for Redevelopment Project Tributary Area - Where the Regulated Project 
includes replaced impervious surface, the following Tributary Area adjustments apply: 

i) Redevelopment Projects outside an approved Urban Sustainability Area, as 
described in Section C.3. - The total amount of replaced impervious surface area 
shall be multiplied by 0.5 when calculating the Tributary Area. 

ii) Redevelopment Projects located within an approved Urban Sustainability Area 
(Section C.3) - The replaced impervious surface areas may be subtracted from the 
Tributary Area. The total amount of runoff volume to be retained from replaced 
impervious surfaces shall be equivalent to the pre-project runoff volume retained. 

2) Determination of Design Volumes 
There are two design volumes to calculate, the Retention Volume and the Water Quality 
Volume. 

a) Determine the 85 th and 95th percentile storm event: 
Use either the methodology provided in Part 1.0 of the December 2009 Technical 
Guidance on Implementing the Stormwater Runoff Requirements for Federal Projects 

-181-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 3.pdf

Resolution No.R3-2012-0025 
-27 

ATTACHMENT D: Hydrologic Analysis and Stormwater Control Measure Sizing Guidance 

Project site conditions will influence the ability to comply with the Water Quality Treatment and 
Runoff Reterition Performance Requirements. This Appendix provides the acceptable 
hydrologic analysis and Stormwater Control Measure (SCM) sizing methodology to evaluate 
runoff characteristics. This guidance provides an event-based hydrologic analysis approach. 
Calculations are conservative to acknowledge the limitations of event-based approaches. Using 
an event-based approach avoids the necessity of using calibrated, continuous simulation 
modeling. The Permittee can Elflow project applicants to use a locally/regionally calibrated 
continuous simulation-based model to improve hydrologic analysis and SCM sizing. 

1) Determination of Tributary Area 
Determining the Tributary Area is the basis for calculating the runoff volumes subject to 
Performance Requirement Number 3. Tributary Area should be calculated for each 
individual Drainage Management Area to facilitate the design of SCMs for each Drainage 
Management Area. The generic equation below illustrates how various portions of the site 
are addressed when determining the Tributary Area. The Tributary Area calculation must 
also account for the adjustments for Redevelopment Projects subject to Performance 
Requirement NO.3. 

a) Compute the Tributary Area, using the equation: 

Tributary Area = (Entire Project Area) - (Undisturbed or Planted Areas)* - (Impervious 
Surface Areas that Discharge to Infiltrating Areas)** 

*As defined in Section B.4.d.iv.1. 
** As defined in Section B.4.d.iv.2. 

b) Adjustments for Redevelopment Project Tributary Area - Where the Regulated Project 
includes replaced impervious surface, the following Tributary Area adjustments apply: 

i) Redevelopment Projects outside an approved Urban Sustainability Area, as 
described in Section C.3. - The total amount of replaced impervious surface area 
shall be multiplied by 0.5 when calculating the Tributary Area. 

ii) Redevelopment Projects located within an approved Urban Sustainability Area 
(Section C.3) - The replaced impervious surface areas may be subtracted from the 
Tributary Area. The total amount of runoff volume to be retained from replaced 
impervious surfaces shall be equivalent to the pre-project runoff volume retained. 

2) Determination of Design Volumes 
There are two design volumes to calculate, the Retention Volume and the Water Quality 
Volume. 

a) Determine the 85 th and 95th percentile storm event: 
Use either the methodology provided in Part 1.0 of the December 2009 Technical 
Guidance on Implementing the Stormwater Runoff Requirements for Federal Projects 



Resolution No.R3-2012-0025 
-28 

under Section 438 of the Energy Independence and Security Act,? or, rainfall statistics 
provided by the Central Coast Water Board, whichever produces a more accurate value 
for rainfall depth. 

b) Compute the Runoff CoefficientS "C" for the area tributary to the SCMs, using the 
equation: 

C = 0.858i 3_ 0.78i2 + 0.774i + 0.04 
Where "i" is the fraction of the tributary area that is impervious9 

c) Compute Runoff: 

Runoff from 95th Percentile 24-hr Rainfall Depth = C x Rainfall Depth95th x Tributary Area 

Runoff from 85th Percentile 24-hr Rainfall Depth = C x Rainfall Depth85th x Tributary Area 

All rainfall directly incident to each SCM must be considered in determining runoff, including: 
tributary landscaping, impervious areas, pervious pavements, and bioretention features. 

d) Calculate Retention Volume: 
Calculate the Retention Volume associated with the WMZ's Runoff Retention Requirement 
(e.g., Retain 95th Percentile Rainfall Event, or, Retain 85th Percentile Rainfall Event) by 
multiplying runoff by the 48-hour drawdown regression coefficient10 of 1.963: 

Retention Volume = Runoff from 95th Percentile 24-hr Rainfall Depth x 1.963 

or, 

Retention Volume = Runoff from 85th Percentile 24-hr Rainfall Depth x 1.963 

The required Retention Volume shall be spread out over the site to the maximum extent 
feasible to promote infiltration. 

Note: For redevelopment projects located within an approved Urban Sustainability Area 
(Section C.3.), the total amount of runoff volume to be retained from replaced impervious 
surfaces shall be equivalent to the pre-project runoff volume retained. 

e) Calculate Water Quality Volume: 

? US EPA, 841-8-09-00. http://www.epa.gov/owow/NP S/lid/section438/pdflfinal_ sec438 _ eisa. pdf 
.S As set forth in WEF Manual of Practice No. 23/ASCE Manual of Practice No. 87, (1998), pages 175-178 
and based on the translation of rainfall to runoff using a runoff regression equation developed using two 
¥ears of data from more than 60 urban watersheds nationwide. 

As defined in Post-Construction Requirements Attachment C. 
10 This drawdown regression constant, 1.963, appears in Urban Runoff Quality Management (WEF 
Manual of Practice No. 23/ASCE Manual of Practice No. 87, (1998), pp. 175-178) and is typically used in 
the regression equation relating mean annual runoff-producing rainfall'depths to the "Maximized Water 
Quality Capture Volume" which corresponds to the "knee of the cumulative probability curve." This 
regression was based on analysis of long-term rainfall data from seven rain gages representing climatic 
zones across the country. The Maximized Water Quality Capture Volume corresponds to approximately 
the 85th percentile runoff event, and ranges from 82 to 88%. 

-182-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 3.pdf

Resolution No.R3-2012-0025 
-28 

under Section 438 of the Energy Independence and Security Act,? or, rainfall statistics 
provided by the Central Coast Water Board, whichever produces a more accurate value 
for rainfall depth. 

b) Compute the Runoff CoefficientS "C" for the area tributary to the SCMs, using the 
equation: 

C = 0.858i 3_ 0.78i2 + 0.774i + 0.04 
Where "i" is the fraction of the tributary area that is impervious9 

c) Compute Runoff: 

Runoff from 95th Percentile 24-hr Rainfall Depth = C x Rainfall Depth95th x Tributary Area 

Runoff from 85th Percentile 24-hr Rainfall Depth = C x Rainfall Depth85th x Tributary Area 

All rainfall directly incident to each SCM must be considered in determining runoff, including: 
tributary landscaping, impervious areas, pervious pavements, and bioretention features. 

d) Calculate Retention Volume: 
Calculate the Retention Volume associated with the WMZ's Runoff Retention Requirement 
(e.g., Retain 95th Percentile Rainfall Event, or, Retain 85th Percentile Rainfall Event) by 
multiplying runoff by the 48-hour drawdown regression coefficient10 of 1.963: 

Retention Volume = Runoff from 95th Percentile 24-hr Rainfall Depth x 1.963 

or, 

Retention Volume = Runoff from 85th Percentile 24-hr Rainfall Depth x 1.963 

The required Retention Volume shall be spread out over the site to the maximum extent 
feasible to promote infiltration. 

Note: For redevelopment projects located within an approved Urban Sustainability Area 
(Section C.3.), the total amount of runoff volume to be retained from replaced impervious 
surfaces shall be equivalent to the pre-project runoff volume retained. 

e) Calculate Water Quality Volume: 

? US EPA, 841-8-09-00. http://www.epa.gov/owow/NP S/lid/section438/pdflfinal_ sec438 _ eisa. pdf 
.S As set forth in WEF Manual of Practice No. 23/ASCE Manual of Practice No. 87, (1998), pages 175-178 
and based on the translation of rainfall to runoff using a runoff regression equation developed using two 
¥ears of data from more than 60 urban watersheds nationwide. 

As defined in Post-Construction Requirements Attachment C. 
10 This drawdown regression constant, 1.963, appears in Urban Runoff Quality Management (WEF 
Manual of Practice No. 23/ASCE Manual of Practice No. 87, (1998), pp. 175-178) and is typically used in 
the regression equation relating mean annual runoff-producing rainfall'depths to the "Maximized Water 
Quality Capture Volume" which corresponds to the "knee of the cumulative probability curve." This 
regression was based on analysis of long-term rainfall data from seven rain gages representing climatic 
zones across the country. The Maximized Water Quality Capture Volume corresponds to approximately 
the 85th percentile runoff event, and ranges from 82 to 88%. 



Resolution No.R3-2012-0025 
-29 

Calculate the Water Quality Volume, by multiplying runoff from the 85 th Percentile 24-hr 
rainfall depth by the 48-hour drawdown regression coefficient of 1.963: 

Water Quality Volume = Runoff from 85th Percentile 24-hr Rainfall Depth X 1.963 

Note: For WMZs requiring retention of the 85th Percentile 24-hr rainfall depth, the Retention 
Volume and the Water Quality Volume are equivalent. 

3) Structural Stormwater Control Measure Sizing 
The Permittee shall require the Regulated Project applicant to use structural Stormwater Control 
Measures that optimize retention and result in optimal protection and restoration of watershed 
processes, such as Structural Control Measures associated with small-scale, decentralized 
facilities designed to infiltrate evapotranspirate, filter, or capture and use stormwater, to address 
the volumes calculated in 1 (above). Where the Regulated Project is within a Watershed 
Management Zone where infiltration is required, Permittees must use SCM designs that 
optimize infiltration of the entire Retention Volume to minimize the potential need for off-site 
mitigation. Various resources provide design guidance for fully infiltrative SCMs including: 

The Southern California LID BMP Manual 
The Contra Costa C.3 Manual 
The City of Santa Barbara LID BMP Manual 
The City of San Diego Storm Water Standards 
Central Coast LID Initiative Bioretention Design Guidance 

a) Where full Retention/Infiltration Cannot Be Achieved 
Where constraints limit the ability to fully infiltrate the Design Volume, a SCM design that 
ensures treatment of the 85 th percentile storm event and optimizes infiltration may be used. 
The SCM design shall function as a retention/detention facility and may include an 
underdrain with an orifice control to ensure that a minimum of 48 hours of extended 
detention is provided for the Water Quality Volume. Draw down calculations based on time 
steps and design configuration shall be used to size the orifice. 

b) Where site constraints preclude all retention/infiltration of the Design Volume. 
Flow-through SCM designs may be used to ensure treatment of the 85th percentile where 
site constraints prevent retention/infiltration of the Design Volume. Non-retention based 
treatment systems shall adhere to Performance Requirement NO.2. 

-183-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 3.pdf

Resolution No.R3-2012-0025 
-29 

Calculate the Water Quality Volume, by multiplying runoff from the 85 th Percentile 24-hr 
rainfall depth by the 48-hour drawdown regression coefficient of 1.963: 

Water Quality Volume = Runoff from 85th Percentile 24-hr Rainfall Depth X 1.963 

Note: For WMZs requiring retention of the 85th Percentile 24-hr rainfall depth, the Retention 
Volume and the Water Quality Volume are equivalent. 

3) Structural Stormwater Control Measure Sizing 
The Permittee shall require the Regulated Project applicant to use structural Stormwater Control 
Measures that optimize retention and result in optimal protection and restoration of watershed 
processes, such as Structural Control Measures associated with small-scale, decentralized 
facilities designed to infiltrate evapotranspirate, filter, or capture and use stormwater, to address 
the volumes calculated in 1 (above). Where the Regulated Project is within a Watershed 
Management Zone where infiltration is required, Permittees must use SCM designs that 
optimize infiltration of the entire Retention Volume to minimize the potential need for off-site 
mitigation. Various resources provide design guidance for fully infiltrative SCMs including: 

The Southern California LID BMP Manual 
The Contra Costa C.3 Manual 
The City of Santa Barbara LID BMP Manual 
The City of San Diego Storm Water Standards 
Central Coast LID Initiative Bioretention Design Guidance 

a) Where full Retention/Infiltration Cannot Be Achieved 
Where constraints limit the ability to fully infiltrate the Design Volume, a SCM design that 
ensures treatment of the 85 th percentile storm event and optimizes infiltration may be used. 
The SCM design shall function as a retention/detention facility and may include an 
underdrain with an orifice control to ensure that a minimum of 48 hours of extended 
detention is provided for the Water Quality Volume. Draw down calculations based on time 
steps and design configuration shall be used to size the orifice. 

b) Where site constraints preclude all retention/infiltration of the Design Volume. 
Flow-through SCM designs may be used to ensure treatment of the 85th percentile where 
site constraints prevent retention/infiltration of the Design Volume. Non-retention based 
treatment systems shall adhere to Performance Requirement NO.2. 



Resolution No. R3-2012-0025 
-30 

ATTACHMENT E: Ten Percent Adjustment ,to Retention Requirement - Calculation 
Instructions 

Off-site mitigation of full Retention Volume per Section B.4.d.vL is not required where technical 
infeasibility as described in Section C.1.c. limits on-site compliance with the Runoff Retention 
Performance Requirement AND ten percent of a project's Equivalent Impervious Surface Area 
has been dedicated to retention-based SCMs. The Water Quality Treatment Performance 
Requirement is not subject to this adjustment, Le., mitigation to achieve full compliance is 
required on- or off-site. 

Calculating Ten Percent of a Project's Equivalent Impervious Surface Area 

The area of the project that must be dedicated to structural SCMs to waive off-site compliance 
with the Runoff Retention Requirement is equal to ten percent of the project's Equivalent 
Impervious Surface Area, defined as: 

Equivalent Impervious Surface Area (ft2) = (Impervious Tributary Surface Area (ft2) + (Pervious 
Tributary Surface Area (ft2)) 

Impervious Tributary Surface Area is defined as the sum of all of the site's conventional 
impervious surfaces. When calculating Impervious Tributary Area: 

Do include: concrete, asphalt, conVentional roofs, metal structures and similar surfaces 
Do not include: green roofs 

Pervious Tributary Surface Area is defined as the sum of all of the site's pervious surfaces, 
corrected by a factor equal to the surface's runoff coefficient. When calculating Pervious 
Tributary Surface Area: 

Do include surfaces such as: unit pavers on sand; managed tUrf11; disturbed soils; and 
conventional landscaped areas (see Table 1 for correction factors). 
Example: 

Project Site includes 500 ft2 of unit pavers on sand. 
Pervious Tributary Surface Area = 500 ft2 X C = 50 ft2 
Where C = Correction Factor for unit pavers, 0.1, from Table 1. 

Do not include: Infiltration SCM surfaces (e.g., SCMs designed to specific performance 
objectives for retention/infiltration) including permeable pavement, bioretention cells, 
bioswales; natural and undisturbed landscape areas, or landscape areas compliant with 
the Model Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance (California Code of Regulations, Title 
23. Waters, Division 2. Department of Water Resources, Chapter 2.7.), or a local 
ordinance at least as effective as the Model Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance. 

11 Managed Turf includes turf areas intended to be mowed and maintained as turf within residential, 
commercial, industrial, and institutional settings. 

-184-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 3.pdf

Resolution No. R3-2012-0025 
-30 

ATTACHMENT E: Ten Percent Adjustment ,to Retention Requirement - Calculation 
Instructions 

Off-site mitigation of full Retention Volume per Section B.4.d.vL is not required where technical 
infeasibility as described in Section C.1.c. limits on-site compliance with the Runoff Retention 
Performance Requirement AND ten percent of a project's Equivalent Impervious Surface Area 
has been dedicated to retention-based SCMs. The Water Quality Treatment Performance 
Requirement is not subject to this adjustment, Le., mitigation to achieve full compliance is 
required on- or off-site. 

Calculating Ten Percent of a Project's Equivalent Impervious Surface Area 

The area of the project that must be dedicated to structural SCMs to waive off-site compliance 
with the Runoff Retention Requirement is equal to ten percent of the project's Equivalent 
Impervious Surface Area, defined as: 

Equivalent Impervious Surface Area (ft2) = (Impervious Tributary Surface Area (ft2) + (Pervious 
Tributary Surface Area (ft2)) 

Impervious Tributary Surface Area is defined as the sum of all of the site's conventional 
impervious surfaces. When calculating Impervious Tributary Area: 

Do include: concrete, asphalt, conVentional roofs, metal structures and similar surfaces 
Do not include: green roofs 

Pervious Tributary Surface Area is defined as the sum of all of the site's pervious surfaces, 
corrected by a factor equal to the surface's runoff coefficient. When calculating Pervious 
Tributary Surface Area: 

Do include surfaces such as: unit pavers on sand; managed tUrf11; disturbed soils; and 
conventional landscaped areas (see Table 1 for correction factors). 
Example: 

Project Site includes 500 ft2 of unit pavers on sand. 
Pervious Tributary Surface Area = 500 ft2 X C = 50 ft2 
Where C = Correction Factor for unit pavers, 0.1, from Table 1. 

Do not include: Infiltration SCM surfaces (e.g., SCMs designed to specific performance 
objectives for retention/infiltration) including permeable pavement, bioretention cells, 
bioswales; natural and undisturbed landscape areas, or landscape areas compliant with 
the Model Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance (California Code of Regulations, Title 
23. Waters, Division 2. Department of Water Resources, Chapter 2.7.), or a local 
ordinance at least as effective as the Model Water Efficient Landscape Ordinance. 

11 Managed Turf includes turf areas intended to be mowed and maintained as turf within residential, 
commercial, industrial, and institutional settings. 



Resolution No. R3-2012-002S 
-31 

TABLE 1: Correction Factors 12 for Use in Calculating 
Equivalent Impervious Surface Area 

Pervious Surface Correction 
Factor 

Disturbed Soils/Managed Turf A: 0.15 
(dependent on original Hydrologic Soil B: 0.20 
Group) C: 0.22 

D: 0.25 
Pervious Concrete 0.60 
Cobbles 0.60 
Pervious Asphalt 0.55 
Natural Stone (without grout) 0.25 
Turf Block 0.15 
Brick (without grout) 0.13 
Unit Pavers on Sand 0.10 
Crushed Aggregate 0.10 
Grass 0.10 

12 Factors are based on runoff coefficients selected from different sources: Turf and Disturbed Soils from 
Technical Memorandum: The Runoff Reduction Method. Center for Watershed Protection & Chesapeake 
Stormwater Network. p.13, April 18, 2008 . 

. http://town.plympton.ma.us/pdf/land/scheuler runoff reduction method techMemo.pdf. All other 
correction factors from C.3 Stormwater Handbook, Santa Clara Valley Urban Runoff Pollution Prevention 
Program, Appendix F, p. F-9., May 2004. 
http://vv'l,fw.sanjoseca.gov/planning/stormwater/pdfs/append ices files/Appendix F Final.pdf 

-185-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 3.pdf

Resolution No. R3-2012-002S 
-31 

TABLE 1: Correction Factors 12 for Use in Calculating 
Equivalent Impervious Surface Area 

Pervious Surface Correction 
Factor 

Disturbed Soils/Managed Turf A: 0.15 
(dependent on original Hydrologic Soil B: 0.20 
Group) C: 0.22 

D: 0.25 
Pervious Concrete 0.60 
Cobbles 0.60 
Pervious Asphalt 0.55 
Natural Stone (without grout) 0.25 
Turf Block 0.15 
Brick (without grout) 0.13 
Unit Pavers on Sand 0.10 
Crushed Aggregate 0.10 
Grass 0.10 

12 Factors are based on runoff coefficients selected from different sources: Turf and Disturbed Soils from 
Technical Memorandum: The Runoff Reduction Method. Center for Watershed Protection & Chesapeake 
Stormwater Network. p.13, April 18, 2008 . 

. http://town.plympton.ma.us/pdf/land/scheuler runoff reduction method techMemo.pdf. All other 
correction factors from C.3 Stormwater Handbook, Santa Clara Valley Urban Runoff Pollution Prevention 
Program, Appendix F, p. F-9., May 2004. 
http://vv'l,fw.sanjoseca.gov/planning/stormwater/pdfs/append ices files/Appendix F Final.pdf 



Resolution No. R3-2012-0025 
-32 

ATTACHMENT F: Calculating Off-Site Retention Requirements When Less Than 10 
Percent of the Project Site Equivalent Impervious Surface Area is Allocated to Retention
Based Structural Stormwater Control Measures 

The following instructions demonstrate how to determine the Off-Site Retention Requirements 
when a Regulated Project subject to the Runoff Retention Performance Requirement, cannot 
allocate the full 10% of the project site's Equivalent Impervious Surface Area 13 to retention
based Stormwater Control Measures (SCMs). 

STEP A. Potential Off-Site Mitigation Retention Volume 
First calculate the Potential Off-Site Mitigation Retention Volume, which represents the 
additional volume of runoff that would have been retained on-site, had the full 10% of Equivalent 
Impervious Surface Area been dedicated to retention-based SCMs. 

Equation A: 
Potential Off-Site Mitigation Retention Volume = (the portion of the 10% Equivalent Impervious 
Area not allocated on-site) X (the On-Site Retention Feasibility Factor) 

Where: 
The portion of the 10% Equivalent Impervious Surface Area not allocated on-site is that 
portion not allocated to on-site structural retention-based SCMs. For example, if 10% of 
Equivalent Impervious Surface Area is 1,000 ft2 and only 8% (800 ff) is allocated to 
retention-based SCMs, the remaining 2% (200 ff) is the value inserted in the equation. 

• The On-Site Retention Feasibility Factor is the ratio of Design Retention Volume 14 

managed on-site (fe) , to actual area (ff) allocated to structural SCMs. This establishes 
the site's retained volume:area ratio, expressed as cubic feet of retained runoff volume per 
square foot of area. For example, if a project is able to infiltrate 3,500 fe of runoff over an 
800-fe area, this ratio of 3,500:800, or 4.38, is the On-Site Retention Feasibility Factor. 

STEP B. Actual Off-Site Mitigation Retention Volume 
Next, determine the Actual Off-Site Mitigation Retention Volume, which may be less than the 
Potential Off-Site Mitigation Retention Volume. The Actual Off-Site Mitigation Retention 
Volume is the lesser of the volume calculated in Equation A, and the remaining portion of the 
Design Retention Volume, calculated per Attachment D, not controlled on-site. There are two 
possible outcomes when the Runoff Retention Performance Requirement is not met on-site 
and less than 10% of the site's Equivalent Impervious Surface Area is allocated to retention
based SCMs: 

Potential Off-Site Mitigation Retention Volume is the Actual Off-Site Mitigation Retention 
Volume 
Remaining Design Retention Volume represents Actual Off-Site Design Retention 
Mitigation Volume 

13 Calculate Equivalent Impervious Surface Area using guidance in Post-Construction Requirements 
Attachment E 

14 Calculate Design Retention Volume using guidance in Post-Construction Requirements Attachment 0, 
or equivalent method. Final Design Retention Volumes should reflect the applicant's demonstrated 
effort to use non-structural design measures to reduce the amount of runoff (e.g., reduction of 
impervious surfaces) as required by the Post-Construction Requirements' LID Development Standards 
(Section BAd). 

-186-

Item #: 9.C. Attach 3.pdf

Resolution No. R3-2012-0025 
-32 

ATTACHMENT F: Calculating Off-Site Retention Requirements When Less Than 10 
Percent of the Project Site Equivalent Impervious Surface Area is Allocated to Retention
Based Structural Stormwater Control Measures 

The following instructions demonstrate how to determine the Off-Site Retention Requirements 
when a Regulated Project subject to the Runoff Retention Performance Requirement, cannot 
allocate the full 10% of the project site's Equivalent Impervious Surface Area 13 to retention
based Stormwater Control Measures (SCMs). 

STEP A. Potential Off-Site Mitigation Retention Volume 
First calculate the Potential Off-Site Mitigation Retention Volume, which represents the 
additional volume of runoff that would have been retained on-site, had the full 10% of Equivalent 
Impervious Surface Area been dedicated to retention-based SCMs. 

Equation A: 
Potential Off-Site Mitigation Retention Volume = (the portion of the 10% Equivalent Impervious 
Area not allocated on-site) X (the On-Site Retention Feasibility Factor) 

Where: 
The portion of the 10% Equivalent Impervious Surface Area not allocated on-site is that 
portion not allocated to on-site structural retention-based SCMs. For example, if 10% of 
Equivalent Impervious Surface Area is 1,000 ft2 and only 8% (800 ff) is allocated to 
retention-based SCMs, the remaining 2% (200 ff) is the value inserted in the equation. 

• The On-Site Retention Feasibility Factor is the ratio of Design Retention Volume 14 

managed on-site (fe) , to actual area (ff) allocated to structural SCMs. This establishes 
the site's retained volume:area ratio, expressed as cubic feet of retained runoff volume per 
square foot of area. For example, if a project is able to infiltrate 3,500 fe of runoff over an 
800-fe area, this ratio of 3,500:800, or 4.38, is the On-Site Retention Feasibility Factor. 

STEP B. Actual Off-Site Mitigation Retention Volume 
Next, determine the Actual Off-Site Mitigation Retention Volume, which may be less than the 
Potential Off-Site Mitigation Retention Volume. The Actual Off-Site Mitigation Retention 
Volume is the lesser of the volume calculated in Equation A, and the remaining portion of the 
Design Retention Volume, calculated per Attachment D, not controlled on-site. There are two 
possible outcomes when the Runoff Retention Performance Requirement is not met on-site 
and less than 10% of the site's Equivalent Impervious Surface Area is allocated to retention
based SCMs: 

Potential Off-Site Mitigation Retention Volume is the Actual Off-Site Mitigation Retention 
Volume 
Remaining Design Retention Volume represents Actual Off-Site Design Retention 
Mitigation Volume 

13 Calculate Equivalent Impervious Surface Area using guidance in Post-Construction Requirements 
Attachment E 

14 Calculate Design Retention Volume using guidance in Post-Construction Requirements Attachment 0, 
or equivalent method. Final Design Retention Volumes should reflect the applicant's demonstrated 
effort to use non-structural design measures to reduce the amount of runoff (e.g., reduction of 
impervious surfaces) as required by the Post-Construction Requirements' LID Development Standards 
(Section BAd). 


	AGENDA
	REGULAR MEETING OF THE CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL – 7:00 PM
	1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCECouncil Members Dennis Norton, Sam Storey, Ed Bottorff, Michael Termini and Mayor Stephanie Harlan
	2. PRESENTATIONS
	A. Proclamation in recognition of Sam Storey for service to Community Bridges.


	[Presentation.pdf]


	3. REPORT ON CLOSED SESSION
	4. ADDITIONS AND DELETIONS TO AGENDA
	5. PUBLIC COMMENTS
	6. CITY COUNCIL / CITY TREASURER / STAFF COMMENTS
	7. BOARDS, COMMISSIONS AND COMMITTEES APPOINTMENTS
	8. CONSENT CALENDAR
	A. Consider approving the City Council Minutes of the June 13, 2013, Special Joint City Council/Successor Agency Meeting; and the June 13, 2013, Regular City Council Meeting.
	[Staff Report.pdf]
	[Attach 1.pdf]

	B. Consider a policy establishing a formal procedure for accepting donations.
	[Staff Report.pdf]
	[Attach 1.pdf]

	C. Consider an Ordinance for a .72 acre site located at 1575 38th Avenue, Assessor’s Parcel Number 034-181-17 by way of rezoning this property from the CN “Neighborhood Commercial” District to the PD “Planned Development” District [2nd Reading]; and approve the Conditions of Approval.
	[Staff Report.pdf]
	[Attach 1.pdf]
	[Attach 2.pdf]


	9. GENERAL GOVERNMENT / PUBLIC HEARINGS
	A. Receive a report regarding Soquel Creek Water District water/meter rates for secondary units.
	[Staff Report.pdf]

	B. Discussion of options for the City’s Affordable Housing Programs.
	[Staff Report.pdf]
	[Attach 1.pdf]

	C. Consider an Ordinance adding Chapter 13.16 to the Capitola Municipal Code establishing regulations for storm water pollution prevention and protection [1st Reading].
	[Staff Report.pdf]
	[Attach 1.pdf]
	[Attach 2.pdf]
	[Attach 3.pdf]


	10. ADDITIONAL MATERIALS
	11. ADJOURNMENT


